Sixth Annual Report

of the

Securities and Exchange Commission

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1940



UNITED STATES
GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
WASHINGTON: 1941

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Office: 1778 Pennsylvania Avenue NW. Washington, D. C.

COMMISSIONERS

JEROME N. FRANK, Chairman ROBERT E. HEALY EDWARD C. EICHER LEON HENDERSON SUMNER T. PIKE

Francis P. Brasson, Secretary

Address All Communications
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D. C.

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, January 3, 1941.

SIR: I have the honor to transmit to you the Sixth Annual Report of the Securities and Exchange Commission, in compliance with the provisions of Section 23 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, approved June 6, 1934, and Section 23 of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, approved August 26, 1935.

Respectfully,

JEROME N. FRANK, Chairman.

The President of the Senate,
The Speaker of the House of Representatives,

Washington, D. C.

ш



CONTENTS

Introduction
Part I
I ART 1
The Administration of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935
Summary of Activities
Simplification of Holding Company Systems under Section 11 of the Public
Utility Holding Company Act of 1935
Reorganization of Registered Holding Companies
Public Utility Security Issues
Underwriters' and Finders' Fees
Dividend Declarations and Payments
Exemption of Companies from the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935
Mutual and Subsidiary Service Companies
Political Contributions.
Rules, Regulations, and Forms
Part II
Participation of the Commission in Corporate Reorganizations under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act, as Amended
Commission Functions under Chapter X.
Statistics on Reorganizations under Chapter X
Proceedings in which the Commission Participated
All Reorganizations under Chapter X
Chapter XI Proceedings
Statutory Amendments
The Commission as a Party to Proceedings
Miscellaneous Issues in Proceedings Problems in Administration of Estate
Activities with regard to Allowances
Plans of Reorganization under Chapter X.
Feasibility of Plans
Fairness of Plans
Advisory Reports on Plans of Reorganization
PART III
Administration of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
National Securities Exchanges
Relations with Exchanges
The Commission's Program for Increasing Safeguards to Customers
against the Risks of Brokerage Insolvencies
Exchanges Registered and Exempted from Registration
Steps Taken to Guard against Disorderly Securities Markets
MAGIBUV NUI YUUGUUG

VI CONTENTS

P
Trading Investigations
Record of Public Action Taken as a Result of Trading Investigations
Margin Regulations
Pegging, Fixing, and Stabilizing of Security Prices Registration of Securities on Exchanges 1
Purpose and Nature of Registration of Securities on Exchanges.
Examination of Applications and Reports.
Proceedings under Section 19 (a) (2)
Revision of Certain Registration Forms under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Statistics of Securities Registered or Temporarily Exempted from Registration on Exchanges
Withdrawal or Striking of Securities from Listing and Registration on
Exchanges1
Applications for the Granting, Extension, and Termination of Un-
listed Trading Privileges on Exchanges
Over-the-Counter Markets
Registration of National Securities Association
Supervision of Over-the-Counter Brokers and Dealers
Solicitation of Proxies, Consents, and Authorizations
Part IV
Administration of the Securities Act of 1933
Registration of Securities under the Securities Act of 1933
General Scope of Act
Registration Statement1
Examination Procedure
Disclosures Resulting from Examination
Usual Length of Time Required to Obtain Effective Registration Statement
New Forms and Rules Adopted under the Securities Act
Statistics of Securities Registered under Securities Act of 1933
Exemption from Registration under Securities Act of 19331
Sale of Unregistered Oil Securities—Mississippi and Illinois Areas 1
Oil and Gas Investigations
Part V
Administration of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939
Enactment and Scope of Act
New Work Arising under Statute
Rules, Regulations, and Forms
Statistics of Indentures Qualified1
Part VI
Other Activities of the Commission under the Various Statutes
Interpretative and Advisory Service
Complaints and Investigations
Litigation1
Civil Proceedings1
Criminal Proceedings
The "Front Money" Racket
Civil and Criminal Cases in which Certiorari Was Denied by the
United States Supreme Court during the past fiscal year

VII

Activities of the Commission in the Field of Accounting and Auditing
The McKesson & Robbins Case
The McKesson & Robbins Criminal Trial
Other Accounting Cases
Simplification of Accounting Requirements
Accounting Series Releases
Cooperation with Professional Organizations
Confidential Treatment of Applications, Reports, or Documents
Study of Investment Trusts and Investment Companies
Study Conducted for the Temporary National Economic Committee
Insurance
Investment Banking
Reports of Officers, Directors, and Principal Stockholders
General Purpose and Scope of Reporting Requirements
Volume of Reports
Examination Procedure
Publication of Security Ownership Reports
Regional Offices
Public Hearings
Formal Opinions and Reports
Public Inspection of Registered Information
Publications
Releases
Other Publications
Personnel
Fiscal Affairs
Part VII
Appendixes
Appendixes
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice
APPENDIX I. Rules of PracticeAPPENDIX II. Guides to Forms
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months TABLE 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months TABLE 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933— types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive,
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: Table 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months Table 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, months
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months TABLE 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, months TABLE 3. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months TABLE 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, months TABLE 3. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 major industrial groups of issuers, from July 1939 to June 19
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: Table 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months Table 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, months Table 3. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 major industrial groups of issuers, from July 1939 to June 19 inclusive, by months
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months TABLE 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, months TABLE 3. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 major industrial groups of issuers, from July 1939 to June 19 inclusive, by months TABLE 4. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933
APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms
APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms
APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms
APPENDIX I. Rules of Practice APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms APPENDIX III. Securities Act Registration Statements as to which st orders, consent refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued July 1939, to June 30, 1940 APPENDIX IV. List of Publications as of December 31, 1940 APPENDIX V. Statistical tables: TABLE 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months TABLE 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, months TABLE 3. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 major industrial groups of issuers, from July 1939 to June 19 inclusive, by months TABLE 4. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 Total amount effective, amount not proposed for sale by issue issuing and distributing expenses, and net proceeds, from July 19 to June 1940, inclusive, by months TABLE 5, part 1. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1935
APPENDIX II. Guides to Forms

VIII CONTENTS

APPENDIX V—Continued.	Page
Table, 5 part 2. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Estimated net proceeds from sale of securities, by proposed	
uses, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, by months Table 6. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—	251
Detailed statistics by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	252
Table 7. Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933— Securities proposed for sale by issuers—By proposed methods of	
selling and by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	262
Table 8. New issues of securities offered for cash in the United States, by types of offerings and types of securities, yearly from July 1934 to	
June 1939, inclusive; monthly from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	265
Table 9. New issues of securities offered for cash in the United States, by types of issuers, yearly from July 1934 to June 1939, inclusive; monthly from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	266
Table 10. Ordinary transactions in stocks registered on all national	200
securities exchanges reported by officers, directors, and principal stockholders under Section 16 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934— Monthly averages for the years 1936-39; monthly	
from July 1938 to June 1940	267
Table 11. Ordinary transactions in stocks listed on the New York Stock Exchange reported by officers, directors, and principal stockholders under Section 16 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Monthly averages for the years 1936–39; monthly from July 1938	
to June 1940	268
Table 12. Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Effective registrations, classified by type of organization————————————————————————————————————	269
Table 13. Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Monthly changes in effective registrations during the fiscal year ended June 29, 1940, classified	
by type of organization	269
principal office	270
employees reported) and by location of principal office	272
29, 1940, classified by type of credit extension and by type of business	274
Table 17. Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Effective registrations as of June 29, 1940, of brokers and dealers engaged in or qualified to engage in the sale of fractional oil and gas royalties and other fractional or undivided interests in oil and gas rights, classified by type of organ-	
ization and by location of principal office Table 18. Market value and volume of sales on registered exchanges—	275
Grand totals by exchanges for the year ended June 30, 1940	276

IX

APPENDIX V—Continued.	Pa
TABLE 19. Market value of all sales, monthly, by exchanges, from	
July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	2
Table 20. Market value of stock sales, monthly, by exchanges, from	
July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	2
Table 21. Volume of stock sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July	
1939 to June 1940, inclusive	2
Table 22. Market value of bond sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	2
TABLE 23. Principal amount of bond sales, monthly, by exchanges,	
from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	2
TABLE 24. Market value of right and warrant sales, monthly, by	4
exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	2
Table 25. Volume of right and warrant sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive	2
Table 26. Round-lot stock transactions on the New York Stock	2
Exchange for accourts of members and nonmembers, by weeks, June 26, 1939-June 29, 1940	0
·	2
Table 27. Round-lot and odd-lot stock transactions on the New York Curb Exchange for accounts of members and nonmembers, by weeks,	
June 26, 1939–June 29, 1940	2
TABLE 28. Odd-lot stock transactions on the New York Stock Ex-	
change for odd-lot account of odd-lot dealers and specialists, by	
weeks, June 26, 1939–June 29, 1940	2
Table 29. Basic forms used by issuers in registering securities on national securities exchanges, and, for each form, the number of securities registered and issuers involved as of June 30, 1939, and June 30, 1940	2
Table 30. Classification, by industries, of issuers having securities	Z
registered on national securities exchanges as of June 30, 1939, and June 30, 1940	2
TABLE 31. Number of securities, separately for stocks and bonds,	2
classified according to basis for admission to dealing, on all exchanges as of June 30, 1940. (The number of shares of stock and the principal amount of bonds are shown for securities other than	0
those admitted to unlisted trading privileges)	2
registered and admitted to unlisted trading privileges on one, or	
more than one, national securities exchange as of June 30, 1940	2
TABLE 33. Number of issuers having securities admitted to dealings	_
on all exchanges as of June 30, 1940, classified according to basis	
for admission of their securities to dealings	2
Table 34. Number of issuers having stocks only, bonds only, and	2
both stocks and bonds, admitted to dealings on all exchanges as	
	2
of June 30, 1940	2
TABLE 35. Number of issuers and securities, basis for admission to	
dealings, and the percentage of stocks and bonds, for each exchange,	
admitted to dealings on one or more other exchanges as of June 30,	9
19/11	- 71

X CONTENTS

PENDIX VI. Litigation Involving Statutes Administered by the Commission	
Table I. Injunctive proceedings brought by Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, which were pending	
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
Table II. Indictments returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the mail fraud statute (in the preparation of which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
Table III. Indictments returned for perjury committed in the course of investigations conducted by the Commission	
Table IV. Petitions for review of orders of Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (other than confidential treatment cases), and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 pending in circuit courts of appeals during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
TABLE V. Petitions for review of orders denying confidential treat-	
ment under Sec. 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which were pending in circuit courts of appeals during the fiscal year ended	
June 30, 1940	
Table VI. Case involving constitutionality of Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 pending during the fiscal year ended June 30,	
TABLE VII. Proceedings by Commission, pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, to enforce subpense under the Securities	
Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 TABLE VIII. Miscellaneous suits against Commission or Commissioners pending during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
Table IX. Contempt proceedings pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
Table X. Suits against Commission to enjoin enforcement of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Fiscal year ended	
June 30, 1940 Table XI. Probation proceedings resulting from evidence submitted by the Commission—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
Table XII. Applications to approve and enforce Commission orders approving voluntary plans for corporate simplification pursuant to the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, pending during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
TABLE XIII. Cases (other than under the Bankruptcy Act) in which	
the Commission was permitted to file briefs as amicus curiae during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
TABLE XIV. Cases under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act in which	
the Commission participated as appellee during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	
TABLE XV. Cases under the Bankruptcy Act in which the Commission opposed proceedings under Chapter XI on the ground that the debtors were entitled to bankruptcy relief only under Chapter X during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	

CONTENTS XI

APPENDIX VI.—Continued.	Page
TABLE XVI. Cases under the Bankruptcy Act in which the Commis-	
sion was permitted to file briefs as amicus curiae during the fiscal	
year ended June 30, 1940	324
Table XVII. Reorganization proceedings in which the Commission	
participated during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	324
APPENDIX VII	329
List of registered public utility holding companies, including registered	
subholding companies, as of June 30, 1940	329
List of pending applications for exemption as public utility holding	
companies, as of June 30, 1940	331
APPENDIX VIII. Formal Opinions and Reports	332
APPENDIX IX. Statistical anlaysis of Reorganization Proceedings insti-	
tuted under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act, as amended, during the	
fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	347
APPENDIX X. Opinion of the United States District Court, Southern Dis-	
trict of New York, In the Matter of the Application of the Securities and	
Exchange Commission to Enforce and Carry Out a Plan of Corporate	
Simplification of Community Power and Light Company	354
APPENDIX XI. Report of the Special Committee on Cooperation with	
Securities and Exchange Commission	376

SIXTH ANNUAL REPORT OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D. C.

INTRODUCTION

When the Securities and Exchange Commission was organized in July of 1934, it was charged with administering two Acts, namely, the Securities Act of 1933, which had previously been administered by the Federal Trade Commission, and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

During the six years which have followed, the scope of the Commission's work has expanded substantially. At the present time the Commission administers six separate Acts, and has certain duties to perform under another Act.¹ Legislation adopted since the organization of the Commission provides for regulation or supervision of public utility holding company systems, trust indentures, investment trusts, and investment advisers, and permits the Commission to participate in corporate reorganizations by preparing advisory reports on plans of reorganization for the courts and investors. In addition to this legislation, the two original Acts under the jurisdiction of the Commission have been amended on several occasions.²

The laws administered by the Commission represent a comprehensive program for regulation and supervision of the Nation's securities markets. The legislation establishes substantial safeguards for the investor by protecting him against fraud and requiring disclosure of essential financial data, and safeguards the general public from the results of undue speculation and other unhealthy financial conditions.

While in this report, as in previous reports, it is necessary to review the details of the Commission's work in terms of accomplishments in the administration of each separate Act, the comprehensive pattern which the legislation assigned to the Commission presents in its entirety, and the inter-dependence of the Acts, must not be overlooked. For this reason it may be well to review briefly at this time the general scope and character of the Commission's work.

¹ Securities Act of 1933; Securities Exchange Act of 1934; Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935; Chapter X, National Bankruptcy Act; Trust Indenture Act of 1939; Investment Company Act of 1940; Investment Advisers Act of 1940. Administratively, the Maloney Act is considered as an amendment to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

³ The Securities Act of 1933—amendments approved June 6, 1934, August 9, 1935, and August 22, 1940. Securities Exchange Act of 1934—amendments approved May 27, 1936, and June 25, 1938.

Under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, corporations which sell new security issues publicly are required to file with the Commission full and complete information concerning the nature of their business, their financial condition, and the uses to which the proceeds from the sale of the securities are to be put. The Commission cannot prevent the sale of any security effectively registered with it as long as there is adequate disclosure of all material facts.

In the case of security issues offered by public utility holding companies or their subsidiaries, the Commission's powers are more substantial. Due to the necessity of providing machinery for eliminating the serious abuses which developed in the public utility holding company field, Congress passed the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. Under this Act the Commission may require that the securities be reasonably adapted to the security structure of the company and to the earning power of the issuer; that the financing be appropriate to the economical and efficient operation of the business; that fees, commissions, and other remuneration paid in connection with the sale of the securities be reasonable and competitive conditions maintained; and that the terms of the sale be not detrimental to the public interest or the interest of investors or consumers.

In addition to this supervision of new security issues, the Commission is given power under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to regulate certain transactions in outstanding securities in order that the interests of investors be protected and the conduct of those who deal in such securities be fair, equitable, and free from fraud. Many securities are listed on stock exchanges. The Commission has power to require that complete and current information concerning the companies whose securities are so traded be kept on file with the Commission and available for public inspection. Furthermore, the Commission supervises the trading activities of brokers and dealers who transact their business across the stock exchanges in order to prevent manipulation of market prices and misrepresentation. The stock exchanges themselves must also register with the Commission and various rules and regulations governing the activities of member firms and their partners have been worked out in cooperation with the exchanges to give added protection for investors.

With respect to securities which are traded in the over-the-counter markets, i. e., not on stock exchanges, no filing of information concerning the financial condition and business of the issuers is generally required under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Under authority contained in the Maloney Act, an amendment to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, however, an organization consisting of over 3,000 brokers and dealers who trade in the over-the-counter markets has been formed. This organization, which is known as the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., has established machinery

designed to supervise and discipline its own members and has promulgated rules for fair conduct. The Commission exercises a general supervision over the activities of the association. In addition, the Commission supervises over-the-counter brokers and dealers through a simple registration system.

As part of its general program, the Commission has supervision over the type of proxies sent to security-holders by utilities and by corporations with securities listed on stock exchanges and its regulations in this connection are designed to assure full disclosure and to assist in giving scattered investors a genuine opportunity to participate in the affairs of their companies. The Commission also requires reports which reflect trading by members of stock exchanges and partners of member firms for their own account and obtains reports of security trading from large stockholders and officers of corporations whose securities are listed on stock exchanges in order that the market activities of "insiders" may be known to the general public at all times.

The Commission's powers with respect to new security issues in the field of public utility companies has already been indicated. In addition, the provisions of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 are designed to eliminate improper security transactions by holding companies and their subsidiaries, to make certain that their acquisitions of securities and utility assets are in the public interest, and that dividend practices, the form of proxies issued, inter-company loans, and service, sales, and construction contracts are supervised. The basic purpose of this utility legislation is to eliminate or simplify uneconomic holding company structures and to return the operating companies to local control. The Commission's approval of the reorganization plan is required for all utility holding companies reorganized.

Under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act, the Commission participates in certain types of reorganization proceedings and provides independent expert assistance on matters arising in such proceedings. It is empowered to prepare for the benefit of the court and investors advisory reports on such plans of reorganization. It also is influential in making certain that various procedural and technical steps in the reorganization designed to protect investors are closely adhered to. Closely related to its work in the reorganization field is the Commission's regulation of trust indentures through which it may act to protect investors from losses resulting from unfair or loosely drawn indentures and to assure appointment of truly independent trustees under such indentures.

Practically all of the regulatory powers and duties outlined above are made effective through criminal, civil, or administrative sanctions. No criminal prosecutions can be instituted by the Commission itself, but the statutes provide that the Commission may transmit evidence of criminal acts to the Attorney General who may, in his discretion, institute the necessary criminal proceedings. Civil remedies for enforcement of the statutes are vigorously sought by the Commission by means of suits for injunction instituted in the United States district courts, in which the Commission itself participates as plaintiff. Administrative sanctions are exercised by means of final orders of the Commission, entered only after appropriate notice and opportunity for formal hearing, appealable under each of the statutes to the proper United States circuit court of appeals or to the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia.³

As an aid to its regulatory and administrative functions, the Commission is empowered under many provisions of the statutes to promulgate general rules and regulations. These are both implementing and interpretative in character and include: (a) regulatory rules -which impose duties and obligations upon classes of persons or classes of transactions; (b) exemption rules which relieve classes of persons or classes of transactions from duties and obligations: (c) procedural rules which set out procedural steps to be taken by persons outside the Commission and by the Commission itself or its employees; and (d) rules defining technical, trade, and accounting terms used in the statutes or in the rules and regulations issued thereunder. From the earliest days of the Commission, its policy has been to seek and to give careful consideration to the suggestions and advice of persons outside the Commission as to the form and content of proposed rules and regulations. With few exceptions, the regulatory and procedural rules and rules of definition that have been promulgated have first been submitted to expert representative groups and individual concerns affected by or directly interested in the subject matter thereof, and have been extensively amended and modified in the light of the suggestions and advice received. Exemption rules have usually been submitted to smaller groups, since fewer persons have a legitimate interest in them. It is the firm conviction of the Commission that this policy of consultation with informed members of industry and the public, in the formulation of rules and regulations, is an essential feature of sound administration—a feature that has gone far toward placing regulation on a basis of cooperation between the regulator and the regulated. The consultative process operates through personal conferences in different parts of the country and through correspondence over a course of weeks and, in some instances, many months. It provides an informal hearing which, in the Commission's opinion, is best adapted to bring about the constructive and thorough

³ Provisions for court review of the Commission's orders will be found in: Securities Act of 1933, Section 9; Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 25; Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, Section 24; Trust Indenture Act of 1939, Section 322; Investment Company Act of 1940, Section 43; Investment Advisers Act of 1940, Section 213. The Commission issues no orders in connection with its functions under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act.

consideration required for the formulation of technical and often complex regulations.

During the fiscal year the Commission took several significant steps to perfect the administration of the various Acts under its jurisdiction. In general, these efforts were directed toward a simplification of the Commission's procedure, forms, and regulations. In order to expedite the handling of applications and declarations involving financial transactions under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, for example, the Commission adopted a new procedure which made formal hearings and findings of fact unnecessary on the majority of such applications and declarations, there being no controversy of any kind involved. Substantial savings of time and expense have resulted for the utility industry. Hereafter, formal administrative hearings on such transactions will be necessary only where a hearing is requested or where, from a review of the application or declaration by the staff, it is apparent that substantial difficulties are presented.

The Commission also took the first public move in a program to regionalize the handling of registration statements filed under the Securities Act of 1933 and supplemental material to these registration statements required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. date, the activities of the regional offices have been confined almost entirely to enforcement work. Experience with Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act has demonstrated the practicality of using the facilities of the regional offices to a wider extent. Business men, investment bankers, and others who are in daily contact with the Commission's work have encouraged such a development and have even urged that the Commission provide facilities in its regional offices for the filing of registration statements and other forms. Many technical matters are involved and the Commission must move cautiously for any regionalization of its activities. In order to get practical experience in this field, it was decided to set up a special unit in the Commission's San Francisco Regional Office to determine to what extent the handling of registration statements and similar material could be regionalized. The San Francisco unit was set up and staffed to give both legal and accounting assistance to persons registering securities or filing supplemental material under the Acts indicated. The success of this experiment has been such that the Commission now anticipates that during the next fiscal year it will greatly expand its experimentations in this field and that it will authorize registration statements and supplemental material to be filed in at least two of its regional offices on a trial basis. As a result of this additional emphasis upon the activities of the regional offices, the annual report for this

⁴ Commissioner Healy dissented from the adoption of this new procedure. See footnote 100, page 50, infra.

fiscal year contains for the first time a special section on the work of such offices.

During the fiscal year the Commission gave particular emphasis to the administration of the integration and corporate simplification provisions of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. After elaborate negotiations with the industry in an effort to encourage the filing of voluntary plans for integration and simplification proved unsuccessful, the Commission issued orders instituting formal proceedings in order to carry out the purposes of the Act in these respects. Integration proceedings were commenced with respect to nine major utility systems which comprised, roughly, 58 percent of the total consolidated assets of all systems registered under the Act. Simplification proceedings were also commenced in three instances. As a result of these orders, definite progress has been made toward integration and simplification. Furthermore, in the day to day handling of applications and other matters arising in connection with the Act, simplification has been encouraged in every possible way and the several major systems have taken steps, such as the elimination of intermediate holding companies and the regrouping or sale of properties, which have definitely advanced the broad program contemplated by Congress in the enactment of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.

During the year the program for the regulation of the over-the-counter markets envisioned by the Maloney Act became an actuality, with the effective registration, following a hearing before the Commission, of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., on July 20, 1939. The Commission is in constant contact with the association's representatives, and there is a continual interchange of information and ideas to the end that the association will operate with maximum efficiency in accomplishing the purposes of the Maloney Act. The Commission has great hopes that the membership of the association will expand until eventually it includes all important brokers and dealers operating in the over-the-counter markets.

The soundness of market prices for securities traded on national securities exchanges which had been established while these exchanges were under the Commission's supervision met a severe test when the German war machine invaded the Lowlands. This startling event and subsequent activities on the European scene were certain to influence American securities markets. The Commission was alert to prevent any serious dislocation of normal trading activities and, if necessary, was ready to recommend the closing of the exchanges should trading show signs of panic. Fortunately, no drastic steps were required. Securities listed on the New York Stock Exchange and other exchanges responded with little extreme fluctuation in price, and no trading was characterized by abnormal thinness or unhealthy spreads between the prices buyers were willing to pay

and the prices for which sellers were willing to sell. The comparative absence of manipulative activities and the virtual elimination of pools undoubtedly contributed to this wholesome result. In the general field of the administration of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Commission tightened its regulatory program by the revision and modification of various rules and regulations, and of course continued its vigilant scrutiny of trading activities. In its relations with the New York Stock Exchange, the Commission pursued its policy of cooperative regulation and continued to urge upon the exchanges the adoption of rules and regulations which have been under discussion since the Richard Whitney case and are designed to give greater protection to customers of member firms.

In the field of enforcement the Commission obtained indictments against 232 individuals and corporations and injunctions against 118 individuals and corporations. One of the most striking criminal prosecutions resulted from the Commission's investigations, under Section 12 (h) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, into the political activities of certain officials of the Union Electric Company of Missouri, a registered holding company. Three former officials of that company were indicted for perjury in connection with the Commission's investigation. Two of those indicted pleaded guilty, while the third stood trial and was convicted. Evidence developed by the Commission's investigators and presented during the perjury trial showed that over a period of years the Union Electric Company had made political contributions from a slush fund of over a half a million dollars built up from kick-backs or rebates received from attorneys and contractors, cash refunds on insurance policies, and padded expense accounts of certain employees.

Another striking enforcement activity was the Commission's work undertaken in cooperation with the Post Office authorities and directed toward the elimination of the "front money" or "advanced fee" From time to time information had come to the Commission indicating that unscrupulous operators had been obtaining money on false pretenses from a wide variety of small business on the representation that they were qualified to successfully float securities for such businesses. The investigation disclosed that over the past six years hundreds of small concerns had been induced to pay money to these "front money" operators, aggregating hundreds of thousands of dollars, on the representation that the operators would be able to sell securities The investigation also showed, however, that there was not a single instance where the operators had actually sold shares of stock for the businesses victimized. The Commission's investigations resulted in 13 indictments on which several convictions have already been obtained.

The Commission also conducted several special studies during the fiscal year which have contributed to a better understanding of financial problems and aided in the protection of investors. reports were submitted to the Congress on the study of investment trusts and investment companies conducted under express authority contained in the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. and previous reports led to the unanimous enactment by both houses of Congress of the Investment Company Act of 1940 and the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, which were signed by President Roosevelt on August 22, 1940. In addition, hearings held on special studies of legal reserve life insurance companies and investment banking activities, undertaken in cooperation with the Temporary National Economic Committee pursuant to Public Resolution No. 113 of the 75th Congress, were completed and the special unit set up to carry out this work was discontinued. Testimony in the accounting study of the McKesson & Robbins matter was published during the fiscal year and in December of 1940 the Commission's report on its findings was During the year convictions of several defendants were obtained in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York for violations of the mail fraud statute disclosed as a result of the inquest into the McKesson matter which the Commission made in cooperation with other authorities.

Significant statistics concerning the work of the Commission and its activities during the fiscal year are set forth on the opposite page.

On July 3, 1940, Commissioner Jerome N. Frank was reelected Chairman of the Commission for the period ending June 30, 1941.

Commissioner Edward C. Eicher, of Iowa, was reappointed Commissioner on June 11, 1940, for the term ending June 5, 1945. Commissioner Eicher was originally appointed Commissioner on December 1, 1939, for the term ended June 5, 1940.

Sumner T. Pike, of Maine, was appointed Commissioner on June 1, 1940, for the term ending June 5, 1943, vice George C. Mathews, who resigned as Commissioner on April 15, 1940.

On May 31, 1940, the S. E. C. Monopoly Study Division was dissolved; and the Investment Trust Study Division was abolished on June 30, 1940.

Significant statistics concerning the work of the Securities and Exchange Commission

	July 1, 1939 to June 30, 1940	Cumulative as of June 30, 1940
Number of registration statements effective under the Securities Act of 1933—net		3, 529
1933—gross. Number of stop orders effective under the Securities Act of 1933—net. Number of stock exchanges registered under the Securities Exchange	\$1, 787, 000, 000 13	\$17, 065, 868, 000 172
Act of 1934—net Number of security issues registered on national securities exchanges—		20
net: Stocks		2, 747 1, 411
Bonds Securities registered on national securities exchanges—net: Stocks (shares) Bonds (face amount).		2, 356, 978, 835
Dollar amount of security trading on registered stock exchanges:]	
Stocks Bonds. Number of broker-dealers registered under the Securities Exchange	\$11, 661, 419, 000 \$1, 801, 052, 000	\$91, 097, 260, 000 \$15, 170, 076, 000
Act of 1934—net. Number of broker-dealer registrations revoked, suspended and denied. Number of preliminary, informal and formal investigations under	889 27	6, 555 112
Acts administered by the Commission	628 152	6, 685 316
Number of firms and individuals enjoined for violation of Acts administered by the Commission Number of defendants indicted for violation of Acts administered by	118	775
the Commission. Number of defendants convicted for violation of Acts administered by	232	1,656
Number of holding companies registered under the Public Utility	148	- 615
Holding Company Act of 1935. Assets of registered holding companies and subsidiaries. New security issues offered by registered holding companies and sub-		\$14, 500, 000, 000
sidiaries Number of orders issued to initiate formal proceedings for integration	\$1,002,051,051	\$2, 885, 932, 502
and corporate simplification Number of corporate reorganizations in which the Commission has become a party under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act, as	13	14
amended	47	134
of 1939 (Period February 4, 1940 to June 30, 1940).	38	38
February 4, 1940 to June 30, 1940). Number of persons visiting the public reference rooms. Fees received from sale of photo duplications of material in Commis-	\$610, 854, 500 23, 960	\$610, 854, 500 75, 060
sion's public files Number of public hearings held under Acts administered by the Com-	\$ 21, 449	\$120,008
mission. Number of formal opinions and reports. Number of members of the Commission's staff at the end of the fiscal	362 310	1,867 1,093
Number of members of the Commission's stan at the end of the fiscal year. Petitions for judicial review of Commission's orders		1, 670 50

Many defendants are still awaiting trial or are fugitives.

The Commissioners, staff officers, and regional administrators, as of the close of the past fiscal year, were as follows:

Commissioners:

Frank, Jerome N., Chairman.

Healy, Robert E.

Eicher, Edward C.

Henderson, Leon.

Pike, Sumner T.

Staff Officers:

Allen, James, Supervisor of Information Research.

Bane, Baldwin B., Director of the Registration Division.

Brassor, Francis P., Secretary of the Commission, Director of Personnel, and Director of the Administrative Division.

Burke, Edmund, Jr., Director of the Reorganization Division.

Davis, Sherlock, Technical Adviser to the Commission.

Lane, Chester T., General Counsel.

Neff, Harold H., Foreign Expert.

Purcell, Ganson, Director of the Trading and Exchange Division.

Schenker, David, Chief of the Investment Trust Study.

Sheridan, Edwin A., Executive Assistant to the Chairman.

Weiner, Joseph L., Director of the Public Utilities Division.

Werntz, William W., Chief Accountant.

Regional Administrators:

Allred, Oran H., Fort Worth Regional Office.

Caffrey, James J., New York Regional Office.

Green, William, Atlanta Regional Office.

Judy, Howard A., San Francisco Regional Office.

Karr, Day, Seattle Regional Office.

Kennedy, W. McNeill, Chicago Regional Office.

Lary, Howard N., Denver Regional Office.

Malone, William M., Washington Field Office.

Moore, Dan Tyler, Cleveland Regional Office.

Rooney, Joseph P., Boston Regional Office.

³ On September 21, 1940, the Commission established the Investment Company Division and appointed Mr. Schenker as Director of that division.

Part I

THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY ACT OF 1935

The Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 deals with holding companies having subsidiaries which are electric utility companies or which are engaged in the retail distribution of natural or manufactured gas. The Act was passed for the express purpose of eliminating certain evils and abuses which the Congress had found to exist in connection with the activities of such companies, and was intended for the protection of both investors and consumers. vides for the registration of holding companies; elimination of uneconomic holding company structures; supervision of security transactions of holding companies and their subsidiaries; supervision of acquisitions of securities and utility assets by holding companies and their subsidiaries; and the supervision of payment of dividends, solicitation of proxies, inter-company loans, and service, sales, and construction contracts. The Commission must pass upon plans for the reorganization of registered holding companies or their subsidiaries, and must require the geographic and corporate simplification of public utility holding company systems. The Commission does not have the power to regulate public utility rates.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

Pursuant to the provisions of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, there were registered with the Commission as of June 30, 1940, 144 public utility holding companies, the total consolidated assets of which amount to nearly 14½ billions of dollars. These 144 registered holding companies ¹ constitute 55 public utility holding company systems, which include 1493 holding, subholding, and operating companies.

During the past fiscal year, the Commission concentrated on the administration of the integration and simplification provisions of the Act. Efforts to encourage the filing of voluntary plans for compliance with these provisions were unsuccessful, and the Commission found it necessary to begin formal proceedings in order to carry out the administration of the law. Integration proceedings were launched with respect to nine major utility systems, comprising, roughly, 58 percent of the total consolidated assets of all the systems registered under the Act. Simplification proceedings were begun in three instances.

¹ Appendix VII, page 329, contains a complete list of the registered public utility holding companies, as of June 30, 1940.

Several of the holding companies requested a tentative outline of the Commission's views as to what steps would be necessary in order to comply with the integration requirements set forth in the Act. These views were in the process of preparation at the end of the fiscal year. Several others took a contrary position. Other cases were delayed by petitions for additional time to prepare evidence or by motions for dismissal. Such motions were denied. Despite the delays resulting from these motions and petitions, the Commission feels that definite progress has been made in carrying out the integration and simplification provisions of the statute. Every effort is being made to expedite the proceedings.

Of particular importance to the industry and to the Commission were steps taken during the year to save time and expense in the handling of declarations and applications involving financial transactions. This was accomplished through the adoption by the Commission of a new procedure making hearings and findings unnecessary on the majority of such applications and declarations filed under the Act except in cases where substantial difficulties are presented.²

Three former officials of the Union Electric Company were indicted for having testified falsely before an officer of the Commission, in connection with the Commission's inquiry into business practices and the financial condition of Union Electric and certain associated companies. Two of those indicted pleaded guilty, while the third stood trial and was convicted. Evidence developed by the Commission's investigators and produced during the trial tended to show that over a period of years the company had built up a cash fund of more than half a million dollars by means of "kick-backs" or rebates from attorneys and contractors, cash refunds on insurance policies, and fictitious or "padded" expense accounts of employees. Following the disclosures at the trial the matter was referred to the Department of Justice. Shortly after the close of the fiscal year, the Department of Justice announced the institution of a grand jury proceeding to investigate information that these companies had violated Federal statutes in making political contributions from this cash fund.

The Commission continued its scrutiny of the financial structure of utility companies floating new issues of securities in its endeavor to insure the development of sound capital structures based upon a substantial amount of common stock equity. Wherever the existence of special conditions precluded the raising of new capital through the sale of common stock, the Commission insisted that the issuers of senior securities include provisions designed to increase the protective fea-

³ Commissioner Healy opposed this procedure on both legal and policy grounds. He proposed an alternative procedure which he argued would be equally saving of time and expense and more closely related to good procedure. His views and those of a majority of the Commissioners to the contrary are set forth in detail in public memoranda dated April 1 and June 24, 1940, respectively.

tures of the securities and the amount of common stock equity or cushion.

The Commission gave increased attention to the adequacy of annual charges for depreciation, since that question is so closely allied to the problem of improving the capital structures of public utility holding companies and their subsidiaries. In the furtherance of this work, analyses are being made of the depreciation policies of all public utility companies subject to the Act.

The problem of maintaining arm's-length bargaining and competitive conditions in the underwriting and distribution of public utility securities was re-examined during the year. In existence was a rule designed to control the payment of fees to underwriters and "finders" who may be in a position, by reason of stock ownership or other relationship, to gain an unfair advantage in bargaining. By the terms of the rule no fee can be paid, except on the basis of competitive bidding, to underwriters and finders found to be within the scope of the rule, unless justification is clear or unless such underwriter merely has a participation of not more than 5 percent and the fee is the same as that paid to nonaffiliated underwriters. Alternative techniques, including some form of competitive bidding, are now under consideration in an endeavor to establish a procedure less burdensome to issuers and underwriters and more effective from the Commission's standpoint in enforcing the requirements of the Act.

The filing of forms was simplified during the year by the adoption of a single form to replace five outstanding ones for applications and declarations

SIMPLIFICATION OF HOLDING COMPANY SYSTEMS UNDER SECTION 11 OF THE PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY ACT OF 1935

Section 11 of the Public Utility Holding Company of 1935 relates to the geographical and corporate simplification of holding company systems. Specifically, Section 11 (b) (1) directs the Commission to require that action be taken to limit the operations of each holding company system to a single integrated system as defined in the Act, together with such incidental businesses and additional systems as may be retained within specified limitations. Section 11 (b) (2) directs the Commission to require registered holding companies and their subsidiaries to take such steps as are necessary to remove needless complications from corporate structures and to distribute voting power fairly and equitably among security holders.

The Commission is authorized to approve voluntary simplification plans submitted by registered holding companies and their subsidiaries, provided that the plans meet the geographical and corporate simplification requirements set forth in the Act. The Commission commenced proceedings under Section 11 (b) (1) early in 1940 by the institution of proceedings with respect to nine major public utility holding company systems with aggregate consolidated assets of approximately \$8,359,519,000, or about 58 percent of the total consolidated assets of all the systems registered under the Act. None of the public hearings in connection with these proceedings had been concluded at the end of the fiscal year. The systems involved in these proceedings may be briefly described as follows:

Electric Bond and Share Company.3—Electric Bond and Share Company is one of the largest public utility holding company systems in the United States. In this country it controls 36 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 27 States and gas facilities in 12 States, and 45 non-utility subsidiaries. The aggregate amount of the consolidated assets of its subsidiary holding companies and their subsidiaries (excluding American Gas and Electric Company and its subsidiaries) ⁴ at December 31, 1939, was approximately \$2,853,400,000 and the aggregate amount of the consolidated operating revenues of its subsidiary holding companies and their subsidiaries (excluding American Gas and Electric Company and its subsidiaries) for the year ended December 31, 1939, was approximately \$346,000,000. Its principal offices are located in New York, New York.

Engineers Public Service Company. Engineers Public Service Company controls 10 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 15 States and gas facilities in 3 States, and 9 non-utility subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$368,572,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$54,245,000. Its principal offices are located in New York, New York.

The Middle West Corporation. —The Middle West Corporation controls 50 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 16 States and gas facilities in 12 States, and 40 non-utility subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$448,094,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$64,194,000. Its principal offices are located in Chicago, Illinois.

The United Gas Improvement Company. The United Gas Improvement Company controls 38 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric

Proceedings commenced February 28, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1944.

⁴ Although more than 10 percent of the voting securities of American Gas and Electric Company is owned by Electric Bond and Share Company, American Gas and Electric Company has filed an application under Section 2 (a) (8) for an order declaring it not to be a subsidiary of Electric Bond and Share Company. The Act provides for a temporary exemption where such an application is filed in good faith:

Proceedings commenced February 28, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1945.

[•] Proceedings commenced March 1, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1950.

⁷ Proceedings commenced March 4, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1953.

facilities in 10 States and gas facilities in 7 States, and 48 non-utility subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$837,504,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$112,400,000. Its principal offices are located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

Cities Service Power & Light Company.8—Cities Service Power & Light Company controls 36 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 14 States and gas facilities in 12 States, and 22 non-utility subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$415,959,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$62,246,000. Its principal offices are located in New York, New York.

The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation.9—The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation controls 10 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 10 States and gas facilities in 7 States, and 32 non-utility subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$1,143,160,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$140,650,000. Its principal offices are located in New York, New York.

Standard Power and Light Corporation; ¹⁰ Standard Gas and Electric Company.—Standard Power and Light Corporation is the top holding company controlling the Standard Gas and Electric Company system. The system controls 33 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 19 States and gas facilities in 9 States, 65 non-utility subsidiaries, and 14 inactive subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$766,345,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$93,705,000. The principal office of Standard Power and Light Corporation is located in Jersey City, New Jersey, and the principal office of Standard Gas and Electric Company is located in New York, New York.

The North American Company. 11—The North American Company controls 24 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 9 States and the District of Columbia and gas facilities in 7 States, 31 non-utility subsidiaries, and 18 inactive subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$939,698,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$122,325,000. Its principal offices are located in New York, New York.

⁸ Proceedings commenced March 4, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1954.

⁹ Proceedings commenced March 6, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1956.

¹⁰ Proceedings commenced March 6, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1957.

¹¹ Proceedings commenced March 8, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1960.

The United Light and Power Company.¹²—The United Light and Power Company controls 25 utility subsidiaries, which operate electric facilities in 11 States and gas facilities in 12 States, and 20 non-utility subsidiaries. Its consolidated assets as of December 31, 1939, aggregated approximately \$586,787,000 and the total consolidated operating revenues of its system for the year 1939 aggregated approximately \$91,141,700. Its principal offices are located in Chicago, Illinois.

In the case of certain other large systems, action did not appear appropriate at the time the foregoing proceedings were commenced. For example, Associated Gas and Electric Company is the subject of reorganization proceedings pending in the District Court of the United States for the Southern District of New York, which proceedings are more fully described elsewhere in this report. Columbia Gas & Electric Corporation, another large holding company system, had filed a voluntary plan under Section 11 (e) which, among other things. included a request for an over-all finding that certain of its properties met the requirements of Section 11 (b) and which was pending before the Commission as of the end of the fiscal year. Shortly thereafter, reargument was scheduled on the question whether, in view of the exclusion of certain companies and the pending litigation under the antitrust acts, the Commission may properly consider the merits of that portion of the application which seeks a determination that the system (less the excepted companies) conforms to the standards of Section 11 (b) (1) of the Act.

In addition to the foregoing cases looking to the enforcement of Section 11 (b) (1), the Commission has instituted proceedings pursuant to Section 11 (b) (2) with respect to International Hydro-Electric System, ¹³ Standard Power & Light Corporation, ¹⁴ and Electric Bond and Share Company. ¹⁵

The following table indicates the number of proceedings under Section 11 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 pending at the beginning of, instituted and terminated during, and pending at the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940:

 Proceedings under Section 11 (b)	

	Number in- stituted dur- ing year	Number ter- minated dur- ing year	Number pending at close of fiscal year
To June 30, 1939	1 13	0	1 13
Total	14	1	

¹² Proceedings commenced March 8, 1940; see Holding Company Act Release No. 1961.

¹³ Holding Company Act Release No. 2122.

¹⁴ Holding Company Act Release No. 2095.

¹⁵ Holding Company Act Release No. 2051.

During the fiscal year the Commission gave consideration to several voluntary proceedings submitted by registered holding companies under the provisions of Section 11 (e). Of these cases, particular mention should be made of the following:

Community Power and Light Company.—In August 1939, Community Power and Light Company, a registered holding company, filed an application under Section 11 (e) for approval of a plan to simplify its corporate structure and to redistribute its voting power in conformity with Section 11 (b) (2) of the Act. At that time, dividend arrearages on the company's preferred stock had accumulated to the extent of \$46 per share. The company's corporate structure was complicated by these arrearages and by certain obligations redeemable only after payment of such arrearages. The preferred stock, despite the arrearages, had only 68,962 votes, while 10,000 shares of common stock had 250,000 votes. Under the plan, preferred dividend arrearages were eliminated and one class of stock, with one vote per share, was authorized. Approximately 95 percent of the new stock went to the old preferred stockholders and the remainder to the old common stockholders.

The Commission gave notice of and held a hearing on the proposed plan. On the basis of the record, the Commission issued its findings and opinion finding the plan to be fair and equitable and necessary to effectuate the provisions of Section 11 (b) (2). Thereafter, the plan, in accordance with its terms, was submitted to the company's stockholders and received the approval of more than two-thirds of the preferred stock and of more than a majority of the common stock.

Community Power and Light Company, pursuant to the provisions of Section 11 (e), requested the Commission to apply to a Federal court to enforce and carry out its terms. This request was the first one made by a registered holding company for such enforcement. The Commission granted the request and made application for such approval to the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. After hearings on the plan, and after considering and sustaining the constitutionality of the applicable provisions of Section 11, the court found the plan to be fair and equitable and appropriate to effectuate Section 11, and entered a decree enforcing its terms.¹⁷

American Gas and Electric Company.—During the latter part of 1939, hearings were commenced on an application filed by American Gas and Electric Company under Section 11 (e) for approval of a simplification plan pursuant to Sections 11 (b) (1) and 11 (b) (2).

¹⁸ See Holding Company Act Release No. 1803. It should be noted that the Commission did not in its opinion pass upon compliance by Community Power and Light Company with standards of paragraph (1) of Section 11 (b) or with respect to problems presented by Section 11 (b) (2) other than the corporate structure of the top holding company in the system.

¹⁷ In re Community Power and Light Company, 33 F. Supp. 901 (1940). For opinion of the district court see Appendix X, page 354.

In connection with this proceeding, the Commission instituted proceedings under Section 11 (b) (1) and 11 (b) (2), which were consolidated with those under Section 11 (e). Hearings in this matter had not been completed as of the close of the fiscal year.

The following tabulation indicates the number of applications under Section 11 (e) relating to plans for the simplification of registered holding companies or subsidiaries thereof, received and disposed of for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940.

Applications under Section 1	l I	(e)
------------------------------	-----	-----

	Number received	Number approved	Number withdrawn or dis- missed	Number denied	Number pending at close of fiscal year
To June 30, 1939	14 10	6 1	1 2	0	7 14
Total	24	7	3	0	

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SECURITIES, UTILITY ASSETS, AND OTHER INTERESTS

During the past fiscal year, holding company systems subject to the Act have continued to effect a gradual corporate and geographical simplification of their utility properties through the acquisition or disposal of securities, utility assets, and other interests under the supervision of the Commission. In passing on acquisitions, the Commission is guided by the standards set forth in Section 10 which, among other matters, are designed to prevent undesirable corporate complexities and uneconomic and inefficient development of utility systems. Thus, the Commission may not approve an acquisition unless it finds that the transaction will serve the public interest by tending toward the economical and efficient development of an integrated public utility system. The Commission must also deny an application if it will tend toward interlocking relations or the concentration of control of public utility companies in a manner detrimental to the public interest or the interest of investors or consumers if the consideration to be paid is not reasonable; if the acquisition will unduly complicate the capital structure of the system; or if it will otherwise be detrimental to the public interest or the interest of investors or consumers or the proper functioning of the system.

Among the types of transactions which may result in geographical simplification is the sale of utility assets to operating companies having the same or a contiguous service area. Corporate simplification may be accomplished, among other ways, by the elimination of intermediate holding companies and the elimination of subsidiaries by the sale of securities to associate companies or to interests outside the particular holding company system.

Many examples may be cited to illustrate this gradual regrouping of utility properties in conformity with the integration and corporate simplification principles of the Act.

The Electric Bond and Share System eliminated an intermediate holding company, Lehigh Power Securities Corporation, which had total investments and advances of \$103,338,000.¹⁸ The securities of Owego Gas Corporation (Associated Gas and Electric System) were sold to an associate company, New York State Electric & Gas Corporation, for the purpose of merger, ¹⁹ and East Tennessee Light & Power Company (Cities Service Power & Light System) filed a plan of reorganization to result in a merger of three companies.²⁰

In a number of cases an associate company acquired the assets of associate companies. Milwaukee Gas Light Company acquired the assets of four associate gas utility companies, the four associate companies to be dissolved, and Ebasco Services Incorporated (Electric Bond and Share System) acquired all the assets of a wholly-owned subsidiary service company. The Kentucky Utilities Company (Middle West System) acquired the utility assets of its subsidiary, Lexington Utilities Company, the service areas of which were contiguous and interconnected. The scattered and disconnected electric utility properties of Traction Light and Power Company (Midland United System) were acquired by Central Indiana Power Company and Public Service Company of Indiana, associate companies.

In two cases subsidiaries were eliminated by the sale of the voting securities to the public. Washington and Suburban Companies sold the voting securities of Washington Gas Light Company to the public 25 and the voting stock of Indianapolis Power & Light Company (Utilities Power & Light System) was sold to the public for \$17,156,040.26 Prior to the sale to the public, Washington Gas Light Company acquired substantially all the outstanding securities of two associate companies, Alexandria Gas Company and Washington Suburban Gas Company.27

A number of subsidiary companies were sold to nonregistered systems. Consolidated Electric and Gas Company sold all the securities of two of its utility subsidiaries to nonaffiliated interests having no present relations with other public utility companies ²⁸ and Central U. S. Utilities Company (Associated Gas and Electric System) sold its subsidiary, Sioux Falls Gas Company, to a nonaffiliated operating

¹⁸ Holding Company Act Release No. 1678.

¹⁹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1863.

²⁰ Holding Company Act Release No. 1971.

³¹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1638.

²² Holding Company Act Release No. 1759.

²³ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1821 and 1855.

²⁴ Holding Company Act Release No. 1688.

Holding Company Act Release No. 1670.
 Holding Company Act Release No. 2001.

³⁷ Holding Company Act Release No. 1670.

³ Holding Company Act Release No. 1755.

company.²⁹ In four cases subsidiaries were sold to individuals: Central States Power & Light Corporation (Utilities Power & Light System) sold three Canadian utility subsidiaries; ³⁰ Massachusetts Utilities Associates (New England Power Association System) sold Gardner Gas, Fuel and Light Company; ³¹ Peoples Light and Power Company sold its sole operating property in the State of Kansas; ³² and The United Light and Power Company sold all the securities of its subsidiaries, Fayetteville Natural Gas Company and Cleveland Gas Company, to an individual.³³

In three instances small subsidiary companies have been sold to the local manager: American Utilities Service Corporation sold all the securities of Peninsular Utilities Company to the local manager of Peninsular Utilities Company; ³⁴ Walnut Electric & Gas Corporation, a registered holding company, sold the securities of two small utility subsidiaries to the local manager of one of the subsidiaries; ³⁵ and Walnut Electric & Gas Corporation also sold all the securities of two of its utility subsidiaries to the manager of the two companies. ³⁶

A limited amount of regrouping took place between registered holding companies: General Water Gas & Electric Company (primarily a water holding company) acquired all the securities of California Water Service Corporation from Federal Water Service Corporation, a nonaffiliated registered holding company for \$3,202,000 in cash; ³⁷ Iowa Central Utilities Company (American Utilities Service System) sold its gas utility assets to the nonaffiliated Iowa Public Service Company—Iowa Central will be liquidated ³⁸—and The United Light and Power Company sold all the securities of its subsidiary, Chattanooga Gas Company, to another system, Federal Water Service Corporation. ³⁹

In four instances holding company systems acquired utility properties from nonregistered systems or from independent utilities: Peoples Light Company (The United Light and Power System) acquired the utility assets of The Bettendorf Company which served a suburb immediately adjacent to the properties of Peoples Light Company; 40 Great Northern Utilities Company (North Continent Utilities System) acquired all the assets of Citizens Gas Company, a subsidiary of a nonregistered company; 41 The Sedan Gas Company (Central States Edison,

²⁹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1992.

³⁰ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1713 and 1730.

²¹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1990.

³² Holding Company Act Release No. 1652.

^{*} Holding Company Act Release No. 1891.

³⁴ Holding Company Act Release No. 1709.

²⁵ Holding Company Act Release No. 1835.

²⁶ Holding Company Act Release No. 2049.

³⁷ Holding Company Act Release No. 1708.

³⁸ Holding Company Act Release No. 1853.

Holding Company Act Release No. 1891:
 Holding Company Act Release No. 1869.

⁴¹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1976.

Inc. System) acquired the gas utility assets of a nonaffiliated company, Major Gas & Oil Company; 42 and West Coast Power Company (Peoples Light and Power Company System) acquired the utility assets of McCall Light & Power Company, a nonaffiliated company. 43

Houston Natural Gas Corporation, a registered holding company incorporated in Delaware, acquired all the assets of its subsidiary utility companies operating in the State of Texas and proposed to sell such assets to a Texas public utility corporation, thereby becoming an operating company and ceasing to be subject to the Act.⁴⁴

The Washington and Suburban Companies, a holding company controlling the Washington Gas Light Company, and also controlling the New York and Richmond Gas Company through 11 subsidiary companies, referred to in the House and Senate Hearings on the Holding Company Act 45 as the "Tree Companies," was liquidated and dissolved during the past year. The voting stock of the Washington Gas Light Company was sold to the public and the Washington Gas Light Company was found to be predominantly an operating company and therefore granted exemption from the Act. 46

The following statistics indicate the number of applications under Section 10, relating to the acquisition of securities or other assets, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year:

	Number filed	Number exempt by rule or approved	Number dismissed or with- drawn	Number denied	Number pending at close of fiscal year			
To June 30, 1939	197 113	135 65	22 23	0 2	40 63			
Total.	310	200	45	2				

Applications under Section 10

The following statistics indicate the number of applications under Sections 12 (f) and 12 (d), relating to the sale of securities and utility assets, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year:

Applications under Sections 12 (f) and 12 (d)

	Number filed	Number approved	Number dismissed or with- drawn	Number denied	Number pending at close of fiscal year
To June 30, 1939	87 104	43 80	4 21	0 1	40 42
Total	191	123	25	1	

⁴⁹ Holding Company Act Release No. 2067.

⁴³ Holding Company Act Release No. 2082.

⁴⁴ Holding Company Act Release No. 2072.

⁴⁴ Hearings before the Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce of the House of Representatives on H. R. 5423, 74th Cong. 1st Sess., Part 1, p. 236.

⁴⁶ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1670, 1732, 1964. 2056, 2078.

The following table indicates the number of applications under Section 12 (c) and Rule U-12C-1, relating to the acquisition of securities by the issuer, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year.

Applications under Section 1.	ℓ (c)	and Rule	U-12C-1
-------------------------------	-------	----------	---------

	Number received	Number exempt by rule or approved	Number withdrawn or dismissed	Number denied	Number pending at close of fiscal year
To June 30, 1939	31 67	21 37	1 5	0	9 34
Total	98	58	6	0	

REORGANIZATION OF REGISTERED HOLDING COMPANIES

During the past fiscal year, the Commission passed on the plans for the reorganization of the following companies: Utilities Power & Light Corporation,⁴⁷ National Public Utilities Corporation,⁴⁸ Inland Power & Light Corporation and Commonwealth Light & Power Company,⁴⁹ Community Power and Light Company,⁵⁰ and East Tennessee Light & Power Company,⁵¹

The plan of reorganization of *Utilities Power & Light Corporation* (now the *Ogden Corporation*), referred to in the Commission's Fifth Annual Report, has been consummated following approval by the Commission and confirmation by the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois. The plan set forth a program for conversion into an investment company through the disposal of assets. In accordance with this program the corporation's investments in two of the utility subsidiaries, *Indianapolis Power & Light Company* and *Newport Electric Corporation*, have been disposed of already.⁵² Although the proceeding instituted by the Commission under Section 11 (b) (1), referred to in the above-mentioned annual report, is still pending, the progress made through voluntary compliance justifies the expectation that it will be unnecessary for such proceeding to be pressed.

The National Public Utilities Corporation reorganization ⁵³ concerned an insolvent company with nominal income which had been in reorganization since 1933. The plan as approved by the Commission provides for the distribution of only one class of securities, common stock, which will be distributed to bondholders and other creditors. The bondholders and other creditors will also receive voting trust certificates of a subsidiary company, Great Lakes Utilities

⁴⁷ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1655, 1655-A, 1859.

⁴⁸ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1689, 1690.

⁴⁹ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 2042, 2047:

M Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1803, 1804, 1982.

at Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1971, 1972.

⁵² Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1545, 1552, 2001, 2087;

⁴⁸ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1689, 1690.

Company. The new company will have no funded debt and its simplified security structure will facilitate liquidation.

The Commission denied as not feasible a plan of reorganization for The Commonwealth Power & Light Corporation and its subsidiary Inland Power & Light Corporation. The plan provided for the formation of a new company and the liquidation of the properties within two years and, in the event of failure to liquidate within that time, provided for the appointment of a trustee. The Commission noted the temporary character of the new company and stated that it was unable to see why the liquidation could not be accomplished as effectively by the present trustees as by a board of directors or by a new and perhaps strange trustee 2 years hence.⁵⁴

The following table indicates the number of applications under Sections 11 (f), 11 (g), and 12 (e) relating to plans for the reorganization and simplification of registered holding companies or their subsidiaries, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year:

	Number received	Number approved	Number withdrawn or dis- missed	Number denied	Number pending at close of fiscal year		
To June 30, 1939	46 14	15 6	4 13	2 3	25 17		
Total:	60	21	17	5			

Applications under Sections 11 (f), 11 (g), and 12 (e)

The following table indicates the number of applications under Section 11 (f) and Rule U-11F-2 relating to fees and expenses, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year:

	Number received	Number approved	Number withdrawn or dismissed	Number denied	Number pending at close of fiscal year
To June 30, 1939 July 1, 1939, to June 30, 1940 Total	61 • 24 • 85	18 2 20	2 3 5	1 0	40 59

Applications under Section 11 (f) and Rule U-11F-2

PUBLIC UTILITY SECURITY ISSUES

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, 111 applications or declarations filed by registered public utility holding companies and their subsidiaries were declared effective pursuant to Sections 6 and 7. These effective filings aggregated \$1,002,051,051 in principal

[·] One reopened.

⁵⁴ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 2042, 2047.

amount, compared with \$1,104,574,000 for the preceding year. This brought the total of new securities issued since the effective date of the Act, December 1, 1935, to \$2,885,932,502. Fifty-one filings, aggregating \$274,200,818, were pending at the end of the year. figures do not include outstanding issues whose rights were altered under Sections 6 (a) (2) and 7 (e), nor do they include the guarantee of other issues.

The past year's effective filings, some of which covered more than one security issue, consisted of the following:

- 49 mortgage bond issues aggregating \$618,030,800
- 8 debenture issues aggregating \$104,550,000
- 52 note issues aggregating \$104,043,135
- 11 preferred stock issues aggregating \$126,581,109
- 33 common stock issues aggregating \$48,846,007

Mortgage and debenture bonds, most of which were refunding issues, have represented 62.9 percent of all financing under the Act, while notes, 13.3 percent; preferred stock, 12.5 percent; and common stock, 11.3 percent, make up the remainder.

The recent flotation of \$95,000,000 of 3½ percent bonds by the Pennsylvania Power and Light Company was the second largest to come under the Act.

The following table indicates the number of applications and declarations under Sections 6 (b) and 7 relating to issues of securities, received and disposed of during the year ended June 30, 1940:

	Number pending June 30, 1939	Number filed	Number approved	Number dismissed or with- drawn	Number denied	Number pending at close of fis- cal year
To June 30, 1939		379	284	34	1	60
Filings for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940.						
Section 7 issues	31	a 69	€ 60	9	1	30
Section 7 alteration of rights	8	• 22	23	1	0	6
Section 6 (b) issues	21	63	53	10	0	21
Total for fiscal year	60	⁵ 154	136	20	1	57
Grand total		533	420	54	2	

Applications under Sections 6 (b) and 7

Each security issue to be declared effective by the Commission, unless exempt, must meet the standards of Section 7. In addition to other standards, the security must be reasonably adapted to the earning power and the capital structure of the issuer; the financing involved must be appropriate to the economical and efficient operation of the business in which the applicant is lawfully engaged or has an interest; the fees, commissions, and other remuneration paid in con-

<sup>a One reopened.
b Two reopened.
c Includes 2 assumptions of liabilities.</sup>

nection with the issue or sale of the security must be reasonable; and the terms and conditions of the issue or sale must not be detrimental to the public interest or the interest of investors or consumers.

One of the things most closely scrutinized in passing upon applications and declarations to issue securities is the ratio of bonds or bonds and preferred stock to total capitalization and to net tangible property. Consideration, however, is also given to earning power. In the case of a large issue by Public Service Company of Colorado, 55 a majority of the Commission believed that the favorable earnings record of the company justified permitting a refunding operation which would effect substantial interest savings and result in future improvement in the capital structure, through compulsory debt retirement, notwithstanding the fact that the existing capitalization was the result of inflationary practices of an extreme character. The consolidated property accounts of the declarant, aggregating \$86,885,793, contained \$23,424,418 of inflationary items; and it appears that the parent holding company, Cities Service Company, through a complicated series of transactions, had obtained the entire common stock of \$20,800,000, par value, without cost to it, and had also received \$1,280,437 in cash in connection with the transactions. These shares were exchanged along with others for the stock of Cities Service Power and Light Company when the latter was organized in 1925. During the last 15 years Cities Service Power and Light Company has received over \$26,000,000 of dividends on its holdings of the common stock of Public Service Company of Colorado.

Although the proposed financing slightly increased the amount of the already high funded debt, the Commission approved it because the increase was to be but temporary, as the retirement of debt by heavy sinking fund payments would rapidly improve the capital structure of the company, and the earnings were adequate.⁵⁶ In its final form, the trust indenture required rapid retirement of debt through annual sinking fund payments of \$300,000 for the bonds and \$800,000 for the debentures. In addition, the indenture prohibited the payment of dividends from the then existing surplus and required that \$500,000 of earnings be set aside each year as not available for dividends until the debentures had been retired. The annual credit to a maintenance and replacement fund, equal to 15 percent and 10 percent of gross electric and gas revenues, respectively, required by the indenture was also an improvement over previous conditions. The dividend restriction, replacement and maintenance funds were also made conditions of the Commission's order allowing the issue to become effective. Furthermore, the corporate structure was simpli-

⁵⁵ Holding Company Act Release No. 1701.

^{**} Although the amount of the debt was increased, the debt ratio was not increased, largely because of the exchange of \$2,190,000 of notes held by the holding company, for common stock, thus increasing the common stock "cushion." See Chairman Frank's concurring opinion in Southwestern Gas and Electric Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1931.

fied by consolidating nine issues into two refunding issues and the conversion of the parent's open account into common stock.

Commissioner Healy dissented from the majority's disposition of Finding that the inflationary items totaled at least \$24,184,352 (principally profits made by Cities Service Company on property conveyed to the company, a substantial part of which had been bought with funds provided by the company), he demonstrated that the company's common stock owned by Cities Service Power & Light Company not alone cost the latter's parent and assignor, Cities Service Company, nothing, but cost it a minus quantity of \$4,993,255. In addition, it has received cash dividends of \$26,910,567 in less than fifteen years. In view of these circumstances, he considered it inconsistent with the applicable statutory standards to permit a financing which would increase the publicly-contributed capital by \$5,000,000 and increase the earnings distributable on the common stock which represented no actual investment. Commissioner Healy pointed out that if the net assets were adjusted by subtracting therefrom the amount of the inflationary items, the ratio of bonds and debentures to net assets so adjusted would be 90.5 percent, and the ratio would be increased to 101.22 percent if publicly held preferred stock were included. Accordingly, he concluded that the securities proposed to be issued were not reasonably related to the security structure of the company as required by Section 7 (d) (1) of the Act. Commissioner Healy stated that he believed that section, when read in light of the declaration of policy in Section 1 (b), makes clear that securities were not to be issued against write-ups and intra-system profits. He found that section excluded issues in excess of "actual investment," a standard which rejects self-serving declarations of value and arbitrary appraisals.

Although earnings may be substantial, the Commission believes that a reasonable capital structure calls for a substantial amount of common stock equity both as a protective cushion for the bonds and preferred stock and to prevent temporary declines in earnings from resulting in receiverships. To keep the financial structure of a growing concern strong, a substantial proportion of the new investment should be represented by common stock equity. It may come from earnings, from the parent corporation in the form of a capital contribution, or from a public sale of additional stock.

The possibility of strengthening the financial structure of a particular company is frequently limited by practical considerations. Despite a favorable market, equity financing may not be easily available to heavily bonded companies with inadequate depreciation and accumulated preferred stock dividend arrearages. With respect to the Consumers Power Company financing program, filed in December

1939,⁵⁷ the majority of the Commission approved a refunding bond issue of \$18,000,000, and the sale of \$3,524,188 of common stock (125,000 shares) to its parent, *The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation*, but refused to allow the company to issue \$10,000,000 of additional mortgage bonds.⁵⁸

In a separate opinion, Commissioners Healy and Mathews recorded their disagreement with the majority's refusal to permit the company to issue the full amount of the bonds it desired to issue. Agreeing with the majority as to the need for a substantial amount of common stock equity, they were not satisfied that issuing additional bonds would render the capital structure disproportionate. Conceding that additional debt financing was not necessary, they were not prepared to find that it was not "appropriate," in view of the fact that the terms of the financing were very economical to the company and that the parent was making an additional investment in common stock of the company of \$3,500,000. They pointed out that of the \$13,500,000 new money proposed to be raised by Consumers Power Company, over 25 percent represented common stock money.

The majority found that under Section 7 (d) (3), additional bonds were neither "necessary or appropriate to the economical and efficient operation of the business of the applicant" because—

- (1) common stock financing was readily available on favorable terms to this company, judged by its earnings record and by the market prices of other comparable common stocks;
- (2) the common stock equity including surplus amounted to only 20 percent of total capitalization, a ratio considerably lower than corresponding ratios in the case of other comparable operating utilities; ⁵⁹
- (3) the balance of net property left for the common stock after allowance for bonds and preferred stock was approximately 11 percent of total depreciated property. This figure was likewise lower than corresponding percentages for comparable operating utilities;
- (4) the ratio of debt to depreciated property was relatively higher than that of comparable companies.

The Commission does not consider it appropriate to permit companies to create large debt obligations whose rigid fixed charges may, in the future, force receivership through inability to adapt itself to

M Holding Company Act Release No. 1854.

⁵⁵ The Commission, in its opinion, noted that the questions involved had not been adequately argued and, therefore, stated that as a matter of right it would, if requested, grant a rehearing and also, at the request of the company, would re-open the hearing for the taking of further pertinent testimony. The company subsequently asked for a rehearing, but before the date set therefor, withdrew its request.

⁵⁰ It should be noted that in his subsequent concurring opinion in West Penn Power Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 2009, Commissioner Healy expressed views in accordance with the principle that the maintenance of proper ratios of senior securities (debt and preferred stock) to net property as prerequisite to the approval of an issue of securities "is neither an innovation caused by the language of Section 7 (d) nor by the Commission," citing several State commission decisions. He regards this as consistent with the indication of his views in the Consumers case that the ratio of debt to net property in the circumstances of that case was not out of line.

future changing economic conditions. This is especially so when a more desirable alternative, such as common stock financing, is available.

In considering refunding issues, the Commission has taken into consideration the fact that if too restrictive provisions are required the financing may not be consummated and the company will not secure the benefits of lower interest rates, extended maturities, and simplified debt structure. The Commission, however, has always insisted that the minimum standards of the Act be adhered to. Where this is impossible, recapitalization is recommended. The Commission is presently engaged in reexamining the extent to which it may properly differentiate between refunding issues and new issues.

In February 1940, the Kentucky Utilities Company, a subsidiary of The Middle West Corporation, filed a declaration to issue \$26,000,000 of first mortgage bonds and \$6,000,000 of serial notes. This plan was amended to cover an issue of \$20,000,000 of first mortgage bonds, \$6,000,000 of second mortgage sinking fund bonds, and \$6,000,000 of serial notes. The bonded indebtedness amounted to 64 percent while the common stock equity equaled only 10 percent of the total capitalization. At the suggestion of the Commission, The Middle West Corporation agreed to contribute \$500,000 to the company to retire debt. The Commission then approved this refunding program, because the heavy sinking fund provisions and serial retirements would rapidly improve the financial structure of the company. All savings due to lower interest rates were also to be applied to debt retirement.

In February 1940, the West Penn Power Company, a registered holding company and an indirect subsidiary of American Water Works and Electric Company, filed an application for exemption, under Section 6 (b), of the issue and sale of \$5,000,000 of bonds and 24,923 shares of

⁶⁰ In his concurring opinion in Southwestern Gas and Electric Company, Holding Company Act Release No 1931, Chairman Frank said:

[&]quot;This Commission has consistently differentiated between (a) the sale of bonds, the proceeds of which are to be used to refund or retire existing debt with a resultant decrease of fixed charges, and (b) new issues of bonds which will add substantially to the existing corporate debt. The Commission has accordingly permitted refunding bond issues to be sold where the ratio of debt to total capitalization was relatively high and where the ratio of common stock and surplus (the common stock "cushion") to total capitalization was relatively low. See, e. g., Republic Service Corporation, 2 S. E. C. 44 (1937). In some few of such cases the debt was increased by a relatively small amount in order to enable the company to meet the expenses attendant on the refunding operations; but in those cases the increase was temporary, provision having been made for a rapid retirement of the increased debt. See, e. g., Pennsylvania Power & Light Company, Holding Company Act Release No 1678 (1939) Of course, there may be circumstances in which we could not permit bonds to be issued even for purposes of refunding. Our decisions are not to be taken to mean, therefore, that refunding bond issues will always be authorized, if debt ratios are dangerously high, or if other conditions exist which clearly transgress the applicable standards of the Act; indeed, adverse findings might be required even if, in such cases, the company is unable to procure funds for refunding through the sale of junior securities." Chairman Frank also observed: "Many cases of refunding issues have arisen under the express statutory exemption created by Section 6 (b). Accordingly, the requirements of Section 7, including, of course, Section 7 (d) (3), were inapplicable. See Public Service Company of Indiana, Holding Company Act Release No. 1826 (1939); Central Illinois Electric and Gas Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1591 (1939); Northern Indiana Public Service Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1836 (1939)." 61 Holding Company Act Release No. 1965.

4½ percent preferred stock. Subsequently, the applicant withdrew its application and filed a declaration, under Section 7, to issue and sell \$3,500,000 of bonds and 160,000 shares of no par common stock at an offering price of \$27 per share. The proceeds of the sale were to be used for the acquisition of improvements, additions, and betterments to its plant and property. Bonds and common stock equity represented 48 and 29 percent, respectively, of total capitalization. The ratio of debt and preferred stock to depreciated property and investments on a pro forma basis was equal to 75 percent. But, after eliminating large inflationary items, the ratio rose to 84 percent. The company, however, has been earning its interest and preferred dividends by a wide margin and has regularly paid common stock dividends for the past 20 years.

The Commission considered the small amount of common stock equity and the presence of inflationary items undesirable. dicated that a program of financing entirely with senior securities, when equity financing was available, would fall short of statutory standards.63 Since the altered plan cut down the amount of bonds, eliminated the preferred stock, and raised over half of its immediate capital requirements by the public issue of common stock, no adverse findings were made as in the earlier case of Consumers Power Company. Because of the possible detriment to uninformed investors and the fact that there were no quoted prices to guide them, the Commission required that the offering prospectus include those parts of the opinion which discussed investment and property write-ups, equity and bond ratios, depreciation policies, and possibility of rate reductions. On the basis of its earnings for the year 1939, the proposed offering price of \$27 per share amounted to 17.3 times the earnings applicable to the common stock. Since the common stock was to be sold to the public, the charter was amended to give it preemptive rights and to require that prejudicial changes in the rights of common stockholders must be approved by at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares.

Because the two parent companies, which owned all the outstanding common stock, were not in a position to subscribe for 160,000 additional shares, they were offered to the public. This is one of the first cases, since the passage of the Act, in which new money has been secured from the public by means of the sale of common stock. Other cases have been concerned principally with already outstanding shares or with stock issued to the parent or issued for the exchange of property or other securities. Pursuant to an approved plan of reorganization which called for a partial liquidation of the portfolio of the *Utilities*

⁴² Holding Company Act Release No. 2009.

⁴³ Commissioner Healy expressed the view that since the company, though a registered holding company itself, was a subsidiary of a registered holding company it was entitled to have the matter treated under Section 6 (b) rather than under Section 7 of the Act, and pointed out certain problems which would be presented were the case considered under Section 7.

Power & Light Corporation, a registered holding company, and its conversion into an investment trust, the trustee offered to the public, through underwriters, 645,980 shares of the common stock of its operating subsidiary, the Indianapolis Power & Light Company, at \$24 per share or 11.7 times earnings. At the same time, the operating company sold, through these underwriters, 68,855 new shares, to raise capital for plant expansion. Also in furtherance of this reorganization plan, the 11,910 one hundred dollar par value shares of the Newport Electric Corporation were split 5 for 1 and offered to the public at \$29.50 per share, or 9.4 times earnings, by the trustee. Pursuant to a plan to liquidate the Washington and Suburban Companies, 362,588 shares of its subsidiary, Washington Gas Light Company, were offered to the public at \$29.50, or 11.0 times earnings. This block included 35,000 new shares which were being sold to raise additional capital for the operating company.

One of the objectives of the Act is to prevent an unfair or inequitable distribution of voting power. In the Southwestern Gas and Electric Company case, the Commission approved the alteration of the voting power of the common stock which resulted from giving the right to vote to the new preferred stock issued to replace one paying a higher dividend. The new preferred stock had the following voting rights:

- 1. One vote per share for the election of directors and upon all other matters.
- 2. When one year's cumulative preferred dividends have accrued, two additional directors elected by the preferred stock shall be added to the board of directors, while the remaining directors shall be elected by the common stock.
- 3. When three years' cumulative preferred dividends have accrued and until all dividends in default shall have been paid, the preferred stock, voting as a class, shall be entitled to elect a bare majority of the full board of directors.
- 4. Without the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of preferred stock, or if one-third of the outstanding shares of such stock shall vote negatively, the company shall not
 - (a) authorize any prior or parity stock; or
 - (b) change any of the terms or provisions of outstanding shares of preferred stock so as to affect adversely the holders thereof; or
 - (c) issue any shares of preferred stock in excess of 75,000 shares of 5 percent preferred stock or any shares of any class of stock ranking prior to or on a parity with the preferred stock, unless net earnings available for dividends

⁴⁴ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 2001, 2087.

⁸⁵ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1545, 1552:

M Holding Company Act Release No. 1670.

shall for a preceding twelve-month period have been at least equal to twice the annual dividend requirement on all shares of preferred stock which would then be outstanding, and unless gross income for said period available for payment of interest shall have been at least one and one-half times the sum of funded debt charges and dividend requirements on all preferred stock then outstanding; or

- (d) issue any shares of preferred stock if thereafter the aggregate par and stated value of all such outstanding shares would exceed the sum of \$15,000,000 and would also exceed an amount equal to twice the sum of (i) the capital of the company represented by stock junior to the preferred stock and (ii) earned and capital surplus of the company; or
- (e) reacquire, or declare any dividends, or make any other distribution, upon shares of common stock or any other class of stock junior to the preferred stock, unless immediately thereafter the sum of (i) the capital represented by all stock junior to the preferred stock and (ii) earned and capital surplus, shall be not less than the sum of \$5,800,000 plus an amount equal to twice the annual dividend requirement on outstanding preferred stock; or
- (f) issue any unsecured form of debt other than for the refunding of outstanding unsecured securities, or the redemption of the preferred stock, if immediately after such issue the total principal amount of all such unsecured securities then outstanding would exceed 10 percent of the aggregate of (i) the total secured debt and (ii) the capital and surplus of the company; or
- (g) merge or consolidate with or into any other corporation unless such merger or consolidation, or the issuance and assumption of all securities to be issued or assumed in connection therewith be ordered, approved, or permitted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.⁶⁷

Frequently the companies with high dividend preferred stocks have redeemed or exchanged them for new issues carrying lower dividend rates. In carrying out this refinancing, it has been found to be a convenient means of distribution to offer the old preferred shareholders the opportunity to subscribe to the new shares. To this end, they have been notified of the general plan several weeks in advance but have been informed of the final terms, such as price and dividend rate, only two or three days before exchanged documents must be in the

⁶⁷ Holding Company Act Release No. 1931.

hands of the company or its underwriting agents. After investigation and observation of several cases, the Commission concluded that this length of time was insufficient and in the Kansas Power and Light Company opinion gave notice that thereafter any such exchange period ought to be not less than five days. Immediately thereafter, the Wisconsin Electric Power Company opinion provided a ten-day exchange period for its old preferred stockholders.

The Commission has been giving increasing attention to the provisions of trust indentures securing mortgage bonds of public utility companies. The terms of these indentures relating to the obligations and activities of the trustee must now conform to the standards of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. Other provisions of trust indentures also require examination to see that they in turn provide adequate protection for the investor. The Commission is making a general study of indenture procedures and provisions with a view to developing appropriate standards for the future.

In addition to its other regulatory duties relative to the issuance or sale of utility securities subject to its jursidiction, the Commission is called upon to supervise the exercise of any privilege or right to alter the priorities, preferences, voting power, or other rights of the holders of outstanding securities. Under Section 7 (e), the Commission may not permit the exercise of any such privilege or right where it would result in unfair or inequitable distribution of the voting power or would be otherwise detrimental to the public interest or the interest of investors or consumers.

An important case illustrating the difficult problems that may arise in connection with this phase of the Commission's work involved the Philadelphia Company, a subsidiary of Standard Gas and Electric Company and principal source of income of that company. The Philadelphia Company filed a declaration with the Commission pursuant to Section 6 (a) (2) regarding a reduction in the stated value of its common stock from approximately \$48,000,000 to approximately \$34,800,000. The major investment of the Philadelphia Company is its ownership of the entire common stock of Duquesne Light Company, which operates in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The Philadelphia Company, however, also has a substantial investment in the street railway system of Pittsburgh, carried on its books at more than \$52,000,000. The Philadelphia Company sought to create a reserve of \$23,000,000 to absorb an anticipated loss on its investment in the street railway system which was being reorganized. The reserve was to be set up

⁶⁸ West Penn Power Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1639. American Gas and Electric Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1870. Southwestern Gas and Electric Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1931. Kansas Power and Light Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 2024.

⁶⁹ Holding Company Act Release No. 2024.

⁷⁰ Holding Company Act Release No. 2026.

by transferring \$13,000,000 from existing surplus and a further \$10,000,000 from capital surplus created by the proposed reduction of the stated value of the company's common stock. The effect of these transactions was to reduce the "cushion" or capital stock equity beneath the company's debentures to slightly over \$74,000,000. Under the indenture securing the debentures, any further reduction in such cushion might have necessitated cessation of dividends until the full \$74,000,000 of stock equity was restored. Standard Gas and Electric Company depended on these dividends for the payment of interest on its notes and debentures.

In its findings, the Commission seriously questioned the adequacy of the \$23,000,000 reserve for losses on the traction investments, but permitted the declaration to become effective. The Commission noted that the company was committed by its amended declaration to a provision whereby the sum of \$500,000 a year out of earnings available for the payment of common stock dividends will be restricted in earned surplus until the amount so restricted amounts to \$2,500,000 and no subsequent declaration of common dividends will be made which will impair this restricted surplus except with the consent of the Commission. The Commission indicated the necessity of providing for the contingency that the loss in the traction investments might exceed \$23,000,000 and reserved jurisdiction over dividend payments under Section 12 (c) of the Act.

UNDERWRITERS' AND FINDERS' FEES

Under various provisions of the Act, the Commission is charged with the "maintenance of competitive conditions," and under Section 1 of the Act is directed to interpret the provisions of the Act so as to eliminate the enumerated evils including those "which result from an absence of arm's-length bargaining or from restraint of free and independent competition" in the transactions of public utility companies.

Under Section 7, the Commission is directed to withhold permission to issue or sell a security when it finds that the fees, commissions, or other remuneration are not reasonable or the terms and conditions are detrimental to the public interest or the interest of investors or consumers.

To regulate the activities and transactions between issuers and bankers where there may be an absence of free and untrammeled bargaining, the Commission has adopted Rule U-12F-2 (based on Section 12 (f) and other provisions of the Act) to control the payment of fees to underwriters and "finders" who may be in a position, by reason of stock ownership or other relationship, to gain an unfair advantage in bargaining. Persons affected by the rule are (substan-

tially) those falling within the statutory definition of "affiliate" in Section 2 (a) (11) of the Act, which includes, in addition to officers, directors, and persons having specified stock ownership, any person whom the Commission finds to stand in such a relation to the issuing company "that there is liable to be such an absence of arm's-length bargaining in transactions between them as to make it necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors or consumers that such person be subject to the obligations, duties, and liabilities" imposed upon affiliates. The rule, like the statutory provision which it parallels, recognizes the impracticability of precisely defining the facts which make for absence of arm's-length bargaining, and permits the disposition of each case in the light of the evidence therein developed. By the terms of the rule, no fee can be paid, unless on the basis of competitive bidding, to underwriters or "finders" subject to the rule, unless the justification is clear or unless such person merely has a participation of not more than 5 percent and the fee is the same as that paid to non-affiliated underwriters.

During the fiscal year, there were five proceedings under Section 12 (f) and Rule U-12F-2 relating to underwriters' and finders' fees:

Halsey, Stuart & Co., Inc., filed an application for determination of its status under the rule as a possible or a prospective underwriter of various securities proposed to be issued by Public Service Company of Colorado. On the record presented, the Commission found that the applicant did not bear to the company any of the relationships specified in subdivision (a) of the rule.⁷¹

Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated and Bonbright & Company, Incorporated filed an application for a determination of their status under Rule U-12F-2 as participating underwriters for an issue of first mortgage bonds of Consumers Power Company. It was stipulated that those two underwriters would not receive any underwriting fees in connection with the sale of the bonds in the event that they were found to be affiliates of Consumers Power Company and The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation within the meaning of the rule. At the close of the fiscal year the case was pending.

The Commission instituted a proceeding under Rule U-12F-2 with respect to The Dayton Power and Light Company and Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated, in connection with the issuance and sale of first mortgage bonds of The Dayton Power and Light Company. The Commission accepted the suggestion of Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated that the financing be permitted to proceed as proposed on condition that Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated receive no fee pending final determination of the issues raised by the proceeding pur-

⁷¹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1707.

⁷² Holding Company Act Release No. 1854.

suant to Rule U-12F-2.73 At the close of the fiscal year the case was pending.

Following a preliminary investigation, the Commission instituted a proceeding pursuant to Rule U-12F-2 with respect to Northern Natural Gas Company and Dillon, Read & Co., in connection with the issue and sale of securities of Northern Natural Gas Company. Prior to the hearing on the issues in this proceeding, Dillion, Read & Co. agreed to waive its right to claim or receive its finder's fee, with the reservation that the claim might be reasserted in the event that Rule U-12F-2 should be held invalid or that subdivision (a) (3) of the rule should be repealed with retroactive effect.⁷⁴

The Commission also instituted a proceeding under Rule U-12F-2 with respect to *Michigan Consolidated Gas Company* and *Dillon, Read & Co.*, in connection with the issue and private sale of bonds to two insurance companies. The Commission agreed to the respondents' request to postpone consideration of the issues raised by this proceeding on condition that no finder's fee in connection with the proposed transaction shall be paid to *Dillon, Read & Co.* pending completion of the similar proceedings involving *Dillon, Read & Co.* and *Northern Natural Gas Company.*⁷⁵

In a number of other instances where the question of affiliation under Rule U-12F-2 existed, the investment banking firms concerned limited themselves to an underwriting participation of not more than 5 percent, thereby avoiding the problems and issues involved in a proceeding under the rule.

Since proceedings under Rule U-12F-2 may involve lengthy hearings on more or less intangible corporate relationships, the Commission has been considering alternative techniques which may be less burdensome from the standpoint of the issuer and more effective from the standpoint of the Commission in meeting the requirement of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 to preserve competition and arm's-length bargaining in the distribution of utility securities.

As it has done in other instances, the Commission has solicited the views of interested and informed members of the public as to a method that would best insure the reasonableness of fees and commission, the fairness of the terms and conditions of any proposed issue and sale of utility securities, and the elimination of "transactions in which evils result from an absence of arm's-length bargaining or from restraint of free and independent competition."

ⁿ Holding Company Act Release No. 1925. Commissioners Henderson and Eicher expressed dissenting views on this point in both the *Consumers Power Company* and *The Dayton Power and Light Company* cases, asserting that in their opinion the proceeding under Sections 6 (b) or 7 should not be disposed of until the issues involved in the affiliation proceeding under Rule U-12F-2 were determined.

⁷⁴ File 43-229.

⁷⁵ Holding Company Act Release No. 1984.

The Commission has received numerous responses from investment bankers and utility executives, and conferences have been held with the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., and others. It is now considering the suggestions received for the improvement of its regulatory procedure relative to the issue and sale of securities.

DIVIDEND DECLARATIONS AND PAYMENTS

Pursuant to Section 12 (c), no dividends may be paid or securities redeemed in contravention of any rules or order which the Commission has deemed necessary to protect the financial integrity, to safeguard the working capital, to prevent the payment of dividends out of the capital or unearned surplus of public utility companies, or to prevent the circumvention thereof. Pursuant to this section, the Commission has promulgated Rule U-12C-2 which, except by specific order, prohibits the payment of dividends out of capital or unearned surplus.

In the matter of the Securities Corporation General, a subsidiary of International Utility Corporation, which had a deficit in the earned surplus account (there was a capital surplus), the Commission has permitted the payment of dividends out of current earnings when it was for the purpose of making a distribution on preferred stock held by the public and its financial integrity was not jeopardized. Similarly, the International Utilities Corporation, which also had a deficit in the earned surplus account, was permitted to pay dividends out of current earnings on its two classes of preferred stock on two occasions. Subsequently, permission was granted to pay dividends only to the senior issue because current earnings were inadequate to cover both issues. The need of reorganization of both companies was noted.

The Commission, however, did not allow the payment of dividends out of what was alleged to be earned surplus after an accounting reorganization of the Associated Gas and Electric Corporation (hereinafter called AGECORP) because it was found to be, in fact, capital surplus. The Associated Gas and Electric Company (hereinafter called AGECO) is the top holding company in the Associated System in which the public has an interest. AGECO owns all the stock of AGECORP, which owns the stock of 5 subholding companies which in turn, directly and indirectly, own the controlling stocks of 70 electric and gas utility companies and 85 miscellaneous companies. The operating subsidiaries render services to a population of over 7,000,000 in more than 6,200 communities in some 20 States and the Philippine Islands. The system was put together by H. C. Hopson (now under indictment for alleged mail fraud and income tax violation) and his associates. Acquisitions of properties were financed to a large extent by the issuance of stock and debentures of Associated

⁷⁶ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1704, 1775, 1923.

¹⁷ Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 1643, 1753, 1910, 1924, 2036.

Gas and Electric Company and subholding companies in the system, over \$1,000,000,000 of such securities having been issued in the process. About \$270,000,000 of this money was represented by debentures of AGECO.

In 1933, AGECO found itself unable to meet the interest on these debentures. A few years before, the underlying system properties had been transferred to AGECORP. AGECO partially extricated itself from its difficulties by persauding the holders of approximately \$200,000,000 of its debentures to accept therefor lesser principal amounts of fixed interest and income debentures of AGECORP. These conversions of AGECO debentures for AGECORP debentures constituted a large-scale recapitalization plan, generally called the Recap Plan. 78 The exchange of AGECO debentures for AGECORP debentures pursuant to the Recap Plan was induced in part by the belief that the converters would thereby follow the system assets downstream and obtain a more direct claim to the income of the system. Holders of some \$70,000,000 of AGECO debentures refused to exchange and thus remained dependent for their interest upon dividends paid by AGECORP up to AGECO. The interest of the holders of AGECO debentures demanded a flow of dividends from AGECORP irrespective of AGECORP's earnings. The interest of the AGECORP debenture holders was, of course, opposed to this. The interest of the management of the Associated System demanded that sufficient funds be brought up to AGECO to permit payment of interest and retention of themselves in office. This situation resulted in pressure upon the operating companies to pay up cash irrespective of its effects upon the operating properties and their consumers. Simultaneously with the flow of cash upstream there was a steady increase in bank loans throughout the System.

It was extremely doubtful whether the earnings and earned surplus account of AGECORP were such as to permit future payments of sufficient dividends to cover AGECO's interest requirements. Accordingly, on November 27, 1935, four days before the effective date of the registration provisions of the Act, AGECORP declared a dividend to AGECO consisting of \$90,000,000 in notes. This dividend was declared out of an alleged capital surplus, the laws of Delaware, under which AGECORP was organized, permitting such dividends. Thereafter, over \$16,000,000 was paid by AGECORP to AGECO on account of interest and principal on the above notes. This money was used by AGECO to meet its own interest obligations.

AGECO registered as a holding company on March 28, 1938, following the decision of the Supreme Court in the Electric Bond and Share

⁷⁸ This Recapitalization Plan is critically examined in Part VII of this Commission's report on the Study and Investigation of the Work, Activities, Personnel, and Functions of Protective and Reorganization Committees, pp. 23-108.

case. From this date to November 13, 1939, AGECORP declared and paid no dividends, the payments on account of the above notes being the sole source of AGECO'S revenue.

Effective January 1, 1937, the Commission, acting pursuant to Section 12 (c) of the Act, adopted Rule U-12C-2 forbidding the payment of dividends out of capital or unearned surplus, except upon application to, and approval by order of, the Commission. Effective November 8, 1939, in order to prevent the circumvention of this rule, it adopted Rule U-12C-3, which forbade, except upon application to and order by the Commission, the payment of any indebtedness arising from a dividend declared out of capital or unearned surplus.

On November 13, 1939, AGECORP declared a dividend of \$600,000 and paid \$510,000 of this amount to AGECO. On November 21, 1939, the Commission issued an order to show cause why an order should not issue, pursuant to Section 12 (c) of the Act, forbidding the payment of further dividends. On December 12, 1939, AGECORP filed an application, pursuant to Rule U-12C-3, for permission to pay interest on the balance of \$71,805,120 due on one of the notes declared as a dividend out of capital surplus. The cases were consolidated and heard jointly. The Commission's decision ⁷⁹ forbidding the payment of dividends or interest was based upon its findings that such payments would be in violation of the legislative standards set forth in Section 12 (c) of the Act in the following respects:

- 1. Such payments would be made from capital or unearned surplus. It was found that on the application of proper accounting standards AGECORP had, instead of an earned surplus credit balance as represented, an earned surplus deficit of many millions of dollars. In particular, it was found that the AGECORP "accounting reorganization" of March 31, 1938, whereby the earned surplus deficit was charged off against capital surplus could not be given effect in determining whether AGECORP presently had an earned surplus. This "accounting reorganization" was held to be not sufficiently thoroughgoing and, as a device for altering the earnings history of AGECORP, it was found to be deceptive upon the security holders affected by the Recap Plan. 80
- 2. Such payments would impair the financial integrity of AGE-CORP. The impairment was particularly striking in view of the approaching maturity, on March 15, 1940, of \$8,589,980 of AGE-CORP'S 8 percent debentures which AGECORP professed to be unable to pay at maturity.⁸¹

⁷⁹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1873.

⁸⁰ See also page 173, infra.

⁵¹ The Commission concluded its opinion as follows:

[&]quot;Counsel for the respondent argue that it is unnecessary for us to enter orders forbidding payments of either dividends or interest by AGECORP to AGECO in view of the fact that all basis for such action can be removed by adoption of a plan of reorganization for the System under Section 11 (e) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act. Assuming that our powers under Section 11 (e) are broad enough to permit the

On January 10, 1940, AGECO filed its petition for reorganization under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act, as amended. AGECORP also filed a petition on account of its inability to meet its March 15th maturity. The case was assigned to the Honorable Vincent L. Leibell, District Judge in the Southern District of New York. Upon inquiry of Judge Leibell whether the Commission would accept, pursuant to the provisions of Section 11 of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, appointment as trustee of the estates of the two companies, the Commission responded that it did not desire such an appointment. Thereafter, Judge Leibell appointed Walter H. Pollak as Trustee of AGECO, and Willard L. Thorp and Dennis J. Driscoll as Trustees of AGECORP.

Four subsidiaires of the Columbia Gas and Electric Corporation were allowed to pay interest on notes, the principal of which might be construed to be dividends paid to the parent out of unearned surplus. It was found that the financial integrity of these companies would not be impaired by such a disbursement.⁸²

To protect the financial integrity of the companies and to maintain adequate working capital, the Commission, when necessary, has imposed restrictions on the payment of dividends from earnings or surplus in connection with orders permitting the issuance of securities under Sections 6 (b) and 7. A case in point involved The Toledo Edison Company, an indirect subsidiary of Cities Service Power & Light Company, which filed an application under Section 6 (b) for exemption from the provisions of Sections 6 (a) and 7 with respect to the issuance of additional bonds and debentures. During the preceding five years the company had paid out as dividends on its common stock an amount which was \$1,800,000 greater than its earnings for the period. The Commission found 83 that the effect of this dividend policy had been (1) to reduce the ratio of common stock and surplus to total capitalization; and (2) to place the company in such a position that when faced with an imperative need of cash for new construction its only source of such funds was through increasing its debt.

clearing up of all the difficulties involved in this situation, the execution of such a plan involving a system as complicated as the Associated System is impossible in a period of less than several years. If we should permit the payments now proposed and the multitude of additional payments which the respondent admits would be necessary if AGECO is to meet its obligations pending the consummation of such a plan, we would be permitting for a period of years repeated payments in the face of our finding that such payments contravene the provisions of the statute.

[&]quot;The Commission recognizes that entering its order at this time will give the respondent scant opportunity to seek judicial review before AGECO must meet its interest obligations on January 15. Because of the serious consequences which may flow from failure to meet the interest date, this Commission might be inclined to withhold an order forbidding the particular payment from AGECORP to AGECO proposed to be made on January 15. However, the president of the respondent has indicated to us by letter that, after consultation with a majority of the directors and officers of AGECORP and AGECO, and upon advice of counsel, he is authorized to request that the order, even if unfavorable, be issued immediately, and to state that 'the Company has no intention of seeking judicial review of the Commission's decision and, therefore, will not in any way be embarrassed even though the order will appear to be issued so closely before the dividend date.' We have therefore decided to issue the order at this time "

⁸² Holding Company Act Release No. 1907.

⁸¹ Holding Company Act Release No. 2028.

For the protection of present and prospective investors and to safe-guard working capital, the Commission prohibited, until further order, the payment of dividends from the earned surplus of \$2,830,000 existing on December 31, 1939.⁸⁴ It was further ordered that \$362,500 must be annually set aside out of earnings and made non-available for dividends. This amount was equal to the annual sinking fund requirement of its 3½ percent sinking fund bonds.

Policies with respect to the payment of dividends from surplus created by a write-down of the par or stated value of a company's stock are set forth in the matter of *Columbia Gas & Electric Corporation* and reviewed in the Fifth Annual Report of this Commission.²⁵

General Public Utilities, Inc., a registered holding company and a partially owned subsidiary of Community Power and Light Company, proposed a dividend payable in common stock or cash at the option of the holder. Two earlier similar dividend proposals were sanctioned primarily because of the impact of the recently repealed undistributed profits tax provisions of the Revenue Act of 1936. The Commission denied permission to issue stock since the stock did not now meet the standards of Section 7. It was not claimed that the issuance was for the purpose of financing the business of the declarant as a public utility company. The Commission declared that the mere distribution of additional stock certificates which did not affect the corporation's assets or the stockholders' interest in them cannot be said to represent an urgent or even necessary corporate purpose.

In addition to giving substantial voting rights to its preferred stock, the East Tennessee Light & Power Company, a registered holding company subsidiary of Cities Service Power & Light Company, in a program of liquidating three operating subsidiaries, also consented to an order of the Commission restricting dividends on its common stock. As long as any shares of the \$6 preferred stock are outstanding, the company may not declare any dividends if thereafter the common stock equity is less than an amount equal to the involuntary liquidating value of the preferred stock outstanding.⁸⁸

In permitting new security issues to become effective, the Commission regularly requires that substantial charges for depreciation and maintenance be made before computation of earnings available for dividends.⁸⁹

The Public Service Company of Indiana had a deficit of over \$9,000,000, due primarily to losses on abandoned street railways.

⁴⁴ Holding Company Act Release No. 2028.

⁸⁵ Pp. 67-8; see also Holding Company Act Release No. 1417.

M Holding Company Act Release No. 1850.

⁸⁷ Holding Company Act Release Nos. 889 (2 S. E. C. 866), 1376, and 1386.

⁸⁸ Holding Company Act Release No. 1971.

⁸º Central Illinois Electric and Gas Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1592; Potomac Electric Power Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1834; Central Maine Power Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1809; Northwestern Electric Company, Holding Company Act Release No. 1760; Public Service Company of Colorado, Holding Company Act Release No. 1701.

Intangibles were not segregated and the property account included substantial write-ups. The depreciation reserve amounted to only 4.8 percent of the utility plant. The Commission, as a condition to its order exempting an issue of bonds and serial debentures, required the company to charge annually to its depreciation expense account an amount equal to \$1,700,000, plus 3 percent of the book value of its net depreciable property additions. Similarly, in permitting the declaration of the New Mexico Gas Company to become effective, the Commission imposed conditions requiring an annual charge for depreciation of a lump sum plus 3½ percent of the book value of net property additions.

The Commission is now engaged in making an analysis of the depreciation policies of companies under its jurisdiction to determine their adequacy and to test the genuineness of earnings. During the year, a study of the preferred stock dividend arrearages of registered holding companies and their subsidiaries was made by the Public Utilities Division. As of December 31, 1938, the companies included in this report had outstanding preferred stocks whose involuntary liquidating value totaled \$4,206,365,075, of which \$3,590,730,690 was held by the public. Of the publicly held stock, \$1,580,648,416, or 44 percent, was in arrears to the extent of \$372,487,414, or 23.6 percent of the liquidating value of the stocks in arrears.

Still referring to publicly held stock, holding company issues amounted to \$2,082,650,314 and those of operating companies to \$1,508,080,376. Holding company stocks in arrears totaled \$1,168,911,229, or 56 percent of the preferred stock issued by such companies as compared with a total of \$411,737,187, or 27 percent, for the operating companies. The arrearages accumulated on holding and operating company issues were in amounts of \$282,519,592 and \$89,967,822, respectively.

Of the 1,370,550 public investors in holding and operating company preferred stocks, 733,308 held stocks not in arrears on which they received an aggregate dividend of \$110,806,340. There were 595,697 investors who held preferred stocks in arrears. Of these, 321,670 received dividends of \$37,323,017 with respect to annual requirements of \$56,278,733, and 274,027 investors holding stocks with annual requirements of \$42,792,639 received no dividends. An additional 41,545 investors held noncumulative stocks on which no dividends were paid in 1938.

The report of the Division concluded that:

"The problem of dividend arrearages is materially greater with respect to the preferred stocks of the holding companies than with respect to the preferred stocks of operating companies.

⁶⁰ Holding Company Act Release No. 1826.

⁹¹ Holding Company Act Release No. 1883.

"There are a number of operating companies and some holding companies which undoubtedly should be able to clear up their arrearages without recapitalization. However, there are some operating companies, and to a greater extent holding companies, where the arrearages are so great in relation to the earnings available for preferred stock dividends, that recapitalization is inevitable.

"This and other studies that we have made indicate that these are at least 20 holding companies with consolidated assets aggregating about \$6,500,000,000 which must be recapitalized. It must be concluded, therefore, that the financial reconstruction of companies with unsound capital structures is one of the most pressing problems facing some of the holding company managements and the Securities and Exchange Commission."

The following table indicates the number of applications under Section 12 (c) and Rules U-12C-2 and U-12C-3 relating to the payment of dividends out of capital or unearned surplus, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year:

	Number filed	Number approved	Number dis- missed or withdrawn	Number denied	Number pending
To June 30, 1939	20 25	16 13	0	2 2	2 12
Total.	45	29	0	4	

Applications under Section 12 (c) and Rules U-12C-2 and U-12C-3

EXEMPTION OF COMPANIES FROM THE PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY ACT OF 1935 92

Sections 2 and 3 of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 authorize the Commission to exempt by regulation or order certain types of companies from the obligations, duties, and liabilities imposed by the Act. The form of such exemption may vary considerably. Pursuant to this power the Commission has exempted, by rule, all companies in a system whose total annual gross revenues from utility business are less than \$350,000 or whose utility assets do not exceed \$1,000,000. In other cases, a more individualized consideration is necessary and questions such as those of control, the predominant nature of the company's business, whether or not it is a holding company only temporarily and how it came to be such, and similar factual matters are decisive.

H. M. Byllesby & Company, which has as its primary business the underwriting and distribution of security issues, and its parent, Byllesby Corporation, filed applications for orders declaring such companies not to be holding companies pursuant to Section 2 (a) (7)

²² Appendix VII, page 331, contains a list of pending applications for exemption as holding companies as of June 30, 1940.

of the Act or in the alternative for exemption as holding companies under Section 3 (a) (3) (A) of the Act. H. M. Byllesby & Company owned 75 percent of the common stock, series B, of Standard Power and Light Corporation, a registered holding company, which in turn owned a majority of the voting stock of Standard Gas and Electric Company, also a registered holding company. The ownership of this common stock, series B, entitled H. M. Byllesby & Company to elect a minority of the Board of Directors of Standard Power and Light Corporation and further to influence the affairs of Standard Power and Light Corporation in such a manner that a majority of the Board of Directors of Standard Gas and Electric Company would be persons who could fairly be said to be representatives or appointees of H. M. Bullesby & Company. The Commission held that the ownership of the certificates in a voting trust formed just prior to the filing of this application constituted ownership of "voting securities" within the meaning of the Act. The Commission found that a "controlling influence" over the affairs of Standard Power and Light Corporation had been exercised by H. M. Byllesby & Company and that the existence of such a controlling influence was not dependent upon the possession of the majority of the voting stock of the company. It was further held that the existence of this controlling influence was not affected by the creation of the voting trust.

H. M. Byllesby & Company, however, would be entitled to an exemption under Section 3 (a) (3) if it could show that it was only incidentally a holding company being primarily engaged in a business other than that of a public utility company and not deriving directly or indirectly any material part of its income from one or more of its public utility subsidiary companies. It was found in this connection that from 1930 to 1937, 46 percent of the investment banking business of H. M. Byllesby & Company had been received from companies in the Standard Power and Light Corporation system. Since the underwriting fees received therefrom represented a material part of its income, the application for exemption under Section 3 (a) (3) (A) was denied.⁹³

Another case, involving the question of control of one company over another, was that of the application of Manchester Gas Company for an order under Section 2 (a) (8) of the Act asking that it be declared not a subsidiary of The United Gas Improvement Company. About 45 percent of the common stock of Manchester Gas Company was owned by The United Gas Improvement Company at the time the application was filed, but, due to default in the payment of preferred stock dividends, exclusive voting rights were vested in the preferred stock of which The United Gas Improvement Company owned about 9 percent. This case was consolidated with a proceeding which the Commission

⁸² Holding Company Act Release No. 1882.

had instituted pursuant to paragraph (B) of Section 2 (a) (8) to determine whether or not the management and policies of the Manchester Gas Company were subject to a controlling influence by The United Gas Improvement Company so as to make it necessary or appropriate that the Manchester Gas Company be subject to the provisions of the Act. The record showed that although The United Gas Improvement Company owned but a small amount of the securities presently entitled to vote, it had been instrumental in changing the manager of the company from one who had been with the company since 1915 to a man whose sole operating experience had been with acknowledged subsidiaries of The United Gas Improvement Company: that the minutes of the Board of Directors of Manchester Gas Company had always been and were still being prepared by the secretarial department of The United Gas Improvement Company; that the Tax Department of The United Gas Improvement Company regularly prepared the various tax returns of the Manchester Gas Company; that the plant of the Manchester Company was regularly inspected by The United Gas Improvement Company engineers in an exhaustive manner; and that the reports of such engineers and their recommendations were followed by the operating officers of the Manchester Gas Company. The Commission held in this case that it constituted a situation in which substantially every phase of the management and policies of the operating company were subject to a controlling influence by a large proprietary company and that, even though The United Gas Improvement Company did not at that time own more than 10 percent of the voting securities of the Manchester Gas Company presently entitled to vote, Manchester Gas Company was subject to such a controlling influence that it was in fact a subsidiary.94

The Union Electric Company of Missouri, which owns substantially all the voting securities of six public utility companies operating in territory contiguous to its operating area in Missouri, Illinois, and Iowa, filed an application for exemption as a holding company under Section 3 (a) (2) of the Act claiming to be predominantly a public utility company whose operations as such do not extend beyond the State in which it is incorporated and States contiguous thereto. In its opinion denying the application 95 on the ground that the company is not "predominantly" an operating company, the majority of the Commission emphasized the fact that the aggregate book value of the company's subsidiaries was 85 percent of that of its directly owned properties. The Commission further pointed to the substantial amount and proportion of the assets and earnings of the holding company system represented by the subsidiaries and the substantial public holdings of the senior securities of the subsidiaries, and held

⁴⁴ Holding Company Act Release No. 2002.

⁹⁵ Holding Company Act Release No. 1621

that the unified operation of the property of the parent and subsidiary companies was without significance relative to the company's application.

The following table indicates the number of applications under Sections 2 and 3 relating to exemption from the provisions of the Act, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year.

Applications under Decitors 2 and 5									
		Number reopened	Number approved	Number denied	Number withdrawn or dis- missed	Number pending at close of fiscal year			
To June 30, 1939 July 1, 1939, to June 30, 1940	467 20	0 2	115 6	8 8	265 17	79 70			
Total	487	2	121	16	282				

Applications under Sections 2 and 3

MUTUAL AND SUBSIDIARY SERVICE COMPANIES

An important phase of the Commission's duties is the regulation of service, sales, and construction contracts pursuant to Section 13. The primary purpose of this section of the Act is to prevent the charging of excessive or unearned fees and other charges which holding companies or their controlled service companies have exacted in the past from the controlled operating companies. Under Section 13 of the Act, registered holding companies are prohibited from servicing for a charge their associate public utility or service companies, except under special or unusual circumstances, while subsidiary or mutual service companies are required to perform service, sales, and construction contracts for associate companies so as to insure the efficient and economical performance of such contracts for the benefit of the serviced companies at cost fairly and equitably allocated. The Commission has enforced these provisions by rules and regulations and by proceedings pursuant to the statute.

Two types of system companies are engaged in the performance of such contracts, namely, subsidiary and mutual service companies. Both of these types of companies must operate at cost and the basic requirements as to their standards for and method of operations are, for all practical purposes, similar.

The program of the Commission in the administration of Section 13 tends to fall in two major parts. The first part may be termed organizational and involves the original qualification of the mutual and subsidiary service companies. The second and perhaps more important part involves the continuing office and field studies of these companies which are operating under Commission jurisdiction.

Under the first part of the program, the Commission has passed on a majority of the service companies which have filed. Prior to Commission action many changes have been required in the methods of

operation and functions of these companies in order to comply with the standards of the Act and the rules and regulations issued thereunder. A reasonable amount of standardization has been accomplished, particularly with respect to accounting and the elimination of investments and functions not related to the performance of service, sales, and construction contracts. There are, however, two major companies which the Commission has not passed on as yet with respect to their organizational features, namely, Ebasco Services, Inc., in the Electric Bond and Share System and The Utility Management Corporation in the Associated Gas and Electric System. During the past year, public proceedings have been conducted in connection with these two cases and some improvement and progress has resulted. the case of The Utility Management Corporation, certain major changes have already been effected in the operations of this company during the past year, resulting in substantial savings in its cost of performing contracts for associated companies.

Because, however, of the difficult problems encountered and the apparent necessity for further material changes with respect to these companies, they are still operating under the temporary exemption provided for in the rules and regulations. This same general situation also applies with respect to certain of the other service companies whose applications or declarations are still pending. The procedure followed by the Commission does not prejudice the rights of the service companies which have filed with the Commission, since the rules and regulations adopted by the Commission permit these companies to continue operations under temporary exemption until the Commission acts.

- The cumulative experience obtained over the past several years in dealing with service companies has been very helpful in passing upon the organizational features of service companies.

During the past year, progress has been made in the second and perhaps the most important aspect of service company regulation, namely, the continuing office and field studies of service companies which have been previously passed upon by the Commission. Since there is no real uniformity in the functions and activities of the various service organizations, each case must be treated separately in order to obtain an effective analysis of the functions performed and the necessity for the services rendered. Such office and field studies have resulted in the withdrawal of approval of two service companies since the record indicated there appeared to be no further necessity for the continuance of their operations. Office and field studies have been undertaken in other situations which may result in further action by the Commission in these cases. The Commission is also

engaged in determining whether some holding companies are directly or indirectly shifting holding company expenses upon the operating companies through the medium of controlled service companies or otherwise.

The orders of the Commission have in many instances been conditioned to require, if necessary, a reallocation or reapportionment of service company charges. One proceeding 96 was conducted during the past year as a result of which a reallocation of past charges was required.

The Commission also had the occasion in the Ebasco Services, Inc. case to question the profits obtained from the servicing of foreign companies. These profits were drawn up to the top holding company, Electric Bond and Share Co. As a result of the proceedings all profits obtained through servicing foreign associate companies must be turned back to the intermediate holding company, American and Foreign Power Company, Inc., 97 for the benefit of all its security holders.

The Commission, during the past year, amended its annual report form to require departmental analyses in the salary account of service companies. This information, contained for the first time in the annual reports for 1939, will be very helpful in connection with future studies of the functions and benefits of service companies. Additional information has also been required in the Form U-5S, Annual Supplement to Registration Statement, in order effectively to appraise and analyze the necessity for further regulations of service, sales, and construction contracts between the companies in utility systems and outsiders so that the Commission may prescribe such additional rules and regulations as may be necessary.

The Act, in its definition of service, sales, and construction contracts, gives the Commission complete jurisdiction over intercompany transactions and covers necessarily many and varied activities in the day-to-day operations of holding-company systems. The Commission's studies have brought to light certain methods and procedures whereby companies have contended that the transactions involved were beyond the sphere of Commission regulation. These and other problems are carefully studied in the light of the present rules and regulations in order to insure a more effective control of the transactions which appear to warrant regulation.

The following table indicates the number of applications under Section 13 relating to mutual and subsidiary service companies, received and disposed of during the past fiscal year:

In the Matter of Northeastern Water and Service Corporation, Holding Company Act Release No. 1867.
 Holding Company Act Release No. 2255.

	Number received	Number approved	Number exempted	Number denied or revoked	Number withdrawn or dismissed	Number pending at close of fiscal year
To June 30, 1939	46 48	27 2	2 2	~	4	13 15
Total	54	29	4	1	5	

Applications under Section 13

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

During the past year, the Commission carried on several investigations of alleged violations of Section 12 (h) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, which prohibits registered holding companies and their subsidiaries from making any contributions to political groups or in connection with any political office. important of these investigations to date involved the Union Electric Company of Missouri and other subsidiaries of The North American Company. On May 6, 1940, the Commission, acting upon the basis of information which it had received from various sources, instituted a public proceeding pursuant to its powers of investigation under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. This information tended to show that these companies had made substantial disbursements, purportedly for expenses and which were fictitious or "padded." to certain parties who rebated or "kicked-back" these sums to the company: also that substantial contributions had been made by and on behalf of these companies to political organizations and to influence and entertain certain public officials, and that such payments were not properly reflected on the books of the companies.98

On November 11, 1939, Albert C. Laun, until recently a vice-president of Union Electric Company of Missouri, and Frederick J. Martin, a sales engineer employed by the same company, were indicted for perjury alleged to have been committed while testifying before an officer of the Commission with respect to the conditions and practices in question. On January 3, 1940, Martin was sentenced, on his plea of guilty, to imprisonment of six months and a fine of \$501. On March 13, 1940, Laun was again indicted, together with Frank J. Boehm, also until recently a vice-president of Union Electric Company of Missouri, for perjury alleged to have been similarly committed. Subsequently, Laun pleaded nolo contendere to the second indictment and was sentenced to imprisonment of one year and one day on each of three counts, the sentences to run concurrently, and fines aggre-

a Includes 3 reopened cases.

⁹⁸ At the request of the Department of Justice, the Commission has deferred for the present its public proceedings in connection with possible violations by The North American Company and Union Electric Company of Missouri of these Acts, and has submitted to the Department the results of its investigation.

gating \$4,500. Boehm's trial was in progress at the end of the fiscal year.99

RULES, REGULATIONS, AND FORMS

The Commission is constantly studying the rules, regulations, and forms adopted under the Act to achieve the simplest requirements consistent with a vigorous administration thereof.

In February 1940 the Commission replaced all its outstanding forms for applications and declarations under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 by a single form. The new form is entitled Form U-1 and takes the place of Forms U-6B7-1, U-10-1, U-10-2, U-12D-1, and U-12D-2. Form U-1 is used in connection with applications and declarations concerning any one or more of the following transactions: the issue or sale of securities and acquisition and sale of securities and assets; change of rights of outstanding securities; guaranty or assumption of liability; retirement or redemption of securities; declaration or payment of dividends; or any other transaction subject to rules under Sections 12 (b) or 12 (c) of the Act. In cases where a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 is filed as part of the transaction, the information filed under Form U-1 is substantially reduced and the applicant may omit answering any item concerning the financial conditions when corresponding, though not necessarily identical, information is given in the registration statement.

To expedite the administration of the Act and to save time and expense for the industry, the Commission drafted a rule to provide that applications or declarations under Sections 6, 7, 10, and 12 (other than Section 12 (e)), will be granted or permitted to become effective by order issuing as of course on the thirtieth day after filing or the fifteenth day after the filing of the last amendment, whichever is later, unless prior thereto the Commission shall have ordered a hearing. The Commission may, at the request of the applicant or declarant, advance or postpone the effective date. If the Commission deems that a hearing is appropriate in the public interest or the interests of investors or consumers, it will issue an order for a hearing, and in that event the declaration or application shall not become effective or be granted except pursuant to further order of the Commission. To afford interested persons an opportunity to request a hearing, the rule provides for the publishing of notices of the filing of declarations or applications in the Federal Register. A draft of the proposed rule was submitted to the industry and a conference with representatives of the industry was held on June 17, 1940. The representatives who attended indicated that they favored the

^{**}On July 26, 1940, Boehm was found guilty of perjury on two counts by a jury and was sentenced to five years imprisonment on each count, sentences to run concurrently, and fined \$4,000. Witnesses, in the Boehm trial, testified to "kick-backs" or rebates totaling approximately \$580,000.

new procedure and made a number of constructive suggestions. The rule became effective July 9, 1940. 100

During the year the Commission amended its permanent registration form, Form U-5B, to require the filing of additional desirable data for the information of the Commission and the general public. In addition, the supplemental annual report form, Form U-5S, was amended to clarify and simplify its preparation.

Rule U-12B-1 was amended to substantially expand the Commission's review of intercompany open-account transactions.

During the past year, the Commission adopted 5 new rules and repealed 2 rules. It also adopted 21 amendments to existing rules, of which 7 concerned procedural changes necessary upon the adoption of Form U-1. In addition, 5 forms were rescinded, 3 were adopted, and 3 amended.

The annual report filed by each registered holding company and the annual accounting report for service companies were revised. The annual report of registered holding companies was simplified as to the presentation of information and in some respects expanded to call for more information. The revised report calls for information in tabular form in order to simplify the work of reporting and increase the usefulness of the report to the Commission and to the public. Substantially more information was requested as to servicing con-The accounting report for service companies, which follows the uniform system of accounting for service companies, was expanded to secure additional information as to the allocation of charges for service, cost of construction work, and analyses of salaries. In anticipation of the new procedure whereby applications and declarations become effective automatically, unless the Commission orders a hearing, it was found necessary to ask for additional information in the registration statements. A special supplemental report was required calling for additional information as to revaluations, open accounts, depreciation, and consideration for securities sold. annual statement was also required of companies claiming exemption from the Act pursuant to an exemption rule of the Commission.

¹⁰⁰ In dissenting from the adoption of this rule, Commissioner Healy in a public memorandum dated April 1, 1940, set forth in detail his reasons for believing that the rule provided for an invalid procedure and that it was bad policy. He suggested an alternative procedure which he believed was better law and better policy and equally saving of time and money. The views of the majority of the Commission in support of the rule were set forth in a memorandum of June 24. See also Holding Company Act Releases Nos. 2161, 2164, and 2214.

Part II

PARTICIPATION OF THE COMMISSION IN CORPORATE REORGANIZATIONS UNDER CHAPTER X OF THE BANKRUPTCY ACT, AS AMENDED

Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act, as amended in 1938, affords appropriate machinery for the reorganization of corporations (other than railroads) in the Federal courts under the Bankruptcy Act. The Commission's duties under Chapter X are, first, at the request or with the approval of the court, to act as a participant in proceedings thereunder in order to provide, for the court and investors, independent, expert assistance on matters arising in such proceedings, and second, to prepare, for the benefit of the courts and investors, formal advisory reports on plans of reorganization submitted to it by the court in such proceedings.

COMMISSION FUNCTIONS UNDER CHAPTER X

Under the provisions of Section 208 of the Bankruptcy Act, as amended, the Commission is given power to participate in Chapter X proceedings upon the request of the judge or upon its own motion if approved by the judge. Upon filing its notice of appearance under that section, the Commission is deemed to be a party in interest and has a right to be heard on all matters arising in the proceeding, but it may not appeal or file a petition for appeal in the proceeding. The Commission, however, appropriately appears before the appellate courts when appeals are taken by other parties to proceedings in which it is participating.

The Act also provides for the preparation by the Commission of advisory reports on reorganization plans. Section 172 of the Act provides that the judge shall, if the indebtedness of the debtor exceeds \$3,000,000, and may, if such indebtedness does not exceed that amount, submit to the Commission for examination and report any plan or plans of reorganization which the judge deems worthy of consideration. Under the provisions of Section 173 of the Act, the judge may not approve a plan of reorganization in such a case until the Commission has filed its report or has notified the judge that it will not file a report or unless no report has been filed within the period fixed by the judge. Section 175 provides that, upon the approval of any plan by the judge, the Commission's report, if one has been filed, or a summary thereof prepared by the Commission, shall be transmitted to creditors and stockholders who are being asked to

vote on the plan, along with certain other material.

The Commission has endeavored to exercise its functions in such a manner as to expedite the work of the courts and of the parties to the proceedings in which it participates. Units of the Reorganization Division have been established in the regional offices of the Commission. The attorneys in those offices, as representatives of the Commission, undertake the duties of attending hearings in proceedings, of conferring with the parties, and, with the financial analysts and accountants stationed in the regional offices, of gathering much of the information necessary for the Commission to perform properly its advisory functions under the Act.

STATISTICS ON REORGANIZATIONS UNDER CHAPTER X

Proceedings in which the Commission Participated.

Since the intention of the provisions embodied in Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act is an assurance of greater protection for the interests of the public investor, the Commission has concerned itself primarily with those proceedings in which a definite public interest has been involved. For practical purposes, proceedings are considered to have a public interest sufficient to justify Commission participation if they involve securities in the hands of the public amounting to more than \$250,000. The Commission may often enter smaller cases upon the request of the judge or if it may perform a useful service to a fairly sizeable group of public investors because of such matters as the proposal of improper plans of reorganization or violations of different provisions of the Act.

During the period from September 22, 1938 (the date on which the amended Bankruptcy Act became fully effective) to the beginning of the fiscal year, the Commission had filed its notice of appearance in 87 proceedings involving the reorganization of 105 corporations (87 principal debtor corporations and 18 subsidiary debtors). During the fiscal year, the Commission filed its notice of appearance in 47 additional proceedings involving the reorganization of 63 corporations (47 principal debtor corporations and 16 subsidiary debtors). Of these 47 proceedings, 33 were instituted under Chapter X and 14 under Section 77B. The Commission filed its notice of appearance at the request of the judge in 20 proceedings, while in the remaining 27 the Commission entered its appearance upon approval by the judge of its motion to participate.

The total assets and total indebtedness involved in these 47 proceedings were approximately \$1,580,000,000 and \$860,000,000, respectively. A classification of these cases by industry is given in the following table:

Reorganization cases instituted under Chapter X and Section 77B in which the Commission filed a notice of appearance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Distribution by type of industry

	Number of debtors		Total a	ssets	Total indebtedness	
Industry	Principal	Subsidi- ary	Amount	Percent of grand total	Amount	Percent of grand total
Agriculture			Thousands of dollars		Thousands of dollars	
Mining and other extractive Manufacturing	4	3	8, 103 65, 484	0. 5 4. 1	4, 576 49, 549	0. 5 5. 8
Financial and investment	1	1	15, 802 6, 108	1.0 0.4	14, 533 4, 450	1 7 0.5
Real estate	16	5	134, 517	8.5	138, 937	16.1
Construction	1		9, 108	0.6	4, 485	0.5
Transportation and communication	3	1	261, 509	16.5	105, 744	12.3
Service Electric light, power and gas	7	6	2, 004 1, 080, 545	0 1 68 3	139 538, 761	(°) 62. 6
Grand total	47	16	1, 583, 180	100.0	861, 174	100.0

Less than 0.05%.

Indicated in the following table is the distribution by amount of indebtedness of the 63 debtors involved in these 47 proceedings. Five of the companies included in these proceedings had indebtedness of at least \$50,000,000.

Reorganization cases instituted under Chapter X and Section 77B in which the Commission filed a notice of appearance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Distribution by amount of individual indebtedness

		of debtors	Total indebtedness	
Amount of individual indebtedness in dollars	lars Principal Subsidiary Amount Subsidiary Thousands of dollars 2 2 223 224 2 223 3 2 44 1 77, 525 3 2 618, 815	Percent of grand total		
Less than 100,000	2 8 5 4 8 2 10 4 1 3	3 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 2	of dollars 223 2, 049 2, 224 3, 987 13, 541 7, 100 53, 218 77, 525 82, 492	(a) 0.2 0.3 0.5 1.6 0.8 6.2 9.0 9.6 71.8

[·] Less than 0 05%.

Of the 134 proceedings in which the Commission has become a party between September 22, 1938, and June 30, 1940, 3 (involving no subsidiary debtors) were closed during the 1939 fiscal year and 29 (involving 29 principal debtors and 6 subsidiary debtors) were closed during the 1940 fiscal year, as far as the Commission's active participation was concerned. The remaining 102 proceedings, involving 102 principal debtors and 28 subsidiary debtors, were cases in which

the Commission was actively participating as of June 30, 1940. These debtors showed aggregate assets of approximately \$2,080,000,000 and aggregate indebtedness of approximately \$1,260,000,000, distributed among various industries as follows:

Reorganization cases instituted under Chapter X and Section 77B in which the Commission filed a notice of appearance and in which the Commission was actively interested in the proceedings as of June 30, 1940 — Distribution by type of industry

	Number of debtors		Total assets		Total indebtedness	
Industry	Principal	Subsidi- ary	Amount	Percent of grand total	Amount Thousands of dollars 100 88, 494 165, 998	Percent of grand total
Agriculture Mining and other extractive Manufacturing Financial and investment Merchandising Real estate Construction Transportation and communication Service Electric light, power and gas Grand total	1 10 26 2 2 2 41 2 4 2 12	77 31 8 21 6	Thousands of dollars 1, 100 132, 352 229, 401 23, 369 72, 223 177, 604 28, 377 283, 690 1, 126, 969 2, 078, 693	0. 1 6. 4 11. 0 1. 1 3. 5 8. 5 1. 4 13. 6 0. 2 54. 2	of dollars 100	(e) 7. 1 13. 1 1. 5 3. 4 16. 2 1. 1 11. 3 0. 1 46. 2

Less than 0.05%.

Almost 60 percent of this combined indebtedness was accounted for by 7 companies. The following table presents a distribution of the 130 companies according to the amount of their indebtedness:

Reorganization cases instituted under Chapter X and Section 77B in which the Commission filed a notice of appearance and in which the Commission was actively interested in the proceedings as of June 30, 1940 — Distribution by amount of individual indebtedness

	Number	of debtors	Total indebtedness	
Amount of individual indebtedness in dollars	Principal	Subsidi- ary		Percent of grand total
Less than 100,000	9 17 6 23 7 4 5	3 6 3 4 4 2 1 1 2 2	of dollars 328 3,685 5,947 9,642 29,951 20,371 132,460 124,272 188,699	(*) 0.3 0.5 0.8 2.4 1.6 10.5 9.9 15.0 59.0
Grand total	102	28	1, 256, 286	100.0

Less than 0.05%.

All Reorganizations under Chapter X.

The Commission has continued to issue periodic statistical analyses of proceedings under Chapter X. By virtue of Section 265a of the

Bankruptcy Act, which provides that the clerks of the various Federal district courts shall transmit to the Commission copies of all petitions for reorganization and other specified documents filed under Chapter X, the Commission is enabled to make this information available for public use.

A statistical analysis of Chapter X proceedings instituted during the fiscal year is contained in Appendix IX, page 347.

. CHAPTER XI PROCEEDINGS

During the course of the past fiscal year there arose the possibility that the investor safeguards of Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act might be nullified by improper resort to proceedings under Chapter XI of that Act. It was the Commission's opinion that only the provisions of Chapter X were properly available for the reorganization of corporations with securities in the hands of the public, and that Chapter XI was the proper medium for securing arrangements or compositions of unsecured indebtedness by individuals or corporations with no public investor interest. In order to secure an adjudication on this problem, the Commission in May 1939 intervened, with the permission of the district court, in the proceeding for an "arrangement" under Chapter XI filed by the United States Realty and Improvement Company in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. In this case the Commission moved to vacate the order approving the debtor's petition as properly filed, to dismiss the proceeding under Chapter XI, and to deny confirmation of the proposed arrangement.

Shortly after its intervention in the United States Realty and Improvement Company proceeding, the Commission filed a similar motion in a proceeding for an arrangement under Chapter XI filed by Credit Service, Incorporated, in the United States District Court for the District of Maryland. The arrangement there proposed would have affected some \$5,000,000 of debentures outstanding in the hands of the public. The court reserved decision upon the Commission's motion and, after the opinion of the Second Circuit Court of Appeals in the United States Realty case, denied the Commission's motion to dismiss the proceeding and also its petition for leave to intervene. The Commission took an appeal to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, which appeal was pending at the time the United States Supreme Court handed down its decision in the United States Realty case. The appeal to the circuit court of appeals was thereafter dismissed by stipulation, after the district court had adjudicated the debtor a bankrupt.

¹ Before the intervention of the Commission in the *United States Realty* proceedings, it had taken a similar position in another case in the Northern District of Illinois. In the latter, the district judge suggested from the bench that, to avoid controversy, a petition be filed under Chapter X. The debtor thereupon filed such a petition, and the proceeding continued under Chapter X.

In the United States Realty and Improvement Company case, the debtor had outstanding in the hands of the public 900,000 shares of stock which were listed on the New York Stock Exchange and two series of debentures aggregating over \$2,300,000. The debtor was also liable as a guarantor of payment of principal, interest, and sinking fund payments upon a series of publicly held mortgage certificates in the principal amount of \$3,710,500 issued by a wholly owned subsidiary. These certificates, secured by a mortgage on two buildings which constituted the subsidiary's only substantial assets, were in default as to interest and sinking fund payments. The debtor, which was unable to pay its debts as they matured at the time it instituted the proceedings, had suffered large shrinkage in the value of its holdings and had operated at a loss for several years.

It was the debtor's intention to have a proceeding instituted in a State court for the subsidiary, to secure a modification of the latter's mortgage certificates by the extension of their maturity, a reduction in interest, and a modification of their sinking fund provisions. The purpose of the Chapter XI proceeding was to effect a corresponding modification of the debtor's guarantee, and this "arrangement" was to stand regardless of the outcome of the State court proceedings. None of the other securities of the debtor were to be affected. Assents to this plan were obtained from more than half of the certificate holders before the Chapter XI proceeding was initiated.

Although the Commission was allowed to intervene, its motions in the Chapter XI proceeding were denied by the district court. Upon appeal, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit held that, since the debtor was literally within the jurisdictional provisions of Chapter XI, the proceedings for an arrangement were properly brought under that chapter, that the Commission's intervention in the proceedings was not authorized by any provisions of the Bankruptcy Act, and that it was not an aggrieved party, because it had no interest affected by the Chapter XI proceeding which would entitle it to intervene under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The circuit court therefore dismissed the appeal of the Commission from the order of the district court denying its motions and, upon appeal of the debtor, reversed the order of the district court allowing the Commission to intervene.²

Upon petition by the Commission, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari and thereafter reversed the decision of the circuit court of appeals. The Supreme Court held that since the provisions of Chapter XI were not adequate to secure to public investors the safeguards necessary for the consummation of a fair, equitable and feasible plan of reorganization and since the provisions

³ Securities and Exchange Commission v. United States Realty and Improvement Company, 108 F. (2d) 794 (C. O. A. 2d, 1940).

of the Bankruptcy Act contemplated that the reorganization of such debtors should take place under the terms of Chapter X rather than Chapter XI, the district court, in the exercise of its sound discretion as a court of equity, should have dismissed the petition, thus relegating the respondent, if it were so inclined, to the initiation of a proceeding under Chapter X "in which it may secure reorganization which, after study and investigation appropriate to its corporate business structure and ownership, is found to be fair, equitable and feasible, and in the best interest of creditors."

The Supreme Court also held that the order permitting the Commission to intervene in a Chapter XI proceeding for the purpose of moving its dismissal was properly entered. The Court, through Mr. Justice Stone, stated that

"The Commission's duty and its interest extends not only to the performance of its prescribed functions where a petition is filed under Chapter X, but to the prevention, so far as the rules of procedure permit, of interferences with their performance through improper resort to a Chapter XI proceeding in violation of the public policy of the Act which it is the duty of the court to safeguard by relegating the respondent to a Chapter X proceeding * * *.

"If, as we have said, it was the duty of the court to dismiss the Chapter XI proceeding because its maintenance there would defeat the public interest in having any scheme of reorganization of respondent subjected to the scrutiny of the Commission, we think it plain that the Commission has a sufficient interest in the maintenance of its statutory authority and the performance of its public duties to entitle it through intervention to prevent reorganizations, which should rightly be subjected to its scrutiny, from proceeding without it." ³

It appears, therefore, to be finally settled that resort to the provisions of Chapter XI is not appropriate in the reorganization of corporations with securities distributed in the hands of the public. Thus, in a recent case, in the Southern District of New York, a debtor which had originally filed under Chapter XI had the proceedings dismissed on its own motion after the Supreme Court's decision in the *United States Realty* case and filed a voluntary petition under Chapter X of the Bankruptey Act.

STATUTORY AMENDMENTS

During the fiscal year the Commission came to the conclusion that the provisions of Section 270 of the Bankruptcy Act, with respect to the basis of the debtor's property for income-tax purposes, were demonstrably unfair to a substantial number of the debtor corporations theretofore reorganized or then in the process of reorganization under Chapter X, and also that those provisions were frequently a serious obstacle to the development of a fair and feasible plan in that they provided argument for not reducing outstanding indebtedness even where a failure to do so would result in an unsound capital struc-

^{*}Securities and Exchange Commission v. United States Realty and Improvement Company, 60 Sup. Ct. 1044 (1940).

ture. In the discharge of its advisory functions under Chapter X, the Commission had, of course, an opportunity to observe the practical consequences of Section 270 in cases in which it was participating as a party pursuant to Section 208 of the Act.

The basis of property for income-tax purposes is important from at least two points of view: (1) the amount of depreciation (or depletion) which may be claimed annually in future income-tax returns, and (2) the determination of gain or loss resulting from future sales or exchanges of the property in question. Where a proceeding for "corporate reorganization" under Chapter X, for an "arrangement" under Chapter XI, or for a "real-property arrangement" under Chapter XII resulted in a cancelation or reduction of indebtedness, Section 270 under Chapter X and the corresponding sections under Chapters XI and XII required (with limited exceptions) that the basis of the debtor's property for income-tax purposes, State as well as Federal, be decreased by an amount equal to the amount of such cancelation or reduction.

The difficulty with Sections 270, 396, and 522 was that there was nothing in any of the three sections to prevent their application from resulting in a decrease of the basis of the debtor's property to a figure substantially below its fair market value, or even to zero. Where the basis was reduced to zero, the result was that (1) the reorganized company could not take any deduction for depreciation or depletion in future State or Federal income-tax returns, not even depreciation or depletion based on the present fair market value of its property, and (2) if the property should be sold, the entire proceeds would constitute taxable income, even if the sale should be at a figure less than its present fair market value and drastically less than its original cost. Where the basis was reduced to any other figure below the fair market value of the debtor's property, the onerous consequences to the reorganized company were only comparatively less severe.

Discussions were had with representatives of the Treasury Department, and with members of the National Bankruptcy Conference and the Committee on Bankruptcy and Reorganization of the New York City Bar Association. The problem was then presented to the Honorable Charles F. McLaughlin, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Bankruptcy and Reorganization of the House of Representatives and the Honorable Joseph C. O'Mahoney, Chairman of the corresponding subcommittee of the Senate. As a result, substantially identical bills were introduced in the House and Senate, which proposed to remedy the situation by establishing a fair market value "floor" below which the basis should not be reduced. The amendments proposed were favorably reported by the Treasury Department and the Commission, and all of the witnesses who testified at the hearings on the House bill agreed that it was essential that the three sections

be amended at the earliest practicable date. The House bill was unanimously passed on June 17, 1940, and on June 22, 1940, was substituted for the Senate bill and unanimously passed by the Senate on the same day. This legislation was approved by the President on July 1, 1940 (Public, No. 699—76th Congress—Chapter 500—3d Session).

THE COMMISSION AS A PARTY TO PROCEEDINGS

The provisions of Section 208, in making the Commission a party to proceedings, contemplate that it shall be prepared to participate with regard to any problems arising in a proceeding. Consequently, the Commission, immediately upon becoming a party to a case, proceeds to obtain and analyze all available information concerning the debtor and its affairs. By acquiring such information at the outset, the Commission is in a position not only to prepare expeditiously its advisory reports on plans of reorganization but also to perform properly its functions as a party with regard to the other problems arising in the proceeding, which may be many and complex.

The activities of the Commission as a participant in reorganization proceedings are not limited to formal appearances or the filing of legal or factual memoranda. In order to expedite the proceedings and to avoid unnecessary delays and wasted effort, the Commission's attorneys and analysts frequently participate in informal conferences with the parties concerning matters arising in connection with the formulation of a plan or the administration of the estate. By discussion before formal action is taken upon such matters, the Commission has often been able to bring facts, questions, or arguments to the attention of the parties which they had not previously considered, and parties have often been prompted thereafter to modify or alter their proposed action before formal steps were taken. In this way there is frequently avoided the delay incident to hearings on formal objections. should be noted, of course, that the parties are under no requirement so to act and that modifications in advance of formal action are undertaken only where such changes seem desirable to the parties because of the validity of the suggestions made by the Commission as an impartial party to the proceedings.

Through its Nation-wide activity in bankruptcy reorganizations, the Commission has been in an advantageous position to encourage the development of uniformity in the interpretation of Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act and in procedure thereunder. Thus, the Commission has often been called upon by parties, referees, and special masters for advice and suggestions with regard to matters of procedure and the form and content of necessary orders in the proceedings. In this, the Commission has been able to afford substantial aid out of the store of experience accumulated through participation in many

reorganization cases. The Commission has also been able, in this manner, to save the court officers and the parties much of the effort that would have been entailed in handling such questions de novo, as well as the time and expense involved in retracing steps improperly taken. This work of the Commission has been of special value due to the fact that the solutions of most procedural and interpretative questions are not likely to find their way into the official or unofficial reports and are, therefore, largely unavailable outside of the particular district of their decision. The Commission has also proceeded, primarily through the method of informal suggestion and conference, to call to the attention of parties any violations of or lack of compliance with the procedural provisions of Chapter X. Where these are the result of inadvertence or lack of precedent, such an informal suggestion has usually proved sufficient to obtain a correction. other cases, it has been necessary for the Commission to file formal motions in court to secure compliance with the Act.

It is not possible in the brief compass of this report to do more than outline the full scope of the Commission's activities in a reorganization proceeding. A few examples may serve, however, to indicate the varied type of issues with which the Commission has been concerned.

Miscellaneous Issues in Proceedings.

The Commission has taken an active part in issues arising at the very outset of a proceeding, and a few examples illustrative of such activity may be outlined here. Thus, the Commission was instrumental in securing the transfer of the proceedings for the reorganization of the Associated Gas and Electric Company and the Associated Gas and Electric Corporation from the district in which the debtors had filed the petition to a district in which the proceedings might be handled with greater efficiency and economy, because the main offices of the debtors and the sources of information necessary to an understanding of their problems were present in the latter district.

In the same case, the question of the impounding of lists of security holders under Section 166 of the Bankruptcy Act was presented. The problem here was to keep such lists accessible for bona fide ends, so as not to impede the organization and activity of protective committees in the interests of the holders of the various issues of securities, while at the same time preventing use of these lists for improper purposes. The Commission took an active part in working out a solution of this problem which, while providing for the impounding of the lists, made them available for inspection by proper persons and committees upon authorization of the court. It was also provided that the trustees should, upon the tender to them of solicitation material with a payment of the costs of handling and mailing, send such material to the security holders.

In these cases the Commission has been alert to the possibility that security holders may be imposed upon by persons seeking to represent their interests. Thus, in the case of The Penfield Distilling Company, the Commission ascertained upon becoming a party that two persons, in the name of a committee, had been soliciting authorizations to represent stockholders in the proceeding. At the same time. these persons solicited substantial deposits of funds by the stockholders to be represented. The "committee" secured such authorizations and deposits by fraudulently representing to the stockholders of the debtor that such action would enable them to obtain 70 percent to 100 percent of the par value of their stock while stockholders not represented by the "committee" would receive little or nothing. Payments were solicited as compensation for the expenses and services of the "committee." The Commission petitioned the district court for an injunction against further solicitation and an accounting of all funds obtained from the stockholders. An injunction and a decree for an accounting were entered by the district court. Upon an appeal to the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, the decree of the district court was affirmed without opinion.4

Problems in Administration of Estate.

In proceedings under Chapter X, the independent trustee has the duty of examining into the history of the debtor, ascertaining its financial and managerial problems and future prospects, and formulating the plan of reorganization. In addition, such trustees bear the primary responsibility for the operation of the business. It is therefore apparent that the success with which the reorganization proceedings are carried through depends in substantial measure upon the thoroughness and efficiency with which trustees perform their duties.

It has been found that early participation in a reorganization proceeding by the Commission has enabled it to aid the trustees with suggestions and information, especially when the trustees and their counsel have not had previous experience in Chapter X reorganizations. In addition, the Commission's presence has emphasized for trustees and their counsel the importance of their functions and the necessity that their duties be performed with thoroughness, independence, and efficiency. In the last respect, for example, the Commission in one case was instructed by the court to make an investigation with a view to securing a reduction in the costs of operation by the trustee. Upon the suggestion of the Commission, the court ordered the trustee to make a report containing information concerning the operation of the business. After a hearing at which the Commission presented its views, the court ordered the trustee to take the action necessary to secure a reduction in costs of operation.

⁴ In the Matter of the Penfield Distilling Company, decided June 27, 1940. (Application for rehearing now pending.)

The Commission has, at all times, insisted that trustees prepare adequate reports to the security holders in fulfilling the requirements of Section 167 (5) of the Act. It is felt that such reports are necessary not only to enable the security holders to make suggestions for a plan but also to give them the necessary information for determining the desirability of accepting proposed plans. The Commission's staff has always been prepared to consult and has often consulted with trustees as to problems arising in connection with the preparation of such reports. It should be noted, however, that suggestions from the Commission have always been made in such fashion as to emphasize to the trustees the importance of their maintaining a proper independence of all parties in interest. The Commission has not attempted to usurp the functions of the independent trustee nor to control his activities.

The Commission has often been able to provide trustees with information useful in carrying out their duties. In addition, as the result of experience in corporate reorganizations, the Commission has been in a position to offer advice to trustees and to courts on such matters, for example, as the scope of the investigation to be made by accountants hired by independent trustees. Through its cooperation with such accountants and advice to trustees and courts, the Commission has been able to assist the trustee in obtaining the performance of a thorough job. Furthermore, the wide experience of the Commission has enabled it to aid the trustees and the court in determining the reasonable value of services performed by accountants and other experts in reorganization proceedings.

Activities with regard to Allowances.

The Commission has been concerned in every proceeding to which it is a party with the problem of allowances to the various parties for services rendered and expenses incurred in the proceeding. In making allowances from the limited funds available for the payment of reorganization expenses, the courts seek to protect the estate from exorbitant charges, while at the same time providing equitable treatment to the applicants for allowances. The Commission has been able to provide considerable assistance to the courts in dealing with this problem.

The Commission itself receives no allowances from estates in reorganization and has no personal interest in the question of fees. It is therefore able to present a wholly disinterested and impartial view on the question. The Commission has constantly endeavored to secure a limitation of the total compensation to an amount which the estate can feasibly pay. In each case the Commission also makes a careful study of the allowances requested by the various parties to ascertain, first, that unnecessary duplication of services shall not be

recompensed and, second, that compensation shall be allocated on the basis of the work done by each claimant and his relative contribution to the administration of the estate and the formulation of a plan. Where reductions in requested compensation are necessary because of the financial condition of the estate, the study and investigation by the Commission has provided the courts with impartial advice upon the basis of which a reduction may be ordered with regard to the comparative values of the services performed, rather than by a general reduction in requested fees which may be unjust to individual parties.

As the number of proceedings in which the Commission participates increases, the Commission acquires increasing experience as to the reasonable worth of the various services performed by the parties in reorganization proceedings. That the courts have considered the Commission's aid on the matter of allowances to be of value even where it has not theretofore been a participant in a proceeding is evidenced by the example of the proceeding for the reorganization of the Postal Telegraph & Cable Corp. In that case, which had been in reorganization under Section 77B for several years, the district court judge requested the participation of the Commission after the confirmation of the plan in order that he might have the aid of its investigation and advice with regard to the question of allowances.

The Commission has been active both in court and in conferences with parties in securing compliance with the requirements of the statute and of local rules by parties requesting compensation. One problem that has arisen in several cases has been that of interim allowances to trustees for their services in the operation of the business. It is at times harsh to require a trustee to await the conclusion of the proceedings before he may be compensated for his services. Nonetheless, the statute provides for allowances only for services already rendered, and compliance with its requirements as to hearing and notice on application for such allowances is necessary to avoid abuse. It would often be an expensive matter, however, to comply with the provisions of the Act regarding notice and hearing in the usual fashion upon each application if a trustee requested interim allowances at frequent intervals.

The Commission has aided in the formulation of a practical procedure to handle such matters with fairness to the trustee and at a minimum of expense. Under such procedure a notice is sent out and a hearing is set early in the proceeding on the question of the interim allowances for the trustee. This notice also sets a hearing on interim allowances before a master or referee for a certain day in each month or quarter thereafter. No further notices are sent unless the trustee in a subsequent monthly or quarterly petition seeks compensation in a greater amount than that set forth in the first notice. In this fashion the requirements of the statute are met without an

undue burden upon the estate and an opportunity is afforded all parties, the security holders, and the court, for a periodic scrutiny of the value of the services being rendered. At the same time, the trustee is enabled to receive regular compensation for his work in the operation of the business. Of course, the trustee may in his final allowance, on proper notice, receive additional compensation for his services in the formulation of a plan or for special services in the administration of the estate.

Of particular importance has been compliance with Section 249 of the Bankruptcy Act, which provides generally that no committee or attorney, or other person acting in a representative or fiduciary capacity in reorganization proceedings, may receive allowances for services if such parties purchased or sold securities of the debtor while acting in the proceedings. The requirements of fiduciary responsibility make it necessary that the rule be inflexibly enforced, lest the standard itself be impaired. This position, advocated by the Commission, was unequivocally upheld by the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the First Circuit in the case of Otis & Company v. Insurance Building Corporation.⁵ The court held that Section 249 bars the compensation of a person acting in a representative capacity in a reorganization proceeding who had bought and sold securities of the debtor during the pendency of the proceeding, regardless of his good faith or his profit or loss in the transactions. The argument that purchases or sales could be consented to or approved by the judge so as to remove the bar to compensation, as is permitted in the proviso of Section 249 with regard to other acquisitions or transfers, was rejected.

PLANS OF REORGANIZATION UNDER CHAPTER X

The ultimate objective of a reorganization under Chapter X is the formulation, acceptance, and consummation of a fair and equitable and feasible plan of reorganization. As a basis for its study of reorganization plans, the Commission, in each case in which it participates, assembles essential information concerning the physical and financial condition of the company, the cause of its financial collapse, the quality of its management, its past operating performance, and the reasonable value of its properties. Such information is usually obtained through the voluntary cooperation of trustees and parties to the reorganization, through examination by the Commission's accountants of the books and records of the debtor, and through the examination of witnesses in court. This information is also complemented by the independent research of the Commission's analytical staff into the general economic factors affecting the particular debtor and the competitive conditions in the particular industry. In connection with the consummation of plans, the Commission also investigates the sug-

⁵ 110 F. (2d) 333 (C. C. A. 1st., 1940)

gested personnel of the new management, upon whose qualifications the court must pass under Chapter X, in order to be able to advise the courts and the parties concerning their qualifications.

Feasibility of Plans.

As will be seen in the discussion below of the advisory reports prepared by it, the Commission has consistently objected to features of plans of reorganization which render likely a return of the debtors to the reorganization courts because of flaws inherent in the financial structure proposed in the plan. This question of feasibility has been presented to the Commission in some cases at the very outset of the proceedings. In such cases, the Commission has been asked to examine and comment on the affairs of the debtor with a view to determining whether any plan of reorganization would be feasible. In cases in which the Commission has concluded that the condition of the debtor was such that no feasible plan of reorganization could be hoped for, it has submitted to the courts the bases for such belief. Much time and expense may be saved by avoiding futile attempts at reorganization.

Fairness of Plans.

The Commission has consistently taken the position that the applicable standard of fairness in reorganization proceedings requires that a plan, to be fair, must provide fully compensatory treatment for claims in the order of their legal and contractual priority, either in cash or new securities or both, and that the participation granted to junior claims must be based either upon the existence of an equity for them in the enterprise after the satisfaction of prior claims or upon a fresh contribution in money or money's worth necessary to the reorganization of the debtor. A valuation of the debtor is necessary to provide the basis for judging the fairness and feasibility of proposed plans of reorganization. In its advisory reports, in hearings before courts, and in conferences with parties to proceedings, the Commission has consistently taken the position that the proper method of valuation for reorganization purposes is primarily the capitalization of reasonably prospective earnings.

Since the standard of fairness and equity which the Commission must apply in evaluating a plan in any particular case is determined by the courts, the Commission has participated as amicus curiae on two recent occasions when that standard was under consideration. The most significant of these cases was Case v. Los Angeles Lumber Products Co., Ltd., decided by the Supreme Court on November 6, 1939. That case went to the Supreme Court upon a writ of certiorari, sought by an objecting bondholder, to a decision of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirming a district court order confirming a plan of reorganization. The debtor, admittedly insolvent, had assets worth

^{4 308} U. S. 106.

some \$840,000 on a going-concern basis. Its liabilities consisted of \$2,565,000 principal amount of first-mortgage bonds upon which no interest had been paid since 1929. In January 1938, proceedings were initiated under Section 77B of the Bankruptcy Act. The plan provided for the formation of a new corporation with a capital structure of 1,000,000 shares of authorized \$1 par value voting stock, to acquire the assets of the debtor. Of this stock, 811,375 shares were to be a 5 percent noncumulative preferred stock. The bondholders were to receive 641,375 shares of this preferred stock on the basis of 250 shares for each \$1,000 bond and the remaining 170,000 shares were to be reserved for sale to raise working capital for the new company. The 188,625 shares of common stock were to be issued to the common stockholders of the debtor. This plan was accepted by overwhelming percentages of the bondholders and stockholders.

The Commission participated in the preparation of a brief and argument presented to the Supreme Court by the United States as amicus curiae on behalf of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Interstate Commerce Commission. The Supreme Court unanimously sustained the position presented in that brief and argument, reaffirming as applicable to bankruptcy reorganizations the so-called doctrine of the Boyd case.7 The Court held that a fair and equitable plan of reorganization must provide full recognition for senior claimants in the order of their legal and contractual priorities before junior classes may participate and that such junior classes may participate only if there is an equity for them in the enterprise or if they provide a fresh and adequate contribution in money or money's worth necessary or desirable for the debtor's operations in return for a reasonably equivalent participation under the plan. The Supreme Court also held that courts must reach an independent determination of the fairness of the plan without regard to the number of acceptances of a plan, the amount of the objector's holdings, or similar circumstances.

Subsequently, the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit granted a rehearing in the case of *Dubois* v. *Consolidated Rock Products Company* ⁸ for the purpose of considering the effect of the Supreme Court's decision. The circuit court of appeals had affirmed a district court order confirming a plan only a few days before the Supreme Court's opinion was handed down. On the rehearing, the Commission filed a brief as *amicus curiae* upon the issue of the fairness of the plan.

The *Dubois* case involved the reorganization of a parent corporation, Consolidated Rock Products Company, and its two whollyowned subsidiaries, Union Rock Company and Consumers Rock and

Northern Pacific Railway Co. v. Boyd, 228 U. S. 452.

^{\$ 107} F. (2d) 96 (Advance Sheets, not in permanent volume).

Gravel Company, Inc. All the properties were operated as a single enterprise by the parent under an operating agreement. Each of the subsidiaries had outstanding an issue of bonds upon which there were accrued interest claims when the reorganization petition was filed; these bond issues aggregated \$3,014,000 in principal amounts. The subsidiaries had a claim of about \$5,000,000 against the parent, disputed in validity and amount, under the terms of the operating agreement. The parent company had an issue of preferred stock and an issue of common stock outstanding. Although there were no precise determinations of value, the district court found that the properties under the lien of each indenture were not sufficient to secure the bonds issued thereunder but that the value of the entire enterprise was sufficient to cover the claims of the bondholders and to leave some equity for the preferred stockholders of Consolidated Rock Products Company.

The plan of reorganization provided that the bondholders were to receive income bonds, secured by a mortgage covering all the properties of the enterprise, for 50 percent of the principal amount of their claims, preferred stock for the remainder of the principal amount of their claims, and warrants for the purchase of new common stock at prices, on an ascending scale starting at par, depending upon the time of exercise. The majority of the new common stock was to be issued to the preferred stockholders of Consolidated. A portion of the common stock was also reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock purchase warrants to be issued to the common stockholders of Consolidated.

In its brief, the Commission took the position that the priority doctrine set forth in the Los Angeles Lumber case is applicable to solvent debtors as well as to insolvent debtors. It also submitted that the plan was unfair to the bondholders since the contract rights of the bondholders to full priority were substantially impaired by the cancellation of their secured interest, conversion of their fixed interest obligation into income bonds and noncumulative stock, the loss of their creditor status to the extent of one-half of their principal claim and the extension of the maturity of the remaining half of that claim, the reduction of the interest rate on their securities, and the elimination of their creditor protection for the benefit of the preferred stockholders of the parent, whose claims were junior to those of the bondholders. The Commission also indicated that there was no justification for the participation of Consolidated's common stockholders, since they had no equity in the enterprise and made no fresh contribution to it.

The circuit court of appeals, on the rehearing, altered its previous decision and reversed the order of the district court confirming the

plan. The court held that the plan was unfair in depriving the bondholders of their right to fully compensatory treatment prior to the satisfaction of junior claims. The court also held that the priority doctrine of the Los Angeles Lumber case was the sole test of the fairness of a plan of reorganization, regardless of the solvency or insolvency of the debtor. The court also indicated that since it must of necessity pass independent judgment upon the fairness of the plan, the question of the amount paid for his securities by the objecting bondholder is immaterial upon consideration of the fairness and equity of the plan.

In an appeal to the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in the matter of Oscar Nebel Company, Inc., questions were raised as to the correctness of the finding of the district court that there was no value in the enterprise for the interests of the common stockholders of the debtor and as to the right of a junior class of stockholders whose interests are valueless to participate under a plan of reorganization. Upon the Commission's investigation in this case in the district court, it had appeared that the value of the debtor upon the basis of a capitalization of reasonably prospective earnings was insufficient to satisfy more than the claims of the creditors and part of the interests of the preferred stockholders. plan was formulated which provided participation in the reorganized company only for creditors and preferred stockholders. This plan was approved by the district court. The chief holder of the common stock of the debtor appealed from the order approving the plan. In its brief upon the appeal, the Commission argued that a goingconcern value of the debtor obtained by a capitalization of reasonably prospective earnings showed no value for the interests of the common stockholders and that common stockholders of the debtor could not therefore be included in a plan of reorganization. The order of the district court approving the plan of reorganization was affirmed by the circuit court of appeals without opinion.10

The circumstances under which stockholders without an equity in a debtor may participate under its reorganization plan by providing a fresh contribution has also been considered. The Commission filed a supplemental memorandum in cases involving the Highland Towers Company, the Whitmore Plaza Corporation, and the Metropolitan Holding Company in the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, taking the position that a "need" must be shown for the contribution of new consideration upon the basis of which stockholder participation was permitted and that stockholders have no vested right to participate in a reorganized debtor upon the basis

DuBois v. Consolidated Rock Products Co., 114 F. (2d) 102. Petitions for writs of certiorari in this case were filed in September 1940.

¹⁰ In the Matter of Oscar Nebel Company, Inc., decided July 10, 1940.

of a contribution which may not be necessary for the benefit of the debtor and its senior security holders. The circuit court of appeals held that the contributions of new consideration, in each case the cancellation of bonds of the debtor purchased by the stockholders, were inadequate to meet the requirements of the rule stated in the Los Angeles Lumber case.¹¹

A memorandum similar to the one outlined above was also filed by the Commission in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin in the matter of Associated Owners, Inc. In that case, the court expressly held 12 that "in order for the stockholders to share in the new plan, they must not only make an adequate contribution, but it must be shown that there was need for such contribution."

ADVISORY REPORTS ON PLANS OF REORGANIZATION

Under the terms of the Bankruptey Act, the Commission submits formal advisory reports on plans of reorganization submitted to it by the courts. The primary purpose of an advisory report is to provide an impartial survey and critique of a plan for the use of the judge in determining whether or not to approve a plan. If the judge approves the plan, copies of the Commission's advisory report, or summaries thereof prepared by the Commission, are submitted to all creditors and stockholders of the debtor who are affected by the plan. Thus, the advisory report also serves the function of aiding security holders in reaching their decision with regard to the acceptance or rejection of the plan.

Although the advisory report bulks largest in the public consideration of the Commission's work under the Bankruptcy Act, because of the fact that it is usually widely distributed, it by no means represents the major part of the Commission's activities in any particular case. As has been noted, the Commission in its capacity as a party to a proceeding may be, and usually is, actively interested in the solution of every major issue arising therein. Throughout a reorganization proceeding the Commission lends its assistance and advice as to legal and financial matters to the court and to the trustee and other parties. In order to enable the Commission to perform its duties as a party to

[&]quot;I The Highland Towers Co., Debtor, and Equitable Trust Company, as Trustee, Intervener, appellants, v. Bondholders' Protective Committee of "Highland Towers" (formerly Farrand Building) Bond Issue, Michigan Public Trust Commission, and Securities and Exchange Commission, appellees; Metropolitan Holding Company, Debtor, and James I. D. Straus, as Trustee, Intervener, appellants, v. Paul E. Weadock, as Examiner, Securities and Exchange Commission, Bondholders' Protective Committee of "Metropolitan Commercial Block" Bond Issue, Michigan Public Trust Commission, appellees; Whitmore Plaza Corporation, Debtor, and James I. D. Straus, as Trustee, Intervener, appellants, v. Frank Smith, Wallace O. Line, Trustee, Securities and Exchange Commission, Bondholders' Protective Committee of "Whitmore Plaza" Building Bond Issue, Michigan Public Trust Commission, Max Kogan, appellees; all decided by the Circuit Court of Appeals for the 6th Circuit on June 27, 1940.

^{12 32} F. Supp. 828 (E. D. Wis., 1940).

the proceeding conscientiously, it is necessary to undertake in every case in which it participates the same intensive legal and financial studies as are necessary for the preparation of a formal advisory report. In every case in which it is expected that plans will be referred to it for advisory reports, the Commission seeks to become a party as early as possible in the proceedings, in order to be certain that its advisory reports represent matured and informed consideration. Furthermore, as has been indicated, the Commission undertakes the same burden of study and analysis respecting plans in cases in which plans are not likely to be submitted to it for a formal advisory report. In such cases, it is necessary for the Commission to be prepared to comment in court upon the plans of reorganization and to discuss proposals with the parties while the plans are in a formative stage.

During the past fiscal year, the Commission submitted seven advisory reports on plans of reorganization. In addition, five supplemental advisory reports were filed in proceedings where advisory reports had already been submitted and one other supplemental advisory report was in the course of preparation at the end of the fiscal year. In twenty-seven other cases in which no plan of reorganization had as yet been approved and in which the indebtedness involved exceeded \$3,000,000, plans will be referred to the Commission automatically for advisory reports before approval by the judge.

Of the seven proceedings in which the Commission filed advisory reports, three were instituted under Chapter X, while the remaining four were Section 77B proceedings in which the judge deemed it practicable to apply the provisions of Chapter X. In six of these seven cases, the indebtedness involved was in excess of \$3,000,000 and reference of plans of reorganization to the Commission for advisory reports was mandatory. In the remaining case, instituted under Section 77B, the Commission was requested to file an advisory report. A brief discussion of these advisory reports follows:

LaFrance Industries, Debtor, and Pendleton Manufacturing Company, Subsidiary.—Prior to the Commission's participation in this proceeding, three plans had been proposed but had failed of acceptance. After the Commission became a party, a further plan was filed which provided for a 6 percent first mortgage loan of \$600,000 from the Reconstruction Finance Corporation; the issuance to the holders of \$1,462,500 principal amount of 5 percent first mortgage bonds outstanding, on which \$292,500 of interest had accrued, of 4 percent second mortgage bonds in the principal amount of \$731,250 (half of the principal of the outstanding first mortgage bonds) and 6 percent cumulative preferred stock in the principal amount of \$877,500 (half of the principal of the outstanding first mortgage bonds plus half of the accrued interest); the issuance of \$173,735 of certificates of indebtedness in exchange for 50 percent of unsecured claims outstanding

against the debtor and its subsidiary, and payment of the other 50 percent of such claims in cash; and the retention by the holders thereof of the 164,918 shares of debtor's common stock outstanding. The plan was later amended to provide also for the allocation of 15 percent of the common stock to the holders of the first mortgage bonds outstanding and, as so amended, was referred to the Commission.

The Commission concluded in its advisory report that the amended plan was not fair in that it required the first mortgage bondholders to relinquish contractual rights and priorities without adequately compensating them for their sacrifices. The Commission also concluded that the plan was not feasible, principally because dividends on the new cumulative preferred stock could not be paid and large arrearages would accumulate while the Reconstruction Finance Corporation loan was outstanding.

Following submission of the Commission's report, the plan was further amended to provide for issuance to the first mortgage bondholders of additional 6 percent cumulative preferred stock in the principal amount of \$146,250, representing the remaining half of the accrued interest on the bonds, and as so amended the plan was again referred to the Commission. In its supplemental advisory report, the Commission concluded that while this amendment eliminated one important element of unfairness in the plan, the debtor failed to meet the objections to fairness set forth in its advisory report and, furthermore, that the issuance of additional cumulative preferred stock rendered more acute the problem of feasibility. The amended plan was approved by the court.

Reynolds Investing Company, Inc.—The debtor is an investment company with \$3,439,900 of publicly held debentures and two classes of stock outstanding. As of December 31, 1939, its assets consisted of about \$200,000 of cash and approximately \$2,800,000 estimated value of securities in its portfolio. In addition, the Chapter X trustees reported that substantial causes of action existed against former officers and directors of the company, the face amount of such actions being in excess of \$3,000,000.

After an extensive investigation of the company's affairs, the trustees determined that the company should be gradually liquidated, this decision being based largely on the fact that a disproportionately large part of the company's portfolio was concentrated in so-called "special situations" rather than income-producing securities. Accordingly, the trustees filed a plan which, as later amended, was referred to the Commission for examination and report under Chapter X.

The plan contemplated the gradual liquidation of the company over a maximum period of eight years. It provided that the assets of the company (exclusive of causes of action, which were to be prosecuted by the trustees) would be taken over by a new company to be called Reynolds Realization Corporation. The new company was to issue to the debenture holders new debentures in the same face amount and having the same interest rate as the outstanding debentures, Class A voting trust certificates representing ownership interests in new preferred stock, share for share for the outstanding preferred stock and Class B voting trust certificates representing ownership interests in the new common stock, at the rate of one share for each ten shares of outstanding common stock.

The plan, based on the assumption that the company would liquidate its assets and retire the debentures with all reasonable expedition, provided specifically that securities in the portfolio must be sold upon reaching certain prices, prohibited reinvestment of the proceeds, and prescribed a certain rate of retirement for the debentures during the 8-year period. It was provided that no distribution could be made to the stockholders until complete retirement of the debentures and that all preferred stock must be retired before any distribution on the common. The plan permitted retirement of the debentures through tenders, open market purchases, and redemption by lot. The plan provided that the company should be managed by a board of five directors, three of whom were to be elected by debenture holders so long as any debentures were outstanding and the asset value of the debentures remained less than 200 percent of par.

In its report, the Commission qualified its approval of the plan by suggestions for its modification in certain particulars with a view to making the plan more consistent with liquidation principles. It was suggested that the plan provide for a speedier rate of liquidation in order that the senior security holders would not be subjected to risks of market depreciation beyond those necessarily incident to an orderly liquidation, that further consideration be given to the advisability of providing for retirement of the debentures by pro rata distribution, and that the debenture holders be represented by a majority of the board until all debentures had been retired, irrespective of the asset value of such debentures at any given time. It was further suggested that the new securities plainly indicate on their face that they represented interests in a liquidating rather than a continuing enterprise.

After the submission of the Commission's advisory report, the trustees filed an amended plan designed to meet the Commission's criticism of the original plan. This amended plan was referred to the Commission, which issued a supplemental advisory report finding the plan fair and feasible and recommending its approval by the court. The plan was thereafter approved by the district court, accepted by the security holders, and confirmed by the court.

San Francisco Bay Toll-Bridge Company.—The plan originally filed

by the trustee in this case provided for participation by bondholders. debenture holders, and two classes of stockholders, but, as a result of hearings at which representatives of the Commission developed testimony indicating that the value of the bridge did not justify participation by junior interests, this plan was amended to eliminate stockholders. As submitted to the Commission, it provided for the issuance of \$4.303,000 of 61/2 percent income bonds and a Class A preferred stock to present bondholders, and for the issuance of Class B stock to debenture holders. The Commission's report concluded that the plan was not feasible because prospective earnings of the debtor's property would not be sufficient to meet the interest charges on the bonds, so that there was no reasonable prospect of paving the bonds in accordance with their terms prior to the expiration of the company's 37-year bridge franchise, and that the Class A and Class B stocks would be worthless for all practical purposes. The report also concluded that the plan, which was based on the assumption that all the debtor's assets were subject to the lien of the indenture securing the bonds, was unfair in recognizing debenture holders because the value of the assets was less than the bondholders' claims. time of filing the report, however, representatives of the Commission pointed out to the court and thereafter discussed with the parties the possibility that certain assets were not subject to the lien of the bond indenture and that consequently debenture holders might be entitled to participation under the plan on the basis of such free assets.

Subsequent to the filing of the Commission's report, further hearings were held as a result of which an amended plan was filed and referred to the Commission. It provided for the issuance of \$4,303,000 of 3 percent income bonds and all of the common stock of the reorganized company to bondholders. Debenture holders were offered, by reason of their claim to free assets, a cash payment of 1% percent of the face amount of their debentures. In its supplemental report, the Commission concluded that, subject to the determination of a legal question affecting the amount of participation by debenture holders. the amended plan was fair. The Commission further concluded, however, that the plan remained unfeasible, although manifesting in this regard a considerable improvement over the original plan. Basically, the Commission's criticisms of this aspect of the plan were predicated on the excessive debt structure proposed, which would cause the debtor to emerge from reorganization in an insolvent condition.

At the hearing upon approval of the amended plan, the Commission's representatives pointed out that the principal justification urged for retention of the excessive debt provided for by the plan, namely, alleged unfavorable tax consequences which it was claimed would ensue from reduction of such debt, had been eliminated by an amend-

ment of Section 270 of the Bankruptcy Act.¹³ The plan was approved by the court.

Flour Mills of America. Two plans were referred to the Commission for an advisory report in this proceeding. One, filed by the trustee, provided for the issuance to the noteholders of 4 percent 20-year income notes in a face amount equivalent only to their claim for principal. No provision was made for the accrued interest on the notes. The preferred stockholders of the debtor were to receive all the new common stock; no provision was made for the old common stockholders since the value of the debtor was admittedly insufficient to compensate prior claimants. This plan was predicated upon an assumed valuation of some \$3,200,000 which was in turn predicated upon anticipated average earnings of \$250,000 per year, capitalized at 8 percent. From the Commission's investigation, it appeared that there was no adequate support for the estimated annual earnings of \$250,000. The record of the debtor for the 5 preceding years had been largely a succession of losses. Furthermore, as a matter of financial judgment, it appeared that the risks of the enterprise were far greater than would justify an 8 percent capitalization rate.

The Commission stated in the advisory report its belief that the value of the enterprise did not equal the amount of the claims of the noteholders. Consequently, it expressed the opinion that the trustee's plan was unfair in allocating any participation to the preferred stockholders. The Commission further pointed out that even if the valuation sponsored by the trustee were used as a basis for judging the plan. the plan was nonetheless unfair since the securities to be issued to the noteholders did not have a value approaching even the principal amount of their claim and no compensation was allocated to them for their accrued interest. The Commission also indicated its belief that the plan of reorganization was not feasible, because a corporation such as the debtor, whose earning power was clouded with doubt, should not be burdened with debt securities. The fact that, under the terms of the notes, no default could occur until maturity, did not. in the opinion of the Commission, remove the basic defect in the structure. In any event, it was pointed out that the amount of debt securities to be issued was excessive even on the valuation of the debtor sponsored by the trustee.

The Commission was of the opinion that the plan filed by a note-holders' committee, which assumed that the debtor was insolvent and which provided for an issue of common stock to the noteholders as the only securities of the new company, was fair and feasible and should have been approved. The court, however, in a memorandum opinion indicated that it found the debtor to be solvent and that the trustee's plan would be fair if provision were made for the noteholders' accrued

¹³ See supra. p. 57.

interest. The trustee's plan was amended to provide for the issuance of non-interest-bearing certificates for such accrued interest, for the issuance of some common stock to the noteholders, and for a more valuable conversion privilege. On the court's finding that the debtor was solvent, the plan, as amended, which allocated to the noteholders the above-mentioned notes, non-interest-bearing certificates for their accrued interest, common stock, and a conversion privilege that would enable them to convert their notes into common stock and thereby obtain a portion of the common stock roughly equivalent to the ratio which their claims bore to the value assumed by the trustee, could be considered fair. The Commission, however, in its supplemental advisory report, also pointed out that in its opinion the plan, as amended, appeared not feasible for the reasons set forth in its original report. The plan, as amended, was approved by the court.

Deep Rock Oil Corporation.—Prior to the Commission's participation in this case, a minority committee for the preferred stockholders appealed to the United States Supreme Court from the confirmation of a plan of reorganization which allocated to the Standard Gas and Electric Company, the parent company of the debtor, 73 percent of the common stock of the new corporation in respect of its open account claim against the debtor. The Supreme Court disapproved the plan in an opinion which stated that Standard's participation must be in subordination to the claims of the preferred stockholders of the debtor because of its record of spoliation and mismanagement of the debtor.14 Upon the return of the case to the district court, it was proposed to file a plan of reorganization which would provide for the issuance of \$11,000,000 of new notes to the old stockholders, \$5,000,000 par value of Class A stock, with certain preference provisions, to the preferred stockholders, and an issue of common stock to be divided on the basis of 25 percent to the noteholders, 12½ percent to the preferred stockholders, and 62½ percent to Standard. Upon entering the proceeding, the Commission took the position that such a plan was not feasible on the basis of the past financial record of the company and that the Supreme Court's decision properly interpreted required the exclusion of Standard from the reorganization, since the value of the debtor's assets was insufficient to satisfy the prior claims of the noteholders and preferred stockholders.

Subsequently, the Reorganization Committee filed a plan providing for the issuance to the noteholders of \$5,500,000 in new 6 percent notes and 80 percent of the common stock after a distribution to them of cash in partial compensation of accrued interest. The balance of the common stock was to be issued to the preferred stockholders. No participation was provided for Standard, since the district court had decreed that the Supreme Court decision required that the claims of

¹⁴ Taylor v. Standard Gas and Electric Company, 306 U. S. 307 (1939).

the noteholders and preferred stockholders should first be satisfied and that thereafter there was no equity in the enterprise for Standard. The Commission, in its advisory report, pointed out that the value of the debtor was apparently less than the claim of the noteholders and that the preferred stockholders were therefore entitled to no participation. The Commission also considered the proposed plan in the light of the maximum value for the enterprise previously adopted by the court. The Commission concluded that, on the basis of the latter value, the proposed plan was fair. The Commission held that another plan, offered by the Independent Preferred Stockholders' Committee, which would have provided for \$7,000,000 of new notes to the noteholders and a division of the common stock evenly between the noteholders and the preferred stockholders was unfair under either value.

At a hearing on the proposed plans, the district court reaffirmed its earlier decision on the value of the debtor. The court indicated that in its opinion a somewhat greater participation should be given to the preferred stockholders. The Reorganization Committee's plan was thereupon amended to give 75 percent of the common stock to the noteholders and 25 percent to the preferred stockholders. The Commission, in a supplemental advisory report, indicated its belief that the new allocation of stock was not a change materially affecting its prior conclusions on the fairness of the plan. The Reorganization Committee's plan, as amended, was approved by the court; the plan of the independent preferred stockholders was disapproved. The plan approved by the court was accepted by the security holders and confirmed by the court on July 24, 1940.

Standard Gas and Electric Company appealed from the order by the district court determining that on the basis of the Supreme Court's decision it had no right to participate under any reorganization plan. The Commission filed a brief and participated in the argument of the case before the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, which in a unanimous opinion ¹⁵ upheld the interpretation sponsored by the Commission and adopted by the district court that Standard had no right to participate under the plan until the noteholders and preferred stockholders were fully compensated for their claims. It has been indicated that a petition for *certiorari* from this decision would be filed with the Supreme Court of the United States. Standard has also appealed from the district court's orders of approval and confirmation of the plan, but such appeals have not yet been heard by the circuit court of appeals.

Penn Timber Company.—As stated in the Commission's previous annual report, ¹⁶ the Commission submitted an advisory report in which it concluded that the debtor's plan filed in this proceeding was

¹⁵ Taylor v. Standard Gas and Electric Co., decided, June 29, 1940.

¹⁶ Fifth Annual Report, pp. 17-18.

neither fair nor feasible. As of the close of the 1939 fiscal year the matter was still pending. The trustee had since filed a petition for a hearing to consider whether the value of the debtor's assets warranted participation in any plan by interests junior to the first mortgage bondholders: the Commission also filed a petition for an order disapproving the plan and declaring Section 169 of the Bankruptcy Act applicable to the proceeding. At the hearings held on these petitions, additional evidence was introduced with respect to the value of the debtor's assets and, with the permission of the court, the Commission filed a supplemental advisory report on the basis of such additional evidence. In its supplemental report, the Commission concluded that the additional evidence did not warrant a finding of value for the debtor's assets sufficient to entitle junior creditors to participate in the plan. The court disapproved the plan, found that the value of the debtor's assets did not exceed the first mortgage debt. declared Section 169 applicable to the proceeding, and directed the trustee to file a new plan.

Porto Rican American Tobacco Company.—The plan referred to the Commission provided for the sale of the assets of the chief operating subsidiary of the debtor to a competing company for some \$4.000.000 in notes. A new corporation was to be organized to hold the balance of the assets. Each bondholder of the debtor was to receive \$940 principal amount of the notes for each \$1,000 bond of the debtor or, at his option, \$846 in cash. In addition, the bondholders were to receive 78 percent of the common stock of the new corporation: the remaining 22 percent was to be issued to the Class A stockholders of the debtor. The Class B stockholders of the debtor were found to have no equity and were excluded from participation in the plan. The Commission, in its advisory report, concluded that the plan, which provided for an ultimate liquidation of all the assets of the debtor, was a reorganization plan: that the sale of the subsidiary to a competing company was reasonable and was being made at a reasonable price; and that the value of the notes to be received by the debtor for its interest in the subsidiary was such that the provisions for their issuance to the bondholders and for the division of the common stock of the new corporation were fair and equitable.

Upon an appeal to the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, the order of the district court approving the plan was affirmed.¹⁷ The court of appeals held that the plan was a reorganization plan and that the division of securities was fair. It also accepted the going-concern value of the debtor's assets recommended by the Commission in its advisory report and adopted by the district court, which was based upon a capitalization of reasonably anticipated earnings, for the purpose of determining the reasonableness of the sale

¹⁷ In re Porto Rican American Tobacco Co., 112 F. (2d) 655 (C. C. A. 2d, 1940).

of the assets of the subsidiary, and indicated clearly that the strict priority doctrine is applicable to plans of reorganization for solvent corporations as well as for insolvent corporations. The requisite percentage of the Class A stockholders, however, failed to accept the plan and proceedings were instituted under Section 216 of the Bankruptcy Act to appraise their interest and to pay them for the value of their equity in the debtor.

Minnesota and Ontario Paper Company.—The debtor is both an operating and a holding company, engaged primarily in the production and marketing of newsprint and specialty papers, insulating and building material, and other timber products in the United States, Canada, and Europe. These activities are carried on either directly by the debtor or through eighteen subsidiary corporations, all of whose securities are owned by the debtor or its subsidiaries. Seven of these subsidiaries are organized under the laws of the State of Minnesota, seven under the laws of the Province of Ontario or of the Dominion of Canada, and four under the laws of other foreign countries.

The debtor went into an equity receivership in 1931, which was superseded by a reorganization proceeding under Section 77B on July 11, 1934. The Commission filed its notice of appearance in this proceeding on February 10, 1939, pursuant to Section 208 of the Bankruptcy Act. The debtor's liabilities, with accrued interest to August 31, 1939, amounted to approximately \$55,000,000, including \$24,400,000 of first mortgage bonds and approximately \$13,000,000 of accrued interest thereon. All but \$950,000 principal amount of the \$23,950,000 aggregate principal amount of first mortgage bonds of the debtor's subsidiaries and some of their stocks were directly or indirectly subject to the lien of the debtor's mortgage, and \$22,500,000 of these bonds had the benefit of a floating charge which, under Canadian law, subjects all of the mortgagor's assets to the lien of the mortgage in the event of a default. In addition, the debtor had outstanding \$4,036,000 par value of preferred stock and \$10,092,000 par value of common stock.

The trustees filed a proposed plan of reorganization dated October 16, 1939, and subsequently filed an amended plan dated December 4, 1939. The October 16 plan contemplated the issuance to the secured creditors of \$9,760,000 principal amount of new 4-percent income bonds and 72.59 percent of the stock of the reorganized company. The remaining 27.41 percent of the stock was to be issued to the unsecured creditors. The December 4 plan increased the principal amount of the proposed bond issue from \$9,760,000 to \$12,200,000 and allocated the stock of the reorganized company between the secured and unsecured creditors in the same percentages. After extensive hearings on these plans and on objections and proposed amendments thereto before the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota,

Fourth Division, the plans, objections, and proposed amendments were referred to the Commission for examination and report pursuant to the provisions of Section 172 of the Bankruptcy Act. The Commission's report was filed on June 24, 1940.

All of the plans and proposed amendments which were referred to the Commission recognized the absence of any equity in the debtor's assets and therefore properly accorded no participation for either the preferred or the common stock. All of them also assumed that the capitalization of the reorganized company would include both bonds and stock. The basic questions were the principal amount of new bonds to be issued to the old bondholders and the distribution of the new stock between the secured and unsecured creditors. The solution of these questions required a determination of the value of the debtor's operating assets and the assets underlying its investments. The major questions involved in this determination were as follows:

- 1. Whether the value of such assets should be based primarily upon the reasonably prospective earnings derivable from the utilization of those assets or upon "the original cost of fixed assets, less accrued physical and functional depreciation," as proposed by the trustee,
- 2. Whether the relative participations of the several classes of claimants should be determined on the basis of the consolidated balance sheet or upon a valuation on an earnings basis of individual companies or groups of companies, and
- 3. Whether accrued interest since the date of the receivership should be taken into account in measuring the secured creditors' deficiency claim against "free" assets.

In its advisory report, the Commission took the position that it was possible to arrive at a valuation on an earnings basis of groups of companies which were functionally related; that such group valuations provided a proper basis for the allocation of valuation among the various classes of claimants; and that under the circumstances it was not necessary or proper to resort to a method of such doubtful propriety as the original cost basis in determining goingconcern valuation or to determine the relative participations of the several classes of claimants on the basis of the consolidated balance · sheet. On this basis, the Commission arrived at a total maximum going-concern value for the enterprise of approximately \$25,594,000. The Commission also concluded that accrued interest since the date of the receivership should be taken into account in measuring the secured creditors' deficiency claim against free assets and that therefore a maximum of \$23,018,000, or 90 percent, of the total maximum going-concern value of the enterprise was allocable to the claims of the secured creditors and a minimum of \$2,576,000, or 10 percent, to the claims of the unsecured creditors.

On this basis, the Commission expressed its approval of the Trustees' Amended Plan dated December 4, 1939, if amended to provide for a 5-percent rate of interest on the new bonds to be issued, as proposed by the Bondholders' Protective Committee, and to include certain other amendments proposed either by that committee or by certain unsecured creditors or recommended in its report. Thereafter, the trustees filed an amended plan dated July 16, 1940, including those amendments and certain other amendments. The Commission was given an opportunity to file a supplemental report on these amendments, but did not deem it necessary to do so because the amendments which had not previously been referred to it and discussed in its original report appeared to be of a minor nature and did not affect its conclusion as to the fairness and feasibility of the plan. By order entered August 14, 1940, the Trustees' Amended Plan dated July 16, 1940, was approved by the court as fair and feasible and equitable. Thereafter, pursuant to Section 175 (3) of the Bankruptcy Act, the Commission prepared and filed a summary, dated August 26, 1940, of its advisory report for transmission to the creditors and stockholders affected by the plan.

Part III

ADMINISTRATION OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is designed to eliminate manipulation and other abuses in the trading of securities both on the organized exchanges and in the over-the-counter markets which together constitute the Nation's facilities for trading in securities; to make available to the public information regarding the condition of corporations whose securities are traded on any national securities exchange; and to control the flow of the Nation's credit resources into its securities markets.

NATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGES

Relations with Exchanges.

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 contains outright statutory prohibitions against many practices which the Congress found to be clearly inimical to the investing public or to the public interest. addition, the statute marked out other areas within which the Commission is authorized to regulate the securities markets and the activities of their members by its own rules and regulations. Congress, in dealing with the problem of relationships between the Commission and the national securities exchanges, authorized the Commission, in Section 19 of the statute, to exercise a residual rather than a direct jurisdiction over many aspects of national securities exchanges which impinge upon the public interest and the welfare of American investors.1 For instance, the Commission is vested with indirect powers over matters such as the emergency suspension of trading upon national securities exchanges, safeguards for the financial responsibility of members, hours of trading, the manner, method, and place of soliciting business, and the fixing of reasonable rates of commissions and other charges. These powers, whether they be direct or indirect in their nature, and even though they must be exercised in accordance with standards erected by Congress, are necessarily somewhat discretionary in their scope and operation. This approach to many of the more technical and complex problems of the securities business was adopted at the suggestion of the representatives of that business itself. As stated by the Committee on Interstate and

¹ Under Section 19 (b) of the Act these residual powers may be exercised by the Commission only after the national securities exchange concerned has been formally requested to take certain action and has failed to comply with the Commission's request.

Foreign Commerce of the House of Representatives which considered the legislation—

"Representatives of the stock exchanges constantly urged a greater degree of flexibility in the statute and insisted that the complicated nature of the problems justified leaving much greater latitude of discretion with the administrative agencies than would otherwise be the case." ²

The story of the Commission's relations with the securities exchanges and the over-the-counter markets during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, therefore, consists primarily of the action it has taken within those areas over which Congress has given it these rule-making powers.

The Commission's Program for Increasing Safeguards to Customers against the Risks of Brokerage Insolvencies.

Public protection against the manifold dangers attendant upon brokers' insolvencies, including the risk that their funds and securities may be misappropriated, was one of the more important problems which the Congress did not undertake to solve when it passed the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Instead, Congress, by virtue of several sections of the Act, delegated the solution of these complicated problems, in large part at least, to the Commission.

The task of achieving adequate financial protection for brokerage customers was, in part, also left by Congress to the brokerage and stock exchange community. For the Commission, before adopting its own rules and regulations under Section 19 (b) to safeguard the financial responsibility of members of a national securities exchange, must first seek the cooperation of that exchange. Only if the exchange refuses to comply with the Commission's request that it amend or supplement its rules can the Commission adopt its own rules under Section 19 (b) to achieve the requested objective. It has, of course, been the consistent policy of the Commission to proceed as far as possible along the avenue of voluntary cooperation with the industry before resorting to its formal powers of direct regulation through the promulgation of rules under the Act.

In its Fifth Annual Report, covering the fiscal year ended June 30, 1939, the Commission discussed the steps which, in accordance with this policy, it had taken in the course of that year to bring about, on the part of the financial community itself, a higher measure of self-policing. Particular reference was there made to the proposal of "brokerage banks" as one method of removing the risks of fluctuating security values from brokers' performance of the substantial banking and custodial business which they do for their customers. That annual report described in detail the financial and economic importance of the billion dollar banking and custodial business which is now handled by brokers as an incident to the

¹ H. R. Rep. No. 1383, 73d Cong., 2d Sess., p. 6.

brokerage functions. The sources of the present dangers to customers, as they had been so tragically illustrated by the bankruptcy of Richard Whitney & Company, were also pointed out in their relation to possible solutions of the problem.

On June 23, 1939, Chairman Frank, still adhering to the policy of mutual cooperation rather than direct regulatory measures by the Commission, publicly asked that immediate study be given to "brokerage banks" or some other method either of eliminating or of properly protecting the conduct of the brokers' banking and custodial business. The proposal for a "Central Trust Institution" or. as it has since been called, a "brokerage bank" had been first advanced by members of the financial community itself, later, in May 1938. by William O. Douglas, then Chairman of the Commission, and, most recently, by Jerome Frank, the present Chairman. Under this suggestion, a so-called "brokerage bank" would take over and thus safeguard all the banking and trustee functions of brokers. As a result, the president of the New York Stock Exchange, in July 1939. appointed a committee of non-members referred to as a "Public Examining Board".3 This committee was authorized to study the broad problem of adequate financial protection to customers, as well as the narrower question of the feasibility of the suggestion for a "brokerage bank." Meanwhile, the Commission withheld its own direct action and refrained from promulgating any rules and regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dealing with this problem pending the "Public Examining Board's" study and the effectuation of the detailed recommendations which ensued.

Under date of August 31, 1939, the New York Stock Exchange's committee published its report. Although the report of this committee urged a number of detailed improvements in brokerage practice, it expressed the view that certain objections to the suggestion for "brokerage banks" made it "undesirable in the present situation." On the whole, the 14 specific recommendations of the committee seemed primarily designed to preserve, with some additional safeguards, the existing fusion of the brokerage with banking and trustee functions of holding customers' funds and customers' securities. The report of the New York Stock Exchange's committee summarized its own affirmative recommendations as follows:

"FREE CREDIT BALANCES

- "1. Customers' cash balances left in brokers' hands should either be segregated from the broker's own funds in special earmarked deposits in commercial banks, or the broker should receive from the customer specific authorization to use the deposit in his business.
 - "2. We recommend that the Stock Exchange and the Securities and Exchange

³ This committee, of which Mr. Roswell Magill was chairman, was composed of Messrs. W. Randolph Burgess, Carle C. Conway, and Walter J. Cummings,

Commission join in endeavoring to secure the adoption of amendments to the federal bankruptcy act to make it clear that balances so segregated and securities held in safekeeping and in segregation are not subject to the claims of the broker's general creditors in case of his insolvency.

"3. The rules of the Exchange respecting capital requirements should be amended so that a member firm is not penalized (as at present) for placing customers' credit balances in segregation.

"SERVICE CHARGES

"4. The Exchange should adopt by rule a schedule of minimum standard service charges such as, for example, a minimum monthly account charge, and a charge as reimbursement for such services as the safekeeping and handling of securities.

"SEPARATE COLLATERAL LOANS

"5. The rules of the Exchange should make it clear that a customer, if he so desires, may request his broker to act as his agent in negotiating a separate individual loan from a bank, secured by the customer's collateral.

"STOCK EXCHANGE INCOME AND RESERVES

"6. The income of the Stock Exchange should be increased out of service charges, a transaction tax, or otherwise, in an amount sufficient to balance its budget and also build up a substantial reserve fund available to meet emergency or unusual needs which may arise.

"FIDELITY INSURANCE

"7. The rules of the Exchange should provide for standard minimum amounts of fidelity insurance on employees, to be maintained by member firms, and to the extent found feasible after further study these rules should be extended to cover insurance on partners.

"SEPARATION OF UNDERWRITING FROM BROKERAGE BUSINESS

- "8. All firms making dealing and underwriting commitments in excess of their capital should be required, as soon as satisfactory mechanisms are devised, to separate their brokerage from their dealing and underwriting business either by
 - "(a) Incorporating their brokerage business (with full guarantee of the partnership), or
 - "(b) Incorporating their dealing and underwriting business.

"CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

"9. We recommend an increase from \$25,000 to \$50,000 in the minimum capital requirements of member firms carrying customers' accounts.

"MARGIN FOR COMMODITY ACCOUNTS

"10. We suggest that the Exchange consider the adoption of rules requiring for commodity accounts the same minimum margins as required by the rules of commodity exchanges.

"FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITS

- "11. Member firms should distribute to all customers, at least annually, a printed financial statement, audited and certified by a firm of public accountants. This document should contain a clear statement of the broker's policy in the handling of customers' free credit balances.
- "12. The Exchange rules should provide that every active member doing business as an individual should file a financial statement annually with the Exchange.
- "13. We recommend that the annual audit of member firms by public accountants be conducted on a surprise basis; and include a spot check of the firm's records of receipts from and deliveries of cash and securities to individual customers.
- "14. Since the Stock Exchange's examining force and periodic inspections are its principal mechanism for self-supervision, we recommend further strengthening of the examining staff."

Between September 1, 1939, and the close of the past fiscal year, June 30, 1940, the exchange has done the following to effectuate the recommendations of this nonmember committee:

- 1. On September 15, 1939, minimum capital requirements for a member firm doing any business with anyone, other than members or member firms, were increased from \$25,000 to \$50,000.
- 2. On March 28, 1939, the Board of Governors of the Exchange referred to the Committee on Member Firms a report pursuant to which affiliated corporations may be formed on a permissive basis so as to insulate brokerage customers, at least partially, from the financial hazards of the underwriting and dealer business (the most dangerous phases of the securities business) which are engaged in by member firms. However, when the Committee on Member Firms was authorized to receive applications to form such affiliated corporations, it was also instructed not to compel the formation of such corporate underwriting and dealer affiliates. To date, one such corporation has been set up.
- 3. The exchange, on January 19, 1940, required that the annual independent audit of member firms be made on a surprise basis. However, the date for the surprise audit is selected not by the exchange but by the accountant employed by the member firm to be thus audited.

The following have not been done:

- 1. No action has been taken to require the segregation of free credit balances of customers who have not authorized the broker to use their funds in the conduct of his own business. The exchange has expressed the view that such segregation might prove ineffective unless and until, through amendments to the Bankruptcy Act, such funds so segregated would be clearly recoverable by customers after bankruptcy.
- 2. Although counsel for the New York Stock Exchange has conferred with the Commission on the matter, it has not yet been possible, owing to technical and other difficulties, to have presented to Congress a specific amendment to Section 60 (e) of the Bankruptcy Act which would make it clear that customers' free credit balances so segregated and customers' securities segregated in safekeeping or as "excess margin" may be reclaimed by such customers.
- 3. No rules have been adopted to "make it clear" that a customer may obtain, through his broker, separate individual loans from banks secured by the customer's own collateral. The exchange has taken the position that no action along this line is necessary since customers of a member firm always had and still have the right to request the firm to act as agent in negotiating a separate loan secured by the customer's collateral.
- 4. No steps have been taken to build up a reserve fund available to meet emergency or usual needs which may arise.
- 5. Although counsel to the New York Stock Exchange has conferred with representatives of the fidelity insurance industry, the technical problems involved in such an extension of the principle of fidelity insurance have as yet prevented the adoption of rules to require standard minimum amounts of fidelity insurance on partners as well as on employees of member firms.
- 6. The exchange has taken no steps to require that member firms undertaking dealer and underwriter commitments in excess of their capital should be required to separate the financial risks of their dealer and underwriter business from their brokerage business.

⁴ No action has been taken relative to the committee's recommendation that the exchange's capital requirements be relaxed in their application to firms carrying customers' free credit balances. However, in this connection, it should be particularly noted that the suggestion of the "Public Examining Board," in effect, that customers' free credit balances should not be considered as "aggregate indebtedness" of a brokerage firm for the purpose of determining compliance with the exchange's minimum capital requirements, in on sense represents progress towards greater financial safeguards for brokerage customers. On the contrary, it represents an affirmative retrogression from the goal of reasonable safety since it would ignore the demand liabilities of a brokerage firm to its customers which had entrusted it with their funds.

- 7. The exchange has not adopted rules requiring minimum margins for commodity accounts.
- 8. Although the exchange, on September 19, 1939, did adopt a rule requiring its member firms to distribute to all of their customers annual printed statements showing their financial condition, this requirement was rescinded on November 13, 1939. Although the monthly statements to customers of member firms must advise customers that they may obtain copies of the firm's financial statement, customers have had this right since *March 1938*. The exchange also considers it inexpedient at this time to adopt the further recommendation of the "Public Examining Board" that member firms should endorse on financial statements a legend specifying the policy of the firm in handling customers' free credit balances.
- 9. Although the exchange, on March 1, 1940, made certain minimum service charges on customers' accounts effective, this requirement was rescinded on March 27, 1940.
- 10. The exchange has not required individual members to file financial statements with it.
- 11. The exchange has not, so far as the Commission is aware, taken any steps towards the further strengthening of its examining staff.

Exchanges Registered and Exempted from Registration.

During the past fiscal year, there has been no change in the number of exchanges registered with the Commission as national securities exchanges, but, for the first time in four years, there was a change in the number of exchanges exempted from such registration.

The Milwaukee Grain and Stock Exchange made application to the Commission on April 9, 1940, to withdraw its application for exemption from registration as a national securities exchange. In this application, the exchange stated:

"Trading in securities on this Exchange was suspended as of April 1, 1938, for the reason that the volume had declined to a very low point and a number of the firms relinquished their memberships. It was thought that trading could be resumed at a later date, but that appears very unlikely at present, and it therefore is deemed advisable to make application for withdrawal."

This application was granted by the Commission in its order of May 1, 1940, wherein the Commission's orders dated November 5, 1935, and March 7, 1936, under Section 5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, granting said application for exemption, were set aside.

The 20 registered exchanges and the 6 exchanges exempted from registration as of June 30, 1940, are as follows:

REGISTERED

- *Baltimore Stock Exchange.
- *Board of Trade of the City of Chicago.
- *Boston Stock Exchange. Chicago Stock Exchange.
- *Cincinnati Stock Exchange.
- *Cleveland Stock Exchange.
- *Detroit Stock Exchange.
- *Los Angeles Stock Exchange.
- *New Orleans Stock Exchange.
- *New York Curb Exchange.
- *New York Real Estate Securities Exchange, Inc.
- New York Stock Exchange.
- *Philadelphia Stock Exchange.
- *Pittsburgh Stock Exchange.
- St. Louis Stock Exchange.
- *Salt Lake Stock Exchange.
- San Francisco Mining Exchange.
- *San Francisco Stock Exchange.
- *Standard Stock Exchange of Spokane.

Washington (D. C.) Stock Exchange.

EXEMPTED

Colorado Springs Stock Exchange.

- *Honolulu Stock Exchange.
- *Minneapolis-St. Paul Stock Exchange. Richmond Stock Exchange.
- *Seattle Stock Exchange.
- *Wheeling Stock Exchange.

*Unlisted trading privileges with respect to certain issues of securities exist on these exchanges.

There have been the usual changes in the rules, practices, and organization of the registered and exempted exchanges as reflected in their applications for registration or exemption. Consequently, during the past fiscal year, the national securities exchanges filed 154 amendments to their applications and 24 amendments were received from exempted exchanges. Each of these amendments was studied and analyzed, not only that the Commission might determine compliance with relevant legislation and regulations, but also to the end that appropriate comments and suggestions could be addressed to the exchanges concerned in order to facilitate the performance of their public obligations.

STEPS TAKEN TO GUARD AGAINST DISORDERLY SECURITIES MARKETS

Critical market conditions caused by the outbreak of war in Europe during the past fiscal year called for intense scrutiny by the Commission of day-to-day and even hourly developments. Section 19 (a) (4) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 authorizes the Commission "* * * if in its opinion the public interest so requires, * * * with the approval of the President, summarily to suspend all trading on any national securities exchange for a period not exceeding ninety days." It was apparent to the Commission that sudden military developments abroad might well create a condition in the securities markets requiring the exercise of this authority.

As early as April 1938, when Austria was annexed by Germany, the Commission had set up machinery for keeping itself informed of current developments—in order to keep ahead of actual market response to various occurrences. Even at that time, the orders which would have been necessary for the exercise of the statutory powers had been prepared so as to be ready at a moment's notice if market conditions should make it imperative to use them. At the same time, extensive studies were made to determine as closely as possible what might be the impact upon our securities markets of an actual declaration of war in Europe. Recalling that it had been necessary for the New York Stock Exchange to close in 1914, when the World War began, efforts were made to determine what, if any, analogies existed between 1914 and 1938.

When, in September 1939, war actually was declared, the preparation which the Commission had made proved most valuable. Lines of direct communication to valuable sources of information in the financial community were quickly reestablished. Liaison with each of the national securities exchanges was immediately developed through the regional offices of the Commission. In this way, the Commission was able to know currently about the volume and trend of orders in brokerage offices even before those orders actually reached the floors of the exchanges for execution.

Although the securities markets accepted the beginning of actual hostilities in Europe with equanimity, the Commission's experience gained during the September rally, together with the intermission for further study which was afforded by the strength of the market, was to prove most helpful when the invasion of the Low Countries by Germany, in May 1940, produced violent repercussions in our securities markets. During that intermission, the Commission had increased the efficiency of its mechanisms for gathering advance market, economic, and international information and, hence, was in a better position to appraise each succeeding development as it arose. Studies were made to determine the extent to which the nationals of each

European country might liquidate American securities together with the likelihood that belligerent nations themselves might be required to finance their activities by liquidation of American securities. The domestic situation was also carefully reviewed and currently reanalyzed. This included a consideration of such technical factors as the extent of short positions and the volume of margin commitments. Plans were also worked out so that if it should become necessary to close the stock exchanges, "bootleg" markets would not grow up in the over-the-counter field and trading would be controlled in such markets by cooperative efforts.

Closing the exchanges—the securities markets—has always been regarded as a step which the Commission would initiate only with the greatest reluctance and only when completely convinced that it was absolutely necessary. The Commission is well aware of the importance of free securities markets to the American economy. Congress, however, in giving the Commission authority to take this drastic step, with the approval of the President, recognized that occasions could arise in which a chaotic securities market might so disrupt and demoralize general business and might so irreparably damage not only investors but the entire national economy that closing the markets would be the only alternative. Obviously, no hard and fast rules to govern the closing of exchanges could be laid down in a statute, for the reason that there could be no way of telling what particular kind of a critical situation might develop. But it is clearly the Commission's continuing duty to so prepare itself that no crisis can get so far out of hand that catastrophic damage can be done before the action can be taken.

A critical situation which bore danger signals to warn that the use of the statutory power might be essential developed immediately upon the invasion of the Netherlands and Belgium early in May of 1940. To the casual observer, looking back at the chart of daily stock market movements, it might appear that a chaotic condition actually did exist. Daily market breaks ranged as high as 10 points a day for various averages of listed securities, and in individual securities the daily declines were sometimes much greater.

The Commission, however, was not watching the market from the standpoint of daily movements. It was maintaining a constant minute-to-minute scrutiny. Through its machinery for gathering as much information as possible, it kept constant scrutiny over the volume and trend of orders as they came into the leading brokerage offices before those orders reached the floor. Each morning before the markets were opened, the Commission and its experts were in contact with its sources of information to find out the character and size of the brokerage orders which had accumulated over night. It kept track of the effect of market changes upon margin accounts. It

received current reports on the size of short positions and the volume of short sales. It knew at all times the approximate condition of the books of the specialists in various leading stocks on the floors of the various exchanges. It was able, in cooperation with the New York Stock Exchange, the Treasury, and certain houses specializing in foreign dealings, to judge the trend and volume of foreign transactions.

The significant factor to be considered was the character of the market—more than the trend of the market. Was the market orderly or was it disorderly? A disorderly market is generally regarded as a market in which prices rise or fall several points between transactions—or a market in which no transactions at all are possible because of the wide spread between the bid and asked prices. By these standards, the markets of May 1940 were generally orderly. Prices frequently declined rapidly, but in nearly every instance the breaks were limited to less than a point between transactions. At no time was the market frozen and buyers and sellers could always transact business at prices within a reasonable relation to the prices of preceding transactions. In short, although stocks lost many points during those first days of the invasion of the Low Countries and France, there was no time at which the market machinery failed to function smoothly.

The Commission was, nonetheless, constantly prepared to act if further developments should bring about the feared break-down. Members of the Commission were in constant contact with the White House and the President, at his request, was furnished with current reports throughout the crisis. In the event that market conditions should have become so fraught with danger as to make it advisable to close the exchanges, the Commission, with the approval of the President, would have been ready to act.

Although there has not been a recurrence of a crisis similar to that which existed in May 1940, the Commission is prepared again to put its machinery for minute-to-minute market surveillance into operation whenever the need should arise.

MARKET SURVEILLANCE

In enforcing the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 outlawing manipulation of security prices, the Commission's policy of administration has been based upon the principle that it is far more in the public interest to prevent, rather than to punish, fraud. As a result, prompt action is taken whenever any deviation from normal in either price or volume is of such a nature, after consideration of all the facts, as to suggest a high degree of probability of a violation. Although the Commission believes in prompt action, it should be emphasized that it does not believe in any unnecessary interference with the proper functioning of the market place and, therefore,

the greatest discretion is used in the authorization of an investigation. To some extent, the speed with which the Commission moves, when it is deemed necessary, lessens the chances of successful punitive action against those responsible for the fraudulent trading since, in such cases, manipulation usually dies at its inception and, therefore, insufficient evidence makes prosecution difficult.

The detection of manipulation is dynamic rather than static because the methods of the manipulator are continually changing. With his increased familiarity with the law, he experiments continually with new and more subtle methods of evasion to which the Commission must as continually adapt its technique of detection. The Commission receives many complaints from members of the public and it always appreciates the spirit of cooperation shown by those members of the public who are sincerely anxious to offer information which may be of assistance in the administration of the statutes. However, of the total number of complaints received, only a relatively small percent have to do with matters of manipulation. While all such complaints receive the most serious consideration, the task of detection could not be done satisfactorily if the Commission relied solely upon such sources of information.

The reports of security transactions filed by officers, directors, and principal stockholders under the provisions of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are of value in the work of detection. Continuing studies of all secondary distributions, based upon information voluntarily furnished the Commission by certain of the exchanges, are also of value in providing necessary background information upon which judgment may be based. Stock tickers are maintained at both the Washington Office and at the New York Regional Office and the work of the tape readers is frequently of very real value in promptly detecting violations of certain rules of the exchanges themselves, but any violation of the anti-manipulative provisions of the statute must rest upon the establishment of prohibited motives which are not immediately obvious from the printings on the tape.

Experience has shown, however, that the most effective method of detection lies in the Commission's systematic observation of the market behavior of all securities on all national securities exchanges and the interpretation of the price and volume movements of all securities on the basis of all factual information which can be obtained. To that end, there is maintained at the Washington Office of the Commission a trained staff of specialists with practical experience in trading, as well as economists and technicians, whose sole responsibility it is to observe systematically by broad industrial categories the movements in both price and volume of all securities and to develop from such studies probable cases of manipulation.

TRADING INVESTIGATIONS

The Commission's aim in its administration of the statutory prohibitions against stock market manipulation is a sufficient policing of the markets in order to accomplish the extinction of the prohibited forms of manipulation. On the other hand, the Commission recognizes that this policing must be carried out in a manner which will not interfere with the legitimate functioning of those markets. It is quick to track down any suspicious appearances of manipulation, but its technique of investigation has been developed to the point where a few well directed inquiries usually suffice to determine the presence or absence of a prohibited manipulation.

The method is to review and interpret all complaints and reports of suspicious market movements as well as the Commission's own firsthand observations in the light of increasingly more complete files of current data and its history of experience. In many cases the Commission readily satisfies itself, without recourse to outside inquiry, that there has been no violation of the anti-manipulative provisions of the Federal securities legislation. In other cases, the usual first resort is to a "flying quiz" for the purpose of quickly assembling any essential missing facts. A review of 175 quizzes conducted by the New York Regional Office shows that it requires only about four interviews to clear up the average case, most of the interviews being with exchange officials, members, and other brokers and dealers. the returns from a "quiz" at hand, the case is again reviewed and is closed if no violation appears to have occurred. If the "flying quiz" confirms the Commission's original suspicion of manipulation, a preliminary trading investigation is next undertaken. Such an investigation involves a thorough analysis of all transactions.

Finally, a formal trading investigation may be authorized by the Commission, at which point, for the first time in the process, individual customers and other persons may be required to supply such information as is necessary to complete the history of the case. During the past year, improved technique and better coordination between all the offices of the Commission allowed a broadening of the sources of detection with an actual decrease in the number of quizzes and in the number of preliminary and formal trading investigations initiated. However, 24 formal proceedings against the persons involved resulted from trading investigations, as against 18 such proceedings in the previous year.

Thus, during the past fiscal year, as a result of these investigations, 2 cases were referred to the Department of Justice for criminal prosecution, 7 persons were enjoined from continuing manipulative activities, 8 cases involving transactions by members of various exchanges were referred to such exchanges for appropriate action, proceedings were instituted for the revocation of registration of 2 broker-dealers,

and 3 broker-dealers withdrew their registrations. On information proceeding from trading investigations in the first instance, the Commission issued a stop order under the Securities Act of 1933 suspending the effectiveness of the registration statement with respect to one stock issue and authorized proceedings to determine whether the registration on a national securities exchange of another stock issue should be suspended or withdrawn.

A tabular summary with respect to the Commission's trading investigations follows:

Trading	investigations
---------	----------------

	Flying quizzes	Preliminary investigations	Formal investigations
Pending June 30, 1939	27 152	6 14	20 7
Total to be accounted for	179	20	27
Changed to preliminary or formal	17 128	1 *12	-13
Total disposed of	145	13	13
Pending June 30, 1940	34	7	14

[·] Includes reference of cases to the Department of Justice and to various national securities exchanges.

RECORD OF PUBLIC ACTION TAKEN AS A RESULT OF TRADING INVESTIGATIONS

On October 18, 1939, James H. Rand, Jr., Winfred C. Hoty, James E. Reynolds, and Narnell, Inc., consented to being permanently enjoined by the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York from future violations of Sections 9 (a) (1) and 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. This action resulted from an investigation of transactions effected by these persons during 1936 and 1937 in Remington Rand, Inc., common stock listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

On November 29, 1939, Judge Harold Burke in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, imposed a sentence of two years imprisonment and a fine of \$4,000 on Joseph J. Mascuch, president of Breeze Corporations, Inc. Mascuch was found guilty of both counts of an indictment charging perjury before an examiner of the Commission during an investigation of transactions in the common stock of his company which is listed on the New York Curb Exchange. This conviction was affirmed by the opinion handed down by the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit on May 6, 1940.

On January 3, 1940, Ery Kehaya, president of Standard Commercial Tobacco Co., Inc., Standard Commercial Export & Finance Corp., Harry J. Rothman, Harry D. Meyer, and Louis C. George were indicted by the Federal Grand Jury of the United States District

Court for the Southern District of New York for violation of the provisions of Sections 9 (a) (1) and 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and for conspiracy in the sale of Standard Commercial Tobacco Co., Inc., common stock by means of false and fraudulent misrepresentations. On February 23, 1940, a second indictment was returned against the above-named defendants upon 19 additional mail frauds counts: 1 count for violation of Section 17 (a) (1) and 2 counts for violation of Section 17 (a) (2) of the Securities Act of 1933; and a final count for conspiracy in violation of the mail fraud statute, Sections 17 (a) (1) and 17 (a) (2) of the Securities Act of 1933, and Sections 9 (a) (1) and 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. This case was referred to the United States Attorney for the Second District of New York by the Commission in April 1939 and resulted from an investigation of the activities and transactions by the above parties during 1937 in Standard Commercial Tobacco Co., Inc., common stock then listed on the New York Stock Exchange. This case was pending at the close of the fiscal year.

On January 29, 1940, Norman W. Minuse was sentenced to 2 years imprisonment and fined \$5,000. Joseph E. H. Pelletier was sentenced to 18 months in prison and fined \$1,000, and Russell VanWyck Stuart, previously sentenced to 2 years, received a suspended sentence and was placed on 2 years probation. These sentences were imposed by Federal Judge Matthew T. Abruzzo in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York after a jury had found these persons guilty of conspiracy to violate Sections 9 (a) (1) (a), (b), and (c) and Section 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. This case was referred to the Department of Justice for prosecution on May 12, 1938, and resulted from an investigation of transactions which occurred during 1935 and 1936 in Tastyeast, Inc., Class A common stock listed on the New York Curb Exchange.

On February 14, 1940, George J. Morrison and Emil W. Jacques were each sentenced to one year and one day by Federal Judge Alfred C. Coxe in United States District Court of the Southern District of New York for violation of the anti-manipulative provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Sentence was suspended as to Jacques, who was put on probation for two years. The defendants pleaded guilty after the Government's case had been presented. This action resulted from an investigation of transactions by such persons during November and December 1934 in B/G Sandwich Shops, Inc., common stock then listed on the New York Produce Exchange. The facts and evidence obtained in the Commission's investigation were referred to the Department of Justice on April 19, 1935, for prosecution and an indictment was returned on November 16, 1937.

On May 3, 1940, Louis C. George of Madison, Wisconsin, Moses

A. Isaacs of New York City, and Josiah M. Kirby of Cleveland, Ohio, were indicted by the Federal Grand Jury in United States District Court for the Southern District of New York charged with violations of the anti-manipulative provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as well as of the mail fraud statutes and conspiracy. This action resulted from an investigation of the activities and transactions of these persons during 1936 and 1937 in Automatic Products Corp. common stock listed on the New York Curb Exchange. This case was referred by the Commission to the Department of Justice on November 29, 1938, for prosecution. This case was pending at the close of the fiscal year.

On May 13, 1940, A. W. Porter, Inc., A. W. Porter, and Arthur H. Johnson consented to being permanently enjoined by the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York from further manipulative activities in violation of Section 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and from selling stock in violation of the fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933. This action resulted from an investigation of transactions effected by these persons during 1939 in Pressed Metals of America, Inc., common stock listed on the New York Curb Exchange.

On May 20, 1940, the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit upon review of the order of the Commission of February 28, 1938, expelling Charles C. Wright from membership on the New York Stock Exchange and four other exchanges, found that Wright had violated Section 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and upheld the constitutionality of that section, as well as of Section 19 (a) (3) of such Act, pursuant to which proceedings were brought to determine whether Wright had violated the anti-manipulative provisions of the Act. The court held that the evidence did not support the Commission's finding that Wright had also violated Section 9 (a) (1) in "matching" buying and selling orders. The court's opinion directed the Commission to consider modification of its expulsion order to one of suspension.

MARGIN REGULATIONS

Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Commission has the responsibility of enforcing Regulation T of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System which comprises the margin regulations promulgated under Sections 7 and 8 (a) of the Act. During the past fiscal year, within the limits of available time and personnel, the Commission continued to conduct margin inspections of brokerage firms.

As during the previous year, emphasis was placed on the inspection of firms which are not members of national securities exchanges. Most of the inspections have been of a broad character designed to determine compliance on the part of brokerage firms with all applicable rules and regulations, including the margin regulations. During the past year, margin inspections were made of 160 member and non-member firms. In accordance with the Commission's usual practice, the results of certain of these inspections bearing upon compliance with Regulation T were made available to the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

Also, during the past year, the Commission received cooperation from the national securities exchanges with respect to the enforcement of Regulation T. Each national securities exchange, upon becoming registered with this Commission, agreed, pursuant to Section 6 (a) (1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, "* * * to enforce insofar as is within its powers compliance by its members, with the provisions of this title, and any amendment thereto and any rule or regulation made or to be made thereunder; * * *." Pursuant to this agreement, the New York Stock Exchange reported to the Commission that it had censured and fined six member firms during the year for violation of Regulation T.

During the past fiscal year, four more of the Commission's field offices have carried on margin-inspection work insofar as limited personnel made it possible. In addition to the New York, Boston, Chicago, and San Francisco Regional Offices and the Washington Field Office which were mentioned in the Commission's Fifth Annual Report, the offices at Atlanta, Denver, Detroit, and Fort Worth have submitted inspection reports which included the results of margin inspections.

PEGGING, FIXING, AND STABILIZING OF SECURITY PRICES

On January 3, 1940, the Commission adopted rules and regulations, designated as Regulation X-9A6-1, effective February 15, 1940, governing transactions incident to the stabilization of security prices in certain limited types of situations. This regulation was promulgated pursuant to Section 9 (a) (6) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which makes it unlawful to effect transactions for the purpose of stabilizing the price of any security registered on a national securities exchange "in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors." In taking this initial step toward the substantive regulation of stabilizing activities, the Commission sought to deal with only a narrow phase of the much greater problem of security price stabilization considered as a whole.

Differences of viewpoint between the Commission and the underwriting industry and between various representatives of that industry itself, coupled with the Commission's own awareness of the economic potentialities of its actions, resulted in its decision to attack the problem of stabilization piecemeal. It was felt the safest progress into this field, where previously there had been no regulation under the statute, could be made by isolating particular segments of the larger problem, regulating those segments, and basing further regulation upon the experience thus derived.

Stabilizing to facilitate so-called "market offerings" where the price of the security is represented to be at or based upon open market prices is one segment of the problem of stabilization wherein lies the greatest potentiality of abuse. Before the Act, market operations to stimulate the success of this type of offering often constituted not stabilization, but the most flagrant type of "pool manipulation" outlawed by Section 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. It was because of the susceptibility of this particular kind of stabilizing to grave abuses that the Commission determined to single out this narrow field for the first test of its substantive regulation of stabilizing. Accordingly, Regulation X-9A6-1, by its terms, is applicable only where the stabilization of a registered security is undertaken to facilitate an offering of any registered security which is represented to be "at the market" or at a price related to the market price.

In general, Regulation X-9A6-1, although it unequivocally prohibits any marking up of prices to facilitate offerings or the rigid "pegging" of market prices in aid of this type of offering, is designed to permit no more than the maintenance of an orderly market on the securities exchange involved during the continuance of the offering. The regulation, which requires that all purchasers must be given notice of the stabilizing operation, also provides that during the continuation of stabilizing a "ceiling" shall be placed upon the price of the stabilized security by prohibiting the stabilizers from making any purchase or sale of a security involved in the stabilization above its "maximum price" as fixed by the rule. This provision is designed to remove, so far as possible, any incentive on the part of the stabilizers to create, directly or indirectly, a rise in the market price of any security involved in the stabilization.

As of the close of the past fiscal year, only one stabilizing operation had been undertaken which was subject to the requirements of the rule. On March 12, 1940, a notice of intention to stabilize the Class A and Class B common stock of the Columbia Broadcasting Corporation was filed by and on behalf of the underwriters of an offering of 20,000 shares of Class A stock and 80,000 shares of Class B stock. These stocks were all listed and registered on the New York Stock Exchange.

In promulgating Regulation X-9A6-1, the Commission, in its accompanying statement, expressly recognized that experience in the actual operation of the regulation may necessitate amendments from time to time and that the Commission's staff will continue, as it has in the past, to cooperate with representatives of the investment bank-

ing industry in the further study of problems incident to this and other types of stabilizing. As of the close of the past fiscal year, experience in administration of the rules had not indicated the desirability of making any further amendments in those rules.

Shortly after the promulgation of Regulation X-9A6-1, the Commission published a statement of its policy on the whole broad problem of the pegging, fixing, and stabilizing of security prices. This statement enunciated the legal, ethical, and economic aspects of the problem of stabilizing, described its fundamentals, outlined the arguments pro and con, and evaluated the alternative courses of possible Commission action. Pertinent excerpts from this statement which, for the first time, reached the formal conclusion that the Commission should adopt a broad program of regulation, are quoted below:

"It seems clear that the only course open to the Commission is to adopt regulations which can be revised from time to time as we see how they actually work. Such regulations must reconcile, as far as possible, the often conflicting objectives of protecting purchasers of securities, on the one hand, and of preserving the ready flow of capital into industry, on the other. Here, as in most other fields of human activity, perfection is an unattainable ideal. Compromise and adjustment are inescapable. A closer approach to the ideal than is now achievable may in the future be found in the development of investment banking or other underwriting institutions with sufficient resources so that the need for stabilizing can be substantially reduced, even entirely eliminated. But the growth of American industry cannot wait upon such a development. Consequently, the Commission has concluded that its immediate duty under the statute is to meet the situation through regulated stabilizing, frankly recognizing the experimental character of its approach to the problem."

In a separate statement designed to demonstrate that stabilizing was primarily for the benefit of the underwriters of securities and not the investors or issuers, Commissioner Healy attacked stabilizing as "a manipulation designed to help induce the public to exchange its money for a security which the underwriter is selling at a market price the decline of which, through his own acts, he is preventing or retarding." Expressing regret that the majority of the Commission was willing to accept stabilizing as "an integral part" of our system of security distribution, he wrote:

"I think that the worst possible situation in which to permit stabilizing is when the offering price is represented to be 'at the market.' Even when stabilizing is permitted in connection with an offering at a fixed price, the harm to investors is not to be overlooked for there the stabilized price may frequently mislead and injure those who buy. The investor, observing the exchange price or (as often happens) having had his attention called to it by salesmen, believes, as he has a right to, that the price is one made by the free play of supply and demand in a fair and unmanipulated market. But when the offering price is 'at the market' the possibilities of deception and injury to investors are immeasurably increased. Securities issued 'at the market' are issued on the theory that the price is set not by the underwriter but by the interplay of the forces of

supply and demand. Yet the regulation by permitting stabilizing of such securities permits an interference with the free forces of supply and demand and thereby tolerates the creation of a price mirage and the distortion of the price which would be set by the market if it were to function without artificial support."

Commissioner Healy called attention to the fact that the regulation permitted stabilizing of secondary as well as primary distribution and reviewed the American system of security distribution which is characterized by the underwriter's haste to dispose of issues—a haste which he demonstrated was made necessary by their lack of capital which often made it impossible for them to enter into truly "firm" commitments. He concluded that stabilizing in connection with offerings "at the market" was not in the public interest and that prohibiting it was necessary for the protection of investors. He stated that Section 9 (a) (6) gave the Commission ample power to enact a rule forbidding stabilizing when the distribution was "at the market."

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, the Commission continued its administration of Rule X-17A-2, which requires the filing of detailed reports of all transactions incident to offerings in respect of which a registration statement has been filed under the Securities Act of 1933 where any stabilizing operation is undertaken to facilitate the offering. During the past fiscal year, 184 out of a total of 337 registration statements filed under the Securities Act of 1933 contained a statement of the intention to stabilize to facilitate the offerings covered by such registration statements. Because of the fact that registration statement in some cases covers more than one offering, there were a total of 205 offerings of securities in respect of which the statement required by Rule 827 of the rules and regulations under the Securities Act of 1933 was made to the effect that a stabilizing operation was intended to be undertaken. Stabilizing operations were actually conducted to facilitate 71 of these offerings. In the case of bonds, public offerings of \$588.953.140 principal amount were stabilized. Offerings of stock issues aggregating 5,207,330 shares and having an aggregate estimated public offering price of \$160,143,147 were also stabilized. Fifty-nine of the stabilizing operations commenced during the past fiscal year had been completed and notices of termination of stabilization filed with the Commission prior to June 30, 1940. Twelve such stabilizing operations were still in progress as of the close of the past fiscal year and the Commission was still receiving the reports of detailed transactions required by Rule X-17A-2 in respect of such operations.

REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES ON EXCHANGES

Purpose and Nature of Registration of Securities on Exchanges.

In order to make available currently to investors reliable and comprehensive information regarding the affairs of the issuers of securities listed and registered on a national securities exchange, Sections 12 and 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provide for the filing with the Commission and the exchange of an application for registration, and annual and other periodic reports, containing certain specified information. Such applications and reports must be filed on the forms prescribed by the Commission as appropriate to the particular type of issuer or security involved, which forms are designed to disclose pertinent information concerning the issuer, its capital structure and that of its affiliates, the full terms of its securities, warrants, rights, and options, the control and management of its affairs, the remuneration of its officers and directors, and financial data, including schedules breaking down the more significant accounts reflected therein.

In general, the Act provides that an application for registration shall become effective 30 days after the receipt by the Commission of the exchange's certification of approval thereof, except where the Commission determines it may become effective within a shorter period of time. It is unlawful under the statute for any member, broker, or dealer to effect any transaction in any security (other than an exempted security) on any national securities exchange unless registration is effective as to the security for such exchange.

Examination of Applications and Reports.

All applications and reports filed pursuant to Sections 12 and 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are examined by the Commission to determine whether accurate and adequate disclosure has been made of the information required by the Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. This examination does not involve an appraisal and is not concerned with the merits of the registrant's securities. When the examination discloses that material information has not been furnished in accordance with the requirements, or that generally accepted accounting principles and procedures have not been followed in the preparation and presentation of financial statements, the registrant is so advised by letter, or in conference with its representatives, and any necessary correcting amendments are obtained and examined in the same manner as the originally filed documents. Where the examination discloses omissions which are clearly of an immaterial nature, particularly in connection with periodic reports under Section 13 of the Act, the registrant may merely be notified thereof by means of a letter containing suggestions which should be followed in the preparation and filing of future reports, without insistence upon the filing of an amendment to the particular report in question.

The examination of an application for registration is made as promptly as possible after it is filed in order that any material defi-

ciencies may be brought to the attention of the registrant and the exchange before registration becomes effective in accordance with the provision of the statute. While the basic period available for this purpose is 30 days, it was necessary to complete the examination in considerably less time in approximately 40 percent of all applications filed during the past year, inasmuch as the Commission issued orders accelerating the effective date of registration in these cases.

Since the annual report is required to be filed within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year of the registrant and because of the fact that approximately 78 percent of all registrants have fiscal years corresponding to the calendar year,⁵ there is filed with the Commission a peak load of nearly 1,800 annual reports at or about the end of April each year. Consequently it is necessary to spread the work of examining these annual reports over the ensuing months. Current reports are examined during the month in which they are filed.

That the Commission's examination procedure, together with the policy of publishing the opinions and decisions of the Commission and the opinions of its Chief Accountant, has been of material assistance to registrants and their accountants is evidenced by an improvement, both immediate and cumulative, noted in the presentation of factual information in applications for registration and supplemental periodic reports.

Proceedings under Section 19 (a) (2).

Section 19 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 empowers the Commission, after appropriate notice and opportunity for hearing, to deny, to suspend the effective date of, to suspend for a period of not exceeding 12 months, or to withdraw, the registration of a security, if it finds that the issuer of such security has failed to comply with any provision of the Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. The following table indicates the numbers of issuers involved in proceedings under Section 19 (a) (2) during the past fiscal year:

Disposition of proceedings under Section 19 (a) (2) during the year ended June 30, 1940

	Proceedings	Dispo	sition of proces	edings
Number pending July 1, 1939	instituted July 1, 1939, to June 30, 1940	Dismissed	Registration withdrawn	Number pending June 30, 1940
12	10	8	10	4

⁸ Of 43 changes in fiscal years during the year, 22 were from December to another month, 11 from another month to December, and 10 did not involve December.

The following table indicates, on a cumulative basis, the number of issuers involved in proceedings under Section 19 (a) (2) from July 1, 1935, when permanent registration of securities under the Act first became effective, to the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940:

Cumulative disposition of proceedings under Section 19 (a) (2) from July 1, 1935, to June 30, 1940, inclusive

	Dis	position of proce	edings
Proceedings instituted	Dismissed	Registration withdrawn	Number pend- ing June 30, 1940
44	16	24	4

Revision of Certain Registration Forms under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Form 15, used for the registration of securities of incorporated investment companies on a national securities exchange, and Form 17, used for such registration of securities of unincorporated investment companies, were revised during the past fiscal year. The amendments add an item to the forms proper, requiring certain historical financial information which was previously furnished in a schedule to the financial statements. These amendments were necessary in order that the financial statements required by Forms 15 and 17 should conform with the revised instructions governing the form and content of financial statements contained in the new accounting Regulation S–X.6 Changes of a minor nature were also made in several of the other registration forms.

Statistics of Securities Registered or Temporarily Exempted from Registration on Exchanges.

Up to and including June 30, 1940, 2,898 issuers had filed a total of 5,162 applications for registration of securities under Section 12 of the Act and a total of 19,454 annual and current reports under Section 13 of the Act. As of June 30, 1940, the registration of securities of 2,408 of these issuers was in effect, and the registration of the securities of the remaining 490 issuers had ceased to be effective for a variety of reasons; e. g., withdrawal from registration, etc.

The number of applications, reports and amendments filed with the Commission during the past year relating to the listing and registration

⁶ See p. 170.

of securities on national securities exchanges and to the listing of securities on exempted exchanges are as follows:

Number of applications, reports, and amendments relating to the listing and registration of securities on exchanges—Fiscal year 1940

Applications for registration on basic and supplemental forms_	272
Applications for "when issued" trading	13
Exemption statements for issued warrants	17
Annual and current reports	4, 737
Amendments to applications and annual and current reports.	2,606
Annual reports of issuers having securities listed on exempted	
exchanges	118

Tables 29 to 35 of Appendix V, pages 288 to 291, contain more detailed statistics of securities registered on exchanges.

Withdrawal or Striking of Securities from Listing and Registration on Exchanges.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 12 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, applications involving 66 issues were filed with the Commission during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, for the withdrawal or striking of such issues from listing and registration on national securities exchanges. As of June 30, 1939, applications involving 17 issues were pending. During the past fiscal year, the Commission granted applications involving 54 issues and suspended decision with respect to 1 issue; applications involving 7 issues were withdrawn by the applicants; and those involving the remaining 21 issues were pending as of June 30, 1940.

A considerable proportion of these applications derived from continuation of the policy of the New York Stock Exchange of seeking to remove from listing and registration thereon issues deemed no longer to have adequate public distribution, activity, or market value for trading on that exchange. Applications from that source involving 30 issues were filed during the past year. As of June 30, 1939, applications involving 7 issues were pending. During the fiscal year, the Commission granted applications involving 23 issues; applications involving 2 issues were withdrawn; and those involving the remaining 12 issues were pending on June 30, 1940.

During the past fiscal year, certifications of removal were received from national securities exchanges involving 201 issues stricken from listing and registration because of payment, redemption, or retirement. A number of the new applications for listing and registration on national securities exchanges, filed during the past year, were with respect to issues resulting from refundings and changes in capital structure in connection with these 201 issues.

Applications for the Granting, Extension, and Termination of Unlisted Trading Privileges on Exchanges.

National securities exchanges.—Clause (1) of Section 12 (f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides that the Commission, upon application by a national securities exchange, may continue unlisted trading privileges to which a security had been admitted on such exchange prior to March 1, 1934. On June 30, 1940, unlisted trading privileges under clause (1) continued in 1,505 stock and 321 bond issues. This is a reduction of 1,180 stock and 967 bond issues from the original total continued by the Commission under clause (1). Outstanding causes of this reduction under clause (1) lie in refundings, recapitalizations, mergers, and reorganizations involving substantial changes in characteristics of issues or substitutions or exchanges therefor. Such altered or new securities may be admitted to unlisted trading on an exchange only upon approval by the Commission of applications submitted under clause (2) or clause (3) of Section 12 (f).

Clauses (2) and (3) of Section 12 (f) provide that the Commission, upon application by a national securities exchange, may extend unlisted trading privileges thereon to any security duly listed and registered on another national securities exchange or in respect of which prescribed information is available, provided certain conditions as to public distribution in the vicinity of the exchange and other matters are satisfied. On June 30, 1940, unlisted trading privileges under clauses (2) and (3) existed with respect to 159 stock and 20 bond issues. trading in odd lots only being authorized with respect to 16 of the stock These issues represent the total extension by the Commission of unlisted trading privileges under these two clauses since May 27, 1936, when they became effective upon the amendment of Section 12 (f), except for 5 issues subsequently removed, viz, 1 by redemption, 1 by recapitalization, 1 by transfer from the New York Curb Exchange to the New York Stock Exchange, and 2 by termination of listing and registration on another national securities exchange. A number of these issues are of companies whose issues, or whose predecessors' issues, were admitted to trading upon the applicant exchanges in the In the case of the Boston and Philadelphia Stock Exchanges, substantial majorities of the shares and share values to which unlisted trading privileges have been extended under clause (2) fall in this category.

The following tables summarize the dispsition of applications under clauses (2) and (3) of Section 12 (f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:

TABLE 1.—Disposition, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, of applications filed by national securities exchanges for the extension of unlisted trading privileges to securities pursuant to clause (2) of Section 12 (f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, as amended

					Stocks								Bonds	spı		
Exchange	Pending June 30, 1939	Filed July 1, 1939 to June 30, 1940	Total	Granted odd lots and round lots	Denied	Denied Decision	With- drawn	Round Round lots lots only denied granted	Round Pending June 30, 1 granted Eranted	Pending	Pending June 30, 1939	Filed July 1, 1939 to June 30, 1940	Total	Granted Denied	Denied	Pending June 30, 1940
Boston Stook. Cincinnati Stook Circinnati Stook Dervaland Stook Los Angeles Stook New York Cutt. Philadelphia Stook	ಜಿಎಂಪಂ೦4	00202700	80 78814	3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	8-0-001	000000	нооооо	800000	00000m	000000	000000	000000	000000	000000	000000	0000000
Total	48	ıg	11	51	п	0	-	10	٥	0	٥	0	0	0	0	°
· Odd-lot trading privileges were previously granted to these issues.	ously gre	inted to t	these issu	.591												-
TABLE 2.—Disposition, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, of applications filed by national securities exchanges for the extension of unlisted trading privileges to securities pursuant to clause (3) of Section 12 (f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended	he fisca securit	l year ies pui	ended .	June B to clau	0, 1940 se (3)), of ap of Sect	pplicati ion 12	ons file (f) of	d by n the Sec	ational urities	securi Excha	ties exc nge Acı	hanges t of 19	for th 84, as	extens amende	ion of
					Stocks								. Boi	Bonds		
Exchange	Pending June 30, 1939	Filed July 1, 1939 to June 30, 1940	Total	Granted odd lots and round lots	Denied	Denied Decision reserved	With- drawn	Round lots denied	Round Pending Pending June 30, granted	Pending	Pending June 30, 1939	Filed July 1, 1939 to June 30, 1940	Total	Total Granted Denied	Denied 1	Pending June 30, 1940
New York Curb	0	1	ī	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	F4	00	6	8	0	2

TABLE 3.—Disposition, from May 27, 1936 (date on which Section 12 (f) of the Act was amended) to June 30, 1940, of applications filed by national securities exchanges for the extension of unlisted trading privileges to securities pursuant to clause (2) of Section 12 (f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

				8to	cks					1	Вопо	ls	
Exchange	Number filed	Granted odd lots and round lots	Granted odd lbts only	Dentied	Decision reserved	Withdaswn	Granted round lots only	Pending	Number filed	Gnanted	' Dertied	Withdawn	Pending
Boston Stock Cincinnati Stock Cleveland Stock Detroit Stock Los Angeles Stock New York Curb Philadelphia Stock Pittsburgh Stock San Francisco 4 Curb San Francisco 5 Etock	56 6 18 18 31 3 41 53 7	18 5 18 15 24 3 22 23 5	• 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 8 0	13 1 0 3 4 0 7 21 2	2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2 0 0 0 3 0 5 1	• 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0000000000	0 0 0 0 0 4 0 6 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 4 0 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total	237	133	27	55	2	11	9	0	10	2	6	2	0

Two of these issues were subsequently removed; six were granted round lot trading privileges on July 17, 1939.

Odd lot trading privileges were previously granted to these issues:

'Three of these issues were granted round lot trading privileges on September 7, 1939.

San Francisco Curb Exchange merged with San Francisco Stock Exchange April 30, 1938.

TABLE 4.—Disposition, from May 27, 1936 (date on which Section 12 (f) of the Act was amended) to June 30, 1940, of applications filed by national securities exchange for the extension of unlisted trading privileges to securities pursuant to clause (5 of Section 12 (f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

				St	cks				F		Bond	<u>.</u>	_
Exchange	Number filed	Granted odd lots and round lots	Granted odd lots only	Denled	Decision reserved	Withdawn	Grented round lbts only	Pending.	Number filed	Granted	Denied	Withdrawn	Pending
New York Curb	3	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	37	•21	6	4	6

Three of these issues were subsequently removed.

As indicated by the preceding text and tables, the disposition of applications by national securities exchanges is here accounted for. Since unlisted trading privileges in various issues have been applied for, and granted to, more than one exchange, the figures include substantial duplication of the net number of issues involved. This is particularly true with respect to the stock issues under clause (1). The duplication involved can be measured by comparing the aggregate 1,664 stock and 341 bond trading authorizations under clauses (1), (2), and (3) as of June 30, 1940, with the unduplicated totals of 1.194 stock and 340 bond issues admitted to unlisted trading privileges on national securities exchanges as of that date, which are indicated in table 32 of Appendix V, page 290. These unduplicated totals include 631 stock and 308 bond issues which are admitted to unlisted trading privileges only; the remaining issues are fully listed and registered (or, in a few cases, temporarily exempted from registration) on national securities exchanges other than those having unlisted trading privileges therein.

The national securities exchanges to which unlisted trading privileges have been granted number 15—unchanged for the year.

Exempted exchanges.—During the past fiscal year, the Milwaukee Grain & Stock Exchange discontinued its securities department,⁷ resulting in removal from unlisted trading privileges of 72 stock and 9 bond issues, and reducing from 5 to 4 the number of exempted exchanges permitting unlisted trading in securities.

The Commission granted applications of the Wheeling Stock Exchange for the extension of unlisted trading privileges to 5 stock issues and denied applications involving 2 stock issues.

On June 30, 1940, the Seattle Stock Exchange had pending before the Commission applications to extend unlisted trading privileges to 7 stock and 3 bond issues.

The result of these actions has been a reduction from 157 stock and 12 bond issues admitted to unlisted trading privileges on 5 exempted exchanges as of June 30, 1939, to 90 stock and 3 bond issues admitted to such trading on 4 exempted exchanges as of June 30, 1940.

OVER-THE-COUNTER MARKETS

Registration of National Securities Association.

The program of cooperative regulation of the over-the-counter markets envisioned by the Maloney Amendment to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (now Section 15A of that Act), a program of self-regulation by the industry working through associations registered under the Act and supervised by the Commission, became an actuality during the past fiscal year. The Investment Bankers Conference, Inc., with its charter, by-laws, and rules of fair practice amended to meet the minimum standards set by the statute and with its name changed to National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., filed its application for registration as a national securities association on July 20, 1939. After a public hearing, the Commission granted this application on August 7, 1939. No other association, either national or affiliated, applied for registration during the year ended June 30, 1940.

Membership in National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., which is available to all over-the-counter brokers and dealers, except

⁷ For details, refer to "Exchanges Registered and Exempted from Registration," supra, p. 87.

See Securities Exchange Act Release No. 2211.

those barred by specific types of prior misconduct set forth in the statute, has practically doubled since the date of registration, reaching a total of almost 2,900 individuals, partnerships, and corporations located throughout the United States. Even in cases of previous misconduct, the ineligible broker or dealer may petition the Commission for an order directing his admission to membership in a registered securities association. One such petition was filed with the Commission during the past fiscal year and, after hearing before a trial examiner and argument before the Commission, the petition was denied. In this case the Commission, on the basis of an independent review of the record, found that a controlling partner of the petitioner had been guilty of conduct inconsistent with just and equitable principles of trade, had been expelled by the New York Stock Exchange because of such conduct, and had on prior occasions engaged in additional transactions detrimental to the welfare of an investment trust controlled by the petitioner. Therefore, the Commission determined that it was unable to find it appropriate in the public interest to approve or direct the admission of the petitioner to membership in National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., and denied the application.9

The Commission has kept in close touch with the regulatory and educational work of the association by daily contact and cooperation with the association's executive director and counsel in Washington and by group and individual conferences in many parts of the country with its governors and the members of its various committees. investigations of complaints conducted by local business conduct committees of the association have been followed with especial care. Furthermore, the Commission has transmitted to the association information concerning transactions and business practices of certain members of the association which appeared prima facie to constitute violations of high standards of commercial honor and hence of the association's rules, although such transactions and practices did not necessarily constitute violations of law. Such information was usually obtained by the Commission from routine inspections of registered over-the-counter brokers and dealers. The association has limited its activities for the protection of investors to investigations of specific complaints and does not undertake such routine examinations or surprise audits as are sometimes made by national securities exchanges of their members. For this reason, the inspection work of the Commission cannot be said to have been decreased by the association's activities.

On the other hand, the association has in several instances been of material assistance both to its members and to the Commission by adjusting, through prompt informal actions, situations which might

In The Matter of J. A. Sisto & Co., Securities Exchange Act Release No. 2568.

otherwise have led to administrative or legal proceedings by the Commission. The association has also done much valuable work in explaining and "bringing home" to its members the significance of the Commission's various rules and regulations, designed for the protection of investors, under which the over-the-counter market functions. A notable instance of this educational activity appeared in connection with the rules and regulations requiring brokers and dealers to maintain and preserve specified memoranda and bookkeeping records respecting each transaction. These rules and regulations, which were the only new ones affecting the over-the-counter market to be adopted during the past fiscal year, were made the subject of a detailed analysis and explanation prepared by the association and sent to all of its members.

Supervision of Over-the-Counter Brokers and Dealers.

During the past fiscal year, the Commission continued its supervision of over-the-counter brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and expanded its program of inspection of such brokers and dealers which had been undertaken on an experimental basis as early as 1937. These inspections serve the twofold purpose of (1) ascertaining whether there is compliance with the requirements of the statutes administered by the Commission and the rules and regulations thereunder and (2) aiding brokers and dealers to a more complete understanding of the legal requirements imposed upon them. In those cases where, as a result of an inspection or other investigation, serious violations of law were discovered, the Commission employed its power to deny or revoke registration or obtained a decree of court enjoining further violation. Some of the more serious of these violations may be mentioned briefly.

One of the most serious over-the-counter problems that has received the attention of the Commission has been the practice on the part of certain dealers of selling a security to a customer at a price bearing no reasonable relation to the price at which the customer otherwise could have obtained the security, and under such circumstances that the customer, in reliance on the established custom of dealers in the securities business to effect transactions at fair prices, reasonably believes that the dealer is effecting the transaction at a price that is fair. In a series of cases, the Commission has construed Section 17 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 15 (c) (1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as prohibiting dealers from exploiting customers by means of security transactions effected at a price bearing no reasonable relation to the prevailing price. Matter of Duker & Duker, the firm induced customers to turn over to it securities which were to be sold and the proceeds invested in other securities. Thereafter, the firm, without disclosing that it was acting as a principal, sold other securities to the customers' accounts at prices far above the prevailing prices at which the firm had acquired such securities. The profits thus realized by the firm in such transactions ran as high as 56 percent. In holding that this practice constituted a violation of both Section 17 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 15 (c) (1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the broker-dealer registration of Duker & Duker should be revoked, the Commission, in its opinion, said:

"Inherent in the relationship between a dealer and his customer is the vital representation that the customer will be dealt with fairly, and in accordance with the standards of the profession. It is neither fair dealing, nor in accordance with such standards, to exploit trust and ignorance for profits far higher than might be realized from an informed customer. It is fraud to exact such profits through the purchase or sale of securities while the representation on which the relationship is based is knowingly false. This fraud is avoided only by charging a price which bears a reasonable relation to the prevailing price or disclosing such information as will permit the customer to make an informed judgment upon whether or not he will complete the transaction * * * This opinion is not, of course, to be taken as a condemnation of all profits realized by dealers. Our decision is merely that a dealer may not exploit the ignorance of his customers to exact unreasonable profits resulting from a price which bears no reasonable relation to the prevailing price."

In In the Matter of Jansen and Company, the Commission denied an application as a broker and dealer where the applicant was found to have engaged in the same practices as were condemned in the Duker case, with the added circumstance that the applicant had assured its customers that it would sell securities to them at the cost to the applicant plus a small commission.

Another type of fradulent conduct is the obtaining by a broker of a secret profit by misrepresenting to the customer the price at which the order of the customer has been executed. In some instances, a broker has obtained a secret profit by representing to a customer that his order was executed at a certain price, when in fact the broker executed the order at a different price. Such conduct violates the obligation an agent owes to his principal. In In the Matter of Commonwealth Stock & Bond Co., the Commission revoked the brokerdealer registration of a firm which had induced elderly persons, whose savings were invested in securities, to execute orders authorizing the firm to sell, for their accounts, their security holdings and to use the proceeds to purchase at the market other securities recommended by the firm, where the firm, knowing that its customers were ignorant of the market value of the securities recommended for purchase, callously abused the trust reposed in it by delivering to its customers securities having a market value substantially less than that of the securities turned over by the customers and retaining for itself an unconscionable and secret profit. In holding that this conduct constituted a violation of Section 17 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933

and Section 15 (c) (1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Commission said:

"The registrant was entitled to be paid the customary commissions in transactions such as that described, but it is gross fraud and over-reaching to exploit the ignorance of a trusting customer to retain secret profits which, in fact, represent funds belonging to the customer."

Instances have also been found of brokers and dealers operating with impaired capital or operating while actually insolvent. practice commonly known as "bucketing" was also discovered in a In all such cases, the Commission has taken number of instances. appropriate action.

In cooperation with a special committee of the National Association of State Securities Commissioners, the Commission has been working toward the development of a standardized form for the registration of brokers and dealers in the various States, which, if adopted by the different State regulatory authorities, would substantially simplify the problems of registration of over-the-counter brokers and dealers doing business in more than one State.

The following statistics relate to the registration of brokers and dealers pursuant to Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Table 1.—Registration of brokers and dealers under Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Cumulative from May 28, 1935 a

		Cum	ılative	
	June 3	0, 1939	June 30), 1940
Applications: Filed Withdrawn	10, 665	371	11, 543	386
Registrations: Effective. Denied.		6, 796 25		6, 555 25
Suspended Revoked Withdrawn		9 51 3, 126		17 67 4, 062
Cancelled Inactive pplications and suspended registrations cancelled by opera-		195		318 47
tion of amendment to Section 15 (May 27, 1936)	10, 665	17 75 10, 665	11, 543	11.54

<sup>The registration program was inaugurated in May 1935, and the first applications were received on May 28, 1935. The cumulative record therefore dates from May 28, 1935.
As of the end of the fiscal year, the registrations of 47 brokers and dealers, whose whereabouts, despite careful inquiry, could not be ascertained, had been placed on inactive status.
When the amendment to Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 became effective (May 27, 1936) brokers and dealers whose applications were pending on that date and registrants whose registrations were under suspension were afforded opportunity to bring their applications under the amended Act. The figure shown here includes 13 applications and 4 suspended registrations which were cancelled by operation of the amendment because of the failure of such applicants and registrants to request that their applications be considered as applications filed under the amended Act.</sup>

TABLE 2.—Registration of brokers and dealers under Section 15 (b)—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

	June 30, 1939	June 30, 1940
Effective registrations at close of preceding fiscal year		6, 79
Applications pending at close of preceding fiscal year	77 1, 135	77 878
Total	8,021	7,74
Applications withdrawn during year	25 (a) 965	1
Registrations withdrawn during year Registrations ennoelled during year Registrations denied during year	131	93 12
Registrations suspended during year Registrations revoked during year	6	1
Registrations inactive at end of year		(b) 4 6, 55
Applications pending at end of year.	75	4
Total	8, 021	7, 74

Actually 963 withdrawals during year plus 1 withdrawal in 1937 and 1 withdrawal in 1938 not heretofore reflected.

• See footnote (b) at bottom of Table 1.

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES, CONSENTS, AND AUTHORIZATIONS

Pursuant to Section 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Commission has adopted rules and regulations governing the solicitation of proxies, consents, and authorizations from the holders of securities listed and registered on national securities exchanges. It is well known that the only way in which the stockholders of a large corporation can participate in the management of their company's affairs is through the use of proxies. Where the stockholders are uninformed concerning the matters upon which the proxies are to be voted and where the proxy machinery is available only to the existing management, it is impossible for the average stockholder to protect his investment through intelligent participation in the determination of corporate policies. Accordingly, the general purposè of the proxy rules is to insure that security holders who are requested to authorize or consent to proposed corporate action are furnished with sufficient information to enable them to exercise an intelligent judgment on the matters involved, as well as an opportunity to indicate their approval or disapproval of such matters.

The fundamental requirement of the proxy rules is that corporate managements and others who solicit proxies, consents, or authorizations from security holders shall furnish to the security holders a proxy statement containing prescribed information as to each matter on which the proxies are to be voted. Furthermore, with certain exceptions, the persons soliciting such proxies, consents, or authorizations must give stockholders an opportunity to specify whether their proxies shall be voted for or against each proposal submitted. Commission believes that the information now required to be disclosed in the proxy statement with respect to such vital matters as the election of directors, voluntary reorganizations, and mergers is

the minimum which must be furnished to stockholders to enable them to act intelligently with respect to their investments.

The rules also require that managements give to minority stock-holders an opportunity to present new proposals to their fellow stock-holders. For example, a stockholder who desires to secure corporate action on a suggestion of his own can be assured that in most cases his proposal will be submitted to the other stockholders of the corporation if he gives timely notice to the management of his intention to present the matter at the annual meeting. Thereafter, if the management solicits proxies, it must include in its own proxy material a description of the proposal and must give the stockholders an opportunity to state whether their proxies shall be voted for or against the proposal. In cases where independent solicitation is deemed desirable, however, the proxy rules provide that a management soliciting proxies must cooperate in mailing soliciting literature of minority groups. The Commission believes that, to date, these provisions have operated as a desirable extension of corporate democracy.

The manner in which the proxy rules operate to assist security holders in protecting their own interests may be illustrated from actual cases. In one case, the management of a corporation solicited proxies which would authorize the issuance of a new preferred stock. The proxy statement contained no information as to the underwriter of the issue. An investigation revealed that plans were virtually completed for the sale of the entire issue of the stock through the private investment firm of the company's president and that a substantial underwriting fee was to be paid to this firm. The Commission held that this information should be included in the proxy statement so as to be available to stockholders in deciding whether or not to authorize the new issue of preferred stock. As a result, the management postponed the scheduled stockholders' meeting and agreed not to use the proxies already obtained until they should be expressly confirmed by the stockholders upon the basis of complete information concerning the proposed underwriting arrange-Subsequently, the management solicited proxies, but did not request authorization to issue new stock.

In another case, the management of a corporation solicited proxies to be used for the election of directors, the approval of the formation of a new company, the disposition of certain properties, the granting of options to purchase stock of the new company to persons to be named by the board of directors in their discretion, the purchase of certain timber lands, and other matters. Except with respect to the election of directors, the proxy statement was completely devoid of such information concerning these proposals as would enable the stockholders to decide intelligently whether to give or withhold the requested proxies. When the Commission pointed out the deficiencies

in the proxy statement, the management agreed that the proxies which had been obtained would be used only to elect directors and that the other matters would not be acted upon until the stockholders had given new proxies based upon a supplemental proxy statement containing the required information.

The cases referred to above illustrate that under the proxy rules the Commission's role is to insure the disclosure to stockholders of the indispensable information. Other cases may be cited to show that stockholders who have been provided with such information are thereby aided in protecting their interests. Thus, the directors of a company which had been unable to meet the dividends on its \$7 preferred stock and which had accumulated dividend arrearages in excess of \$13,000,000, proposed to create a \$4.50 cumulative preferred stock that would be offered to the existing preferred stockholders in exchange for their present holdings. The proposal also included the surrender of accumulated dividends on the preferred stock. The common stockholders, with whom the management's interest largely rested, were not to be called upon to give up any of their rights. When the management solicited proxies in compliance with the Commission's proxy rules, the stockholders' responses were so unfavorable to the plan that the management cancelled the scheduled special meeting of stockholders and withdrew the proposal. Subsequently, when the management solicited proxies for a revised plan which would compensate the preferred stockholders for their sacrifices by giving them debentures and common stock, the revised plan was approved by the stockholders.

Effective February 15, 1940, the proxy rules were amended to require that material to be used in connection with the solicitation of proxies be filed with the Commission for inspection at least ten days before the beginning of the solicitation. Formerly, the rules had only required that the material be filed by the date of the first solicitation. Prior to the amendment, many corporations were seriously embarrassed by the necessity of sending out supplemental material to correct deficiencies which could readily have been pointed out in advance by the Commission's staff. The present requirement of filing proxy material in advance of solicitation has virtually eliminated this possibility of embarrassment. In particular cases, the ten-day waiting period may be shortened by the Commission upon a showing of unusual circumstances.

The solicitation of proxies from security holders of registered public utility holding companies and their subsidiaries (other than solicitations relating to reorganizations) is governed by the rules which the Commission has adopted pursuant to Section 12 (e) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. These rules, in effect, subject such solicitations to the proxy rules discussed in the preceding paragraphs.

During the past fiscal year, 1,626 separate pieces of proxy soliciting material and 431 pieces of supplemental material were examined. Moreover, pursuant to the Commission's policy of furnishing every assistance to persons who desire to obtain informal opinions or suggestions in advance of the filing date, considerable time was devoted to hundreds of conferences with representatives of corporations who were preparing proxy soliciting material in compliance with the proxy rules. These conferences were, of course, in addition to the regular examination which is made of all proxy soliciting material filed with the Commission.

Part IV

ADMINISTRATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

The Securities Act of 1933 is designed to compel full and fair disclosure to investors of material facts regarding securities publicly offered and sold in interstate commerce or through the mails. Its provisions are also designed to prevent fraud in the sale of securities. Issuers of securities to be publicly offered and sold in interstate commerce are required to file registration statements with the Commission. These registration statements are required to contain specified information on the proposed offering, and are available for public inspection.

REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 General Scope of Act.

The Securities Act of 1933 provides for full and fair disclosure of the material facts concerning securities to be offered to the public in interstate commerce or through the mails, but does not confer upon the Commission the power to approve or pass upon the merits of any security. In the latter connection it should be emphasized that neither the fact that a registration statement for a security has been filed or is in effect, nor the fact that a stop order is not in effect with respect to that particular statement, is to be deemed a finding by the Commission that the registration statement is true and accurate on its face, or that it does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact, or a material omission, or be held to mean that the Commission has in any way passed upon the merits of, or given its approval to, the security. In fact the statute specifically prohibits any representation to that effect to a prospective purchaser. However, since the registration statement constitutes a record of the representations made in connection with the offering, such registration statement serves, where any such representations are false, to simplify the problem of proof in any legal proceedings which may result.

Registration Statement.

To register securities under the Securities Act of 1933, the Act provides for the filing with the Commission, on an appropriate form, of a registration statement meeting the requirements specified in that Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder and the elapse of a certain specified period of time after such filing. Registration forms have been prescribed by the Commission to meet the requirements peculiar to various types of securities. In each case, the form is designed to secure a fair disclosure of the

material facts concerning the security proposed to be offered, in order that the investor may intelligently appraise its desirability as an investment. An integral part of the requirements of each registration statement is a prospectus setting forth in condensed or summarized form the more essential information contained in the registration statement proper. The Act provides that no offering of the security or delivery of it after sale may be made in interstate commerce or through the mails unless accompanied or preceded by such a prospectus.

The registration statement becomes effective on the 20th day after its filing with the Commission, except in certain cases specified in the Act. Thus the investor is given a 20-day period in which to consider facts concerning the proposed security issue, and simultaneously the Commission is given a reasonable time within which to make an examination of the registration statement for omissions, incomplete disclosures, and inaccuracies. In connection with this 20-day period, the Commission adopted, effective on July 20, 1939, a revision of Rule 930 (b) of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Act of 1933, providing that such "twentieth day" shall begin immediately upon the close of business at the Commission at 4:30 p. m., Eastern Standard Time, after 19 days from the date of filing have elapsed, counting weekdays, Saturdays, Sundays, and other holidays alike.

Where an amendment to a registration statement is filed prior to the effective date of the registration statement, such amendment has the effect of establishing a new filing date and starting a new 20-day period running, although the Commission is given the power to relate the filing of the amendment back to the original filing date when such action is not detrimental to the public interest. An amendment filed after the effective date of the registration statement becomes effective on such date as the Commission may determine, with due regard to the public interest and the protection of the investor.

Examination Procedure.

Where the Commission's examination and analysis of the registration statement discloses any omission or incomplete statement of material facts, or inaccuracy, it is the practice to send the registrant a so-called deficiency letter pointing out the weaknesses apparent in the statement. In such cases, the letter or memorandum specifying these deficiencies usually is sent to the registrant within approximately 10 days after the original filing date of the registration statement, which affords the registrant an opportunity to correct the statement by amendment before the indicated effective date and before the securities

[!] On August 22, 1940, Section 8 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, was amended (Public, No. 768, 76th Congress—Title III) to confer upon the Commission discretionary authority to accelerate the effective date of registration statements filed under the provisions of the Securities Act of 1933. On August 23, 1940, the Commission announced its general policy under this discretionary authority (Securities Act of 1933 Release No. 2340).

are offered for sale. In many cases, conferences are held with the registrant or its attorney. This informal procedure frequently reveals to the registrant what appear to be material misrepresentations or omissions in the data set forth in the registration statement and enables it to amend the data in these respects. Clearly the effect of this procedure constitutes not only fair treatment of the registrant, but also serves the main purpose of the Act, which is to insure that investors have the opportunity of exercising intelligent judgment based upon an adequate and accurate disclosure of the facts concerning the enterprise. In addition, it eliminates the alternative of allowing a defective statement to become effective and then either having the security sold upon such misrepresentations or instituting stop order proceedings to suspend the effectiveness of the registration statement.

The basic procedure outlined with respect to the examination of registration statements is also followed in the examination and analysis of amendments thereto, supplemental prospectus material, and annual reports filed by registrants subject to the Securities Act of 1933 under the conditions specified in Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

There may be instances where the registration statement is found upon examination to include untrue statements or omissions of material facts apparently in reckless or intentional disregard of the requirements of the statute. Under such circumstances, the Commission is empowered by Section 8 of the Act to institute stop order proceedings to suspend the effectiveness of the registration statement. The Commission is also empowered by Section 8 to make an examination in any case to determine whether such proceedings should be instituted. This section further grants the Commission power to issue an order prior to the effective date, refusing to permit a registration statement to become effective, if after notice and opportunity for hearing it finds that the statement is on its face incomplete or inaccurate in any material respect.

Disclosures Resulting from Examination.

In order to give some indication of the result of the Commission's examination procedure in securing fair disclosure of material information required in registration statements, a few cases are briefly summarized below:

(1) Payment of \$1,835,181 dividends made by investment trust out of capital.—A registrant which operated an investment trust was required, by the terms of its trust agreement, to distribute its total interest and dividend income. In addition, net profits, if any, arising from the sale of portfolio securities during the year were also distributed to holders of participation certificates in order that the trust could qualify as a mutual investment company under the Federal income tax laws. Provisions for taxes and other recurring expenses

of the trust, together with net losses, if any, accruing in any year through the sale of portfolio securities, were charged to the capital account. The Commission objected to this accounting procedure for the reason that it failed to disclose clearly the aggregate amount by which the principal or capital contributed by investors had been impaired as a consequence of expenses and losses which had been incurred by the trust on the sale of portfolio securities. As a result the financial statements were completely revised to reflect the application of proper accounting principles, which resulted in showing a deficit, as of March 31, 1939, in the aggregate amount of \$1,835,181, representing the amount by which distributions, expenses, and net loss on securities sold exceeded income.

- (2) New aircraft company proposed to dilute stockholders' equity for benefit of promoters, and to place control in underwriters.—A newly organized aircraft company proposed to offer well over \$2,000,000 of securities to the public, representing practically the entire cash investment in the enterprise. The nature of certain terms of the offering. vital to investors, was not clearly disclosed in the prospectus to be distributed to prospective investors in connection with the public offering. To illustrate the character of the terms in question, the promoters were to receive a substantial block of securities of the company for alleged services; in addition, despite the fact that the investors were asked to put up all the cash involved, the equity of the purchasers of these securities would have been subjected to almost unlimited dilution through the issuance of warrants to underwriters and promoters, the proposed further issuance of stock at a later date to promoters for services to be rendered, and the denial of preemptive rights to the potential stockholders; and the underwriters were to control a majority of the board of directors. When the company was informed that the prospectus must make full and fair disclosure of these aspects of the offering, it substantially revised the terms thereof. Specifically, the company thereupon reduced the proportion of promotional stock to be represented in its capital structure, reduced the amount of warrants to be issued to underwriters, and eliminated the indicated underwriter control.
- (3) Bus company carried at \$1,277,363.02 franchise of predecessor street railway although abandoned—Valuation reduced to \$1.00.—In the examination of the registration statement filed by a registrant operating a bus transportation system in a large city, it was noted that the total assets of \$2,315,769.80 reflected in the current balance sheet included an intangible asset item of "Franchise and organization expense" valued at \$1,277,363.02. It was discovered that this item represented largely capitalized cost of an abandoned street railway system which was supplanted by the bus system. The Commission considered it misleading under the circumstances to reflect the book

value of the railway properties abandoned as an asset. Stop order proceedings were instituted. Subsequently the registrant filed amendments to the financial data reducing the item in question to a nominal figure of \$1 and showing a corresponding increase in the deficit account.

- (4) Mining claims overvalued \$1,820,272.07—Intangibles not segregated.—The gross valuation of mineral claims appearing in the balance sheet of a registrant engaged in gold mining and exploratory development was shown as \$2,270,232.07. The Commission's examination of the registration statement developed information showing that this amount represented an arbitrary value placed upon the claims by former directors, and that the stock consideration included in this figure had been given for personal services, water rights, surface rights, and development expense. As a result of the Commission's inquiry into the facts of this situation, the registrant filed an amended balance sheet in which the valuation of mineral claims was reduced \$1,820,-272.07. The fact that stock had been issued at a discount of \$1,650,000 was disclosed on the amended balance sheet. The aggregate value of development costs, financing services, surface rights, and water rights was recorded at \$170,272.07. The amounts of reserves for depreciation, depletion or amortization applicable to each of these items were shown separately in the amended balance sheet, with a statement of the bases upon which these items and the mineral claims were being amortized, depleted, or written off.
- (5) Hazards surrounding marketability of proposed mining products not set forth.—A mining company with property located in southeastern Canada filed a registration statement covering an offering of securities from which the company expected to secure net proceeds of \$600,000. This amount was to be used in developing the mining properties and, if warranted by these developmental operations, in constructing a mill for the treatment of the ores mined, the potential products being a zinc concentrate and a copper-lead concentrate. However, the omission from the registration statement of information concerning the existing or potential markets for these ultimate products and certain other pertinent information appeared to make the statement misleading in a material respect, and the Commission accordingly instituted stop order proceedings. Following the taking of testimony, the registrant amended the registration statement to include the following information therein:

"It must be pointed out that the registrant has not investigated the marketing possibilities of its potential products; however, there is no market in Eastern Canada for the potential products of the registrant's mining properties, viz., zinc concentrate and lead-copper concentrate, nor are there any facilities for treating these products in existence or in the course of construction; that the producers of such metals located in the same general area in which registrant's property is situated have found it necessary to ship products to Great Britain, France or Belgium where the prices are materially lower than on the market in the United

States; that the existence of an available commercial market for the potential products of this mine in the United States is open to serious doubt and the registrant has not ascertained whether it will be able to dispose of said products at a profit in the United States and, further, if such products are shipped to the United States for sale same will be subject to a tariff of four cents per lb. on copper, 1.2 cents per lb. on zinc and 1½ cents per lb. on lead."

(6) Gas utility's depletion reserve understated by \$300,000.—The examination of the financial statements of a natural gas public utility company filed with its registration statement revealed that the policy of determining depletion reserve with respect to its investment in natural gas production, land, and leases apparently had no relation to the carrying value of such assets or to the estimated recoverable gas reserves.

The Commission raised the question of whether the depletion policy would provide a reserve sufficient to recover the carrying value of these assets. As a result of the Commission's inquiry, the registrant changed its depletion policy so that the reserve which would be created thereby would be sufficient to retire these properties at the end of their estimated productive life. The registrant also filed an amended balance sheet increasing the depletion reserve by more than \$300,000 and reducing earned surplus by a corresponding amount.

(7) Oil company revises balance sheet, reducing assets from \$400,000 to \$50,000.—The registration statement as originally filed by an oil company gave every indication that the par value of the promotional stock of the company had been arbitrarily charged to an asset account entitled "Leases and Options." The Commission made inquiry of the registrant concerning the accuracy or the carrying value of the asset Subsequent to such inquiry the promotors returned to the company for cancelation \$225,000 aggregate par value of this promotional stock. The examination by the Commission was also instrumental in the elimination from the balance sheet of an unsubstantiated write-up of \$97,665 which was reflected in the so-called fixed asset accounts. Thus, while the original balance sheet dated September 30, 1939, included Leases and Options (appearing under "Fixed Assets") valued at \$353,225.30, total assets amounting to \$399,309.32, Issued Capital Stock of \$274,690, Unrealized Appreciation (as described above) to the extent of \$97,665 and Deficit of \$9,481.80, the amended balance sheet dated December 31, 1939, listed Total Assets of \$49,213.79, Capital Stock of \$73,380 and Deficit of \$36,455.30.

Usual Length of Time Required to Obtain Effective Registration Statement.

The Commission makes every effort consistent with its powers and duties under the statute to give registrants the opportunity to secure effectiveness of registration statements with the least possible difficulty and delay. Obviously, where amendments to the registration statement are filed shortly prior to the 20th day after original

filing, the time elapsing between the original filing and effective dates may extend beyond the basic 20-day period. However, the result of an analysis recently made on the basis of a representative sample of registration statements (excluding those involved in refusal order or stop order proceedings under Section 8) indicates that while there was an average elapsed time of 29 days from original filing to effectiveness for statements which became effective during the calendar year 1937, the corresponding elapsed time in 1939 was 21 days. Often the registrant not desiring the statement to become effective on the 20th day after filing, voluntarily and deliberately delays, for various reasons, the effective date by the filing of a simple amendment before the statement becomes effective.

New Forms and Rules Adopted under the Securities Act.

In connection with its administration of the Securities Act of 1933, the Commission adopted during the year a form designated as Form S-10, to be used for the registration of all types of oil or gas interests. This new form replaces both Form G-1 and Form G-2 heretofore used for the registration of producing and nonproducing oil and gas royalty interests, respectively. Form S-10 is designed to secure a clearer presentation of material information required under the Act, and to afford an appropriate medium for registration of certain types of oil and gas interests for which no special form had previously been available.

In conjunction with the rules and regulations promulgated under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, discussed elsewhere in this report, it was necessary for the Commission to adopt a form supplementing the various registration statement forms under the Securities Act of 1933. The form adopted was designated as Supplement S-T. This supplement, which must be included in registration statements relating to securities to be issued under an indenture to be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, requires certain additional information not called for by previously existing registration statement forms.

During the year the Commission also adopted Rule 890 which permits the inclusion of disclosures with respect to the stabilization of security prices in certain types of short-form notices of security offerings. Certain other changes in existing rules and regulations under the Securities Act of 1933, largely of a clarifying nature, were also made.

Statistics of Securities Registered under Securities Act of 1933.

At the beginning of the fiscal year, there were 4,115 registration statements on file, of which 3,249 were effective, 159 were under stop or refusal order, and 647 had been withdrawn, while 60 were under examination or held pending the receipt of amendments.

During the period July 1, 1939, to June 30, 1940, inclusive, 338

registration statements were filed, and there were 323 registration statements which became effective during the period; a total of 3,529 statements were effective at the end of the period, 43 of those effective at the beginning of the period or during the period having been either withdrawn or placed under stop order.

The net number of registration statements withdrawn increased by 57 to a total of 704 on June 30, 1940. The net number of stop or refusal orders increased during the period by 13, a total of 172 of such orders being in effect on June 30, 1940. As of June 30, 1940, there were 48 registration statements in the process of examination or awaiting amendments.

The following table indicates the disposition of registration statements filed under the Securities Act of 1933:

	To June 30, 1939	July 1, 1939, to June 30, 1940	Total
Statements filed_ Statements effective	4, 115 3, 249 647 159	* 338 280 57 13	4, 453 3, 529 704 172
year	60	48	48

Disposition of registration statements

drawn or placed under stop order.

Appendix III on page 235 identifies by name the registrant and indicates the aggregate dollar amount of the proposed offering involved in the case of each registration statement as to which stop orders, refusal orders, and withdrawal orders were issued during the year.

A total of 1,027 amendments ² to registration statements were also filed during the past fiscal year requiring examination by the Commission, compared with a corresponding total of 1,275 during the preceding year.

There were also filed during the year a total of 252 annual reports and 69 amendments thereto by certain registrants pursuant to Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requiring examination. These figures compare with figures for the previous fiscal year of 172 reports and 66 amendments to reports.

In addition, the following figures show the volume of certain supplemental prospectus material filed during the past fiscal year under the Securities Act of 1933:

(1) 309 prospectuses were filed pursuant to Rule 800 (b) which requires the filing of such information within 5 days

<sup>Does not include 9 registration statements refiled during the year by registrants who had withdrawn statements previously filed:
Does not include 43 statements effective at the beginning or during the period which were either with-</sup>

^a These amendments include 770 classed as "pre-effective" and 257 as "post-effective," and do not take into account 367 others of a purely formal nature classed as "delaying" amendments.

after the commencement of the public offering;

- (2) 280 sets of supplemental prospectus material were filed by registrants to show material changes occurring after the commencement of the offering; and
- (3) 323 sets of so-called 13-month prospectuses were filed pursuant to Section 10 (b) (1) of the Act.

Thus during the past fiscal year there were filed in the aggregate 912 additional prospectuses of these 3 classes.

At the same time, 274 supplementary statements of actual offering price were filed as required by Rule 970; and there were 34 instances where registrants voluntarily filed supplemental financial data.

Securities effectively registered.—During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 amounted to \$1,787,000,000. This compared with a total of \$2,579,000,000 for the preceding fiscal year and \$2,105,000,000 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1938.³

Of the total of \$1,787,000,000 of securities effectively registered during the past fiscal year, \$1,433,000,000 was proposed for sale by issuers. Electric, gas, and water utility companies accounted for \$639,000,000, or 44.6 percent of the total amount proposed for sale by issuers. Manufacturing companies ranked second in importance with \$475,000,000, or 33.2 percent of the total. Financial and investment companies with \$150,000,000, or 10.5 percent of the total, were next in importance. These three major industry groups, therefore, represented all but about 11.7 percent of the total.

Fixed interest-bearing securities predominated with an aggregate amount of \$1,113,000,000, or 77.6 percent of the total proposed for sale by issuers. This amount included \$684,000,000 of secured bonds, or 47.7 percent of the total, and \$429,000,000 of unsecured bonds, or 29.9 percent of the total. Common stock aggregated \$161,000,000, or 11.3 percent of the total, followed by preferred stock with \$110,000,000, or 7.7 percent, and certificates of participation with \$49,000,000, or 3.4 percent. All equity financing combined amounted to less than one-fourth of total registrations.

A detailed breakdown of registration statistics for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, indicates that 306 statements covering 443 issues became effective in the amount of \$1,787,000,000. Included in this total was \$40,000,000 of substitute securities such as voting trust certificates and certificates of deposit. Securities registered for the account of others equaled \$60,000,000. There remained, therefore, \$1,687,000,000 of securities other than substitute securities registered for the account of issuers. Of this total, however, \$254,000,000 represented securities not proposed for sale by issuers. Among

³ The amount of effective registrations includes reorganization and exchange securities which were shown separately in previous annual reports.

the larger of such items were \$175,000,000 of securities to be issued in exchange for other securities, \$51,000,000 of securities reserved for conversion, \$24,000,000 of securities reserved for other subsequent issuance, and \$2,000,000 for securities reserved for exercise of options. The remaining amount of \$2,000,000 consisted of securities to be issued against claims, for other assets, and as compensation for issuing and distributing services.

After these various deduction items there remained \$1,433,000,000 of securities proposed for sale by issuers. Compensation to be paid underwriters and agents equaled \$43,000,000, or 3.0 percent of the total proposed for sale by issuers. Expenses were \$9,000,000, or 0.6 percent of the total. Cost of flotation, therefore, was equivalent to 3.6 percent of the total.

Estimated net proceeds accruing after all issuing and distributing expenses aggregated \$1,381,000,000. The bulk of these proceeds was to be applied for repayment of indebtedness and retirement of preferred stock. The amount to be used for repayment of indebtedness was \$1,012,000,000, or 73.3 percent of the total, and for retirement of preferred stock \$57,000,000, or 4.1 percent. New money purposes accounted for \$163,000,000, or 11.8 percent of the total, including \$64,000,000, or 4.6 percent, for plant and equipment; \$90,000,000, or 6.5 percent, for working capital; and \$9,000,000, or 0.7 percent, for all remaining new money purposes. The amount to be used for purchase of securities was \$115,000,000, or 8.3 percent of the total. This included \$113,000,000, or 8.2 percent of net proceeds, to be used for the purchase of securities for investment.

Securities to be offered through underwriters amounted to \$1,212,-000,000, or 84.5 percent of the total proposed for sale by issuers. This compared with \$167,000,000, or 11.7 percent, to be offered through agents and \$54,000,000, or 3.8 percent, to be offered directly by issuers. Securities to be offered to the general public aggregated \$1,312,000,000, or 91.5 percent of the total, as compared with \$82,-000,000, or 5.7 percent, to be offered to security holders and \$39,-000,000, or 2.8 percent, to be offered to all others.

Detailed statistics showing break-downs by types of securities, industry classification of issuers, purpose of registration, proposed use of net proceeds, and proposed methods of selling, covering securities registered under the Securities Act of 1933 during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, are presented in tables 1 to 7 of Appendix V, pages 244 to 264. In interpreting the tables, as well as the summary figures quoted above, it should be kept in mind that these statistics are based solely on the registration statements filed by the registrants with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Therefore, all the data refer to the registrants' intentions and estimates as they appear

in the registration statements on the effective dates and, thus, in reality represent statistics of intentions to sell securities rather than statistics of actual sales of securities.⁴

Security offerings.—Securities registered under the Securities Act of 1933 constitute only part of all new issues offered for cash. Furthermore, the statistics of new offerings include only actual offerings, whereas the statistics of registrations reflect registrants' intentions to sell securities. Comprehensive statistics of new cash offerings of securities for the period July 1, 1934, through June 30, 1940, are presented in tables 8 and 9 of Appendix V, pages 265 and 266. The tables show the estimated gross proceeds of issues offered for sale, classified by type of offering, type of security, and type of issuer.

In general, the data cover such issues over \$100,000 in amount, and (for debt issues) of a maturity of one year or over at date of issuance as were reported as offered for cash in the financial press, in documents filed with the Commission, or in other available sources. The statistics include offerings irrespective of whether the issues were publicly or privately placed and regardless of whether they were registered under the Securities Act of 1933. The statistics of new offerings thus embrace certain corporate and non-corporate issuing groups exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, by virtue either of the nature of the transaction or issuer, and include securities of common carriers, most issues placed privately, and Federal, State, and local governmental issues.

New issues of securities offered for cash during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, amounted to \$5,486,000,000, compared to \$6,779,000,000 during the preceding year. Of the total issues floated during the past fiscal year, \$2,320,000,000 was issued by corporations, \$2,164,000,000 by the United States Government and Agencies, \$952,000,000 by States and municipalities, \$28,000,000 by foreign governments (sold in this country), and \$22,000,000 by eleemosynary institutions. The principal instrument of flotation was the fixed interest-bearing security, 96 percent of the total new issues (corporate and non-corporate) having the form of bonds, notes, and debentures.

Of the corporate securities offered, public utility companies were the largest issuers, comprising 47 percent of the total, while industrial issues accounted for 28 percent, and rail and other issues accounted for 25 percent. Corporate securities privately placed totaled \$757,000,000, or 33 percent of all corporate offerings, as compared with \$788,000,000, or 32 percent of all corporate issues, during the preced-

⁴ The difference between the amount of securities registered and the amount of registered securities actually sold may be assumed to be largest—apart from registrations by investment trusts and investment companies with continuous sale—for the issues of small and unseasoned corporations. Special inquiries of the Commission show that for issues of this type actual sales have averaged less than one-fourth of the amounts registered. (See "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 19.)

⁶ Only agency i ssues guaranteed by the Government.

ing fiscal year. Corporate private placements consisted of \$406,000,000 public utility issues, \$101,000,000 industrial securities, and \$250,000,000 railroad and other flotations.

Underwriting participations.—During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, a revised series of statistics of underwriting participations was instituted on a quarterly and annual basis. Participations in underwritten registered issues were shown separately for the 50 largest New York City firms and for the 50 largest firms outside of New York City. The amount of issues managed was shown separately for the 20 leading firms in and outside of New York City. These statistics permit a determination of the distribution of the security underwriting business covering registered issues among the various investment banking firms.⁶

Cost of flotation.—In May 1940, the Commission issued a study entitled."Cost of Flotation for Small Issues 1925-1929 and 1935-1938" submitted to it by the Research and Statistics Section of the Trading and Exchange Division. This study, consisting of 16 statistical tables. 9 charts, and explanatory text of 23 pages, presented detailed statistics regarding the cost of flotation for issues of less than \$5,000,000 for two periods deemed to be representative of conditions prevailing prior to and subsequent to the enactment of the Securities Act of 1933. Data for the earlier period were obtained from questionnaires sent out by the Commission and for the latter period were based upon registration statements which became effective under the Act. Statistics were presented covering variations in cost of flotation according to type of security, size of issue, size of issuer, industry, method of offering, and vield. While the report contained detailed data for bonds and preferred stocks, no information was presented covering common stock issues because of the inadequacy of available data.

Current statistics on the cost of flotation of issues effectively registered under the Securities Act of 1933 were in process of preparation at the end of the 1940 fiscal year. These data were scheduled for release during the succeeding fiscal year.

Security characteristics.—Statistics on the characteristics of issues effectively registered under the Securities Act of 1933 were continued during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940. This analysis indicates the extent to which certain security characteristics, such as voting and preemptive rights on stock issues and sinking fund, callable and convertible features on bond issues, are found in the case of registered securities. Statistics covering the three months ended September 30,

[•] Statistics of underwriting participations covering the fiscal year ended June 30, 1939, as well as each of the four quarters included in that period, were presented in Statistical Series Release No. 323. Similar data for the three months ended September 30, 1939, were presented in Statistical Series Release No. 337, for the three months ended December 31, 1939, in Statistical Series Release No. 382, for the three months ended March 31, 1940, in Statistical Series Release No. 415, for the calendar year 1939 in Statistical Series Release No. 439, and for the three months ended June 30, 1940, in Statistical Series Release No. 462.

1939, were presented in Statistical Series Release No. 339, and for the three months ended December 31, 1939, in Statistical Series Release No. 377. Beginning with 1940, these statistics were published on a semiannual basis and data covering the six months ended June 30, 1940, were presented in Statistical Series Release No. 457.

EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

The Commission is authorized by Section 3 (b) of the Securities Act of 1933 to adopt rules and regulations providing conditional exemption from registration under that Act for certain security issues where the public offering does not involve an aggregate amount in excess of \$100,000. In the exercise of this authority, the Commission has adopted Regulation A, governing such exemptions other than those relating to oil and gas interests; Regulation B, covering exemptions pertaining to fractional undivided interests in oil or gas rights; and Regulation B-T, providing exemptions of interests in an oil royalty trust or similar type of trust or unincorporated association. The Commission now has under consideration a revision of Regulation A with a view to extending and simplifying, insofar as practicable, the exemptions thereunder.

Regulation A.—Proposed stock offerings of \$100,000 or less (other than those of companies engaged in the oil and gas business) accounted for the filing during the year of 111 prospectuses under Rule 202, representing a total offering price of \$7,950,000, and 197 letters of notification under Rule 210, involving a total offering price of \$12,740,000. Stock offerings of oil and gas companies accounted for the filing of 14 additional prospectuses under Rule 202, representing a total offering of \$1,015,750, and 16 additional letters of notification under Rule 210, representing a total offering of \$896,944.

Numerous amendments which were required in order to correct deficiencies in the information set forth in the various prospectuses and letters of notification were also examined in the same manner as the documents originally filed.

Regulations B and B-T.—From July 1, 1939, to June 30, 1940, 1,359 offering sheets were filed and examined, together with 841 amendments, pursuant to Regulation B. The aggregate offering price of the securities covered by these offering sheets was approximately \$31,072,774. In addition, two prospectuses representing an aggregate

⁷ Copies of a draft of the proposed revision were sent for criticism and suggestions to about 700 persons, consisting of issuers of the types who would use the regulation, underwriters, brokers and dealers, attorneys, mining associations, and investment bankers. Of the replies received, the criticisms and suggestions offered seem to represent a very good cross-section of opinion in financial and business centers in all parts of the country. The criticisms and suggestions received were compiled and carefully studied after which the proposed regulation was revised in the light thereof. The Commission rescinded Rules 200 to 210, inclusive, of Regulation A, effective January 1, 1941, except as to issues of securities bona fide offered to the public on or before such date under any exemption contained in any of such rules, and adopted new rules under such regulation, effective December 9, 1940.

offering price of \$225,000 for the securities to be offered thereunder, were filed pursuant to Regulation B-T. The following list indicates the number of actions of various kinds taken by the Commission with respect to these filings:

Various actions on filings under Regulations B and B-T

Temporary Suspension Orders (Rule 340 (a)) 29	8
Orders Terminating Proceeding After Amendment 22	8
Orders Consenting to Withdrawal of Offering Sheet and	
	3
Orders Terminating Effectiveness of Offering Sheet (No	-
	7
Orders Consenting to Amendment of Offering Sheet (No	
Proceeding Pending) 44	0
Orders Consenting to Withdrawal of Offering Sheet (No	
Proceeding Pending) 7	6
Orders Terminating Effectiveness of Offering Sheet and	
Terminating Proceeding	6
Orders for Hearing (Rule 340 (a))	1
Temporary Suspension Orders (Rule 380)	2
Orders for Hearing (Rule 380)	1
Orders Consenting to Withdrawal of Prospectus and Termi-	
nating Proceeding (Rule 380)	2

Sale of Unregistered Oil Securities-Mississippi and Illinois Areas.

During the past fiscal year, the Commission was confronted with the problem of regulating the sale of unregistered oil securities which, except for prompt action, could well have assumed major proportions and might have resulted in the loss of considerable money by the investing public.

The discovery of oil in commercial quantities in the Tinsley Field, located in Mississippi, and the extension of activity in the Centralia and Sale Fields in Illinois were attended by an unusual influx into those regions of promoters, security salesmen, and "confidence men," whose operations have been the subject of close surveillance in other parts of the country. These persons were bent upon exploiting the potentialities of sudden wealth in the sale of highly speculative and, in some cases, entirely worthless securities. Some of the persons who descended upon these new oil centers had criminal records in security fraud cases, and others had been subjected to disciplinary action of various types.

The Commission moved to meet the dangers which the operations of such promoters indicated by the establishment of a temporary office at Jackson, Mississippi, and a subregional office in St. Louis, Missouri. Within a short time after the establishment of the Jackson office, final judgments had been obtained against several corporations and individuals conducting the more vicious types of promotions. These persons were enjoined from violating the registration and fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 in the sale of various oil

securities. In addition, a final judgment was obtained against the publisher of a promotional newspaper enjoining publication of purported news articles "touting" various oil securities.

The publicity resulting from these various actions had an immediate deterrent effect. A number of known "confidence men" promptly ceased their activities and departed. Other persons, who probably through ill-advice or misinformation had violated statutory provisions, discontinued actions which appeared illegal and sought advice from Commission attorneys as to methods of procedure in compliance with the statute.

Considerable help was given by the staff of the Jackson office to those persons who manifested the desire to comply with the requirements. As a result of these measures, the situation in these areas is well under control, although a substantial amount of work in prosecuting past violations remains to be done.

The more recent establishment of the St. Louis office has had a similar salutary effect in that region.

Oil and Gas Investigations.

During the year investigations were conducted in 293 cases involving oil and gas properties or proposed offerings of oil and gas securities. These investigations, which arose largely out of complaints received by the Commission, were primarily conducted to ascertain whether transactions in oil and gas securities were effected in violation of either Section 5 or Section 17 of the Securities Act of 1933. However, in some cases facts and circumstances indicating possible violation of Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 were developed in the course of the investigation. Of the 293 investigations, 157 had been disposed of and 136 were pending at the close of the fiscal year. As a result of these investigations, in 22 cases the persons concerned were enjoined from violating the registration or fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, and in 5 cases the facts were referred to the Department of Justice for criminal prosecution. A tabular summary with respect to the Commission's oil and gas investigations follows:

Oil and gas investigations

Status	Preliminary investiga- tions	Informal investigations	Formal investigations
Pending June 30, 1939	41 105	75 47	19
Total to be accounted for	146	122	25
Changed to informal or formal	9 68	62	18
Total disposed of	77	62	18
Pending June 30, 1940	69	60	7



Part V

ADMINISTRATION OF THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939

The Trust Indenture Act of 1939 requires that bonds, notes, debentures, and similar securities publicly offered for sale, sold, or delivered after sale through the mails or in interstate commerce, except as specifically exempted by the Act, be issued under an indenture which meets the requirements of the Act and has been duly qualified with the Commission. The provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 are so integrated that registration pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933 of such securities to be issued under a trust indenture shall not be permitted to become effective unless the indenture conforms to the specific statutory requirements expressed in the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. The indenture is automatically "qualified" when registration becomes effective as to the securities themselves.

ENACTMENT AND SCOPE OF ACT

The Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (Public, No. 253—76th Congress). which grew largely out of the study and investigation of the work. activities, personnel, and functions of protective and reorganization committees, together with the findings and recommendations, made by the Commission pursuant to the direction of Congress contained in Section 211 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, was enacted August 3, 1939. The Act, which adds a new title (Title III) to the Act of May 27, 1933, as amended, Title I of which is the Securities Act of 1933, was designed to correct certain defects which have heretofore existed in trust indentures and to provide means by which security holders under such indentures may protect their interests. It provides standards of eligibility for trustees with a view to assuring the choice of trustees who are disinterested and responsive to the needs of the security holders; establishes a procedure by which investors may obtain, prior to purchase of the indenture security. an analysis of the effect of the more important indenture provisions; and provides a further means whereby security holders will be furnished with material information through the life of securities issued under an indenture. There was included in the Act, however, an exemption for indenture securities sold or bona fide offered to the public within 6 months after the date of enactment.

In brief, the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, with certain exceptions, prohibits the public offering of notes, bonds, debentures, and similar securities by use of the mails and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, where such securities are required to be registered under

the Securities Act of 1933 or, in certain other instances, where they are not subject to such registration requirements, unless they are to be issued under an indenture which conforms to specific statutory standards. An indenture, to be qualified under the Act, must incorporate certain specific provisions, including those governing the eligibility and qualification of the trustee, and must provide for periodic reports by both the obligor and the trustee to the security holders with respect to compliance by the obligor with conditions and covenants contained in the indenture and the trustee's continued eligibility. The Commission is required to issue an order refusing to permit qualification of an indenture if the indenture does not conform to the statutory requirements or if the trustee has any conflicting interest as defined in the statute.

Where the indenture securities are to be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, the necessary information as to the trustee and the indenture must be contained in the registration statement. In the case of the two classes of securities which, although exempted from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, are not exempted from the requirements of the Trust Indenture Act, namely, securities issued in exchange for other securities of the same issuer and securities issued under a plan approved by a court or other proper authority, the obligor must file an application for the qualification of the indenture, including a statement of the required information concerning the eligibility and qualification of the trustee. The application becomes effective upon termination of the period prescribed for registration statements under the Securities Act of 1933 and is likewise subject to refusal order or stop order proceedings.

The Trust Indenture Act of 1939 makes it unlawful for any person in issuing or selling any security to represent or imply that any action or failure to act by the Commission in the administration of this Act means that the Commission has in any way passed upon the merits of, or given approval to, any trustee, indenture or security, or any transaction or transactions therein, or that any such action or failure to act with regard to any statement or report filed with or examined by the Commission pursuant to the Act or any rule, regulation, or order thereunder, has the effect of a finding by the Commission that such statement or report is true and accurate on its face or that it is not false or misleading.

NEW WORK ARISING UNDER STATUTE

The enactment of this new legislation has resulted in the filing of additional material, all of which must be examined by the Commission. This examination must be completed with special promptness since, if refusal order proceedings should appear to be necessary, the statute requires that notice of opportunity for hearing be given within 10 days

after the material is filed, and that the hearing be held within 10 days after such notice.

In order to assist prospective obligors and trustees in complying with the requirements of the new Act, members of the Commission's staff have followed the practice of holding pre-filing conferences with their representatives and attorneys which, in a number of cases have disposed of questions prior to the filing of the registration statement or application for qualification and thus resulted in a substantial saving of time and expense to the applicant. Similar assistance has been given in response to written and telephone inquiries regarding the application of various provisions of the statute to particular situations.

RULES, REGULATIONS, AND FORMS

Following the enactment of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, the Commission promulgated general rules and regulations thereunder, together with appropriate forms for the trustee's statement of eligibility and qualification and for the application for qualification of identures covering securities not required to be registered under the Securities Act of 1933. The procedure thus provided for has been integrated with the related requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. Prior to the adoption of the new regulations and forms, they were submitted in tentative form to a number of individual banks, lawyers, underwriting houses, State and Federal banking authorities, and other interested persons in order to obtain the benefit of their criticism and suggestions.

Forms T-1 and T-2 are the forms prescribed for the necessary statement of eligibility and qualification of corporations and individuals, respectively, designated to act as indenture trustees. Each form is designed to show whether the trustee is eligible to act or has any conflicting interest as defined in the statute. Form T-3 has been adopted for use in making applications for qualification of indentures covering securities which are exempted from registration under Section 3 (a) (9) or 3 (a) (10) of the Securities Act of 1933. Forms for annual reports by obligors, who do not otherwise report under Sections 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are in the course of preparation. These reports, in general, are required by the statute to disclose information with respect to continued compliance by the obligor with the conditions and covenants incorporated in the indenture.

STATISTICS OF INDENTURES QUALIFIED

The following tables show the number of indentures filed with the Commission for qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 for the period February 4, 1940 ¹ to June 30, 1940, inclusive, together with the disposition thereof and the amounts of indenture securities involved.

Indentures filed in connection with registration statements under the Securities Act of 1933—February 4 to June 30, 1940, inclusive

Total number filed	Total	Qualifications effec- tive			ents with- rawn		al orders sued	Statements pending		
	of offerings	lled of offerings Num		Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount
38	• \$635, 891, 500	35	\$591, 549, 000	1	\$2, 392, 500	0	\$0.00	2	\$34, 450, 000	

[·] Reduced to \$628,391,500 by amendments filed prior to effective dates.

Applications filed for qualification of indentures covering securities not required to be registered under the Securities Act of 1933—February 4 to June 30, 1940, inclusive

Total number filed	Total	Applications effec- tive			tions with- rawn		isal orders issued	Applications pending	
	amount of offerings	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount	Num- ber	Amount
5	\$27, 708, 500	3	\$19, 305, 500	2	\$6, 392, 500	1	• \$2, 010, 500	0	\$0.00

[·] Refusal order rescinded and qualification made effective on July 6, 1940.

During the period from February 4 to June 30, 1940, there were also filed with the Commission a total of 56 trustee statements of eligibility and qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. Of these 56 trustee statements, 45 were for corporate trustees (Form T-1) and 11 for individual trustees (Form T-2). In addition, there were filed 34 Supplements S-T (special items to be answered if any of the securities being registered under the Securities Act of 1933 are to be issued under an indenture to be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939).

¹ Indenture securities sold or bona fide offered to the public prior to or within 6 months after Aug. 3, 1939, are exempted from the provisions of the act, except in the case of a new offering by the issuer subsequent to such 6 months' period.

Part VI

OTHER ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMISSION UNDER THE VARIOUS STATUTES

INTERPRETATIVE AND ADVISORY SERVICE

From its inception, the Commission has recognized that the technical nature of the statutes which it administers requires a substantial amount of interpretative and advisory assistance to the general public. During the past fiscal year, thousands of requests for such assistance have been responded to by correspondence and in conferences. The questions thus presented fall into two groups, (1) difficult questions of statutory construction raised by persons who are generally familiar with securities legislation and (2) questions as to the general application of the statutes submitted by persons with little or no familiarity with the statutory requirements.

Many of the general inquiries pertain to small business enterprises seeking capital. The Commission is fully aware of the problems confronting such concerns and endeavors to assist them by furnishing, upon request, detailed advice as to the procedure for registration and the possibility of exemption from the registration and prospectus requirements. Although the Commission answers abstract questions of general application, definite opinions are given only upon the presentation of all the facts of an actual or proposed transaction, including the names of the persons involved. The Commission does not render interpretative opinions with respect to possible civil liabilities, since it has no jurisdiction over these matters.

Compilations of interpretations have been prepared to assist in according uniform treatment to recurring situations. However, new problems of interpretation are continually presented which require not only the analysis of intricate factual situations, but a resort to legislative history and the analogies of judicial case law. Because of the great variety of circumstances under which almost every problem is presented, it has not been feasible to publish a comprehensive interpretative glossary on the statutes administered by the Commission. However, a number of interpretations of more general application have been made public as opinions of the General Counsel.

Recently, a number of unusual cases were presented relating to the definition of the term "security." These cases involved the sale of real or personal property coupled with collateral arrangements, such as

leases back to the seller. The subjects of the purported sales of property were objects as varied as foxes, rabbits, chinchillas, and oysters; tung and citrus groves; mechanical devices, such as parking meters and vending machines; and undivided interests in ships. In each such case where it appeared that the transaction actually constituted an investment by a member of the public in the hope of a return through the efforts of persons other than the investor, the Commission has held that a sale of a security was involved and that the purported sale of the real or personal property was merely camouflage and not the substance of the transaction. A number of judicial decisions involving this question are discussed elsewhere ¹ in this report.

Another matter of some importance during the past fiscal year was the problem of what constitutes control of a corporation under the Securities Act of 1933. In most cases, controlling security holders disposing of their shares must obtain registration of their shares by the issuer, whereas security holders not in control are not required to Therefore, it is often important to determine whether particular persons proposing to sell a block of securities of a company are in control of that company. Congress has made it clear that the concept of control is not to be limited to ownership of 51 percent of the voting securities, but is to be applied in all cases where in fact control exists. The question is, therefore, one which frequently depends on intangible factors and requires careful consideration of each case as a separate problem. In some cases the Commission, at the request of a stockholder who is doubtful whether he should consider himself in a position of control, has conducted investigations. privately and informally, in order to determine what position it should take if sale of the securities without registration is proposed. conclusion of such inquiries, the Commission advises the stockholder either that it will take no action or that it will sue to enjoin the sale if such sale is proposed to be effected without registration.

COMPLAINTS AND INVESTIGATIONS

The Commission receives and replies to thousands of complaints annually with respect to fraudulent and otherwise illegal practices in the sale of securities. While the Commission is unable to assist investors directly in recovering money obtained from them in violation of law, it welcomes and investigates all complaints with a view to punishing those guilty of violation and preventing the continuance of illegal practices. The Commission also acts upon its own initiative to investigate possible violations indicated by its surveillance of trading activities and the examination of registration statements.

¹ See infra, p. 141.

At the beginning of the past fiscal year, there were pending 773 investigations and legal cases under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. During the year, 628 additional investigations were initiated. Out of this total of 1,401 cases, 705 were disposed of during the past year, leaving 696 cases pending as of June 30, 1940. The following table indicates the number of such cases pending and disposed of during the past fiscal year:

Investigations and legal cases developed therefrom under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Section 12 (h) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

	Investiga-	Investigations	Total to be ac-	docketed cases) July 1,	Investigations and legal cases pending as of July 1, 1940			
	legal cases	docketed July 1, 1939, to June			Investi- gations	Legal cases (civil and criminal) developed from inves- tigations	Total investi- gations and legal cases	
Preliminary investiga- tions a	135 638	277 351	412 989	259 446	153	₫ 168	153 543	
Total	773	628	1, 401	705	528	168	696	

Investigations carried on primarily through correspondence.

Investigations assigned to field investigators.
 Includes 264 informal and 111 formal docketed investigations.
 Includes 51 informal and 117 formal docketed investigations.

The Commission has long recognized the advantages to be realized from cooperation between Federal and State agencies and certain private organizations interested in the prevention of fraud in the sale Accordingly, in connection with the enforcement of the of securities. fraud and registration provisions of the Acts, the Commission has established through its Securities Violations Files a clearing house for information concerning fraudulent securities transactions. formation thus assembled with the assistance of State securities commissions and other public agencies, the members of the National Association of Better Business Bureaus, Inc., and members of the United States Chamber of Commerce, is made available only to those officials and agencies who are directly concerned with the suppression of fraudulent and other illegal practices in the sale of securities. During the past fiscal year, 5,775 items of information pertaining to existing files and 2,804 new names were added to the files. As of June 30, 1940, the Commission had assembled data concerning 35,464 persons or corporations against whom State or Federal action had been taken in connection with the sale of securities.

LITIGATION

Civil Proceedings.

At the beginning of the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, 24 civil proceedings instituted by the Commission were pending; during the year, the Commission initiated 56 additional proceedings, including 49 injunctive actions brought against 120 persons to restrain them from fraudulent and otherwise illegal practices in the sale of securities. Out of this total of 80 civil proceedings, 67 were disposed of during the fiscal year, including 56 cases which resulted in the entry of injunctions against 118 persons. The Commission was successful in every injunctive action disposed of during the year, although in a few instances it closed cases where further civil proceedings had become unnecessary because of the successful termination of criminal proceedings against the same parties. Thirteen civil proceedings were pending at the end of the year.

Since its inception, the Commission has instituted a total of 369 civil proceedings and disposed of 356. Permanent injunctions have been obtained against 775 firms and individuals.

The following tables indicate, by types of cases, the number of civil cases instituted by and against the Commission from its inception to the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940:

Cases instituted by the Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, and miscellaneous cases

'Types of cases	Total cases insti- tuted prior to July 1, 1939	Total cases pend- ing as of June 30, 1939		Total cases pending during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	insti-	Total cases closed priorto July 1, 1939	Total cases closed during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	1040	Total cases pend- ing as of June 30, 1940
Suits to enjoin violations of Securities Act, Securities Exchange Act, and Public Utility Holding Company Act. Suits involving the enforcement of subpenas issued pursuant to Securities Act and Securities Exchange Act. Miscellaneous proceedings	288 24 1	20 4 0	49 6 1	69 10 1	337 30 2	268 20 1	57 9 1	325 29 2	12 1 0
Total	313	24	56	80	369	289	67	356	13

Suits instituted against the Commission and suits in which the Commission was vermitted to intervene as a defendant

Types of cases	Total cases insti- tuted priorto July 1, 1939	lot 2 and	Total cases insti- tuted during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	Total cases pending during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	insti- tuted priorto July 1,	Total cases closed priorto July 1, 1939	Total cases closed during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	10/0	cases pend-
Suits to enjoin enforcement of Securities Act, Securities Exchange Act, and Public Utility Holding Company Act, with the exception of suits brought solely to enjoin enforcement of or comuliance with subpens									
issued by the Commission Suits to enjoin enforcement of or	61	2	1	3	62	59	2	61	1
compliance with subpenas is- sued by the Commission Petitions for review of Commis- sion's orders by circuit courts of appeals (or Court of Appeals for District of Columbia) under the Securities Act, Securities	7	0	0	0	7	7	0	7	0
Exchange Act, and Public Utility Holding Company Act. Miscellaneous suits against Commission or officers of Commis-	49	11	1	12	50	38	11	49	1
mission or officers of Commis- sion	2	1	1	2	3	1	1	2	1
Total	119	14	3	17	122	105	14	119	3

A brief description and the status of all civil proceedings commenced or pending during the year ended June 30, 1940, are set forth in Appendix VI, page 292, of this report. Some of the more important or interesting of these cases are described in more detail below.

From the beginning, the Commission and the courts have had to deal with ingenious schemes to secure public investment in business enterprises without complying with the provisions of the Securities Act of 1933. These schemes usually are camouflaged as the "sale" of real or personal property coupled with an arrangement under which the promoter-seller retains possession of the property, representing that he will manage or resell it for the benefit of the purchasers. The test employed by the courts and the Commission in determining whether such transactions involve the sale of a security is well expressed in Securities and Exchange Commission v. Universal Service Association, in which the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit defined the term "security" as "the investment of money with the expectation of profit through the efforts of other persons."

During the past year, the Commission was successful in a number of actions to enjoin the sale of such securities in violation of the disclosure (registration and prospectus) and fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933.

² 106 F. (2d) 232, 237 (1939),

Four cases in which the Commission obtained injunctions against the sale of unregistered securities involved the purported sale to the public of slot machines coupled with arrangements under which the vendor retained control of and serviced the machines and shared the profits with the owners. In Securities and Exchange Commission v. City Meter Service Corporation et al., the defendants consented to the entry in the United States District Court for New Jersey of an order permanently enjoining them from further violating the registration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 in the sale of securities evidenced by bills of sale for parking meter machines coupled with further agreements providing for the servicing of the machines by the vendor. In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Parking Meter Corporation of America, judgment by default was entered by the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio enjoining the defendant from further violations of the registration and fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933. Here, also, the security sold was disguised as the outright sale of parking meter machines coupled with arrangements for the servicing of such machines by the seller. In addition, the defendant had violated the fraud provisions of the Act by making false representations to customers as to the number of machines owned, the existence of contracts with various municipalities for the installation of such machines, and the defendant's financial position. In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Woodward-Berkley Company et al. and Securities and Exchange Commission v. Monarch Sales Company et al., the defendants consented to the entry of orders by the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio permanently enjoining them from further violation of the registration provisions of the Act in the sale of securities camouflaged as the sale of merchandise vending machines, together with an arrangement for the operation of the machines by the defendants.

In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Leo C. Pyne et al., the defendants purported to be engaged in selling to the public undivided interests in fishing boats entitling the purchasers to share in earnings which might result from the operation of the boats by the defendants. In granting a preliminary injunction restraining the defendants from further violating the registration and fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts held that the so-called "ship shares" were securities. In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Gilbert et al., the defendants sold to the public undivided shares or interests in cargo boats to be built and operated by the defendants with the "owners" sharing in the profits from shipping operations. The Commission commenced an action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio to enjoin the further sale of such interests without registration. The defendants moved to dismiss the complaint on the ground that, as

a matter of law, undivided interests in ships were not securities. On August 14, 1939, the court overruled the motion to dismiss and held that the allegation in the complaint that the defendants were selling securities presented a question of fact to be determined at the trial.³ On July 9, 1940, the defendants consented to the entry of a permanent injunction restraining them from the further sale of such securities except in compliance with the registration provisions of the Act.

In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Tung Corporation of America and in Securities and Exchange Commission v. Jack Franklin, the defendants purported to be engaged in selling small tracts of land to the public. In connection with each sale, the defendants undertook to raise tung trees on the various plots and to divide the profits with the purchasers or to continue to care for the trees and harvest the crop for a fixed annual charge to be paid by the purchasers. In the Tung Corporation of America case, the Commission applied to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois for an order requiring the corporation and its secretary to produce certain documentary evidence pursuant to the Commission's subpena. The court, in overruling the defendant's objections to the proceeding, held that the transactions disguised as the sale of land coupled with leasing arrangements actually amounted to investment contracts.4 Subsequently, the documents requested by the Commission were produced and the proceeding was dismissed. In the Franklin case, another United States district court granted a preliminary injunction on April 10, 1940, restraining the defendant from further violation of the registration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933. Thereafter, the defendant consented to a permanent injunction.

Another variation of this pattern of unorthodox types of securities involves oil and gas properties. The Securities Act of 1933 specifically defines the term "security" as including fractional undivided interests in oil, gas, or other mineral rights. Attempts to evade the disclosure requirements of the Act in the financing of crude oil operations have fallen generally into two patterns. In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Crader, the defendant had acquired oil and gas leases covering 6,000 acres of land under an agreement by which he was required to drill a well. To finance the drilling, the defendant sold assignments covering specifically described portions of such leases, but retained for himself the drilling block of 160 acres. defendant represented that the funds obtained from the sale of assignments would be employed in drilling a test well on the block retained by the defendant and that, although the investors would not share in any production thus obtained, in the event commercial production was obtained from the well, the value of the assignments

^{\$ 29} F. Supp. 654.

^{4 32} F. Supp. 371 (1940).

would be enhanced to the profit of the investors. In this and similar cases, the Commission has taken the position that the sale of a security was involved and has commenced several actions in each of which the defendants have consented to the entry of orders permanently enjoining them from further violation of the registration and, in some instances, the fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933.

Another device which has been employed in the attempt to avoid registration is exemplified in Securities and Exchange Commission v. Futter et al. Here the defendants purported to be engaged in selling to the public tracts of land which were part of a unit subject to oil and gas leases providing that the landowners should receive a royalty on all oil and gas produced from the unit in proportion to their holdings. It was obvious that the real purpose of the transaction was to convey an undivided interest in an oil royalty, rather than to sell land. The defendants consented to the entry of an order permanently enjoining them from further violation of the registration and fraud provisions of the Act.

The Commission does not, of course, take the position that the ordinary sale of real or personal property involves the sale of a security. Much more than this was involved in the various types of cases just discussed. Slot machines and land were sold as investments in such small quantities that the only possibility of profitable operation was by common management. Investors were "switched" from their holdings of ordinary securities on the representation that the enterprise in question was a better "investment." In every case, both parties to the transaction knew that the purchasers would not and could not themselves profitably manage the property which purported to be the subject of the sale. Invariably, the purchasers were concerned, not with acquiring title to, or possession of, specific property, but with obtaining profits from an enterprise to be operated by others—usually the seller-promoter, and it is this factor, among others, which has led the Commission to contend and the courts to hold that such transactions involved the sale of a security.

Charles C. Wright v. Securities and Exchange Commission.—On April 26, 1938, Charles C. Wright, a member of the New York Stock Exchange and other exchanges, petitioned the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit for a review of an order entered by the Commission on February 28, 1938, expelling him from the exchanges of which he was a member. The expulsion order followed proceedings in which the Commission found that Wright had violated Sections 9 (a) (1) and 9 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in transactions on the Los Angeles Stock Exchange in the stock of Kinner Airplane & Motor Company, Ltd.

On May 20, 1940, the circuit court of appeals upheld the constitutionality of the provisions of the Act authorizing the Commission to

suspend or expel from national securities exchanges members who it finds have violated any provision of the Act. In sustaining the Commission's finding that Wright had violated Section 9 (a) (2), the court said,

"It is plain that Wright effected a series of transactions in Kinner stock 'creating actual or apparent active trading in such security' and 'raising the price' thereof. The Commission found that he did so for the purpose of inducing the purchase of Kinner stock by others * * * we think there was substantial evidence to support the facts upon which the Commission predicated its finding that Wright manipulated the market in violation of Section 9 (a) (2) of the Act. If so supported the findings of fact are conclusive upon this court."

The Commission had also found that in the course of the manipulation Wright had "matched" an order to sell 10,000 shares at 60 cents with two later "market" orders to buy 2,500 shares each, which orders met and partially crossed unexecuted portions of the earlier "sell" order. The court held that it could not accept the Commission's argument that the orders were of "substantially the same size" even though it was the practice of the exchange to execute such orders in board lots of 100 shares each.

The court was divided on the question of its power to modify the Commission's order from expulsion to suspension. The majority held that the court had no such power and remanded the case to the Commission in order that the Commission might determine, in its discretion, whether to modify the order in view of the fact that the court had found insufficient evidence to support the Commission's determination that Wright had illegally matched orders. At the end of the fiscal year, the Commission had not taken any further action with respect to the case.

Otis & Co. v. Securities and Exchange Commission.—On September 18. 1939, the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed the order of the trial court enjoining Otis & Co. from further violating Section 17 (a) (2) of the Securities Act of 1933.5 The lower court had found that from June 1935 to February 1936 Otis & Co. had engaged in an over-the-counter distribution of the stock of Murray-Ohio Manufacturing Company. The stock was offered for sale "at the market" and customers were advised through sales literature that "higher earnings for the company-should affect the market price accordingly." No disclosure was made to purchasers that, during the period of distribution, Otis & Co. was making substantial purchases in the market as a result of which it dominated the demand side of the market for this stock on the Cleveland Stock Exchange, nor was any disclosure made that Otis & Co. had entered into agreements with principal stockholders of the issuer under which a substantial portion of the outstanding shares was

^{* 106} F. (2d) 579. See Third Annual Report, p. 158. The district court's opinion is reported in 18 F-Supp. 100.

withheld from the market during the period of distribution. During this time, the exchange quotation for Murray-Ohio stock rose from 4% to 19.

The circuit court of appeals affirmed the trial court's decision that the failure to disclose the withholding agreements and the extensive purchases while offering the stock "at the market" was misleading and in violation of Section 17 (a) (2). The court also ruled that the trial court did not lack authority to issue an injunction merely because the defendant had discontinued the prohibited activity before the Commission brought suit for an injunction. In this connection, the court said:

"A dealer who saw the challenge of his activities that is implied in an investigation would probably discontinue them pending the investigation. It would seldom, if ever, be possible to show that a dealer was engaged in or about to engage in prohibited acts or practices when suit began, since the necessary investigation would nearly always have warned the dealer to desist. Consequently, while Section 20 (b) does not expressly so provide, yet if it be assumed that it requires a showing that a dealer be 'engaged' in or 'about to engage' in prohibited acts or practices, we are of the opinion that it does not require that either condition continue until the commencement of suit. It is clear that appellant was violating Section 17 (a) (2) when the Commission began its investigation."

Securities and Exchange Commission v. Universal Service Association et al.—The Commission's Fifth Annual Report noted that the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit had affirmed an order of the District Court for the Northern District of Illinois enjoining Universal Service Association and certain individuals from violating the registration and fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 in the sale of subscriptions and memberships in the association and in the Universal Order of Plenocrats.⁶ On August 28, 1939, the circuit court of appeals denied a petition for rehearing and on January 2, 1940, the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari.

On January 4, 1940, the same circuit court of appeals unanimously affirmed the judgment of the district court sentencing C. Franklin Davis, one of the promoters, to six months in jail for criminal contempt of court in violating the injunction order, but reversed, for lack of sufficient evidence, the judgment of that court finding the Universal Service Association also in contempt. Davis' petition for rehearing was denied on February 5, 1940, and the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on April 22, 1940.

On May 1, 1940, an indictment was returned in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois charging C. Franklin Davis, Justus Chancellor, Sr., Fred E. Bennett, Charles E. Öldenburg, Claude H. Carter, and V. E. Danner with violation of

^{6 106} F. (2d) 232.

^{7 109} F. (2d) 6.

the fraud and registration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and the mail fraud statute in the sale of interests in the Universal Order of Plenocrats.

Securities and Exchange Commission v. Timetrust, Incorporated, et al.—In this case which started on April 5, 1939, the Commission is seeking to enjoin Timetrust, Inc., Bank of America National Trust & Savings Association, Meredith Parker, Ralph W. Wood, H. E. Blanchett, A. P. Giannini, L. Mario Giannini, and John M. Grant from continuing to violate Section 17 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933 by engaging in fraudulent acts and practices in the sale of Timetrust certificates and Bank of America stock. During the past fiscal year, all of the defendants filed answers denying the material allegations of the complaint and, with the exception of John M. Grant. filed cross-complaints seeking to enjoin the Commission's investigation. Thereafter, the defendants, other than Grant and A. P. Giannini, also filed interrogatories. The Commission answered many of the interrogatories but refused to answer others, principally upon the ground that the information requested was confidential and that its disclosure prior to trial might prejudice the Commission's case.

On February 24, 1940, the court dismissed the cross-complaints and sustained the Commission's refusal to answer such interrogatories. Thereafter, A. P. Giannini and Grant filed similar interrogatories. Again the Commission refused to answer certain of them and on May 10, 1940, the court sustained such action. The case went to trial on May 21, 1940, in San Francisco, California.⁸

In re Verser-Clay Co. et al.—In its Fifth Annual Report, the Commission noted that the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit had affirmed ⁹ an order of the District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma directing. E. C. Clay, as president of Verser-Clay Company and the Mid-Continent Crude Oil Purchasing Company, to appear before an officer of the Commission and produce certain books, records, and documents of those companies which he had refused to produce in response to subpense duces tecum issued during the course of an investigation of alleged violations of the Securities Act of 1933. Previously, the district court had ordered the respondents to deposit the records with the clerk of that court pending appeal, and the respondents thereupon left with the clerk a package purporting to contain the records in question.

After the circuit court of appeals had affirmed the order and the United States Supreme Court had denied *certiorari*, the package was delivered to the Commission's representatives and was found to contain only a small part of the specified records. Subsequently, the

98 F. (2d) 859.

On December 13, 1940, the court filed its findings of fact holding that all of the defendants should be enjoined as requested in the Commission's complaint.

district court caused contempt proceedings to be initiated and, on February 17, 1940, found Clay and J. C. Verser, also an officer of the companies, guilty of criminal contempt of court. Each of the defendants was fined \$500, but upon their failure to pay the fines, the court ordered that they be committed to jail. Clay later paid his fine and was released.

Securities and Exchange Commission v. Foundation Plan, Incorporated, et al.—On December 19, 1939, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York issued an order permanently enjoining Foundation Plan, Incorporated (formerly known as United Endowment Foundation, Inc.), Harry C. Williams, Robert B. Deans, James Connor, Jerry Scott, Benjamin Blumenthal, and Kirk C. Tuttle from violating Sections 5 (b) (2) and 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of the Securities Act of 1933 by engaging in fraudulent acts and practices in the sale of securities designated as "periodic plan certificates," "paid up plan certificates," and "Foundation Trust Shares Series A." This is another of the proceedings instituted by the Commission to bring about the discontinuance of the fraudulent selling practices of a group of "top" investment companies. 10 Each of the companies involved in these cases was selling investment certificates or contracts which contemplated monthly payments over a period of vears to a corporate trustee which immediately applied such payments to the purchase of shares of an underlying investment trust.

Foundation Plan, Incorporated, and the individual defendants denied the charges of fraud. The court found, however, that they had sold installment certificates upon the representation that an investment in such certificates was similar to a bank deposit while failing to disclose that the maturity value of such certificates depended solely upon the market value of the common stocks in which the purchasers' funds were invested. The court also found that the defendants had represented to purchasers that the trustee, a well-known bank, was sponsoring and guaranteeing the plan while in fact the trustee's functions were merely mechanical, and that the defendants had assured installment purchasers that their payments might be withdrawn in full at any time without disclosing that a "creation" or "service" fee, amounting to 7½ percent of the face amount of a certificate, would absorb most of the first year's payments.

Although the securities involved had been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, these fraudulent practices were facilitated by the defendants' failure, as found by the court, to furnish purchasers with a prospectus containing the information which the Act requires to be made available to investors.

On June 8, 1939, Williams, Tuttle, Connor, Scott, Blumenthal, and the company were indicted for conspiracy to violate Sections 5 and 17

¹⁰ See Fourth Annual Report, p. 55.

of the Securities Act of 1933. Subsequently, pleas of guilty were entered for all of the defendants except Scott, who was tried and acquitted. On February 8, 1940, sentences were imposed as follows: Williams, one year and a day and \$5,000 fine; Tuttle and Blumenthal, each six months and fines of \$1,000 and \$1,500, respectively; Connor, six months; and Foundation Plan, Inc., \$2,500 fine. Because of the acquittal of Scott, which the court characterized as a miscarriage of justice, all of the prison sentences were suspended.

In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Louis Paune, the Commission commenced an action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York to enjoin Payne from the further sale of securities without registration under the Securities Act of 1933. The Commission's complaint alleged that the defendant was selling securities camouflaged as the sale of live silver foxes coupled with an undertaking by the defendant to care for and breed the foxes. purchasers were to receive the net proceeds from the sale of the offspring or their pelts. Pursuant to the Rules of Civil Procedure for the District Courts of the United States, the Commission served upon the defendant written interrogatories and requests for the admission of facts and of the genuineness of certain documents. mission consented to an order vacating the interrogatories. On January 19, 1940, a similar motion with respect to the Commission's notice to admit facts and the genuineness of documents was denied. At the close of the fiscal year, a motion by the Commission for summary judgment was pending before the court. 10a

Securities and Exchange Commission v. Leon Starmont et al.—On October 31, 1939, the Commission commenced an action in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington to enjoin Starmont and Mining Truth Publishing Company, of which Starmont was managing director and controlling stockholder, from further violating the registration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933. The defendants published a so-called investment advisory service known as "Mining Truth." Certain issues of "Mining Truth" carried the announcement of the proposed organization of a mining company and solicited subscriptions to the publication accompanied by agreements to accept stock in the proposed corporation, such stock to be assessable and registered with the Commission prior to issuance. The subscription requirement was eliminated in later issues which solicited an "indication of possible acceptance" of stock in the proposed company. On November 18, 1939, the district court found that this solicitation involved a sale of securities and issued a preliminary

¹⁰a On November 15, 1940, the court held that Payne was selling securities, granted the Commission's motion for summary judgment and enjoined Payne from further violating the registration provisions of the Act.

injunction restraining the defendants from further solicitation without complying with the Securities Act of 1933. On February 1, 1940, the injunction was made permanent.

Securities and Exchange Commission v. Henderson.—On March 25. 1940. Frank M. Henderson was permanently enjoined by the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi from further violating Section 17 (b) of the Securities Act of 1933. Henderson was the publisher of the Mississippi Oil Review, in which, though not purporting to offer any security for sale, he described various oil securities, specifically the capital stocks of Yazoo Refinery. Inc., Eureka Petroleum Company, Inc., and Magnolia Royalty and Leasing Company, without disclosing that the publication of such articles was paid for by those companies and by underwriters and dealers in the securities. The purpose of Section 17 (b) in requiring the disclosure of such payments is to protect investors from relying upon descriptions of securities which, while purporting to be objective. are actually inspired and subsidized by persons seeking to promote the sale of the described securities. Henderson consented to the entry of the injunction order.

Criminal Proceedings.

The statutes administered by the Commission provide for the transmission to the Department of Justice of evidence of violations of the criminal provisions of those statutes. Criminal proceedings are instituted in the discretion of the Attorney General. It is the policy of the Commission to make a thorough investigation of alleged violations of law before referring a case to the Department of Justice and to furnish to the Department the results of such investigation. Thereafter, if criminal proceedings are instituted, the members of the Commission's staff who participated in the investigation assist the United States Attorneys in the preparation of the cases for presentation to the grand jury and for trial.

Up to July 1, 1940, the Commission had referred to the Department of Justice 275 cases, including 64 cases which were referred during the past fiscal year. Since the organization of the Commission, a total of 1,656 defendants ¹¹ have been indicted in 217 cases, including 25 cases which had been referred to the Post Office Department. During the past year, indictments were returned against 232 defendants.

Since the inception of the Commission, convictions have been obtained against 615 defendants in 156 cases, representing 92 percent of the 168 cases which have been disposed of as to principal defendants; 148 defendants, named in 53 cases, were convicted during the past year.

The foregoing figures include perjury proceedings arising out of

 $^{^{11}}$ This figure contains some duplication resulting from the fact that some persons were named as defendants in several indictments or in more than one case.

Commission investigations. A total of 20 defendants have been so indicted, including 6 defendants against whom indictments were returned during the past fiscal year. Four defendants were convicted of perjury during the year, and at the end of the year indictments were pending as to 13 defendants.

The number of cases referred to the Department of Justice during the past fiscal year represents an increase of 25 percent over such references during the preceding year. Furthermore, the number of defendants convicted in such cases during the past fiscal year was not only 31 percent greater than the corresponding figure for the previous year, but is the largest number of defendants ever convicted in a single year in cases developed by the Commission. It is also interesting to note that of the total of 615 defendants convicted in cases referred by the Commission, 409, or two-thirds, were convicted on pleas of guilty or nolo contendere.

The following table discloses the comparative statistics with respect to criminal proceedings in cases developed by the Commission.

Criminal cases developed by the Commission based upon violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the mail fraud statutes, conspiracy, and perjury

	37		Number of defendants convicted				
Year ended June 30—	Number of cases referred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants indicted	As a result of plea of guilty or nolo con- tendere	By verdict	Total		
1934.*** 1935.** 1936.** 1937.** 1938.** 1939.** 1940.**	7 28 46 44 35 51 64	32 186 395 234 253 324 232	1 18 76 74 71 73 96	4 4 29 50 27 40 52	5 22 105 124 98 113 148		
Total	a 275	1,656	409	206	615		

^a In addition, indictments have been returned in 25 cases referred by the Commission to the Post Office Department, including 3 cases in which indictments were returned during the past fiscal year.

Up to July 1, 1940, the Commission had secured the citation of 24 defendants in 7 proceedings for contempt of court orders which had been obtained by the Commission. Fourteen of these defendants were found guilty; 5 were found guilty during the past fiscal year.

A brief description and the status of the criminal cases filed or pending during the year ended June 30, 1940, are outlined in the tables comprising Appendix VI, page 292 of this report. A more detailed description of some of the more important cases follows.

United States v. McGhie and Rothe—On July 12, 1940, George McGhie, Jr., a Chicago broker, pleaded nolo contendere to an indictment

returned in the United States District Court for the Western District of Wisconsin, charging him and Lester W. Rothe, former Special Deputy Commissioner of Banking of the State of Wisconsin, with perpetrating a fraud on the Banking Commission of Wisconsin and on certain closed banks and "segregated trusts" set up under the banking laws of that State. The scheme involved the payment by McGhie to Rothe, the indictment alleged, of secret bribes approximating \$20,000, for which Rothe induced the trustees of the "segregated trusts" to purchase securities from George McGhie & Company, and caused both the banks and the trusts to sell portfolio securities to George McGhie & Company at prices below the then current market for such securities, thereby enabling McGhie to resell at a substantial profit. McGhie was fined \$1,500. The case is still pending against Rothe, who has been serving a prison sentence under a State charge arising out of the same practices.

Among the false pretenses and misrepresentations charged in the indictment were the following: that George McGhie, Jr., and Lester W. Rothe were acting independently and at arm's-length in transactions involving securities of the closed banks and "segregated trusts"; that McGhie was selling such securities "at the market"; and that securities recommended by Rothe to the trustees of the "segregated trusts" were good investments and appropriate for such trusts.

United States v. Kenyon & Co., Inc. et al.—After a trial of seven and one-half weeks in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, Kenyon & Co., Inc., Samuel Sobel, Lucian A. Eddy, Edward E. Embree, Ernest K. Schwartz, and Weil Management Company, Inc., were found guilty on November 22, 1939, under an indictment which charged violations of the fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, mail fraud, and conspiracy. Previously, Charles Russell Kenyon, Norman E. Dizer, and George R. Grantham had pleaded guilty.

In general, the indictment alleged, the defendants, together with Donald P. Kenyon, deceased, defrauded seven investment companies out of approximately \$900,000. The scheme to defraud commenced with the acquisition of control by the defendants and Donald P. Kenyon of Alpha Shares, Inc., Monthly Income Shares, Inc. of New Jersey, United Sponsors, Inc., and Investors Fund of America, Inc. Thereafter, according to the indictment, the defendants and Kenyon extracted funds from these companies by causing the companies, under the guise of legitimate business transactions, to pay approximately \$460,000 for securities owned by Donald P. Kenyon or issued by other companies controlled by the defendants and at prices far in excess of their fair market value. Further, the defendants and Kenyon caused Monthly Income Shares, Inc., of New York to pledge securities owned by it as collateral for a loan and to

advance the proceeds of the loan to the defendants; the defendants then used this money to purchase at approximately \$50 per share, a controlling stock interest in the North Bergen Trust Company; thereafter, the defendants transferred 350 of such shares to Monthly Income Shares, Inc., of New York at the rate of \$115 per share in cancellation of the advance made to the defendants by that company. As a further example of the defendants' methods it appears that, after acquiring control of United Sponsors, Inc., and United Standard Oilshares Corporation, which had management contracts with Investors Fund of America, Inc., and United Standard Oilfund of America, Inc., the defendants caused \$235,000 to be paid by the latter two companies as pretended consideration for the cancellation of such contracts, when in fact such payments were devoted to the use of the defendants and Kenyon. Of these payments, \$34,000 was paid over to Kenyon and Co., Inc., purportedly in payment of a non-existent indebtedness.

Kenyon & Co., Inc., and Weil Management Co., Inc., were fined \$10,000 each; Sobel was sentenced to 2 years imprisonment on each of five counts, the sentences to run concurrently; and Eddy and Embree were each sentenced to imprisonment for 1 year and 1 day. Grantham, Dizer, and Charles Russell Kenyon were placed on probation for 5 years. Schwartz has not yet been sentenced.

United States v. Donnell et al.—On December 2, 1939, Ethel Pitt Donnell, Edward J. Hartenfeld, and Robert D. Beckett were convicted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Indiana for fraud in connection with the sale of the securities of American Terminals and Transit Company and its subsidiary, Green River Valley Terminal Company. The other defendant, John K. Knapp, was acquitted.

Mrs. Donnell and Hartenfeld were officers and directors of, and Beckett was sales agent for, the companies. According to the indictment, the defendants defrauded numerous investors in Indiana, Ohio, and elsewhere by means of misrepresentations and other fraudulent The indictment alleged that the defendants had represented that subsidiary companies were operating at a profit and that there were earnings available for payment of interest and principal on the companies' bonds and notes, when in fact the subsidiaries were only in the development stage and had had substantial deficits rather than profits; that a subsidiary coal company had had large production and sales of coal, when in fact such production and sales were infrequent, often interrupted, and always at a loss; and that the proceeds from the sale of securities were to be used for plants and facilities, when in fact the proceeds were used largely for the benefit of the defendants and for purposes other than plants and equipment. It was also alleged that the defendants switched investors out of building and

loan stocks and into the companies' securities by means of the misrepresentations, together with false statements as to the value of the building and loan stocks.

Hartenfeld and Mrs. Donnell were each sentenced to ten years imprisonment and fined \$5,000, and Beckett was sentenced to eight years imprisonment and fined \$2,500. Hartenfeld appealed from his conviction which, on June 11, 1940, was affirmed by the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit.

United States v. Sidney J. Dillon et al.—On November 27, 1939, Sidney J. Dillon and Lewis E. Crowley were sentenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Iowa upon their pleas of nolo contendere to an indictment charging violation of the fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and the mail fraud statute.

According to the indictment, the defendants made a number of misrepresentations in connection with the sale of shares in three investment trusts-American Securities Trust, Mutual Trust Shares, and Cooperative Trust Shares. It was alleged that the defendants stated to customers that the trust funds would be invested only in listed securities or Government bonds; that returns to investors would be paid only from earnings; that the investors' contributions would be retained intact; that management expenses would be limited to one-half of one percent quarterly of the value of the trust assets; and that the trusts were complying with the regulations of the Iowa Securities Commission. The indictment charged that at the time these representations were made, the defendants knew and intended that a substantial portion of the trust funds would be diverted to the use of the defendants; that dividends would be paid out of capital; that the defendants would pay to themselves management fees several times greater than one-half of one percent quarterly; and that they had falsely represented the condition of the trusts to the Iowa Securities Commission.

Dillon was sentenced to five years imprisonment and fined \$1,000, and Crowley was sentenced to three years imprisonment and fined \$1,000. On July 16, 1940, the convictions were affirmed by the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit.

United States v. McDermott et al.—On February 7, 1940, a plea of guilty was entered by Frederick J. McDermott, one of seven defendants named in an indictment charging conspiracy to gain control of a group of investment trusts and other corporations with aggregate assets of over \$60,000,000. The fourteen-count indictment, returned on February 1, 1940, in Federal court at New York City, named, in addition to McDermott, the following defendants: Harold L. Bishop, Vincent J. Kennedy, Walter A. Stegman, Slagle J. Halsted, Arthur J. Keon, and Rinder Corporation.

Defendants Halsted and Keon, according to the indictment, posed as officers of fifteen non-existent corporations, for which fake bonds were printed. Steeman, a certified public accountant of New York. was charged in the indictment with having prepared the financial statements of these fictitious corporations. McDermott and Bishop were alleged to have engineered the operations of the plot to defraud banks, insurance companies, and investment trusts by using the bonds as collateral to obtain loans, with which they intended to purchase control of a number of companies, including the following: Reynolds Investing Company, First Income Trading Corporation, R. C. Williams and Company, Utility Equities Corporation, Eagle Warehouse and Storage Company, General Public Service Corporation, Manhattan Life Insurance Company, Eureka-Maryland Assurance Company, Colonial Life Insurance Company, Utility and Industrial Corporation, Franklin Life Insurance Company, and Universal Indemnity Company.

United States v. F. Donald Coster et al.—On May 22, 1940, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York sentenced seven defendants convicted under indictments based upon the tremendous fraud perpetrated by Philip Musica, alias F. Donald Coster, president of McKesson & Robbins, Inc. Coster committed suicide. His three brothers, George, Arthur, and Robert, and Benjamin Simon pleaded guilty prior to the trial. During the trial, Leonard Jenkins and John Jenkins also entered pleas of guilty. The jury found John H. McGloon, vice president and comptroller of McKesson & Robbins, Inc., guilty of falsifying reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but acquitted Horace B. Merwin and Rowley W. Phillips, directors. The following sentences were imposed; Arthur Musica and Benjamin Simon, each three years imprisonment; George Musica, two years and six months imprisonment; Robert Musica, one year and six months imprisonment; John Jenkins, one year and one day imprisonment: Leonard Jenkins. suspended sentence of one year and one day; and John H. McGloon, one year and one day imprisonment and a \$5,000 fine. McGloon has taken an appeal. On December 30, 1940, after the close of the fiscal year, McGloon's conviction was affirmed by the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.

Evidence was introduced to show that there had been a conspiracy and scheme to inflate the assets of McKesson & Robbins, Inc., and affiliated corporations by means of fictitious purchases and sales, which were reflected in false and misleading statements made in annual reports filed with the Commission and the New York Stock Exchange.

United States v. S. W. Gongoll et al.—On April 8, 1940, sentences were imposed by the United States District Court for Minnesota on seven defendants convicted of fraud in connection with the sale of

several million dollars face amount of investment contracts and other securities issued by a large number of investment companies, the securities of which were sold from coast to coast by S. W. Gongoll & Company, Minneapolis. The principal defendant, Stanley W. Gongoll, was given a prison sentence of 4 years; Frank F. Hofacre, office manager, W. S. Douglas, officer of several of the companies, and Paul J. Thompson, sales manager, were each given jail sentences of 15 months; sentence was suspended as to Stanley B. Newhall, salesman, Mildred V. Nylund, confidential secretary, and Elaine M. Wegfors, market trader, each of whom was placed on probation for 3 years.

When it was forced into bankruptcy, S. W. Gongoll & Company owed \$2,800,000 to its clients and had cash assets of but \$4,600. The Commission's investigation disclosed that the securities of the numerous companies controlled by the defendants were sold in California, Colorado, Iowa, Illinois, New York, Pennsylvania, North Dakota, South Dakota, Wisconsin, and Minnesota. Under the defendants' scheme, customers deposited securities and money, for which they received various forms of investment contracts and profit-sharing agreements, to be used by the defendants to speculate in securities. The indictment charged that the defendants misrepresented their earnings, their success in trading, the financial condition of the company, and the amount of reserves that had been set up to protect the accounts of the customers from loss. The indictment also charged that the defendants had sold unregistered securities in violation of the Securities Act of 1933.

United States v. Shideler et al.—On September 25, 1939, Fred W. Shideler was sentenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Indiana to seven years imprisonment and fined \$5,000 on his plea of guilty to an indictment charging him and William A. Shideler with the fraudulent operation of a securities business in Indianapolis. On January 11, 1940, William A. Shideler was found guilty under the same indictment and sentenced to eight years imprisonment.

The Shidelers, operating under the name of Shideler and Company, solicited money and securities from numerous customers for investment in trading accounts to be managed by the defendants on a profit-sharing basis. Under one of the plans, the investors were to get a monthly income which was represented to be advances against profits to be earned. To induce people to invest, the indictment alleged, the defendants falsely asserted that they were maintaining a \$300,000 fund to pay losses in the event that the market declined. Evidence was adduced at the trial to show that members of the public invested on the basis of false representations which included statements that the defendants were successful dealers in securities and expert stock market analysts, and that the firm had been making large profits for its customers. Further to deceive the investors, the

indictment alleged, the defendants resorted to the device of making pretended profit distributions out of the very funds invested by the customers.

United States v. Fritz et al.—An attornev, two New York City brokers, and a small loan company executive were convicted on November 1, 1939, in the United States District Court for Maryland on an indictment charging violation of the fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and the mail fraud statute in the sale of the stock of Allied Finance Corporation of Baltimore. During the trial, evidence was introduced to show that the prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and used in the sale of the stock, misrepresented the amount of commission to be paid to the distributing brokers and the amount of the proceeds that would go into the capital funds of the company. The fraudulent scheme, it was charged. included the not uncommon device of impressing investors through the payment of dividends, even though the company was operating at a deficit. David Kohler and M. D. Schreiber, brokers of New York City, who conducted the stock distribution, were each given a prison sentence of 12 months: Andrew G. W. Fritz, president of Allied Finance Corporation, was given a prison sentence of 6 months; and Philip Birnbaum, of New York City, attorney for Kohler and Schreiber was placed on probation for 3 years. Birnbaum's appeal was dismissed by the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit.

United States v. Rossignol et al.—On November 4, 1939, J. R. Rossignol and A. J. Crocv were found guilty in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia under an indictment charging the employment of a fraudulent stock-trading scheme effected through the operation of Rossignol & Crocy, Inc., Atlanta, Georgia. The defendants held themselves out as expert investment counsellors and by means of misrepresentations induced the public to entrust funds to the company for trading under a profit-sharing arrangement. The conviction of Rossignol, who had been sentenced to four years imprisonment, was affirmed on June 20, 1940, by the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. Crocy. who received a two and one-half year prison term, did not appeal. Evidence was produced at the trial to show that it was part of the scheme to defraud for the defendants to appropriate and convert both the funds invested and the collateral put up by investors, and to maintain an artificial market in the shares of Bankers Industrial Service, Inc., some of which were given to investors as evidence of the good faith of the defendants and were falsely represented to be equal in value to the money put up by the investors.

United States v. Holmes et al.—The most severe sentence ever imposed in a criminal case under the Securities Act of 1933—15 years imprisonment and a fine of \$25,000—was received by Leo S. Holmes, of Omaha, one of three defendants convicted on May 4, 1940, in the

United States District Court for Nebraska of fraud in connection with the sale of the securities of First Mortgage Acceptance Corporation, Omaha, Nebraska. When the corporation went into bankruptcy in February 1939, it had outstanding \$1,350,000 face amount of securities. Holmes was president of the company. George M. Hauser, vice president of the company, was sentenced to 6 years imprisonment and fined \$1,000, and J. W. McCormack, a Chicago real-estate broker, the third defendant, was given a prison sentence of 15 months.

Evidence was introduced at the trial to show that Holmes and Hauser, who controlled First Mortgage Acceptance Corporation and its affiliates, Conservative Mortgage Acceptance Corporation and Nebraska Agricultural Corporation, purchased numerous real-estate mortgages from the defendant McCormack and others at large discounts from the face amount of these mortgages so that First Mortgage Acceptance Corporation and Conservative Mortgage Acceptance Corporation could set up fictitious profits. The pretended profits were used, it was charged, to make interest and maturity payments on the securities sold to the public, a device which was effectively employed to induce additional investments and to conceal the insolvency of the company.

In United States v. Norman W. Minuse et al., the indictment charged a conspiracy to violate Sections 9 (a) (1) and (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in that Minuse had obtained an option to purchase 79,000 shares of Tastyeast, Inc., Class A common stock and had thereafter entered into a conspiracy with the other defendants, Joseph E. H. Pelletier and Russell Van Wycke Stuart, to raise the price of the stock on the New York Curb Exchange by means of "wash" sales, "matched" orders, and a series of manipulative transactions for the purpose of distributing the optioned stock at the higher prices. The "matched" orders were alleged to involve the entering of orders on one side of the market with the knowledge that orders of substantially the same size would be entered on the other side at substantially the same time and price, and with a manipulative purpose. Other market-rigging devices charged in the indictment included the payment of secret bonuses to various customers men for their services in inducing customers and clients to purchase the stock and the promise of rebates or discounts on the purchase price.

Minuse and Pelletier were found guilty and, on January 29, 1940, were sentenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York—Minuse to 2 years imprisonment and a fine of \$5,000 and Pelletier to 18 months imprisonment and a fine of \$1,000. Stuart, who had previously pleaded guilty, was sentenced to 2 years imprisonment, which sentence was suspended. However, on August 7, 1940, the United States Circuit Court of Appeals

for the Second Circuit reversed the judgment of the lower court for errors at the trial relating to the introduction of evidence and other rulings of the court and ordered a new trial.

United States v. George J. Morrison et al.—Morrison and Emile Jacques were named as defendants in an indictment charging violation of Sections 9 (a) (1) and (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Morrison had obtained an option to purchase 5,000 shares of the common stock of B/G Sandwich Shops, Inc., at prices ranging from 1 to 1%. Thereafter, according to the indictment, Morrison and Jacques "rigged" the market for the stock on the New York Produce Exchange by means of "wash" sales and a series of manipulative transactions designed to create the appearance of active trading and to raise the price from \$1.25 to \$4.00 per share, for the purpose of distributing the optioned stock at the higher prices. These "wash" sales were alleged to involve transactions in the stock, without any change in beneficial ownership, between the two defendants and through accounts opened by them with different brokerage firms, and which resulted in fictitious quotations on the ticker tape. During the trial and after the Government's case, both defendants pleaded guilty and were sentenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York to imprisonment for 1 year and 1 day each. Sentence was suspended as to Jacques, who was put on probation for 2 years.

United States v. Perry et al.—The Commission's investigation into the fraudulent sale of securities issued by the Seminole Provident Trust resulted in the conviction of six defendants in the United States District Court at Minneapolis. The trust held options on interests in six oil and gas leases in the Seminole field in Oklahoma. charged in two indictments consisted of misrepresentations with respect to the amount of the proceeds from the sale of securities that would be applied to the purchase of oil and gas leases, the payment of distributions to investors out of the proceeds from the sale of units or securities under the pretense that these funds were derived from the sale of oil produced on the trust's properties, and that the properties would produce in excess of 4,000,000 barrels of oil, when in fact they could not be expected to produce more than 500,000 barrels. One of the indictments also charged that the defendants, other than Ahlborg, had violated the prospectus requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and had represented that the Commission had passed upon the merits of the securities issued by the trust, in violation of Section 23 of the Act.

On November 18, 1939, E. R. Perry and S. L. Dedman, "trustees" of Seminole Provident Trust, were each sentenced to 15 months imprisonment; John Ahlborg, operating under the name of Foreman & Company and the principal underwriter, received a prison sentence of 4

months and was fined \$1,500; Otis Backenstoce and Delbert R. Card, who had conducted selling campaigns in Minnesota, were placed on probation for 2 years; R. B. Allport, who, holding himself out as a petroleum valuation engineer, had participated in the scheme by writing letters concerning the accuracy of the valuation reports used in the sale of the units, was placed on probation for 1 year; and Kent K. Kimball was acquitted.

According to the registration statement filed with the Commission, the defendants had proposed to sell securities in the aggregate amount of \$800,000, divided into 8,000 units. In September 1937, the trustees consented to the entry of a stop order. Thereafter, a permanent injunction was issued against the defendants as the result of a suit brought by the Commission, and the broker-dealer registration of Foreman & Company was revoked.

United States v. Platt et al.—On September 29, 1939, Moe Platt and John J. McKee were convicted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on a charge of conspiracy to defraud the United States in connection with its governmental function of administering the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The indictment alleged that McKee, while employed by the Commission as an accountant-investigator, had accepted bribes from Platt to assist Platt in obstructing an investigation by the Commission into his activities in connection with the sale of the stock of Backbone Mining Company. Each of the defendants was sentenced to two years imprisonment and fined \$2,500.

Subsequently, Platt, together with Bernard Frankel, Bernard McNey, and Charles Lutz, pleaded guilty in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania to indictments charging violation of the fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 in the sale of the stock of Backbone Mining Company. It was alleged that the defendants in selling such stock had falsely represented that application had been made to list the stock on an exchange; that the stock would be placed on a regular dividend basis within a few months; that the stock, which was under option to the defendants at 75 cents a share, would advance to at least \$20 a share within a few months; and that the distribution of the stock by the defendants had been approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The indictments also charged it to be a part of the scheme for the defendants, by means of various artificial devices, to raise the price of the stock from \$1 to \$6 a share. Platt was sentenced to imprisonment for two years and six months, to run concurrently with the earlier sentence. while each of the other defendants was placed on probation for two vears and fined \$200.

United States v. Buckman et al.; United States v. George et al.; United States v. Kehaya et al.—Barton E. Buckman and Louis C.

George, both of Madison, Wisconsin, were convicted on June 5, 1940, in the United States District Court for the Western District of Wisconsin under an indictment charging them with fraudulent practices in connection with the operation of B. E. Buckman & Company, one of the largest securities firms in the Middle West. Evidence was introduced to show that Buckman and George, officers of B. E. Buckman & Company, had organized, and dominated the affairs of, Continental Public Service Company, an Arkansas corporation; Gulf Coast Water Company, a Texas corporation; Dairyland, Inc., a Texas corporation; and Continental Service Company, a Delaware corporation, the stocks of which were sold by B. E. Buckman & Company at a time when the issuers of the securities were insolvent. Defendant Edgar C. Holt pleaded nolo contendere and defendants Edwin J. Crofoot, Richard E. George, Fielding T. Spain, Clarence C. Winebrenner, and Wilbur V. Malkson were acquitted. The indictment was nolle prossed as to defendants James C. Casey, Lewis P. Bracy, and Frank R. Shotola.

Part of the case presented was based upon falsification of the financial condition and earnings of B. E. Buckman & Company and the corporations, the securities of which were sold by the defendants. Evidence was introduced to show that it was a part of the scheme for B. E. Buckman & Company to borrow bonds and other securities from its customers in order that they might be converted into cash to be used by B. E. Buckman & Company, which was insolvent at the time. Buckman was sentenced to five years imprisonment and a fine of \$2,000; George, to six years imprisonment and a fine of \$2,000; and Holt, to four years probation and a fine of \$500.

Pending against Buckman and George is an indictment returned in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois charging them with perjury committed before an officer of the Securities and Exchange Commission. In this case, Perry Sletteland, an attorney of Madison, Wisconsin, is a codefendant. Another indictment, charging Louis C. George, together with two other defendants, with having effected a stock manipulation on the New York Curb Exchange, is pending in New York City. Moses A. Isaacs, of New York, and Josiah Marshall Kirby, of Cleveland, are the co-defendants. The indictment charges that the defendants created an artificial market in the stock of Automatic Products, Inc., by means of various manipulative devices, including the guarantee of purchasers against loss and the payment of commissions and bonuses for the purpose of drumming up buying power and thereby facilitating the distribution of 95,000 shares of the stock.

Louis C. George is also named in an indictment returned in New York which includes as defendants Ery Kehaya, Harry J. Rothman, and Harry D. Meyer. This indictment charges a manipulation of the New York Stock Exchange market for the stock of Standard Commercial Tobacco Company by means of wash sales, matched orders, and by touting customers men. It is charged that George's participation in this scheme occurred while he was vice president of B. E. Buckman & Company. At the time of the indictment, the United States Attorney estimated that the public had lost upwards of \$4,000,000.

The "Front Money" Racket.

For some time the Commission has been concerned over the prevalence of the "front money" or "advance fee" racket, in which unscrupulous operators approach a wide variety of small business concerns with the suggestion that needed capital be obtained through the sale of securities. Frequently, the "front money" operator takes an exclusive option on such securities for the purpose of inducing the belief that the operator's sole remuneration would consist of commissions from the sale of the securities. Thereafter, the victim is induced to make payments for various alleged services, such as incorporation, the employment of a registrar and transfer agent, dealers' trips to inspect the business and to interest other dealers throughout the country, and the preparation and filing of a prospectus or registration statement with this Commission. These fees are alleged to represent the actual cost of such services, but in fact include large personal undisclosed profits to the operators of the scheme.

During 1938 and 1939, the Commission instituted proceedings resulting in the revocation of the broker-dealer registrations of three firms which were engaged in the operation of "front money" schemes. The Commission then submitted to the Post Office Department and the Department of Justice the evidence it had obtained in these and other cases in which the operators were not registered, but concerning whose activities the Commission had received complaints. The ensuing joint investigation disclosed that, for the past six years, hundreds of small concerns engaged in many types of business had been induced to pay to the "front money" operators fees estimated to aggregate hundreds of thousands of dollars. The investigation failed to reveal a single instance in which a share of stock had been sold for the victims.

On May 21, 1940, the joint investigation culminated in an indictment by a Federal grand jury in Cleveland, charging 12 defendants with violations of the mail fraud statute and with conspiracy to violate the mail fraud statute in the operation of an international "front money" scheme. Included among the defendants were the dominant figures in two of the three firms whose broker-dealer registrations had already been revoked by the Commission. The controlling person in the third firm has already been convicted of mail fraud and sentenced to the penitentiary. On June 20, 1940, an additional indictment was

returned in Detroit, charging four defendants with similar frauds. Herbert C. Schelzel, one of the defendants named in the second indictment, has already pleaded guilty in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan and has been sentenced to 15 months imprisonment.

Civil and Criminal Cases in which Certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court during the past fiscal year.

In United States v. William P. Buckner, Jr., et al., William P. Buckner, Jr., and William J. Gillespie were convicted of mail fraud and conspiracy and Felipe Buencamino of conspiracy in connection with the operations of a committee for the protection of holders of Philippine Railway bonds.¹² On January 8, 1940, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed the convictions of Buckner and Gillespie on five mail fraud counts and the conspiracy count, reversing on two mail fraud counts. The conviction of Buencamino was also affirmed. Buckner and Gillespie filed petitions for writs of certiorari, which were denied on March 11, 1940.

In United States v. Harry H. Landay et al., five defendants were convicted of violation of the registration and fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and conspiracy in connection with the sale of stock of R. Cummins & Company. On December 14, 1939, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed their convictions. Landay, Lane, Attix, and Brown filed petitions for writs of certiorari. The petitions were denied on April 1, 1940.

In Securities and Exchange Commission v. Universal Service Association, six defendants were enjoined from violating the registration and fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 in connection with the sale of subscriptions and memberships in Universal Service Association and Universal Order of Plenocrats. On June 23, 1939, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit affirmed the judgment of the district court.¹³ A petition for a writ of certiorari was denied January 2, 1940.

In Securities and Exchange Commission, as relator, and Universal Service Association et al., as respondents, two defendants were found to be in criminal contempt of court for violating the permanent injunction entered against them on April 14, 1938. Both defendants appealed and on January 4, 1940, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit affirmed the order of the district court as to C. Franklin Davis, but reversed the order as to Universal Service Association. Davis filed a petition for a writ of certiorari which was denied on April 22, 1940.

¹³ See Fifth Annual Report, p. 113.

¹³ See page 146 supra:

¹⁴ See page 146 supra.

In United States v. John Weber, the defendant was convicted of fraud in connection with the sale of stock of three companies. Weber appealed and on April 18, 1939, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit dismissed the appeal on the ground that the bill of exceptions was not filed within the time allowed by court rules. Petition for certiorari was denied on October 16, 1939.

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMISSION IN THE FIELD OF ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING

The McKesson & Robbins Case.

As explained in the Commission's Fifth Annual Report, public hearings in the McKesson & Robbins case were held pursuant to an order entered by the Commission on December 29, 1938, to determine (1) the character, detail, and scope of the audit procedure followed by Price, Waterhouse & Co., in the preparation of the registrant's financial statements; (2) the extent to which prevailing and generally accepted standards and requirements of audit procedure were adhered to and applied in the preparation of the financial statements; and (3) the adequacy of the safeguards inhering in generally accepted practices and principles of audit procedure to assure reliability and accuracy of financial statements. Following the close of the fiscal year, the Commission published a report on its investigation of this matter. A summary of the principal facts in this case and the conclusions set forth in the Commission's report are reproduced below:

"SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL FACTS

"The securities of McKesson & Robbins, Incorporated (Maryland) were listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange and registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Financial statements of the Corporation and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 1937 (the last before the disclosure of the fraud hereinafter described) certified by Price, Waterhouse & Co., filed with this Commission and the New York Stock Exchange, and issued to stockholders reported total consolidated assets in excess of \$87,000,000. Approximately \$19,000,000 of these assets are now known to have been entirely fictitious. The fictitious items consisted of inventories, \$10,000,000; accounts receivable, \$9,000,000; and cash in bank, \$75,000; and arose out of the operation at the Bridgeport offices of a wholly fictitious foreign crude drug business shown on the books of the Connecticut Division of McKesson & Robbins, Incorporated (Maryland) and McKesson & Robbins, Limited (Canada), one of its subsidiaries. For the year 1937, fictitious sales of these units amounted

¹³ Published Dec. 5, 1940. Copies may be secured from the Superintendent of Documents, Washington, D. C., at a cost of 60 cents per copy.

to \$18,247,020.60 on which fictitious gross profit of \$1,801,390.60 was recorded. At the time of the exposure of the fraud on or about December 5, 1938, the fictitious assets had increased to approximately \$21,000,000.

"The fraud was engineered by Frank Donald Coster, president of McKesson & Robbins since its merger with Girard & Co., Inc., in November 1926. In reality Coster was Philip M. Musica who, under the latter name, had been convicted of commercial frauds. In carrying out the fraud Coster in the later years was assisted principally by his three brothers: George E. Dietrich, assistant treasurer of the Corporation, who was in reality George Musica; Robert J. Dietrich, head of the shipping, receiving, and warehousing department of McKesson & Robbins at Bridgeport, Connecticut, who was in reality Robert Musica; and George Vernard, who was in reality Arthur Musica, and who managed the offices, mailing addresses, bank accounts, and other activities of the dummy concerns with whom the McKesson companies supposedly conducted the fictitious business.

"To accomplish the deception, purchases were pretended to have been made by the McKesson Companies from five Canadian vendors, who thereafter purportedly retained the merchandise at their warehouses for the account of McKesson. Sales were pretended to have been made for McKesson's account by W. W. Smith & Company, Inc. and the goods shipped directly by the latter from the Canadian vendors to the customers. Payments for goods purchased and collections from customers for goods sold were pretended to have been made by the Montreal banking firm of Manning & Company also for the account of McKesson. W. W. Smith & Company, Inc., Manning & Company, and the five Canadian vendors are now known to have been either entirely fictitious or merely blinds used by Coster for the purpose of supporting the fictitious transactions.

"Invoices, advices, and other documents prepared on printed forms in the names of these firms were used to give an appearance of reality to the fictitious transactions. In addition to this manufacture of documents, a series of contracts and guarantees with Smith and Manning and forged credit reports on Smith were also utilized. The foreign firms to whom the goods were supposed to have been sold were real but had done no business of the type indicated with McKesson.

"The fictitious transactions originated early in the life of Girard & Co., Inc., Coster's predecessor concern, incorporated on January 31, 1923, and increased until they reached the proportions mentioned above. The manner of handling the transactions described above was

the one in vogue since the middle of 1935. Prior to that time the fictitious goods were supposed to have been physically received at and reshipped from the Bridgeport plant of McKesson. And prior to 1931 McKesson made actual cash payments directly for the fictitious purchases, which at that time were supposed to have been made from a group of domestic vendors, but recovered a large part of this cash purportedly as collections on the fictitious sales. The change from using actual cash to the supposed clearance through Manning & Company was not effected abruptly but for some time after 1931 both systems were used. The Canadian vendors, however, were used only in connection with the Manning clearance system. From the report of the accountant for the trustee in reorganization of McKesson & Robbins, Incorporated, it appears that out of an actual cash outgo from the McKesson Companies in connection with these fictitious transactions of \$24,777.851.90 all but \$2,869,482.95 came back to the McKesson Companies in collection of fictitious receivables or as cash transfers from the pretended bank of Manning & Company.

"CONCLUSION

"Our conclusion based upon the facts revealed by the record, the testimony of the expert witnesses, and the writings of recognized authorities is that the audits performed by Price. Waterhouse & Co. substantially conformed, in form, as to the scope and procedures employed, to what was generally considered mandatory during the period of the Girard-McKesson engagements. Their failure to discover the gross overstatement of assets and of earnings is attributable to the manner in which the audit work was done. In carrying out the work they failed to employ that degree of vigilance, inquisitiveness, and analysis of the evidence available that is necessary in a professional undertaking and is recommended in all well-known and authoritative works on auditing. In addition, the overstatement should have been disclosed if the auditors had corroborated the Company's records by actual observation and independent confirmation through procedures involving regular inspection of inventories and confirmation of accounts receivable, audit steps which, although considered better practice and used by many accountants, were not considered mandatory by the profession prior to our hearings.

"Price, Waterhouse & Co. maintain that a balance sheet examination is not intended and cannot be expected to detect a falsification of records concealing an inflation of assets and of earnings if accomplished by a widespread conspiracy carried on by the president of a corporation, aided by others within and without the recognized ranks of a corporation's operating personnel, and that no practical system of internal check can be devised the effectiveness of which cannot be nullified by criminal collusion on the part of a chief executive and key

employees. Such cases are so rare, in their opinion, that there is no economic justification for the amount of auditing work which would be required to increase materially the protection against it.

"The inference to be drawn from this position and from statements made by others in connection with this case is that a detailed audit of all transactions as distinguished from an examination based on tests and samples would have been necessary to reveal the falsification. However, as we view the situation in this case, a detailed audit of all transactions carried out by the same staff would merely have covered a larger volume of the same kinds of fictitious documents and transactions. While this might have brought under review more instances of what we have listed as circumstances suggesting further investigation, there is little ground for believing that this alone would have raised any greater question as to the authenticity of the transactions.

"Moreover, we believe that even in balance sheet examinations for corporations whose securities are held by the public, accountants can be expected to detect gross overstatements of assets and profits whether resulting from collusive fraud or otherwise. We believe that alertness on the part of the entire staff, coupled with intelligent analysis by experienced accountants of the manner of doing business. should detect overstatements in the accounts regardless of their cause long before they assume the magnitude reached in this case. Furthermore, an examination of this kind should not, in our opinion, exclude the highest officers of the corporation from its appraisal of the manner in which the business under review is conducted. Without underestimating the important service rendered by independent public accountants in their review of the accounting principles employed in the preparation of financial statements filed with us and issued to stockholders, we feel that the discovery of gross overstatements in the accounts is a major purpose of such an audit even though it be conceded that it might not disclose every minor defalcation. Price, Waterhouse & Co.'s failure to uncover the gross overstatement of assets and of earnings in this case should not, in our opinion, lead to general condemnation of recognized procedures for the examination of financial statements by means of tests and samples.

"We do feel, however, that there should be a material advance in the development of auditing procedures whereby the facts disclosed by the records and documents of the firm being examined are to a greater extent checked by the auditors through physical inspection or independent confirmation. The time has long passed, if it ever existed, when the basis of an audit was restricted to the material appearing in the books and records. For many years accountants have in regularly applied procedures gone outside the records to establish the actual existence of assets and liabilities by physical inspection or independent confirmation. As pointed out repeatedly in this

report, there are many ways in which this can be extended. Particularly, it is our opinion that auditing procedures relating to the inspection of inventories and confirmation of receivables, which, prior to our hearings, had been considered optional steps, should, in accordance with the resolutions already adopted by the various accounting societies, be accepted as normal auditing procedures in connection with the presentation of comprehensive and dependable financial statements to investors.

"We have carefully considered the desirability of specific rules and regulations governing the auditing steps to be performed by accountants in certifying financial statements to be filed with us. Action has already been taken by the accounting profession adopting certain of the auditing procedures considered in this case. We have no reason to believe at this time that these extensions will not be maintained or that further extensions of auditing procedures along the lines suggested in this report will not be made. Further, the adoption of the specific recommendations made in this report as to the type of disclosure to be made in the accountant's certificate and as to the election of accountants by stockholders should insure that acceptable standards of auditing procedure will be observed, that specific deviations therefrom may be considered in the particular instances in which they arise, and that accountants will be more independent of management. Until experience should prove the contrary, we feel that this program is preferable to its alternative—the detailed prescription of the scope of and procedures to be followed in the audit for the various types of issuers of securities who file statements with us-and will allow for further consideration of varying audit procedures and for the development of different treatment for specific types of issuers."

The McKesson & Robbins Criminal Trial.

On March 30, 1939, the United States Grand Jury returned its third indictment ¹⁶ in the matter of McKesson & Robbins, Inc., et al., naming, in addition to the three surviving Musica brothers, Benjamin Simon, John Jenkins, Leonard Jenkins, John H. McGloon, Horace B. Merwin, and Rowley W. Phillips.¹⁷ The indictment charged violation of the mail fraud statute, of Sections 13 and 32 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and a conspiracy to violate the foregoing statutes. The Musica brothers and Benjamin Simon pleaded guilty before trial. Insofar as the fictitious crude drug transactions were concerned, it appears that at an early date Simon performed some of the functions later carried on by George Vernard. John Jenkins and Leonard Jenkins, brothers-in-law of Coster, both pleaded guilty during the trial, the latter only to the conspiracy count. It appears that they signed contracts, checks, and so forth, in the names of

¹⁶ For previous indictments in this matter, see Fifth Annual Report, pp. 110-111.

¹⁷ U. S. of America vs. George Musica, et al., U. S. D. C., So. Dist. of N. Y. No. 80995.

persons supposedly connected with the fictitious concerns used to carry on the fraud.

Horace B. Merwin and Rowlev W. Phillips, who were directors of McKesson & Robbins, Incorporated (Maryland), and of its predecessors and subsidiaries. McKesson & Robbins. Incorporated (Connecticut). McKesson & Robbins, Limited, and Girard & Co., Inc., were acquitted by the jury on all counts. John H. McGloon, comptroller of McKesson & Robbins since 1928, was acquitted of being part of the conspiracy, of mail fraud, and of violating Sections 13 and 32 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the 1935 and 1936 annual reports filed by McKesson & Robbins, Incorporated, but was found guilty on the count charging violation of Sections 13 and 32 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the filing of the 1937 annual report, the last prior to the disclosure of the fraud. The sentences imposed by Judge Grover M. Moscowitz at the conclusion of the trial on May 22, 1940, were as follows: George Dietrich. two years and six months; George Vernard, three years; Robert Dietrich, one year and six months; Benjamin Simon, three years; and John Jenkins, one year and one day; all on one count of the indictment, sentences on other counts being suspended with periods of probation imposed to start after imprisonment. John H. McGloon was sentenced to one year and one day and was fined \$5,000. Sentence as to Leonard Jenkins was suspended and he was placed on immediate probation. An appeal by McGloon is now pending.

Other Accounting Cases.

During the year, the Commission's staff has completed an examination of the books and accounts of Transamerica Corporation, referred to in the Commission's Fifth Annual Report. Based upon data disclosed by this examination, an amended order has been issued enlarging the scope of the matters to be considered and directing that the hearings in this case be resumed.

In its opinion in In the Matter of Missouri Pacific Railroad Company, a proceeding pursuant to Section 19 (a) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and in its report in In the Matter of Alleghany Corporation. a proceeding pursuant to Section 21 (a) of the same Act, the Commission severely criticized the accounting practices followed by those companies. In the Missouri Pacific case, the Commission held that the registrant's financial statements for the years 1934, 1935, and 1936 did not comply with the Commission's requirements in that they failed to disclose a liability of more than \$12,000,000 arising out of certain contracts previously entered into with Terminal Shares, Inc. In the Alleghany Corporation case, the Commission held that the registrant's financial statements for the years 1934 to 1937, inclusive, were not in accordance with sound and generally accepted accounting

principles in that in prior years bond discount and expense, and losses on sale of investments were charged directly to paid-in surplus, thereby overstating accumulated earned surplus in the succeeding years mentioned above, and in that no provision was made for a loss of more than \$29,000,000 arising out of an agreement with the Chesapeake and Ohio Railway Company which provided for a sale or a contract to sell certain investments to the latter company. Amendments were filed by both of these registrants correcting the points mentioned.

During the fiscal year, 10 stop order opinions ¹⁸ under Section 8 (d) of the Securities Act of 1933 and 1 opinion on an application to withdraw a registration statement under stop order proceedings, were issued by the Commission. In all of these cases the financial statements of the registrants were held to be materially false and misleading. In 5 of them the accountants' certificates were criticized and in one instance the audit on which the accountants based their certificate was found not to measure up to the type of audit to which stockholders are entitled. The Commission's criticisms of the certifying accountants in the above-mentioned cases were brought to the attention of the American Institute of Accountants' Committee on Professional Ethics and the appropriate State authorities for disciplinary action.

Simplification of Accounting Requirements.

Accounting research work completed during the past year has resulted in the publication of seven accounting series releases. These deal with the inclusion and exclusion in consolidation of foreign subsidiaries of domestic corporations, the adoption of Regulation S-X, the form of accountants' certificate to be used under special circumstances, problems arising out of quasi-reorganizations, and the natural business year.

As part of its program of seeking simplification of its accounting requirements, previously referred to in the Commission's Third and Fourth Annual Reports, the Commission about 3 years ago determined to delete from the various instruction books the requirements as to the form and content of financial statements and the several positive accounting rules that had been adopted. This determination rested on the known facts that the language of the several forms was not identical, due to the incorporation of improvements in the later forms and the difficulty of an amendment policy that necessitated change in all of the forms whenever an improvement or change in any one was made. In lieu of these many sets of instructions, it was determined to have a single pamphlet containing the accounting rules and the requirements as to the form, content, and detail of financial

¹⁸ In addition three stop orders were issued without opinion.

statements and schedules filed under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. This would be applicable to nearly all statements filed under these two Acts, and would eliminate the possibility of inadvertent differences and inconsistencies between forms. Instructions as to the persons and periods for which statements must be filed will continue to be found in the several forms. Upon adoption February 21, 1940, this pamphlet was designated "Regulation S-X" and was made applicable to all forms for applications for registration and annual reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 except those for railroads and foreign issuers and to Form A-2 under the Securities Act of 1933. It is intended that Regulation S-X shall be extended to other forms under the Securities Act of 1933 as soon as such forms can be adapted to its use. Where special financial requirements are necessary, as in the case of outright promotional companies, fixed investment trusts, or oil and gas interests, these will continue to appear in the individual forms.

Regulation S-X is the result of a comprehensive study of the experience gained under the financial requirements in use since 1935. First, the original provisions of Form A-2 and Form 10, the improvements that had been effected in later forms, and the opinions expressed in accounting series releases were integrated in a draft of a single set of instructions. Registration statements, deficiency memoranda, letters, and conference memoranda were reviewed for the purpose of ascertaining how particular provisions had worked out in practice. whether old provisions should be changed or deleted, or new provisions should be added. On the basis of this review, the first draft was thoroughly revised and submitted to several hundred individuals and professional groups outside the Commission, including among others, registrants, public accountants, controllers, attorneys, and State securities commissioners. The criticisms and suggestions received were carefully analyzed and considered in preparing a further revised draft. After consultation with public accountants and others, additional changes were made before the regulation was promulgated in its present form.

While Regulation S-X to some extent modified previous rules embodying the Commission's requirements as to accountants' certificates, the new requirements do not differ materially from the old. It is contemplated, however, that further modifications of the requirements as to accountants' certificates will be made upon completion of further study of auditing and auditing procedures.

Accounting Series Releases.

Accounting Series Release No. 13, published during the past fiscal year, deals with the form of the accountants' certificate in a particular case in which the registrant had not maintained cash books, journals,

other books of original entry, or ledgers during the period covered by the financial statements filed by it with the Commission. The registrant's files, however, contained original underlying data such as cancelled checks, check stubs, bank statements, purchase orders, vendors' invoices, sales orders, and duplicate sales invoices. In order to prepare financial statements, it was deemed necessary by the independent accountants who certified the statements that the cash transactions and sales be recorded in books of original entry and in turn posted to a general ledger and that the books then be adjusted to an accrual basis. The entry and analysis of the transactions in formal books of account were carried out by one of the firm's junior accountants, loaned on a per diem basis, and by an officer of the company. The accountants maintained that this preliminary work consisted merely of classifying and summarizing records of transactions prepared by employees of the company at the time of the transaction. However, in many cases notations as to the purpose of disbursements had not been made on the check stubs contemporaneously with the transaction and accordingly it was necessary to rely in such cases upon the memory of an officer of the registrant in classifying the recorded disbursements. Upon the completion of this preliminary work, the certifying accountants found that satisfactory determination had not been made of the balances in certain of the registrant's asset, liability, and income and expense accounts. In the second or audit phase of the engagement, the accountants therefore deemed it necessary to undertake work of a special nature and in some instances to make original determination as to the amounts of such accounts.

Notwithstanding these unusual circumstances, the certificate furnished by the accountants to accompany the financial statements filed with the Commission, following a standard form, represented that the accountants' opinion was based upon a test-check audit and that the registrant had consistently maintained accepted principles of accounting during the period under review. In discussing this certificate, the Commission's accounting series release indicated that:

"* * when a registrant during the period under review has not maintained records adequate for the purpose of preparing comprehensive and dependable financial statements, that fact should be disclosed. If, because of the absence or gross inadequacy of accounting records maintained by a registrant, it is necessary to have essential books of account prepared retroactively and for the accountant to enlarge the scope of the audit to the extent indicated in order to be able to express his opinion, these facts also should be disclosed, and * * * it is misleading, notwithstanding partial disclosure by footnotes as in the instant case, to furnish a certificate which implies that the accountant was satisfied to express an opinion based on a test-check audit. Moreover, it is misleading * * * to state or imply that accepted principles of accounting have been consistently followed by a registrant during the period under review if in fact during such period books of account were not maintained by a registrant or were grossly

inadequate, or if it has been necessary for the accountant to make pervasive and extraordinary adjustments of the character under consideration."

Many of the accounting problems confronting the Commission, particularly during the past year, have arisen in connection with what may be termed quasi- or accounting reorganizations. These problems have been discussed by the Commission in its opinions and by members of the staff in addresses before professional accounting organizations. In its opinion in In the Matter of Associated Gas and Electric Corporation, a proceeding upon an order to show cause why an order should not be entered, pursuant to Section 12 (c) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, to prevent the declaration or payment of further dividends on its capital stock, the Commission discussing accounting reorganizations said:

"An accounting reorganization permits a corporation to begin anew the accumulation of earned surplus. It, therefore, enables a company to pay dividends even though the total operations of the enterprise have resulted in an earned surplus deficit, such dividends ostensibly being paid out of earnings rather than contributed capital. It can be justified only if it accomplishes with respect to the accounts substantially what might be accomplished in a reorganization by legal proceedings—namely, the restatement of assets in terms of present conditions, corresponding modification of capital and capital surplus, and commencement of a new earned surplus account as of the date of the reorganization. In short, the enterprise must be put on substantially the same accounting basis as a new enterprise. And because the primary excuse for the device is that it accomplishes expeditiously what might otherwise have to be accomplished by legal proceedings, clear disclosure of the transactions should be made, and appropriate consents should be secured."

In this case the Commission rejected the proposition that an adjustment of assets is not a necessary element of an accounting reorganization and held that if the continuity of the surplus accounts is interrupted by an accounting reorganization, that reorganization must be reasonably complete so as to obviate, so far as possible, the necessity of future reorganizations of like nature.

Accounting Series Release No. 15 requires that, following a quasi-reorganization, until such time as the results of operations of the company on the new basis are available for an appropriate period of years (at least three) any statement or showing of earned surplus, in order to provide additional disclosure of the occurrence and the significance of the quasi-reorganization, should indicate the total amount of the deficit and any charges that were made to capital surplus in the course of the quasi-reorganization which would otherwise have been required to be made against income or earned surplus. Formal consent of stockholders is an essential step in effecting a quasi-reorganization. When a company charges a deficit to capital surplus pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors, but without approval of the stockholders, such action being permissible under applicable State law, Accounting Series Release No. 16 requires a complete disclosure

of all the attendant facts and circumstances and their effect on the company's financial position in each balance sheet and surplus statement filed with the Commission thereafter. In situations of this nature, it has been the administrative policy of the Commission to require as an additional disclosure that in the registration statement or other filing containing financial statements first reflecting such action by the directors there be included an explanation of the action taken and an indication of its possible effect on the character of future dividends.

While the Commission's formal opinions, rules, regulations, and accounting series releases have been influential in lifting the level of accounting standards, it is believed that even greater benefits have been derived from the Commission's day-to-day activities with respect to accounting matters under the securities Acts. Those cases in which accounting practices are clearly unsound are generally settled or corrected in conference between the staff and the registrant, its counsel, and accountants. For every formal opinion involving an accounting point there have been a score of cases in which accounting problems were adjusted in conference. Moreover, presentation in such conferences of what may be termed the most preferable method frequently leads to its adoption in lieu of a method which, while recognized as acceptable, is generally considered not to be the most preferable.

Cooperation with Professional Organizations.

The development of uniform standards and practice in major accounting questions is a common objective of the Commission and the accounting profession. In many phases of its work the Commission's efforts have been directed toward this end. Representative bodies of the profession also have been active in seeking the advancement of accounting. In addition to their annual meetings, various State societies of certified public accountants held regional conferences, and participated in accounting "institutes" or "clinics" held under the auspices of a number of prominent universities. These conferences and "institutes" or "clinics," as well as the annual meetings of the American Institute of Accountants, the American Accounting Association, the Controllers Institute of America, and various other organizations were devoted principally to the discussion of technical accounting and auditing questions in which practitioners and teachers of accounting and representatives of government and business participated. Collections of papers read at some of these meetings and two monographs recently published by the American Accounting Association represent an important addition to writings on account-In May 1939, a report entitled "Extensions of Auditing Procedure" submitted by the Special Committee on Auditing Procedure

of the American Institute of Accountants was adopted by the Council of the Institute and published. This report was modified and adopted at the Institute's annual meeting, September 19, 1939. The Institute's Committee on Auditing Procedure recently expressed its intention to proceed with revision of the bulletin, "Examination of Financial Statements by Independent Public Accountants." In addition to their individual efforts the Commission and the profession in many ways have actively cooperated. The nature and extent of such cooperation is evidenced by the "Report of the American Institute of Accountants' Special Committee on Cooperation with the Securities and Exchange Commission" which is reproduced herein as Appendix XI.

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF APPLICATIONS, REPORTS, OR DOCUMENTS

In three of the Acts which the Commission administers, namely, the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, provisions are made for persons to object to the public disclosure of information contained in reports which they are required to file.19 In the Securities Act of 1933 this provision is restricted to material contracts or portions thereof and the Commission is empowered to hold confidential any portion of such contracts if it determines that disclosure would impair the value of the contracts and would not be necessary for the protection of investors. In general, the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 are similar and empower the Commission to hold confidential under certain conditions any information contained in any reports required to be filed under those Acts.

The following table indicates the number of applications received and disposed of during the past year:

Act under which filed	Number pending July 1, 1939	Number received	Number granted	Number denied or withdrawn	Number pending June 30, 1940
Securities Act of 1933 Securities Exchange Act of 1934.: Public Utility Holding Company Act	3 51	29 • 97	24 8 68	8 • 4 65	0 21
of 1935	14	25	4		35
Total	68	151	96	d 73	56

Applications for confidential treatment—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

These applications involved a total of 116 separate items of information.
 These applications involved 66 items of information filed by 41 issuers.
 These applications involved 84 items of information filed by 44 issuers.
 Includes 6 reopened applications.

¹⁰ The Investment Company Act of 1940 and the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, approved by the President on August 22, 1940, contain similar provisions.

At the beginning of the past fiscal year there were pending in the several United States circuit courts of appeal or in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia six petitions filed by issuers seeking to review determinations by the Commission denying applications for confidential treatment filed pursuant to Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. During the year, five of these petitions were dismissed by stipulation and the material involved was made available for public inspection. remaining case, the action of the Commission in denying confidential treatment of information respecting the gross sales and cost of goods sold of American Sumatra Tobacco Corporation, contained in that company's profit and loss statements for the fiscal years ended July 31, 1935 to 1937, inclusive, was affirmed by the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia in a decision handed down on January 2, 1940.20 American Sumatra Tobacco Corporation did not within the time allowed petition for a writ of certiorari, and the information confidentially filed was made available for public inspection. No new petitions for judicial review of the Commission's determinations in cases of this character were filed during the fiscal year. Appendix VI, Table V, page 315, contains a summary of all petitions for judicial review of cases of this type pending in the courts during the past fiscal year and their status as of June 30, 1940.

STUDY OF INVESTMENT TRUSTS AND INVESTMENT COMPANIES

During the past fiscal year, the Commission practically completed transmitting to the Congress the results of its study of investment trusts and investment companies conducted pursuant to Section 30 of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.²¹ This study and the preparation of the reports have been under the general supervision of Commissioner Robert E. Healy. The current functions of the study have been under the direct supervision of David Schenker.

The Commission completed the submission to the Congress of all of its supplemental reports and the reports so submitted during the past year, together with the dates of submission, consisted of the following:

Investment Counsel, Investment Management, Investment Supervisory, and Investment Advisory Services—August 17, 1939.

Commingled or Common Trust Funds Administered by Banks and Trust Companies—August 30, 1939.

Companies Sponsoring Installment Investment Plans—September 22, 1939.

Fixed and Semifixed Investment Trusts-January 15, 1940.

^{20 110} F. (2d) 117 (App. D. C. 1940).

²¹ For list of published reports on the study of investment trusts and investment companies, see Appendix IV, p. 238.

Companies Issuing Face Amount Installment Certificates—March 13, 1940.

With the exception of the final chapter (Chapter VII, treating with the management of assets of investment trusts), the Commission also completed and transmitted to the Congress all of the remaining chapters of Part Three of its over-all report, which relates to the abuses and deficiencies in the organization and operation of investment trusts and investment companies. The chapters of Part Three completed and transmitted to the Congress during the past fiscal year are Section XI of Chapter II. which sets forth in detail the history of the Eastern Utilities Investing Corporation, submitted on August 10, 1939: Chapter III, which treats with the problems in connection with the distribution and repurchase of shares of open-end and closed-end management investment companies, submitted on October 12, 1939: Chapter IV, which relates to problems in connection with shifts in control, consolidations and mergers of management investment companies, submitted on November 20, 1939; Chapter V, which deals with problems in connection with the capital structures of investment trusts and investment companies, submitted on January 8, 1940; and Chapter VI, which is concerned with accounting practices and reports to stockholders of investment companies, submitted on Feb-Chapter VI is subdivided into three sectionsruary 12, 1940. section 1 treats with the accounting practices of investment companies in general and sections 2 and 3 deal with the accounting practices of the United Founders Corporation Group of companies and contain in addition a study of the activities of these companies.

Part Four of the over-all report, the final part of the study, which deals with the economic significance of investment companies, is practically completed and will be submitted to the Congress during the coming fiscal year.

The basic recommendations contained in the various parts of the report described above were embodied in a bill (S. 3580; H. R. 8935) which was sponsored by Senator Robert F. Wagner in the Senate and Representative Clarence F. Lea in the House. A subcommittee of the Senate Committee on Banking and Currency held hearings on this bill extending over a period of approximately four weeks. At these hearings, while the immediate need for national legislation regulating investment companies was conceded by virtually every witness that testified representing the investment company industry, objections were made to some of the provisions of the bill. Many of the representatives of the industry joined in submitting to the subcommittee at the close of the hearings concrete proposals to regulate investment trusts and investment companies. Almost immediately after the conclusion of the hearings, representatives of the investment companies and of the Securities and Exchange Com-

mission advised the chairman of the subcommittee that they believed it might be possible for them to reach a common ground in an agreement on the scope and provisions of the bill. The chairman encouraged them in this endeavor and as a result of their cooperative efforts a substitute bill (S. 4108) was drafted and submitted to the Senate on June 6, 1940. On June 12, 1940, Congressman William P. Cole introduced the substitute bill (H. R. 10065) in the House.²²

STUDY CONDUCTED FOR THE TEMPORARY NATIONAL ECONOMIC COMMITTEE

Insurance.

During the past fiscal year the Commission completed the study of life insurance which it conducted for the Temporary National Economic Committee pursuant to Public Resolution No. 113 of the 75th Congress.

Public hearings based upon information assembled through field investigation and questionnaire returns were held intermittently from August 1939 until March 1940. During the months of August and September, testimony was taken before a special subcommittee of the Temporary National Economic Committee on the subject of industrial insurance, a form of life insurance sold primarily to low-income fam-This testimony included a historical and statistical summary of the industrial insurance business and a review of the activities of many principal companies operating in the field. Among other matters considered were the cost of industrial insurance, the methods by which it is sold, the various types of policies offered, and the resulting distribution of insurance among policyholders. To supplement these hearings the Commission undertook, in cooperation with the Work Projects Administration, a survey of the insurance holdings of certain low-income families residing in the greater Boston area. Detailed schedules were completed by WPA enumerators for over 2.000 families and in this manner information was obtained for the first time concerning family holdings of industrial insurance, the amount of income being spent for various types of insurance, and the relation between types of coverage and economic status.

Public hearings were also held before the Committee with respect to the activities of officers and directors for personal gain and reinsurance and rewriting activities of promoters. In this connection, the history of the several companies which failed during recent years and the various factors which led to these failures were explored in detail. Testimony was also taken on the subject of sales and agency practices.

In February and March of 1940 the final insurance hearings, deal-

²⁹ On August 22, 1940, the Investment Company Act of 1940 and the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 were approved by the President.

ing with the operating results and investments of the 26 largest legal reserve life insurance companies, were held. These hearings dealt primarily with the activities of the companies during the period from 1929 to 1938 and their experience with various lines of business including annuities and disability insurance. Funds available for investment and investments made were analyzed as were the assets and liabilities of the companies. Detailed studies of various types of investments such as policy loans, collateral loans, bonds and stocks, farm and urban mortgages, and real estate were made and the company policies in calculating reserves and surplus were considered in detail. Net cost studies for principal types of policies at representative ages were presented as part of this general study. To provide the basis for these hearings on operating results and investments, comparative statistics, based upon replies to two investment questionnaires, were prepared by the Commission's staff.

During the entire period of investigation from November 14, 1938, to February 10, 1940, the Commission's field representatives examined approximately 30 life insurance companies located in the east and middle west sections of the country.

The staff of the Commission has completed two reports. One entitled "Families and Their Life Insurance," to be printed as Monograph No. 2 of the Temporary National Economic Committee, covers the results of the special survey made in cooperation with the Work Projects Administration. The other, to be printed as Monograph No. 28, is an overall report on the insurance study based upon public hearings and information obtained through questionnaires or other reliable sources. As of June 30, 1940, these reports had not been released by the Temporary National Economic Committee.

Testimony on the subject of life insurance taken before the Temporary National Economic Committee has been printed and may be purchased at nominal cost from the Superintendent of Documents, Washington, D. C. This testimony is contained in Parts 4, 10, 10-A, 12, 13, and 28 of the Hearings before the Temporary National Economic Committee, Congress of the United States, Seventy-sixth Congress, third session, pursuant to Public Resolution No. 113 (Seventy-fifth Congress).

Investment Banking.

Certain aspects of investment banking were also presented in public hearings before the Temporary National Economic Committee in December 1939, and January 1940. The scope of the testimony was restricted to the following fields of inquiry: (1) the manner in which the investment banking processes have been adjusted to conform with the provisions of the Banking Act of 1933; (2) the extent to which concentration exists in the industry; and (3) the manner in

which business is negotiated between underwriters and issuers and among underwriters.

Testimony relating to the foregoing subjects was presented by witnesses representing the principal investment banking houses, several corporations, and the Commission. This testimony appears in Volumes 22, 23, and 24 of "Investigation of Concentration of Economic Power," Hearings Before the Temporary National Economic Committee

A report on the problems incident to financing small business enterprises prepared at the direction of the Committee was submitted by the Commission on June 10, 1940. The report embodies a survey of the following regions which represent a wide variety of economic conditions: Fall River, Massachusetts; Scranton-Wilkes Barre, Pennsylvania; Detroit, Michigan; Omaha, Nebraska; Birmingham, Alabama; Dallas-Houston, Texas; Denver, Colorado; Seattle, Washington; and Portland, Oregon. In addition to these field studies, the report includes a statistical analysis of the available data on the problems of the smaller business enterprises. This report is contained in Monograph No. 17, "Some Problems of Small Business," published by the Temporary National Economic Committee.

REPORTS OF OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS General Purpose and Scope of Reporting Requirements.

In order to make available information as to the amount of securities owned by persons closely identified with the management or control of enterprises, and changes occurring in their holdings, every person who is an officer, director, or principal stockholder (i. e., a person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 10 percent of any class of registered equity security) of an issuer having any class of equity security listed and registered on any national securities exchange is required, under Section 16 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, to file with the Commission and the exchange an initial report showing the amount of every class of equity security of the issuer which he owns beneficially, directly or indirectly, and a report for each month thereafter in which any purchase, sale, or other change in such ownership occurs. Under the corresponding provisions of Section 17 (a) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, every officer or director of a registered holding company must file with the Commission reports disclosing his direct and indirect beneficial ownership of all securities of the registered holding company and its subsidiary companies, as well as all changes occurring therein.

Volume of Reports.

The following tabulation discloses the number of reports filed in accordance with these requirements and examined by the Commission

during each of the past two fiscal years, and indicates that comparatively little change occurred in the volume thereof during the last year.

Reports of officers, directors, and principal stockholders filed and examined

	Fiscal year 1939	Fiscal year 1940
Original reports—Securities Exchange Act. Amended reports—Securities Exchange Act. Original reports—Holding Company Act. Amended reports—Holding Company Act.	16, 075 2, 248 867 176	16, 305 2, 037 786 117

Of the 16,305 original reports filed last year under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 14,215 were monthly reports on Form 4 reflecting purchases and sales and other current changes occurring in the amount of equity securities beneficially owned; 392 were initial reports of such stockholdings required to be filed on Form 5, where the issuer for the first time secured registration of any equity security on a national securities exchange; and 1,698 were initial reports of such holdings required to be filed on Form 6 by each additional person who became an officer, director, or principal stockholder.

In connection with the initial reports filed on Forms 5 and 6, it might be pointed out that a majority of the 2,090 persons who thus commenced reporting during the past year did so without the necessity for any action by the Commission. However, it was necessary to call the reporting requirements to the attention of 716 of these persons. before obtaining their necessary reports. Information as to the identity of persons who fail to comply with the requirements of the statute in filing reports is obtained by the Commission from a wide variety of sources; such as, for example, applications for registration of securities, annual reports, current reports, and proxy statements filed by issuers pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; registration statements filed by issuers under the Securities Act of 1933: notifications of registration and annual supplements filed by registered holding companies under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935; letters received from issuers; and the current releases of certain commercial daily, weekly, and quarterly financial news services.

At the close of the past fiscal year, the security ownership reporting requirements of Section 16 (a) had been operative for more than 5 years, and those of Section 17 (a) for more than 4 years, during which time an aggregate of nearly 150,000 original and amended reports were filed by more than 29,000 persons. Notwithstanding the large number of reports and persons involved, there has been practically no necessity for any formal action by the Commission in order to secure the filing of these reports.

Examination Procedure.

Where an original report discloses upon examination any material incompleteness, inconsistency, or inaccuracy, a letter is sent to the person reporting, calling attention to the deficiency and an amended report is obtained. The amended report is subjected in turn to the same examination procedure as the original report. There are, of course, a number of cases in which it appears that the deficiency in the report is essentially immaterial and that the purposes of the statute would not be served by insisting upon the filing of an amended report. It is the practice in these cases merely to inform the reporting officer, director, or principal stockholder of the nature of the deficiency in the currently filed report and request his cooperation in the proper preparation of any additional report which may be required of him in the future. In addition to the large number of letters calling attention to deficiencies appearing in reports, numerous letters were written to officers, directors, and principal stockholders, and conferences were held with them and their representatives, in order to assist them in complying with the reporting requirements of the statute.

Publication of Security Ownership Reports.

Reports made by officers, directors, and principal stockholders on Forms 4, 5, and 6, and by officers and directors on Forms U-17-1 and U-17-2, are available for public inspection at the offices of the Commission in Washington, D. C., and reports on Forms 4, 5, and 6 may also be inspected at the particular exchange with which an additional copy of each report relating to the issuer concerned must be filed. In order to make the information contained in these reports more readily available to the public, the Commission compiles and publishes such information in a semimonthly Official Summary of Security Transactions and Holdings which is widely distributed among individual investors, newspaper correspondents, and other interested persons. Copies of these summaries are also available at each regional office of the Commission and each national securities exchange.

REGIONAL OFFICES

Approximately one-third of the Commission's entire personnel is stationed in its 14 regional and subregional offices. The regional offices of the Commission are located at Boston, New York City, Atlanta, Cleveland, Chicago, Fort Worth, Denver, San Francisco, and Seattle. The Cleveland office has a permanent suboffice in Detroit; Chicago has permanent suboffices in Minneapolis and St. Louis; San Francisco has a permanent suboffice in Los Angeles; and the Oil and Gas Unit of the Registration Division has a permanent suboffice in Tulsa. These offices have since their inception been the first line of enforcement of the various laws administered by the Commission. Nearly all the investigations of stock frauds and viola-

tions of the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as to brokers, dealers, and market manipulations have been conducted in the first instance from the field offices of the Commission. In 1939 the activities of these offices were enlarged so that first-line analysis and legal work in connection with the Commission's functions under Chapter X of the newly revised Bankruptcy Act could be carried on from the field.

The past fiscal year saw the initiation of an experiment to broaden further the role of the regional offices in the administration of the Commission's functions. On June 12, 1940, the Commission announced the establishment in the San Francisco Regional Office of an experimental unit to assist prospective issuers of securities and to advise them and their representatives on any problems arising in connection with their registration statements under the Securities Act of 1933.

Both an attorney and a financial examiner with long experience in the Registration Division of the Commission were assigned to the San Francisco office. These experts were instructed to confer with and assist prospective registrants in the preparation of registration statements before formal filing. After the statement had been filed in Washington, they were instructed and equipped to answer any questions which might arise in connection with the progress of the registration. A registrant could, if he wished, leave a copy of his statement in the San Francisco office for conference purposes. The Registration Division in Washington was instructed to forward to the San Francisco office a copy of all correspondence with the registrant, together with a copy of any staff memoranda on the statement, and the registrant was told by Washington that the San Francisco office would be equipped to answer any questions which this correspondence might create.

It was announced by the Commission that if this experiment appeared to be successful after a reasonable period of time, the same facilities for assistance to registrants would be extended to the other regional offices.²³

²² On November 1, 1920, the Commission voted that in view of the success of this experiment in San Francisco. similar facilities will be provided in the other regional offices by February 1, 1941. It further voted that, for the first time, it will undertake an experiment in complete registration in the field offices. It will set up complete registration units in the San Francisco and Cleveland Regional Offices. This means that registrants having either their principal places of business or that of their principal underwriters in either of these regions will be able to file their registration statements in the field office and have them examined there. Only in exceptional cases will it be necessary for the registrant to have direct contact with Washington, although, of course, the Registration Division and the Commission will closely scrutinize all the actions of the regional office and the regional office will have to obtain the usual formal Commission action for the acceleration of the effective date. The registrant will be given the option of availing himself of these experimental facilities in the two regional offices or of continuing to have his registration statement handled in Washington. In this event, facilities for pre-registration assistance and consultation on questions raised by Washington during the examination of the statement will be available in these two offices as well as in the other regional offices. This complete registration experiment will continue until October 1, 1941, at which time it will be reviewed to determine whether or not it should be expanded to the other offices or abandoned.

This development of the facilities of the regional offices was an outgrowth of the desire of the Commission to recognize the problems of distance which faced many of those having Commission problems. Originally set up largely as policing units, the regional offices have been increasingly called upon to aid members of the public in questions of interpretation of the various statutes and the rules and regulations under the statutes. To meet this demand, the Commission has stationed specially trained attorneys in each regional office and in some of the suboffices, who are qualified to answer these questions from persons who would otherwise have to go or write to Washington. During the past year, the regional offices handled 16,799 of such inquiries, making either verbal or written answers. Needless to say, there is a close coordination between the regional offices and the Washington Office in such matters in order to assure that confusing and injurious differences of opinion will not develop. All written opinions and interpretations issuing from the regional offices are sent to the office of the General Counsel in Washington for review and all new questions, where there is any uncertainty in the regional office, are raised with Washington before an answer is given.

The enforcement activities of the regional offices continued to be increasingly productive during the past year. Again, it should be borne in mind that the activities of these offices are at all times closely supervised by the appropriate authorities on the Washington staff. These offices conducted 996 formal and informal investigations into violations of the Securities Act of 1933 during the year. Many of these were found to be outright frauds and resulted in criminal proceedings being instituted by the Department of Justice on the basis of the evidence unearthed in the investigation. All these matters were reviewed by the Washington staff and approved by the Commission before any formal action was taken. Many of the cases were referred to the regional offices by the Washington staff, but a very large percentage of the total were first initiated in the regional office as a direct result of its closeness to developments in the particular area under its surveillance.

Another important activity carried on through the medium of the regional office is the investigation of the activities of brokers and dealers and the inspection of their accounts as required under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The latter activity is particularly important inasmuch as it provides a check upon the solvency of the broker or dealer and a protection against the diversion or misappropriation of the cash and securities of customers. To make these checks, the Trading and Exchange Division has assigned crews of inspectors to most of the regional offices. These inspectors make unannounced visits of inspection at the offices of the various dealers and brokers in the several regions. Very often the inspectors find that

they can be of real service to the brokers and dealers in advising them, where no irregularity is found, in setting up their books and records in such a way as to run their businesses in a manner to comply with law and regulations. During the past year the regional offices made 560 such investigations. In connection with the enforcement of the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, furthermore, the regional offices have, during the past year, made 193 investigations or flying quizzes into situations where it appeared that there may have been a manipulation of the price or volume of a particular security.

As has already been stated, the activities of the Commission under Chapter X of the new Bankruptcy Act were largely regionalized almost from the outset. A substantial portion of the reorganization staff of the Commission is assigned to the various regional offices. From these offices analysts, accountants, and attorneys execute the Commission's role in these proceedings, including the drafting of reports on plans of reorganization and making the necessary court appearances. Here again, of course, the work of the men in the field is closely reviewed by the Reorganization Division in Washington and by the Commission itself. During the past fiscal year, the regional offices of the Commission have worked on 758 reorganization matters, including both those in which the Commission ultimately became a party and those in which, while carefully studied, formal Commission participation was not found necessary under the statute.

PUBLIC HEARINGS

The following statistics indicate the number of public hearings held by the Commission from July 1, 1935, to June 30, 1940.

	Public hearings held			
i	July 1, 1935, to June 30, 1938	July 1. 1938, to June 30, 1939	July 1, 1939. to June 30, 1940	Total
Securities Act of 1933. Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 a. Trust Indenture Act of 1939.	291 197 495	29 198 295	19 112 228 3	339 507 1,018 3
Total.	983	522	362	1,867

[·] Exclusive of Investment Trust Study.

FORMAL OPINIONS AND REPORTS

The Commission, during the past year, issued 292 formal opinions involving matters under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. In addition, the Commission adopted 5 formal reports on plans of reorganization under the

provisions of Section 11 of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 and 12 advisory reports on plans of reorganization under the provisions of Chapter X of the amended Bankruptcy Act. The Commission also published a report of an investigation under Section 21 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Appendix VIII, page 332, contains a list ²⁴ of these cases.

PUBLIC INSPECTION OF REGISTERED INFORMATION

Under the provisions of the several Acts administered by the Commission, certain information filed with the Commission is made available to the public under such regulations and reasonable limitations and at such reasonable charge as the Commission may prescribe. Accordingly, there are available for inspection in the Public Reference Room of the Commission at Washington, D. C., copies of all public information contained in registration statements, applications, reports, declarations, and other public documents on file with the Commission. In addition to the thousands of letters and telephone calls received during the past fiscal year from members of the public requesting registered information, more than 6,500 members of the public visited this Public Reference Room during this period seeking such information. Also, through the facilities provided by the Commission for the sale of public registered information, more than 4,000 orders for photocopies of material, involving 246,090 pages, were filled during the year.

In order to make public information further available for inspection, the Commission has, insofar as practicable, made registered information filed with it available to the public in its regional offices. Thus, in the Public Reference Room which is maintained in the Commission's New York Regional Office at 120 Broadway, facilities are provided for the inspection of copies of (1) such applications for permanent registration of securities on all national securities exchanges, except the New York Stock Exchange and the New York Curb Exchange, as have received final examination in the Commission, together with copies of supplemental reports and amendments thereto, (2) annual reports filed pursuant to the provisions of Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, by issuers that have securities registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and (3) prospectuses filed under rules exempting small issues of securities from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The fact that during the past fiscal year more than 13,600 members of the public visited the Public Reference Room of the New York Regional Office seeking registered public information, forms, releases, and other material indicates a continued demand for such information in this zone.

Likewise, in the Public Reference Room of the Chicago Regional

M This list includes two opinions omitted from the Fifth Annual Report.

Office, which is located at 105 West Adams Street, there are available for public inspection copies of applications for permanent registration of securities on the New York Stock Exchange and the New York Curb Exchange, which have received final examination in the Commission, together with copies of all supplemental reports and amendments thereto. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, more than 3,860 members of the public utilized the facilities provided in this office by requesting registered information, forms, releases, and other material.

In addition, there are available for inspection in each of the Commission's regional offices copies of prospectuses used in public offerings of securities effectively registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Also, duplicate copies of applications for registration of brokers or dealers transacting business on over-the-counter markets, together with supplemental statements thereto, filed with the Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are available for public inspection in each regional office having jurisdiction over the zone in which the principal office of the broker or dealer is located.

Duplicate copies of all applications for permanent registration of securities on national securities exchanges are available for public inspection at the respective exchange upon which the securities are registered.

Photocopies of registered public information may be procured from the offices of the Commission in Washington, D. C., only.

PUBLICATIONS

Releases.

The Commission informs the public of its activities through informational releases. These are made available currently to the press and are mailed free upon request to any person. Mailing lists are maintained for the benefit of those who wish to keep advised of the day-to-day activities of the Commission.

Releases include announcements of rules, findings and opinions, orders, registrations, annual reports, utility company applications and declarations, public hearing notices, stock-trading reports, etc.

Among those on the Commission's mailing lists, in addition to members of the public, are banks, insurance companies, brokerage firms, security dealers, investment and financial services, statistical organizations, stock exchanges, corporations, law, accounting and engineering firms, universities, and libraries.

Included in the releases issued during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, were 281 releases relating to the Commission's activities under the Securities Act of 1933; 404 releases dealing with activities under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 525 releases concerning matters under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. There were 2 releases under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (be-

came effective February 4, 1940), and 14 releases concerning the duties of the Commission under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act.

In addition to continuing the daily publication of the figures showing odd-lot trading on the New York Stock Exchange, the Commission has continued its "Registration Record." The daily registration record presents a brief description of data filed with the Commission under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 and contains such matters as thumb-nail sketches of registration statements, applications for qualification of indentures, amendments thereto, effective dates, and certain information with respect to formal proceedings instituted by the Commission pursuant to these Acts. This publication is sent gratis upon request and about 4,000 persons have had their names placed on the mailing list to receive it currently as released.

A classification of the releases issued by the Commission during the past fiscal year follows:

Opinions and orders	553
Filing of registration statements, applications, and other pub-	
lic documents	433
Reports on court actions	175
Statistical data	161
Rules, regulations, and interpretations.	
Investment Trust Study	9
Personnel changes	
Accounting opinions	7
Miscellaneous	68

Other Publications.

Other publications issued by the Commission during the year included the following:

Report to the Congress on the Study of Investment Trusts and Investment Companies:

Part Three.—Abuses and Deficiencies in the Organization and Operation of Investment Trusts and Investment Companies:

Chapter III.—Problems in Connection with the Distribution and Repurchase of Shares of Open-end and Closed-end Management Investment Trusts and Investment Companies.

Chapter IV—Problems in Connection with Shifts in Control, Mergers and Consolidations of Management Investment Companies.

Chapter V-Problems in Connection with Capital Structure.

Chapter VI—Accounting Practices and Reports to Stockholders Generally—Accounting Practices of the United Founders Group of Companies with a Description of Their Activities.

Supplemental Reports:

Investment Counsel, Investment Management, Investment Supervisory and Investment Advisory Services.

Commingled or Common Trust Funds Administered by Banks and Trust Companies.

Companies Sponsoring Instalment Investment Plans.

Fixed and Semifixed Investment Trusts.

Companies Issuing Face-Amount Installment Certificates.

Twenty-four semimonthly issues of the Official Summary of Stock Transactions and Holdings of Officers, Directors, and Principal Stockholders.

An alphabetical list of Over-the-Counter Brokers and Dealers registered with the Commission as of June 30, 1939, together with the supplements thereto.

List of Securities Traded on Exchanges under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of June 30, 1939, and as of December 31, 1939, together with the supplements thereto.

Decisions and Reports of the Commission:

Volume 3, Part 2-July 1, 1938, to October 31, 1938.

Volume 4, Part 1-November 1, 1938, to January 31, 1939.

Volume 4, Part 2-February 1, 1939, to May 31, 1939.

Investigation in the Matter of McKesson & Robbins, Inc.:

Testimony of Expert Witnesses.

PERSONNEL

At the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, the personnel of the Commission comprised 5 Commissioners and 1,665 employees. Of these 1,665 employees, 1,110 were men, and 555 were women. Statistics:

Commissioners	5
Departmental:	
Permanent1, 20	64
Temporary	40
Regional Offices:	
Permanent 33	57
Temporary	4
Total 1, 6'	70
Subject to retirement act 97	74

FISCAL AFFAIRS

Appropriations for fiscal year 1940: Salaries and expenses Printing and binding	•		000 000
Total appropriated	5,	470,	000
Obligations for fiscal year 1940:			
Salaries:			
Departmental	3,	313,	019
Field	1,	088,	442
Expenses:			
Mileage and witness fees		12,	465
Supplies and material		223,	618
Communication service		76,	189
Travel expense		315,	970
Transportation of things		5,	694
Reporting hearings		43,	333
Light and power		6,	557
Rents=		104,	718
Repairs and alterations		11,	496
Special and miscellaneous expenses		1,	813
Purchase of equipment		175,	931
Total obligations for salaries and expenses_	5,	379,	245
Obligations for printing and binding		69,	820
Grand total obligations	5,	449,	065
Unobligated balance		20,	935
Appropriations	5,	470,	000

RECEIPTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 1940

During the fiscal year the Commission received \$492,640.36 in revenue. The source and disposition of the amounts collected are as follows:

Character of receipts	Transferred to general fund of the Treasury during fiscal year	In trust fund account on 6-30-40 (add)	Subtotal	In trust fund account at beginning of fiscal year and refunds made during fiscal year (subtract)	Net amount collected during fiscal year 1940
Fees from registration of securities	\$240, 774. 44 268, 592 09 32, 442. 54 1, 136 36 542, 945. 43	\$78, 816. 94 400 00 32. 36 1, 950 61 	\$319, 591. 38 400 00 268, 624. 45 34, 393. 15 1, 136. 36 624, 145. 34	\$115, 380 63 1, 691, 92 14, 432, 43 131, 504, 98	\$204, 210 75 400 00 266, 932, 53 19, 960 72 1, 136, 36 492, 640, 36

Comparison of receipts for the fiscal year 1940 with those for the fiscal years 1937, 1938, and 1939, and the total receipts of the Commission since its creation

Character of receipts	To June 30, 1936	1937	1938	1939	1940	Total
Fees from registration of securities	\$657, 150. 14	\$528, 020. 17	\$220, 480. 39	\$276, 072 12	\$204, 210. 75 400 00	\$1, 885, 933. 57 400. 00
Fees from registered exchanges Fees from sale of photo duplica- tions Miscellaneous revenue	444, 119. 97 26, 631. 36 197. 48	·	21, 475. 44	20, 840. 04	266, 932. 53 19, 960. 72	2, 009, 612. 25 118, 520. 45
Grand total	1, 128, 098. 95					

* ·			
,			
-			
-			
		•	
	•		

Part VII APPENDIXES

₹.		
<u>-</u>		

APPENDIX I

RULES OF PRACTICE¹

RULEI

BUSINESS HOURS-REGIONAL OFFICES

The principal office of the Commission at Washington, D. C., is open on each business day, excepting Saturdays, from 9 a. m. to 4:30 p. m., and on Saturdays from 9 a. m. to 1 p. m. Regional offices are maintained at New York, Boston, Atlanta, Cleveland, Chicago, Fort Worth, Denver, San Francisco, and Seattle.

RULE II

APPEARANCE AND PRACTICE BEFORE THE COMMISSION

- (a) An individual may appear in his own behalf, a member of a partnership may represent the partnership, a bona-fide officer of a corporation, trust or association may represent the corporation, trust or association, and an officer or employee of a State commission or of a department or political subdivision of a State may represent the State commission or the department or political subdivision of the State, in any proceeding.
- (b) A person may be represented in any proceeding by an attorney at law admitted to practice before the Supreme Court of the United States, or the highest court of any State or Territory of the United States, or the Court of Appeals or the District Court of the United States for the District of Columbia.
- (c) A person shall not be represented at any hearing before the Commission or a trial examiner except as stated in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this rule.
- (d) Any person appearing before or transacting business with the Commission in a representative capacity may be required to file a power of attorney with the Commission showing his authority to act in such capacity.
- (e) The Commission may disqualify, and deny, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of appearing or practicing before it in any way to, any person who is found by the Commission after hearing in the matter

¹ As amended to December 1, 1940.

(1) Not to possess the requisite qualifications to represent others; or

(2) To be lacking in character or integrity or to have engaged

in unethical or improper professional conduct.

- (f) Contemptuous conduct at any hearing before the Commission or a trial examiner shall be ground for exclusion from said hearing and for summary suspension without a hearing for the duration of the hearing.
- (g) For the purposes of this rule, practicing before the Commission shall include the preparation of any statement, opinion or other paper by any attorney, accountant, engineer or other expert, filed with the Commission in any registration statement, application, report or other document with the consent of such attorney, accountant, engineer or other expert.

RULE III

NOTICE OF HEARINGS

- (a) Whenever a hearing is ordered by the Commission in any proceeding, notice of such hearing shall be given by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission to the registrant, applicant, or other parties to the proceeding, or to the person designated as being authorized to receive notices issued by the Commission. Such notice shall state the time, place and subject matter of the hearing and, in proceedings instituted by the Commission, shall be accompanied, except as provided in paragraph (b) hereof, by a short and simple statement of the matters to be considered and determined. Such notice shall be given by personal service, registered mail, or confirmed telegraphic notice, a reasonable time in advance of the hearing.
- (b) Whenever a hearing is ordered by the Commission in any proceeding pursuant to Section 8 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, notice of such hearing shall be given by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission to the person designated in the registration statement as being authorized to receive service and notice of orders and notices issued by the Commission relating to such registration statement. Such notice shall state the time and place of hearing and shall include a statement of the items in the registration statement by number or name which appear to be incomplete or inaccurate in any material respect, or to include any untrue statement of a material fact, or to omit a statement of any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statement therein not misleading. Such notice shall be given either by personal service or by confirmed telegraphic notice a reasonable time in advance of the hearing. The personal notice or the confirmation of telegraphic notice shall be accompanied by a short and simple statement of the matters and items specified to be considered and determined.

RULE IV

AMENDMENTS

- (a) Whenever a hearing is ordered by the Commission in any proceeding pursuant to Section 8 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and items in the registration statement which appear to be incomplete or inaccurate in any material respect, or to include any untrue statement of a material fact, or to omit a statement of any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, are not particularly specified in the notice, such items shall be so specified by amendment to the notice prior to the taking of testimony in regard to such items. The trial examiner may grant or deny a motion for such amendment. Such motions shall be in writing, and may be filed with the trial examiner at any time prior to the termination of the hearing. On request of the registrant the trial examiner, after granting such motion, shall grant a reasonable time within which the registrant may familiarize himself with such matters before taking testimony in regard to such items.
- (b) In any other proceeding instituted by the Commission, amendment may be allowed to the order, rule to show cause or other moving papers, by the Commission on application to it, or by it upon its own motion.
- (c) When issues not raised by the pleading of a party or the Commission's statement of matters to be considered and determined are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they may be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings.

RULE V

HEARINGS FOR THE PURPOSE OF TAKING EVIDENCE

- (a) Hearings for the purpose of taking evidence shall be held as ordered by the Commission.
- (b) All such hearings shall be held before the Commission, one or more of its members, or a duly designated officer, herein referred to as the trial examiner, and all such hearings, except hearings pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, shall be public unless otherwise ordered by the Commission.
- (c) Hearings for the purpose of taking evidence shall be stenographically reported and a transcript thereof shall be made which

shall be a part of the record of the proceeding. Transcripts of public hearings will be supplied by the official reporter at the prescribed rates. Transcripts of private hearings will be supplied at the prescribed rates to the parties.

- (d) Objections to the admission or exclusion of evidence before the Commission or trial examiner shall be in short form, stating the grounds of objections relied upon, and the transcript shall not include argument or debate thereon except as ordered by the Commission or the trial examiner. Exception to any such ruling must be noted before the trial examiner in order to be urged before the Commission. Rulings by the Commission or trial examiner on such objections shall be a part of the transcript.
- (e) In any proceeding the Commission or the trial examiner may call for the production of further evidence upon any issue, and, upon notice to all parties, may reopen any hearing at any time prior to the Commission's order disposing of such proceeding.
- (f) Subpoenas requiring the attendance of witnesses from any place in the United States at any designated place of hearing may be issued by any member of the Commission or any officer designated by it for that purpose in connection with any hearing ordered by the Commission, upon written application therefor.
- (g) Subpoenas for the production of documentary evidence will issue only upon application in writing, which must specify, as nearly as may be, the documents desired and the facts to be proved by them, in sufficient detail to indicate the materiality and relevance of the documents desired.
- (h) Witnesses summoned before the Commission shall be paid the same fees and mileage that are paid to witnesses in the courts of the United States, and witnesses whose depositions are taken and the persons taking the same shall severally be entitled to the same fees as are paid for like services in the courts of the United States. Witness fees and mileage shall be paid by the party at whose instance the witnesses appear.
- (i) In proceedings pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, if a hearing for the purpose of taking testimony is requested, the Commission may in its discretion, prior to the hearing, require the registrant to furnish in writing additional information in respect of its grounds of objection. Failure to supply the information so requested within 15 days from the date of receipt by the registrant of a notice of the information required, shall be deemed a waiver of the objections to public disclosure of that portion of the information filed confidentially with respect to which the additional

information required by the Commission relates, unless the Commission shall otherwise order for good cause shown at or before the expiration of such fifteen-day period.

RULE VI

MOTIONS

- (a) Motions in any proceeding before a trial examiner which relate to the introduction or striking of evidence, or motions before a trial examiner in any proceeding pursuant to Section 8 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which relate to amendment of the notice of hearing to include additional items of the registration statement as provided in Rule IV (a), may be ruled on by the trial examiner. All other motions shall be ruled on by the Commission.
- (b) Motions or similar pleadings calling for determination by the Commission shall be filed with the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission in writing, provided that motions or similar pleadings calling for determination by the Commission but made in the course of a hearing, may be filed with the trial examiner in writing, who shall refer such motion to the Commission. Any such motion or similar pleading shall be accompanied by a written brief of the points and authorities relied upon in support of the same. Any party or counsel to the Commission may file a reply brief within 5 days after service upon him of such motion or other pleading as provided in Rule XIV, unless otherwise ordered by the Commission. Motions and similar pleadings will be considered on the briefs filed following the time for filing the reply brief, unless otherwise ordered by the Commission. No oral argument will be heard on such matters unless the Commission so directs.

RULE VII

EXTENSIONS OF TIME—CONTINUANCES AND ADJOURNMENTS

Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the Commission for cause shown may extend any time limits prescribed by these rules for filing any papers, and may continue or adjourn any hearing. A hearing before a trial examiner shall begin at the time and place ordered by the Commission, but thereafter may be successively adjourned to such time and place as may be ordered by the Commission or by the trial examiner.

RULE VIII

DEPOSITIONS

- (a) The Commission may, for cause shown, order testimony to be taken by deposition.
- (b) If any party or counsel to the Commission desires to take a deposition he shall make application in writing, setting forth the rea-

sons why such deposition should be taken, the name and residence of the witness, the matters concerning which it is expected the witness will testify, and the time and place proposed for the taking of the deposition. Thereupon the Commission may, in its discretion, issue an order which will name the witness whose deposition is to be taken and specify the time when, the place where, and the designated officer before whom the witness is to testify. Such order shall be served upon all parties and counsel to the Commission by the Secretary, or other duly designated officer of the Commission, a reasonable time in advance of the time fixed for taking testimony.

- (c) Witnesses whose testimony is taken by deposition shall be sworn or shall affirm before any questions are put to them. Each question propounded shall be recorded and the answers shall be taken down in the words of the witness.
- (d) Objections to questions or evidence shall be in short form, stating the grounds of objection relied upon, but no transcript filed by the officer shall include argument or debate. Objections to questions or evidence shall be noted by the officer upon the deposition, but he shall not have power to decide on the competency or materiality or relevancy of evidence. Objections to questions or evidence not taken before the officer shall be deemed waived.
- (e) The testimony shall be reduced to writing by the officer, or under his direction, after which the deposition shall be subscribed by the witness and certified in usual form by the officer. The original deposition and exhibits shall be forwarded under seal to the Secretary of the Commission with such number of copies as may be requested by the Secretary of the Commission. Upon receipt thereof the Secretary shall file the original in the proceedings and shall forward a copy to each party or his attorney of record and to counsel to the Commission.
 - (f) Such depositions shall conform to the specifications of Rule XV.
- (g) Any part of a deposition not received in evidence at a hearing before the Commission or a trial examiner shall not constitute a part of the record in such proceeding, unless the parties and counsel to the Commission shall so agree, or the Commission so orders.
- (h) Depositions may also be taken and submitted on written interrogatories in substantially the same manner as depositions taken by oral examination. The interrogatories shall be filed with the application in triplicate, and copies thereof shall be served on all other parties and counsel to the Commission by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission. Within 5 days any other party or counsel to the Commission may file with the Secretary his objections, if any, to such interrogatories, and may file such cross-interrogatories as he desires to submit. Cross-interrogatories shall be filed in tripli-

cate, and copies shall be served on all other parties and counsel to the Commission, who shall have 3 days thereafter to file their objections, if any, to such cross-interrogatories. Objections to interrogatories or cross-interrogatories shall be settled by the Commission or trial examiner. Objections to interrogatories shall be made before the order for taking the deposition issues and if not so made shall be deemed waived. When a deposition is taken upon written interrogatories and cross-interrogatories, neither any party nor counsel to the Commission shall be present or represented, and no person other than the witness, a stenographic reporter, and the officer shall be present at the examination of the witness, which fact shall be certified by the officer, who shall propound the interrogatories and cross-interrogatories to the witness in their order and reduce the testimony to writing in the witness' own words.

RULE IX

TRIAL EXAMINER'S REPORT

- (a) Following any hearing before a trial examiner, except hearings in proceedings pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, the transcript of the testimony shall forthwith be filed with the Secretary of the Commission. Following any hearing before a trial examiner in the excepted cases, the transcript of the testimony shall forthwith be filed with the Chairman of the Commission.
- (b) Following any hearing before a trial examiner other than (1) a hearing under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, or (2) a hearing on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of a broker or dealer under Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied, or (3) a hearing pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or (4) a hearing on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of an investment adviser under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied, the trial examiner shall, within 10 days after service upon him by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission of a copy of the transcript of the testimony, file with the Secretary of the Commission his report containing his findings of fact.
- (c) Such report shall be advisory only, and the findings of fact therein contained shall not be binding upon the Commission. The

initial page of the report shall contain a statement to such effect. In any proceeding in which, under the provisions of Rule XIII (b) of the Rules of Practice of the Commission, the report is first to be made available to the public on the opening date of public argument on the merits before the Commission, or in the event of submission to the Commission without argument, upon final determination of such proceeding, or pursuant to an order of the Commission, the initial page of the report shall also contain a statement to the effect that the report is confidential, shall not be made public and is for the use only of the Commission, the respondent or respondents and counsel, but copies of the report issued after it is made available to the public may omit such statement.

- (d) A copy of such report shall be forthwith served on each party and on counsel to the Commission by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission.
- (e) Within 5 days after the receipt of a copy of the transcript of the testimony, if promptly at the conclusion of the hearing he has ordered a copy thereof, or if he has not ordered a copy, within 5 days after the filing of the transcript of the testimony with the duly designated officer of the Commission, any party or counsel to the Commission may submit to the presiding officer, or, in the case of a hearing before a trial examiner in respect of which no trial examiner's report is required to be submitted, to the officer designated in paragraph (a) of this Rule as the person with whom transcripts of testimony are to be filed, a statement in writing in terse outline setting forth such party's request for specific findings, which may be accompanied by a brief in support thereof. A copy of such request and brief in support thereof shall be served upon each party and upon counsel to the Commission as provided in Rule XIV in the case of a hearing before a trial examiner in respect of which no trial examiner's report is required to be submitted. A copy of such request and brief in support thereof shall be served upon each party and upon counsel to the Commission by the presiding officer in the case of a hearing in which a trial examiner's report is to be submitted in which event the trial examiner shall immediately certify the facts concerning such service, including the dates thereof to the Secretary of the Commission. all cases where such requests and briefs in support thereof are served upon each party and upon counsel to the Commission by the trial examiner the provisions of Rule XIII (d) shall not be applicable. This paragraph shall not apply to any proceeding on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of a broker or dealer under Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied, or to any proceeding on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of an investment adviser under

Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied.

(f) All requests for specific findings filed pursuant to paragraph (e) of this rule shall be a part of the record.

RULE X

EXCEPTIONS

- (a) Within 5 days after receipt of a copy of the trial examiner's report, any party or counsel to the Commission may file exceptions to the findings of the trial examiner or to his failure to make findings, or to the admission or exclusion of evidence. A copy of such exceptions shall be forthwith served on each party and on counsel to the Commission by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission. Exceptions shall be argued only at the final hearing on the merits before the Commission.
- (b) Objections to the findings of the trial examiner or to his failure to make findings not saved by exception filed pursuant to this rule will be deemed to have been abandoned and may be disregarded. Objections to the admission or exclusion of evidence not saved by exception at the time of the hearing for the purpose of taking evidence and included in the exceptions filed pursuant to this rule will be deemed to have been abandoned and may be disregarded.

RULE XI

BRIEFS

(a) Any party to a proceeding or counsel to the Commission may file a brief in support of his contentions and exceptions within 15 days from the date of service on such party or on counsel to the Commission of a copy of the trial examiner's report. In a case where no trial examiner's report is to be filed and a request for specific findings is filed by a party to the proceeding or counsel to the Commission, any party to the proceeding or counsel to the Commission may file a brief in support of his contentions and exceptions within 15 days of the filing as provided in paragraph (e) of Rule IX hereof by such party or counsel to the Commission of such request for specific findings, or within 15 days from the date of service on such party or on counsel to the Commission of a copy of such request for specific findings. In a case where no trial examiner's report is to be filed and where no request for specific findings is filed, any party to a proceeding or counsel to the Commission may file a brief in support of his contentions and exceptions within 15 days from the date when the transcript of testimony is filed with the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission.

- (b) All briefs shall be confined to the particular matters in issue. Each exception or request for findings which is briefed shall be supported by a concise argument and by citation of such statutes, decisions and other authorities and by page references to such portions of the record, as may be relevant. If the exception relates to the admission or exclusion of evidence, the substance of the evidence admitted or excluded shall be set forth in the brief with appropriate references to the transcript. Reply briefs shall be confined to matters in original briefs of opposing parties. Reply briefs in proceedings held pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, will be received only by special permission of the Commission. Any scandalous or impertinent matter contained in any brief may be stricken on order of the Commission.
- (c) Exceptions and, in cases where no trial examiner's report is to be filed, requests for specific findings not briefed in accordance with Rule XI may be regarded by the Commission as waived.
 (d) All briefs, including briefs filed pursuant to Rule VI, containing more than 10 pages shall include an index and table of cases.
- (d) All briefs, including briefs filed pursuant to Rule VI, containing more than 10 pages shall include an index and table of cases. The date of each brief must appear on its front cover or title page. If briefs are typewritten or mimeographed, 10 copies shall be filed; if printed, 20 copies, provided that only 7 copies of briefs in proceedings held pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, need be filed in any instance. No brief shall exceed 60 pages in length, except with the permission of the Commission.
- (e) Copies of briefs shall be served by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission on the parties to the proceeding and on counsel to the Commission, and reply briefs may be filed within 5 days thereafter. Such reply briefs as are authorized by the Commission in proceedings held pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, shall be filed within 5 days after such authorization.
- (f) Briefs not filed on or before the time fixed in these rules will be received only upon special permission of the Commission.
- (g) Without regard to the foregoing provisions of this rule with respect to filing of briefs, in the event an application is submitted to the Commission for final determination pursuant to paragraph (e) of Rule X-24B-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

or paragraph (c) of Rule U-22B-1 under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, either party or counsel to the Commission may file a brief in support of his contentions within 15 days from the time of such submission. In such proceeding, reply briefs will be received only upon special permission of the Commission.

(h) This rule shall not apply to any proceeding (1) on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of a broker or dealer under Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied or (2) on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of an investment adviser under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied, and in any such proceeding neither any party nor counsel to the Commission shall be entittled to file a brief.

RULE XII

HEARING BEFORE THE COMMISSION

- (a) Upon written request of any party or of counsel to the Commission, the matter will be set down for oral argument before the Commission. Such request must be made within the time provided for filing the original briefs or, in the case of a proceeding either on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of a broker or dealer under Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied, or on the question of postponement of the effective date of registration of an investment adviser under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 pending final determination whether such registration shall be denied, before the close of the hearing for the purpose of taking evidence; provided that, except upon order of the Commission, neither any party nor counsel to the Commission will be permitted to make oral argument before the Commission on matters arising out of proceedings pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.
- (b) In a case where no trial examiner's report is made, the Commission shall determine the matter on the moving papers, the transcript of the testimony and exhibits received at the hearing, requests for specific findings, if any, the briefs of the parties and counsel we the Commission, if any, and oral argument before the Commission, if any.
- (c) The Commission, upon its own motion or upon application in writing by any party or counsel to the Commission for leave to adduce

additional evidence which application shall show to the satisfaction of the Commission that such additional evidence is material and that there were reasonable grounds for failure to adduce such evidence at the hearing before the Commission or the trial examiner, may hear such additional evidence or may refer the proceeding to the trial examiner for the taking of such additional evidence.

(d) Any petition for rehearing by the Commission shall be filed within 5 days after issuance of the order complained of and shall clearly state the specific grounds and the specific matters upon which rehearing is sought.

RULE XIII

FILING PAPERS—DOCKET—COMPUTATION OF TIME

- (a) All reports, exceptions, briefs, and other papers required to be filed with the Commission in any proceeding shall be filed with the Secretary, except that all papers containing data as to which confidential treatment is sought pursuant to Rules 580, X-24B-2 or U-22B-1 of the Rules and Regulations of the Commission, together with applications making objection to the disclosure thereof, shall be filed with the Chairman. Any such papers may be sent by mail or express to the officer with whom they are directed to be filed, but must be received by such officer at the office of the Commission in Washington, D. C., within the time limit, if any, for such filing.
- (b) All papers containing data as to which confidential treatment is sought pursuant to Rules 580, X-24B-2, or U-22B-1 of the Rules and Regulations of the Commission, together with any application making objection to the disclosure thereof, or other papers relating in any way to such application, shall be made available to the public only in accordance with the applicable provisions of Rules 580 (h), X-24B-2 (i) or U-22B-1. The report of the trial examiner, exceptions thereto, requests for findings, and briefs in support of such requests or in support of or in opposition to such exceptions, which are filed in connection with any hearing shall, unless otherwise ordered by the Commission, first be made available to the public on the opening date of public argument on the merits before the Commission, or, in the event of submission to the Commission without argument, upon final determination of the proceeding by the Commission, and prior thereto shall be for the confidential use only of the Commission, the respondent or respondents and counsel.
- (c) The Secretary shall maintain a docket of all proceedings, and each proceeding shall be assigned a number.
- (d) Wherever under these rules, unless otherwise expressly provided, any limitation is made as to the time within which any reports, exceptions, briefs, or other papers are required to be filed

with the Commission in any proceeding, trial examiners and parties who are residents of the following states: Montana, Idaho, Wyoming, Colorado, New Mexico, Utah, Arizona, Nevada, Washington, Oregon and California, shall have an additional period of 5 days; and trial examiners and parties who reside beyond the confines of the continental United States shall have an additional period of 20 days within which to file such reports, exceptions, briefs, and other papers. For the purposes of this rule the person upon whom service is made by the Commission is the party whose residence shall determine whether the additional time provided herein shall be granted.

- (e) In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by these rules or by order of the Commission, the day of the act, event, or default after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be included. The last day of the period so computed is to be included, unless it is a Sunday or a legal holiday in the District of Columbia, in which event the period runs until the end of the next day which is neither a Sunday nor a holiday. Intermediate Sundays and holidays shall be included in the computation. A half-holiday shall be considered as other days and not as a holiday.
- (f) Unless otherwise specifically provided in these rules, an original and 8 copies of all papers shall be filed, unless the same be printed, in which case 20 copies shall be filed.

RULE XIV

SERVICE OF REPORTS, EXCEPTIONS, BRIEFS, AND OTHER PAPERS

- (a) All reports, exceptions, briefs, requests for specific findings, or other documents or papers required by these rules to be served on any party to a proceeding, or on counsel to the Commission, shall be served by the Secretary or other duly designated officer of the Commission, provided that such papers concerning applications for confidential treatment pursuant to the provisions of Clause 30 of Schedule A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Section 22 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, shall be served by the Chairman.
- (b) Subject to the provisions of Rule III (a) hereof, such service, except on counsel to the Commission, shall be made by personal service on the party or his attorney of record or by registered mail addressed to the party or his attorney of record.

RULE XV

FORMAL REQUIREMENTS AS TO PAPERS FILED IN PROCEEDINGS

(a) All papers filed under these rules shall be typewritten, mimeographed, or printed, shall be plainly legible, shall be on one grade

of good unglazed white paper approximately 8 inches wide and 10½ inches long, with left-hand margin 1½ inches wide, and shall be bound at the upper left-hand corner. They shall be double-spaced, except that quotations shall be single-spaced and indented. If printed, they shall be in either 10- or 12-point type with double-leaded text and single-leaded quotations.

- (b) All papers must be signed in ink by the party filing the same, or his duly authorized agent or attorney, or counsel to the Commission, and must show the address of the signer.
- (c) All papers filed must include at the head thereof, or on a title page, the name of the Commission, the names of the parties, and the subject of the particular paper or pleading, and the docket number assigned to the proceeding.

RULE XVI

SIGNATURE OF COMMISSION ORDERS

All orders of the Commission shall be signed by the Secretary or such other person as may be authorized by the Commission.

RIILE XVII

INTERVENTION

- (a) Any interested representative, agency, authority, or instrumentality of the United States, and any interested State, State commission, State securities commission, municipality, or other political subdivision of a State, shall be permitted to intervene in any proceeding upon written request. Any other person may be permitted to intervene in any proceeding upon written application to the Commission showing that he possesses or represents a legitimate interest which is or may be inadequately represented in such proceeding, but no person will be permitted to intervene if after examination the Commission finds that, for any reason (including the existence of undesirable conflicts in the interests possessed or represented by the applicant), his participation in the proceeding would not be in the public interest, or for the protection of investors or, in a proceeding under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, for the protection of consumers. Intervention shall be subject to such terms and conditions as the Commission may prescribe, which may include a requirement that the applicant divest himself of specified interests which might conflict with the interests upon which his intervention is based.
- (b) Any person filing an application to intervene shall file therewith an affidavit setting forth in detail his interest or the interest to be represented by him in the proceedings, and stating whether the position which he may propose to take with respect to the pending

matter is one already taken by any other party to the proceedings. In the case of a person desiring to intervene in a representative capacity, his affidavit in addition (1) shall state all relevant material facts bearing upon the existence of any interest of the applicant or of any person represented by him which may conflict with the interests of any other person represented by him, including all affiliations of the applicant or of any person represented by him with any other party to the proceedings; (2) if requested by the Commission shall state the names and addresses of the persons represented; and (3) shall be accompanied by copies of all circulars, other general literature, and forms of authorization used or intended to be used by the applicant.

(c) Upon request by any party or by counsel for the Commission, the trial examiner or the Commission may for good cause shown order the applicant to submit himself for examination with respect to his application.

RULE XVIII

CONSOLIDATION

By order of the Commission, or upon agreement between the parties and counsel to the Commission, proceedings involving a common question of law or fact may be joined for hearing of any or all the matters in issue in such proceedings and such proceedings may be consolidated; and the Commission may make such orders concerning the conduct of such proceedings as may tend to avoid unnecessary costs or delay.

RULE XIX

NONAPPLICABILITY OF RULES TO INVESTIGATIONS

These rules, other than Rule II, shall not be applicable to investigations conducted by the Commission pursuant to Sections 8 (e), 19 (b), and 20 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Sections 21 (a) and 21 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, Sections 11 (a), 13 (g), 18 (a), 18 (b), 18 (e), and 30 of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, or Sections 209 (a), (b), and (d) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

APPENDIX II

GUIDES TO FORMS 1

GUIDE TO FORMS ADOPTED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

FOR REGISTRATION STATEMENTS

FORM A-1-GENERAL FORM

- (a) General Rule.—This form is to be used for registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of all securities for the registration of which no other form is specifically prescribed.
- (b) Special Rule.—Notwithstanding the Rules for the Use of Form A-2 for Corporations, Form A-1 may be used by any incorporated investment trust for registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of an additional block of securities of a class, part of which has previously been registered on Form A-1.

FORM A-O-1 FOR SECURITIES OF CORPORATIONS ORGANIZED WITHIN 2 YEARS TO ENGAGE IN THE EXPLOITATION OF MINERAL DEPOSITS (OTHER THAN OIL OR GAS)

This form is to be used for registration under the Securities Act of 1933 of securities of any corporation organized within 2 years prior to the date of filing the registration statement to engage primarily in the exploitation of mineral deposits (other than oil or gas) if such securities are to be sold to the public for cash or purchasers' obligations to pay cash.

This form shall not be used, however, by any corporation which (a) has any subsidiary, or (b) was organized to take over and continue the business of another person or persons, unless such other persons were organized within such 2 years.

FORM A-2-FOR CORPORATIONS

This form is to be used for registration statements, except such statements as to which a special form is specifically prescribed, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, by any corporation which files profit and loss statements for 3 years and which meets either one of the following conditions: (a) Such corporation has made annually

¹ These guides are designed to aid in the selection of appropriate forms, and are revised from time to time as circumstances require. Copies of the forms herein referred to will be furnished without charge upon request.

available to its security holders, for at least 10 years, financial reports (which may be reports consolidating the reports of the corporation and its subsidiaries) including at least a balance sheet and a profit-and-loss or income statement, or (b) such corporation had a net income for any 2 fiscal years of the 5 fiscal years preceding the date of the latest balance sheet filed with the registration statement. If such corporation has subsidiaries, such income shall be determined on the basis of consolidated reports for such corporation and its subsidiaries. Notwithstanding what is hereinabove prescribed in this paragraph, however, this form shall not be used by any corporation organized within 10 years, if the majority of the capital stock thereof was issued to promotors of the corporation in consideration of property or services, or if more than one-half of the proceeds of the sale of securities of such corporation has been used to purchase property acquired by the corporation from the promoters of the corporation.

This form may also be used for registration statements (except such statements as to which a special form is specifically prescribed) by a corporation organized for the purpose of distributing to its stockholders only, water, electricity, or gas, and prohibited from paying any dividends to its stockholders except upon its dissolution or liquidation, provided that:

- 1. The corporation has been in existence at least 15 years prior to the date of the filing of the registration statement;
- 2. There has been no default by the corporation upon any of its funded indebtedness within the period of 15 years prior to the date of the filing of the registration statement;
- 3. The registrant will have a total indebtedness, upon the issuance of the securities registered, not exceeding 50 percent of the amount, less valuation reserves, at which the total assets of the registrant are carried on the latest balance sheet of the registrant filed with the registration statement, giving effect to the proceeds of the securities registered; and
- 4. Within the period of 10 years preceding the date of the filing of the registration statement, the corporation shall not have failed to levy and collect assessments in amounts sufficient to meet all current charges.

SPECIAL RULES AS TO THE USE OF FORM A-2 FOR CORPORATIONS

1. Notwithstanding that Form E-1 is specifically prescribed for use in cases involving an exchange of securities by the issuer thereof for others of its securities or a modification of the terms of securities by agreement between the issuer and its security holders, a registrant otherwise entitled to use Form A-2 may, at its option, use Form A-2 in any such case if the registrant is not in reorganization pursuant to Section 77B of the Bankruptcy Act or in bankruptcy or

receivership and if no default exists on any outstanding funded debt (other than a default in sinking fund payments which has been waived by the holders of at least 80 percent in principal amount of the issue outstanding). If Form A-2 is used pursuant to this Rule. the fee payable for registration shall be calculated in accordance with Instruction 7 in Form E-1, and the table setting forth the calculation shall be prepared as prescribed in such Form

2. Form A-2 may be used by a registrant if all the following conditions exist.

(a) The registrant was organized as the successor to a single predecessor, or to a group of predecessors one of which, at the time of succession, directly or indirectly owned substantially all of the

outstanding stock of all the other predecessors;

(b) The registrant acquired all of the assets and assumed all of the liabilities of such predecessor or predecessors, and the capital structure of the registrant immediately following the succession was substantially the same as the capital structure of the single predecessor, or as the consolidated capital structure of the group of predecessors, except for such changes as may have resulted from the substitution of issuers incident to the succession or from changes in

capital stock liability per share; and
(c) The single predecessor, or the parent company in a group of predecessors, could have used Form A-2 if the succession had not

taken place.

In determining whether such single predecessor or such parent company in a group of predecessors could have used Form A-2. the record of the registrant in regard to income or annual reporting to security holders shall be considered a continuation of the record of such single predecessor or such parent company. In the case of a group of predecessor companies, the income of the parent company of the group shall be determined on the basis of consolidated reports for such parent company and its subsidiaries, the subsidiaries to be included in the consolidated reports whether or not they were combined with the parent company to form the registrant.

- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the last sentence of the rule for the use of Form A-2 for Corporations, that form may be used by a corporation otherwise entitled to use the form, if the property acquired from promoters under the circumstances stated in such last sentence consisted principally of one or more going businesses, or of securities representing directly or indirectly more than 50 percent of the voting power controlling such businesses.
- 4. Notwithstanding the rules as to the use of Form E-1, or the rule as to the use of Form A-2 for Corporations, Form A-2 may be used in the situation described below for registration statements. except those for which a special form (other than Form E-1) is specifically prescribed, by corporations which file profit and loss statements of their own or of their predecessors for 3 years and which, or the predecessors of which, have in the past 15 years paid dividends upon any class of common stock for at least 2 consecutive years.

The situation in which Form A-2 may thus be used is that of registration of securities issued or sold in the course of a "reorganization", as defined in Rule 5 (1) as to the use of Form E-1, where the only operation which brings the transaction within the definition is the acquisition of assets of a subsidiary by the registrant in consideration of securities of the registrant, or the exchange of securities of the registrant for outstanding securities of a subsidiary.²

- 5. Any corporation which was formed by the consolidation of two or more corporations may use Form A-2, if each of the constituent corporations which collectively brought in a majority of the assets, as shown by the books of the constituent corporations prior to the consolidation, could have used Form A-2 if the consolidation had not taken place. In determining whether any such constituent corporation could have used Form A-2, the record of the registrant in regard to income or annual reporting to security holders shall be considered a continuation of such constituent corporation's record. In this rule, all the corporations consolidated to form the registrant are called the "constituent corporations."
- 6. Form A-2 may be used by a registrant if all the following conditions exist:
- (a) The registrant was a wholly owned subsidiary of a corporation which, either alone or with one or more of its other wholly owned subsidiaries, was merged into the registrant;

(b) The registrant acquired all the assets and assumed all the

liabilities of the corporations merged into it; and

- (c) The parent corporation could have used Form A-2 had the merger not taken place. In determining whether such parent corporation could have used Form A-2, the record of the registrant subsequent to the merger, in regard to income or annual reporting to security holders, shall be considered a continuation of the record of such parent corporation.
- 7. Notwithstanding the provisions of clause (b) of the rule as to the use of Form A-2 for Corporations, this form may be used by a corporation which has had a net income for only 1 fiscal year of the 5 fiscal years preceding the date of the latest balance sheet filed with the registration statement, if—
- (1) The corporation was organized at least 5 years prior to the date of filing;
- (2) Total assets of the registrant and its subsidiaries after deducting valuation and qualifying reserves, amount to not more than \$5,000,000, as shown by the most recent balance sheets filed with the registration statement; and

(3) The registrant is not an investment company, a bank holding

company, or a small-loan or other finance company.

² Rule 5 (1) defining the term "reorganization" is set forth below under the caption "Form E-1 For Securities in Reorganization."

FORM A-R FOR CORPORATE BONDS SECURED BY MORTGAGE INSURED BY FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION

This form is to be used for registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of corporate bonds constituting part of an issue secured by mortgage insured by Federal Housing Administration under the authority of Section 207 of the National Housing Act.

FORM C-1 FOR SECURITIES OF UNINCORPORATED INVESTMENT TRUSTS

This form is to be used for registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of securities of unincorporated investment trusts of the fixed or restricted management type, having a depositor or sponsor but not having a board of directors or persons performing similar functions

FORM C-2 FOR CERTAIN TYPES OF CERTIFICATES OF INTEREST IN SECURITIES

This form is to be used for registration under the Securities Act of 1933 of certificates of interest in securities of a single class of a single issuer, if the following conditions exist:

(1) The major part of the certificates are to be sold to the public for cash:

(2) Under the terms of the deposit agreement the depositor (as defined below) has no rights or duties as depositor, subsequent to the deposit of the securities with the depositary;

(3) Under the terms of the deposit agreement the power to vote or give a consent with respect to the deposited securities may be exercised only by, or pursuant to the instructions of, the holders of the certificates of interest, except a power, if any, to vote to effect a split-up of deposited stock in such manner as to cause no change in the aggregate capital stock liability of the issuer of the deposited securities:

(4) The securities deposited by the depositor are registered under the Securities Act of 1933 in connection with the sale of the certificates of interest.

FORM C-8 FOR AMERICAN CERTIFICATES AGAINST FOREIGN ISSUES AND FOR THE UNDERLYING SECURITIES

This form shall be used for registration under the Securities Act of 1933 of American certificates (for example, so-called American depositary receipts for foreign shares or American participation certificates in foreign bonds or notes) issued against securities of foreign issuers deposited or to be deposited with an American depositary (whether physically held by such depositary in America or abroad) and of the foreign securities so deposited.

FORM D-1 FOR CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT

In registering certificates of deposit issued in anticipation of or in connection with a plan of reorganization or readjustment, Form D-1 shall be used. If a plan of reorganization or readjustment is proposed at the time the call for deposits is to be made, parts I and II of Form D-1 should be filed at the same time. If no such plan is proposed at the time the call for deposits is to be made, part I may be filed alone, and part II must then be filed before the plan is submitted to the security holders or deposits are solicited under the plan. Part II is an amendment of part I and as such shall become effective on such date as the Commission may determine, having due regard to the public interest and the protection of investors.

In the event that a registrant is exempted from the necessity for filing part I, he may nevertheless file part II.

Before the issuance of the securities provided in the plan of readjustment or reorganization, Form E-1 is to be filed by the issuer of such securities, unless exempted from the necessity of such filing by the Act.

FORM D-1A FOR CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT ISSUED BY ISSUER OF SECURITIES CALLED FOR DEPOSIT

This form is to be used only where the issuer of the certificates of deposit is the original issuer of the securities called for deposit, and only if the certificates of deposit are issued in connection with a plan of reorganization or readjustment which involves the issue of new securities to the holders of certificates of deposit.

FORM E-1 FOR SECURITIES IN REORGANIZATION

This form is to be used to register securities (including contracts of guaranty but excepting voting trust certificates, certificates of deposit, and certificates of interest or shares in unincorporated investment trusts of the fixed or restricted management type not having a board of directors or a board of persons performing similar functions, but having a depositor or sponsor) sold or modified in the course of a reorganization.²

The "Rules and Instructions Accompanying Form E-1" contain the following definition of the term "reorganization":

- 5. As used in these rules and the accompanying instructions:
- (1) The term "reorganization" includes any transaction involving:
- (a) A readjustment by modification of the terms of securities by agreement; or
- (b) A readjustment by the exchange of securities by the issuer thereof for others of its securities; or

³ Attention is called to the rules as to the use of Form A-2 which permit the use of that form in certain instances for securities in reorganization.

- (c) The exchange of securities by the issuer thereof for securities of another issuer; or
- (d) The acquisition of assets of a person, directly or indirectly, partly or wholly, in consideration of securities distributed or to be distributed as part of the same transaction directly or indirectly to holders of securities issued by such person or secured by assets of such person; or
 - (e) A merger or consolidation.

FORM F-1 FOR VOTING TRUST CERTIFICATES

This form is to be used to register voting trust certificates issued in the course of a reorganization or otherwise.

FORM 8-10 FOR OIL OR GAS INTERESTS OR RIGHTS

Form S-10 shall be used for registration of landowners' royalty interests, overriding royalty interests, participating interests, working interests, oil or gas payments, oil or gas fee interests, oil or gas leasehold interests, and other producing or nonproducing oil or gas interests or rights.

SUPPLEMENT S-T TO REGISTRATION STATEMENTS UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

The special items comprising this Supplement S-T shall be applicable to issuers registering securities under the Securities Act of 1933 if any of the securities being registered are to be issued under an indenture required to be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. The special items, together with the answers thereto, shall be inserted in the registration statement immediately after the last item of the appropriate form.

Information and Documents Required for Exemption of Certain Securities Under Section 3 (b) of the Act

Certain issues of securities having an aggregate offering price to the public not exceeding \$100,000 are exempted from the registration provisions of the Act by regulations of the Commission pursuant to Section 3 (b) of the Act upon compliance with certain conditions provided in the regulations. The pertinent regulations are available without charge upon request.

The Commission rescinded exemption Rules 200 to 210, inclusive, of Regulation A, effective January 1, 1941, and adopted a new Regulation A, effective December 9, 1940. In connection with the adoption of the new Regulation A the Commission also adopted Form S-3b-1 which may be used in supplying the information required to be set forth in the letter of notification required by the new regulation.

FORM 1-G FOR REPORT OF SALE OF OIL OR GAS RIGHT

This form is to be used for reports of sales of oil or gas rights, required by Rule 320.

FORM 2-G FOR REPORT OF SALE OF OIL OR GAS RIGHT

This form is to be used for reports of sales of oil or gas rights, required by Rule 322.

GUIDE TO FORMS ADOPTED UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION OF A NATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE

- Form 1. Application for registration or exemption from registration as a National Securities Exchange.—This form shall be filed in connection with the applications of securities exchanges for registration or exemption from registration.
- Form 9. Amendatory and/or supplementary statement to registration statement filed by an exchange.—This form shall be used for filing amendatory and/or supplementary statements to registration statements of national securities exchanges.

Form 9-A. Amendatory and/or supplementary statement to application for exemption from registration filed by an exchange.—This form shall be used for filing amendatory and/or supplementary statements to applications for exemption from registration as national securities exchanges.

FOR APPLICATIONS FOR REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES ON NATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGES

- Form 7. For provisional applications.—Where the form for permanent registration of any particular class of security has not yet been authorized, and for a period of 90 days after the filing of applications on such form is authorized, a provisional application for registration of a security of such class may be filed on Form 7 pursuant to Rule X-12B-2. (Rule X-12B-2 sets forth the requirements of an application filed on Form 7.)
- Form 8. For amendments to applications for registration or amendments to annual reports.—This form shall be used for amendments to applications for registration of securities pursuant to Section 12 (b) and (c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or amendments to annual reports pursuant to Section 13 of that Act.
- Form 8-A. For additional securities.—This form shall be used for applications for registration of securities on an exchange on which other securities of the registrant, whether of the same or a different class, are registered pursuant to Section 12 (b) and (c) of the Act if Form 10, 11, 13, 15, 17, 22, or 23 would be the form appropriate for registration in case the registrant did not have securities so previously registered: *Provided*, That if Form 22 or 23 would be appropriate for original registration, this form shall be used only if securities of the

registrant issued pursuant to the plan of reorganization or succession by reason of which Form 22 or 23 would be appropriate for original registration have been registered on such exchange pursuant to an application on such form.

Form 8-B. For securities issued in certain cases upon the registrant's succession to an issuer or issuers of previously registered securities.—
This form shall be used by an issuer, not having securities previously registered, for applications filed on and after March 12, 1936, for the registration of securities, if the conditions set forth in the following paragraphs (a), (b), (c), and (d) exist:

(a) (1) The registrant, having no assets at the time other than nominal assets; succeeded to a single predecessor which had securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (b) and (c) of the Act on the exchange or exchanges on which registration is applied for on this form; or

(2) The registrant was organized as the successor to, or, having no assets at the time other than nominal assets, succeeded to, a group of predecessors consisting of a parent which had securities so registered and one or more wholly owned subsidiaries of such

parent; or

(3) The registrant was a wholly owned subsidiary of a corporation having securities so registered, which corporation, either alone or with one or more of its other wholly owned subsidiaries,

was merged into the registrant.

(b) Substantially all of the securities to be registered on this form were or are to be issued in exchange for or otherwise in respect of previously registered securities of one or more of the predecessors, or are securities which, having been previously registered, have become or are to become securities of the registrant by operation of law or otherwise upon the succession.

(c) The registrant acquired all the assets and assumed all the

liabilities of its predecessor or predecessors.

(d) Except for such changes as may have resulted (1) from the substitution of issuers incident to the succession, or (2) from changes in capital stock liability per share, or (3) from the issuance of securities in satisfaction of dividends or interest in arrears on securities of predecessors, the capital structure of the registrant immediately following the succession was substantially the same as the capital structure of the single predecessor or the combined capital structure of the predecessors, or in a case falling within paragraph (a) (3) above, the combined capital structure of all the constituent corporations.

The term "wholly owned subsidiary" as used in this rule refers to a subsidiary substantially all the outstanding stock of which is held, directly or indirectly, by a single parent.

Form 8-C. For registration on an additional exchange.—This form may be used for applications for registration of securities on an exchange upon which no securities of the registrant are listed and registered, if securities of the registrant are registered pursuant to Section 12 (b), (c), and (d) on another exchange.

Form 10. For corporations.—This form shall be used for applications for the permanent registration of securities of corporations, filed on and after February 13, 1935, except the following: Securities of companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934; certificates of deposit; American certificates against foreign issues, either government or corporate; securities of insurance companies, other than companies engaged primarily in the title insurance business; securities of banks and bank holding companies: securities of investment trusts; securities issued by any corporation organized under the laws of any foreign country other than a North American country or Cuba; bonds issued by any corporation organized under the laws of a North American country or Cuba, which are guaranteed by any foreign government; securities issued by any corporation, foreign or domestic, which is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any foreign government: Provided, however, That this form shall not be used for applications for the permanent registration of securities of any corporation for which, at the time the application is filed, Form 22 or 23 is prescribed: And provided further, That this form shall not be used for applications for the permanent registration of securities of any corporation, if, at the time the application is filed, such corporation is in bankruptcy or receivership or in the process of reorganization pursuant to Section 77 or 77B of the Bankruptcy Act, and (a) a trustee or receiver appointed in such proceedings has title to or possession of a substantial portion of the assets of such corporation, or (b) such corporation is in possession of a substantial portion of its assets pursuant to an order entered under Subdivision (c), Clause (2) of said Section 77 or Subdivision (c), Clause (1) of said Section 77B. Any foreign issuer which by this paragraph is to file on Form 10 as to any class of securities other than bonds may also file on such form for such bonds; and any issuer of bonds which is organized under the laws of any foreign country may at its option file on Form 10 until 90 days after the proper form applicable to such foreign issuer shall have been published.

Form 11. For unincorporated issuers.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after March 30, 1935, for the permanent registration of securities of unincorporated issuers, except the following: Securities of companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934; certificates of deposit; voting trust certificates; American certificates against foreign issues, either government or private; securities of insurance companies; securities of banks and bank holding companies; securities of investment trusts; securities issued by a

national of a foreign country other than a North American country or Cuba; bonds issued by a national of a North American country or Cuba, which are guaranteed by any foreign government; securities of any issuer, foreign or domestic, which is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any foreign government: Provided, however. That this form shall not be used for applications for the permanent registration of securities of any issuer for which, at the time the application is filed. Form 22 or 23 is prescribed: And provided further, That this form shall not be used for applications for the permanent registration of securities of any issuer, if, at the time the application is filed, such issuer is in bankruptcy or receivership or in the process of reorganization pursuant to Section 77 or 77B of the Bankruptcy Act, and (a) a trustee or receiver appointed in such proceedings has title to or possession of a substantial portion of the assets of such issuer, or (b) such corporation is in possession of a substantial portion of its assets pursuant to an order entered under Subdivision (c), Clause (2) of said Section 77 or Subdivision (c), Clause (1) of said Section 77B.

Form 12. For companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after April 10, 1935, for the permanent registration of securities of companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934, except such companies in receivership or in process of reorganization pursuant to Section 77 of the Bankruptcy Act.

Form 12-A. For companies in receivership or bankruptcy and making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after June 17, 1935, for the permanent registration of securities of companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934, and in receivership or in bankruptcy (including proceedings under Section 77 or 77B of the Bankruptcy Act).

Form 13. For insurance companies other than life and title insurance companies.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after May 7, 1935, for permanent registration of securities of corporations engaged, directly or through subsidiaries, primarily in the insurance business, except corporations engaged primarily in the life or title insurance business. This form shall not be used by corporations engaged primarily in the business of guaranteeing mortgages or mortgage-participation certificates.

Pending the authorization of a form for registration of securities of corporations engaged primarily in the life insurance business, and for a period of 30 days after the filing of applications on such form is authorized, such corporations may file application on Form 13 for Insurance Companies other than Life and Title Insurance Companies.

Insofar as Form 13 may be inappropriate to the life insurance business, a corporation engaged in the life insurance business filing on Form 13, pursuant to this rule, shall furnish information comparable to that required by Form 13; and, in lieu of financial statements required under the Instructions as to Financial Statements in the Instruction Book for Form 13, such corporation may file a copy of its last annual statement filed with its State regulatory authority.

Form 14. For certificates of deposit issued by a committee.—This form shall be used for applications on or after May 10, 1935, for the permanent registration of certificates of deposit issued by a committee.

Form 15. For incorporated investment companies.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after May 15, 1935, for the permanent registration of securities of any corporation which is engaged, either directly or through subsidiaries, primarily in the business of investing and reinvesting, or trading, in securities, for the purpose of revenue and for profit, and not in general for the purpose, or with the effect, of exercising control; except securities of such corporations in process of reorganization pursuant to Section 77B of the Bankruptcy Act or securities of such corporations in bankruptcy or receivership.

Form 16. For voting trust certificates and underlying securities.— This form shall be used for applications filed on or after May 18, 1935, for the permanent registration of voting trust certificates and underlying securities.

Form 17. For unincorporated issuers engaged primarily in the business of investing or trading in securities.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after May 31, 1935, for the permanent registration of securities of any unincorporated issuer which is engaged, either directly or through subsidiaries, primarily in the business of investing and reinvesting, or trading, in securities, for the purpose of revenue and for profit, and not in general for the purpose, or with the effect, of exercising control; except securities of such issuers in process of reorganization pursuant to Section 77B of the Bankruptcy Act or securities of such issuers in bankruptcy or receivership.

Form 18. For foreign governments and political subdivisions thereof.— This form shall be used for applications filed on or after July 1, 1935, for the permanent registration of securities of any foreign government or political subdivision thereof: *Provided*, however, That any public corporation or other autonomous entity in the nature of a political subdivision, except a State, province, county, or municipality or similar body politic, may, at its option, use Form 21 in lieu of this form.

Form 19. For American certificates against foreign issues and for the underlying securities.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after July 15, 1935, for the permanent registration of American certificates (for example, so-called American depositary receipts for foreign shares or American participation certificates in foreign bonds or notes) issued against securities of foreign issuers deposited with an American depositary (whether physically held by such depositary in America or abroad) and of the foreign securities so deposited.

Form 20. For securities other than bonds of foreign private issuers.—
This form shall be used for applications filed on or after July 15, 1935, for the permanent registration of securities other than bonds or other evidences of indebtedness (a) issued by a national of a foreign country other than a North American country or Cuba, or (b) issued by any corporation or unincorporated association, foreign or domestic, which is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any foreign government.

Form 21. For bonds of foreign private issuers.—This form shall be used for applications filed on or after July 15, 1935, for the permanent registration of bonds or other evidences of indebtedness (a) issued by a national of a foreign country other than a North American country or Cuba; (b) issued by a national of a North American country or Cuba which are guaranteed by any foreign government; (c) issued by any corporation or unincorporated association, foreign or domestic, which is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any foreign government; or (d) issued by any public corporation or other autonomous entity in the nature of a political subdivision which shall at its option elect to use this form in lieu of Form 18, except that this form is not to be used by a State, province, county, or municipality or similar body politic.

Form 22. For issuers reorganized in insolvency proceedings or which have succeeded to a person in insolvency proceedings.—This form shall be used for applications for registration of securities of any issuer which, pursuant to a plan—

(a) Has been or is being reorganized in insolvency proceed-

ings; or

(b) Has acquired or is to acquire, directly or indirectly, substantially all of its business and assets (other than cash) from a person in insolvency proceedings or from such person and one or more of its subsidiaries, and is continuing or is to continue the business so acquired; or

(c) Being a subsidiary of a person in insolvency proceedings, has acquired or is to acquire directly or indirectly substantially all of its assets (other than cash and other than assets

owned by it prior to such acquisition) from such person or from such person and one or more of its subsidiaries;

if the securities are, or are to be, outstanding or issued pursuant to the plan, or were or are to be issued after the consummation of the plan: *Provided*, That this form shall not be used by issuers for which Form 8-A, 12, or 12-A is prescribed, or for applications filed with the exchange after the expiration of a full fiscal year of the issuer commencing on or after the date on which the transfer or opening of accounts was made.

Form 23. For successor issuers.—This form shall be used for applications for registration of securities of any issuer which has acquired, or is presently to acquire, directly or indirectly (through the acquisition of securities or otherwise) the major portion of its business and assets (other than cash) by acquiring all or a part of the business and assets of one or more other persons, and is continuing or is to continue the business so acquired: Provided, however, That this form shall not be used by issuers for which either Form 8-A, 8-B, 12, 12-A, 20, 21, or 22 is prescribed, or for applications filed with the exchange after the expiration of a full fiscal year of the issuer commencing on or after the date of succession.

Form 24. For bank holding companies.—This form shall be used for applications for the registration of securities of any person which is engaged, either directly or through subsidiaries, primarily in the business of owning securities of banks, for the purpose or with the effect of exercising control.

Form 1-J. For registration of unissued warrants for "when issued" dealing.—This form is to be used for applications for registration of unissued warrants, pursuant to Section 12 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for "when issued" dealing on a national securities exchange.

Form 2-J. For registration of unissued securities, other than unissued warrants for "when issued" dealing.—This form is to be used for applications for registration of unissued securities, other than unissued warrants, pursuant to Section 12 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for "when issued" dealing on a national securities exchange.

Form 15-AN. For statements in respect of exemption of issued warrants.—This form is to be used for statements in respect of exemption of issued warrants, pursuant to Section 3 (a) (12) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

FOR ANNUAL AND OTHER REPORTS OF ISSUERS HAVING SECURITIES
REGISTERED ON NATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGES

Form 8-K. For current reports.—This form is to be used for the

current reports required by Rule X-13A-6.1

Form 10-K. For corporations.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of all corporations except those for which another form is specifically prescribed.

Form 11-K. For unincorporated issuers.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of all unincorporated issuers except those for which another form is specifically prescribed.

Form 12-K. For companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate

- 1 Rule X-13A-6. Current reports. (a) A current report on the appropriate form shall be filed by the is suer of a security registered on a national securities exchange (hereinafter called "the registrant") in case any of the events enumerated below occurred or shall occur at any time after the close of the first fiscal year or other one-year period for which an annual report is required to be filed by the registrant, or if the registrant had no security registered on a national securities exchange on December 31, 1935, at any time after the registration of any of its securities first became or shall become effective.
 - (1) A material amendment of any exhibit previously filed by the registrant pursuant to Section 12 or 13 of the Act;
 - (2) The execution of any voting trust agreement, contract, or indenture of a character required to be filed as an exhibit in the form of annual report appropriate for the registrant;
 - (3) A substantial restatement of the capital shares accout of the registrant;
 - (4) The issuance of any new class of securities, or an aggregate increase or decrease of more than five percent in the amount of any class of securities of the registrant outstanding, as last previously reported, unless resulting from an ordinary sinking fund operation; provided that (i) no report need be made with respect to notes, drafts, bills of exchange, or bankers' acceptances having a maturity at the time of issuance of not exceeding one year, and (ii) for the purposes of this paragraph (4), securities held by the registrant shall not be deemed "outstanding";
 - (5) The granting or extension of any option to purchase equity securities of the registrant from the registrant, provided that a current report need be made only when one or more options calling for an aggregate principal amount of \$50,000 or more of a single issue of convertible evidences of indebtedness, or an aggregate of 1,000 or more shares or other units of any other single class of equity securities, have been granted or extended and have not been previously reported;
 - (6) The exercise, in whole or in part, of any option to purchase equity securities of the registrant from the registrant, provided that a current report need be made only when a person or persons have acquired an aggregate principal amount of \$50,000 or more of a single issue of convertible evidences of indebtedness, or an aggregate of 1,000 or more shares or other units of any other single class of equity securities, through one or more exercises which have not been previously reported;
 - (7) A person's becoming, or ceasing to be, a parent or subsidiary of the registrant, provided that no report need be made as to any subsidiary the name of which would not be required to be furnished in the form of annual report appropriate for the registrant;
 - (8) A substantial revaluation of the assets of the registrant;
 - (9) A substantial withdrawal or substitution with respect to property securing any issue of registered securities:

provided, however, That no report need be filed as to any event concerning which information substantially similar to that required by Form 8-K shall have been previously reported by the registrant.

- (b) The current report shall be filed not more than ten days after the close of the calendar month during which occurred the event obligating the registrant to file the current report, or if the event occurred prior to December 1, 1936, not later than January 10, 1937.
- (c) As used in this rule, the term "previously reported" means previously reported in an application for registration or a report filed pursuant to Section 12 or 13 of the Act; the term "option" does not include options evidenced by an issue of securities, such as an issue of warrants or rights; the term "unit" means that unit of a class of securities representing the smallest interest in the registrant or in property of the registrant, or having the smallest par or face value or denomination which is separately transferable by a holder thereof. Unless the context otherwise requires, all other terms used in this rule have the same meanings as in the Act, in the form appropriate for an annual report of the registrant, and in the instruction book accompanying such form.
- (d) The foregoing provisions of this rule shall not be applicable to issuers of securities which are registered pursuant to an application on Form 18, 19, 20, or 21.

Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, and of carriers making annual reports under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934, except such companies in receivership or in bankruptcy, including proceedings for reorganization pursuant to Section 77 or 77B of the Bankruptcy Act, at the close of the fiscal year for which the report is made.

Form 12A-K. For companies in receivership or bankruptcy at close of fiscal year and making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934.— This form is to be used for the annual reports of companies making annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or Section 220 of the Motor Carrier Act, 1935, and of carriers making annual reports under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934, if such companies were in receivership or in bankruptcy, including proceedings for reorganization pursuant to Section 77 or 77B of the Bankruptcy Act, at the close of the fiscal year for which the report is made.

Form 13-K. For insurance companies other than life and title insurance companies.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of corporations engaged, directly or through subsidiaries, primarily in the insurance business, except corporations engaged primarily in the life or title insurance business. This form is not to be used by corporations engaged primarily in the business of guaranteeing mortgages or mortgage-participation certificates.

Form 14-K. For certificates of deposit issued by a committee.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of issuers of certificates of deposit issued by a committee.

Form 15-K. For incorporated investment companies.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of corporations engaged either directly or through subsidiaries primarily in the business of investing and reinvesting or trading in securities for the purpose of revenue and for profit, and not in general for the purpose or with the effect of exercising control.

Form 16-K. For voting trust certificates and underlying securities.—
This form is to be used for annual reports relating to securities evidencing a participation in a voting trust agreement or a similar agreement for the holding of securities for voting purposes and to securities held subject to such agreements.

Form 17-K. For unincorporated issuers engaged primarily in the business of investing or trading in securities.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of unincorporated issuers engaged either directly or through subsidiaries primarily in the business of investing and reinvesting or trading in securities for the purpose of revenue and for profit, and not in general for the purpose or with the effect of exercising control.

Form 18-K. For foreign governments and political subdivisions thereof.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of foreign governments or political subdivisions thereof, except any public corporation or other autonomous entity in the nature of a political subdivision, other than a State, province, county, or municipality or similar body politic which, at its option, has registered its securities on Form 21 in lieu of Form 18.

Form 19-K. For issuers of American certificates against foreign issues and the underlying securities.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of issuers of American certificates (for example, so-called American depositary receipts for foreign shares or American participation certificates in foreign bonds or notes) issued against securities of foreign issuers deposited with an American depositary (whether physically held by such depositary in America or abroad) and of the foreign securities so deposited.

Form 20-K. For foreign private issuers registering securities other than bonds.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of the following issuers with respect to securities other than bonds or other evidences of indebtedness: (a) Nationals of a foreign country other than a North American country or Cuba, and (b) corporations or unincorporated associations, foreign or domestic, which are directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any foreign government.

Form 21-K. For foreign private issuers registering bonds.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of the following issuers with respect to bonds or other evidences of indebtedness: (a) Nationals of a foreign country other than a North American country or Cuba, (b) nationals of a North American country or Cuba if such bonds or other evidences of indebtedness are guaranteed by any foreign government, (c) corporations or unincorporated associations, foreign or domestic, which are directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any foreign government, and (d) public corporations or other autonomous entities in the nature of political subdivisions which, at their option, have registered securities on Form 21 in lieu of Form 18.

Form 24-K. For bank holding companies.—This form is to be used for the annual reports of any person which is engaged, either directly or through subsidiaries, primarily in the business of owning securities of banks, for the purpose or with the effect of exercising control.

FOR REGISTRATION OF BROKERS AND DEALERS TRANSACTING BUSINESS ON OVER-THE-COUNTER MARKETS

Form 3-M. For applications for registration of brokers and dealers, except applications for which Form 4-M is authorized.—This form is to be used for applications filed on or after July 1, 1936, for the registration of brokers and dealers pursuant to Section 15 (b) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except applications for which Form 4-M is authorized to be used.

Form 4-M. For applications for registration of partnerships formed upon death, withdrawal, or admission of one or more partners in partnerships registered as brokers or dealers.—This form is to be used (a) for applications filed by a registered partnership on or after July 1, 1936, pursuant to Section 15 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for the registration of a partnership to be formed as the successor to the applicant by the withdrawal or admission of one or more partners in the applicant; and (b) for applications filed on or after October 10, 1936, pursuant to said Section 15 (b) and Rule X-15B-4, for the registration of a partnership formed as the successor to a registered partnership which has been dissolved by the death, withdrawal, or admission of one or more partners: Provided, That the application is filed within 30 days after such dissolution.

Form 5-M. For adoption of applications filed by predecessors.—This form is to be used by a broker or dealer in adopting as its own an application for registration on Form 3-M or Form 4-M filed on its behalf by a predecessor.

Form 6-M. For supplemental statements to applications for registration of brokers and dealers.—This form is to be used for correcting inaccuracies and reporting changes in the information contained or incorporated in any application filed on Form 1-M, Form 3-M, or Form 4-M or in any adoption filed on Form 5-M or in any supplemental statement filed on Form 2-M or Form 6-M.

FOR ANNUAL REPORTS OF REGISTRANTS UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 2

Form 1-MD. General form.—This form is to be used for the annual reports, pursuant to Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, of all issuers except those for which another form is specifically prescribed.

Form 2-MD. For investment trusts having securities registered on Form C-1.—This form is to be used for annual reports, pursuant to Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, relating to securities of unincorporated investment trusts of the fixed or restricted management type, having a depositor or sponsor but not having a board of directors or persons performing similar functions.

Form 3-MD. For voting trust certificates.—This form is to be used for annual reports, pursuant to Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, relating to voting trust certificates.

Form 4-MD. For certificates of deposit.—This form is to be used for annual reports, pursuant to Section 15 (d) of the Securities Ex-

⁹ The filing of annual reports on these forms is required by Rule X-15D-1, pursuant to Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

change Act of 1934, relating to certificates of deposit issued by a Committee.

FOR APPLICATIONS FOR REGISTRATION OF NATIONAL SECURITIES
ASSOCIATIONS AND AFFILIATED SECURITIES ASSOCIATIONS

Form X-15AA-1. Application for registration as a national securities association or affiliated securities association.—This form is to be used for applications for registration as national securities associations or affiliated securities associations.

Form X-15AJ-1. Amendatory and/or supplementary statement to registration statement of national securities association or affiliated securities association.—This form is to be used for filing amendatory and/or supplementary statements to registration statements of national securities associations or affiliated securities associations.

Form X-15AJ-2. Annual consolidated supplement to registration statement of national securities association or affiliated securities association.—This form is to be used for filing annual consolidated supplements to registration statements of national securities associations or affiliated securities associations.

FOR REPORTS TO BE FILED BY OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AND SECURITY HOLDERS

Form 4. For reporting changes in ownership of equity securities.— Every person who at any time during any month has been directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of more than 10 percent of any class of any equity security (other than an exempted security) which is listed on a national securities exchange, or a director or an officer of the issuer of such security, shall, if there has been any change during such month in his ownership of any equity security of such issuer, whether registered or not, file with each exchange on which any equity security of the issuer is listed and registered a statement on Form 4 (and a single duplicate original thereof with the Commission) indicating his ownership at the close of the calendar month and such changes in his ownership as have occurred during such calendar month. Such statements must be received by the Commission and the exchange on or before the 10th day of the month following that which they cover.

Form 5. For reporting ownership of equity securities.—In the case of an equity security (other than an exempted security) which is listed subsequent to February 15, 1935, on a national security exchange, every person who at the time such registration becomes effective is directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of more than 10 percent of any class of such security or a director or an officer of the issuer of such security, shall file with each exchange on which any equity security of

the issuer is listed and registered a statement on Form 5 (and a single duplicate original thereof with the Commission) of the amount of all equity securities of such issuer, whether registered or not, so beneficially owned by him at the time such registration became effective. Such statement must be received by the Commission and the exchange on or before the 10th day of the following calendar month. If such person files a statement on Form 4 for the same calendar month in respect of the same securities, he need not file an additional statement pursuant to this paragraph.

Form 6. For reports by persons who have just become officers or directors or security holders of more than 10 percent of any class of equity security.—Every person who becomes directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of more than 10 percent of any class of any equity security (other than an exempted security), which is listed on a national securities exchange, or becomes a director or an officer of the issuer of such security, shall file with each exchange on which any equity security of the issuer is listed and registered a statement on Form 6 (and a single duplicate original thereof with the Commission) of the amount of all equity securities of such issuer, whether registered or not, so beneficially owned by him immediately after becoming such beneficial owner, director, or officer. Such statement must be received by the Commission and the exchange on or before the 10th day following the day on which such person became such beneficial owner, director, or officer. Such person need not file the statement required by this paragraph, if prior to such 10th day and during the calendar month in which he has become such beneficial owner, director, or officer, there has been a change in his beneficial ownership which will require him to file a statement on Form 4 with respect to the same securities.

FOR FILING NOTICE OF INTENTION TO STABILIZE AND FOR REPORTING STABILIZING TRANSACTIONS

Form X-9A6-1. For notice of intention to stabilize.—This form is to be used for filing notice of intention to stabilize the price of a security pursuant to Rule X-9A6-3.

Form X-17A-1. For reporting stabilizing transactions.—This form is to be used for reporting stabilizing transactions pursuant to Rule X-17A-2 (a) (1) or (3).

Form X-17A-2. For reporting stabilizing transactions.—This form is to be used for reporting stabilizing transactions pursuant to Rule X-17A-2 (a) (2).

Form X-17A-3. For reporting stabilizing transactions.—This form is to be used for reporting stabilizing transactions pursuant to Rule X-17A-2 (a) (4).

GUIDE TO FORMS ADOPTED UNDER THE PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY ACT OF 1935

Form U-A. Facing page.—This form is to be used as a facing page for all amendments to applications, declarations, reports, and statements filed under the Act.

Form U-1. Form for applications and declarations.—This form is to be used by a registered holding company or subsidiary company filing an application or declaration that includes an issue or sale of securities, acquisition or sale of assets, change of rights, guaranty or assumption of liability, or a transaction subject to rules under Sections 12 (b) or 12 (c) of the Act.

Form U-2. Declaration and periodic report.—This form is to be used by a subsidiary of a registered holding company primarily engaged in business as a broker or dealer, which claims exemption under Rule U-3D-4 and also for the quarterly reports to be filed by such a company.

Form U-3A-2. Statement filed by holding companies claiming exemption.—This form is prescribed for annual reports to be filed by holding companies claiming exemption from the provisions of the Act by virtue of Rule U-3A-2.

Form U-3A3-1. Semiannual statement filed by banks claiming exemption.—This form is prescribed for semiannual reports to be filed by banks claiming exemption from the provisions of the Act by virtue of Rule U-3A3-1.

Form U-3D-13. Notification of acquisition of utility assets.—This form is to be filed by the acquiring company in the event of an acquisition of utility assets exempted by Rule U-3D-13.

Form U-5-A. Notification of registration.—This form is to be used for notification of registration pursuant to Section 5 (a) of the Act.

Form U-5-B. Registration statement.—This form is to be used for registration statements to be filed by registered holding companies pursuant to Section 5 (b) of the Act.

Form U-5-S. Annual supplement to registration statement.—This form is to be used by registered holding companies for the annual supplements to registration statements.

Form U-6B-2. Certificate of notification.—This form is to be used for the filing of certificates of notification of certain issuances of securities by registered holding companies and subsidiaries thereof, as required by Rule U-6B-2.

Form U-12 (I)-A. Statement pursuant to Section 12 (i).—This is a form of statement as to be made by a person employed or retained by a registered holding company or a subsidiary thereof.

Form U-12 (I)-B. Statement pursuant to Section 12 (i).—This is a form of an annual statement to be made by a person regularly employed or retained by a registered holding company or subsidiary company thereof. This annual form relieves persons, who are regularly employed or retained by holding companies or their subsidiaries and who frequently represent such companies, from the necessity of filing numerous reports on Form U-12 (I)-A.

Form U-13-1. Application for approval of mutual service company or declaration with respect to organization and conduct of business of subsidiary service company.—This form is to be used, pursuant to Rule U-13-22, for an application for approval of a mutual service company or for a declaration with respect to the organization and conduct of business of a subsidiary service company.

Form U-13-60. Annual report of mutual and subsidiary service companies.—This form is to be used for the filing of annual reports by each mutual service company and each subsidiary service company pursuant to Rule U-13-60.

Form U-13E-1. Report by affiliate service company.—This form is to be filed pursuant to Rule U-13E-1 by an affiliate service company or by a company principally engaged in the performance of services.

Form U-14-1. Quarterly report of acquisitions.—This form is prescribed for quarterly reports of acquisitions of securities to be filed by registered holding companies pursuant to Rule U-14-1.

Form U-14-3. Annual report of registered holding companies.— This form is to be used for the filing of annual reports by registered holding companies pursuant to Rule U-14-3.

Form U-17-1. Reports of ownership by officers and directors.—This form is to be used for statements of ownership required by Section 17 (a) of the Act to be filed by persons who are officers or directors of a registered holding company at the time when it is registered. A statement must be filed by every officer and director of a holding company following its registration, even if he owns no securities of the company or its subsidiaries.

Form U-17-2. Reports of changes of ownership by officers and directors.—This form is to be used by officers and directors of registered holding companies in reporting changes in their beneficial ownership of securities of such holding companies or any of their subsidiaries, as required by Section 17 (a) of the Act.

GUIDE TO FORMS ADOPTED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939

FOR STATEMENTS OF ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION OF TRUSTEES

Form T-1. For statements of eligibility and qualification of corporations designated to act as trustees.—This form shall be used for statements of eligibility and qualification of corporations designated to act as trustees under trust indentures to be qualified pursuant to Section 305 or 307 of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

Form T-2. For statements of eligibility and qualification of individuals designated to act as trustees.—This form shall be used for statements of eligibility and qualification of individuals designated to act as trustees under trust indentures to be qualified pursuant to Section 305 or 307 of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

FOR APPLICATIONS FOR QUALIFICATION OF INDENTURES

Form T-3. For applications for qualification of indentures.—This form shall be used for applications for qualification of indentures pursuant to Section 307 (a) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

GUIDE TO FORMS ADOPTED UNDER THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940

Form N-8A. For notification of registration.—This form shall be used as the notification of registration pursuant to Section 8 (a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Form N-30F-1. For initial statement of beneficial ownership of outstanding securities of registered closed-end investment companies.—This form is used for initial statements of beneficial ownership of securities of registered closed-end companies, to be filed with the Commission by every person who is directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of more than 10 per centum of any class of outstanding securities (other than short-term paper) of which such a company is the issuer, or who is an officer, director, member of an advisory board, investment adviser, or affiliated person of an investment adviser of such a company at the time when the company is registered. It is also to be used by persons who assume any of the above specified relationships with such a company after the date when the company has registered.

Form N-30F-2. For statement of changes in beneficial ownership of outstanding securities of registered closed-end investment companies.—This form is used for statements of changes in beneficial ownership of securities issued by registered closed-end investment companies, to be filed with the Commission by every person who is required to file Form N-30F-1.

GUIDE TO FORMS ADOPTED UNDER THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940

Form 1-R. For application for registration.—This form is to be used for application for registration of investment advisers pursuant to Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

APPENDIX III

SECURITIES ACT REGISTRATION STATEMENTS AS TO WHICH STOP ORDERS, CONSENT REFUSAL ORDERS, AND WITHDRAWAL ORDERS WERE ISSUED JULY 1, 1939, TO JUNE 30, 1940 1

Docket No.	Issuer	Form	Amount	Type of order or action ²	Date
2-4228 2-2095 2-2526 2-3458 2-3823 2-4362 2-4270 2-4066 2-4248 2-4306	Albert Royalty Trust and Nellie L. Albert et al., originally filed as Nellie L. Albert and Elizabeth Sproule, Casper, Wyo. W. Wallace Alexander, Inc., Philadelphia, Padododododododo	G-2 A-1 A-1 A-1 A-1 A-1 A-1 A-1 A-1	\$78, 600 1, 000, 000 1, 000, 000 1, 000, 000 1, 000, 000	W SO SO SO W W W W W W Eff.	Jan. 11, 1940 Nov. 2, 1939 Do. Do. June 6, 1940 Mar. 23, 1940 July 15, 1939 Mar. 1, 1940 Apr. 8, 1940 Apr. 8, 1940 Apr. 27, 1940 Aug. 3, 1939
2-4316	American Tropical Products Co. S. A., Panama City, Panama	A-1	100, 000	w	Mar. 2, 1940
	list includes 83 registration statements, which are chithdrawals: Withdrawn and not refiled Total additions to withdrawals Withdrawn, refiled, and Pending amendment Effective Refiled and withdrawn during period				58 2
	Total			. 	8
Co	Grand total of withdrawals during year		·		1
Ste	op orders: Orders issued and still in focre Statements subsequently effective or re-effective_				15
	Total issued during year				16
Three	additional stop orders were lifted during the year.	These	were in con	nection wi	th stop orders

Three additional stop orders were lifted during the year. These were in connection with stop orders issued prior to the period.

² Abbreviations used in this table:

W=Withdrawn.
CRO=Consent refusal order.
SO=Stop order.
Ref.=Refiled.
Eff.=Registration statement fully effective (stop or refusal order having been lifted, or statement having been refiled).
Re-Eff.=Re-effective.

SECURITIES ACT REGISTRATION STATEMENTS AS TO WHICH STOP ORDERS, CONSENT REFUSAL ORDERS, AND WITHDRAWAL ORDERS WERE ISSUED JULY 1, 1939, TO JUNE 30, 1940—Continued

2-493 2-407 3-407						
2-4110 Altanité Seabourd Pétroleum Corporation, Piseat- awytown, N. J	Docket No.	Issuer	Form	Amount	order or	Date
2-4110 Altanité Seabourd Pétroleum Corporation, Piseat- awytown, N. J	0.4002	American Wringer Co. Inc. Weenseeket D. I.	A. 9	¢411 420	W	Fob 14 1040
2-4079 Beech Aircraft Corporation, Wichita, Kans. A-2 270, 235 Ref. Get. 34, 383 Ref. Get. 34,	2-4224	Asbestos Míg. Co., Huntington, Ind.	E-1	201, 265	w	Apr. 4, 1940
2-4079	2-4116	Atlantic Seaboard Petroleum Corporation, Piscat-	A -1	500.000	W	Aug. 12, 1939
2-4079 Beech Aircraft Corporation, Wichita, Kans. A-2 Z70, 255 Ref.		awayoown, 14. J	A-1	300,000		Oct. 14, 1939
2-4109 The B—Ettes Corporation, New York, N. Y.			ļ			Aug. 24, 1939
2-4109	2-4079	Beech Aircraft Corporation, Wichita, Kans	A-2	270, 235	Kei.	(Feb. 26, 1939
2-4103 2-1039 2-				ļ	Eff.	∤ as of
2-4229 Canadian Colonial Airways, Inc., New York, N. Y. 2-4229 Canadian Colonial Airways, Inc., New York, N. Y. 2-4230 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-4331 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-4331 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-4331 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-4332 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-4333 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-4333 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-4334 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-3363 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-3363 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-3433 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. 2-3434 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., New York, N. Y. 2-3640 Falls, Idaho. 2-3763 Fawm Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, British Columbia. 2-3640 Falls, Idaho. 2-3640 Finger Canadian Lumber Co., Ltd., Winnipeg, Adams Co., Inc., New York, N. Y. 2-4164 Full Oil Motors, Inc., New York, N. Y. 2-4165 General Instrument Corporation, Elizabeth, N. J. 2-4265 General Instrument Corporation, Filizabeth, N. J. 2-4265 General Instrument Corporation, Elizabeth, N. J. 2-4265 General Instrument Corporation, Filizabeth, N. J. 2-4266 General Instrument Corporation, Filizabeth, N. J. 2-4267 General General Free Condition, Colonia, Co	2-4109	The B-Ettes Corporation, New York, N. Y	A -1	594, 034	l w	Feb. 20, 1940
2-4229 Canadian Colonial Airways, Inc., New York, N. Y. 2-4338 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev	2-3825	Thomas Bond, Inc., Chicago, Ill.	A-1		w	Aug. 21, 1939
2-4229 Canadian Colonial Airways, Inc., New York, N. Y. A-2 405,000 Western Silver Mines Tr. Co., Gold Hill, Great Western Silver Mines Tr. Co., Gold Hill,	2-1039	Callahan Zinc Lead Co., Wallace, Idaho	A-1	747, 518	Re-Eff	Sept. 26, 1939
2-4338 Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev. A-0-1 400,000 W June 20, 104 24231 Colomy Fund, Inc., New York, N. Y. A-1 250,000 W Feb. 19 104 104 105				[lf W	Nov. 28, 1939
Cinnabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev	2-4229	Canadian Colonial Airways, Inc., New York, N. Y.	A-2	405, 000	Ref.	May 8, 1940
2-4381 Clinabar City Mining Co., Inc., Reno, Nev			[1	Eff.	
2-3543 Dewey Portland Cement Co., Kansas City, Mo. 2-4181 Era Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-19 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver	A 4000	Ginnahar Gity Maring Co. Inc. Pana New		400.000	777	June 10, 1940
2-3543 Dewey Portland Cement Co., Kansas City, Mo. 2-4181 Era Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-19 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver		Citizens Gas Co., Stroudsburg, Pa	A-0-1 A-2	329, 820		Feb. 10, 1940
2-3543 Dewey Portland Cement Co., Kansas City, Mo. 2-4181 Era Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Columbia. Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-19 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-18 Payen Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver	2-4153	Colony Fund, Inc., New York, N. Y	A-1	250, 000	W	Aug. 23, 1939
2-3783 2-3784 2-3783 2-3784 2-3783 2-3784 2-3783 2-3784 2-3840 2-3840 2-4121 2-4164 2-4121 2-4164 2-4121 2-4164 2-4122 2-4123 2-4185 2-3824 2-4128 2-3824 2-4128 2-3824 2-4129 2-4129 2-4129 2-4129 2-3824 2-3824 2-3824 2-3824 2-3824 2-3824 2-3824 2-3824 2-3825 2-3825 2-3825 2-3826 2-3826 2-3826 2-4128 2-3826 2-4128 2-4129 2-4129 2-4129 2-4129 2-3826 2-	2-3930	WHEAT	A-1	150,000	SO	Jan. 9 1940
Falls, Idaho. Falls,		Dewey Portland Cement Co., Kansas City, Mo.	A-2) w	July 11, 1939
2-3784 Fawn Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, British Columbia. A-1 233, 899 W June 24, 1944 1945 194	2-4181	Era Mining & Development Co., Inc., Idano Falls Idaho	A-0-1	73 500	w	Sent 18 1939
2-3640 Finger Canadian Lumber Co., Ltd., Winnipeg, Manitoba. A-1 687, 500 W Oct. 17, 1937 A-2 4164 Foz Lake Gold Mines, Ltd., London, Ontario	2-3763	Fawn Mining Company, Ltd., Vancouver, Brit-	1		1	1 '
2-3640 Finger Canadian Lumber Co., Ltd., Winnipeg, Manitoba. A-1 687, 500 W Oct. 17, 1937 A-2 4164 Foz Lake Gold Mines, Ltd., London, Ontario	0 0200	ish Columbia		253, 899		June 24, 1940
2-3640 Finger Canadian Lumber Co., Ltd., Winnipeg, Manitoba. A-1 687, 500 W Oct. 17, 1937 A-2 4164 Foz Lake Gold Mines, Ltd., London, Ontario	2-3734		A-2	579,000		Do. 14, 1959
2-4121 Fox Lake Gold Mines, Ltd., London, Ontario	2-3640	Finger Canadian Lumber Co., Ltd., Winnipeg,	i		}]
2-4105 General Instrument Corporation, Elizabeth, N.J. Colo	2-4121	Fox Lake Gold Mines, Ltd., London, Ontario	A-1 A-1	687, 500	w	Oct. 17, 1939
2-4188 Great Western Silver Mines Tr. Co., Gold Hill, Colo Colo Colo Colo Colo Colo Colo C	2-4164	Fuel Oil Motors, Inc., New York, N. Y	A-1	550, 500) W	Aug. 30, 1939
Colo_ A-0-1 160,000 W Aug. 30, 1933 2-4226 Haile Gold Mines, Inc., New York, N. Y A-1 285,504 W Jan. 5, 1944 Illinois Zinc Co., Chicago, Ill. A-2 600,000 W Feb. 19, 1942 1942 1944 1	2-4055	General Instrument Corporation, Elizabeth, N. J. Great Western Silver Mines Tr. Co. Gold Hill	A-2	934, 326	w	June 6, 1940
2-3225 Haile Gold Mines, Inc., New York, N. Y	2-1100	Colo	A-0-1	160,000	w	Oct. 21, 1939
Cago, III		Haile Gold Mines, Inc., New York, N. Y.	A-1	812, 500	W	Aug. 30, 1939
Cago, III	2-4226	Illinois Zine Co., Chicago, Ill	E-1 A-2	285, 504	W	Jan. 0,1940 Rah 19 1940
Cago, III	2-4208	Income Fund, Inc., San Francisco, Calif		750, 000	w	May 22, 1940
2-3816 Kant Blaze Fireproofing Corporation, Lynn, Mass 2-3961 Konversionskasse Fur Deutsche Auslandsschulden and Deutsches Reich (Conversion Office for German Foreign Debt and Guaranty by German Government) 2-1539 Libby, Mexelli & Libby, Chicago, III	2-3877	Investment Corporation of North America, Chi-	A_9		80	Tule 11 1030
2-3816 Kant Blaze Fireproofing Corporation, Lynn, Mass 2-3961 Konversionskasse Fur Deutsche Auslandsschulden and Deutsches Reich (Conversion Office for German Foreign Debt and Guaranty by German Government) 2-1539 Libby, Mexelli & Libby, Chicago, III	2-2802	Investors Fund of America, Inc., New York, N. Y.		3, 562, 231	W	Sept. 19, 1939
2-3961 Konversionskasse Fur Deutsche Auslandsschulden and Deutsches Reich (Conversion Office for German Foreign Debt and Guaranty by German Government)	2-3816		A_1	375 000	1007	i
German Foreign Debt and Guaranty by German Grovernment)	2-3961	Konversionskasse Fur Deutsche Auslandsschul-	h-1	0.0,000	'''	, and 0, 1010
man Government A-1		den and Deutsches Reich (Conversion Office for		ļ		ļ
2-4213		man Government)	A-1	73, 000, 000	w	Sept. 20, 1939
2-4213		Libby, McNeill & Libby, Chicago, Ill	A-2	12, 250, 000	W	Jan. 25, 1940
2-4185 Maryland Discount Corporatjon, Hyattsville, Md	2-4085	MacDonald Mines, Ltd., Montreal, Quebec	A-1	96,000	(W	I Nov. 6 1939
2-4185 Maryland Discount Corporation, Hyattsville, Md. Md. Md. Mar. 16, 1940 2-4318 The Measuregraph Co., V. T., St. Louis, Mo F-1 342, 326 W Mar. 16, 1940 2-4200 Metropolitian Personal Loan Corporation, New York, N. Y. Sept. 29, 1931 2-4230 Missouri Theatre Corporation, St. Joseph, Mo. E-1 52, 333 W Nov. 25, 1931 2-4407 Molybdenum Corporation of America, New York, N. Y. A-2 1, 496, 250 W May 21, 1944 2-4207 Motors Securities Co., Inc., Chicago, Ill. A-2 30, 916, 400 W May 21, 1944 2-4207 Motors Securities Co., Inc., Shreveport, La. A-2 2, 000, 000 W June 4, 1944 2-4207 National Broach & Machine Co., Detroit, Mich. A-2 1, 653, 750 W Oct. 28, 1931 2-3173 National Broach & Machine Co., Detroit, Mich. A-2 1, 653, 750 W Aug. 1, 1931 2-3765 National Terminal Co. of Washington, D. C., Washington, D. C. Naw England Power Co., Boston, Mass. A-2 11, 194, 000 W June 20, 1944 2-4108 Pacific Aviation, Incorporated, Hawthorne, Calif. Pacific States Oil & Terminals Co., Los Angeles, Calif. A-1 826, 566 Co., New York, N. Y. A-1 428, 566 Co., New York, N. Y. A-1 428, 566 Co., 1931 2-4086 Poulin Mining, Co, Ltd., Montreal, Quebec. A-1 800, 000 W Ref. Oct. 20, 1933 2-4410 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-	2-4213	Marland Oil Co. of Oklahoma, Ponca City, Okla.	A-1	700,000	Ref.	Nov. 10, 1939
Md	2-4185	Maryland Discount Corporation, Hyattsville,	}	[ι вп.	M18F. 30, 1940
2-4002 Metropolitan Personal Loan Corporation, New York, N. Y. York, N. Y		Md	<u>A</u> -1	100,000		Sept. 29, 1939
York, N, Y Missouri Theatre Corporation, St. Joseph, Mo E-1 52, 838 W Nov. 25, 1938 W Oct. 4, 1938 W York, N, Y A-2 30, 916, 400 W May 21, 1948 A-2 30, 916, 400 W June 4, 1948 A-0 1, 553, 750 W Aug. 1, 1938 A-1 303, 000 W June 20, 1948 A-1 325, 000 W June 2	2-4318 2-4002	The Measuregraph Co., V. T., St. Louis, Mo Metropolitan Personal Loan Corporation, New	F-1	342, 326	W	Mar. 16, 1940
2-4967 Molybdenum Corporation of America, New York, N. Y. 2-4395 Montgomery Ward & Co., Inc., Chicago, Ill. A-2 30, 916, 400 W May 21, 1944 2-4207 Motors Securities Co., Inc., Shreveport, La. A-2 2, 000, 000 W June 4, 1944 2-4207 Nancy Lee Mines, Inc., Kellogg, Idaho. A-0-1 303, 000 W Oct. 28, 1931 National Terminal Co. of Washington, D. C., Washington, D. C. Salff A-1 303, 000 W June 20, 1944 2-4168 Pacific Aviation, Incorporated, Hawthorne, Calif. A-1 325, 000 W Nov. 21, 1931 2-3883 Pacific States Oil & Terminals Co., Los Angeles, Calif. A-1 428, 566 SO Sept. 19, 1931 2-4086 Poulin Mining, Co., Ltd., Montreal, Quebec. A-1 800, 000 W Ref. July 17, 1933 Cot. 20, 1933 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-		York, N. Y	A-2	2, 259, 596	80	May 8, 1940
York, N. Y	2-4230	Missouri Theatre Corporation, St. Joseph, Mo	E-1	52, 833	W	Nov. 25, 1939
2-4395 Montgomery Ward & Co., Inc., Chicago, III	2-1001	York, N. Y		1, 496, 250		
2-4126 New England Power Co., Boston, Mass		Montgomory Word & Co Inc (!hicago III	A-2	30. 916. 400	W	May 21, 1940
2-4126 New England Power Co., Boston, Mass		Nancy Lee Mines, Inc., Kellogg, Idaho	A-0-1	525,000	W	Oct. 28, 1939
2-4126 New England Power Co., Boston, Mass	2-3173	National Broach & Machine Co., Detroit, Mich.	A-2	1, 653, 750	Ŵ	Aug. 1, 1939
2-4168 Pacific Aviation, Incorporated, Hawthorne, Calif. Pacific Aviation, Incorporated, Hawthorne, Calif. Pacific States Oil & Terminals Co., Los Angeles, Calif. A-1 605,000 W Aug. 24, 193 Calif. A-1 428, 566 SO Sept. 19, 193 Poulin Mining, Co., Ltd., Montreal, Quebec. A-1 800,000 W Aug. 24, 193 Sept. 19, 193 Cot. 20, 193 Uniy 17, 193 Cot. 20, 193 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-1, 20, 200 W W MOV. 22, 193 Cot. 20, 193 Uniy 17, 193 Uniy 17	2-3765	National Terminal Co. of Washington, D. C.,	A1	l	w	Tan 2 1040
2-4168 Pacific Aviation, Incorporated, Hawthorne, Calif. Pacific Aviation, Incorporated, Hawthorne, Calif. Pacific States Oil & Terminals Co., Los Angeles, Calif. A-1 605,000 W Aug. 24, 193 Calif. A-1 428, 566 SO Sept. 19, 193 Poulin Mining, Co., Ltd., Montreal, Quebec. A-1 800,000 W Aug. 24, 193 Sept. 19, 193 Cot. 20, 193 Uniy 17, 193 Cot. 20, 193 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-1, 20, 200 W W MOV. 22, 193 Cot. 20, 193 Uniy 17, 193 Uniy 17	2-4126	New England Power Co., Boston, Mass.	A-2	11, 194, 000	w	June 20, 1940
2-3883 Facinic States Oil & Terminals Co., Los Angeles, A-1 605,000 W Aug. 24,193 2-2081 Potrero Sugar Co., New York, N. Y A-1 428,566 80 Sept. 19,193 2-4086 Poulin Mining, Co., Ltd., Montreal, Quebec A-1 800,000 W Ref. 2-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W July 21, 1933 2-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W July 21, 1933 2-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Aug. 24, 1933 3-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- A-2 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas- 900, 200 W Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc.,	2-4168	Pacine Aviation, incorporated, Hawthorne, Calif.	A-1	325,000	W	Nov. 21, 1939
2-4086 Poulin Mining, Co, Ltd., Montreal, Quebec A-1 800, 000 W Ref. Oct. 20, 1931 Q-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-	2-3883	Pacific States Off & Terminals Co., Los Afgeles,	A-1	605, 000	w	Aug. 24, 1930
2-4086 Poulin Mining, Co, Ltd., Montreal, Quebec A-1 800, 000 W Ref. Oct. 20, 1931 Q-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-	2-2081			428, 566	l so	Sept. 19, 1939
2-4110 Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-			A-1		₩ Pof	l July 17, 1939
tonia, N. C	2-4110	Public Service Co. of North Carolina, Inc., Gas-	4-2	808 900	f W	July 21, 1939
		tonia, N. C	⊢ ^-²	1 555, 200	Ref.	l Aug. 21, 1936

SECURITIES ACT REGISTRATION STATEMENTS AS TO WHICH STOP ORDERS, CONSENT REFUSAL ORDERS, AND WITHDRAWAL ORDERS WERE ISSUED JULY 1, 1939, TO JUNE 30, 1940—Continued

Docket No.	Issuer	Form	Amount	Type of order or action	Date
2-3821	Public Service Co. of Oklahoma, Tulsa, Okla	A-2	\$226, 354	w	Apr. 24, 1940
2-3513 2-3410	Realty Shares Corporation, Chicago, Ill. Regan Alexander Baking Co., Inc., Hamtramck,	A-1	2,000,000	Ÿ	Aug. 25, 1939
2 - 1.20	Mich	A-1	128,000	w	Sept. 28, 1939
2-2305	Reiter Foster Oil Corporation, New York, N. Y.	A-1	432, 349	so	Mar. 11, 1940
2-2	The Republic Co., Denver, Colo	A-1	1, 727, 530	so	Mar. 13, 1940
2-4378	Rio Grande Valley Gas Co., Houston, Tex	A-2	263, 340	(W	Apr. 15, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939
2-4072	Seiberling Rubber Co., Akron, Ohio	A-2	1, 538, 750	Ref. Eff.	Dec. 20, 1939 Jan. 8, 1940
2-4025	Steam Power, Inc., New York, N. Y.	A~1	140,000	w	Oct. 14, 1939
2-4051	Thompson Automatic Arms Corporation, New		110,000		
	York, N. Y	A-1	825, 000	w	July 24, 1939
2-4115	Tide Water Associated Oil Co., New York, N. Y.	A~2	262, 500	w	Oct. 28, 1939
2-3711	Tim Bo Lok Corporation, Hawthorne, N J	A-1	249,000	w	Dec. 26, 1939
2-4154	Transair Corporation, San Francisco, Calif	A-1	1,000,000	W	Feb. 13, 1940
2-4187	Trend Corporation, Wilmington, Del	A-1	1, 250, 000	w	Dec. 2, 1939
2-4429	Tung Oil & Subsistence Farms, Inc., Ocala, Fla.	A-1	100,000	CRO	June 25, 1940
2-4 375	Union Premier Food Stores, Inc., Philadelphia,				· ·
	Pa	A-2	4, 125, 000	W	Apr. 12, 1940
2-3953	U S Chromium, Inc., Chicago, Ill	A-0-1	200,000	so	Feb. 19, 1940
2-4043	John W. Westbrook, trustee, Dallas, Tex	A-1	20,000	so	Oct. 25, 1939
2-3540	Westgate Greenland Oil Co., Kansas City, Mo	A-2	197, 894	w	Jan. 29, 1940
2-4040	Hudson Dunham Wilcox, individual, María, Tex	G-2	75, 000	w	Sept. 11, 1939
2-4012	Winnebago Distilling Co., Chicago, Ill	A-1	625, 000	so	Feb. 24, 1940
2-4144	Wymont Petroleum Co., Billings, Mont	A-1	270,000	w	Aug 14, 1939

APPENDIX IV

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1940

Copies of the material listed below may be procured from the Publications Unit, Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D. C.

ACTS:

Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Provisions of Federal Laws Relating to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.

National Bankruptcy Act, as amended June 22, 1938.

Investment Company Act of 1940.

Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

MISCELLANEOUS:

Addresses by Commissioners and members of the staff of the Commission. Cost of Flotation for Small Issues—1925–1929 and 1935–1938.

Directory of Over-the-Counter Brokers and Dealers Registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Handbook to the Registration Record.

Official Summary of Security Transactions and Holdings of Officers, Directors, and Principal Stockholders. (Issued twice monthly.)

Securities Traded on Exchanges under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets.

Work of the Securities and Exchange Commission. (This pamphlet describes briefly the duties and activities of the Commission.)

RELEASES:

Releases are issued covering the Commission's official actions, orders, rulings, opinions, etc., under the various Acts which it administers. There are also a Statistical Series of releases which includes statistics of security registrations and of security underwritings, and an Accounting Series which includes statements of the Chief Accountant and other accounting material. An order blank for placing names on the mailing list is available upon request.

Compilation of Releases under the Securities Act of 1933, to and including December 31, 1936.

Compilation of Releases under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, to and including December 31, 1936.

Compilation of Releases under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, to and including December 31, 1936.

REPORTS:

Reports on the Feasibility and Advisability of the Complete Segregation of the Functions of Dealer and Broker.

Report to the Commission by the Trading and Exchange Division on the Proplem of Multiple Trading on Securities Exchanges.

Report on Trading in Unlisted Securities upon Exchanges.

Preliminary Summary of the Progress of the Study of Investment Trusts and Investment Companies.

Report on the Study of Investment Trusts and Investment Companies (other portions of this report are listed on p. 243):

REPORTS—Continued.

Part Three: Abuses and Deficiencies in the Organization and Operation of Investment Trusts and Investment Companies.

Chapter III: Problems in Connection with the Distribution and Repurchase of Shares of Open-end and Closed-end Management Investment Trusts and Investment Companies.

Chapter IV: Problems in Connection with Shifts in Control, Mergers, and Consolidations of Management Investment Companies.

Chapter V: Problems in Connection with Capital Structure.

Chapter VI: Accounting Practices and Reports to Stockholders Generally—Accounting Practices of the United Founders Group of Companies with a Description of Their Activities.

Reports of the Public Utilities Division:

Charts Showing Location of Operating Electric and/or Gas Subsidiaries of Registered Public Utility Holding Companies. - 1939.

Dividend Status of Preferred Stocks of Registered Public Utility Holding Companies and Their Electric and Gas Utility Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1938.

Financial Statistics for Electric and Gas Subsidiaries of Registered Public-Utility Holding Companies. - 1939.

Financial Statistics for Electric and Gas Subsidiaries of Registered Public-Utility Holding Companies. 1930–1939.

The Problem of Maintaining Arm's-Length Bargaining and Competitive Conditions in the Sale and Distribution of Securities of Registered Public Utility Holding Companies and their Subsidiaries.

Security Issues of Electric and Gas Utilities. 1935-1939.

SURVEY OF AMERICAN LISTED CORPORATIONS, a Work Projects Administration Project Sponsored by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The following publications of the Survey (formerly Census) of American Listed Corporations have been made available for distribution by the Publications Unit of the Commission:

Reno	VOLUME I (29) PAGES)	mber of
_	Agricultural Machinery and Tractors	•
	Automobiles	
3.		
4.		
5.	Containers—Metal and Glass Including Closures	
	Meat Packing—Assets Over \$50,000,000 Each	
7.	Office Machinery and Equipment	_ 10
8.	Steel—Assets Over \$100,000,000 Each	. 12
9.	Tires and Other Rubber Products	_ 16
	VOLUME II (375 PAGES)	
10.	Aircraft and Aircraft Equipment	24
	Nonferrous Metals and Their Products Including Smelting and Refining-	
	Assets Over \$20,000,000 Each	. 19
12.	Oil Refining and Distributing With Producing Facilities-Assets Ove	r
	\$50,000,000 Each	. 20
13.	Chain Grocery and Food Stores.	. 14
	Chain Variety Stores	
15.	Dairy Products	. 8
	Department Stores—Annual Sales Over \$10,000,000 Each	
17.	Mail Order Houses	- 7
	Motion Picture Production and Distribution	

	VOLUME III 1 (280 PAGES)	Number of
	ort No.	companies
	Distilled Beverages—Assets Over \$10,000,000 Each	
20.	Paints and Varnishes	9
	Vegetable Oil	
22 .	Drugs and Medicines	~= 14
23.	Toilet Preparations and Soap	9
24.	Cement	8
25 .	Clay Products	13
26.	Building Materials Other Than Clay Products and Cement	19
27.	Building Equipment	20
	VOLUME IV 2 (303 PAGES)	
28.	Apparel Other Than Hosiery and Footwear	17
29.	Carpets, Rugs, and Other Floor Coverings	6
30.	Rayon Yarn	5
	Hosiery	
32.	Textile Fabrics Other Than Upholstery Materials	12
33.	Upholstery and Miscellaneous Textiles	8
	Paper and Allied Products	
35.	Printing and Publishing (Other Than Publishing of Newspapers Periodicals)	
36.	Publishing of Newspapers and Periodicals	
	VOLUME V 1 (169 PAGES)	
37.	Biscuits and Crackers	5
38.	Bread and Cake	9
39.	Beet Sugar	6
40.	Cane Sugar Refining With Producing Facilities	6
41.	Food Canning and Preserving	11
	Grocery Specialties and Miscellaneous Food Products	

SUPPLEMENTS FOR 1939—TO REPORTS INCLUDED IN VOLUMES I, II, AND III PREVIOUSLY PUBLISHED

Supplement

No.

- 1. Meat Packing-Assets Over \$50,000,000 Each.
- Nonferrous Metals and Their Products, Including Smelting and Refining— Assets Over \$20,000,000 Each.
- 3. Steel—Assets Over \$100,000,000 Each.
- 4. Automobiles.
- 5. Aircraft and Aircraft Equipment.
- 6. Cement.
- 7. Paints and Varnishes.
- 8. Containers-Metal and Glass Including Closures.
- 9. Clay Products.
- 10. Distilled Beverages-Assets Over \$10,000,000 Each.
- 11. Chain Variety Stores.

¹ Copies of vol. III (out of print) have been made available for public use in all regional offices of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Library of Congress, Washington, D. C., as well as with 540 depository libraries.

² Copies of vols. IV and V are not available for public distribution but have been placed in regional offices of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Library of Congress, Washington, D. C., as well as with 540 depository libraries.

Supplement

Nο.

- Oil Refining and Distributing With Producing Facilities—Assets Over \$50,-000,000 Each.
- 13. Agricultural Machinery and Tractors.
- 14. Tires and Other Rubber Products.
- 15. Dairy Products.
- 16. Mail Order Houses.
- 17. Building Equipment.
- 18. Cigarettes—Assets Over \$10,000,000 Each.
- 19. Chain Grocery and Food Stores.
- 20. Building Materials-Other Than Clay Products and Cement.
- 21. Office Machinery and Equipment.
- 22. Department Stores—Annual Sales Over \$10,000,000 Each.
- 23. Toilet Preparations and Soap.
- 24. Vegetable Oil.
- 25. Drugs and Medicines.
- 26. Chemicals and Fertilizers-Assets Over \$10,000,000 Each.
- 27. Motion Picture Production and Distribution.

RULES, REGULATIONS, AND FORMS:

General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Act of 1933.

Guide to Forms Adopted under the Securities Act of 1933.

Forms Adopted under the Securities Act of 1933.

General Rules and Regulations under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

Forms Adopted under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Guide to Forms Adopted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Forms Adopted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Regulation S-X, under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Form and Content of Financial Statements.

General Rules and Regulations under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.

Forms Adopted under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. Rules of Practice.

UNIFORM SYSTEMS OF ACCOUNTS:

Uniform System of Accounts for Mutual Service Companies and Subsidiary Service Companies.

Uniform System of Accounts for Public Utility Holding Companies.

COPIES OF THE MATERIAL LISTED BELOW MAY BE PROCURED FROM THE SUPERINTENDENT OF DOCUMENTS, GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE WASHINGTON D. C.

OFFICE, WASHINGTON, D. C. Decisions and reports (paper bound):

	Price
Volume 1, number 1 (July 2, 1934, to September 3, 1935) Out of	print.
Volume 1, number 2 (September 4, 1935, to June 30, 1936)	\$0. 25
Volume 1, number 3 (July 1, 1936, to December 31, 1936) Out of	print.
Volume 2, part 1 (January 1, 1937, to June 30, 1937)	\$0. 50
Volume 2, part 2 (July 1, 1937, to December 31, 1937	. 60
Volume 3, part 1 (January 1, 1938, to June 30, 1938)	. 60
Volume 3, part 2 (July 1, 1938, to October 31, 1938)	. 60
Volume 4, part 1 (November 1, 1938, to January 31, 1939)	. 50
Volume 4, part 2 (February 1, 1939, to May 31, 1939)	. 60

Decisions and reports (paper bound)—Continued.	Pric
Volume 5, part 1 (June 1, 1939, to July 31, 1939) Volume 5, part 2 (August 1, 1939, to September 30, 1939)	\$0. 60 . 50
Volume 6, part 1 (October 1, 1939, to December 31, 1939) Volume 6, part 2 (January 1, 1940, to March 31, 1940)	. 60 . 5
Decisions and reports (buckram bound):	
(The buckram-bound volumes contain all decisions and reports printed in their respective paper-bound volumes. They also contain a table of cases reported with the Sections of the Acts involved and an index-digest of the cases.)	
Volume 1 (July 2, 1934, to December 31, 1936)	1. 78
Volume 2 (January 1, 1937, to December 31, 1937)	1. 78 1. 78
Volume 4 (November 1, 1938, to May 31, 1939)	1. 78
Annual reports:	
First Annual Report, fiscal year ended June 30, 1935	. 10
Second Annual Report, fiscal year ended June 30, 1936	. 15
Third Annual Report, fiscal year ended June 30, 1937	. 25
Fourth Annual Report, fiscal year ended June 30, 1938	. 15
Fifth Annual Report, fiscal year ended June 30, 1939	. 25
Report on the Study and Investigation of the Work, Activ Personnel, and Functions of Protective and Reorganization (mittees: Part I. Strategy and Techniques of Protective and Reorganization	Com-
Committees	<i>Price</i> \$1. 00
II. Committees and Conflicts of Interest	. 60
III. Committees for the Holders of Real Estate Bonds	. 25
Municipal Obligations	. 15
Defaulted Foreign Government Bonds	1. 00
VI. Trustees Under Indentures	. 20
VII. Management Plans Without Aid of Committees VIII. A Summary of the Law Pertaining to Equity and Bank- ruptcy Reorganizations and of the Commission's Conclusions and Recommendations	. 60
Investigation in the Matter of McKesson & Robbins, Inc.:	. 50
Testimony of Expert Witnesses	65
Report on Investigation	. 65 . 60
Investigation in the Matter of Richard Whitney et al.:	
Volume 1. Report of the Commission	. 20
Volume 2. Transcript of Hearing	1. 00
Volume 3. Exhibits	. 55

Report	\mathbf{on}	\mathbf{the}	Study	of	Investment	Trusts	and	Investment	Com-
panie	s:								

Part One. The Nature, Classifications, and Origins of Investment	Price
Trusts and Investment Companies	\$0. 20
Part Two. Statistical Survey of Investment Trusts and Investment	
Companies	1. 25
Part Three. (First section, chapters I-II). Abuses and Deficiencies in	
the Organization and Operation of Investment Trusts and Invest-	
ment Companies	1. 00

The other portions of the Commission's report which have been transmitted to Congress are now being printed, and after printing is completed will be available from the Superintendent of Documents.

The following supplemental reports have been issued in connection with the Report on the Study of Investment Trusts and Investment Companies:

1	Price
Investment Trusts in Great Britain	\$0. 15
Investment Counsel, Investment Management, Investment Super-	
visory, and Investment Advisory Services	. 15
Commingled or Common Trust Funds Administered by Banks and	
Trust Companies	. 10
Fixed and Semifixed Investment Trusts	. 40
Companies Sponsoring Installment Investment Plans	. 25
Companies Issuing Face Amount Installment Certificates.	. 25

Miscellaneous:

Official Summary of Holdings of Officers, Directors, and Principal Stockholders as of December 31, 1935. Price 35 cents.

APPENDIX V

STATISTICAL TABLES

Table 1.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933 '—Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months

[Amounts in thousands of dollars 2]

Year and month	Total :	securities e registered	Total, less securities reserved for conver- sion or substitution ³	Securities proposed for sale by issuers	
	Number of state- ments	Number of issues	Amount	Amount	Amount
1934					
September		40	46,009	39, 012	28, 991
October	22	28	33, 536	28, 876	27, 057
November	23 24	42 34	66, 785	34, 547	32, 205
December	1 24	34	45, 813	39, 791	36, 795
1935	Ì	1		1	
January		25	17, 373	11, 083	9, 061
February	23	25	60, 325	58, 606	36, 019
March	33	36	133, 050	130, 338	124, 581
April	41 32	50 40	161, 309 155, 099	140, 178 142, 302	105, 322 121, 293
June	35	44	193, 831	171, 369	164, 921
Total, September 1934-June 1935	284	364	913, 130	796, 102	686, 245
, •					500, 210
1986					
July		71 62	576, 933	530, 240	476, 792
August September	44 37	48	256, 688 323, 348	254, 884 293, 219	227, 407 244, 304
October		77	417, 457	408, 075	370, 146
November	60	74	303, 478	262, 007	250, 791
December	44	59	212, 206	205, 739	196, 201
1936	1	i		1	
January	48	57	277, 201	274, 624	258, 333
February	46	78	225, 597	207, 250	175, 920
March		93	587, 009	575, 208	475, 110
April	96	139	777, 230	703, 662	613, 038
May June	67 68	93	322, 107 555, 796	308, 345 461, 289	262, 071 385, 790
June		115	305, 780	401, 209	383, 790
Total fiscal year 1936	689	966	4, 835, 050	4, 484, 542	3, 935, 903
1936					
July	74	119	369, 245	361, 384	313, 188
August	60	84	289, 505	259, 739	208, 638
September	57	86	266, 099	237, 242	196, 488
October	83 56	119 77	528, 829 275, 341	508, 453 252, 414	437, 532 229, 226
December	87	130	705, 513	678, 659	599, 824
	"	1	100,010	0,0,000	000,021
1937			40- 0:-	100.0==	Om 4 ====
January	53	87 97	465, 648	402, 025	274, 513
February March	60 83	125	494, 468 541, 591	475, 933 508, 764	415, 719 339, 194
April	101	167	294, 054	262, 605	153, 970
May	62	90	251, 710	200 496	142, 440
June	64	85	369, 462	362, 677	323, 876
Total fiscal year 1987	840	1, 266	4, 851, 465	4, 510, 391	3, 634, 608
				====	=====

See footnotes at end of table.

Table 1.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933:—Totals from September 1934 to June 1940, inclusive, by months—Continued

Year and month	Total s	securities ef registered	Total, less securities reserved for conver- sion or substitution ³	Securities proposed for sale by issuers	
	Number of state- ments	Number of issues	Amount	Amount	Amount
1937					
July	61	88	278, 174	205, 389	152, 510
AugustSeptember	48	69	302, 343	224, 459	181, 631
September	40	54	228, 802	180, 190	86, 486
October	32	40	128, 209	126, 984	124, 399
November	40	57	62, 130	59, 230	31,861
December	48	103	216, 294	193, 745	145, 429
1938	1				
January	19	41	81, 474	78, 808	63, 162
February		31	206, 993	186,650	140, 465
March	23	34	77, 369	68, 522	63, 803
April	27	37	97,899	97, 349	91, 289
May	28	44	97, 048	85, 537	53,850
June	21	32	327, 979	286, 248	213, 903
Total fiscal year 1938	411	630	2, 104, 714	1, 793, 111	1, 348, 788
1938					
July	25	39	225, 624	224, 322	195, 674
August	34	51	414, 405	317, 204	287, 382
September	30	43	130, 587	112, 147	95, 550
October	21	29	411.878	405,063	358,079
November.	31	58	303, 392	249, 989	218, 519
December	29	43	166, 327	140,709	130, 349
1939	(ĺ	Į	1	
January		50	143,001	142, 137	135, 939
February	17	25	24,020	21,366	16, 360
March	37	45	87, 282	69,614	62, 257
April	36	57	308, 519	278, 371	235, 667
May	.] 20	24	88,062	55, 588	31, 228
June	44	56	276, 096	271,720	252, 910
Total fiscal year 1939	343	520	2, 579, 193	2, 288, 230	2, 019, 914
1939					
July	.] 36	47	234, 969	228, 694	188,081
August	.! 34	48	304, 829	296, 294	277, 487
September	.] 17	26	35, 956	26,888	24,816
October	. 21	25	30, 817	28,461	13,509
November	.] 17	44	114, 924	113,994	112, 153
December	. 25	35	166, 571	153,367	149, 542
	1		}	1	
January	26	36	146, 482	143,542	102, 375
February	30	42	249, 933	241, 143	231, 314
March	. 29	38	70, 996	60, 474	46, 929
March April	36	53	245 723	225 510	133, 065
May	. 15	21	102, 761	99,739	97, 270 56, 240
June		28	82, 577	76,882	56, 240
Total fiscal year 1940	306	443	1, 786, 538	1,694,988	1, 432, 781

Included in the data presented in tables 1 to 7, inclusive, are "reorganization and exchange securities" which, in previous annual reports, were shown only in separate tables.

Rounding off figures has resulted in slight differences between the totals and the actual sums of the components in tables 1 to 7.

"Securities reserved for conversion or substitution" include, in addition to securities reserved for the conversion of securities having convertible features, voting trust certificates and certificates of deposit. In previous annual reports these "substitute securities" were included in reorganization and exchange securities.

Table 2.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—By types of securities, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, by months

		Total, a	all securities			Secu	red bonds		
Year and month	Total securities effectively regis- tered		Total, less securities reserved for conversion or substi- tution	Securities proposed for sale by issuers	effectiv	securities ely regis- ered	Total, less securities reserved for conversion or substi- tution	Securities proposed for sale by issuers	
	Num- ber of issues	Amount	Amount	Amount	Num- ber of issues	Amount	Amount	Amount	
1939 July	47 48 26 25 44 35	234, 969 304, 829 35, 956 30, 817 114, 924 166, 571	228, 694 296, 294 26, 888 28, 461 113, 994 153, 367	188, 081 277, 487 24, 816 13, 509 112, 153 149, 542	3 7 2 4 3 8	39, 675 163, 101 10, 380 13, 444 46, 815 125, 681	39, 675 163, 101 10, 380 13, 444 46, 815 125, 681	39, 67, 163, 10 10, 00 2, 06, 46, 81, 125, 68	
1940 JanuaryFebruaryMarchAprilMayJune	36 42 38 53 21 28	146, 482 249, 933 70, 996 245, 723 102, 761 82, 577	143, 542 241, 143 60, 474 225, 510 99, 739 76, 883	102, 375 231, 314 46, 929 133, 065 97, 270 56, 240	5 11 4 4 1 1	47, 289 153, 522 13, 477 44, 217 3, 200 58, 144	47, 289 153, 522 13, 477 44, 217 3, 200 58, 144	45, 98 153, 52 10, 81 44, 21 3, 20 38, 95	
Total	443	1, 786, 538	1, 694, 989	1, 432, 781	56	718, 945	718, 945	684, 02	
,		Unse	cured bonds		Preferred stock				
July "" " August September October November December	3 11 1 1 2 2	112, 421 102, 524 1, 600 500 17, 700 10, 900	112, 421 102, 524 1, 600 500 17, 700 10, 900	112, 421 100, 172 1, 600 500 17, 700 10, 900	11 8 5 2 5 7	49, 406 11, 628 1, 936 2, 700 3, 391 8, 920	49, 406 11, 628 1, 936 2, 200 3, 391 8, 710	10, 44 8, 88 1, 93 2, 20 2, 79 8, 28	
January February March April May June June	1 4	31, 270 46, 506 53, 866 75, 000	31, 270 46, 506 53, 866 75, 000	31, 270 45, 700 33, 112 75, 000	7 6 7 13 4 4	40, 679 17, 209 19, 366 84, 509 5, 039 2, 254	40, 679 17, 209 19, 366 84, 509 5, 039 2, 254	3, 33 9, 48 15, 91 40, 45 5, 03 1, 37	
Total	40	452, 287	452, 287	428, 375	79	247, 037	246, 327	110, 13	
		Com	mon stock	!	Certificates of participation, beneficial interest, warrants, certificates of deposit, and voting trust certificates				
July	17 16 12 14 30 13	21, 600 23, 962 20, 465 12, 992 34, 373 12, 969	16, 433 19, 041 12, 172 11, 317 33, 443 8, 076	14, 783 5, 332 10, 480 7, 740 32, 840 4, 679	1 13 6 1 6 4 4 5	11, 867 3, 614 1, 575 1, 181 12, 645 8, 100	10, 759 800 1, 000 12, 645	10, 75 80 1, 00 12, 00	
January February March April May June	17 17 16 19 9	25, 943 30, 935 23, 414 49, 883 14, 119 6, 799	24, 303 23, 369 19, 409 38, 424 14, 119 6, 799	21, 776 22, 607 11, 986 10, 791 11, 869 6, 256	3 4 11 6 6	1, 300 1, 760 14, 739 13, 246 5, 403 15, 379	536 8, 223 4, 493 2, 381 9, 685	8, 22 4, 49 2, 16 9, 66	
Total		277, 454	226, 905	~161, 139	77	90, 809	50, 522	49, 09	

¹ Includes 1 guaranty. ² Includes 2 guaranties.

Note.—For back figures, see Fifth Annual Report, p. 199, Fourth Annual Report, p. 144; Third Annual Report, p. 127; Second Annual Report, pp. 98 and 99.

Table 3.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—By major industrial groups of issuers, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, by months

		т	otal, all in	dustries		Extractive					
Year and	Total securities effec- tively registered			Total, less se- curities reserved	Securi- ties pro- posed for	Total tive	tively registered less		Total, less se- curities reserved	Securi- ties pro-	
month	Num- ber of state-	Num- ber of issues	Amount	for con- version or substi- tution	sale by issuers	Num- ber of state-	Num- ber of	Amount	for con- version or sub- stitution	sale by issuers	
	ments			Amount	Amount	ments			Amount	Amount	
JulyAugustSeptemberNovember	36 34 17 21 17 25	47 48 26 25 44 35	234, 969 304, 829 35, 956 30, 817 114, 924 166, 571	228, 694 296, 294 26, 888 28, 461 113, 994 153, 367	188, 081 277, 487 24, 816 13, 509 112, 153 149, 542	2 2 1 3 2	2 2 1 3	702 2, 747 1, 582 1, 523	702 2, 747 1, 582 1, 523	666 2, 100 1, 582 775 6, 160	
1940 January February	26 30	36 42	146, 482 249, 933	143, 542 241, 143	102, 375 231, 314		2 2	323 2, 375	6, 160 323 2, 375	323 2, 375	
March April May June	29 36 15 20	38 53 21 28	70, 996 245, 723 102, 761 82, 577	60, 474 225, 510 99, 739 76, 882	46, 929 133, 065 97, 270 56, 240	2 2 3 3 1 1	4 4 1 1	1,957 10,819 4,864 75	1, 957 10, 819 4, 864 75	1,377 10,745 4,864 75	
Total	306	443	1, 786, 538	1, 694, 988	1, 432, 781	22	26	37, 116	33, 127	31, 042	
		·	Manufact	uring	<u> </u>		Finan	cial and i	nvestmen	t	
July	6 10 5 8 6 10	9 12 7 10 9 13	94, 109 36, 501 5, 085 10, 993 10, 859 24, 420	88, 942 34, 511 3, 485 8, 818 9, 929 23, 517	88, 638 33, 309 2, 632 7, 738 8, 844 21, 520	14 4 5 4 5 1	15 7 9 5 25 2	24, 162 3, 894 25, 737 2, 927 40, 776 224	24, 162 3, 894 19, 444 2, 927 40, 776 224	24, 162 3, 700 18, 606 2, 927 40, 386 224	
JanuaryFebruary March	10 14 8 12 5 6	14 19 10 16 6 9	27, 932 124, 758 21, 767 65, 264 86, 112 5, 726	26, 293 122, 320 21, 567 61, 839 86, 112 5, 726	24, 635 120, 751 21, 063 54, 861 86, 112 5, 158	3 3 9 5 5 2	3 4 11 8 6 2	4, 999 12, 828 17, 518 15, 265 5, 246 9, 835	4, 999 12, 282 16, 768 14, 374 2, 745 9, 835	4, 999 12, 282 15, 768 14, 374 2, 745 9, 835	
Total	100	134	513, 526	493, 059	475, 261	60	97	163, 411	152, 430	150, 008	
			Merchan	dising		Tre	nsport	ation and	communi	cation	
JulyAugust September	1 3	2	233 2, 952	233	175	2 4 1	2 4 1	28, 834 5, 987 380	28, 834 4, 548 380	28, 834 55	
October November December	2	3	901	691	261	1 1 1	$\begin{array}{c c} & 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \end{array}$	1, 750 7, 823 1, 401	1, 750 7, 823 1, 401	7, 823	
1940 January February	4	6	2, 444	2,444	1,575	2 4	3 7	3, 484 24, 309	2, 184 18, 504	884 17, 968	
March April May	5	6	12,000 26,232	6, 000 24, 629	3, 722 21, 424	1 1	6 1 2	9, 725 705 3, 768	9, 209 705 3, 768	5, 000 705 3, 549	
June Total		30	2, 210 46, 972	2, 210 37, 984	1, 329 30, 263	27	39	10, 031 98, 197	3,768 4,337 83,443	893 65, 711	
10641		30	10, 572	31,001	50, 203		1 .9	30, 197	00, 440	00,711	

See footnotes at end of table.

Table 3.—Effective registrations under the Securites Act of 1933—By major industrial groups of issuers, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, by months—Con.

	El	ectric l	ght and p	power, gas	, and	Other industries ¹				
Year and		securit	ies effec- stered	Total, less se- curities reserved	Securi- ties pro-	tively registered less se		Total, less se- curities reserved	ties pro-	
month	Num- ber of state-	Num- ber of	Amount	for con- version or substi- tution	posed for sale by issuers	Num- ber of state-	Num- ber of	Amount	for conversion or substitution	posed for sale by issuers
	ments	issues		Amount	Amount	ments	issues		Amount	Amount
July August September	7 8	9 14	82, 914 222, 043	82, 914 217, 149	45, 023 206, 453	4 6 2	8 9 2	4, 016 33, 657 220	2, 908 33, 444 220	584 31, 870 220
October November December	1 3 6	1 5 8	11, 194 54, 955 119, 176	11, 194 54, 955 119, 176	54, 700 119, 176	4 2 3	5 3 4	2, 431 511 10, 300	2, 250 511 2, 200	2, 069 400 2, 200
1940 January February March	5 4 1	8 7 1	107, 300 85, 413 824	107, 300 85, 413 824	69, 960 77, 688	3 2	3 4	251 7, 206	250 4, 150	250
April May June	2	10 2	85, 885 4, 700	84, 018 54, 700	27, 080 38, 950	2 4 3	8 6	41, 553 2, 771	29, 125 2, 250	3, 875
Total	43	65	824, 404	817, 643	639, 030	33	52	102, 916	77, 308	41, 468

 $^{^{\}rm I}$ Includes agriculture, real estate, service industries, miscellaneous domestic companies, foreign companies and foreign governments.

Note.—For back figures, see Fifth Annual Report, pp. 201 and 202; Fourth Annual Report, pp. 145 and 146; Third Annual Report, pp. 129 and 130; Second Annual Report, p. 100, First Annual Report, pp. 72 and 73.

Table 4 — Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Total amount effective, amount not proposed for sale by issuers, issuing and distributing expenses, and net proceeds, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive, by months

		Total	mounte	ffective	G-4				
Year and month		Registered for account of issuers (excluding substitute securities)		Substi- tute se- curities	Regis-	Cost of flotation (applicable to amount proposed for sale by issuers) 1 (red)			
month	Total	Proposed for sale	Not pro- posed for sale	(v. t. etfs. and etfs. of de- posit)	tered for account of others	Total	Compensation to underwriters, agents, etc.	Ex- penses	proposed for sale by issuers
July————————————————————————————————————	234, 969 304, 829 35, 956 30, 817 114, 924 166, 571	188, 081 277, 487 24, 816 13, 509 112, 153 149, 542	43, 781 11, 858 8, 917 13, 550 1, 916 5, 288	1, 108 3, 614 775 181	1, 999 11, 870 1, 448 3, 578 855 3, 640	5, 948 7, 284 2, 178 1, 450 4, 723 4, 604	5, 006 6, 031 2, 053 1, 247 4, 069 3, 414	942 1, 253 125 203 653 1, 190	182, 134 270, 203 22, 638 12, 059 107, 430 144, 938
January	146, 482 249, 933 70, 996 245, 723 102, 761 82, 577	102, 375 231, 314 46, 929 133, 065 97, 270 56, 240	41, 507 16, 307 11, 798 78, 522 20, 225	1, 300 1, 225 6, 516 8, 753 3, 022 5, 694	1, 300 1, 088 5, 752 25, 382 2, 469 418	4, 729 7, 001 2, 548 5, 673 3, 637 2, 317	4, 027 5, 547 2, 091 4, 632 3, 126 1, 959	702 1,454 457 1,042 511 358	97, 645 224, 312 44, 381 127, 391 93, 632 53, 923
Grand total	1, 786, 538	1, 432, 781	253, 669	40, 288	59, 799	52, 092	43, 202	8, 890	1, 380, 686

AMOUNT REGISTERED BY ISSUERS BUT NOT PROPOSED FOR SALE

111100			10000110				
Year and month	Reserved for con- version	Reserved for options	Reserved for other subsequent issuance	To be issued in exchange for other securities	To be issued against claims	To be issued for assets	To be issued for selling and distributing expenses
1939 July	5, 167 4, 921 8, 293 2, 175 930 5, 103	286 159 298 147	11, 194	38, 320 6, 778 624 181 688	38	7	
January February March April May June June	1, 640 7, 566 4, 005 11, 460	335 150 647 125	60 12, 237	38, 640 8, 531 6, 775 54, 351 20, 075	881 198 25	172 400	74
Grand total	51, 260	2, 147	23, 491	174, 963	1, 142	579	85

¹ Not including amounts set forth as securities "to be issued for selling and distributing expenses."

Note.—For back figures, see Fifth Annual Report, p. 203; Fourth Annual Report, p. 147; Third Annual Report, p. 132; Second Annual Report, p. 101; First Annual Report, p. 74.

Table 5, Part 1.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1983—Estimated net proceeds from sale of securities, by proposed uses from July 1989 to June 1940, inclusive, by months

[Amounts in thousands of dollars]

Minosi	Miscer- laneous and counted for	29, 426 19 19 2 2 8	555 131 132 393	80,703
	Organ- ization ex- pense	1 4 4 15	588 5	æ
	Pur- chase of other assets	1, 586 235 190	1,384	13, 505
urities	For affilia- ation	898 123 148 379 200	25	2, 052
Purchase of securities	For invest- ment	19, 058 2, 495 11, 914 2, 632 37, 541	2, 370 10, 832 10, 232 3, 943 9, 556	112, 603
Purtch	Total	19, 956 2, 618 12, 062 2, 632 87, 920	2, 395 10, 832 10, 232 2, 943 9, 556	114, 655
ss and	Pre- ferred stock	4, 562 2, 417 43 3, 214 3, 391	10, 249 12, 248 18, 316 2, 139	56, 678
debtedne tock	Other debt	18, 697 1, 807 1, 223 7, 383 6, 461	4, 558 5, 420 7, 818 6, 105 8	55, 729
Repayment of indebtedness retirement of stock	Bonds and notes	122, 061 217, 817 4, 789 1, 428 53, 969 126, 207	73,002 180,555 8,453 53,532 76,621 38,156	956, 590
Repayme retir	Total	140, 319 222, 041 5, 398 2, 694 64, 567 186, 060	77, 560 196, 224 21, 342 79, 667 82, 826 40, 303	1, 069, 000
	Other new money purposes	335 123 130 457	2, 623 824 824 9	4, 831
ney	Reimburse- ment of corporate treasuries for capital expendi- tures	1, 918	310	3, 725
New money	Working capital	11, 088 6, 443 2, 354 2, 098 5, 098 5, 061 5, 955	11, 338 8, 161 22, 287 2, 287 3, 234 3, 698	90, 394
	Plant and equip- ment	8, 504 9, 441 1, 089 2, 861 2, 525	3, 659 8, 031 1, 180 5, 858 5, 858	63, 824
	Total	21, 846 16, 006 3, 574 6, 492 4, 922 8, 480	17, 133 17, 125 11, 291 43, 361 8, 252 4, 293	162, 775
	Grand	182, 134 270, 203 22, 638 12, 658 107, 430 144, 938	97,845 224,812 44,881 127,891 93,832 53,823	1, 380, 1686
	Year and month	July. August September Cotober November December	January 1940 February March March May June June June June June June June June	Total

Nors.—For back figures, see Fifth Annual Report, p. 204; Fourth Annual Report, p. 148; Third Annual Report, p. 133; Second Annual Report, p. 102; First Annual Report, p. 75.

Table 5, Part 2.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1983—Estimated net proceeds from sale of securities, by proposed uses, from July 1989 to June 1940, inclusive, by months

[In percent of net proceeds]

						Donoting	Par of	htodapa		·					
New money	New mone	New mone	ng	N.		repare	repayment of indeptedness and refirement of stock	enternes ock	BERG	Purcha	Purchase of securities	arities			Miton
Grand total Plant Working and Working ment ment	Plant and Working equip-	Working capital		Reimburse- ment of corporate treasuries for capital expendi- tures	Other new money purposes	Total	Bonds and notes	Other debt	Pre- ferred stock	Total	For invest- ment	For affilia- atlon	Pur- chase of other assets	Organ- ization ex- pense	laneous and unac- counted for
100 12.0 4.7 6.1 100 15.8 4.8 10.4 100 15.8 4.8 10.4 4.2 4.2 1.0 100 5.8 6.2 7.7 4.2 4.1 1.0 100 5.8 6.1 10.8 10.8 10.8 10.8 10.8 10.8 10.8 10	0000000 464.4.4. 75007.70		<u> </u>	10	0000 g	7.88.89.88 0.08.41.0	80.6 11.1.8 20.2	7.0.01 2.0.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 3.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5	20.00 0.00 4.00 0.00	25.53 25.83 25.83 25.83	10 5 1 0 21.8 34.9	0.00	2,0	0.0	000000
7.1.7.2.8.8.8.0.8.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0	66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66		<u> </u>	0.1	80-1000 80-1000	79. 79. 4 87. 5 88. 5 74. 8	24.20 19.1 19.1 10.1 10.8 10.8	444.000	27.7.8 8.4.4.9 0.2.0.4.0.0.2	6 4488921 881172	23 4 23 23 1 1 2 2 2 1 1 7 2 2 2 1 1 7 2 2 2 1 1 2 2 2 2	0.0	8 1	0.0	0001
100 1118 4.6 6.5	4.6	99	!	0.3	0.4	77.4	69.3	4.0	4.1	8.3	8.2	0.1	0.3	0.0	2.2
			l												

Norg.—For back figures, see Fifth Annual Report, p. 205; Fourth Annual Report, p. 148; Third Annual Report, p. 134; Second Annual Report, p. 103, First Annual Report, p. 75

TABLE 6.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Detailed statistics by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

				Total registrations	istrations					7	Securiti	es not offer	ed for sale	Securities not offered for sale or exchange
Industry	Num- ber of issues	Total	Secured	Unse- cured bonds	Pre- ferred stock	Com- mon stock	· Cffs. of part, bene- ficial inter- est, war rants, v. t. ctfs. and	Substitute securities (v t. ctfs. and ctfs. dep.)	Securities registered for account of others	securities registered for account of issuers (excluding substitute securities)	Total	Reserved for con- version	Reserved for op- tions	Reserved for other subsequent Issuance
	-	61	69	4	ıcı	Ð	2	æ	6	10	11	24	器	14
Agriculture	9	14, 975	1, 667		1,460	11,849			7, 145	7, 830	3, 305	3, 055	250	
Extractive: Metal mining Oil and gas wells	818	20, 304 16, 812	5,910	12, 100	4,864	9, 529	00		1, 395	18, 909 16, 754	4,025	3, 989	36	
Total extractive	83	37, 1115	5,910	12, 100	4,864	14, 241	0		1, 452	35, 663	4, 547	3,989	558	
Manufacturing: Food and related products.	4	119, 319	11, 000	7, 784	585					10, 319				
and distill.)	69	1, 183		:	:	1,158	22		32	1, 108	125		125	
notes and texture production	7	1, 330				1,330			-	1, 330				
nots	82	2, 127 25, 021	17, 180	2, 393	3, 794	2, 127 1, 655	1 1		¥84.	24, 228		1 1		
allied industries	10	8, 531	1	2, 665	4, 800	1,066	0			8, 431	200		300	
ucts	∞ ∞	21, 375 126, 798		124, 488	12, 625 200	7,150	786	766	009	20, 775 126, 032	1,898	1, 900	298	
Tire and other rubber products	67	2, 7779			1,400	1,379				2, 778	1, 379	1, 244	135	
nots	-	525				525			361	162	-			
Funding and related products and steel	80	12, 461	106, 495	6, 535	250	3,507	2, 419	2, 419	1, 465	8, 577	900	840		09
Non-jerrous metals		0, 307			2, 930	2,412				9, 307	2,402	7, 402		

						09									
150	150		147	272		1, 179			159		1	159			
610	610	3, 225	4, 167 1, 129	8, 521	930	17, 082	6, 537	6, 537	1, 437	506	1	8,480	2, 213		
240	760	3, 225	4, 167 1, 276 1,256	8, 793	930	18, 321	6, 537	6, 537	1, 596	506	:	8, 639	2, 213		
15, 569	18,004	7, 226	10, 574 22, 836 1, 361	41,997	5, 455	501, 432	4, 162 105, 113 21, 301	180, 576	11,010	3, 220	1,096	160, 270	34, 227	1, 149	
2, 382	2, 382		859 1, 148 518	2, 524	206	8, 707	604	604	35			040	5, 969	111	
					300	3, 386				1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \	2, 502	2, 502	6, 7775	1,758	
		1	0	0	300	3, 411	2, 162 26, 024 21, 301	49, 487	0	00	2, 502	51,988	6, 775	1,758	
6, 100	6, 535	3, 225	7, 223 22, 476 1, 879	34, 803	4, 654	70, 361	1,000	69, 944	4, 330	2,055 3,220	921	80,470	14, 496	48	
1, 050	1,050	4,000	4, 210	9, 718	299	38, 114	1,000	1,000	6,015	9, 563	175	16,754	22, 325	1, 212	
						255, 414			200	2, 750		3,450	3,375		
10, 800	10,800				750	146, 225	10,750	10, 750				10,750			
17, 950	18,385	7, 225	11, 433 23, 984 1, 879	44, 521	6, 161	518, 525	4, 162 105, 718 21, 301	181, 181	11,045	14,369 3,220	3, 597	163, 411	46, 971	3,018	
14	15	61	524	88	10	134	849 10	69	13	41	10	26	ຂ	Ħ	0
Machinery and tools: Industrial machinery and tools. Electrical mach, and equip.	Total machinery and tools.	Transportation equipment: Automobiles and trucks	Accessories parts and accessories Airoraft.	Total trans. equip	Miscellaneous manufactur- ing	Total manufacturing	Financial and investment: Investment and trading: Closed-end manage- note: Open-end management Investment plans	Total invest, and	Commercial credit, finance, and mortgage.	loan Insurance	mentmancial and unvest-	Total fin. and invest	Merchandising	Real estate	Construction

See footnote at end of table.

TABLE 6.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Detailed statistics by industrees—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Con,

			[Pothal negi	Total registrations					111	Seeunt	ies not offe	ned for sale	Securities not offered for sale or exchange
Industry	Num- ber of issues	Total	Secured	Unse- cured bonds	Pre- ferred stock	Com- mon stock	Ctfs. of part., beneficial interest, warrants, v. t. ctfs. and ctfs. and	Substitute securities (v. t. effs. and effs. dep.)	Securities registered for account of others	securities registered for account of issuers (excluding substitute securities)	Total	Reserved for con- version	Reserved for op- tions	Reserved for other subsequent issuance
	1	2	က	4	2	9	7	œ	6	10	11	क्ष	1/3	14
Transportation and communication: Railroads (inc., territical and switching). Street fullroads. Moot transportation.	∞61	516 9,488 2,130	4, 744 380			1,750	516 8,744	516 4,744	2, 130	4,744				
Pipe lines. A viation Telephone and tolegraph Radio	1227	,4,6,0,4, 9,84,6,0,4,83,6,0,4,83,83,6,1,4,83,83,83,83,83,83,83,83,83,83,83,83,83,	13,835	26, 834	13, 863	2, 803 2, 538	4, 444	3, 689	3,015	2,000 13,779 60,336	5,805	5, 805		
com	1	205	705	-						705				
Total trans, and com	39	98, 195	19, 664	26,834	13, 863	28, 132	9, 704	8, 949	7, 482	81, 565	5,805	5,805		,
Settvice	21	22, 617	200		5,075	8,240	8, 802	8, 802	925	12, 890	3,875	3,875		
Electric light, power, heat, water, and gas: Holding companies. Operating-holding compa-		73, 022		30, 970	38, 024	4, 028			5/17	72, 310				
Operating companies	ဝန္ထ	751,380	532, 481	68, 167	105,098	45,380	255		26, 455	724, 925	17,954	6, 760		11, 194
Total elec. lt., pwr., heat, and gas	65	824, 403	532, 481	99, 137	143, 122	49, 408	255		27, 167	797, 236	17, 954	6, 760		11, 1194
Miscellaneous domestic compa-	1	1,750	1, 750							1,750				
Foreign companies	3	459			250	200				459				
Foreign governments	10	960,096		51,979			8,117	8,117		51,979	12,237			12, 237
Grand total.	443	1, 786, 537	718,946	452, 289	247, 038	277, 454	90,810	40, 288	59, 799	1, 686, 440	76,897	51, 259	2, 146	23, 491

	. .			,				25
plicable to	or sale by	Expenses	22		113	267		492
Cost of flotation (applicable	amount proposed for sale by issuers)	Compensa- tion to un- derwriters, agents, etc.	24	75	2,091 671	2, 761	2, 168 2, 168 2, 168 3, 496 115 3, 496 126 85 126 126 126 126 126 126 127 126 126 127 127 127 127 127 127 127 127 127 127	4,002
Cost of fl	amount issuers)	Total	8	78	2, 204	3,028		4, 494
	Total se- curities	for sale by issuer	23	375	14,810	31,042	19, 319 1, 380 2, 117 2, 1139 3, 828 3, 828 18, 878 11, 600 21, 327 2, 845 14, 800 4, 000 6, 366 1, 536 1, 536	33, 165
	To be issued for	distributing expenses	21		74	74		
	Tongible	angiore and futangible assets	20		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		000	
for		Claims against issuer	61				88 88	æ
in exchange		Securities of other issuers	18		1 1			
Securities offered in exchange for less Certificates of other age issuers		17		1 1		1,877		
Secu		Securities of issuer	91	4, 150			9, 800	
		Total	15	4, 150			25 4, 400 4, 811 1, 877	85
	•	Industry	•	Agriculture	Extractive: Metal mining Oil and gas wells	Total extractive	Manufacturing: Proc and related products Boverages (inci, breweries and distili.) Textiles and textile products. Lumber and pupper products. Peper and paper products. Petrolism and related products. Petroleum refaining. Ties and other rubber products. Fetroleum refaining. Ties and other rubber products. Inon and steel rubber products. Non-ferrous metals. Machinery and tools: Industrial machinery and tools. Flectrical mach and equip. Total machinery and tools. Flectrical mach and equip. Total machinery and tools. Automobiles and trucks. Automobile parts and accessories. Aircraft. Radio.	Total trans. equip.

See footnotes at end of table.

TABLE 6.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Detailed statistics by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Con.

		Sec	Securities offered in exchange for	d in exchange	for				Cost of	lotation (ap	olicable to
						To start I	To be is-	Total se-	issuers)	amount proposed for sale by issuers)	or state by
Industry	Total	Securities of issuer	Certificates of deposit	Securities of other issuers	Olaims against issuer	and care intensity of intensity	semug and distributing expenses	for sale by issuer	Total	Compensa- tion to un- derwriters, agents, etc.	Expenses
	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	ន	24	25
Miscellaneous manufacturing	889	889						3,837	823	759	65
Total manufacturing	7,840	5, 488	1,877		75	400	11	475, 260	16,971	13, 772	3, 199
Financial and investment: Investment and trading: Closed-end management Open-end management Investment plans								4, 162 98, 576 21, 301	315 6,170 1,666	316 6,061 1,532	110
Total invest. and trad								124, 039	8, 151	7,907	244
Commercial credit, finance and mortgage Industrial and personal loan Insurance Other financial and investment	1,624	1,000		624				9, 414 12, 239 3, 220 1, 096	1,065 1,065 340 14	789 985 310	2882
Total fin. and invest	1,624	1,000		624				150,007	10, 421	9, 991	430
Merchandising	1, 750	881			870			30, 264	1, 290	883	308
Real estate.	1, 149	1, 142				7					
Construction						1					
Transportation and communication: Railroads (incl. terminal and switching) Bureat railroads. Motor transportation	4,744		4,744								
Pipe lines A Viation	1, 439			1, 439				2, 000 12, 340	1,029	962	81 232

Telephone and telegraph	3,867	3,695		-	-	1	172		- 50, 664	1,158	8 815	343
Miscellaneous trans. and com.									705	31	1 22	
Total trans. and com	10,050	3, 695	4	744	1,43ρ		172		65, 710	2, 299	1,634	665
Service	181			181					8,834	619	9 220	69
Electric light, power, heat, water, and gas: Holding companies	37, 340	37, 340							34, 970	0.	069	219
Operating companies	102, 911	102, 162		551		198			604, 060	15, 781	12, 101	3, 680
Total elec. It., pwr., heat, and gas	140, 252	139, 503		551		198			- 639, 030	16, 590	12, 691	3, 899
Miscellaneous domestic companies									1,750	98	9 70	18
Foreign companies									- 46	459 30	0	30
Foreign governments	9, 691	1, 574		8, 117					30,050	879 678	8 675	3
Grand total	176, 686	167, 432	15,	15, 470	2,062	1, 143	629	85	1, 432, 781	11 62, 092	43, 201	8, 891
	Net pr	٥			New money			——————————————————————————————————————	tepayment	Repayment of indebtedness stock	dness and rec	and retirement of
Îndustry	ceeds from amount proposed for sale by issuers	om it ed bby Total		Plant and equipment	Working capital	Reimburse- ment of cor- porate treasuries for capital expenditures		Other new money purposes	Total	Bonds and notes	Other debt	Preferred stock
	56	27		88	29	30		31	32	33	34	35
A griculture		297	295	38	257			:				1
Extractive Metal mining Oil and gas wells	15,12	12, 606 6 15, 408 7	6, 600	3, 618	2, 182 5, 247			799 1, <i>6</i> 66	5, 981 7, 999	300	5, 981 7, 699	
Total extractive	88	28, 013 14	14, 001	4, 207	7, 430			2, 365	13, 980	300	13,680	
Manufacturing: Food and related products. Boverages (Incl. bewernes and distilleries) Textiles and textile products	18, 1	18, 577 3 777 1, 299	3, 046	384 150	2, 663 179				15, 513	13, 893	1,620	66
Lumber and lumber products	2,2		5, 249	3, 368	1,881				2,112	17, 163	285	2, 112

TABLE 6.—Effective registration under the Securities Act of 1933—Detailed statistics by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Con.

	Net pro-			New money	A		Repayment	of indebted sto	Repayment of indebtedness and retirement of stock	tirement of
Industry	ceeds from amount proposed for sale by issuers	Total	Plant and equipment	Working	Reimburse- ment of cor- porate treasuries for capital	Other new money purposes	Total	Bonds and notes	Other debt	Preferred stock
	26	27	88	53	30	31	32	88	34	35
Manufacturing—Continued. Printing, publishing and allied industries. Chemicals and allied products. Petroleum refining. Tive and other rubber products. Leather and leather products. Building and relaked products. In and seel. Iron and seel. Non-ferrous metals.	3, 262 18, 092 122, 868 1, 223 1, 223 145 145 145 145 145 145 145 145 145 145	8,770 11,696 11,696 141 1,191 2,906 2,469	175 6,868 1,101 1,769 152	462 3, 770 4, 828 810 141 90 87 2, 318		20	2, 475 13, 638 111, 173 111, 173 443 4, 402 211, 944	2, 450 615 107, 161 3, 586 211, 769	24 775 443 507 175 199	12, 248 4, 012 309
Machinery and tools: Industrial machinery and tools Electrical mach, and equip	13,848	4, 926 232	706	4, 206		14	8, 867	8, 577	2, 524	766
Total machinery and tools	14, 181	6, 158	756	4, 288		114	8,893	5, 577	2,550	266
Transportation equipment: Automobiles and trucks Automobile parts and accessories. A trenst A trenst A trenst	3, 814 5, 494 18, 426 939	2, 508 2, 461 13, 346 927	3,094 212	2, 508 1, 757 8, 291 660		1,960	1, 306 3, 025 4, 957	1,306	2, 955 4, 932	02
Total trans. equip	28, 671	19, 241	4,011	13, 215		2,015	9, 288	1, 331	7,888	02
Miscellaneous manufacturing	3,013	2,806	1,302	1, 249		255	201	83	. 119	
Total manufacturing	458, 289	57, 438	19, 034	35, 971		2, 433	399, 028	363, 629	15,784	19,615

3,847						4 431	4 001	340	
, 635							1		
115, 888						4, 431	4, 091	340	
8, 563 11, 174 2, 880 1, 082	8, 141 1, 783 187 187		8, 141 8, 783 1, 787			2,382	2, 382	30	
139, 586	18, 711		18, 711			7, 226	6,856	370	
28, 974	10, 342	1, 160	9, 182			16,956	2, 965	69	13, 923
1, 919 11, 312 49, 506	1, 919 8, 549 16, 562	5, 251 9, 177	3, 297 7, 075	1, 919		2, 760	10, 931	2, 545 11, 898	8, 713
674	674	674		; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ;					
63, 410	27, 704	15, 103	10, 373	2, 228		34, 302	11, 146	14, 443	8, 713
8,245	7, 578	2, 791	4, 787			202	296	212	
34, 161						33, 33	29, 712	3, 920	
688, 279	25, 764	21, 389	2,879	1, 496		562, 226	540, 556	7, 243	14, 427
622, 440	25, 764	21, 389	2,879	1, 496		395, 859	570, 268	11, 163	14, 427
1, 062	530		530			1,132	1, 132		
429	411	103	275		33	11		11	
29, 372									
1, 380, 688	162, 774	63, 825	90, 393	3, 724	4, 831	1, O68, 999	956, 591	55, 729	56, 679
			8, 141 1, 787 18, 711 10, 342 10, 649 10, 602 10, 602 10, 603 10, 603	8, 784 1, 787 10, 342 1, 919 8, 549 1, 919 8, 549 10, 603 10, 603	8, 184 1, 787 18, 711 10, 342 1, 199 1, 919 1, 103 1, 1	8, 184 1, 787 10, 342 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 1, 496 1, 486 1, 48	8, 184 1, 787 10, 342 1, 919 8, 523 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 8, 642 1, 919 1, 91	8, 184 1,787 8, 184 1,787 8, 184 1,788 2, 382 2,382 2 10, 342 1, 160 1,	8, 141 1, 787 10, 342 8, 141 1, 787 10, 342 8, 141 1, 787 10, 342 8, 141 1, 787 10, 342 2, 382 1, 160 2, 382 6, 856 1, 916 2, 382 6, 856 1, 916 2, 382 16, 856 10, 916 2, 382 16, 856 10, 916 2, 382 16, 866 11, 146 2, 382 16, 866 11, 146 3, 287 22, 704 11, 163 2, 382 2, 704 2, 704

Table 6.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Detailed statistics by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

	Purch	ase of sec	urities	Pur-	0	Miscel- laneous
Industry	Total	For invest-ment	For affili- ation	chase of other assets	Organization expense	and unac- counted for
	36	37	38	39	40	41
Agriculture	•					2
Extractive:						
Metal mining Oil and gas wells					3	25 4
Total extractive	·					29
Manufacturing:						
Food and related products Beverages (incl. breweries and distill.) Textiles and textile products	279		279	160	0	17 8
Lumber and lumber products	200		200		28	2
Paper and paper products Printing, publishing and allied industries Chemicals and allied products	25		25			135
Petroleum refining	379		379	300		5
Tire and other rubber products						
Leather and leather products Building and related products						
Iron and steel					5	
Machinery and tools: Industrial machinery and tools				53		3
Electrical mach. and equip				75		-
Total machinery and tools				128		3
Transportation equipment:						•
Automobiles and trucks				110	i	7 11
Radio						12
Total trans. equip				110	1	31
Miscellaneous manufacturing					2	5
Total manufacturing	884		884	698	30	211
Financial and investment: Investment and trading: Closed-end management Open-end management	3, 847 87, 974	3, 847 87, 974			0	
Investment plans	19,506	19, 506				128
Total invest. and trad	111,327	111, 327			0	129
Commercial credit, finance, and mortgage Industrial and personal loan	8		8		0	1 9
Insurance. Other financial and investment.	1, 093 1, 082	1, 093 184	898			<u>-</u>
Total fin, and invest	113, 509	112, 603	906		1	139
Merchandising	148		148	1, 476	0	52
Real estate			[•	
Construction						
	l=====		l			

Table 6.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Detailed statistics by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

	Purch	ase of sec	urities	Pur-	Organi-	Miscel-
Industry	Total	For invest- ment	For affili- ation	chase of other assets	zation expense	and unac- counted for
	36	37	38	39	40	41
Transportation and communication: Railroads (incl. terminal and switching) Street railroads. Motor transportation Pipe lines						-
Aviation	=======			1, 332	0	3 70
Total transp. and com				1, 332	0	73
Service	115		115		15	2
Electric light, power, heat, water, and gas: Holding companies Operating-holding companies Operating companies						529 289
Total elec. lt., pwr., heat, and gas						817
Miscellaneous domestic companies						
Foreign companies	l 					7
Foreign governments					****	29, 372
Grand total	114, 656	112,603	2, 053	3, 505	50	30, 704

Note.—For back figures, see Fifth Annual Report, pp. 206-213; Fourth Annual Report, pp. 150-157; Third Annual Report, pp. 135-143; Second Annual Report, pp. 104-111; First Annual Report, pp. 76-83.

Table 7.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Securites proposed for sale by issuers—By proposed methods of selling and by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

		mount	listributed		т	o securit	y holder	
			1		ļ <u>-</u>		1	
Industry	Grand total	By issuers	By un- derwrit- ers	By agents	Total	By issuers	By under- writers	By agents
Agriculture	375			375				
Extractive Metal mining Oil and gas wells	14, 810 16, 232	1, 944 2, 663	5, 910 13, 319	6, 956 250	6, 122	212	5, 910	
Total extractive	31, 042	4, 607	19, 229	7, 206	6, 122	212	5, 910	
Manufacturing: Food and related products Beverages (incl. breweries	19, 319		18, 734	585				
Beverages (incl. breweries and distill). Textiles and textile products. Lumber and lumber products. Paper and paper products. Printing, publishing and al- lied industries	958 1, 330 2, 127 23, 828	1, 330 2, 127 1, 993	20, 399	808 1, 436	2, 127	2, 127		
Chemicals and allied products. Petroleum refining Tire and other rubber prod-	3, 508 18, 878 125, 532	1, 044	2, 983 18, 283 123, 988	525 595 500	318 16, 195		318 16, 195	
ucts Leather and leather products Building and related products Iron and steel Non-ferrous metals	1, 400 162 5, 800 217, 327 2, 845	253 340	1, 400 850 216, 120 2, 505	162 4, 950 955	33			33
Machinery and tools: Industrial machinery and tools Electrical mach. and	14, 809 435	875	12, 209	1, 725 250	875	875		
equip Total machinery and tools	15, 244	875	12, 394	1, 975	875	875		
Transportation equipment: Automobiles and trucks.	4, 000		4, 000					
Automobile parts and accessories	6, 369 21, 560 1, 236	84 502	5, 122 15, 909 705	1, 163 5, 149 531	84 6, 371	84 145	5, 776	450
Total trans. equip	33, 165	586	25, 736	6, 843	6, 455	229	5, 776	450
Miscellaneous manufacturing.	3, 837	275	750	2, 812	275	275		
Total manufacturing	475, 260	8, 823	444, 292	22, 146	26, 279	3, 506	22, 289	483
Financial and investment: Investment and trading. Closed-end management. Open-end management. Investment plans	4, 162 98, 576 21, 301	10, 882		4, 162 87, 694 21, 301	3, 414	3, 414		
Total invest. and trad	124, 039	10, 882		113, 157	3, 414	3, 414		
Commercial credit, finance and mortgageIndustrial and personal loanInsuranceOther financial and invest-	9, 414 12, 239 3, 220	499 886 680	5, 785 2, 500	3, 130 8, 852 2, 540	886 510	886 180		330
ment	1,096	1,096	0.000	107 075	4.020	4 .00		990
Total fin. and invest	150,007	14, 043	8, 285	127, 679	4, 810	4, 480	19 746	330
Merchandising	30, 264	7, 262	21, 518	1,484	15, 739	1, 142	13, 748	849
Real estate.								===
Construction Transportation and communication: Railroads (incl. terminal and switching)								

To security holders

Table 7.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Securities proposed for sale by issuers—By proposed methods of selling and by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

Amount distributed

Industry

industry	Grand total	By issuers	By un- derwrit- ers	By agents	Total	By issuers	By under- writers	By agents
Transportation, etc.—Continued. Street railroads. Motor transportation								
Pipe lines	2,000	2,000						
Aviation.	12,340	6, 915	12, 140	200 5, 542	10, 256 55		10, 256 55	
Telephone and telegraph Radio	50, 664	0, 910	38, 208	0,012	00		٠.	
Miscellaneous trans. and com.	705		705					
Total trans. and com	65, 710	8, 915	51, 053	5, 742	10, 311		10, 311	
Service	8, 834	4, 964	3, 870		3, 120	3,000	120	
Electric light, power, heat, water, and gas: Holding companies	34, 970	4,000	30, 970		4,000	4,000		
Operating-holding companies. Operating companies.	604, 060	1, 150	600, 854	2,056	11, 546	650	9, 590	1,306
Total elec. lt., pwr., heat, and gas	639, 030	5, 150	631, 824	2, 056	15, 546	4, 650	9, 590	1, 306
Miscellaneous domestic com-	1, 750		1, 300	450				
panies	459	459	1, 300	400				====
Foreign companies		=						
Foreign governments	30, 050		30,050					
Grand total	1, 432, 781	54, 224	1, 211, 420	167, 137	81, 926	16, 990	61, 968	2, 968
		То р	ublic			То "с	others"	
Industry	Total	By issuers	By under- writers	By agents	Total	By issuers	By under- writers	By agents
Agriculture	375			375				
Extractive: Metal mining Oil and gas wells	8, 688 14, 232	1, 732 663	13, 319	6, 956 250	2,000			
Total extractive	22, 920	2,395	13, 319	7. 206	2,000	2,000		
Manufacturing: Food and related products	19, 319		18, 734	585				
Beverages (incl. breweries and distill.)	958		150	808				
Textiles and textile products					1, 330	1, 330		
Lumber and lumber products. Paper and paper products.	23,828	1, 993	20, 399	- 1, 436				
Printing, publishing, and al- lied industries	_ 3, 190		2, 665	525				
Chemicals and allied prod- ucts.	2, 683	1	2, 088	595				
Petroleum refining. Tire and other rubber prod-	124, 488		123, 988	500	1, 044	1,044		
ucts Leather and leather products_	1,400 129		1, 400	129				
Building and related prod-								
Iron and steel	850 217, 327	253	850 216, 120	955	4, 950	*******		4, 950
Non-ferrous metals	- 2,505		2, 505		340	340		
Machinery and tools: Industrial machinery and								
toole	19 094	1	10 000	1 70=				
tools Electrical mach. and	13, 934		12, 209	1, 725	10		10	
tools	425		175	250	10	*******	10	
tools Electrical mach, and equip				' 1	10		10	

Table 7.—Effective registrations under the Securities Act of 1933—Securities proposed for sale by issuers—By proposed methods of selling and by industries—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

		To I	oublic			То "	others"	
Industry	Total	By issuers	By under- writers	By agents	Total	By issuers	By under- writers	By agents
Manufacturing—Continued. Transportation equipment: Automobiles and trucks Automobile parts and ac-	4, 000		4,000			~		
cessoriesAircraft	6, 285 15, 071 1, 236	282	5, 122 10, 114 705	1, 163 4, 675 531	118	75	19	24
Total trans. equip	26, 592	282	19, 941	6, 369	118	75	19	24
Miscellaneous manufacturing	3, 562		750	2, 812				
Total manufacturing	441, 189	2, 527	421, 973	16, 689	7, 792	2, 789	29	4, 974
Financial and investment: Investment and trading: Closed-end management Open-end management Investment plans	4, 162 90, 194 21, 301	2, 500		4, 162 87, 694 21, 301	4, 969	4, 969		
Total invest, and trad	115, 657	2, 500		113, 157	4, 969	4, 969		
Commercial credit, finance, and mortgage. Industrial and personal loan. Insurance. Other financial and invest-	8, 915 11, 097 2, 000		5,785 2,500	3, 130 8, 597 2, 000	499 255 710	499 500		255 210
ment					1,096	1,096		
Total fin. and invest	137, 669	2, 500	8, 285	126, 884	7,528	7,063		465
Merchandising	9,004	600	7,770	634	5, 521	5, 521		
Real estate			====					
Construction								
Transportation and communica- tion: Railroads (incl. terminal and switching)	_	 		,		4		KS
Street railroads Motor transportation								
Pipe lines Aviation Telephone and telegraph	2, 084 38, 153		1, 884 38, 153	200	2, 000 12, 457	2, 000 6, 915		5, 542
Radio Miscellaneous trans. and com	705		705					
Total trans. and com	40,942		40,742	200	14, 457	8, 915		5, 542
Service	4, 969	1, 219	3,750		745	745		
Electric light, power, heat, water, and gas							======	
Holding companies Operating-holding companies Operating companies	30, 970 591, 264		30, 970 591, 264		1, 250	500		750
Total elec. lt., pwr., heat, and gas	622, 234		622, 234		1, 250	500		750
Miscellaneous domestic compa-	1,750		1, 300	450				
Foreign companies	397	397			63	63		
Foreign governments	30, 050		30, 050					
Grand total	1, 311, 499	9, 638	1, 149, 423	152, 438	39, 355	27, 595	29	11, 731

Note.—For back figures, see Fifth Annual Report, pp. 214-16; Fourth Annual Report, pp. 158-160; Third Annual Report, pp. 144-147; Second Annual Report, p. 112; First Annual Report, pp. 84-85.

TABLE 8.—New issues of securities offered for cash in the United States, 12 by types of offerings and types of securities, yearly from July 1934 to June 1940, inclusive

			T'n	Types of offerings	82			Ty	Types of securities	Se
Year and month	100	Public	olic		Private		Unregistered, intrastate	Bonds,	Preferred	Сошшоп
	Grand total	Registered	Exempt 4	Registered 5	Exempt	Other 6	and unascer- tained	notes, and debentures	stock	stock
Total, July 1834 to June 1835 Total, July 1835 to June 1836 Total, July 1836 to June 1837 Total, July 1837 to June 1837 Total, July 1837 to June 1839	3, 767, 922 11, 242, 541 7, 611, 865 3, 725, 181 6, 770, 102	492, 315 3, 261, 572 3, 008, 878 891, 089 1, 651, 062	2, 832, 588 7, 534, 044 4, 165, 958 2, 447, 767 4, 279, 537	70, 161 11, 814 3, 988 62, 836	87, 654 43, 416 105, 655 27, 745 106, 924	351, 767 322, 493 302, 589 350, 838 670, 988	3, 598 10, 855 16, 471 3, 754 7, 756	3, 748, 881 10, 948, 072 6, 781, 823 3, 478, 373 6, 598, 707	12, 160 189, 963 404, 712 186, 028 106, 660	6, 881 104, 506 424, 830 60, 780 73, 745
July August September October December	602, 617 551, 540 176, 146 578, 292 221, 601 950, 524	169, 471 274, 880 4, 909 7, 686 69, 964 147, 970	377, 009 149, 843 75, 871 392, 702 141, 620 756, 402	4, 950 5, 610	34, 672 1, 985 10, 250 10, 236 6, 325	20, 765 123, 703 95, 016 166, 307 4, 330 33, 688	1, 129 1, 129 100 1, 361 737 528	581, 507 539, 694 172, 487 569, 252 208, 262 937, 256	15,944 9,280 1,080 3,518 3,460 9,462	5, 166 2, 566 2, 566 5, 522 9, 879 3, 806
January 1940 February March March March March March March March March March June	504, 298 582, 848 304, 636 452, 814 315, 423 245, 147	96, 980 211, 030 39, 893 132, 800 95, 659 46, 786	361, 551 319, 642 240, 857 290, 921 147, 616 135, 322	3, 800 3, 800 75	21, 962 0 3, 000 10, 536 6, 920	23, 421 50, 774 17, 086 28, 839 61, 537 55, 807	384 1, 126 0 254 0 312	482, 252 569, 515 269, 803 393, 423 295, 366 236, 660	7, 451 10, 268 16, 497 45, 117 7, 942 6, 368	14, 595 3, 066 18, 336 14, 274 12, 115 3, 119
Total, July 1839 to June 1940.	5, 485, 886	1, 298, 028	3, 389, 356	14, 712	95, 886	681, 2773	6, 632	5, 255, 477	135, 387	95, 023

exclude listues herry maturities of less than 1 year; issues with gross proceeds of \$160,000 or less; offerings which do not appear in the financial press (largely those sold through continuous offerings, such as sales of securities of open-and investment companies); and interorporate transactions. Figures subject to revision as new data are received.

* Rounding off figures may have resulted in slight differences between the totals in the table and the actual sums of the components.

3"Amounts" represent principal amount of bonds or number of shares multiplied in each instance by offering price, except for State and municipal issues where principal

Includes offerings by the United States Government and agencies, and by United States insular and territorial possessions; by States, municipalities, and other governamount was used.

tional, and other non-profit institutions.

• Certain privately placed issues formerly carried as "registered" issues were changed to "other" issues, as they were placed privately prior to registration.

• Securities for which registration under the Securities Act of 1933 presumably would mental subdivisions; by common carriers; by banks; and by charitable, religious, educa-

be required if they were publicly offered.

Norz.—Earlier data appearing in the Commission's Annual Reports included notes sold commercial banks as solo purchasers; such notes have been excluded, in addition to routine revisions.

TABBE 9.—New issues of sequrities offered for cash in the United States. 4 by types of issuers, yearly from July 1934 to June 1939, inclusive, monthly from July 1959 to Juhe 1940, inclusive

·		Corporate	rate 4	***			Noncorporate •		
Year and manth	Total	Public util- ity	Industrial	Rail and other	Total	United States Government and Agency b	State and municipal 6	Foreign gov- ernment ⁷	Educational, religious, and other non- profit
Total, July 1934 to June 1835. Total, July 1895 to June 1836. Total, July 1895 to June 1837. Total, July 1837 to June 1839. Total, July 1938 to June 1839.	1, 169, 240 4, 484, 192 3, 740, 097 1, 641, 095 2, 466, 908	368, 832 2, 080, 908 1, 655, 680 616, 206 1, 365, 788	335, 882 1, 330, 275 1, 214, 682 807, 649 939, 149	464, 577 1, 073, 009 869, 735 217, 340 161, 970	2, 598, 682 6, 758, 349 3, 871, 368 2, 084, (87 4, 312, 195	1, 572, 410 5, 354, 659 2, 589, 371 1, 206, 754 2, 904, 127	1, 020, 326 1, 248, 675 1, 060, 212 863, 795 1, 322, 049	4, 978 130, 537 163, 239 3, 250 66, 797	24, 478 24, 478 58, 446 10, 288
Auly. August. September. October. December.	199 110 383, 047 107, 467 200, 352 86, 762	80, 134 243, 683 50, 053 155, 680 60, 825 153, 760	100, 873 72, 614 19, 972 17, 600 16, 039 33, 050	18, 103 66, 750 37, 432 27, 073 9, 899 79, 261	403, 506 108, 493 68, 689 377, 940 131, 839 684, 464	317, 906 71, 139 71, 139 44, 416 323, 124 53, 941 594, 151	S3, 249 89, 060 24, 003 53, 980 80, 093 90, 115	27, 939 0 0 0 0 0	2, 351 355 270 836 805 805
109 to 10	145, 497 265, 663 102, 131 263, 913 198, 480 110, 996	73, 887 107, 716 20, 058 54, 020 1, 538 94, 418	32, 385 124, 791 34, 046 102, 684 90, 640 8, 133	39, 225 33, 167 48, 027 97, 210 106, 303 8, 445	358, 801 317, 186 202, 504 198, 901 116, 943 134, 152	273, 044 144, 665 105, 992 121, 504 64, 268 49, 600	85, 612 171, 946 84, 320 75, 746 50, 077 84, 213	00000	145 576 12, 192 1, 651 2, 588 339
Total, July 1939 to June 1940	2, 319, 478	1, 095, 772	652, 827	570, 885	3, 166, 408	2, 163, 749	952, 416	27, 939	22, 305

7 Excludes portions of issues offered abroad.

Norz.—Earlier data appearing in the Commission's Annual Reports included notes sold commercial banks as sole purchasers; such notes have been excluded, in addition to routine revisions.

1 See footnote 1 of table 8.

2 See footnote 2 of table 8.

3 See footnote 2 of table 8.

4 Corporate plus anoncorporate issues, shown in table 9, are equal to grand total of sissues shown in table 8.

I includes only issues publicly offered for each.

6 Source: Commercial and Financial Chronicle (includes security offerings of United States possessions).

TABLE 10.—Ordinary transactions in stocks registered on all national securities exchanges reported by officers, directors, and pruncipal stockholders under Section 16 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984—Monthly averages for the years 1986–39; monthly from July 1938 to June 1940

And the second s	Numbe	Number of transactions	dtions			-	Number of shares (in thousands)	shares (in	housands)			
					Purchases			Sales			Balances	
Year or month !	Pur- chases	Sales	Total	All trans- actions	Trans- actions under 10,000 shares	Trans- actions of 10,000 shares or more	All trans- actions	Trans- actions under 10,000 shares	Trans- actions of 10,000 shares or more	All trans- actions	Trans- actions under 10,000 shares	Trans- actions of 10,000 shares or more
1936 monthly average 1837 monthly average 1938 monthly average 1930 monthly average	1, 124 1, 247 765 882	1, 343 1, 295 956 629	2,467 2,542 1,721 1,511	1, 407 989 787 650	356 374 292 240	1,051 615 495 410	1,823 1,823 1,005	633 657 411 260	1, 237 1, 166 1, 166 294 240	-463 -834 -218 +150	-277 -283 -119 -20	-186 -551 -99 +170
July August September October November December	597 610 714 661 655 1, 253	1, 475 840 860 1, 411 1, 253	2, 072 1, 450 1, 364 2, 072 2, 508	470 759 230 228 649 1,578	172 193 196 167 204 1, 396	298 566 34 59 445 182	796 888 540 1, 172 1, 001	570 292 280 280 699 512 607	226 596 2,240 394	-326 -129 -310 -2,103 +577	1.398 1.99 1.532 1.789	+72 -236 -226 -1,795 -212
January February March April May June July Anguer June October Docember	947 732 1,057 1,067 734 734 888 888 888 888 888 888 888 888 1,218	260 260 260 260 260 260 260 260 260 260	1,507 1,187 1,693 1,693 1,087 1,184 1,285 1,285 1,270 1,676 1,530 2,117	20. 280 20. 280 20. 769 20. 769 20. 276 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20.	201 201 202 202 202 202 202 203 203 203 203 203	2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2	506 573 573 573 527 537 1, 536 1, 536 516	221 222 242 263 263 263 263 263 263 263 263 263 26	285 281 281 281 282 283 284 284 285 285 285 285 285 285 285 285 285 285	+2.233 +2.330 +448 +105 +105 +105 -158 -168 -168 -168 -178 -178 -178 -178	+ 1 1 1 + + + 1 1 1 4 + 1 1 1 4 4 5 1 1 1 4 4 5 1 1 1 1 4 1 1 1 1	+2, 286 +2, 286 +234 +234 +18 +18 -165 -165 -165 -165
January 1840 February Warch March March Mary June.	886 826 839 839 1,777 776	664 545 570 942 768 524	1,550 1,409 1,831 1,831 1,323	288 283 375 307 731 619	228 271 265 252 244	3 202 375 375	803 325 646 446 410	232 255 1191 418 368 198	201 70 455 266 80 212	- 515 - 42 - 271 - 377 + 285 + 209	++116 +116 +46 +46	-511 -346 -211 +122 +163
Data pertaining to periods prior to May 31, 1938, computed on basis of reports received up to 101, 1918, 1918, data pertaining to periods between June 1, 1918, and Apr. 30, 1939, up to 101, 1918, and Apr. 30, 1939, and 1939, and Apr. 30, 1939, and 1939, and Apr. 30, 1939, and	omputed on	basis of rel	Apr. 30, 16	}	limitation 83 ff.	and limitation of data see "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," pp. 83 ff.	. Selected	Statistics	on Securiti	es and on	Exchange	Markets,"

¹ Data pertaining to periods prior to May 31, 1938, computed on basis of reports received and limit up to July 31, 1938, and Apr. 30, 1939, pp. 83 ff. computed on basis of reports received up to May 30, 1939, data pertaining to period after May 1, 1939, computed on the basis of reports received within the calendar month following each month reported. For descriptions of the methods of computation, coverage, "Selected."

pp. 83 ff. Norg.—For monthly figures for the period from Jan. 1, 1936, to June 30, 1938, see "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 68.

TABLE 11.—Ordinary transactions in stocks listed on the New York Stock Exchange reported by officers, directors, and principal stockholders

	Numb	Number of transactions	octions			Z	Number of shares (in thousands)	hares (in t	housands)			
					Purchases	-		Sales			Balances	
Year or month 1	Pur-	Sales	Total	All trans- actions	Trans- actions under 10,000 shares	Trans- actions of 10,000 shares or more	All trans- actions	Trans- actions under 10,000 shares	Trans- actions of 10,000 shares or more	All trans- actions	Trans- actions under 10,000 shares	Trans actions of 10,000 shares or more
1936 monthly average. 1937 monthly average. 1938 monthly average.	533 258 340	658 691 546 321	1, 196 1, 224 804 661	370 309 155 125	162 165 89 89	208 144 86 36	659 631 375 178	2882 2865 131 131 131 131 131 131 131 131 131 13	277 386 139 47	1 189 1 220 1 220 1 530	- 120 - 167 - 42	- 69 - 222 - 53 - 53
July. August September Getober. November December	188 159 230 189 44	844 437 346 914 528 773	1, 032 596 596 1, 153 1, 153 1, 217	267 34 73 72 197	48 34 73 72 147	231 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	348 191 162 769 769 590 466	308 159 142 1142 289 289 366	256 100 100 100	- 91 - 157 - 79 - 692 - 518 - 269	- 262 - 125 - 69 - 461 - 217	+171 -132 -110 -301 -50
1899 January March March April May June June September September October November December	387 208 208 208 208 208 208 208 208 208 208	257 267 268 268 268 268 268 268 268 268 413 413 413	654 487 725 725 735 607 1, 097 690 690 690 675 675 645	E82822888224	E 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	100 1116 1147 1183 1183 1183 1184 1170 1170 1100 1000	100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	8000 1188 1188 1188 1188 1188 1188 1188	14+1+14 1146124 1146124 1146124 116612 116612 116612 116612 116612 116	1111+111111111111111111111111111111111	14444444444444444444444444444444444444
1840 Japuary Fébruary March April May Jupe	410 307 335 287 827 374	330 270 295 517 450 317	740 577 630 804 1, 277 691	160 138 79 79 206	115 138 66 63 305	13 13 14 62 62	310 192 237 230 236 114	128 122 101 103 250 101	182 70 126 127 127 16	-150 -148 -1151 -1151 -192	1+11++ 8350 84	- 137 - 113 + + 44 + 44
Dats pertaining to periods prior to May 31, 1938, computed on basis of reports received up to July 31, 1938, data pertaining to periods between June 1, 1938, and Apr. 30, 1939.	omputed or	n basis of re 1938, and	Apr. 30. 19	1	limitation of on the said.	of data see "Selected Statistics	Selected Si	atistics on	Becurities	and on	Exchange Markets,"	Markets,"

pp. 83 H. up to July 31, 1838; data pertaining to periods between June 1, 1938, and Apr. 30, 1939, computed on basis of reports received up to May 30, 1939, data pertaining to period after May 1, 1839, computed on the basis of reports received within the calendar month following each month reported. For descriptions of the methods of computation, coverage, and

Norr.—For monthly figures for the period from Jan. 1, 1936, to June 30, 1938, see "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 69.

Table 12.—Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Effective registrations, classified by type of organization ¹

End of—	Total	Sole pro- proprietor- ships	Partner- ships	Corpora- tions	Other
1935 ²	5, 326 6, 372 6, 882 6, 815 6, 679	2, 048 2, 640 3, 049 3, 160 3, 219	1, 537 1, 634 1, 671 1, 586 1, 517	1, 732 2, 086 2, 151 2, 062 1, 935	9 12 11 7 8
January 1938 February March April May June July September October November December	6, 891 6, 911 6, 898 6, 868 6, 823 6, 808 6, 792 6, 805 6, 807 6, 819 6, 804 6, 815	3, 074 3, 088 3, 098 3, 107 3, 117 3, 121 3, 113 3, 123 3, 140 3, 153 3, 148 3, 160	1, 670 1, 670 1, 652 1, 639 1, 614 1, 607 1, 597 1, 594 1, 585 1, 586	2, 136 2, 142 2, 137 2, 112 2, 085 2, 073 2, 075 2, 081 2, 075 2, 073 2, 066 2, 062	11 11 10 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
January 1939 February March April May June July August September October November December	6, 772 6, 756 6, 779 6, 801 6, 815 6, 796 6, 783 6, 756 6, 752 6, 750 6, 701 6, 679	3, 148 3, 158 3, 158 3, 217 3, 242 3, 247 3, 254 3, 256 3, 254 3, 258 3, 228 3, 228 3, 219	1, 579 1, 565 1, 564 1, 551 1, 545 1, 532 1, 529 1, 521 1, 522 1, 519 1, 523 1, 523	2, 038 2, 026 2, 021 2, 026 2, 021 2, 010 1, 993 1, 972 1, 969 1, 966 1, 942 1, 935	77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 88
January 1940 February March April May June	6, 629 6, 633 6, 638 6, 618 6, 609 6, 602	3, 192 3, 206 3, 221 3, 224 3, 234 3, 238	1, 505 1, 496 1, 496 1, 491 1, 484 1, 478	1, 924 1, 923 1, 913 1, 896 1, 885 1, 880	8 8 8 7 6

¹ Includes domestic and foreign registrants.
² January 2, 1936.

Table 13.—Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934—Monthly changes in effective registrations during the fiscal year ended June 29, 1940, classified by type of organization ¹

		Total		Sole p	roprieto	rships	Pa	rtnersh	ips	Cor	poratio	ns 2
Month	Added	Can- celed	Net change	Added	Can- celed	Net change	Added	Can- celed	Net change	Added	Can- celed	Net change
July 1939 August September October November	77 67 56 66 59 62	90 94 60 68 108 84	-13 -27 -4 -2 -49 -22	39 42 26 34 30 36	32 40 28 30 60 45	+7 +2 -2 +4 -30 -9	25 19 17 21 18 13	28 27 16 24 14 19	-3 -8 +1 -3 +4 -6	13 6 13 11 11 11	30 27 16 14 34 20	-17 -21 -3 -3 -23 -23
January 1940_February March April May June	71 122 87 68 75 79	121 118 82 88 84 86	-50 +4 +5 -20 -9 -7	31 58 45 43 49 48	58 44 30 40 39 44	-27 +14 +15 +3 +10 +4	24 45 33 19 17 20	36 54 33 24 24 26	-12 -9 0 -5 -7 -6	16 19 9 6 9	27 20 19 24 21 16	-11 -1 -10 -18 -12 -5
Total	889	1,083	-194	481	490	-9	271	325	-54	137	268	-131

Includes domestic and foreign registrants.
 Includes corporations and other forms of organization (except sole proprietorships and partnerships).

NOTE.-For back figures see Fifth Annual Report, p. 221, table 13.

TABLE 14.—Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.—Effective registrations as of June 29, 1940,

1040			Num-	branch offi- ces, total	000884224654684508604518816008			
1000	ations		Num-	of em- ploy- ees	2, 450 3, 50 3, 50 3, 50 3, 50 3, 50 1, 6, 6, 6, 6, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7,			
	Corporations		o grin	offi- cers, direc- tors, etc.³	88.24.25.25.25.25.25.25.25.25.25.25.25.25.25.			
0.000				of regis- trants	81222222222222222222222222222222222222			
200 1201			Num- ber	branch offi- ces, total	80188888405180118804P8802 X 0000 <u>X</u>			
fig a gan	Partnerships		Num	of em- ploy- ees	22 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 2			
ffice ffice	Partne		Num- ber	of part- ners, etc.³	82 0 0 0 0 4 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6			
cipal c				of regis- trants	~~4246454645445100045115804501045			
f prin	sd		Num- ber	branch offi- ces, total	000011001100110000000000000000000000000			
tion o	Sale proprietorships		Num- ber	of ees ees	51122576.8828.888.8282828257786178617861786178617861786178617861786			
by loca	ile propi		Num- ber	of prie- tors 3	000041290088800814174448888488684786			
and l	SZ.		Num.	of regis- trants	00004729088808841740488824885547899			
vewers registered under section to by the securities Executifie and by location of principal office. classified by type of organization and by location of principal office.		sebj	floes	lloes	sec		Abroad	000-00000000000000000000000000000000000
organ		Number of branch offlees	Located in—	Other parts of continental U.S.	0018488648666666666666666666666666666666			
ype of		of bran	Locate	Home state	4000 4 2 1 1 1 5 0 0 0 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0			
d by t	tal	Total	Number		Home	000000000000000000000000000000000000000		
rea ur lassifi	Ĕ	-		Total	400888811811718692 4018848118117186			
registe			Num	of ploy- ees	7, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 3, 2, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3,			
euters		Num		prie- tors, part. ners, offi- cers, etc.	1, 079 1, 079 1, 079 1, 230 1,			
n nun			Num	of regis- trants	20-22-21-12-25-25-25-25-25-25-25-25-25-25-25-25-25			
ABLE 14,—Drokers and			Location of principal		Alabama Arizona Arizona California California Colorado Connacticut Delaware District of Columbia Florida Illinois Illino			

01140828841808811088080	820	1,022
014 014 024 024 025 025 025 035 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04	19, 713 4, 451	24, 164
289 281 281 282 283 283 283 283 283 283 283 283 283	6,917	8,7543
-653&884486~5%8453°054%80	1,488	1,864
07.00%00%v00%40000	513 773	1, 286
2.48 0.08 12.12 14.24 1.08 1.08 1.08 1.08 1.08 1.08 1.08 1.08	18, 962 27, 985	44, 947
H	3, 047	5, 608
0002117002118	757	1, 470
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	25.22	133
365 8 8 8 114 8 8 8 1 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 1	3, 496	4, 361
418 9 9 9 9 9 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	2,362	3, 211
25 4 4 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	2,382	3, 211
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	17	8
0480888884805440811480	764	1,450
05x20x2000010112000x2000	120	742
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	49 181	180
088088888888888	1, 442	2, 441
1188 104 1174 1174 1174 1173 1173 1173 1173 117	3 7, 171 3 3, 301	70, 472
22222222222222222222222222222222222222	1, 840 5, 522	17, 362
255 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250	1, 938	6, 545
New Mexico. New York (axel. N.Y.C.). North Davolina. North Davolina. Onlo. Oklahoma. Oregon. Oregon. Oregon. Oregon. Temnsylvania. Rhode Island. South Dakota. Temnessee. Temnessee. Utah. Vermont. Vermont. Vermont. Washington. Washington. West Virginia. Wisconsin.	Total, exol. New 4, 60 York City 1, 93	Total, incl. New York City

Domestic registrants only.
 Includes corporations and other forms of organization (except sole proprietorships and partnerships).
 Includes directors, officers, trustees and all other persons occupying similar status or performing similar functions.

Norr.—For back data (as of June 30, 1938) see "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 26

Table_15.—Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.—Effective registrations as of June 29, 1940, classified by size of establishment (based on number of employees reported) and by location of principal office

	e en	Number of employ.	1,629 2,833 1,000 1,145 1,115 1,116 2,116 3,244 2,984 2,984
	100 and more em- ployees	Num- ber of pro- prie- tors, part- ners offi- cers,	0008005200020001035080000
	100 a	Num- ber of regis- trants	000010010000000000000000000000000000000
	9 em-	Num- ber of em- ploy- ees	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
	From 50 to 99 em- ployees	Number of propertors, particular, officers, etc.?	00%027%000000000%7%0%0000
	From	Num- ber of regis- trants	000000000000000000000000000000000000000
	-шә е	Number of employ-	1, 0 0 0 11, 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
	From 20 to 49 em- ployees	Num- ber of pro- prie- tors, part- ners, offi- cers,	200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200
Bu	From	Num- ber of regis- trants	0008wa0w010844w410p8b40b11
Registrants reporting	-ше (Num- ber of em- ploy- ees	50-28820-8222234-88-582524-89-08
istrants	From 10 to 19 em- ployees	Num- ber of pro- prie- tors, part- ners, offi- cers,	40088290649174922152486050
Reg	From	Num- ber of regis- trants	1007405004418800000000550000
	From 6 to 9 employ-	Num- ber of em- ploy- ees	800824444 600824444 60088888888888888888888888888888888
	to 9 em	Num- ber of pro- prie- tors, part- ners, offi- cers,	8-8888551887-888844-44888851-348
	From (Num- ber of regis- trants	0008300120015887100580000000000000000000000000000
	nploy-	Number of employ.	20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2
	From 1 to 4 employ- ees	Num- ber of pro- prie- tors, part- ners, offi- cers, etc.*	28 4 28 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
	From 1	Number of registrants	4.00 E
	employees	Num- ber of pro- prie- tors, part- ners, offi- cers,	100 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200
	No em	Num- ber of regis- trants	1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
		Location of principal office	Alabams Arifons Arifons Californis Colorasio Connection Distract of Columbia Florida Georgia Illinois Illinois Illinois Illinois Illinois Maryland Marns Mannes Mansachusetts Missischus Mi

1, 034 1,	12,772	
000000040800004004000	¥04 888	1, 390
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	14.5	115
00000000000000000000000000000000000000	4, 488	8,872
0080500%008000800000000	511	948
0-10400400400400400000	88	129
	7,602	11,869
005088608105680855014040	1,427	2, 152
000010051080000000000000000000000000000	249	384
	4, 411	6,076
0312220088000825000	1,362	1,826
0-17-17-10 H46 B4000 62004 6420	332	451
111 182 183 183 183 184 185 187 188 188 198 0	3,847	5,055
0.0800 1.081 1.082	1,995	2, 580
ou%o≌uu44.a4auunaäunuönĕo	586 183	769
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	4, 051 1, 476	5, \$27
988 988 988 988 988 988 988 988 988 988	4, 201 1, 814	5, 715 2
262 262 263 263 263 263 263 263 263 263	1,996	2, 716
25.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1,840	2, 751
21000884055584055084550063484	1,337	1,981
Nevada New Hampshire New Hampshire New Jorsey New Moxico New York (exc) North Carolina North Carolina North Dakota North Dakota Pensarylyania Pensarylyania Rhode Island South Carolina South Carolina South Carolina Tennessee Texas Texa	Total, excl. New York City	Total, incl. New York Otty 1, 9

1 Domestic registrants only.

Includes sole proprietors, partners, directors, officers, trustees, and all other persons occupying a similar status or performing similar functions. Norg.-For back data (as of June 30, 1938) see "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 25.

Table 16.—Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 1—Effective registrations as of June 29, 1940, classified by type of credit extension and by type of business

Type of credit extension	Type of business	Number of regis- trants	Number of pro- prietors, partners, officers, etc. ²	Number of em- ployees	A verage number ³ of person- nel per regis- trant
Total, all registrants.	Total	6, 545	17, 362	70, 472	13 4
	Dealers Brokers Combination 4 Other 4	1, 167 555 4, 677 46	2, 648 1, 522 13, 047 145	4, 593 7, 392 57, 497 990	6 2 13. 6 15 1 24. 7
Registrants not extending credit to cus- tomers in any form.	Total.	5, 057	11, 403	22, 384	6.7
comers in any torm.	Dealers Brokers Combination ⁴ Other ⁵	- 1,035 - 457 3,527 - 38	2, 192 828 8, 273 110	3, 242 1, 064 17, 191 887	5 3 4.1 7.2 26 2
Registrants carrying margin accounts for customers, but extending no other credit	Total	844	3, 599	30, 676	40.6
facilities.	Dealers Brokers Combination • Other •	- 16 - 140 - 687 - 1	31 534 3, 032 2	67 4, 645 25, 963 1	6. 1 37. 0 42. 2 3 0
Registrants selling securities to customers on partial payment contracts, but extend- ing no other credit facilities.	Total	249	647	2, 239	11.6
	Dealers Brokers Combination 4 Other 4	- 74 - 32 138 - 5	216 49 360 22	619 169 1, 375 76	11 3 6 8 12.6 19.6
Registrants extending credit facilities to customers, other than through margin accounts and through sale of securities on partial payment contracts.	Total.	198	838	3, 120	20.0
	Dealers Brokers Combination Cother S	- 30 - 8 - 158 - 2	153 35 639 11	638 118 2, 338 26	26. 4 19 1 18. 8 18. 5
Registrants carrying margin accounts for customers and selling securities on partial	Total	49	145	405	11.2
payment contracts, but extending no other credit facilities.	Dealers Brokers Combination ¹ Other ⁴	1 0 48 0	2 0 143 0	0 0 405 0	2. (0 (11. 4 0. (
Registrants extending credit to customers in all forms, except through sale of securi-	Total.	90	527	8, 113	96 (
ties on partial payment contracts.	Dealers Brokers Combination 4 Other 3	- 0 - 14 - 76 - 0	0 70 457 0	1,392 6,721 0	0 (104. 4 94. 4 0 (
Registrants extending credit to customers in all forms, except through carrying of	Total.	40	156	3, 415	89.
margin accounts.	Dealers Brokers Combination 4 Other \$	26	54 5 97 0	27 4 3, 384 0	7 3 6 3. 0 133. 9 0. 0
Registrants extending credit to customers in all forms.	Total	18	47	120	9. 3
in ou na me.	Deslers Brokers Combination 4 Other 3	0 1 17 0	0 1 46 0	0 0 120 0	

1 Domestic registrants only.

4 Brokers and dealers.

Includes sole proprietors, partners, directors, officers, trustees, and all other persons occupying a similar osition or performing similar functions.
 Number of proprietors, partners, officers, etc. plus number of employees, divided by number of regis-

[•] Registrants claiming to be neither brokers nor dealers.

NOTE.—For back data (as of June 30, 1938) see "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 29.

Table 17.—Brokers and dealers registered under Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984—Effective registrations as of June 29, 1940, of brokers and dealers engaged in or qualified to engage in the sale of fractional oil and gas royalties and other fractional or undivided interests in oil and gas rights, classified by type of organization and by location of principal office

Total			Sole proprietor- ships			Partnerships			Corporations *			
Location of principal office	Num- ber of regis- trants		Num- ber of em- ploy- ees	Num- ber of regis- trants	pro-	ber of em-	Num- ber of regis- trants		Number of employ-	Num- ber of regis- trants	offi- cers,	Num- ber of em- ploy- ees
Alabama Arizona Arkansas. California Colorado Connecticut Delaware District of Columbia Florida Georgia Idaho Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maine Maryland Massachusetts Michigan Minesota Minesota Minesota Mississippi Missouri Montana Nebraska New Hampshire New Jersey New Mexico New York (excl. N.Y.C.) North Carolina North Carolina North Carolina South Carolina South Carolina South Carolina South Carolina South Carolina South Dakota Tenassee Texas Utah Vermont Virginia Washington West Virginia Washington West Virginia Washington West Virginia Washington Wordn Wisconsin Wyoming Total, excl. New York City New York City New York City.	1 1 1 6 50 111 3 0 0 22 2 9 2 1 26 4 4 2 2 39 9 14 4 4 10 14 4 4 3 3 3 2 2 4 4 0 0 1 1 1 12 14 5 4 0 0 2 2 2 2 8 868 8138	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 5 5 5 0 0 36 6 6 8 1 7 1 4 4 4 6 6 6 8 1 7 1 4 7 3 5 5 0 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 2 1 4 4 1 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 1 2	1 1 1 27 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1 1 1 4 27 8 8 2 2 0 0 18 8 6 6 2 1 1 19 9 3 3 2 2 38 8 13 3 3 4 4 14 4 3 3 3 2 2 167 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1 1 0 38 6 5 0 0 18 8 1 0 0 0 0 17 7 0 0 0 3 3 4 4 2 2 2 2 137 8 8 0 0 2 2 137 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 2 2 19 3 3 1 1 1 1 1 2 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 3 2 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 7 78 17 3 0 18 3 3 0 0 11 1 0 0 5 5 3 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 133 1388 8 8 8 8 8 0 0 111 11 0 0 0 666 3 3 3 2 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Total, incl. New York		248	308				<u> </u>		39			<u> </u>
City	1, 006	1, 532	1, 988	804	804	649	52	137	241	150	591	1, 098

Domestic registrants only.
 Includes corporations and other forms of organization (except sole proprietorships and partnerships)
 Includes directors, officers, trustees, and all other persons occupying a similar status or performing

NOTE.—For back data (as of June 30, 1938) see "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 30.

TABLE 18.—Market value and volume of sales on registered exchanges 1—Grand totals, by exchanges, for the year ended June 30, 1940

	Total	Stoc	ks 2	Boi	nds ³	Rights and warrants		
	Market value (thousands of dollars)	Market value (thousands of dallars)	Number of shares (thou- sands)	Market value (thou- sands of dollars)	Principal amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Market value (thou- sands of dol- lars)	Num- ber of units (thou- sands)	
Total, all registered ex- changes	13, 469, 385	11, 661, 419	493, 713	1, 801, 052	2, 540, 368	6, 914	4, 478	
Baltimore Stock Exchange Boston Stock Exchange Chicago Board of Trade Chicago Stock Exchange Cincinnati Stock Exchange Cincinnati Stock Exchange Detroit Stock Exchange Los Angeles Stock Exchange New Orleans Stock Exchange New York Curb Exchange New York Real Estate Securities Exchange New York Stock Exchange Philadelphia Stock Exchange Philadelphia Stock Exchange Pittsburgh Stock Exchange Salt Lake Stock Exchange San Francisco Mining Exchange San Francisco Stock Exchange	9, 105 200, 497 88 189, 352 7, 979 12, 508 39, 371 58, 831 676 1, 158, 544 211, 557, 958 92, 626 22, 225 5, 862 1, 641 173 110, 389	8, 124 200, 004 88 187, 743 7, 901 12, 503 39, 371 58, 785 819, 316 10, 094, 270 92, 444 22, 200 5, 090 1, 641 173 110, 218	4, 258 1, 422 335 8, 047 2, 552 7, 136	981 490 0 1,551 79 0 0 1335,327 1,460,831 181 26 758	2,807 533 0 1,257 87 0 0 87 398,068 2,133,364 1,242 23 2,158	0 3 (*) 57 0 (*) 5 0 46 0 0 3, 901 0 2, 856 0 0 0 14 0	0 1 1 1 51 0 0 187 0 1,565 0 2,542 0 0 0 0 10 0	
Spokane Washington Stock Exchange	284 1, 252	284 679	1, 347 15	573	553	0	0	

¹ The rounding off of the monthly figures results in some slight discrepancies between totals contained in this table and totals derived by adding the monthly figures in succeeding tables.

² "Stock sales" include sales of voting-trust certificates, American depository receipts, and certificates of

deposit for stocks.

2 "Bond sales" include sales of mortgage certificates and certificates of deposit for bonds.

Note.—Value and volume of sales on registered securities exchanges are reported in connection with fees paid under Section 31 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. For most exchanges the figures represent transactions cleared during the calendar month. Figures in this and the other tables differ in some cases from comparable figures in the monthly releases due to revision of data by exchanges. For earlier data see Fifth Annual Report, pp. 222-227; Fourth Annual Report, pp. 166-171; Third Annual Report, insert facing p. 156; Second Annual Report, insert facing p. 116; First Annual Report, pp. 87-91.

Passbooks, the value of which is included in the total at head of column.

Table 19.—Market value of all sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive

[Thousands of dollars]

273226

27322			1939	61					1	1940		
6—41	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June
Total, all registered exchanges 1	895, 769	892, 254	2, 622, 905	1, 346, 934	979, 677	892, 789	908, 932	686, 970	734, 949	1, 270, 123	1, 587, 302	650, 780
b Baltimore Stock Exchange Boston Broad of Trage	623 13,056	545 13,361	31, 624	723 17, 621	672 17, 832	639 16, 522	806 13, 916	722 11, 093	621 12, 377	831 16, 105	1, 805 25, 403	439 12, 187
Olicago Stook Exchange Chicianal Stook Exchange Cincinnal Stook Exchange	14, 402	53	24, 670 619	20,003	14, 957 505 505	14, 110 499	15,215	11, 33,	12,430	16, 172 890	28,747	9,687
	2, 977 4, 088	ଔଷ	4,7,123 10,050	, 8, 4, 087, 088,	4, 495	2, 172 3, 476	3, 456 3, 821 3, 821	3,287	3, 937	6, 84 0, 34 0, 080 0, 080	7, 562 7, 562	3, 282 109 14
Exchange	79, 592	83	149, 197	100,886	91, 621		100, 573	73, 441	76, 145	129, 228	134,989	49,000
	765, 226 5, 829 1, 475	8.0-	2, 353, 819 15, 378 5, 504	1, 176, 848 9, 370 2, 240	829, 485 7, 025	747, 604 6, 504 1, 386	754,094	569, 735	609, 634 5, 593	1, 073, 067	1, 358, 225 10, 567 2, 689	561, 600 4, 834 1, 064
	964	'	733 331	1850 1850 1850 1850 1850 1850 1850 1850	882 52:	4248	404 604	117	1485	3328	21724	\$ 60°
San Francisco Stock Exchange Standard Stock Exchange of Spokane. Washington Stock Exchange.	6, 756 16 54	6, 715 18 89	10,655 97 38	7, 977 17 17 131	7,457	7,78	6,873 25 138	8,242 16 76	7,897	12,946 22 121	15, 804 23 149	4,861 16 117

Includes passbook sales, totaling 5 thousand dollars from July to October 1930, after which trading in passbooks was suspended.

TABLE 20.—Market value of stock sades, monthly, by exchanges, from Judy 1939 to June 1940, indusive

[Thousands of dollars]

			1939	6 8						1940		
	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	Мву	June
Total all registered exchanges	774, 191	769, 265	2, 204, 881	1, 184, 233	843, 895	767, 062	774, 382	582, 515	631, 842	1, 133, 310	1, 435, 589	560, 255
	528 12, 966	13,264	31,607	17, 508	17, 323	592 16, 511	13, 875	11,053	536 12, 342	16,024	1, 186 25, 370	378 12, 160
Chicago Stock Exchange Cincimati Stock Exchange Cincimati Stock Exchange	14, 264	13,465			14,888	13,855	14, 883	11, 288	12, 427		1,367	9,687 556 734
Dervier Stock Exchange Dervier Stock Exchange Los Adgles Stock Exchange Los Adgles Stock Exchange	4, 088 2, 088	3,990	5,7,5 50,048 5,048 5,048	, e, 4, 868 868	4, 493	3,476	3,820	3,282	3,927	6,348 6,078	7,441	3,282 282,100
New York Curb Exchanges New York Real Estate Securities Exchange	46, 394	49, 975	116, 586	70, 784	62, 553	63,938	67, 927	52, 186	55, 241	101, 290	100, 333	33, 109
New York Stock Exchange Philadelphia Stock Exchange Pittaldelphia Stock Exchange	677, 292 5, 813	669, 431 6, 472	1, 969, 582	1,044,901 9,335 2,240	723, 386	648,941	652, 915 7, 746	486, 918 5, 689	527, 688	7, 574	1, 241, 492	487, 116 4, 834 1, 063
St. Louis Stock Exchange. Salt Levels Stock Exchange. San Levels to Mirting Rephanes.	262	gs		225	85.5	372	600	117	1488	382	218 2118	88 88 88 88
San Francisco Stock Exchange Standard Stock Exchange of Spokane. Washington Stock Exchange	6,747 16 32	8, 708 18 65	100, 652 97 31	7, 975	7,416	7,7 80,4	6,888 22,825	6, 188 16 46	7,876	2, 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,	15,287 28.282	4, 860 18 88

Table 21.—Volume of stock sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive

July Aug.		ROAT						1940	0		
		Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	Jah.	Feb	Mar	Apr.	Мву	June
Total all registered exchanges 30, 892 31, 315	815	92, 271	43, 284	35, 252	31, 238	31,644	24, 978	28, 439	50, 802	68, 229	25, 370
330	354	78 946 5	39 481 3	35 297	491 2	372	388 389 389	334	46 474 6	738 2	326 1
983 118 33	912	1, 286	783	676 20 4	22 24 49	612 24 28	513 21	62.4	766 34 55	1, 063 52	399 21 28
384	338	888	320	388	321 821	325	249 286 86	375 376	387	728	7 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58
3,042 3	3, 425		4, 642	4, 245	14, 687 0	4, 239	3, 508	4, 103 0	7, 282		2, 708 0
24, 519 24, 24, 70	24, 554 294 87	75, 192 650 960	34, 998 365	362	355	24, 141	18, 541	20, 510 278 9,5	37, 599	53, 543	20, 107 208 73
St. Louis Stook Exchange.	468 252 252 253 253	1,023	374	3833	332	224	268 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	818	1,771	96	483
10 (1)	2357 150 1	1, 251 361 1	114	53	8 5 5 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	118	110	044 1	840 104 2	(1,095 85 2	382 342 242 242

1 500 shares or less.

Table 22.—Market value of dond sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive

[Thousands of dollars]

			1939	82					1940	01		
	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	Јап.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June
Total all registered exchanges	121, 420	122, 908	417, 429	162, 275	135, 515	125, 631	134, 462	103, 351	102, 858	135, 784	149, 103	90, 317
Baltimore Stook Exchange Boston Stook Exchange Chicago Board of Trade Chicago Board of Trade Chicago Stook Exchange Chevaland Stook Exchange Los Angeles Stook Exchange Los Angeles Stook Exchange New York Clut'b Exchange New York Real EState Securities Exchange New York Real EState Securities Exchange Philadophia Stook Exchange Pittsburgh Stook Exchange Pittsburgh Stook Exchange Et Louis Stook Exchange Et Louis Stook Exchange Stook Exchange Stook Exchange Stook Exchange Stook Exchange	96 90 90 136 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	47 0 0 160 0 0 0 0 33, 318 89, 189 89, 189 23 23 23 24 24 24	47 17 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 33,032 384,237 384,237 384,237 384,237 384,737 4 7	29, 749 131, 901 29, 749 131, 901 59 59 59	28, 944 105, 994 105, 994 28, 944 105, 994 15	47 11 11 26, 46 10 26, 466 83 33 13 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	135 41 41 9 332 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	89 40 40 7 7 7 21, 20 81, 207 81, 807 11 0 0 84 83 85	85 35 0 11 0 0 0 0 20, 760 81, 857 0 81, 857 0 0 15 0 15 0 15 0 16 0 16 0 16 0 16 0	83 81 0 115 21 20 0 0 28, 910 0 1008, 459 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	116 30 0 36 11 11 33, 556 33, 556 115, 226 0 0 0 0 0 115, 226 116, 226	61 27 0 0 0 1 1 15, 683 74, 484 74, 484 12 74, 484 12 74, 484 12 74, 484 12 74, 484

1 \$300 or less.

Table 23.—Principal amount of bond sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive

[Thousands of ddllars]

	1940	Mar. Apr. May June	163, 222 210, 816 2219, 740 184, 597	213 226 31 158 36 83 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
		Feb.	153, 589	286 44 44 0 0 0 0 16 127, 34 16 16 36 28
		Jan.	208, 518	282 282 133 133 141, 183 186, 112 186, 112 186, 112 186, 183 186, 183 186 186, 183 186, 183 186, 183 186, 183 1
		Dec.	206,047	136 12 198 198 11,185 173,971 285 173,971 188 0
liter Sj		Noy.	193,891	358 10 0 30 30 0 0 0 33,118 116,374 169,374 187 737 88
Transmas or authors	1939	Oct.	229,653	208 14 0 343 34,416 194,212 227 227 (1)
ו זיייטר	19	Sept.	498, 100	167 24 26 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1,74,74 459,821 2,88 2,98 2,98 2,98 2,98 2,98 2,98 2,98
		Aug.	189,770	158 107 107 113 118 11 0 11 38,002 121,165 121
		lul	162, 425	322 98 0 0 114 0 0 0 0 87, 692 123, 949 1123, 949 1134 124 124 125 127 127 127 127 127 127 127 127 127 127
		•	Total all registered exchanges	Baltimore Stook Exchange— Baston Stook Exchange— Chicago Stook Exchange— Chicago Stook Exchange— Chicago Stook Exchange— Chicago Stook Exchange— Los Angeles Stook Exchange— Los Angeles Stook Exchange— New York Curb Exchange— New York Curb Exchange— New York Real Estate Securities Exchange— New York Stook Exchange— Pitladelpin Stook Exchange— Pitladelpin Stook Exchange— Pitladelpin Stook Exchange— Pitladelpin Stook Exchange— St. Louis Stook Exchange— St. Louis Stook Exchange— San Franckeo Stook Exchange— San Franckeo Stook Exchange— Washington Stock Exchange—

1\$500 or less.

Table 24.—Market value of right and warrant sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive

(Thousands of dollars)

)			1,039							1940		-
	July	Aug	Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June
Total all registered exchanges	158	81	202	426	267	18	88	1, 104	250	1,029	2, 611	208
Boston Stock Exchange. Chicago Board of Trade. Chicago Stock Exchange. Los Angeles Stock Exchange. Los Angeles Stock Exchange. New York Curb Exchange. New York Curb Exchange. St. Louis Stock Exchange. St. Louis Stock Exchange.	66 6 66 21 22 22 22	33 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	(3) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	(3) 23 (3) 23 47 47 1	(3) 0 32 30 0 125 106 (3) 1	(3 (3)	C CC	(3) 0 0 0 0 25 48 1,011 (3) 19	(3) 0 0 0 112 143 89 89 89 1 1	(1) (2) 0 1,027 1,027	(3) (3) (4) (5) (5) (5) (5) (6) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7	(£)

1 Passbooks, the value of which is included in the totals at head of columns. \$\$500 or less.

TABLE 25.—Volume of right and warrant sales, monthly, by exchanges, from July 1939 to June 1940, inclusive

[Thousands of units]

			1939	39					1940	01		
	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June
Total all registered exchanges.	562	77	193	157	174	208	89	1,117	279	300	1,264	81
Boston Stock Exchange Chicago Board of Trade. Chicago Stock Exchange. Los Angeles Stock Exchange. New York Chub Exchange. New York Stock Exchange. St. Louis Stock Exchange. St. Trancisco Stock Exchange.	(3) 12 (4) 52 (9) 1	3 3 0 0 3 76 3 0 0	(i) 0 0 0 185 185 1	(3) 0 (1) 16 (107) 2 2	(3) 0 22 1 73 (3) 71 1	(3) 0 0 128 (2) 84	E E E	(1) 0 115 90 826 (1) 85	(1) 0 83 125 58 138	(3) (2) (4) (5) (6) (7) (1)	(1) 287 975 (1)	(c)

¹ 500 units or less.

Table 26.—Round-lot stock transactions 1 on the New York Stock Exchange for accounts of members and nonmembers, by weeks, June 26, 1939—June 29, 1940

						Round	Round-lot transactions for account of members 2	ettons for	account o	of member	g 52						
Week ended Satur-	All round	All round-lot sales	Transactions in stocks in registered	s of in whi	specialists ch they are	Transacti account odd-lot	Transactions for the odd-lot accounts of specialists and odd-lot dealers	odd-lot lists and	Other tra	Other transactions initiated on the floor	initiated r	Other tra	Other transactions initiated off the floor	initlated	Round-le account	Round-lôt transactions for account of nonmembers	dons for embers
day	Ē	1,5	Pur-	SS	Salles	Pur	Salles	se se	Pup	SS	Sales	Pur-	S.	Sales	Pur-	Sales	Sa
	renor	- Judiuc	chases	Total	Shqrt 3	chases	Total	Short 3	chases	Total	Short 3	chases	Total	Shorte	chases	Total	Short 3
1839 July 1 15 8 Aug. 28 12 12 12 12 13 14 14 16 17 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18	%1.00% #40% #40% #40% #40% #40% #40% #40% #	101y 1 3,385 1,524 1,025 1,0	24 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	14. 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 198	5656666666 \$\$\$\$##\$\$\$\$\$\$\$	01 01 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1	221 241 241 252 253 253 253 253 253 253 253 253 253	55555555555555555555555555555555555555	1, 252 2,	108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108 108	<u> </u>	25 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	26666666666666666666666666666666666666	44444444444444444444444444444444444444	4.1.4.6.0.0.4.4.4.7.4.7.7.4.4.0.4.0.4.0.0.0.0.0	0000000000 ### ########################
57 020	unores a	י בוומ מי	ana.														

Table 26.—Round-lot stock transactions 1 on the New York Stock Exchange for accounts of members and nonmembers, by weeks, June 26, 1939—
June 29, 1940—Continued

	tions for embers	68	Short 3	16 47 42	4%8 8	ន្តន្តន	288	888	885	137 91	3	888
	Round-lot transactions for account of nonmembers	Sales	Total	2, 761 2, 562 2, 869	2,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9,9	1444 858 858 858 858 858 858 858 858 858	6,4,4 64,58 7,48 7,48 7,48 1,48 1,48 1,48 1,48 1,48 1,48 1,48 1	6,551 5,551 5,551	4,275 418	4,6% 8,779 8,779	2,000	4,04,00 8,82 8,82 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,83 8,83
	Round-l accoun		chases	2, 913 835 835	444.64 8841.6	1444 900 400 1000 1000	3,52 8,884 848	6,075 5,745 6,626	 	14, 934 8, 615	12,4	1,62,63 2,62,63 2,63 2
	initiated	es	Shqrt3	888	4 126	222	222	1482	ននេះ	188	3228	155
	Other transactions initisted off the floor	Sales	Tottal	189 167 118	148 155 155 155	1945	178	888	128 128 138 138	35.5	323	25.5
	Other tra		chases	113 132 102	88 811 82 82 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83	102	10 E	18 8 8 18 8 8	818 82 82 82 82 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83	888	385	118
ga	initiated	82	Short!	822	ដ្ឋ	3228	ន្តនេះ	¥85	888	ន្តភូទ	182	344
f member	Other transactions initiated on the floor	Sales	Total	23 33 23 33 23 33	288	8888	24.2 24.1 24.1	322	\$ 55 4 4 8	-1 88 88 88	329	344
account of members	Other tra	1	chases	247 254 251	8228	188 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 2	282 282	680 679 687	438 438 438 438 438	, 89, 89,	139	\$ \$ \$
ctions for	for the odd-lot of specialists and slers	sa	Short ?	686	<u>೯</u> ೯೯	2000	 EEE	೨ <u>೯</u> ೨	00 E	<u> </u>		
Round-lot transactions for	as for the of special	Sales	Total	103 114 106	5826	112	25 28 28 28 28	250 150 150	21 EE	173	44	828
Round-	Transactions accounts of odd-lot deal	- <u>-</u>	chases	154 176 114	\$255 855 855 855 855 855 855 855 855 855	1138	90 22 25 130	218 188 188	# E E	\$ 2 5	328	122
	specialists h they are	SS	Short 3	286	3888	3884	482	888	228	25 E	188	 2 2 8
	of whic	Sales	Total	463 494 350	252 252 252 252 252 253 253 253 253 253	222	270 270 484	882		4-1. 88.	262	376
	Transactions in stocks in registered		rur. chases	381 470 360	253 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250	8888	<u> </u>	8228	8 42 8	7,1 2016 207	389	262
	lot sales		Shqrt 3	119 134 146	មិនមិ	888	1981	ន្តន្តីន	132	389	137	182
	All round-lot sales		Total	808 808 862 862	2, 9, 4, 4, 6, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20		4.86 276 270	8,7,7,9 8,44,88	4,4,0,	11,252	262	, w, 4,
	Week ended Satur-	day		1840 Jan. 6 13 20	77 Web. 3	Mar. 2	288	Apr. 6	May 4	25.	8 1	នុងន

· Round-lot transactions are transactions in the unit of trading or multiples thereof; the unit of trading on the New York Stock Evchange is 100 shares for most stocks, and 10 shares for certain inactive stocks.

The term "members" includes all members, their firms, and their partners.

The term "members" includes all members, their firms, and their partners.

*Round-lot short sales which are exempted from restriction by the Commission's rules are not included in these fixures.

*Accurate data on round-lot short sales on the New York Stock Exchange are not available prior to the week ended September 9, 1838.

*Gos shares or less.

Nore.—For earlier data see the Fifth Annual Report of the Commission, p. 228, the Fourth Annual Report, p. 162, and the Third Annual Report, p. 162.

TABLE 27.—Round-lot and odd-lot stock transactions 1 on the New York Curb Exchange for accounts of members and nonmembers, by weeks, JABC

							•		•								
					Round-lot	Round-lot trapsactions for account of members 3	ns for accor	unt of me	mbers 2								
Week ended Satur-	All roun	All round-lqt sales	Transact stocks register	ions of spe in which ed	Transactions of specialists in stocks in which they are registered a		Other transactions initiated on the floor	ditiated	Other ti	Other transactions miti- ated off the floor	is miti-	Round-le Recount	Round-lot transactions for account of nonmembers	tions for embers	Odd-lot count	Odd-lot transactions for ac- count of customers 3	ns for ac-
day	7	i	Pur-	- SS	Sales	P	Sales	88	9	Sales	88	Par	Sa	Sales	ğ	Salles	88
	1820.1	• abous	chases	Total	Shoatt 4	chases	Total	Short 4	chases	Total	Short 4	chases	Total	Short 4	chases	Total	Short 4
1939																	
July 1	572 260		28.24	150 88	E E	00 44	12	වෙ	11	16 6	£	492	444	චච	1133	222	೯೯
222	25 SS		983	583	E E:	51.00	11.8	EE	82.23	222	EE	434 88	2 25	ල ල	24	848	E
Aug. 5	23. 23. 23. 23.		28.5	822	: 	7445	# 4 4	೯೯	882	122 122	වෙව	668 443 443	651 692 410	eee	448	884	೯೯
2 2 2	248 748		85	184		ន្តន	385		144	0.5	: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	459	447	008	288	1812	œ
Sept. 2	2, 973		388	45		148	2.23		811	288		2,411	2,353	වෙව	148	588) (2)
ខ្មន	1, 328 1, 328 1, 328 1, 328		163	182	999 	2 2 3	223	9E	288	28.5	EE	1,087	2,,	EE:	157	102	e e:
Oct. 7	1, 902 572		112 211		: 	288	222	೯	382	822	೯	738 85.	1,019 716 464		388	322	<u>೯</u> ೯೯
	996 1, 194		110	130	EE	35.8	888		331	333		804	787	EE	525	88	වෙන
Nov.	885 885		¥2.88	108	EE	428	383	EE	288	828	EE	1,029	1,025	EE 8	283	943	೨ ೦೯
Dec. 28	854	: 	888	107		828	328		888	328		574 710	98	333	:83	388	DES
	 808 808		288	122	:EE:	823	នន		33:	888	E	852	E. 8	E E:	84:	888	:EE
38	1,283	e 	1178	180	33 —	318	22	Ee	34	32	 EE	1,088	1,183	_ DD	184	 62 63	Œ
See for	tnotes a	See footnotes at end of ta	table.														:

See footnotes at end of table.

1 8 1

TABLE 27.—Round-lot and odd-lot stock transactions 1 on the New York Curb Exchange for accounts of members and nonmembers, by weeks, June 26, 1939-June 29, 1940-Continued

			Round-lot	Round-lot transactions for account of members	is for accou	int of mer	nbers 2			Poundal	Round lot transportions for	tone for	Odd-lot	Odd. lot trencoptions for so-	ocifor oo.
All round-lot sales	Transactions of stocks in where registered 3/2	onslof spec n which to	nof specialists in which they are	Other transactions initiated on the floor	sactions in the floor	nitated	Other t	st transactions ated off the floor	is initi-	accoun	secount of nonmernbers	embers	tunoo	d-lot bransactions to	ns.tor ac- ec. វិ
1000	Pur-	Sales	88	Pur-	Sales	88	Pur-	8S	Sales	Pur-	SR	Sales	Pur-	Sales	92
, Tions	chases	Total	Short 4	chases	Total	Short 4	chases	Total	Short 4	chases	Total	Short 4	chases	Total	Short 4
5 7 4	75 92 78	117 160 80	(8) 5 4	12 13 13	82.42	೯ ೯೯	888	28 18 18	ල මෙ	594 721 496	552 662 501	€ € €	60 50 35	43 67	€ €
r-005	5000	8080 8080 8080 8080	@r-m«	ននន	2888		888	16 29 29 30 30	e 	537 651	522	2 2	888	3855	೯೯೯
34∞8;	8888	1652	00 4 00	នងន	8888	1000	8.82	ននន	· m - N	888	571 628 676		8844	8888	೯೯೯
2222	8.28.2	11. 18. 18. 18. 18. 18. 18. 18. 18. 18.	r-4∞5	888	3458	H 60 47	8442	28148	H H 94	703 1,024	1,689	- 0000	48.25 48.25	256	೯೯೯
*****************	2028	2222	1286	283	25.84	t41.00 t-	4488	15238	o — 4+-	1,289	1,028	40000	61288	10801	DEE5
222	112	158	182	444	4.53	4 63 60	348	873	-2-	897	882	161-	57	888	<u> </u>
82	268	242	84.	28.8	25.25	4	88.55	:03	~ ~	1,417	1,414	200	\$ II !	128	ි වේ
9	28	88	71 -41		20	-	16	12	.	358	345		7.2	88	်
91	21 % 22 %	121	디	88	288		នន	98	-12	575 428	576 420	27	28 28	2 4	ે હે
20	- 88	25	~	3	69	č	5	S	-	011	000	•	6	ţ	3

1 Kound-of transactions are transactions in the unit of trading or multiples thereof, while odd-olo transactions are transactions less than the unit of trading. The unit of trading on the New York Curb Exchange is not the same in all stocks, ranging from 10 to 100 shares. Transactions in rights and warrants are not included in these data, although ticker volumes for the New York Curb Exchange include such transactions.
1 The term "members" includes all regular and associate members, their firms, and

their partners.

On the New York Curb Exchange, odd-lot transactions are handled solely by specialists in the stocks in which they are registered and the round-lot transactions of specialists resulting from such odd-lot transactions are not segregated from the specialists cother round-lot trades. On the New York Stock Exchange, on the other hand, all but a

fraction of the odd-jot transactions are effected by dealers engaged solely in the odd-jot business. As a result, the round-jot transactions of specialists in stocks in which they are registered are not directly comparable on the 2 exchanges.

Short sales which are exempted from restriction by the Commission's and Exchange's

rules are not included in these figures.

4 Accurate data on short sales on the New York Curb Exchange are not available prior to week ended Jan. 13, 1940.

4 600 shares of less.

Norg.—For earlier data see the Fifth Annual Report of the Commission, p. 230, the Fourth Annual Report, p. 164, and the Third Annual Report, p. 154.

Table 28.—Odd-lot stock transactions on the New York Stock Exchange for odd-lot account of odd-lot dealers and specialists, by weeks, June 26, 1939-June 29, 1940

	Purchases	by customers	s from dealers sts		Sales by cu	stomers to de specialists	alers and	
Week ended	Number	Gh	Dollar		Total		Custome sale	rs' short
	of orders	Shares	value	Number of orders	Shares	Dollar value	Number of orders	Shares
1939		ł.						
July 1 8 15 22	19, 335 9, 967 17, 616 33, 127	519,881 255,761 482,108 959,660	18, 459, 608 10, 640, 474 19, 002, 789 34, 808, 287	20, 475 10, 040 20, 347 40, 443	507, 450 222, 109 489, 057 1, 063, 530	17, 014, 437 7, 619, 688 17, 167, 385 36, 486, 945	815 442 634 1,073	21, 447 10, 643 16, 798 29, 118
Aug. 5 12 19	22, 143 20, 582 18, 570 18, 646	630, 383 559, 625 496, 377 504, 657 793, 157	22, 117, 618 21, 071, 936 18, 719, 464 18, 483, 017 25, 727, 826	26, 403 23, 519 16, 862 18, 894 27, 143	684, 407 582, 892 429, 434 489, 636 745, 569	22, 388, 846 20, 648, 544 14, 777, 234 16, 384, 244 22, 998, 932	559 545 444 558 809	12, 294 12, 598 11, 889 16, 580 25, 019
Sept. 2 9 16 23	29, 015 29, 081 90, 360 89, 688 52, 085	809, 422 2, 537, 781 2, 502, 464 1, 450, 210	26, 486, 037 79, 235, 718 83, 813, 143 51, 797, 937	30, 358 80, 943 87, 318 53, 018	745, 569 828, 710 2, 259, 643 2, 377, 216 1, 443, 596	26, 331, 804 71, 244, 367 79, 818, 907 50, 609, 177	956 1,377 1,447 1,128	28, 598 37, 687 37, 988 33, 324
Oct. 7 14 21	40, 961 29, 811 17, 866 29, 930	1, 159, 664 831, 371 489, 080 848, 027 1, 009, 053	39, 856, 875 32, 375, 489 19, 731, 351 33, 507, 099 35, 770, 388	44, 076 30, 783 20, 044 34, 413 35, 523	1, 185, 444 801, 954 498, 107 874, 201 929, 149	39, 451, 529 29, 435, 616 18, 858, 264 31, 934, 515 29, 817, 832	954 731 460 544 488	25, 539 19, 268 11, 922 14, 068 11, 084
Nov. 4 11 18 25	35, 228 35, 962 27, 255 20, 768 16, 481	1,005,638 1,005,678 753,502 567,263 446,108	34, 493, 427 24, 740, 620 22, 313, 103 17, 006, 283	32, 707 26, 664 23, 319 18, 829	879, 789 709, 464 572, 676 465, 776	27, 257, 347 21, 015, 529 19, 598, 744 15, 789, 387	575 404 387 235	17, 611 10, 808 9, 677 6, 986
Dec. 2 9 16 23 30	20, 530 19, 821 20, 605 19, 473 23, 619	545, 695 544, 463 572, 906 546, 253 667, 472	20, 926, 007 21, 469, 359 22, 789, 907 22, 728, 169 25, 421, 793	22, 679 21, 316 23, 066 22, 525 22, 995	577, 769 528, 546 569, 996 555, 772 620, 111	18, 913, 095 18, 227, 622 19, 768, 178 19, 021, 983 19, 612, 406	453 344 281 104 218	11, 935 9, 182 6, 975 3, 222 4, 574
1940	20,010	50., 1.2	_,,===,	,				
Jan. 6 13 20 27	20, 211 24, 119 18, 970 16, 257	542, 580 648, 952 501, 925 438, 264	21, 140, 577 26, 045, 214 19, 739, 911 17, 432, 544	18, 595 23, 370 18, 759 18, 179	453, 918 598, 808 483, 735 438, 875	15, 937, 615 21, 108, 631 16, 601, 723 15, 169, 475	198 365 488 324	5, 470 12, 115 13, 586 9, 465
Feb. 3 10 17 24	15,600 19,657 14,578 16,454	415, 308 534, 487 397, 575 452, 006	17, 432, 544 16, 725, 523 21, 251, 047 15, 285, 083 16, 761, 395	17,014 22,122 16,467 18,106	412, 617 538, 635 411, 646 450, 148 424, 772	13, 722, 984 18, 264, 739 14, 008, 411 14, 557, 403 13, 696, 283	424 325 215 185	11, 032 8, 250 7, 079 6, 024
Mar. 2 9 16 23	15, 993 18, 455 19, 824 15, 675	428, 771 495, 695 543, 228 418, 114	16, 908, 249 19, 600, 162 20, 014, 945 15, 580, 192	17, 806 21, 064 22, 954 16, 878	507, 475 586, 043 413, 513	13, 696, 283 16, 455, 255 19, 209, 501 13, 490, 363 19, 673, 685	345 266 343 353 465	7, 509 7, 002 10, 130 9, 869 12, 041
Apr. 6 13 20 27	23, 459 32, 450 29, 641 30, 825 22, 368	643, 106 908, 145 846, 896 860, 423 626, 491	22, 861, 442 32, 599, 030 29, 131, 258 30, 828, 958 23, 015, 386	25, 798 34, 827 31, 087 29, 994 24, 236	638, 926 911, 916 820, 755 808, 861 616, 423	29, 449, 882 26, 364, 133 25, 877, 414 20, 056, 841	448 376 439 471	12,697 11,099 13,031 10,168
May 4 11 18 25	22, 306 19, 755 25, 872 89, 439 66, 710 25, 689	542, 416 711, 384 2, 402, 462 1, 703, 466	21, 841, 102 28, 142, 232 68, 868, 529 45, 470, 330	22, 319 27, 373 80, 414 47, 064	549, 307 705, 043 2, 385, 894 1, 354, 318	19, 568, 055 24, 528, 521 67, 636, 278 36, 319, 752	374 335 968 882	7, 655 9, 392 32, 112 25, 553
June 1 8 15 22 29	25, 689 18, 491 29, 848 18, 400 17, 540	644, 426 452, 984 804, 468 496, 601 485, 712	19, 258, 367 14, 110, 025 25, 369, 827 16, 430, 902 15, 580, 578	17, 105 12, 380 23, 855 16, 485 16, 440	467, 476 325, 713 667, 750 442, 999 442, 848	14,009,067 10,184,656 20,637,535 13,690,531 14,033,723	459 328 870 543 490	13, 731 8, 901 26, 019 16, 044 14, 547

¹ Short sales which are exempt from restriction by the Commission's and Exchange's rules are not included in these figures.

Note.—For earlier data see Fifth Annual Report, p. 232 and "Selected Statistics on Securities and on Exchange Markets," table 66.

Table 29.—Basic forms used by issuers in registering securities on national securities exchanges and, for each form, the number of securities registered and issuers involved as of June 30, 1939, and June 30, 1940

		As of Jun	e 30, 1939	As of Jun	ie 30, 1940
Form	Description	Securi- ties regis- tered	Issuers in- volved	Securi- ties regis- tered	Issuers in- volved
7	Provisional registration form	1	1	4	4
10	General corporations Unincorporated issuers	2,742	1, 842	2, 660	1. 796
11	Unincorporated issuers	24	13	25	14
12	Issuers making annual reports under Section 20 of the	_			
	Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, or under				
	Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934	674	182	667	183
12-A	Issuers in receivership or bankruptcy and making				
	annual reports under Section 20 of the Interstate				
	Commerce Act, as amended, or under Section 219 of the Communications Act of 1934	115	25		
13	Insurance companies other than life and title insurance	115	20	115	25
19	companies	15	15	15	15
14	Certificates of deposit issued by a committee:	61	29	46	30
15	Incorporated investment companies	97	58	94	57
16	Voting trust certificates and underlying securities	36	30	33	27
17	Unincorporated issuers engaged primarily in the busi-	0.5			~.
•	ness of investing or trading in securities	9	6	10	7
18	Foreign governments and political subdivisions there-		_		_
	of	201	85	203	86
19	American certificates issued against foreign securities				
	and for the underlying securities	_ 12	11	11	10
20	Securities other than bonds of foreign private issuers	2	1	2	1
21	Bonds of foreign private issuers	87	54	89	50
22	Securities of issuers reorganized in insolvency pro-	00		ا مما	
	ceedings or their successors	93	47	91	47
23	Securities of successor issuers other than those succeed-	PMA	٠,	6.	
24	ing insolvent issuers	79 4	52	89	58
24	Dang nording companies	4	4	4	4
	Total	4, 252	1 2, 455	4. 158	1 2, 414

¹ Includes 6 issuers having securities registered on 2 basic forms.

Table 30.—Classification, by industries, of issuers having securities registered on national securities exchanges as of June 30, 1939, and June 30, 1940

	Number	of issuers
Industry	As of June 30, 1939	As of June 30, 1940
Transportation and communication (railroads, telephone, etc.) Mining, other than coal. Machinery and tools.	306 270	311 258
Machinery and tools. Transportation equipment (automobiles, aircraft, parts, accessories, etc.) Merchandising (chain stores, department stores, etc.) Financial and investment (investment trust, fire insurance, etc.)	163 166	204 166 163
Food and related products	137 103 92	136 101 87
Miscellaneous manufacturing. Oil and gas wells Building and related companies (including construction and lumber)	81	83 79 78 73
Building and related companies (including construction and lumber) Chemicals and allied products Beverages (breweries, distilleries, etc.) Textiles and their products Services (including advertising, amusements, hotels, etc.) Iron and stoel (excluding machinery) Utility holding (electric, gas, and water) Oil refining and distributing Paper and paper products Rubber and leather products (tires, shoes, etc.) Cosl mining Printing, publishing, and allied products Real estate Real estate	58 57 53	57 56 54
Iron and steel (excluding machinery)	55 52 41	52 50 40
Paper and paper products: Rubber and leather products (tires, shoes, etc.)	35 35 27	37 34 27
Printing, publishing, and allied products. Real estate. Tobacce products. Agriculture.	26 24 21	25 24 21
Agriculture	17 20 16	20 17 10
Miscellaneous domestic companies	62 85	60 85
Total	2, 449	2, 408

Table 31.—Number of securities, separately for stocks and bonds, classified according to basis for admission to dealing, on all exchanges as of June 30, 1940. (The number of shares of stock and the principal amount of bonds are shown for securities other than those admitted to unlisted trading privileges)

STOCKS

		Column I	[1	ļ	Column II	•	
Basis of admission to dealing	Issues	Number of shares listed	Number of shares author- ized for addi- tion to list	Issues	Number of shares listed	Number of shares author- ized for addi- tion to list	
Registered	2,747	2, 356, 978, 835	216, 848, 691	₹ 2,747	2, 356, 978, 835	216, 848, 691	
Temporarily exempted from registration	• 51	10, 184, 533	1, 177, 379	. 51	- 10, 184, 533	1, 177, 379	
Listed on exempted exchanges	138	34, 702, 530	192, 327	184	104, 223, 357	2, 072, 531	
Admitted to unlisted trading privileges on national exchanges	_ 607			1,194			
trading privileges on exempted exchanges	67	**********		92			
Total	3,610	2,401,665,898	218, 218, 397				

BONDS

Issues	Principal amount listed	Principal amount au- thorized for addition to list	Issues	Principal amount listed	Principal amount au- thorized for addition to list
1,411	\$23, 615, 242, 425	\$1, 126, 408, 852	4 1, 411	\$23, 615, 242, 425	\$1, 126, 408, 852
8 41	617, 771, 897	55, 320, 200	• 41	617, 771, 897	55, 320, 200
- 11	14, 748, 500	0	11	14, 748, 500	0
308			340		
3			3		
1,774	24, 247, 762, 822	1, 181, 729, 052			
	41,411 441 — 11 308	amount listed 4 1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 4 41 617, 771, 897 — 11 14, 748, 500 308 ———————————————————————————————	Issues Principal amount authorized for addition to list 4 1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 \$1, 126, 408, 852 4 41 617, 771, 897 55, 320, 200 — 11 14, 748, 500 0 308 — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	Issues Principal amount listed amount authorized for addition to list Issues 4 1, 411 \$23,615,242,425 \$1,126,408,852 4 1,411 4 1 617,771,897 55,320,200 4 41 - 11 14,748,500 0 11 308	Issues Principal amount listed amount authorized for addition to addition to list Issues Principal amount listed 4 1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 \$1, 126, 408, 852 4 1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 4 1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 4 1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 4 1, 411 \$1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 4 1, 411 \$1, 411 \$1, 411 \$23, 615, 242, 425 4 1, 411 \$1, 411 <t< td=""></t<>

¹ Duplications in this column have been eliminated both as to exchanges and bases for admission to dealing, e. g., if a security is registered on more than one national securities exchange, listed on an exempted exchange and also unlisted on another national securities exchange, it is counted only once under "Registered." Thus, the totals for this column are the totals of securities admitted to trading on all exchanges after elimination of all duplications.

3 Duplications in this column have been eliminated only as to exchanges, e. g., if a security is listed on more

than one exempted exchange, it is counted only once under such status.

Including 1 stock issue in pounds sterling in the amount of £545,903 listed. This amount is excluded

from the number of shares shown above.

'Includes 9 bond issues in pounds sterling and 2 bond issues in French francs in the amounts of £37,060,680 and 65,373,680 French francs listed. These amounts are excluded from the principal amount

Includes certain securities resulting from modifications of previously listed securities, securities of certain banks, and securities of certain issuers in bankrputcy or receivership or in the process of reorganization under the Bankruptcy Act. These securities have been temporarily exempted from the operation of Section 12 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 upon specified terms and conditions and for stated periods pursuant to rules and regulations of the Commission.

Table 32.—Number of securities, separately for stocks and bonds, registered and admitted to unlisted trading privileges on one, or more than one, national securities exchange as of June 30, 1940

STOCKS								
Classification	(Se	e foot		or exp headi		on of	∞lum	n
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Total stock issues registered	1,840 0	607	344 0	0 24	271 271	146 146	62 62	84 84
BONDS								
Total bond issues registered	1, 243 0	308	136 0	0	29 29	1	2 2	0
Unduplicated total of stock issues registered and admitted to trading privileges on national exchanges. Unduplicated total of stock issues registered and admitted to trading privileges on national exchanges which were addicating privileges on national exchanges which were addicatings on more than 1 such exchanges. Unduplicated total of bond issues registered and admitted to trading privileges on national exchanges. Unduplicated total of bond issues registered and admitted to trading privileges on national exchanges which were addealings on more than 1 such exchange. ¹ Registered on 1 exchange only. ² Admitted to unlisted trading privileges on 1 exchange of Registered on 1 exchange and admitted to unlisted tradication. ² Registered on 1 exchange and admitted to unlisted tradication. ² Registered on 1 exchange and admitted to unlisted tradication. ² Registered on more than 1 exchange and admitted to unlisted tradication. ² Registered on more than 1 exchange and admitted to unlisted tradication.	ounliste nitted to unliste ounliste nitted to unliste nitted to unliste nitted to unliste to unlist	a. 3, 3'd o o d 1, 7'd o e. leges o ileges o ileges rading	31—27 19 38—9.3 on 1 ex	77% of schangore the leges	undu ge. an 1 e	xchan	ted to	tal.

Table 33.—Number of issuers having securities admitted to dealings on all exchanges as of June 30, 1940, classified according to basis for admission of their securities to dealings

	Column I 1	Column II2
Basis of admission of securities to dealing	Number of issuers	Number of issuers
Issuers having securities registered Issuers having securities temporarily exempted from registration Issuers having securities listed on exempted exchanges Issuers having securities admitted to uplisted trading privileges on national	2, 408 39 119	2, 408 53 159
exchanges Issuers having securities admitted to unlisted trading privileges on exempted.	537	1, 128
exchanges	55	77
Total issuers	3, 158	

¹ Duplications in this column have been eliminated both as to exchanges and bases for admission of the Duplications in this column have been eliminated obtains to exchanges and bases for atmission of the issuer's securities registered on more than one national exchange, listed on an exempted exchange, and also admitted to unlisted trading privileges on other exchanges, the issuer is counted only once as having securities registered. Thus, the total of this column is the total number of issuers having securities admitted to trading on all exchanges after elimination of all duplications.

2 Duplications in this column have been eliminated only as to exchanges, e. g., if an issuer has securities admitted to unlisted trading privileges on more than one exchange, the issuer is counted only once under such extensive trading privileges.

such status.

Table 34.—Number of issuers having stocks only, bonds only, and both stocks and bonds, admitted to dealings on all exchanges as of June 30, 1940

Classification	Number of issuers	Percent of total issuers
Issuers having only stocks admitted to trading on exchanges Issuers having only bonds admitted to trading on exchanges Issuers having both stocks and bonds admitted to trading on exchanges	2, 304 486 368	72. 9 15. 4 11 7
Totalissuers	3, 158	100.00
4. Issuers having stocks admitted to trading on exchanges (classification 1 plus 3) $_$ 5. Issuers having bonds admitted to trading on exchanges (classification 2 plus 3) $_$	2, 672 854	84 6 27. 1

Table 35.—Number of issuers and securities, basis for admission to dealings, and the percentage of stocks and bonds, for each exchange, admitted to dealings on one or more other exchanges as of June 30, 1940

or more omer	~~···	""y		,, ,	۵	00,	, 10.	,								
Name of exchange	Total issuors	issues			Sto	cks			ercent traded on 1 or more other ex- changes		l	Во	nds			Percent traded out 1 or more other ex- changes
	Total	Total issues	R	x	U	ХL	ΧU	To- tal	Percer or m char	R	x	U	X L	X U	Total	Percer or m char
Baltimore Boston	74 362	108 456	46 162	<u>~ </u>	23 220			73 382	49. 3 80. 1	25 73	1 1	9			35 74	45 7 60 8
Chicago Board of Trade	40 268 69 88 14 129 100	49 359 109 102 15 138 128	42 313 93 83 108	14	5 18 30	15		48 327 99 101 15 138 117	23 2 52.5 26 7 70 3 23.1	1 21 9 1	111 1		8	3	1 32 10 1 0 0 11 17	60 0 0 0
Los Angeles	184 20 16 993	222 27 33 360	<u>2</u> 504	: : :	71 16 575	24	3	205 27 18 1, 079	25 1	17 11 35		 4 246	~		0 15 2 81	0 33 3 9 6
tate New York Stock Philadelphia Pittsburgh Richmond St. Louis Salt Lake	1, 221 430 102 28 52 100	162 2, 512 541 122 38 93 102	1, 235 63 67 77 90		397 50	37		84 4, 242 462 120 37 80 102	1 2 51 2 95. 7 65. 8 21. 6 22 5	1, 242 78 2	28 1 	78	1		78 1, 270 79 2 1 13	11.3 67 1 0 0
San Francisco Min- ing	53 285 48 34 35 25	53 359 51 36 50 31	25	12	153	22	27	53 332 49 36 40 31	15, 1 65, 1 46, 9 55, 5 10, 0	10			2		0 27 2 0 10	0

¹ Exempted from registration as a national securities exchange.

R, registered; X, temporarily exempted from registration; U, admitted to unlisted trading privileges on a national securities exchange; XL, listed on an exempted exchange; and XU, admitted to unlisted trading privileges on an exempted exchange.

APPENDIX VI

LITIGATION INVOLVING STATUTES ADMINISTERED BY THE COMMISSION

Table I.—Injunctive proceedings brought by Commission under the Securities Act of 1988, the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1985, which were pending during the fiscal very ended June 30, 1940

Untity		r Company Act of 1950	, wnich were	Holaing Company Act of 1930, which were penaing auting the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	ar ended June 30, 1940
Principal defendants	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Initiating papers filed	Alleged violations	Status of case
Atwood (Wm. E.) & Co., Inc	ī	Maine.	June 26, 1940	Sec. 17 (a) (3) of 1933 act and sec. 15 (b) (1) of 1934 act.	Temporary restraining order entered June 28, 1940.
Benners, Owens & Co. et al	3 °	York. Eastern District of Michigan.	May 15, 1936	Sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act	Suit dismissed Feb. 29, 1949, on motion of the Commission as to all defendants. (The principal defendants in the commission as the commiss
Burel & Company, a corporation,	10	Northern District of Illi- June 28, 1940	June 28, 1940	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a)	ut this case were convexed in reducing 1990 on criminal charges for violating the Securities Act of 1933 and the mail fraud statutes.) Pending.
et al. Carleton, R. H., et al	8	Colorado	Nov. 1, 1938	(2) of 1955 BCL. Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act.	Opinion rendered Feb. 3, 1939, granting permanent in- function under 86: 17 (a) of 1938 set against both denotance. Indemocret for permanent information in
					secondance, vice gradit, or pointainers, misterana in secondance with opinion entered Aug. 10, 1939. The counts carging violation of secs. IT (a) (1) and (3) of 1923 act wave dismissed on motion of the Commission
Center, Glenn	□ 4	Northern District of Texas. Southern District of New	Feb. 20, 1940 Nov. 21, 1939	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	Permanent injunction by consent Feb. 20, 1940. Permanent injunction by consent Nov. 21, 1939, against
China Society China War Relief Association of	H4.	Oregon Northern District of Cali-	Oct. 30, 1939 Nov. 2, 1939	qo	an desquates. Permanent injunction by consent Oct. 30, 1839. Permanent injunction by consent Nov. 3, 1939, against
Ohinese Benevolent Association	7	Eastern District of Penn-	Mar. 4, 1940	-do	an defendants. Permanent injunction by consent Mar. 4, 1940.
Ohinese Consolidated Benevolent	-	Southern District of New	June 12, 1940	June 12, 1940	Answer filed by defendant on June 12, 1940. Pending.
Ohinese Patriotic Society et al	63	Southern District of Cali-	Nov. 2, 1939	qo	Permanent injunction by consent Nov. 2, 1939, against
City Meter Service Corporation	8	z	Oct. 4, 1939	qo	Permanent injunction by consent Oct. 4, 1939, against
Clark, Frank N., et al	80	ŭ	Nov. 3, 1939	do	Permanent injunction by consent Nov. 4, 1939, against
Crader, Charles W	-	Southern District of Mississippi.	Apr. 12, 1940	107113. Southern District of Mis- Apr. 12, 1940 Sees. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) sussippi.	an defendants. Permanent injunction by consent Apr. 12, 1940.

								SIX	rh A	IN.	NUAL	REI	POR'	\mathbf{T}					293
Permanent injunction by consent Jan. 31, 1940, against	Permanent injunction by consent Mar. 5, 1940, against	Formal defendants. Permanent injunction by consent Aug. 26, 1939, against hoth defendants	Permanent injunction by consent Mar. 25, 1940, against all defendants.	Permanent injunction by consent Jan. 27, 1938, against all defendants except J. H. Ferguson. Pending as to him.	Permanent injunction granted by court Dec. 19, 1939,	Permanent injunction by consent Apr. 16, 1940, against Jack Franklin, individually, and doing business as	Firms of 10 to 10	an defendants. Permanent injunction by default Oct. 6, 1939, as to Morey Getz and Winifred F. Scott. Suit dismissed	as to remaining defendants. Temporary restraining order entered Oct. 3, 1939, on agreement of statorneys, as to both defendants. Trial	Permanent injunction by consent Oct. 5, 1939.	Permanont injunction by consent June 11, 1940, against E. Randall Henderson, individually, and doing business as Henderson Oil Company, and Clarence M. Dahaha	Permanent himnetion by consent Mar. 25, 1940, against Francisch N. Henderson, doing business as Mississippi Francisch Deniva	Permanent injunction by consent June 5, 1940, against all defendants.	Permanent injunction by consent Aug. 11, 1939, against both defendants.	Permanent injunction by consent June 5, 1940.	Permanent injunction granted by court under sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act as to both defendants on Aug. 10, 1939. The counts charging violation of secs. 17 (a) (1) and (3) of 1933 act were dismissed on motion of the	Permanent injunction by consent Dec. 18, 1939.	Permanent injunction by consent Feb. 2, 1940, against Leroy Lane, doing business as Lane, Rowell & Co.	Preliminary injunction granted June 24, 1940. Pending.
Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	op	Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act	Sees. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a)		Secs. 5 (b) (2), and 17 (a) (1),	Becs, 5(a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act and sec. 15 (a) of 1934 act.	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a)	(2) of 1933 act Secs. 9 (a) (1) and (2) of 1934 act	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a)		Sec. 17 (b) of 1933 act	Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act.	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act.	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act.	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	Secs 17 (a) (1) and (3) of 1933 act and sec. 15 (a) and 8 (b) of	Bees. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) (2) and (3) of 1933 act and secs. 15 (a) and (c) of 1934 act.
Jan. 31, 1940	Mar. 5, 1940	Aug. 26, 1939	Mar. 23, 1940	Jan. 27, 1938	Oct. 5, 1938	Mar. 19, 1940	Dec. 26, 1939	Nov. 13, 1936	.May 8, 1939	Oct. 5, 1939	June 6, 1940	Mar. 23, 1940	June 5, 1940	-	June 5, 1940	Nov. 1,1938	Dec. 18, 1939	Jan. 26, 1940	June 12, 1940
Kansas	Western District of Okla-	Eastern District of Okla-	Southern District of Mis-	Eastern District of Pennsylvania.	Southern District of New	Southern District of Illinois.	Northern District of Illi-	nois. Massachusetts.	Southern District of Ohio.	Northern District of Texas.	Eastern District of Missouri.	Southern District of Mississippi.	Southern District of Indiana.	Eastern District of Pennsylvania.	Southern District of In-	Colorado	Eastern District of Mich-	Maryland	Eastern District of Michigan.
60	63	63	10	9	7	# 1	9	œ	63	1	69	1		61	1	61	-	-	-
Davis Gas Corporation, Inc., et al.	Elmer Leasehold Trust et al	Elmore Oil Corporation et al	Eureka Petroleum Company,	Ferguson (Julian H.) Inc., et al	Foundation Plan, Incorporated,	Franklin, Jack	Futthr, Carl A., et al.	Gallagher, Ralph A., et al	Gilbert, M. L., et al.	Gray, T. U	Henderson, E. Randall, et al	Henderson, Frank N	Illinois-Indiana Oil Basin Cor- poration et al.	Industrial Improvement Corpora- tion et al.	Jordan, Glen A	Kemp, Anthony B., et al	King, Frank	Lane, Leroy	Larson, Arthur Lewis.

273226-41---20

Table 1 -- Invincting proceedings brought by Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1932, and the Public

Table 1 — Injunctive proce Utility Holdin	edings by	cought by Commission any Act of 1935, which	under the Se 1 were pendii	curities Act of 1933, the Seci og during the fiscal year end	TABLE I —Injunctive proceedings brought by Commission under the Securities Act of 1955, the Securities Exchange Act of 1954, and the Fublic Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continuod
Principal defendants	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Initiating papers filed	Alleged violations	Status of case
Macon, James R., ettal	τĊ	Coldrado	Nov. 1, 1938	Secs. 17 (a) (l), (2), and (3) of 1933 act	Opinon rendered Feb. 1, 1939, granting permanent injunction under sees, 17 (a) (l) and (2) of 1933 act against all defendants. Judgment for permanent higuation in accordance with opinion entered Aug. 10, 1939. The count charging violation of sec. 17 (a) of the 1938 act was dismissed on motion of the Com-
Magoun, D. V.	-	Southern District of Mis-	May 14, 1940	Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act	mission. Permanent injunction by consent May 14, 1940
MoArthur, R. A	~	Western District of Ar-	Mar. 12, 1940	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	Permanent injunction by consent Mar. 12, 1940
McFerrin Food Corporation et al	23	as. arn District of Flor-	Jan 22, 1940	Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act	Permanent infunction by consent Jan. 22, 1940, against
McKenrie, James K., Inc., et al	63	Eastern District of Okla-	Jan. 30, 1940	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	Pour delengants. Free annt injunction by consent Jan. 30, 1940, against
Meyer, Albert G., et al.	80	Colorado	Nov. 1, 1938	Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of	Suit dismissed by stipulation on Aug. 10, 1939, as to all
Mitchell, Charles E	-	Southern District of New York.	July 18, 1939	secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	defendant of the property of the party of th
Monarch Sales Company et al	ca .	Southern District of Ohio. Sept. 29, 1939	Sept. 29, 1939	-do	as Charles E. Mitchell Company. Permanent injunction by consent Apr. 15, 1940, against
Nash (W. A.) & Co., Inc. National Electric Signal Com- pany, a corporation, et al.	to	Massachusetts	Feb. 26, 1937 Feb. 21, 1940	Secs. 17 (a) (2) and (3) of 1933 act Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act. and sec. 15 (a) of 1934 act.	both definition. Permanent fulunction by default Sept. 21, 1939. Order for permanent injunction entered by court May 27, 1940, enjoining W. F. Crutcher, C. H. Garrett, and
					John Markey from Youkating sees, o (s), (1), find (2) of 1933 act and dismissing action, on motion of Commission, as to National Electric Signal Company, named only in the count charging violation of sees 5 (s), (1) and (2) of 1933 act; and further, dismissing the count
Neiswangqr][Hal W	7	Kansas	Sept. 25, 1939	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and 17 (a) (2) of	charking volution of sec. to (a) of thos act to to Adar- ley, Criticher, and Guy F. Jenkins, the latter named only in this count. Permanent injunction by consent Sept. 25, 1939.
Norwood, Jøseph, et al	m	Eastern District of South Carolina.	May 21, 1940	Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act and sec. 15 (c) of 1934 act.	Permanent injunction by consent May 22, 1940, en- joining violation of sex, 17 (a), (2), and (3) of 1933 act as to all defendants and also enjoining violation of sec. 15 (e) of 1934 act as to Norwood.

	SİXTH ANNUAL RE	POŘT .	295
	ment held May 24, 1940; decision reserved. Permanent injunction by consent May 13, 1940, against all defendants. Preliminary injunction granted May 2, 1940, against Leo. C. Prine and Carl F. Edgerly. Pending. Permanent injunction py consent Oct. 18, 1939, against all defendants. Permanent injunction by consent Feb 1, 1940, against Paul C. Remington, broker, doing business as F. C. Remington and Sons. Permanent injunction by consent May 28, 1940, against all defendants. Trial of this case has been postponed pending outcome of criminal case.		Permanent injunction by consent Apr. 17, 1940, as to U. S. Chromium, Inc., Avis Hart, William M. Muchow, and Carl H. Stone. Suit dismissed on motion of Commiss on as to Herbert A. Potts
Secs. 14 (a) and 23 (a) of 1934 act Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act and sec. 9 (a) (2) of 1934 act. Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1934 act and sec. 9 (a) (2) of 1934 act. Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act and sec. 9 (a) (2) of 1934 act. Secs. 6 (a) (1) and 17 (a) (2) and (3) of 1933 act and secs. 9 (a) (1) and 9 (a) (2) of 1933 act. Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (3) of 1933 act and sec. 15 (c) of 1934 act. Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act. Sec. 15 (a) of 1934 act. Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act.	Secs. 5 and 17 of 1933 act Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) (2) and (3) of 1933 act. Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act (3) (4) (1) and (2) of 1933 act (4) (5) and (5) and (6) and (7 (a) (6) (7) and (7) and (8) act.	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) (2) and (3) of 1933 act.
June 16, 1939 May 27, 1940 Apr. 1, 1936 Rune 23, 1939 June 29, 1939	9, 1040 9, 1040 18, 1039 3, 1040 23, 1040 3, 1039		Feb. 27, 1639
nusetts. n District of Ohio. n District of New	1 1 1 1	10 Southern District of New York 2 Bastern District of Oklabina. 2 Bastern District of Washligton. 3 Southern District of Indiator. 3 Southern District of Indiator.	5 Northern District of Illinois.
O'Hara Re-Election Committee, et al. Orier, Jordan S., et al	Porter (A. W.), Inc., et al. Pyne, Leo C., et al. Rand, James H., Jr., et al. Remington, Paul C Royal Oil & Gas Company, Inc., et al. Ryan-Florida Corporation et al Seattle Chinese Patriotic Learne	Secord, Vanderpoel & Co., Inc., et al. Shallow Oil, Inc., et al. Stevenson, George E., et al Timetrust, Incorporated, et al	U. S. Chromium, Inc., et al

Table I.—Injunctive proceedings brought by Commission under the Securities Act of 1988, the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1985, which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 80, 1940—Continued

Principal defendants	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Initiating papers filed	Alleged violations	Status of case
Universal Service Assn., et al		Northern District of Illi- nois.	Mar. 30, 1936	Secs. 5 (a) and 17 (a) of 1933 act	6 Northern District of Illi- Mar. 30, 1936 Secs. 5 (a) and 17 (a) of 1933 act. Permanent injunction granted Apr. 14, 1938, against all defendants. On June 23, 1939, the Circuit court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit affirmed decree of
Watts Oil & Gas Industries, Inc.,	64	Western District of Loui-	Aug. 11, 1939	Western District of Loui- Aug. 11, 1939 Socs 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a)	the lower court, and on August 28,1939, denied petition for rehearing. Petition for certiorari denied Jan. 2, 1940. Permanent injunction by consent Aug. 11, 1939, against
Whealton Company, Inc., et al	38	New Jersey	Oct. 14, 1935	Sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act.	Permanent injunction by decree pro confesse entered Mar. 9, 1986, as to Commonwealth Trust Co., Stous- land and Co. W. P. Mattack H. M. Brems and
					M. F. Wheatton. Dismissed by stipulation as to J. S. Barr on Nov. 16, 1836. Order entered Jan. 12, 1940, on motion of defendants, dismissing the com-
Woodward-Berkley Company, a corporation, et al.	61	Southern District of Ohio. Sept. 29, 1939	Sept. 29, 1939	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act	plaint as to the remaining 32 defendants. Permanent injunction by consent Apr. 15, 1940, against both defendants.

Table II.—Indictments returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1988, the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, or the mail fraud statute (in the preparation of which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

Status of qase	Southern District of Cell. Nov. 27, 1935 Conspiracy to violate sec. 17 (a) Trial on third indictment opened July 19, 1938. Boyd, Heyman, Nolson, Padgham, Pholps, Roubey, and Waggoner were found guilty. Directed verdict of not guilty entered as to Thorp. Sentences ranged from 2 years probation to 64; years imprisonment. Nov. 18, 1936 Mail fraud. Nov. 18, 1935 Conspiracy to violate sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act. Rail fraud. Nov. 18, 1936 Conspiracy to violate sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act. Rail fraud. Nov. 18, 1936 And of 1938 act. Hegyman, Nolson, Padgham, Pholps, Roubey, and Pageoner at Or Theored verdict of not guilty. Directed
Charges	District of Call. Nov 27, 1935 Conspiracy to violate sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act. Jan. 22, 1936 Conspiracy to violate secs. 5 (a) and 17 (a) of 1933 act. Nov. 18, 1936 Mail fraud.
Indictment returned	Nov 27, 1935 Jan. 22, 1936 Nov. 18, 1936
United States District Court	Southern District of Call. fornia. Ldododo
Number of de- fendants	0 80 -1
Name under which case was referred to Department of Justice	Acceptance & Exchange Co

Acme Agency, Inc	က	3 Colorado	Mar. 9, 1939		On Jan. 12, 1940, each defendant pleaded guilty to 1 Securities Act count and the conspiracy count. Hope and Swett were each sentenced to I year and I day, Tripp to 16 months.	
Allied Fluance Corporation et al	LC)	Maryland	Sept. 1, 1939	qo	Trial opened Oct. 23, 1898. Schreiber and Kohler were found guilty as charged and each sentenced to 12 months. Fritz pleaded guilty prior to trial, sentenced to functins. Brinbaum was found guilty on conspiracy count. Imposition of sentence was suspended and he was placed on probation for 3 years. Birnbaum appealed, and on Dec. 2, 1939, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit dismissed the appeal. The court held that an order suspending imposition of sentence and placing a defendant on probation was not a final judgment and that an appeal sounde be prosecuted from such an order. The peal sounde by prosecuted from such an order. The indictment was not be the defendant corrections are such as profer. The	
♠mbassador Gdld Mines, Ltd	4	Northern District of Indi- ana.	Oct. 13, 1838	Mail fraud and conspiracy to Violate same.	poration on Jan. 17, 1940. John P. Mahoney, Allen A. Floyd, and L. E. Long were found guilty upon their pleas of note contender on Oct. 5, 1989. Allen A. Floyd and Mahoney were fined \$100 each; Long was placed on probation for 6 months. The indictment was notic processed as to	DIALIT 1
American Rand Corporation	4	Western Distract of Wash- ington.	Feb. 27, 1937	Sec. 17 (a) (l) of 1933 act, mail frand, and conspiracy to vio- late same.	Jour M. 1900. Jargont pleaded noto contenders to the conspiracy count Sept. 21, 1939. Trial of Jonest and Langhaar opened Oct. 3, 1939. Jonest was found uitify on I mail fraud count and 3 Securities Act counts. He was sentenced to serve 2 years and placed on probation for 5 years. Langhaar was acquitted. On Nov. 6, 1939, the court postboned judgment and imposition of sentence as to Largent for 1949, years. Indictment dismissed June	INTONIO ILEI
American Terminals & Transit Oo.	4	Southern District of Indi- ana.	June 6, 1939	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same.	Trial opened Nov. 13, 1939. Beckett and Donnell pleaded guilty during frial. Harteneld was found guilty and Knapp acquitted. Donnell and Hartenel guilty and Knapp acquitted. Donnell and Hartenell were each sentenced to 10 years and fined \$5,000; Beckett, 8 years and and \$5,500 fme. Harteneld appealed to the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circ	OILL
Andqrson, John G., et al	NS S	Esstern District of Ten-	Mar. 16, 1938	Sees. 17 (a) (1) and 6 (a) of 1983 act, mall fraud, and conspiracy to violate sees 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	cult. His CultyCaton was an influed June 1, 1990. One Indeciment was dismissed; the remaining 13 were consolidated. Trial opened Jan. 17, 1983. All defendants were found guility and each sentenced to 7 years. Defendants appealed. On June 27, 1940, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit reversed the Judgments of the district court and remained ease for new trial because of attempt to influence jury.	
• Total of 14 indictments against total of 5 defendants	it total of	5 defendants.				

• Total of 14 indictments against total of 5 defendants.

TABLE II.—Indictments returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the mail fraud statute (in the preparation of which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

Name under which case was re- ferred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Indictment returned	Charges	Status of ease
Ashby, E. Johnson, et al	ဇ	Eastern District of Texas Oct. 5, 1839	Oct. 5, 1939	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 Act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late same.	On Feb. 12, 1940, Ashby pleaded guilty and Thomas noto contender to the conspiracy count and 1 Securities Act count. The indictment was dismissed as to Earnest. Ashby was sentenced to 90 days in fail on 1 count, and to 18 months, suspended for 5 years, on the other; Thomas to 1 year and 1 day, suspended for
Associated Gas & Electric Co	4	Southern District of New York.	May 9, 1940	Mail fraud	b years. Allot the defendants have been apprehended. Hopson Allot a denurrer to the indictment; overruled June
Automatic Products Corporation.	80	op	Apr. 30, 1940	Secs. 9 (a) (l) (B) and (C) and 9 (a) (2) of 1934 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate	. 10, 1940. Fending. Josiah M. Kirby surrendered May 3, 1940. Pending.
B/G Sandwich Sbops, Inc	S)	do	Nov. 16, 1837	Searne. Seas. 8 (a) (1) (A), 9 (a) (2), and 32 (a) of 1934 act, and conspirancy oviolate secs. 9 (a) (1) (A) and 9 (a) (2) of 1934 act (manipulation).	On Feb. 14, 1940, and during the trial, Jacques and Morrison each pleaded guilty to 3 counts of the infeitment. Both deiendants were sentenced to 1 year and 1 day on each count, to run concurrently. The sentence as to Jacques was suspended and he
Bagdad Copper Corporation	œ	υp	Mar. 8, 1939	Secs. 5(a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud, and	was placed on probation for 2 years. All of the defendants have been apprehended. Pending.
Baker, Hepry LBaker, J. L.		Southern District of Call- fornia. Western District of South May 28, 1940	Mar. 25, 1939 May 28, 1940	conspiracy to violate same. Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (3) of 1933 act and mall fraud.	Baker has not been apprehended. Pending. Baker pleaded guilty May 28, 1940, and was sentenced
Bankers Credit and Acceptance	-	Carolina. District of Columbia			
Bankers Industrial Service, Inc., et al.	~	Southern District of New Oct. 19, 1939 York.	Oct. 19, 1939	Sec. 17 (a) (l) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late same.	All defendants except Frank Ware have been apprehended. Trial set for Aug. 19, 1940.

Bankers Service Corp., et al	Ξ	do	Dec. 2, 1935	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail	Trial on second indictment opened Jan. 6, 1939. Bob,	
	x	do	May 24, 1938	frand, and conspiracy to vio- jate mail frand and conspiracy to Mail frand and conspiracy to Violate same.	Rogers, Wiseman Bankers Service Corporation, Coronado Gold Mines, Inc., and Kelly Gold and Silver Mines, Inc., were found guilty. Sentences ranged from 2 to 7 years. Each corporation was fined \$1,000. Bob, Rogers, and Wiseman appealed to the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, and Pages, panding as to Feterson. Dorn, Mack, and Schiff pleaded guilty to the first indictment in February 1989. Sentences ranged from a suspended sentence to 2½, years imprisoment. The first indictionment was dismissed as to Bankers Service Corporation.	
Bedford & Co	a	Western Disfrict of Toxas. Oct.	Oct. 3, 1838	Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late mail fraud.	protect as to chotago Gord, Miles, Mic., and 1992, protect as to chans, Clark, Morse, Regers, Sawyer, and Wiseman. H. O. Bedford was sentenced Oct. 13, 1938, upon plea of guilty, to serve 3 years in a reformatory. Application for an order to extradite Edward P. Lamar man Andrea Andrea Co.	2111
Benners, Owens & Company	~	Eastern District of Michigan.	Oct. 18, 1836	Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act, mall fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	Pending. Trial opened Feb. 6, 1940. Goldman and Haynes pleaded not contender prior to trial. After the frial commonced Benners and Wiseman pleaded not contender; Wood entered a similar plea to 1 Securities Act count. Goldman, Wiseman, and Wood were each sentemed to 15 months; Haynes to 18 months; Benners to 4 years. Fain of failed to appose for trial and the bond was contained.	TT MINIOND
Blackwell, C. G., et al	11 2	Southern District of New York. Western District of New York:	Apr. 26, 1938 Dec. 16, 1939	Sec. 17 (4) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate mail fraud. Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and (17 (a) (11) (a) (2) (10) (11) (a)	Canada. Stati pleaded guitty on Nov. 16, 1936, Sentending of these 2 defendants has been postponed indefinitely. The remaining defendants have been apprehended. Pending. Both defendants have been apprehended. Pending.	TEFORT
Buck Horn Mining Company et al.	2101 21	Ldo Idabo	do Mar. 11, 1940 May 15, 1940	conspiracy to violate same. Mail fraud. Sees. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1983 act. do	Both defendants filed demurrers to the indictment. On March 14, 1940, the demurrers were overruled as	
Bucknian (B. E.) & Company	п	Western District of Wisconsin.	Aug. 28, 1939	Sec. 17 (a) (3) of 1633 act, mail fraud, and conspirecy to vio- late same.	This opened May 14, 1940. Hoft pleaded note contender prior to trial. B. E. Buckrana and Louis C. George, West found guilty. Crotoot, R. E. George, Malkson, Spain, and Whisbrenner were acquitted. On Aug. 5, 1940, Buckmann was sentenced to 5 years imprisonment and fined \$2,000, George to 6 years and \$2,000. Holt received a suspended sentence and \$500 fine, placed on probation for 4 years. The indictionment was roule proseed as to Bracy, Casey, and Shornia.	29

Table II.—Indictments re the preparation of u	eturned for phich the	or violation of the Secu Commission took part)	rities Act of which were	1933, the Securities Exchan pending during the fiscal ye	returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1983, the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, or the nail fraud statute (in which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued
Name under which case was re- ferred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Indictment returned	Charges	Status of case
Buckner, W. P., Jr., et al	64 150	Southern District of New York.	Dec. 30, 1938 Apr. 25, 1939	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate mail fraud.	Trial opened June 18, 1939, on second indictment. Buckner and Gillespie were found guilty on all counts of the indictment: Buencamine on the conspiracy count. Buckner was sentenced to 2 years on counts 1 to 6, inclusive, and to 2 years and a fine of \$2,500 on
					count 8; Gillisyne to 18 months on counts 1 to 6, inclusive, and to 18 months and \$2,500 fine on count 8. The prison seateness of both were directed to run concurrently. On count 7 imposition of sentence was suspended as to those 2 defendants, and they were each placed on probation for 3 years. Buencamino
					was gentenocd to is months and fined \$5.000. Hyde and Turner were acquifted. The 3 convicted defendants appealed to the Olrcuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. The judgment was affirmed on Jan. \$1, 1940, as to Buencamino. With respect to
					Buckner and Cillesple the judgment was affirmed as to all counts accept 1 and 6; reversed as to these 2 counts. Buckner and Cillesple filed petition for certiforart; denied Mar. 11, 1940. The first indictment
Burke, John J., et al	10	ор	Aug. 30, 1935	Sec. 9 (a) (2) of 1934 act, and conspiracy to violate same (ma-	was dismissed as to both delendablus. (Kopald-Quinn & Company.) The second indictment wout to trial on Apr. 19, 1937. Belmont,
	29	Northern District of Georgia.	July 14, 1936	nipulation). (Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and con-	William Mondelson, and Trause pleaded guilty. Gould and Company, Kopald-Quinn & Company, Joseph R. Mendelson, Ricebaum, Joseph N. Sher.
	-	qo	Jan. 12, 1938	spiracy to violate same. Mail fraud	man, and Sutterman were convicted. The court directed verdiets of not guilty as to Bernstein, Chyenkus. Ehrenberg, Genis, Koneld, McCormick, Oxman.
					Samuel, and Theodore Sherman. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty as to Gould, Newberger, Waller, and Wolfson. Mistrial declared as to Berger
					and D'Armand, The c detendants found guilty appealed to the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. The ludgment was affirmed on Feb.
					16, 1939, as to Kopald-Quinn & Company, Mendel- son, Sherman, and Sutterman. With respect to Goriff and Company and Richams
					was affirmed on I count and reversed on another. Petition for certiford dealed May 15, 1839. The first and third indictments are pending.

Calmore Oil Company	F4 F	District of Cali-		(a) (3) of 1933 act	Eugene M. Hilton, the sole defendant, has been appre- hended. Trial on second indictment set for Aug. 6,
		0p 0p	op Op	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act. Secs. 17 (a) (2) and (3) of 1933 act.	
Campana Gold Mines, IncCampbell Realty Company	~ 69	Northern District of IIII- nois.	Apr. 15, 1940 June 2, 1939	Mail fraud	All defendants have been apprehended. Trial set for Sept. 16, 1940. Both defendants have been annicehended. Trial of
Carnation Gold Mining Company, Ltd., et al.			Apr 29, 1938	fraud. Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late same.	case continued to September 1940. R. J. Jefferson, P. R. Smith, K. C. Melerdiercks, and S. T. Smith pleaded guilty in May and November 1938 and were given sontences ranging from a sus-
Cimarron Petroleum,Traust	φ	Western District of Virginia.	June 12, 1939	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	pourtou surfaire to Year and t any. The Interesting the state of the termining defendants on Oct. 20, 1839. On Aug. 8, 1839, Walter P. Spielberger, Roland H. Spielberger, Roland H. Spielberger, and Wheeler were found gullty upon their pleas of note contendere. Trial opened on this date as to Cox and Graves. Both defendants were found gullty. Santonoes remain from a purchastonery sen-
Coastal Minerals Development, Inc.	ю	Eastern District of Louisians.	Sept. 6, 1939	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiring to vic- late secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) and 23 of 1833 act and mail)	tence to 18 months imprisonment. The indicement was note provest as to Wilson. Emailos and Luria have been apprehended. Galbo is incarcerated on a State charge. Pending.
Colonial Trading. Co	=	Nevada	July 16, 1935	Secs. 3 (a) and 17 (a) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	All defendants have been apprehended except A. B. Jones and M. J. Jones, who are the principal defendants. Nelson J. Sykes is deceased; the indictment
Consolidated Mines of California.	64	Southern District of California.	Dec. 13, 1939	Sec. 5 (a) (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	was notic proceed as to him on Dec. 13, 1937. Pending. Tyler pleaded note contrader to I Securities Act and 1 mail frand count on Feb. 5, 1940. Shaw filed a de- murrer to the indictment; overruled as to all counts
Consolidated Mines Syndicate	es	Idaho	Mar. 15, 1939	(1) of 1933 act, mat 1 conspiracy to vio	over the conspired yount, 1 Our Feb. 13, 1940, Johnesse and Favue were found guilty upon their pleas of note contendere and each fined
Continental Securities Corpora-	15	Southern District of New York.	Dec. 3, 1937	me. a) of 1933 act, mall fraud nspiracy to violate ma	87,700. Fall Obakes is deceased. 10 of the defendants have been apprehended. Demurrers and motions to quash indictment were over-
Cummins (R.) and Co., Incorporated.	7	Eastern District of Mich- igan.	Mar. 30, 1937	Secs. 6 (a) (1), 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspirery to violate mail fraud and secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act.	Trued on way 11, 1898. No cake has been set for that. Trial opened June 8, 1837. The indictment was dismissed against Webb on motion of U. 8. attorney. The judge directed a verdict of not guilty as to Oestreicher. Attir, Brown, Lafata, Landay, and Lane were found guilty. Sentences ranged from 2 to
					5 years and each defendant was fined \$10,000. The convictions of the 5 defendants were affirmed by the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit on Dec. 14, 1939. Attix, Brown, Landay, and Lane filed petition for certiforari, denied Apr. 1, 1940.

ī

Table II.—Indicaments returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1983, the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, or the mail fraud statute (in the preparation of which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 80, 1940—Continued

Status of 988e	J. E. Bass pleaded guilty Sept. 8, 1939, to 3 counts of the first indictment and both counts of the second. He was sentenced to serve 2 years and 2 days. H. A. Davis is incarcerated at McNell Island on another charge. Both indictments were dismissed as No J. G	Bass. Both defendants pleaded noto contenders to 1 mail fraud and 1 Securities Act count. On Nov. 27, 1939, Dilion was sentenced to 5 years Imprisonment and fined \$1,000; Crowley to 8 years and \$1,000. Both defendants appealed to the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit; convictions affirmed July 16,	1940. Trial set for September 1940 term of court.	Edwards was found guilty upon his plea of noto con- tenders and sentenced to 3 years on Jan. 29, 1940. Edwards appealed to the Olrcuit Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit; Judgment affirmed June 29,	1940. The indictment was dismissed as to Binger. Both defendants have been apprehended. Trial set	lor October 1940 term of court. Both defendants have been apprehended. Pending.	Essonfeld, Klein, Parker, Max Silver, Spero, and Wolfson pleaded guilty before trial. Trial opened Nov. 18, 1927. D. B. Howe, H. Widdich, and J. T. Swan	were convicted; verdict set saids as to J. T. Swan, jury disagreed as to H. Melman. Indictment dismissed on Dec. 1, 1937, as to Toblas, Shaptro, J. T. Swan, and Von Stein H. Melman placed antity.	on Apr. 29, 1938. Sentences ranged from 1 year's probation to 2 years' imprisonment and fines from \$100 to \$5,000. Indictment note proseed on Nov. 21, 1938,	as to 6 defendants. On Oct. 23, 1839, imposition of sentence was suspended as to Max Silver and he was placed on probation for 2 years. Case pending as to 4 defendants, 2 of whom have pleaded guilty.
Charges	Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate mail fraud. Sec. 17 (a) (3) of 1933 act and conspiracy to violate same.	Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	Secs. 5 (g) (2) and 17 (a) (1) of	1983 act. Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) and 5 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspirery to violate secs. 17 (a) and 5 (a) of 1933	set and mail fraud. Sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act, mail fraud,	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail	Iraud. Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same.			
Indictment	May 13, 1937 Sept. 14, 1938	Apr. 13, 1939	Feb. 6, 1940	Nov. 15, 1938	May 20, 1938	May 1, 1940	Sept. 2, 1937			
United States District	Idahodo	Southern District of Iowa. Apr. 13, 1939	Idaho	Western District of Okla- homa.	Massachusetts	Eastern District of Louis-	Southern District of New York.			
Number of de- fendants	60 60	8	က	es.	C)	81	21	******		
Name under which case was re- ferred to Department of Justice	Davis, H. Anderson et al	Dillon, Sidney J , et al	Dry Lake Oil Co., a corporation,	et al. Edwards Petroleum Co	Emerton (Albert) & Co., Inc	Equities Incorporated	Essenfeld (H B.) Co	`		

		SIATH ANNC	ALI	111	or Orei			30
θ	years; Douglas, Hofere, and Thompson to 15 months; Newhall, Nyland, and Wegfors were given suspended sentences and placed on probation for 3 years. The indictment was nother prosess as to Dixon. Clausen pleaded guilty Mar. 21, 1940. G. E. Fisher, G. F. Fister, and Yount were found guilty Mar. 21, 1940, upon their pleas of nole contenders. The court deferred imposition of sentence for 3 months with the understanding that such time would be utilized by the defendants in making restitution to the persons defininged. Benson is incarcerated on a State charge.	Connor pleaded guilty on Jan. 15, 1940; imposition of sentence was susponded and he was placed on probation for months. Blumential, Foundation Plan. 10, 100 for anoths. Blumential, Foundation Plan. 10c., Tuttie, and Williams entered pleas of guilty on Jan. 17, 1940. Trial opened Jan. 30, 1940, as to Scott. He was acquited. Blumenthal and Tuttle were each sentenced to 6 months and fined \$1,600 and \$1,000, respectively; Williams to 1 year and 1 day and fined \$5,600. Excution of sentences suspended and each delendant placed on probation. Foundation Plan.	Inc., received \$2,500 fine. Chase H. Lord was found guilty upon his plea of	Francis M. Cox has been apprehended and pleaded not	In February 1939 Frederick and Child pleaded noto contendere. Upon this plea the court found Frederick guilty and sentenced him to 25 years. Child was acquitted. The indictment was dismissed as to Martha Cherry on Feb. 21, 1939, and as to Rossiter	on Sept. 23, 1939. Getz pleaded guilty to both indictments on Jan. 21, 1938. He was sentenced on each indictment to 1 year and 1 day, to run concurrently. Execution of sentence was suscended and be was plead on probation	Д.	H
Sees. 5 (a) (2) and 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late same.	Conspiracy to violate secs. 5 (t (2) and 17(a)(1), (2), and (3) o 1933 act.	Secs 5 (a) (2) and 17 (a) (1) (Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and	Sees. 17 (a) (1) and (2) and 5 (a) (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	Secs. 9 (a) (1) (A), (B), and (C) of 1934 act (manipulation). Conspiracy to violate secs. 9 (a) (1) (A), (B) and (C) and 9 (a)		F1 F2
Dec. 22, 1939	8, 1939	1e 8, 1939	Nov. 8, 1939	Nov. 14, 1939	Oct. 28, 1937	Jan. 4, 1937	Mar 28, 1938	a. 30, 1939 c. 1, 1938
Ď	Jan.	June	ž	ž		Jan.	- N	Je Je
Minnesota	Western District of Wis- consin.	Southern District of New York.	Idaho	Eastern District of Tennes-	sec. Southern District of Illinois.	Massachusettsdodo.	Northern District of Georgia	Southern District of New Dec. 1, 1938
∞	ro	\$		-	v	24 21		. 6
Financial Associates of Minnesota, Inc. (Gongoli, S. W., et al.).	Fisher (G. E.) & Company	Foundation Plan, Inc., et al	Founders Trust	Franklin Savings and Loan Com-	Frederick, Frank E., et al	Gallagher (Ralph A.) & Co	Gibson (P. Bayfield) & Company, Inc.	Groves, Wallace, et al

ŧ

Table II.—Indictments returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1939, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the mail fraud statute (in the preparation of which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

Name under which case was referred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Indictment returned	Charges	Status of case
Hauser, George M., et al	- 60	Eastern District of Illinois. Nebraska	Mar. 5, 1940 July 27, 1939	Sec. 17 (a) (l) of 1933 act and mail fraud. Sec. 17 (a) (l) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	Hagist pleaded guilty on Mar. 11, 1840. He was sentenced to 2 years' imprisonment and fined \$1,000. Trial opened Apr. 16, 1840. Hastes and McCormack pleaded noto contender after the trial commenced. Holmes was found guilty. On May 14, 1940, Holmes was sentenced to 15 years' imprisonment and fined \$25,000; Hauser to 6 years and \$1,000; McCormack to 15 months. Holmes has filed notice of intention to
Hays (Arthur) & Co., Inc Henriques (George) & Co., Inc., et al.	es 55	District of Columbia Southern District of New York.	Dec. 29, 1939 Nov. 7, 1935	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same. Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate mail fraud.	appeal. Both defendants have been apprehended. Pending. Trial began on Feb. 8, 1937, on first indictment. Eight defendants pleaded guilty. Directed verdicts of not
	56 52	do.	Feb. 7, 1936	- ф	guilty entered against 4 defendants and 2 were acquited. Sixteen defendants were found guilty Mar. 19, 1937. Sentences ranged from probation to 31, years' imprisonment. On appeal, convictions of all but Staart were sustained Dec. 6, 1937. The Circuit of Appeals for the Second Circuit of redered the indictment dismissed as to him. The first indictment was dismissed as to him. The first indictment was dismissed as to be defendants and mole present as to 36. Barry. Dubrin, Smith, and Winfield pleaded guilty to the second indictment. This indictment
Hickox Finance Corporation		Northern District of Ohio	Mar. 25, 1938	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late same.	was note prosset Oct 1, 1897 as to 6 defendants and dismissed Mar. 20, 1940, as to 28. Curtz, Gray, Phillips, and Stein pleaded guilty to 5 Becurities Act counts in October and November 1939. Sentences ranged from a suspended sentence to 2 years' imprisonment. Gilson was acquitted on Nov. 30, 1989. Brady is deceased. Potts has not been are.
Hill, Edward M., et al Hochhelm Development Trust	12	do	May 21, 1940 Apr. 7, 1939	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same. Mail fraud	Drabended; case pending as to him. All defendants except William H. Gould have been apprehended. Pending. Garley F. Hanse was found guilty upon his plea of noto contender and sentenced on Jan. 2, 1940, to 3 years on each of 10 counts, to run concurrently, and fined each.
Industrial Finance Company		Western District of South Carolina.	Feb. 7, 1939	Conspiracy to violate mail fraud and secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act.	Trial on second indictment opened May 10, 1939. Aiken was found guilty and sentenced to 18 months. His conviction was affirmed Dec. 14, 1939, by the

			SIXT		NUAL REPO			308
Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. Aiken filed application for probation, and on Dec. 23, 1938, the district court judge suspended esterence and placed him on probation for 5 years. The first indiction of the court of the court was notic proceed Feb. 19, 1940, as to all defending	Trial opened on Jan. 3, 1939. A. G. Ilseng, A. G. Ilseng, Jr., and McKercher were found guilty. Sentences ranged from a suspended sentence to 5 years imprisonment. The court dismissed the indictment against the remaining defendants. The 3 convicted defendants in yes, appeaded to the Origunt Court of	Appeas for the Nutur Circuit. Fending. Toplitzy having been sentenced June 10, 1939, to serve 2 years and 2 days upon pies of guility to 1 mail fraid and 2 Securities Act coints, the remaining counts, the individual districts of the contact of th	All defendants have been apprehended. On June 6, 1940, the petition for removal, which was filed in the U. S. District Court for the District of Nevada, was	Failted as to takes and content as to bart. Fetoting. Complete restitution having been made to all victims, Allison pleaded guilty on July 8, 1837, and was fined \$200. The indicaments were notle present as to Kohler on July 8, 1937, and as to the 3 remaining defendants	1 Trial opened Oct. 2, 1939. Dizer and Grantham pleaded guilty prior to traal. Charles Russell Kenyon pleaded guilty after trial commenced. Eddy, Embres, Kenyon & Co., Inc., Schwarfz, Sobel, and Well Management, Inc., were found guilty. Sentences ranged from a suspended sentence to 2 years' implications. The 2 corporations were seal fined prior with trial transpectations.	and Wayne, pending as to them. Rayroup pleaded and contracter to 1 Becurities Act count and to the conspiracy count, Aschauer, Clark, Herron, and Smith entered pleas of note contendere to the conspiracy count. Each defendant was found guilty upon his plea. Sentences ranging from a suspended sentence to 2 years imprisonment were imposed on Nov. 3, 1839. The Judgment sentencing Clark to a prison term was vacated on Nov. 8, 1939.	and he was fined \$500. Eitheridge and Richardson pleaded guilty to the charge of conspiracy to violate sec. 17 (a) (1) of the 1933 act. On Sept. 29, 1939, Etheridge was sentenced to serve I year and 1 day and fined \$500. Richardson was fined \$500. The Indictment was dismissed Feb. 16,	1940, as to the 5 remaining defendants. Both defendants pleaded not guilty on Aug. 14, 1939. Pending.
Apr. 10, 1939 Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate mail fraud.	Secs. 17 (a) (1) and 5 (a) (2) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	Becs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	Mail fraud, secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1833 act, and conspiracy to violate same.	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late mail fraud.	Sees 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act. mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- violate same.	Mail fraud
Apr. 10, 1939		Feb. 15, 1939	Mar. 9, 1939	Jan. 8, 1936 Mar. 10, 1936	Mar. 29, 1939	Apr. 25, 1939	Nov. 10, 1937	Aug. 3, 1939
do	Southern District of Call- Sept. 29, 1937 fornia.	ф	District of Colorado	Delaware	Southern District of New York.	Eastern District of Wis- consin.	Northern District of New York.	Southern District of New York.
H	7	H	∞	ئە ئ ە	11	r2	4	61
	International Mining and Milling Company.	International Vanadium Corpora- tion.	International White Cement Company.	Kelly (C. B.) & Company, Inc., et al.	Kenyon & Co., Inc., et al	Kenyon, William A., et al	Kettleman-Hills Syndicate	Korff (Fred H.) Inc

100

TABLE II.—Indictments returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the mail fraud statute (in the preparation of which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

Name under which case was referred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Indictment returned	Charges	Status of case
Krystal Chemical Company, Inc.	1	District of Columbia	Dec. 31, 1937	Sec 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and false pretense statute.	George Arone pleaded guilty to 1 Securities Act and I false pretense count. He received a sentence of 1 to 2 years, which was suspended, and he was placed on
I.aVey, William, et al	10	Eastern District of Wash-June 25, 1937 Ington.	June 25, 1937	Secs. 5 (a) (1) and (2) and 17 (a) of 1833 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same	probation. LaVey was sentenced to 3 years' imprisonment upon ples of guilty. Trial opened Dec. 5, 1938, indictment dismissed as to Conley and Leo Ross; mistrial as to Friedlander due to illness; Burke, Kamerman, Sargent, and Wise were acquitted; Harry A. Ross was
Lehman (Edward) Enterprises, Inc.	64	Colorado	Apr 26, 1940	- zž	convicted and sentenced to 16 months. Barnett has not been apprehended. Pending. Both defendants were found guilty June 7, 1940 Ashley was sentenced to 7 years 'imprisonment and fined \$6,000; Hetzel to 18 months and \$6,000.
Lewis American Alrways, Inc	63	do	Sept 16, 1939	Secs. 17 (s) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	Both defendants pleaded guilty. On Oct. 17, 1939, Degering was placed on probation for 18 months and
Lydon, Joseph M., et al	9	Massachusetts	Nov. 15, 1939	Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act, and conspuracy to violate	Fratt was sonteneed to 90 days. All defendents except Joseph Lydon have been appre- hended. Lydon is incarcerated on a State charge.
	e 	ор	φ····		Pending.
Macon & Company		Northern District of Ohio.	Feb.	Sec 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	
Mothie (George) & Company	SN	Western District of Wis- consin.	Feb 17, 1940	Secs. 17 (a) (1), (2), and (3) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	McChile pleaded noto contenders on July 12, 1940 the was found guilty upon this plea as to 10 counts and fined \$1,500. Bothe bincarcerated at Waupun, Wis.,
McKesson & Robbins, Inc., et al	4	Southern District of New York.	Dec. 15, 1938	Sec. 32 (a) of 1934 act in counce- tion with a document flied under sec. 13 of 1934 act, and	on anotter charge. Fedung Trial on third indictment opened Mar. 7, 1940, as to 5 defendants. John and Leonard Jenkins pleache guilty to certain counts of the indictment after trial
	46		Dec. 21, 1938 Mar. 30, 1939	Sec. 32 (a) of 1934 act in connection with the second of t	commenced; Merwin and Phillips were acquitted; McGloon was found guilty on I Securities and Exchange Act count. Prior to trial, Arthur, George,
				under sec. 13 of 1934 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late same.	And Avoid, Aresico, and Bodyania Bullous actived pleas of guilty to each indictment in which they were named as defendants. Coster is deceased. On May 22, 1940, Arthur Musica and Benjamin Simon
					were sentenced to serve 3 years; deorge Musics to 2½ years; Robert Musics to 1½ years; John Jenkins and McGloon to 1 year and 1 day. McGloon was also

					•	001
fined \$5,000. Leonard Jenkins received a suspended seateness and was placed on probation for 5 years. The first and second indictments are pending, as to McKesson, & Robbins, Inc. McGloon has filed	notice of intering to appear. In instrain was declared as to both defendants on Dec. 20, 1939, due to the illness of Meyer. Indictment	alsmissed against 00th defendants June 3t, 1940. All defendants have been apprehended except Morton Lewis, H., B. Keller, and Max Manners. Trial set	Trial opened Jan. 8, 1940. Stuart pleaded guilty during trial. Minuse and Polletier were found guilty. Minuse and Polletier were found guilty. Minuse was sentenced to 2 years and fined \$5,000; Polletier to 18 months and \$1,000. Stuart was given a ruspended sentence and placed on probation for 2 years. Minuse and Pelletier have appealed to the Circuit. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.	Araderson, Chase, Morley, Stephenson, and Ward tried and convicted July 2, 1937. Sentences ranged tried and convicted July 2, 1937. Sentences ranged from 1 year and 1 day to 5 years. Morley appealed his conviction was affirmed by the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit on Oct. 20, 1938. Petition for certiorari denied Feb. 3, 1939. James and Joseph Guslano have not been apprehended.	Fending. Both defendants have been apprehended. Trial set for Sept. 24, 1940.	Dinter pleaded guilty to conspiracy count prior to trial, and was given a suspended sentence. Berman, Congdon, Gold, Greene, Halpert, Hermanscon, Levin, Manchel, National Investment Transcript, Inc., Rollnick, Smiler, Steinberg, Tettelman, War and Werblen convicted Dec. 23, 1936. Jury disagreed as to Lazar and Schwartz. Sentences ranged from a suspended sentence to 7 years' imprisonment and \$5,000 flme. The corporation was fined \$10,018. Twelve defendants appealed to the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Scoond Circuit. Their sentences were affirmed on Aug. 16, 1937. Berman appealed from a suspended sentence. His right to appeals from a suspended sentence. His right to appeals from a suspended sentence. His right to appeals for the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit Tofficult for further proceedings. On July 28, 1938, this court a faffrmed the judgment of the district court as to Perman. Hennigan and Strauss pleaded guilty to the conspiracy count on Mar. 20, 1938; each sentenced to 1 year and lay; exectation of sentence suspended and defendants placed on probation for 2 years Case pending as to Lazar and Schwartz.
	1933 olate	1933	9 (a) 1 sec. nipu-		mail v10-	\$ \$
	(1) of y to vi	(1) of 1933	e secs. C) and rt (mar		33 act,	nspi ra c
	act, and conspiracy to violate	d 17 (a il fraud	Conspiracy to violate sees. 9 (a) (1) (A), (B), and (C) and see. 9 (a) (2) of 1934 Act (manipulation).		of 19 conspi	e. e.
	and, se	(s) sn nd ms	mey to (2) of (3).	aud	(a) (1 l, and	ano same al ano same. Alore same.
	Mail fraud, sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, and conspiracy to violate	Secs. 5 (a) and 17 (a) act and mail fraud.	Conspi (1) (7) 9 (8) lation	Mail fraud	fraud, and conspiracy to vio-	Mali fraud and conspiracy to violate same.
	3, 1939	22, 1938	26, 1938	24, 1936	29, 1940	2, 1936
	Apr. 3	July 22	Oct. 28	Oct. 24	Feb. 28	July 2
						"
	let of N	District of II-	ict of N	ict of	nesota.	ict of N
	Distri		Distri	Distr	of Delin	Distri
	Western District of New York.	Northern linois.	Southern District of New York,	Southern District of Indiana.	District of Minnesota	Southern District of New York.
	C)	11			O)	78
	Loan			nc	Cor-	ript.
	Personal Loan	pany	Minuse (N. W.) & Company	Morley (С. J.) & Сошрапу, Inc	National Credit Finance Corporation.	National Investment Transcript, Inc., et al.
	Perso	g Com	% Co	k Com;	lit Fir	tment
	litan iny.	Minin	N. W.	C.J.) {	Cred	Invesit al.
	Metropolitan Company.	Miners! Mining Company	fause (forley (ational poratio	Inc., el
	⋧	2	Z	×	Z	Z

J	τO
d for violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the mail fraud statute (in 🤝	il year ended June 30, 1940-Continued
Ħ	£8C
1933, the Securities	pending during the
چ د	ē
for violation of the Securities Act c	iich the Commission took part) which wer
ed J	the
-Indictments returned for	preparation of which
Ė	the
TABLE II	**

Name under which case was referred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Indigtment returned	Charges	Status of tase
Scott, Robert E., et al	21	Eastern District of Michi. gan. Western District of Louisi- ans.	June 20, 1840 Oct. 17, 183	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same. Sec. 17 (a) of 1938 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate mail fraud.	Schafzel pleaded guilty June 27, 1940. Pending. Sixteen defendants pleaded guilty Mar. 11, 1935; senteness ranged from 1 year and 1 day to 7 years. Don Simmons pleaded note contendere Apr. 6, 1938, and was sentenced to 90 days in hell (to run concurrently with sentence in Turivas case). Sidnay P. Klein pleaded note contendere Ogt. 12, 1939, and was sen-
Secord-Vandarpoel & Co., Inc., et al.	24	Southern District of New York.	Dec. 24, 2036	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio- late mail fraud.	eubed to year and 1 day in a reiormatory. Fending as to 3 defendants. A lahire and Secord pleaded guilty fune 7, 1938. Indictment dismissed as to Leslie and Tucker on June 21, 1938. Edell, Gutterson, Strahl, Edwin T. Vanderpoel, and Seoord-Varderpoel & Co., Inc., found guilty June 29, 1938. Camp. Lewrence, Manderpoel & Co., Inc., found guilty June 29, 1938. Camp. Lewrence, Mander, and Washington Irving Vanderpoel found not guilty. Sontemes reneed from a susamment of
Seminole Provident Trust	φ ι Ω	Minnesptadodo.	July 13, 1629	Sees. 6 (b) (2), 17 (a) (l) and (2), and 23 of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same. See. 17 (a) (l) of 193 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate and conspiracy to violate and conspiracy to violate and conspiracy to violate and sees. 17 (a)	to 3 years' imprisonment. The corporation was mined \$1,000. Indictants evered as to Byran, Johnson, Kelly, and Warner; pending as to them. Ahlbog pleaded note contender and Definan and Perry guilty to the complicacy count of second indictment. Backenstone and Card entered pleas of note contender. To 1 count of first indictment. On Oct. 9, 1939, trial opened as to Allport and Kimball, the 2 indictments having been consolidated for trial. Allport was
Shiddler and Company	CT.	Southern District of Indi- ana.	Sept. 20, 1939	(4) and (5) of 1950 act. Sec. 17 (4) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio-late sarbe.	of sentence was suspended as to Aliport, Backenstoon of sentence was suspended as to Aliport, Backenstoce, and Card and each placed on probation. Dedman and Ferry were sentenced to 16 months' imprisonment; Aliborg to 4 months and \$1,600 fine. Alicounts of both indictments, not previously disposed of, were dismissed Nov. 16, 1939, ever was sentenced of were dismissed Nov. 16, 1939, and was sentenced for the year of years and fined \$5,000 on Sept. 26, 1939. Trial connect In 8, 140, as to William A Shideler Fee
Southwestern Detective Agency	က	Northern District of Tex- as.	Jan. 24, 1940	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same.	was found guilty and sentenced to 8 years. Trial opened Feb. 3, 1940. All 8 defendants were found guilty. Thompson was sentenced to 7 years, Allen to 5 years; Combs to 30 days in Dallas County fail. On Feb. 20, 1940, the defendants paid to the clerk of court a large proportion of the funds they had obtained from the public for restitution to per-

		S	ІХТН	ANNUA	L REPORT		31
sons defrauded, and the court reduced Thompson's sentence to 5 years and Allen's to 18 months. Thompson has filed notice of intention to appeal. All defendants have pleaded not guilty except Louis C. George, who is incarcerated on a state charge. Pending.		McDermott has pleaded guilty to both indictments. The remaining defendants have been apprehended. Pending.	On Sept. 13, 1938, Evans and White were found guilty upon their pleas of note contenders; each placed on probation for 3 years. N. J. Stokes is a fugitive	Sixty-four defendants have been apprehended. Bokal, Comerford, Goldie, Mussman, Seldier, and Strahl entered pleas of Gullity. Bokal was sentenced to serve 2 months; Comerford to 1 year and 1 day to run, concurrently. With sentence under another	Trial opened Oct. 16, 1939, on the first, second, and third indictments, which were consolidated for trial. J. P. Atkins, T. W. Benson, C. O. Davenport, and W. H. Gillesple were found guilty. Sentences ranged from 6 to 18 months. T. W. Benson appealed to the Chreuit Court of Appeals for the Fifth Chreuit, indigener affirmed Lune 4; 1940. Directed verdiet of not guilty was entered as to 8 delendants. The	fourth indictment is pending. J. M. May surrendered on Feb. 22, 1940. Pending. Levinson and Lincoln have been apprehended. Pending.	Harry Low surrendered on Feb. 24, 1939. Walter H. Hardle has not been apprehended. Pending. All defendants pleaded guilty. On May 10, 1940, Chew, Clink, and Egbert Pandollo were each sentenced to 2 years' imprisonment and fined \$2,000; Samuel Pandolfo to 6 months and \$500 Heth received a suspended sentence and was placed on probation for 5 years; fined \$100.
Secs. 9 (a) (1) (A), (B), and (C) and 9 (a) (2) of 1934 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to viorate secs. 9 (a) (1) and (2) of 1934 act and mail fraud (ma.	nipulation). Sees. 17 (a) (i) and (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate sees. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act, sees. 9 (a) (1) and (2) of 1934 act, and mail fraud.	Mail fraud and conspiracy to	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to violate same.	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same.	Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act and mail fraud. Conspiracy to violate sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud. Mail fraud. Do.	Secs. 17 (a) (1) and (2) of 1933 act and mail fraud. Sec. 17 (a) (2) of 1933 act, mail fraud, and conspiracy to vio-	late state. Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mall fraud. Secs. 5 (a) (2) and 17 (a) of 1933 act, mall fraud, and conspiracy to violate mall fraud and secs. 5 (a) and 17 (a) of 1933 act.
Jan. 3, 1940	Feb. 23, 1940	Dec. 7, 1939 Feb. 1, 1940	Mar. 11, 1938	Sept. 30, 1938	Oct. 26, 1938	Feb. 13, 1940 Jan. 19, 1939.	Feb. 3, 1939 Feb 17, 1939
Southern District of New		dodb	Colorado	Southern District of New York,	Southern Districted Florida. do.	Eastern District of Texas Massachusetts	Eastern District of Michigan. Ban. District of Montana
9	•	4 1-	ಣ	22	1 12 22	- e	01 10
Standard Commercial Tobacco Company, Inc., et al.		Stemmler & Company	Stokes (N. J.) and Company, Inc.	Surety Investment and Finance Company, Inc.	Suwannee Life Insurance Company.	Texas Mutual Reserve Life Insurance Company. Thurman, Arthur George	Trenton Valley Distillers Corporation. Tri-Base of Montana

tute (in	
I fraud sta	Continued
of 1934, or the mail	0, 1940—(
of 1984, or th	l June 30, 19
xchange (ear endec
es Act Ex	e fiscal y
e Securities Act Exchange	during the
988, th	pending
f the Securities Act of 13	ch were
Securities	oart) who
of the	n took p
r violation	${\it Commission}$
eturned for vi	vhich the
idictments r	varation of 1
$III\pi$	the pret
TABLE	

Table II.—Indictments returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Act Exchange of 1934, or the mail fraud statute (in the preparation of which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued	Status of ease	(1) of Pending. Pending. Frank B. Nemee was found gullty on 4 Securities Act and 2 mail frand counts. On Feb. 13, 1940, he was Sentenced to 4 years' imprisoment and fined \$1,000.	(1) of All defendants have been apprehended. Trial set for Sept. 9, 1940. Weber was found guilty Feb. 18, 1938, on all counts of both indictments. Sentenced to 5 years' imprisonment on first 4 counts and 5 years' suspended on counts 5 to 8 of first indictment, and 5 years on second indictment, sentenced and 5 years of years on second indictment, seatheres to run concurrently. Weber appealed and on Apr. 18, 1939, the Circuit Counts of the property of the pro		E .
1933, the Securities A pending during the fis	Charges		Sees. 5 (a) (2) and 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mall fraud. Do.	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud.	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same. Sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act.
rities Act of which were	Indictment returned	June 28, 1940 Sept. 13, 1939	May 1, 1940 Nov. 8, 1938 do	Dec. 14, 1939	June 23, 1936
or violation of the Secu Commission took part)	United States District Court	Northern District of Illinois. Delaware	Northern District of Illinois. Northern District of Texas	Northern District of IIIi. Dec. 14, 1939 nois.	New Jerseydo.
turned for	Number of de- fendants	1 1	11 6	ч	4. 4.
Table II.—Indictments re the preparation of u	Name under which case was referred to Department of Justice	U. S. Obromlum, Inc United States Milling Corpora- tion.	Universal Service Association, Inc. Weber, John	West Coast Minerals Corporation.	Whealton Company et al

Table III.—Indictments returned for perjury committed in the course of investigations conducted by the Commission

Name under which case was referred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Indictment returned	Charges	Status of case
Buckman (B. E.) and Company		Northern District of II- Nov. 15, 1938 Perjury. Mod. do. do. do. do. do. do. do. do. do.	Nov. 15, 1938	Northern District of II- Nov. 15, 1938 Ferjury linois. do. do. do. do. Nov. 21, 1938 Ferjury	Jackson and Slettleland have been apprehended. Buckman and George were convicted in another case for violating the Securities Act of 1933 and the mail fraud statutes on June 5, 1940 Pending.
Edwards Petroleum Company	444	Northern District of Texas. do	Nov. 10, 1939	Northern District of Texas. Nov. 10, 1939 Perjury.	Little pleaded guilty on Nov. 16, 1939, and was sentenced to 3 years, suspended for 3 years. Trial of
Mascuch, Joseph J., et al	Н -	Southern District of New York.	June 15, 1939	Southern District of New June 15, 1939do.	Monzingo opened Nov. 14, 1939; he was acquitted Mascuch was found guilty on both counts of the first indictment Nov. 28, 1939. He was sentenced to 2 verse! immelsonment and though to Nov. 28, 1939.
	161	do	op	dodo	1940, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed his conviction. He filed petition for certiform May 31, 1940. The second and third
Union Electric Company of Missouri.		1 Eastern District of Mis- Nov. 17, 1939 Perjury souri.	Nov. 17, 1939		Lauckaneaus are pending. On Jan. 3. 1940, Martin pleaded gunity to the indict- ment returned against him, sentenced to 6 months and fined \$501. Laun entered plea of note contents.
	7 -	dodododo	Mar. 13, 1940		on Apr 26, 1949, to the Indicatent returned against him on Mar. 13, 1946; sentlemed to serve 1 year and 1 day and fined \$4,500. Trial opened June 24, 1940, as to Bookm Pending.

TABLE II.—Indictments re- the preparation of w	turned fo hich the	r violation of the Secun Commission took part)	ities Act of which were	1933, the Securities Act Expending during the fiscal ye	returned for violation of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Act Exchange of 1934, or the mail fraud statute (in which the Commission took part) which were pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued
Name under which case was re- ferred to Department of Justice	Number of de- fendants	United States District Court	Indictment returned	Charges	Status of case
U. S. Ohromium, Inc United States Milling Corpora- tion.		Northern District of Illinois. Delawaredodo	June 28, 1940 Sept. 13, 1939	Secs. 5 (a) (2) and 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud. Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud. Title 18, sec. 241 of U. S. Code (attempting to influence a	William M. Muchow has not been apprehended, Pending. Frank E. Nemec was found guilty on 4 Securities Act and 2 mail rand counts. On Feb. 13, 1940, he was sentenced to 4 years' imprisonment and fined \$1,000. Second indictment is pending.
Universal Service Association, Inc. Weber, John	1 1	Northern District of Illinois. Northern District of Texas Nov.	May 1, 1940 Nov. 8, 1938	w.t.des.(.) Secs. (18) (.) and 17 (s) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud. Mail fraud. Do.	All defendants have been apprehended. Trial set for Sept. 9, 1940. Weber was found guilty Feb. 18, 1938, on all counts of both indictments. Sentenced to 5 years' imprisonment on first 4 counts and 5 years' suspended on counts 6, to 8 of first indictment, and 6 years on second indictment, sentences to run concurrently.
West'Coast Minerals Copporation.	Q	Northern District of Illi- nois.	Dec. 14, 1939	Sec. 17 (a) (1) of 1933 act and mail fraud,	Weber appealed and on Apr. 18, 1939, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit dismissed the appeal on the ground that the bill of exceptions was not filed within the time prescribed by court rules. Petition for certiforari denied Oct. 16, 1939. Trial opened May 16, 1940. Diskelman piesded guilty. Weilaland was found gullty on 2 Securities Act counts. Each defendant was placed on probation.
Whealton Company et al	41 41	New Jerseydodo.	June 23, 1936	Mail fraud and conspiracy to violate same. Sec. 17 (a) of 1933 act.	Trial on first indictment opened June 15, 1938. Coffin. M. F. Whealton, Whealton Company, and Commonwath wealth Trust Company were found guilty; Hartman was acquitted; Barcus pleaded guilty prior to trial. First indictment dismissed Aug. 3, 1938, as to Alexander, Libsey, Massey, Turner, and Wilson. Sertenes; ranged from a gaspended, sentene to 295.
					years' imprisonment. W neathor Company received \$10,000 fine and Commonwealth Trust Co. \$4,000. Coffin, M. F. Whealton, and Commonwealth Trust Company appealed. On June 36, 1996, the Offenti Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit reversed the judgment of the district court as to these defendants and remanded case for new trial. Pending.

Table III.—Indictments returned for perjury committed in the course of investigations conducted by the Commission

Charges Status of case	Jackson and Slettieland have been apprehended. Buckman and George were convicted in another case for violating the Securities Act of 1933 and the mail fraud statutes on June 5, 1940. Pending. July Dittle pleaded guilty on Nov. 16, 1939, and was sentenced to 3 years, suspended for 3 years. Trial of Monzhago opened Nov. 14, 1939, he was sentenced to 2 years, suspended for 3 years. Trial of Mascuch was found guilty on both counts of the first indictment Nov. 28, 1939. He was sentenced to 2 years imprisonment and fined \$4,000. On May 6, 1940, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed his conviction. He filed petition for carterarm May 31, 1940. The second and third indictments are pending. On Jan. 3, 1940, Martin pleaded guilty to the indictment meatr returned against him; sentenced to 6 months and fined \$500. Laun entered plea of note convenience on Apr. 28, 1940; sentenced to serve 1 year and 1 day and fined \$4,500. Trial opened June 24, 1940, as to Boehm. Pending.
Indictment returned	Nov. 15, 1938 Perjudologo Color
United States District Court	Northern District of II- Nov. 15, 1938 Perjury
Number of de- fendants	
Name under which case was referred to Department of Justice	Buckman (B. E.) and Company Edwards Petroleum Company Mascuch, Joseph J., et al Union Electric Company of Missouri.

ì,

TABLE IV.—Petitions for review of orders of Commission under the Securities Act of 1988, the Securities Exchange Act of 1984 (other than confidential treatment cases), and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1985 pending in circuit courts of appeals during the fiscal usar ended June 30, 1940

	Status of case	Original transcript of record filed May 29, 1940.	Petition for review dismissed on motion of petitioner July 31, 1939.	Opinion rendered by the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit on May 29, 1940. The court found that the evidence was sufficient to support the finding of the Com- mission that Wright had vloished see, 9 (a) (2) of the 1934	act but was insufficient to support the finding that Wright had violated sec. 9 (a) (1) of the 1934 act. Therefore, the order of the Commission was reversed and the cause remanded in order that the Commission might determine, in its discretion, whether its order should be modified to one of suspension rather than expulsion.
	Nature of case		an opportunity frution. p order entered er sec. 8 (d) of	Second Apr. 26, 1938 : Petition for review of Commission's order under sec. 19 (a) (3) of 1854 act and to restrain the enforcement of the expulsion order promulgated thereunder.	
	Initiating papers filed	Jan. 25, 1840	Sept. 17, 1938	Apr. 26, 1938	
	United States Circuit Court of Appeals		Ninth	Second	
year enuea Jane 30, 1940	Petitioner	Morris, Lewis H., et al. (as a committee for the protection of 7-percent preferred stockholders of International Paper & Power Company).	Unity Gold Corporation	Wright, Charles C	

Table V.—Petitions for review of orders denying confidential treatment under sec. 24 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which were pending in circuit courts of appeals during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

Petitioner	United States Circuit Court of Appeals pers filed	Initiating pa- pers filed	Status of case
American Sumatra Tobacco Corporation, case No. 1 District of Columbia American Sumatra Tobacco Corporation, case No. 2do	District of Columbiadodo	July 9, 1936 Mar. 23, 1939	American Sumatra Tobacco Corporation, case No. 1 District of Columbia. July 9, 1936 Case No. 2 consolidated with case No. 1 by court order of Apr. 5, 1839. Orders of the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia on Jan. 12, 1940.
1987). Iternational Nickel Company of Canada, Ltd. (The). Asthleson Alkail Works (Inc.) (The). Asthleson Alkail Works (Inc.) (The). Asthleson Alkail Company, case No. 1 (Form 10) deste Meadine Company, case No. 2 (annual reports	Becond Third do	Aug. 25, 1936 Apr. 3, 1936 Nov. 26, 1935 June 13, 1939	Aug. 25, 1936
or 1860, 1866, and 1867). 10. 10). New York Trap Rock Corporation, case No. 1 (Form 10). New York Trap Rock Corporation, case No. 2 (an-	n, case No. 1 (Form Second	July 24, 1936 Mar. 30, 1939	Dismissed by stipulation on court order Aug. 18, 1939.
nual reports for 1935 and 1936). Sheaffer (W. A.) Pen Company		June 1, 1936	Eighth June 1, 1936 Dismissed by stipulation on court order Feb. 26, 1940.

Table VI.—Case involving constitutionality of Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

Status of case	Dismissed by plain- tiff on Nov. 15, 1939.
Nature of case	Light Company (The), Southern District of Ohio Nov. 30, 1835 Suit to enjoin enforcement of the 1935 act and for declaratory judgment that the 1835 act is unconstitutiff on Nov. 15, 1939.
Initiating papers filed	Nov. 30, 1935
United States District Court papers filed	Southern District of Ohio
Plaintiff	Columbus Railway, Power and Light Company (The), a corporation.

Proceedings by Commission, pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, to enforce subpenas under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934	
ceedings	
II.—Proc	
вгв V]	
Τ¥	

		and with cool	Decuments 1	and and the Decames trachange and and	*
Principal defandants	Number of de- tendants	United States District Court	Inttisting papers filed	Section of act involved	Status of case
Clayton, W. E., et al.	61	District of Columbia	Feb. 27, 1939	Sec. 21 (c) of 1934 act	Order granting application entered by district court Mar. 17, 1939. Defendants appealed. On Dec. 21, 1939, the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, on motive of the Court insign, reversed the order of the district court shall remanded the case with instructions to dismiss proceedings on the court of the most proceedings on the
Dillon, Sidney J	г	Southern District of Iowa.	Feb. 8, 1939	Sec. 22 (b) of 1933 act	district court in accordance with mandate. Order granting application entered by district court on Feb. 11, 1839. Defendant appealed to the Olicuit Court of Appeals of the Dighth Olicuit. The appeal was dismissed by
Mallory, Margaret	-	District of Columbis	Feb. 27, 1939	Sec. 21 (c) of 1834 act	stipulation on Sept. 8, 1930. Order granting application entered by district court Mar. 37, 1339. Defendants appealed. On Dec. 21, 1939, the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia on motified of the Compaision tecored the order of the district court and removed the order of the district court and the order of the or
Okląhoma-Southąm Trust et al	N	Northern District of Okla- Roma.	Sept. 18, 1939	Sec. 22 (b) of 1933 act	the esse with instructions to dismiss proceedings on the ground of motherss. Case dismissed Jan. 15, 1940, by district court in accordance with mandate. Order entered Sept. 27, 1939, directing defendants to appear before the Commission and produce documentary evidence. Defendants appealed. On Apr. 22, 1940, the Olfcult Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, on motion of the Commission, remanded the desse to the district court with instructions to dismiss the proceedings on the ground of moother.
Orler, Joydan S		Massachusetts	Jan. 30, 1940	do	ness. Order entered Feb. 28, 1940, on aspent of both parties, dismissing application. (Jordan prodited his books and records
Paymaster Plan, Inc., (The) et al	63	op	Oct. 2, 1939	do.	without court order.) Order entered Oct. 18, 1939, on assent of all parties, dismissing application. (The officials of the corporation produced the
Second Larkins-Warr Trust et al	69	Ndrthern District of Okla- Noma,	Sept. 18, 1939	do	books and records of the corporation without court order.) Order entered Sept. 27, 1992, directing defendants to appear before the Commission and produce documentary evidence. Defendants appeared. On April 22, 1949, the Circuit Court
					of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, on motion of the Commission, remanded the ease to the district court with instructions to disnise the moneedings on the ground of mootness.

Smith, Charles J	п	District of Columbia	Feb. 27, 1839	Sec. 21 (c) of 1934 act	1 District of Columbia Feb. 27, 1839 Sec. 21 (c) of 1934 act Order granting application entered by district court Mar. 17, 1839 Defendants appealed. On Dec. 21, 1839, the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, on métion of the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, on métion of the Court of Appeals for the District court and remanded the case with instructions to dismiss proceedings on the ground of moothess. Case dismissed Jan. 115, 1940, by district court in accordance with mandate.
Southwest Investment Trust et al	Ø	Northern District of Okla- homs.	Sept. 18, 1939	Sec. 22 (b) of 1933 act	Northern District of Okla-Sept. 18, 1839 Sec. 22 (b) of 1933 act Order entered Sept27, 1939, directing defendants to appear before the Commission and produce documentary evidence. Defendants appealed. On Apr. 22, 1946, the Circuit Court
Tung Corporation of America et al	RI	Northern District of Illi- Dec. 19, 1939do	Dec. 18, 1939		of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, on motion of the Commission, remanded the case to the district court with instructions to dismiss the proceedings on the ground of mootness. Order entered Aug. 5, 1940, on motion of Commission. (The documents were produced without court order.)

Table VIII.—Miscellaneous suits against Commission or Commissioners pending during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

e Status of case	District of Colum- May 23, 1938 Action at law for damages against in- bia. Demurrers to complaint. Amended complaint filed May 16, 1839, pakintiff was given leave dividual Commissioners for con- spiring to malidously prosecute and defame the character of the plantiff. Plantiff laws to file second amended complaint. Second amended complaint. Plantiff and June 29, 1939. Order entered Oct. 6, 1939, dismissing action for fallure of plaintiff to file a further amended complaint. Plaintiff has appealed to the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia.
Nature of case	Action at law for damages against individual Commissioners for conspiring to malidiously prosecute and defame the character of the plantiff.
Initiating papers filed	May 23, 1938
United States District Court	District of Columbia.
Parties plaintiff	Jones, J. Edward

	TABLE IX.	-Contemp	t proceedings	pending during the	Table IX.—Contempt proceedings pending during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	ne 30, 1940	-
Principal defendants	Number of defend- ants		United States District Court	Court Intisting papers filed		Status of case	•
Pymouth Consolidated Gold Mines, Lid., et al. Universal Service Association et al	Mines,	1 Western D 5 Dellayare. 6 Northern I	Westharn District of Washingto Dellayare Northern Distract of Illinois	Western District of Washington Aug. 28, 1939 Dellayare	Order entered Dec. 11, 11 contempt by returning as donations. Order for writh of stachin fendants signed; writ say. C. Franklin Davis and U. Franklin Davis and V. Association fined \$1,000 Chancellor, Fred E. B.	Order entered Dec. II, 1939, decreeing that I vanoff had purged himself of contempt by returning to investors all the moneys which he had collected as donations. Gardenness for exercising the property of corporate defondants signed; writ issued and served on Nov. 25, 1935. Pending. C. Franklin Davis and Universal Service Association held in contempt on June 22, 1939; Davis seathened to 6 months in jail and Universal Service Association fined \$1,000. Buit dismissed against Claude H. Carter, Justing Chancellor, Fred E. Bennett, and Universal Order of Plenografs.	
Werger-Clay Company et al		4 Western I	Western District of Oklahoma	oma Sept. 30, 1839	abn. 4, 1847, file Uroust the judgment of the diff denied Apr. 22, 1840. On Feb. 17, 1940, all defe E. C. Clay and J. O. V	Jan. 4, 1949, Inc. Incut. Court of Appears for the Seventan Cincuit sunfined the ludgment of the district court as to C. Franklin Davis and reversed the ludgment as to Universal Service Association. Petition for certiforari of meliad Apr. 22, 1940. On Feb. 17, 1940, all defendants were decreed to be in contempt of court. B. C. Clay and J. G. Verser were each fined \$500; Mid-Continent Crude Oil Purchasing Company and Verser-Clay Company \$1 each.	
Table X.—Suits against	Commission Util	to enjoin er ity Holding	tjorcement of Company A	the Securities Act of to of 1985—Fiscal	of 1983, the Securities Jear ended June 30, .	Table X.—Suits against Commission to enjoin enforcement of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	·
Parties plaintiff	United States District Court	istrict Court	Inithting papers filed	Natur	Mature of case	Status of case	
Bagdad Copper Corpdration	District of Columbia	nbia	Aug. 4, 1937	Suit for declaratory jud defendant corporation registration provision 1933 act; and that pla draw its registration the Commission.	Suit for declaratory judgment that securities of defendant corporation are exempt from the registration provisions under sec. 3 (a) (1) of 1933 act; and that plaintiff has a right to withdraw its registration without the consent of the Commission.	Motion of defendants to dismiss complaint filed Aug. 24, 1937; order granting motion to dismiss complaint entered Nov. 24, 1937, and plaintiff granted leave to plead over within 30 days, stipulation filed Feb. 26, 1938, extending time for plaintiff to file amended complaint to Mar.	
Maxfield, James, doing business under the name of Chiquita Mine Syndicate.	Remoyed to the Federal Court for the District of Nevada from the Eighth District Court for the State of Nevada.	federal Court to of Nevada hth District ne State of	Feb. 10, 1940	Action for declaratory judgment right to dispose of his shares of company on the theory that stock were exempt from the ryisions of the 1933 act; and for restrain the Commission from heard disposition and to preven Mining Company, Ltd., from make the transfer on its books.	Action for declaratory judgment as to plaintiff's right to dispose of his shares of stock in subject company on the theory that such shares of stock were exampt from the registration provisions of the 1933 act; and for injunction to restrain the Commission from interfering with such disposition and to prevent the Chiquita Mining Company, Ltd., from refusing to make the transfer on its books.	15, 1938, No further action taken. Suif dismissed June 1, 1940, on motion of plain- tiff.	••

Table XI.—Probation proceedings resulting from evidence submitted by the Commission—Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

Status of case	4	of the mail fraud statule was revoked on Nove, it 1839. He was also fined \$500, sentenced to a months in fail, and given a 5-year suspended sentence. On Nov. 7, 1839, the suspended sentence imposed on Little in May 1834 for violation of the mail fraud statule was revoked due to his setivities in connection with the sale of securities in violation of his probation. He was sentenced to 3 years' imprisonment. This sentence was		years' imprisonment.
Proceedings instituted	Nov. 6, 1939	Nov. 7, 1939	Oct. 25, 1939	
United States District Court	Northern District of Texas Nov. 6, 1939		District of Iowa	
Name of defendant	Grubbs, Leland	Little, J. Travis	Maurice, William	

Table XII.—Applications to approve and enforce Commission orders approving voluntary plans for corporate simplification pursuant to the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, pending during fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

Status of case	Order entered June 17, 1940. granting application.
Nature of case	Southern District of New York. Mar. 18, 1940 Application for an order under secs. 11 (e) and 18 (f) of 1835 act to enforce order of Commission under sec. 11 (e) granting application. of 1935 act approving plan of corporate simplification, and for injunction to prevent security holders from interfering with the enforcement of the plan.
Initiating papers filed	Mar. 18, 1940
+>	螀
United States District Court papers filed	20 Southern District of New Yo

Table XIII.—Cases (other than under the Bankruptcy Act) in which the Commission was permitted to file briefs as amicus curiae during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

	SECURITIES A
Status of case	A ug us t 9. Gase originated as security holder's action to secure appointment of receiver under State law. On appeal 1938. The binimetron obtained by the Commission in S. E. C. v. The Fidelity Investment Association. After argument, the Commission was permitted to file a binimetron did not fully remedy the conditions for which the appellant prayed relief by the appointment of a receiver but without expressing any opinion as to whether such relief should be granted. On Aug. 28, 1939, the Orneuit Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit affirmed the degree of the district court dismissing the suit for the appointment of receiver and stated that the earlier injunction had no bearing upon the issues of this case.
Commission granted leave to file brief	August 9, 1039.
United States Circuit Court of Appeals	Fourth
Name of case	Allee P. Hutchinson v. The Fidelity investment Association.

Table XIV.—Cases under Chapter K of the Bankruptcy Act in which the Commission panticipated as appellee during the fixed year ended Juhe 30, 1940

NI.	11.70	Water and Making of South
Name of qase	Court	Inature and status of case
In the matter of Blinrig Realty Corporation, debtor: Title Guarantee and Trust Company as trustee for the benefit of certificate holders, appellant, v. Blinrig. Realty Corporation et al. appellees.	United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Second Circuit.	United States Circuit Court of Ap- X of the Bankruptcy Act. The Commission participated in the appeal saking the position that the legal grounds urged by appellant for dismissal were unsound, that the aistric court's determinishon to retain the case was
		an exercise of discretion, which should not be reviewed, and therefore that the order of the district courts should be affirmed. While the appeal was pending, the trustee for the certificate holders filed a motion in the district court for dismissal, pursuant to Section 236 of the Bankruptey Act. The Commission all a motification of the commission of the court of the
		and no oppose the perituan, and no case was usualised to a man xi, rare. On Aug. 16, 1940, the court of appeals reversed the order of the district court sustaining the Commission on the legal points involved, but holding that the history of the debtor's efforts to reorganize in the State court did not warrant the belief that there was a reasonable prospect of consummating a planninder Chanter X.
In the matter of Deep Rock Oil Corporation, debtor: Standard Gas and Electric Company, appellant, v. John M. Taylor et al., appellees.	United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Tenth Circuit.	In the matter of Deep Rook Oil Corporation, debtor: Standard Gas and Electric Company, appellant, v. Duited States Circuit. John M. Taylor et al., appellees. The Commission joined with other appellees in a metric for the commission joined with other appellees and appeal and flied a sensaria brief in surnort thereof. On June 29, 1940, the court of

district court. A second appeal has been filed in this matter by Standard from a subsequent order entered by district court on May 28, 1940, approving a plan of reorganization of the debtor which made no provision for Standard's participation under the plan. The Commission joined with other appelles in a motion to dismiss the appeal, or, in the alternative, to affirm the order; motion pending.

Appeal from an order disapproving a plan of reorganization filed in a proceeding under Section 7718 of the Bankruptory Act and making Chapter X of the act, as amended, applicable to the proceedings. The Commission filed a brief in support of the order appealed the proceedings. The Commission filed a brief in support of the order appealed fall of the outre of appeals affrmed the givest of the district ourt and remanded the case for proceedings. Appeals were taken in this matter by the mortgage trustee and debtor from orders requesting the Commission's appearance in the proceedings, appointing an examiner, and disapproving a proposed plan of reorganization under Section 77B of the Bankrupter, Act; only the appeal from the last order however, was argued in appellant's briefs. The Commission filed a brief as appelled in support of the order disapproving the plan. On June 27, 1940, this order was altimate, and the appeal from the order requesting the Commission's appearance and appoint the way dismissed. Appeal by common stockholder from order approving plan of reorganization under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act. The Commission filed a brief as possis denied the motion to dismiss the appeal but affirmed the order of the appellee in support of order appealed from. Affirmed, without opinion, Mar. 7, 1940. consistent with its opinion. of the substituted plan. United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Third Circuit. United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Sixth Circuit. United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Sixth Circuit. United States Circuit Court of Appeals, First Circuit. United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Sixth Circuit. Metropolitan Holding Company, debtor, and James I. D., Straus, as trustee, intervener, appellants. v. Paul E., Wadock, as Examiner; Securities and Exchange Cornmission; Bondholders' Protective Committee of "Metropolitan Commercial Block". Bond Issue; Michigan Pub-In the matter of Oscar Nebel Co, Inc, debtor.
Meta Nebel, appellant, v. Paul Freeman et al., ap-The Highland Towers Co, debtor, and Equitable Trust Company, as trustee, intervener, appellants v. Bond-holders Protective Committee of "Highland Towers" (formerly Farrand Building) Bond Issue, Michigan Public Trust Commission, and Securities and Exchange Mara Villa Realty Company, debtor, and James I. D. Straus, as trustee, intervener, appellants. s. Paul E. Wedocke, as examiner, Securities and Exchange Commission; Bondbolders' Protective Committee of "The Mara Villa" Bond Issue; Michigan Public Trust Com-Commission, appellees.
In thermatter of Insurance Building Corporation, debtor:
Otis & Co., appellant v. Insurance Building Corporationet al., appelless. ic Trust Commission, appellees. mission, appellees,

Table XIV.—Cases under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act in which the Commission participated as appellee during the fiscal year ended J_{une} 30, 1940—Continued

nonii	Nature and status of case	Appeal from order entered upon motion of the Commission, enjoining the Goldmans from fraudulently soliciting authorizations and contributions from holders of the debtor's preferred stock and for an accounting of all funds obtained from stockholders. The Commission filed briefs as appelled in			£	Sustant win its opinion. Sustant win its opinion. Sustant win its opinion. orders relecting the debtor's proposed plan or reorganization under Section orders relecting the debtor's proposed plan or reorganization under Section orders relecting the debtor's proposed plan or reorganization under Section or party to the proceedings pursuant to Chapter X, Section 208 of the Bankruptory Act, and appointing an examiner. The Commission filed a brief as appelle, taking the position that the order making the Commission a party to the proceedings should be affirmed, and that the order appointing an examiner should likewise as firmed if the order deaping confirmation of the plan was affirmed—otherwise the issue would be moot. The Commission, while expressing doubt as to certain aspects of the plan, concluded in its brief that the plan might be approved. On Oct. 6, 1939, the court of appeals affirmed without opinion, the orders appealed from. Upon petition not went or certiforat, the Commission took the position that the finding of the lower courts was not so planily erroneous or in such conflict with principles established by the Supreme Court was one of somising was denied Jan. 15 1940.
J une 20, 1840-Continued	Court	United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Sixth Circuit.	United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Second Circuit.	United States Circuit Court or Appeals, Seventh Circuit.	United States Circuit. Court or Appeals, Sixth Circuit.	United States Circuit. peals, Sixth Circuit.
	Name of case		Tobacco Company, debtor-appeled F. Glidden et al., as the Portosco Company Bondholders Com-	Introduce of any applaise. In the matter of South State Street Building Corporation, a corporation, debtor: Harold M. Keele, petitioner-appellant v. Ben Gold, trustee of the estate of South State Street Building Corporation, debtor, et al., respondents-appellees.	Whitmore Plaza Corporation, debtor, and James I. D. Sfraus, as Trustee, Intervener, applaint r. Frank Smith, Wallace O. Line, Trustee, Securities and Exchange Commission. Bondholders Protective Committee of "Whitmore Plaza" Building Bond Issue, Michigan Public Trust Commission, Max Kogan, appellees.	Wilton Realty Corporation, debtor, and Equitable Trust Company, as Trustee, intervener, appellants v. Paul E. Weadook, as Examiner; Securities and Exchange Commission; Bondholders Protective Committee of "The Wilton" Building Bond Issue; Michigan Public Trust Commission, appellees.

Table XV.—Cases under the Bankruptcy Act in which the Commission opposed proceedings under Chapter XI on the ground that the debtors were entitled to bankruptcy relief only under Chapter X during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

creation on control which is the many control of the many control of the control	Nature and status of case	The Commission appealed in this matter from the order denying its petition to intervene in the proceedings for an arrangement for the debtor corporation under Chapter XI of the Bankringtoy Act and from the order denying its motion to dismiss the proceedings on the ground that the district court had no publicly held securities. While this sppeal was peading, a proposation with publicly held securities. While this sppeal was pending, a proposed arrangement was submitted to the district court. The proposed arrangement was rejected and the debtor was adjudicated a bankrupt. The appeal was dismissed by stipmistion on July 5, 1940.	F
mm =	Court	United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit.	United States Circuit, Court of Appeals, Second Circuit, United States Supreme Court.
. Roof of the control	Name of case	Securities and Exchange Commission, appellant, p. Credit Service, Incorporated, a Delaware corporation, debtor, appellee.	Securities and Exchange Commission, intervener, appellant, v. United States Realty and Improvement Company, debtor, appellee, United States Realty and Improvement Company, debtor, appellant, v. Securities and Exchange Commission, appellee.

Table XVI.—Cases under the Bankruptcy Act in which the commission was permitted to file briefs as amicus curiae during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

Nature and status of case	P	court of Ap- Appeals on Lancey 9 with the brief of the United States. Doubloiding the position urged in the brief of the United States. The Appeal by an objecting bondhoider from an order confirming a plan of reorganition. On Nov. 4, 1939, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed the order of the district court. On a rehearing to consider the effect of the decision in Case v. Los Angules Lumber Products Co., List, the Commission filed a brief, as amtrea curier urging that the plan did not meet the requirements of the full priority doctrine and was therefore unfair to the senior security holders of a solvent clobtor. On June 19, 1940, the court of appeals reversed the order of the lower court. Further rehearing was denied and the court for a writt of certificart.
Court	United States Supreme	United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit.
Name of case	Thomas K. Case and Adele B. Cowan, petitioners, p. Los Angeles Lumber Products Co., Ltd., a corporation, respondent.	In the matter of Consolidated Rock Products Co., a Delaware corporation, debtor: Union Rock Co., a corporation, subsidiary, and Consumers Rock & Gravel Co., Inc., a corporation, subsidiary. E. Blots DuBois, an objecting bond-holder of record to the Plan of Reorganization, appellant, Consolidated Rock Products Co. et al., appellees.

Table XVII.—Reorganization proceedings in which the Commission participated during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

			Petition-	lon—		Securities and Exchange
Debtor	District court	Proceedings instituted under—	Filed	Approved	Participation '	Commission notice of appearance filed
Allied Properties Co. (The) Buckeye Sheriff St. Realty Co. (The) American Fuel & Power Co. E. D. Ky Buckeye Gas Service Co. Garbent Go. Graph Co. G	N. D. Ohio. E. D. Ky. do do do do do	Oblo. Ch. X. Jan. 28, 1939 Mar. 13, 1939 Request. OKY. Go. 77-B Dec. 6, 1938 Nov. 28, 1939 do. OK. Y. Oblo. Ch. X. Si 1939 Nov. 28, 1939 do. Od. Ch. X. Oblo. Ch. X. Oblo. Ch. Ch. Ch. Ch. Ch. Ch. Ch. Ch. Ch. Ch	Jan. 26, 1939 Dec. 6, 1935 Nov. 28, 1939	Mar. 13, 1939 Mar. 9, 1939 Dec. 20, 1935 Nov. 28, 1939 do	Mar. 13, 1939 Request. Mar. 9, 1939 do. Dec. 20, 1935 do. Nov. 28, 1939 do. do. do. do. do.	
American Malting Co. American-National Co. (The)	E. D. Mich N. D. Obio	B. D. Mich	Apr. 6, 1940 June 4, 1940	Apr. 6, 1940 June 7, 1940	do	Apr. 11, 1940 June 12, 1940

, 1938), 1940), 1940	1, 1939 1, 1939	6041	9, 1939	i, 1939	1, 1939), 1939 (, 1939	1, 1938	, 1938	1, 1939		, 1940	3, 1939	5, 1938			2, 1939						~,		. —			3, 1940	_	
Dec. 22, 1 Mar 19, 1 Jan. 15, 1	May 2	, SO	July 16	Feb. 2	Feb. 2	Aug. 30 Mar. 14	Dec 14	Dec. 15	Sept 11	ñ	June 2	Sept. 2	Dec.	ŠÃ	Ğ,	June 2	Ã	ÄĚ	June 14	Nov.	Feb.	Mar. 2	Apr.	Dec. 28	Mar. 27	Mar. 22	May 3,	Apr.	ğĞ
Motion do	Request Motion	do	Request	do	Request	Motion.	Request	do	Motion	do.	Request	Motion	do	do	do	qo	op	op	do	Request	qo	op	Request	Motion	Request	Request	do	do	ap
5, 1938 1, 1940 10, 1940	16, 1938	19, 1938 19, 1938 11, 1937	15, 1939	31, 1936	7, 1939	$\frac{10,1939}{4.1935}$	3, 1938	16, 1938 16, 1938	19, 1939	1001	15, 1934	2, 1939	27, 1937			22 1037			19, 1934	30, 1939	6, 1939	14, 1938	10, 1939 21, 1938	8, 1937	20, 1939	11, 1939	26, 1940	11, 1938	
Dec. 5, 1938 Mar. 1, 1940 Jan. 10, 1940	Sept.	Jan.	June	ie i	Mar.	Aug. Sopt.	Oct	Dec.	Aug.	op G	Oct.	Sept.	Nov	op Go	đo	June	g	de	June	Dec.	Sept.	Dec.	Zen.	June	Mar	Dec.	Mar.	Apr.	
Dec. 5, 1938 Mar. 1, 1940 Jan. 10, 1940	15, 1938 20, 1939	11, 1937 19, 1938 11, 1937	14, 1939	30, 1936	13, 1940 14, 1939	2, 1939 4, 1935	21, 1938	30, 1938	10, 1939	2, 1001	9, 1934	10, 1934 20, 1939	27, 1937			29 1037		-	19, 1934	30, 1939	6, 1939 6, 1939	14, 1938	10, 1939 19, 1938	8, 1937	20, 1939	11, 1939	26, 1940 4, 1935	11, 1938	
Mar. Jan.	Sept.	J.F.D	June	Oct.	Feb.	Aug. Sept.	Sept.	Sept.	Aug.	ď	0 6 6	May.	Nov.	ğ	đ.	Tune	ğ	ð.	June	June	Sept.	Dec.	No.	June	Mar.	Dei	Mar.	Apr	, G
D. Mass. 8. D. Calif. 8. D. N. Y. do.	0. Wis																												do d
U.S.S.	E ≥ 2	4	SO F	ipi	<u> </u>	89°C	E	<u>.</u>	 	1	z	z	Ħ	-		۲	<u> </u>	-	z	≱r	10	<u>≱</u> 1	E F	z	¥. -	ďΕ	≱œ	isi	
Arcade Malleable Iron Co Arrowbead Lake Corporation Associated Gas & Electric Co.	A Associated was a meetin outpution. S Associated Owners, Inc. S Atlas Pleitine Corporation. S Athern A stransbill Corp.	S Auburn Automobile Sales Corporation Lyouring Mfg. Oo	Austin Silver Mining Co.	Bellevue-Stratford Co	Binnig Really Corporation Book-Cadillac Properties, Inc.	Brown Co. Brown Co.	Cadillac Square Improvement Co., Ltd	Chancery Lane Corporation	Colonial Iffilities Inc.	Colonial Utilities Corporation	Commonwealth Light & Power Co. (The)	Consolidated Press & Printing Co. (The)	Continental Public Service Co.	Interstate Public Service Co.	Central West Water & Power Co	Interstate Telephone Co	Cosgrove & Co., Inc.	Cosgrove-Meehan Coal Co. of Pennsylvania	Deep Rock Oll Corporation	Dermon (Dave) Developments, Inc.	Eastern Brewing Corporation (The)	Eau Claire Hotel Co	8309 Talbot Place Corporation	Euclid Doan Co.	Flour Mills of America, Inc.	Fulsia Corporation	Garland Manufacturing Co.	Griess-Pfleger Tanning Co. (Obio)	Griess-Fueger Tanning Co. of Massachusetts Griess-Pfleger Tanning Co. of Peabody

1 "Request" denotes participation at the request of the Judge; "motion" refers to participation upon approval by the Judge of the Commission's motion to participate.

The late of the la

=;

Tames and September 1 1 to 1

Table XVII.—Reorganization proceedings in which the Commission participated during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

1 ABLE AVII.—Reorganization proceedings in	water the commission	tion proceedings in which the Commission participated during the Jiscal year chard June 30, 1340—Commission	ring the Jisc	at year enu	u s une 50, 1540	nanimino
			Petition	— по		Securities and Exchange
Debtor	District court	Proceedings instituted under—	Filed	Approved	Participation 1	Commission notice of appearance filed
Hamilton Brown Shoe Co. Harrison Hotel Co. Harrison Hotel Co. Highee Co. (The) Highee Co. (The) Highes Co. (The) Indianapolis Athletic Club (The) Indianapolis Athletic Club (The) Indianapolis Athletic Club (The) Instrance Building Corporation Instrance Building Corporation Instrance Building Corporation Instrance Building Corporation Mount Galnes Mining Co. Kennore, Healty Co. Kennore, Healty Co. Kentocky Fuel Gas Corporation Kennore, Ho. Kentocky Fuel Gas Corporation Kings County Postal Building Co. La France Industries Pendicton Manufacturing Co. La Salle Petroleum Co. La Salle Petroleum Co. Majostic Radio & Television Corporation Mara Villa Radio & Television Corporation Martin Co. of Utica (Hotel) Martin Co. of Utica (Hotel) Martin United Wardel Management Co. Midland United Co. Midland United Co. Midland Uniting Co. Midland Uniting & Land Corporation Mortgage Guarantee Co. Druid Park Apartments Co. (The) Wyman Park Apartments Co. (The) Wyman Park Apartments Co. (The)	E. D. Mood of the control of the con	CD. X Sec. 73-13- CD. XC CD. X	Apr. 17, 1938 Aug. 2, 1935 Mar. 9, 1935 Mar. 9, 1935 Oct. 14, 1935 Oct. 14, 1935 June 3, 1938 Feb. 9, 1939 Feb. 9, 1939 Nov. 7, 1939 Nov. 6, 1939 July 24, 1936 Sept. 13, 1939 Nov. 6, 1939 Nov. 6, 1939 Nov. 6, 1939 Nov. 6, 1939 June 16, 1939 June 16, 1939 June 16, 1939 June 16, 1939 Dec. 8, 1939 June 16, 1939	Apr. 17, 1939 Aug. 21, 1939 Aug. 21, 1939 Oct., 6, 1935 Oct., 6, 1938 June 29, 1939 Feb., 1939 Feb., 1939 Feb., 1939 Feb., 1939 Feb., 1939 June 21, 1938 Nov. 1, 1935 Feb., 1939 June 21, 1938 Nov. 1, 1935 Feb., 1939 June 21, 1938 Aug. 22, 1938 Aug. 22, 1938 June 28, 1939 June 19, 1939	Request do do Motion Mo	Apr. 25, 1839 Jan. 17, 1839 Jan. 17, 1839 Jan. 17, 1839 Jan. 23, 1940 Av. 22, 1938 Mar. 28, 1839 Dec. 13, 1838 Aug. 7, 1839 Mar. 28, 1839 Mar. 8, 1939 Mar. 8, 1939 Mar. 8, 1939 Mar. 8, 1939 Jan. 19, 1939 Jan. 19, 1939 Dec. 6, 1938 June 24, 1939 May 23, 1939 Dec. 6, 1938 June 24, 1939 Dec. 6, 1938 June 24, 1939 Dec. 6, 1938 June 25, 1939 Dec. 6, 1938 June 26, 1938 June 27, 1939 Dec. 6, 1938 June 26, 1939 June 27, 1939 June 27, 1939 June 27, 1939 June 26, 1938 June 26, 1939 June 27, 1939

Mutual Cleanery Content Cont	Ch. X. Sec. 77-B. Sec. 60-60-60-60-60-60-60-60-60-60-60-60-60-6	Mar. 19, 1937 Mar. 19, 1938 Reb. 5, 1938 Sept. 7, 1938 Sept. 27, 1939 Sept. 27, 1939 Jan. 15, 1939 Jan. 16, 1938 Jan. 17, 1939 Jan. 18, 1939 Jan. 19, 1939 Jan. 1939	Mar. 11, 1339 Rob. 16, 1988 Fob. 26, 1988 Jap. 21, 1988 Doc. 29, 1987 Doc. 20, 1987 Doc. 30, 1987 Apr. 17, 1988 Fob. 26, 1989 May 10, 1988 June 21, 1989 June 21, 1988 New 11, 1988 May 10, 1988 June 21, 1988 June 21, 1988 Doc. 18, 1988 Doc. 19, 1988 June 21, 1988 Apr. 20, 1988	Request do do do do do Motion Request Motion Request do	A Preb. 27, 1 Preb	1939 1939 1939 1939 1939 1939 1939 1939
Jo. Inc. (The)	See 77-B See 77-B See 77-B Ch X	845152	29, 1938 5, 1938 11, 1938 31, 1939 7 13, 1939		Jan. Bar. B Nov. B Mar. It	1938 1938 1938 1938 1939

1 "Request" denotes participation at the request of the judge: "motion" refers to participation upon approval by the judge of the Commission's motion to participate.
2 Order approving petition also consolidated the proceedings with those involving Mortgage Guarantee Company and the Saratoga Building and Land Corporation.
3 Amended notice of appearance filed July 14, 1839.

Table XVII.—Reorganization proceedings in which the Commission participated during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

			Petition-	1 00		Securities
Debtor	District court	Proceedings instituted under—	Filed	Approved	Participation 1	Commission notice of appearance filed
Toledo Theatres & Realty Co. (The). Transcontinental Petroleum Corporation. Transportation Building Co. Transportation Building Co. Transportation Building Co. Oniversal Brick & Tile Co. Oniversal Brower & Mortgage Corporation. Van Sweringen Corporation. Van Sweringen Corporation. Vermont Lighting Corporation. Weiren Brothers Co. Weiser Apartments Co. Weiser Apartments Co. Weiser Apartments Co. Wittmone Plaza Corporation.	N. D. Optio. N. D. Optio. N. D. Tex. B. D. Call. B. D. Tex. B. D. N. Y. D. Ore. N. D. M. N. D. M. D. Mass. B. D. Mich. do. do. do. do.	Ch. X Sec. 77–B Ch. X do Sec. 77–B do do Ch. X Ch. X do Go do Go do Go do Go do Go do Go do Go do Go do Go do Go d	June 21, 1939 Nov. 18, 1937 Nov. 1, 1938 Feb. 1, 1940 June 14, 1940 Mar. 24, 1937 Jan. 4, 1937 Jan. 7, 1939 May 24, 1937 May 24, 1937 May 27, 1937	June 30, 1839 Nov. 18, 1837 Feb. 1, 1938 Feb. 1, 1940 June 14, 1940 Mar. 24, 1938 Sap. 1, 1937 Oct. 16, 1938 Feb. 1, 187, 1939 May 4, 1935 May 5, 1937 Request Motion Go Go Go Go Bedo Request Motion Go	Sept. 15, 1838 Nov. 7, 1838 Nov. 7, 1838 Apr. 18, 1940 June 17, 1940 Jan. 23, 1940 Jan. 23, 1940 Jan. 24, 1930 Jen. 9, 1839 Jan. 7, 1839 Doc. 6, 1938	

1"Request" denotes participation at the request of the judge; "motion" refers to participation upon approval by the judge of the Commission's motion to participate.

APPENDIX VII

LIST OF REGISTERED PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANIES, IN-CLUDING REGISTERED SUBHOLDING COMPANIES, AS OF JUNE 30, 1940

Inc.

American Gas and Electric Co.

American Gas and Power Co. American Light & Traction Co.

American Power and Light Co.

American Public Service Co.

American States Utilities Corpo- Citizens Utilities Co. ration.

American Utilities Service Corporation (Trustees).

American Utilities Service Corporation.

American Water Works and Electric Co., Inc.

Arkansas-Missouri Power Corporation.

Arkansas Natural Gas Corporation.

Associated Electric Co.

Associated Gas and Electric Co. (Voting Trustees).

Associated Gas and Electric Co. Associated Gas and Electric Cor-

poration.

Atlantic Seaboard Corporation.

Central and South West Utilities Co.

Central Arkansas Public Service Eastern Power Co. Corporation.

Central Public Utility Corpora- Eastern Utilities Associates. tion (Trustees).

Central Public Utility Corpora- Electric Bond and Share Co. tion.

Central States Edison, Inc.

American & Foreign Power Co., Central States Power & Light Corporation.

Central States Utilities Corpora-

Central U. S. Utilities Co.

Cities Service Power & Light Co.

Columbia Gas & Electric Corporation.

Commonwealth & Southern Corporation, The.

Commonwealth Light & Power Co. (Trustees).

Commonwealth Utilities Corporation.

Community Gas and Power Co.

Community Power and Light Co. Consolidated Electric and Gas Co.

Continental Gas & Electric Corporation.

Crescent Public Service Co.

Derby Gas & Electric Corporation.

Des Moines Electric Light Co.

East Coast Public Service Co.

Eastern Minnesota Power Corporation.

Eastern Shore Public Service Co.

East Tennessee Light & Power Co.

Electric Power & Light Corporation.

El Paso Electric Co. Engineers Public Service Co. Federal Light & Traction Co. Federal Water Service Corporation. Gary Electric and Gas Co. General Gas & Electric Corporation. General Public Utilities, Inc. City Granite Generating (Trustees). Great Lakes Utilities Co. (Trustees). Great Lakes Utilities Co. Illinois Iowa Power Co. Illinois Traction Co. (Trustee). International Hydro-Electric System (Trustees). International Hydro-Electric Sys- North West Utilities Co. International Utilities Corpora- Ogden Corporation. tion. Interstate Light & Power Co. Interstate Power Co. Co. Iowa Public Service Co. Kentucky Utilities Co. Lone Star Gas Corporation. Louisville Gas and Electric Co. (Del.). Middle West Corporation, The. Midland United Co. (Trustee). Midland Utilities Co. (Trustees). Minneapolis General Electric Co., The. Mission Oil Co., The. National Fuel Gas Co.

ration.

National Power & Light Co.

New England Gas and Electric Association. New England Power Association. New England Public Service Co. North American Co., The. North American Gas and Electric North American Light and Power General Water Gas & Electric Co. North Continent Utilities Corporation. Northeastern Water and Electric Corporation. Northeastern Water Companies, Northern Natural Gas Co. Northern New England Co. Inland Power & Light Corporation Northern States Power Co. (Del.). Northern States Power (Minn.). North Penn Gas Co. NY PA NJ Utilities Co. Pacific Power & Light Co. Pennsylvania Gas & Electric Corporation. Iowa-Nebraska Light and Power Pennsylvania Gas & Electric Co. Peoples Light and Power Co. (Trustees). Peoples Light and Power Co. Philadelphia Co. Philadelphia Electric Power Co. Pittsburgh and West Virginia Gas Co. Portland Electric Power Co. Portland General Electric Co. Potomac Edison Co., The. Public Gas and Coke Co. Republic Service Corporation. Sioux City Gas & Electric Co. National Gas and Electric Corpo- Southeastern Electric & Gas Co. Southern Natural Gas Co. Southern Union Gas Co.

Southwestern Development Co. Southwestern Public Service Co. Standard Gas and Electric Co.

Standard Power and Light Corpo- Utilities Stock & Bond Corpora-

ration (Trustees).

Standard Power and Light Corpo- Utility Operators Co. ration.

Susquehanna Utilities Co.

Toledo Light and Power Co.

Union Electric Co. of Missouri.

United American Co.

United Corporation, The.

United Gas Improvement Co., The.

United Light and Power Co., The. Washington Railway and Electric United Light and Railways Co.,

The.

United Public Service Corpora- West Penn Electric Co., The.

United Public Utilities Corpora- West Penn Railways Co. tion (Trustees).

United Public Utilities Corporation.

United Utilities, Inc.

United Utilities, Inc. (Trustees).

Utah Power & Light Co.

tion.

Utility Service Co.

Walnut Electric & Gas Corporation (Liquidating Trustee).

Walnut Electric & Gas Corporation.

Washington and Rockville Ry. Co. of Mont. County, The.

Washington Gas and Electric Co.

Co.

Western Public Service Co., The.

West Penn Power Co.

Wisconsin Securities Co. of Delaware.

LIST OF PENDING APPLICATIONS FOR EXEMPTION AS PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANIES, AS OF JUNE 30, 1940 2

Arizona Edison Co., Voting Trus- General Water Gas and Electric

Associated Utilities Corporation.

Atlas Corporation.

Blair & Co., Inc.

Cities Service Co.

Columbia Construction Co.

poration.

Commonwealth Edison Co.

Commonwealth Subsidiary Corpo- Peoples Gas Light and Coke Co. ration.

Eastern Gas & Fuel Associates.

Fairbanks Morse & Co.

Fuel Investment Associates.

Gas & Electric Associates.

General Electric Co.

International Utilities Corpora-

tion. Koppers Co.

Koppers United Co.

Marion Finance Co.

Columbia Oil and Gasoline Cor- Minnesota and Ontario Paper Co.

Pacific Gas and Electric Co.

Panhandle Eastern Pipe Line Co.

Public Service Company of Oklahoma.3

Standard Oil Co. (New Jersey).

Terrace Finance Co.

Utilities Investing Trust.

Virginia Public Service Co.3

¹ Under Section 2 (a) (7).

As of June 30, 1940, a total of 282 applications for exemption as a holding company had been filed, of which 109 had been granted, 12 had been denied, and 133 had been withdrawn:

^{*} Subsidiary holding companies of registered holding companies.

APPENDIX VIII

FORMAL OPINIONS AND REPORTS

Securities Act of 1933, as Amended.	
Consenting to Withdrawal of Registration Statement:	
In the Matter of—	
Illinois Zine Company	Feb. 19, 1940
FIXING EFFECTIVE DATE OF AMENDMENTS TO REGISTRATION, STAT	
In the Matter of—	
Pressed Metals of America, Inc	July 17, 1939
Stop Orders:	
In the Matter of—	
W. Wallace Alexander, Inc	Nov. 2, 1939
Callahan Zinc-Lead Company	
Consolidated Grain Corporation	
Finger Canadian Lumber Company, Ltd.	
Investment Corporation of North America	
MacDonald Mines Limited (N. P. L.)	
Metropolitan Personal Loan Corporation	
Potrero Sugar Company	
Reiter-Foster Oil Corporation	
The Republic Company	
U. S. Chromium, Inc.	
John W. Westbrook, Trustee	
Winnebago Distilling Company	
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended.	
DUULING DAUMANKE NEE OF 1907, 45 MINERALL.	
•	
Broker and Dealer:	
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of—	June 27 1940
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport	
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport_ Julian H. Bachrach Bankers Securities Company, Inc	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport Julian H. Bachrach—————————————————————————————————	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport Julian H. Bachrach Bankers Securities Company, Inc Bickford, Inc Commonwealth Stock & Bond Co	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport_ Julian H. Bachrach Bankers Securities Company, Inc Bickford, Inc Commonwealth Stock & Bond Co Stewart M. Devine	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939 Aug. 7, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939 Aug. 7, 1939 Do.
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939 Aug. 7, 1939 Do. July 10, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939 Do. July 10, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939 Do. July 10, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939 Do. July 10, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939
Broker and Dealer: In the Matter of— Roselle Benson Allport, doing business as R. B. Allport. Julian H. Bachrach	Dec. 11, 1939 Jan. 10, 1940 Oct. 6, 1939 June 24, 1940 Dec. 11, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Nov. 4, 1939 Do. July 10, 1939 Dec. 19, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 Aug. 2, 1939 June 27, 1940

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended—Continued.	
Broker and Dealer—Continued.	
In the Matter of—	
P. C. Remington & Son	Moss 99 1040
Ridge & Company	. IVISY 23, 1940
H. H. Stern	Apr. 29, 1940
Franklyn J. V. Stowitts	. Aug. 7, 1939
Thompson Dogs Sequentian Co	. Oct. 26, 1939
Thompson Ross Securities Co	
W H Totash	d June 8, 1940)
W. H. Totsch	. Dec. 11, 1939
Vossler & Vossler, Inc.	Dec. 18, 1939
Edward L. Webster, doing business as West States Invest ment Co	
Harold A. Wootton	June 27 1940
GRANTING APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION AS A NATIONAL	. ounc 21, 1010
SECURITIES ASSOCIATION:	•
In the Matter of—	
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.	Aug 7 1020
Report of the Commission:	Aug. 1, 1909
In the Matter of—	
Alleghany Corporation	Mos 1 1040
Unlisted Trading:	Mar. 1, 1940
In the Matter of—	
Boston Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted Trad-	, . T. 15 1000
ing Privileges in 22 Securities)	July 17, 1939
Chicago Rivet and Machine Company	May 15, 1940
Cincinnati Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted	
Trading Privileges in 6 Securities)	
Cleveland Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted	
Trading Privileges in 17 Securities)	
Detroit Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted Trad-	
ing Privileges in 13 Securities)	
Detroit Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted Trad-	
ing Privileges in 11 Securities)	
Los Angeles Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted	
Trading Privileges in 13 Securities)	
New York Curb Exchange (Applications for Unlisted	
Trading Privileges in 3 Securities)	
The Ohio Power Company	
Philadelphia Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted	
Trading Privileges in 4 Securities)	
Wheeling Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted	
Trading Privileges in Wheeling Steel Corporation)	July 7, 1939
Wheeling Stock Exchange (Applications for Unlisted	
Trading Privileges in 2 Securities)	Apr. 12, 1940
WITHDRAWAL FROM REGISTRATION AND STRIKING FROM LISTING:	
In the Matter of—	
Arrowhead Development Company	Apr. 11, 1940
Belmont Metals Corporation	
Bondholders Committee for the Republic of Colombia	•
Dollar Bonds	
Bullion Gold and Silver Mining Company	
Callahan Zinc-Lead Company	
	,

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended—Continued.			
WITHDRAWAL FROM REGISTRATION AND STRIKING FROM LISTING-	-Conti	nued	
In the Matter of—	COLU	mucu.	
The Calorizing Company	Feb.	14. 19	340
Capital City Products Company			
Central Cold Storage Company			
Erste Boehmische Glasindustrie, A. G. (First Bohemia	np	0, 10	, 10
Glass Works, Limited)		31, 19	39
Lehigh Valley Coal Company			
Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company			
The Lucky Tiger-Combination Gold Mining Company			
Missouri Pacific Railroad Company			
National Union Radio Corporation			
New York Stock Exchange (Application to Strike from	-		
Listing and Registration the stock of American Ex-			
press Company)		21, 19	39
New York Stock Exchange (Application to Strike from		•	
Listing and Registration the stock of Wells, Fargo			
and Company)		o.	
New York Stock Exchange (Application to Strike from			
Listing and Registration the stock of Colonial Beacon			
Oil Company)		22, 19	39
New York Stock Exchange (Application to Strike from		•	
Listing and Registration the stock of The Western			
Pacific Railroad Corporation)	Sept.	5, 19	39
New York Stock Exchange (Application to Strike from			
Listing and Registration the stock of Warren Brothers			
Company)	Mar.	13, 19	40
New York Stock Exchange (Application to Strike from			
Listing and Registration the stock of Connecticut			
Railway and Lighting Company)	June	3, 19	40
(Revised	June :	13, 194	10)
Northern California Goldfields, Inc	June	24, 19	40
Oshkosh B'Gosh, Inc	Mar.	8, 19	40
Simon Silver-Lead Mines, Inc	July	28, 19	39
Tom Reed Gold Mines Company			
Troxel Manufacturing Company			
United States Distributing Corporation			
Virginia Iron, Coal and Coke Company			
Wellington Mines, Limited, N. P. L.	Mar.	8, 19	40
Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935			
Acquisition of Securities, Assets, Business, or Other Intere	STS:		
In the Matter of—			
Amarillo Gas Company			
American Utilities Service Corporation	July	31, 19	39
Do			
Arkansas Natural Gas Corporation	Sept.	22, 19	39
Associated Gas and Electric Company, Associated Gas			
and Electric Corporation, NY PA NJ Utilities Com-			
pany, Associated Power Corporation, General Utility			
Investors Corporation	June	29, 19	39
Associated Utilities Corporation, Associated Investing			
Corporation	June	27, 19	40

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
Acquisition of Securities, Assets, Business, or Other Interests—Continued.			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
In the Matter of—			
Central and South West Utilities Company, Southwestern Gas and Electric Company		26,	1940
Central Indiana Power Company, Hugh M. Morris,			
Trustee of the Estate of Midland United Company	Feb.	23,	1940
Central States Edison, Inc., The Sedan Gas Company			
Central U. S. Utilities Company	June	21,	1940
Columbia Gas & Electric Corporation			
The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation			
The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation, Tennessee		-,	
Utilities Corporation		8.	1939
Consolidated Electric and Gas Company and J. B.		٠,	1000
Whitworth, J. C. M. Lucas and H. P. Lucas, a co-			
partnership trading as J. C. M. Lucas Co., and James			
Piper		۰	1090
Continental Gas & Electric Corporation	Dept.	19	1000
Cumberland County Power and Light Company Dresser Power Corporation, Public Service Company of		24,	1940
			1000
Indiana			
Eastern Shore Public Service Company (Del.) et al			
Ebasco Services Incorporated			
Electric Bond and Share Company			
Federal Water Service Corporation			
General Public Utilities, Inc	July	26,	1939
General Public Utilities, Inc. and Commonwealths Dis-			
tribution, Inc	Dec.	21,	1939
Great Northern Utilities Company	Mar.	8,	1940
Houston Natural Gas Corporation, Houston Natural			
Gas Company, Texas Natural Gas Utilities, Gulf Cities			
Natural Gas Company and Tex-Mex Natural Gas			
Company	May	23,	1940
International Utilities Corporation	June	3.	1940
International Utilities Corporation, General Water Gas			
& Electric Company	Aug.	24,	1939
International Utilities Corporation, General Water Gas	_	-	
& Electric Company, Securities Corporation General,			
American States Utilities Corporation, and Ralph Els-			
man, as Liquidating Trustee	July	12.	1939
Iowa Public Service Company, American Utilities Serv-	•	•	
ice Corporation	Dec.	26.	1939
Kentucky Utilities Company and Lexington Utilities			
Company	Dec.	1.	1939
Keystone Public Service Company	June		1940
The Middle West Corporation			
The Middle West Corporation and Central and South		,	
West Utilities Company	Aυσ	8.	1939
Milwaukee Gas Light Company, et al	July		
The Minneapolis General Electric Company and Subsidi-		- - ,	
aries	Sent	20	1930
National Power & Light Company			1939
New York State Electric & Gas Corporation			
Hem Tolk prace infectite & das Oorporanon-111111111		,	- 000

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
Acquisition of Securities, Assets, Business, or Other In-			
TERESTS—Continued.			
In the Matter of—			
The North American Company	Apr.	19,	1940
Northern Natural Gas Company			
Peoples Light Company	Jan.	5,	1940
Peoples Light and Power Company	Dec.	16,	1939
Peoples Natural Gas Company	Nov.	10,	1939
Petoskey Gas Company and American Utilities Service Corporation		21,	1939
The St. Louis County Gas Company, The North Ameri-			
can Company	May	21,	1940
Sioux Falls Gas Company, et al	Mar.	21,	1940
Stonewall Electric Company and Tucson Gas, Electric			
Light and Power Company	July	18,	1939
The United Light and Power Company, Fort Dodge Gas and Electric Company, Peoples Light Company,			
Peoples Power Company, Peoples Light and Power			
Company	June	20,	1940
Utilities Employees Securities Company	Aug.	17,	1939
Virginia Public Service Company	Dec.	20,	1939
Walnut Electric & Gas Corporation	Dec.	11,	1939
Walnut Electric & Gas Corporation and J. Leroy Under- hill	Mav	6.	1940
Washington Gas Light Company, Washington and		-,	
Suburban Companies		2,	1939
Washington and Suburban Company and The Sycamore		•	
Company		28,	1939
West Coast Power Company	May	28,	1940
Acquisition of Securities by the Issuer:	_		
In the Matter of—			
Charles True Adams, Trustee of the Estate of Utilities Power & Light Corporation, Debtor and Central States			
Power and Light Corporation	Aug.	29,	1939
Do			1939
American States Utilities Corporation	Jan.	8,	1940
Arkansas Louisiana Gas Company		22,	1939
Associated Utilities Corporation, Associated Investing			
Corporation	June	27,	1940
California Public Service Company and Peoples Light			
and Power Company			
The Dakota Power Company			
Federal Water Service Corporation			
Gas Utilities Company	July	31,	1939
General Water Gas & Electric Company	May	20,	1940
International Utilities Corporation, General Water Gas			
& Electric Company, Securities Corporation General, American States Utilities Corporation and Ralph			
Elsman, as Liquidating Trustee	July	12,	1939
The Kansas Power and Light Company, North American			
Light & Power Company	Apr.	13,	1940
The Marion-Reserve Power Company, and Utility Service			
Company			
Middle West Utilities Company of Canada, Ltd	Oct.	2,	1939

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
Acquisition of Securities by the Issuer—Continued.			
In the Matter of—			
National Gas & Electric Corporation	June	24.	1940
New York Power and Light Corporation	Aug.	29.	1939
North American Gas and Electric Company	June	26.	1940
Northern Indiana Power Company, Central Indiana		,	
Power Company	Feb.	23.	1940
Pennsylvania Power & Light Company and Lehigh Power		,	
Securities Corporation	Aug.	8.	1939
Peoples Light and Power Company	Sept.	28.	1939
Public Service Company of Colorado	Nov.	27,	1939
Do	Apr.	19,	1940
Standard Power and Light Corporation	June	27,	1940
The Toledo Edison Company	June	11,	1940
The United Light and Power Company	Apr.	12.	1940
United Public Utilities Corporation	May	9,	1940
West Penn Power Company			
Wisconsin Electric Power Company	Apr.	19,	1940
ALLOWANCE OF FEES, EXPENSES AND REMUNERATION:	-	·	
In the Matter of—			
American Gas and Power Company and Birmingham Gas			
Company	Aug.	30,	1939
Indiana & Michigan Electric Company, American Gas			
and Electric Company		14,	1940
Clarence A. Southerland and Jay Samuel Hartt, Trustees			
of the Estate of Midland Utilities Company	Nov.	16,	1939
DECLARING APPLICANT NOT TO BE A HOLDING COMPANY:			
In the Matter of—			
Franklin T. Griffith, J. C. Ainsworth and E. B. Mac-			
Naughton, Trustees under Declaration of Trust dated			
November 27, 1935 (Portland Electric Power Com-		_	
pany)	May	ı,	1940
DECLARING COMPANY TO BE A SUBSIDIARY COMPANY OF A SPECIFIED			
HOLDING COMPANY:			
In the Matter of—	A	4	1040
Manchester Gas CompanyShinn & Co., et al			
Dividend Declarations and Payments:	Way	20,	1940
In the Matter of—			
Associated Gas and Electric Corporation	Nov	20	1030
Do			
International Utilities Corporation			
Do	Oct.	13.	1939
Do			
Do			1940
Do			
Securities Corporation General			
Do	Nov.	2,	1939
Do			
The United Corporation			1939
United Fuel Gas Company, Cumberland and Allegheny			
Gas Company, Warfield Natural Gas Company, The			
Union Light, Heat and Power Company	Jan.	27.	1940

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
DIVIDEND DECLARATIONS AND PAYMENTS—Continued.			
In the Matter of—			
Washington and Suburban Companies	Sept.	21.	1939
Washington and Suburban Companies and The Syca-		•	
more Company	Dec.	28,	1939
Do			
EXEMPTIONS FROM PROVISIONS OF THE ACT:	•	•	
In the Matter of—			
Aluminum Company of America, Aluminum Ore Com-			
pany, Massena Securities Corporation and The St.			
Lawrence River Power Company	Aug.	8,	1939
American & Foreign Power Company, Inc			
H. M. Byllesby & Company and The Byllesby Corpora-			
tion	Jan.	15,	1940
Eastern Shore Public Service Company			
International Paper and Power Company	Nov.	28,	1939
Koppers United Company, The Brooklyn Union Gas			
Company, Koppers Company, Eastern Gas and Fuel			
Associates, Fuel Investment Associates, Brockton Gas			
Light Company	June	13,	1940
Monongahela West Penn Public Service Company	Aug.	24,	1939
The Ohio Oil Company	Oct.	10,	1939
Potomac Edison Company	Nov.	14,	1939
Public Service Company of Indiana	Nov.	29,	1939
Union Electric Company of Missouri	July	7,	1939
Washington Gas Light Company	Feb.	29,	1940
West Penn Power Company			
Wisconsin Securities Company	Apr.	12,	1940
Exemption of Security Transactions from Provisions of			
Section 6 (a) of the Act:			
In the Matter of—			
Charles True Adams, Trustee of the Estate of Utilities			
Power & Light Corporation, Indianapolis Power &			
Light Company, Ogden Corporation			
Do			
Braddock Light & Power Company, Incorporated			
Bradford Electric Company			
California Public Service Company			
Caribou Water, Light and Power Company			
Carolina Power & Light Company			
Central Illinois Light Company			
Central Maine Power Company			
Central Ohio Light & Power Company			
The Connecticut Light & Power Company			
The Dayton Power and Light Company			1940
Dresser Power Corporation			
Eastern Shore Public Service Company (Del.), et al			1940
Edison Sault Electric Company			
Indiana Service Corporation			
International Paper and Power Company			
The Kansas Power and Light Company	July	<i>2</i> 5,	1999
The Kansas Power and Light Company, North American	Anr	19	1040

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.

EXEMPTION OF SECURITY TRANSACTIONS FROM PROVISIONS OF SECT In

PITON OF DECORITI I RANSACTIONS FROM PROVISIONS OF	
TION 6 (a) OF THE ACT—Continued.	
n the Matter of—	
Keystone Public Service Company	June 7, 1940
Laclede Power & Light Company	May 22, 1940
The Litchfield Electric Light and Power Company	July 10, 1939
The Marion-Reserve Power Company and Utility Service	
Company	Feb. 14, 1940
Michigan Consolidated Gas Company, Dillon, Read &	
Company	Mar. 14, 1940
Milwaukee Gas Light Company, et al	July 14, 1939
The Minneapolis General Electric Company and Sub-	• ,
sidiaries	Sept. 29, 1939
New York Power and Light Corporation	Aug. 29, 1939
Do	Oct. 24, 1939
New Bedford Gas and Edison Light Company	
New York State Electric & Gas Corporation	
Do	
Northern Indiana Public Service Company	Dec. 13, 1939
Northwestern Electric Company	
Northwestern Wisconsin Electric Company	July 14, 1939
Owego Gas Corporation	
Pennsylvania Power & Light Company	Aug. 8, 1939
Petoskey Gas Company and American Utilities Service	
Corporation	July 21, 1939
Portland Gas & Coke Company	
Potomac Electric Power Company	
Public Service Company of Indiana	
South Carolina Electric & Gas Company, Southwestern	- 557 5, 2555
Electric & Gas Company	May 28, 1940
The St. Louis County Gas Company, The North American	
Company	May 21, 1940
Standard Power and Light Corporation=	
Tennessee Utilities Corporation	
Tidewater Electric Service Company	
The Toledo Edison Company	
Traction Light and Power Company, Central Indiana	
Power Company	Aug. 11, 1939
The United Light and Power Company, Fort Dodge Gas	
and Electric Company, Peoples Light Company, Peo-	
ples Power Company, Peoples Light and Power Com-	
pany	June 20, 1940
Virginia Public Service Generating Company	Dec. 20, 1939
Washington Gas Light Company, Washington & Sub-	_ 000 _0, _000
urban Companies	Aug. 2, 1939
West Penn Power Company	July 14, 1939
Wisconsin Electric Power Company	
Wisconsin Gas & Electric Company	July 18. 1939
Wisconsin Michigan Power Company	Dec. 4, 1939
Wisconsin Power and Light Company	June 8. 1940
H BOOMBIN TO HOL GIRG TIBUT COMPANY	,

SECOMITES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION			
Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
EXEMPTION OF ACQUISITION OF SECURITIES FROM PROVISIONS OF	•		
Section 9 (a) of the Act:			
In the Matter of—			
Trustees under Pension Trust Agreement dated December			
14, 1937, as Amended (A Subsidiary of Associated Gas			
& Electric Company)		6, 1	939
The North American Company, North American Light		•	
& Power Company	Jan.	26, 1	940
Public Service Company of Colorado	Apr.	19, 1	940
The Toledo Edison Company			
Utilities Employees Securities Company			
Issue and Sale of Securities:	•		
In the Matter of—			
Charles True Adams, Trustee of the Estate of Utilities			
Power & Light Corporation, Indianapolis Power &			
Light Company		21 1	940
American Gas and Electric Company			
American Utilities Service Corporation			
Arkansas Louisiana Gas Company			
Associated Utilities Corporation, Associated Investing	Sept.	, 1	200
Corporation		27 1	04N
California Public Service Company			
Central and South West Utilities Company, Southwestern		10, 1	
Gas and Electric Company		26 1	940
Central Power and Light Company			
Central States Edison, Inc., The Sedan Gas Company			
Columbia Corporation			
The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation, Tennessee		σ, 1	900
Utilities Corporation, The Tennessee Electric Power			
Company, Southern Tennessee Power Company.		Ω 1	030
Consumers Power Company			
Copper District Power Company			
The Dakota Power Company			
Eastern Shore Public Service Company (Del.) et al			
Edison Sault Electric Company	Aug	2, 1	940
Gas Utilities Company			
General Public Utilities, Inc., Commonwealths Distribu-		o1, 1	300
tion, Inc		91 1	030
Huntington Development and Gas Company, Columbia		21, 1	900
Gas & Electric Corporation		30 1	020
International Utilities Corporation, General Water Gas	mus.	00, 1	000
& Electric Company	A 110	24 1	030
Iowa-Nebraska Light and Power Company, Continental	Trab.	~ 1, 1	000
Gas & Electric Corporation	Tuly	12 1	030
Iowa Public Service Company			
Kansas Gas and Electric Company			
The Kansas Power Company			
The Kansas Power and Light Company, North American	o ury	10, 1	JTU
	Ann	12 1	0 <i>4</i> ∩
Light & Power Company Kentucky Utilities Company			
Do			
D0	ren.	<i>20</i> , 1	9±U

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.

Issue and Sale of Securities—Continued.
In the Matter of—

the Matter of—			
Lexington Utilities Company and Kentucky Utilities	;		
Company	- Dec.	20,	1939
Lone Star Gas Corporation	Sept.	15,	1939
Louisiana Ice & Electric Company, Inc.	Jan.	24,	1940
The Marion-Reserve Power Company and Utility Service	;		
Company			
Milwaukee Gas Light Company, et al	July	14,	1939
The Minneapolis General Electric Company and Sub-			
sidiaries		29,	1939
Minnesota Utilities Company and American Utilities			
Service Corporation			
Do			1939
Mountain States Power Company	Jan.	24,	
Nepsco Appliance Finance Corporation	Nov.	2,	1939
New Mexico Gas Company	Jan.	3,	1940
Niagara Hudson Power Corporation		13,	1939
The North American Company, North American Light	· <u> </u>	~~	
and Power Company	Jan.	26,	
Northern Natural Gas Company			1939
Ogden Corporation	June	29,	1940
The Ohio Fuel Gas Company	Aug.	30,	1939
Oklahoma Power and Water Company			
Do.		ı,	1940
Pennsylvania Power & Light Company, National Power			1000
& Light Company			1939
Peoples Light and Power Company	July	31,	1939
Peoples Natural Gas Company, Argus Natural Gas Com-		90	1000
pany, Inc.	NOV.	20,	1999
Philadelphia Company	Jan.	ა∪,	1020
Do			
Public Service Company of Oklahoma			
San Antonio Public Service Company			
Securities Corporation General			
Southeastern Investing Corporation			
Southern Natural Gas Company			
Southwestern Development Company, Amarillo Gas		00,	1000
Company, West Texas Gas Company.		13	1939
Southwestern Gas and Electric Company			
Southwestern Light & Power Company	Dec.	,	
Stonewall Electric Company and Tucson Gas, Electric		_0,	
Light and Power Company	July	18.	1939
The United Light and Power Company, Fort Dodge Gas		,	
and Electric Company, Peoples Light Company, Peoples			
Power Company, Peoples Light and Power Company	June	20.	1940
Washington Railway and Electric Company	June	27 , :	1940
West Coast Power Company	June	10.	1940
West Penn Power Company	July	14,	1939
Do	Apr.	9,	1940
	•	•	

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
ISSUE AND SALE OF SECURITIES—Continued.			
In the Matter of—			
Western States Utilities Company	Aug.	30.	1939
Wisconsin Electric Power Company			
Wisconsin Electric Power Company, The North American		-,	
Company		19.	1940
Wisconsin Gas & Electric Company			
Wisconsin Michigan Power Company			
LOANS, EXTENSIONS OF CREDIT, DONATIONS AND CAPITAL CON-		_,	
TRIBUTIONS TO ASSOCIATE COMPANIES:			
In the Matter of—			
Central States Edison, Inc., The Sedan Gas Company	Mav	17.	1940
Kentucky Utilities Company			
The Marion-Reserve Power Company and Utility Service		,	-0.20
Company		14	1940
South Carolina Electric & Gas Company, Southeastern	1 00.	,	1010
Electric & Gas Company	May	28	1040
Southeastern Electric and Gas Company			
PAYMENT OF FEES TO ASSOCIATES AND AFFILIATES, IN CONNECTION	FCD.	20,	1010
with an Acquisition or Sale of Securities:			
In the Matter of—			
Halsey, Stuart & Company, Inc.	A 110	20	1090
Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated, Bonbright & Com-	Aug.	30,	1909
pany, Incorporated	Doo	90	1090
REORGANIZATION AND RECAPITALIZATION PLANS:	Dec.	40,	1999
In the Matter of—			
Community Power and Light Company	Morr	10	1020
East Tennessee Light & Power Company and Tennessee		21,	1999
			1040
Eastern Electric Company	_		1940
Do	4	Do.	
Inland Power & Light Corporation, and Commonwealth			1010
Light & Power Company			
Mountain States Power Company			
Do	Jan.	24,	1940
William W. Battles, Chairman, Francis M. Brooke, and			
Francis Braun, Reorganization Committee for Security	_		
Holders of National Public Utilities Corporation	Aug.	4,	1939
William W. Battles, Chairman, Francis M. Brooke, and			
Francis Braun, Reorganization Committee for Security			
Holders of National Public Utilities Corporation, Caleb			
S. Layton and W. Findlay Downs, Trustees of National	_	_	
Public Utilities Corporation		Do.	
Utilities Power & Light Corporation, Utilities Power &			
Light Corporation and Charles True Adams			
Utilities Power & Light Corporation	Oct.	30,	1939

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.	
SALE OF PUBLIC UTILITY SECURITIES AND UTILITY ASSETS BY	
REGISTERED HOLDING COMPANIES:	
In the Matter of—	
Charles True Adams, Trustee of the Estate of Utilities	
Power & Light Corporation	Mar. 21 1040
Charles True Adams, Trustee of the Estate of Utilities	May 31, 1940
Power & Light Corporation, Indianapolis Power &	
Tight Common Order Commention	4 0 1040
Light Company, Ogden Corporation	Apr. 2, 1940
American Utilities Service Corporation	July 31, 1939
Do	
Do	June 26, 1940
Associated Gas and Electric Company, Associated Gas	
and Electric Corporation, NY PA NJ Utilities Com-	
pany, Associated Power Corporation, General Utility	_
Investors Corporation	June 29, 1939
The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation	Aug. 8, 1939
Consolidated Electric and Gas Company, J. B. Whit-	
worth, J. C. M. Lucas, and H. P. Lucas, a co-partner-	
ship trading as J. C. M. Lucas Co., and James Piper	Sept. 8, 1939
Leonard S. Florsheim, Trustee of Inland Power and Light	
Corporation	
General Public Utilities, Inc	July 26, 1939
Houston Natural Gas Corporation, Houston Natural Gas	
Company, Texas Natural Gas Utilities, Gulf Cities	
Natural Gas Company, and Tex-Mex Natural Gas	
Company	May 23, 1940
International Utilities Corporation, General Water Gas	
& Electric Company, Securities Corporation General,	
American States Utilities Corporation, and Ralph	
Elsman, as Liquidating Trustee	July 12, 1939
Iowa Public Service Company and American	
Utilities Service Corporation	Dec. 26, 1939
The Kansas Power and Light Company, North Ameri-	
can Light & Power Company	Apr. 13, 1940
The Marion-Reserve Power Company and Utility Service	
Company	Feb. 14, 1940
The Middle West Corporation	Apr. 26, 1940
Do	June 26, 1940
The Minneapolis General Electric Company and Sub-	•
sidiaries	Sept. 29, 1939
Minnesota Utilities Company and American Utilities	- '
Service Corporation	July 21, 1939
Do	Dec. 1. 1939
National Power & Light Company and Lehigh Power	. ,
Securities Corporation	Aug. 8, 1939
New England Power Association	Mar. 21, 1940
TIEM THERETON TOUCH TOROGRAMON TITLETTE TO THE TANK THE T	

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
SALE OF PUBLIC UTILITY SECURITIES AND UTILITY ASSETS TO			
Associate Companies or Affiliates—Continued.			
In the Matter of—			
The North American Company	Apr.	19.	1940
North American Gas and Electric Company			
Northern Indiana Power Company, Central Indiana		-0,	-010
Power Company, Hugh M. Morris, Sole Surviving			
Trustee of the Estate of Midland United Company		92	1040
Northern Natural Gas Company			
NY PA NJ Utilities Company	Dec.	29,	1909
Peoples Light and Power Company			
Do		16,	1939
Petoskey Gas Company and American Utilities Service			
Corporation	July	21,	1939
Public Service Company of Indiana, Midland United			
Company			
Sioux Falls Gas Company, et al	Mar.	21,	1940
Southwestern Development Company, West Texas Gas			
Company, Amarillo Gas Company	Sept.	13,	1939
The United Light and Power Company, The United	_	•	
Light and Railways Company, and Federal Water			
Service Corporation	Jan.	17.	1940
Washington Gas Light Company, Washington and	·	,	
Suburban Companies	A 11 or	2	1030
Washington and Suburban Companies and The Syca-	ug.	٠,	1000
more Company	Dog	20	1020
Walnut Electric & Gas Corporation			
Do	May	ο,	1940
SALE OF PUBLIC UTILITY SECURITIES AND UTILITY ASSETS TO			
Associate Companies or Affiliates:			
In the Matter of—			
Arkansas Louisiana Gas Company and Arkansas Natural			
Gas Corporation	Sept.	22,	1939
Associated Utilities Corporation, Associated Investing			
Corporation	June	27,	1940
The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation, Tennessee			
Utilities Corporation, The Tennessee Electric Power			
Company, Southern Tennessee Power Company	Aug.	8,	1939
Dresser Power Corporation, Public Service Company of			
Indiana, Midland United Company	Oct.	14.	1939
International Utilities Corporation, General Water Gas		•	
& Electric Company, Securities Corporation General,			
American States Utilities Corporation and Ralph			
Elsman, as Liquidating Trustee	July	12.	1939
Lexington Utilities Company			
The Marion-Reserve Power Company and Utility Service	200.	٠, .	
Company	Feb	14	1040
Оошрану	T.CD.	-7,	1010

			010
Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.			
SALE OF PUBLIC UTILITY SECURITIES AND UTILITY ASSETS BY			
REGISTERED HOLDING COMPANIES—Continued.			
In the Matter of—			
Milwaukee Gas Light Company, et al	July	14.	1939
The Minneapolis General Electric Company and Sub-		- - ,	1000
sidiaries		29.	1939
National Power & Light Company and Lehigh Power		-0,	1000
Securities Corporation	Aug.	8.	1939
Northern Indiana Power Company, Central Indiana		٠,	
Power Company, Hugh M. Morris, Sole Surviving	•		
Trustee of the Estate of Midland United Company		23,	1940
Northern Indiana Public Service Company			
Northern Indiana Public Service Company, Northern		•	
Indiana Power Company	June	18,	1940
Peoples Light and Power Company			
Public Service Company of Colorado			
Sioux Falls Gas Company, et al	Mar.	21,	1940
Stonewall Electric Company and Tucson Gas, Electric			
Light and Power Company	July	18,	1939
Tidewater Electric Service Company		15,	1939
Traction Light and Power Company, Central Indiana			
Power Company		11,	1939
The United Light and Power Company, The United Light			
and Railways Company, and Federal Water Service			
Corporation	Jan.	17,	1940
Virginia Public Service Company, Virginia Public Service			
Generating Company	Dec.	20,	1939
SIMPLIFICATION OF HOLDING COMPANY SYSTEMS, PURSUANT TO			
Section 11 (b):			
In the Matter of—			
The Commonwealth & Southern Corporation and its	_		
Subsidiary Companies	June	1,	1940
Electric Bond and Share Company and its Subsidiary		10 .	
Companies			
Do			
Do	June	7, 1	1940
Electric Bond and Share Company, American Power and			
Light Company, Pacific Power & Light Company, Electric Power & Light Corporation, Utah Power &			
Light Company, National Power & Light Company,			
American & Foreign Power Company, Inc., Ebasco			
Services, Incorporated	June	7 1	940
Engineers Public Service Company and its Subsidiary	Juno	•,	
Companies	June	1 1	1940
The United Gas Improvement Company	May	23. 1	
The United das improvement Company 1211111111		_0, 1	

Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935—Continued.	
Solicitation of Authorization in Connection With Re-	
ORGANIZATIONS:	
In the Matter of—	
William W. Battles, Chairman, Francis M. Brooke, and	
Francis Braun, Reorganization Committee for Security	
Holders of National Public Utilities Corporation.	
Caleb S. Layton and W. Findlay Downs, Trustees of	
National Public Utilities Corporation	
Community Power and Light Company	
East Tennessee Light & Power Company and Tennessee	
Eastern Electric Company	Mar. 4, 1940
Utilities Power & Light Corporation	Oct. 30, 1939
Utilities Power & Light Corporation, Utilities Power &	
Light Corporation and Charles True Adams	
SUBSIDIARY SERVICE COMPANY:	•
In the Matter of—	
Equitable Auto Company	July 29, 1939
Northeastern Water & Electric Service Corporation	Dec. 29, 1939
Southern Union Service Company	July 10, 1939
Subsidiary Service Corporation	
Uniform System of Accounts:	
In the Matter of—	
North American Gas and Electric Company	Dec. 11, 1939
Bankruptcy Act, as Amended.	
Advisory Reports on Plans of Reorganization:	
In the Matter of—	
Deep Rock Oil Corporation	Apr. 27, 1940
Do	
Flour Mills of America, Inc	Apr. 1, 1940
La France Industries, Debtor, Pendleton Manufacturing	
Company, Subsidiary Debtor	Sept. 1, 1939
Do	
Minnesota and Ontario Paper Company	
Penn Timber Company	Apr. 26, 1940
Porto Rican American Tobacco Co	
Reynolds Investing Company, Inc	Jan. 25, 1940
Do	Apr. 5, 1940
San Francisco Bay Toll-Bridge Company	Feb. 19, 1940
Do	June 24, 1940
Trust Indenture Act of 1939.	
EXEMPTIONS FROM PROVISIONS OF THE ACT:	
In the Matter of—	
Hugo Stinnes Corporation, Hamburger Hof, A. G., and	
Nassauer Hof, A. G	June 29, 1940
REFUSAL ORDER:	
In the Matter of—	
Hugo Stinnes Corporation, Hamburger Hof, A. G., and	_
Nassauer Hof, A. G.	Do.

APPENDIX IX

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF REORGANIZATION PROCEEDINGS INSTI-TUTED UNDER CHAPTER X OF THE BANKRUPTCY ACT, AS AMENDED, DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1940

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940, 291 companies entered into reorganization proceedings under Chapter X of the Bankruptcy Act, as amended. These companies showed aggregate assets of approximately \$985,000,000 (book value) and a corresponding indebtedness of \$528,000,000.¹ A considerable part of the totals for assets and indebtedness was accounted for by the Associated Gas and Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas and Electric Corporation, which in January 1940 filed debtors' petitions for reorganization under Chapter X. The two companies had combined assets somewhat in excess of \$800,000,000, and a combined indebtedness of slightly over \$400,000,000. In the tables which follow, percentages are given for distributions with the two companies excluded, as well as for distributions including them.

Industrial Classification.

Manufacturing, real estate, and merchandising companies were the most numerous, accounting for 109, 56, and 41, respectively. The inclusion of Associated Gas and Electric Company and its subsidiary in the electric light, power, and gas group gave this category the lead in assets and indebtedness. However, with the exclusion of these two companies, manufacturing companies led with \$61,800,000, or 34 percent of the aggregate assets, and with \$39,400,000, or 32 percent of the combined indebtedness of all companies, while real estate companies 2 showed corresponding figures of \$36,200,000, or 20 percent and \$27,800,000, or 22 percent.

Geographical Distribution.

The aforementioned two utility companies had both their principal place of business and their principal assets in New York.³ In addition, the assets of the other 37 companies with their principal assets in New

¹ The figures for assets and indebtedness in almost all cases were taken from balance sheets, schedules, and allegations found in the petitions and other documents filed in reorganization proceedings. Estimates were made of the assets of 17 companies and the indebtedness of 5 companies, figures for which were not available from these sources.

³ In this classification, real estate companies include, among others, companies owning apartment houses, hotel buildings, and office buildings.

^{*} Section 128 under Chapter X permits a petition to be filed in the Federal district court in whose territorial jurisdiction the company has either its principal place of business or its principal assets.

York amounted to approximately \$59,000,000, while the other 39 companies with their principal place of business in New York showed aggregate assets of a like amount and indebtedness of \$38,000,000. Each of these figures is appreciably larger than the corresponding one for any other State.

The Federal District Court for the Northern District of Illinois and the Federal District Court for the Southern District of New York took jurisdiction over 24 cases each. The 22 petitions filed in the Southern District of New York, other than those of the two utility companies previously noted, involved combined assets of approximately \$51,000,000 and indebtedness of \$33,000,000, well above the assets and indebtedness shown for any other district. Other districts with a substantial number of cases were the District of Massachusetts with 17, the District of New Jersey with 15, and the Southern District of California with 14.

Amount of Indebtedness.

Of the total of 289 cases remaining after the exclusion of the 2 utility companies, 229 of the companies had indebtedness of less than \$250,000,4 but accounted for only 17 percent of the indebtedness of all the companies. Another 29 percent of the indebtedness was accounted for by the 50 companies with indebtedness of at least \$250,000 but less than \$3,000,000. The remaining 10 companies had an indebtedness of at least \$3,000,000 each.⁵ Their aggregate indebtedness accounted for 54 percent of the total.

Type of Petition.

Proceedings for the reorganization of 258 of the total of 291 companies were instituted by the petition of the debtor corporation. These companies showed aggregate assets of \$949,000,000 and indebtedness of \$504,000,000. An additional 27 companies, whose combined assets and indebtedness amounted to \$30,000,000 and \$20,000,000, respectively, were brought into reorganization proceedings by means of creditors' petitions. Petitions filed by indenture trustees commenced reorganization proceedings for the remaining six companies, whose assets totaled \$5,000,000 and indebtedness \$4,000,000.

[•] Section 156 under Chapter X provides that in all cases involving indebtedness of \$250,000 or over, disinterested trustees shall be appointed to perform certain functions set out in the statute. In cases involving indebtedness of less than \$250,000, the court may continue the debtor company in possession or appoint trustees.

⁴ Section 172 under Chapter X provides that in all cases involving indebtedness of more than \$3,000,000, the proposed plans of reorganization deemed worthy of consideration by the judge shall be submitted to the Commission for advisory reports, whereas in the remaining cases, proposed plans of reorganization may be, but are not required to be, submitted to the Commission for such reports.

Table 1.—Distribution of cases by type of industry—Total assets and total indebtedness of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

	Num-		Total ass	ets	Tota	indebte	indebtedness	
Industry	ber of com- panies	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Per- cent of grand total	Percent of ad- justed total 1	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Per- cent of grand total	Percent of ad- justed total 1	
Agriculture Mining and other extractive Manufacturing Financial and investment Merchandising Real estate Construction and allied Transportation and communication Service Electric light, power, and gas Charitable, religious, etc	109 4 41 56 7 10 31 6	1, 095 22, 694 61, 778 25, 061 6, 578 36, 158 1, 003 13, 920 5, 675 809, 681 1, 145	0 11 2 30 6 27 2 55 0 67 3 67 0 10 1 41 0 58 82 22 0 12	0 61 12.57 34.23 13.89 3.65 20 04 0.56 7 71 3 14 2 97 0 63	989 7, 923 39, 366 18, 927 4, 633 27, 810 825 13, 326 3, 000 409, 971 1, 162	0 19 1 50 7. 46 3 58 0 88 5. 27 0 16 2 52 0 57 77. 65 0 22	0. 80 6. 39 31. 77 15 27 3 74 22. 44 0 66 10. 75 2 42 4. 82 0. 94	
Grand total	291	984, 788	100 00	100 00	527,932	100 00	100 00	

¹ Adjusted to exclude Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas & Electric Corporation.

Table 2.—Geographical distribution of cases in accordance with location of principal assets—Total assets of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

		Total assets 1				
State or territorial possession	Number of com- panies	Amount (thousands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of adjusted total 2		
Alabama	2	298	0 03	0 17		
Arizona	ī	298	0.03	Ŏ. 17		
California	24	13, 394	1.36	7. 42		
Colorado	1	1,079	0 11	0.60		
Connecticut	6	1,711	0.17	0. 95		
Delaware	1	390	0 04	0. 22		
District of Columbia	2	108	0.01	0 06		
Florida	4	576	0.06	0. 32		
Georgia	4	870	0.09	0.48		
Idaho	2	112	0 01	0.06		
Illinois	33	6, 351	0.64	3. 52		
Indiana	3	584	0.06	0.32		
Kansas	2	733	0.07	0. 41		
Kentucky	5	1, 447	0. 15	0.80		
Louisiana	3	5, 409	0 55	3.00		
Maine	1 5	30	(3)	0.02		
Maryland	17	24, 225 4, 087	2 46 0 42	13, 42		
Massachusetts	16	2, 151	0 22	2, 26 1, 19		
Michigan	4	1, 143	0.12	0.63		
Minnesota Mississippi	2	357	0.12	0.03		
Miccouri	17	4. 713	0.48	0. 20 2. 61		
Missouri Montana	_ 'il	7, 531	0.76	4. 17		
Nebraska	i 1	49	(3)	0.03		
New Hampshire	3	391	0.04	0.03		
New Jersey	14	3, 108	0.32	1. 72		
New York	39	863, 111	87. 65	32.57		
North Carolina	4	556	0 06	0. 31		
Ohio	13	2, 845	0.29	1.58		
Oklahoma	3	9, 076	0. 92	5. 03		
Oregon	2	196	0.02	0 11		
Pennsylvania	27	15, 392	1.56	8. 53		
Rhode Island	2	42	(3)	0.02		
Tennessee	4	952	0.10	0. 53		

¹ In most cases the total assets of the companies were located in 1 State. In a small number of cases the assets of the companies were distributed among more than 1 State. The figures in this table include the total amount of the assets (not merely the amount of principal assets) of each individual company in the figures for the State in which its principal assets were located.

² Adjusted to exclude Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary.

Corporation.
Less than 0 005 percent.

Table 2.—Geographical distribution of cases in accordance with location of principal assets—Total assets of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

	Number of	Total assets ¹			
State or territorial possession	Number of com- panies	Amount (thousands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of adjusted total 2	
Texas Vermont Virginia Visconsin Puerto Rico Foreign	10 1 1 1 3 13 13 1	3, 742 92 526 71 1, 896 4, 608 31 507	0.38 0.01 0.05 0.01 0 19 0.47 (3)	2. 07 0. 05 0. 29 0. 04 1 05 2. 55 0. 02 0. 28	
Grand total	291	984, 788	100.00	100.00	

See footnotes on p. 349.

Table 3.—Geographical distribution of cases in accordance with location of principal place of business—Total assets and total indebtedness of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

		,	Total asset:	S	Total indebtedness			
State or territorial possession	Number of com- panies	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of ad- justed total 1	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of ad- justed total ¹	
Alabama Arizona Connecticut California Connecticut Delaware District of Columbia Florida Georgia Idaho Illinois Indiana Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maine Maryland Massachusetts Michigan Michigan Michigan Michigan Michigan Misnissippi Missouri Nebraska New Hampshire New Jersey North Carolina Ohio Ohio Oklahoma Oregon Pennsylvania Rhode Island Tennessee Tennessee Ternessee Vermont Verginia	14 3 1 5 7 8 5 2 17 1 3 15 14 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	298 298 13, 464 1, 711 390 173 576 870 37 6, 351 684 684 69 1, 382 5, 409 24, 225 4, 087 2, 151 2, 222 357 4, 713 391 3, 556 480 3, 556 480 3, 556 480 3, 556 480 3, 556 480 3, 556 480 480 480 480 480 480 480 480 480 480	0.03 0.03 1.37 0.17 0.04 0.09 0.09 0.06 0.07 0.14 0.55 2.46 0.22 0.22 0.23 0.04 0.48 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04	0. 17 7. 46 0. 95 0. 22 0. 10 0. 32 0. 32	441 187 12, 287 419 413 10 5, 414 413 10 5, 414 372 238 3, 349 24, 355 24, 255 28, 288 944 944 24, 207 293 3, 349 24, 24, 207 293 3, 349 24, 207 295 3, 349 295 3, 349 3, 349 3	0.08 0.04 2.33 0.44 0.02 0.04 0.08 0.08 0.07 0.05 0.42 0.42 0.04 0.18 0.05 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05	0.31 0.11 0.99 1.88 0.11 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.01 1.90 1.90 0.22 0.23 0.24 0.25 0.22 0.23 0.24 0.33 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.0	
Virginia	1 3 3 13	526 7, 677 1, 896 4, 608 31	0. 05 0. 78 0. 19 0. 47 (2)	0. 29 4. 25 1. 05 2. 55 0 02	237 321 1, 504 2, 485 67	0. 04 0. 08 0. 26 0. 47 0. 01	0. 19 0. 20 1. 21 2. 01 0. 05	
Grand total	291	984, 788	100.00	100.00	527, 932	100.00	100 00	

¹ Adjusted to exclude Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas & Electric Corporation.

Less than 0.005 percent.

Table 4.—Distribution of cases by Federal judicial districts—Total assets and total indebtedness of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

		_					
			Total asset	s	То	al ındebte	dness
Judicial district	Number of com- panies	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of adjusted total ¹	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of adjusted total ¹
Alabama: Northern	2	298	0. 03	0 17	441	0. 08	0. 36
	1	298	0. 03	0.17	187	0. 04	0. 15
Northern Southern Connecticut Delaware District of Columbia Florida: Southern Georgia:	11 14 6 5 4 4	6, 397 1, 711	0. 72 0. 65 0. 17 0. 15 0. 71 0. 06	3. 54	9, 181 3, 106 2, 299 1, 206 6, 561 419	1. 74 0. 59 0 44 0 23 1. 24 0 08	7. 41 2. 51 1. 85 0. 97 5. 29 0 34
Northern "" Southern Middle Illinois:	1	728	0 07	0. 40	226	0. 04	0. 18
	1	23	(²)	0. 01	51	0. 01	0. 04
	2	119	0.01	0. 07	136	0. 03	0. 11
Northern Eastern Southern Indiana: Southern Kansas Kentucky: Western	24 7 2 3 1 3	4, 663 1, 480 208 584 687 520	0.47 0.15 0 02 0 06 0.07 0 05		3, 954 1, 157 303 372 162 214	0. 75 0. 22 0. 06 0. 07 0. 03 0. 04	3. 19 0. 93 0. 24 0. 30 0. 13 0. 17
Eastern Western Maine """" Maryland Massachusetts Muchigan	1	54	0. 01	0. 03	58	0 01	0, 05
	2	5, 355	0. 54	2. 97	3, 291	0.62	2, 66
	1	30	(²)	0. 02	23	(²)	0 02
	4	17, 384	1. 77	9. 63	16, 025	3.03	12, 93
	17	4, 087	0. 42	2 26	2, 435	0 46	1, 96
Eastern	5	1, 561	0. 16	0 86	1, 632	0. 31	1, 32
Western	3	590	0. 06	0.33	456	0. 09	0, 37
Minnesota ""	5	2, 222	0 23	1.23	944	0. 18	0, 76
Mississippi: Northern	1	206	0 02	0, 11	146	0. 03	0 12
	1	151	0 02	0, 08	143	0. 03	0.12
Missouri: Eastern	9 9 1 3 15	3, 756 994 49 391 3, 154	0 38 0. 10 (3) 0 04 0 32	0. 55 0. 03 0. 22	1, 757 1, 402 33 242 1, 511	0. 33 0. 26 0 01 0. 05 0. 29	1. 42 1, 13 0. 03 0. 20 1, 22
Northern Eastern Southern Western North Carolina	3 11 3 24 3	2, 964 5, 199 855, 098 247	0.30 0 53 86 84 0 03	28 13	1, 560 3, 400 436, 922 325	0. 29 0. 64 82 76 0 06	1, 26 2, 74 26, 57 0, 26
Eastern	1	298	0 03	0. 17	133	0.03	0 11
Western	2	220	0 02	0. 12	138	0.03	0.11
Middle	1	38	(²)	0. 02	22	(²)	0 02
Ohio: NorthernSouthernOklahoma;	9	2, 685	0 27	1. 49	2, 101	0. 40	1.70
	3	642	0 07	0 36	498	0. 09	0 40
Northern	2	941	0 10	0 52	605	0. 11	0 49
Western	1	8, 135	0 83	4.51	4,715	0. 89	3 80
Oregon	2	480	0 05	0.27	444	0 08	0 36
Pennsylvania: Eastern	7	764	0 08	0. 42	508	0. 10	0. 41
	13	11, 057	1 12	6 13	8, 059	1. 53	6. 50
	5	3, 174	0 32	1 76	1, 380	0. 26	1. 11
	2	42	(²)	0 02	25	(2)	0. 02
Tennessee: Eastern Middle Texas:	1	104	0.01	0 06	93	0. 02	0. 08
	3	848	0 09	0 47	316	0. 06	0. 25
Northern Eastern Southern Western West	4 2 2 1					0. 19 0 06 0. 07 0. 17	

Adjusted to exclude Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas & Electric

AGUSTON DESCRIPTION AND ACCOUNTS AGUSTON ACCOUNTS AGUSTON AGUS

Table 4.—Distribution of cases by Federal judicial districts—Total assets and total indebtedness of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940—Continued

		,	Total asset	s	To	tal indebtedness	
Judicial district	Number of com- panies	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of adjusted total 1	Amount (thou- sands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of adjusted total 1
Vermont	1 1	92 526	0 01 0 05	0.05 0 29	82 237	0. 02 0. 04	0. 07 0. 19
Eastern	1 2	75 7, 602	0. 01 0. 77	0.04 4.21	30 291	0. 01 0. 06	0 02 0. 23
Northern Southern Wisconsin:	1 1	849 806	0 09 0.08	0. 47 0. 45	305 517	0. 06 0. 10	0. 25 0. 42
Western Western Puerto Rico	12 1	4, 519 89 31	0. 46 0 01 (²)	2. 50 0. 05 0. 02	2, 424 61 67	0. 46 0. 01 0. 01	1. 96 0 05 0. 05
Grand total	291	984, 788	100.00	100 00	527, 932	100 00	100.00

¹ Adjusted to exclude Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas & Electric Corporation.

¹ Less than 0.005 percent.

Table 5.—Distribution of cases by amount of individual indebtedness—Total indebtedness of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

		Total indebtedness				
Amount of individual indebtedness in dollars	Number of companies	Amount (thousands of dollars)	Percent of grand total	Percent of adjusted total 1		
Less than 10,000	46 58 85 22 16 12	72 499 1, 708 4, 401 13, 906 7, 963 11, 446 16, 491	0. 01 0. 09 0. 32 0. 83 2. 64 1. 51 2. 17 3. 12	0.06 0.40 1.38 3.55 11.22 6.43 9.24 13.30		
3,000,000 and over	12	471, 446	89. 31	54. 42		
Grand total	291	527, 932	100.00	100.00		

 $^{^1}$ Adjusted to exclude Associated Gas & Electric Company and its subsidiary, Associated Gas & Electric Corporation.

Table 6.—Distribution of cases in accordance with type of petition and month when instituted—Total assets and total indebtedness of companies entering into reorganization proceedings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 1940

Month	Type of petition	Number of companies	Total assets (thousands of dollars)	Total indebt edness (thousands of dollars)
1939				or domais,
July	Debtor	27 3 2	20, 484 688 516	12, 941 1, 321 84
	Total	32	21,688	15, 11
August	Debtor	19 3 1	11, 280 99	11, 453 133
	Trustee	23	1, 437	12, 26
September	DebtorCreditor	30	43, 277 3, 066	33, 595 1, 160
	Trustee	33	46, 343	34, 75
October	Debtor	17	2, 579	2,036
	Creditor Trustee	2	1, 159	1, 048
	Total	19	3, 738	3, 084
November	Debtor Creditor Trustee	27 3	16, 284 285	7, 256 322
	Total	30	16, 569	7, 578
December ~	DebtorCreditor	19 3	4, 571 7, 692	3, 593 5, 164
	Trustee	22	12, 263	8, 757
1940 January	DebtorCreditorTrustee	22 2	807, 247 345	405, 954 214
	Total	24	807, 592	406, 168
February	Debtor Creditor Trustee	20	3, 224 1, 003	2, 224 590
	Total	23	4, 227	2, 814
March	Debtor- Creditor- Trustee-	27 2 1	9, 476 163 2, 232	5, 657 349 1, 445
	Total	30	11, 871	7, 451
April	Debtor	21	4, 917	3, 968
	Trustee	21	4, 917	3, 968
May	DebtorCreditor.	11 3	2, 560 241	1, 698 389
	Trustee		241	
une	Total	14	2, 801	2,087
<u>uno</u>	Creditor	2	23, 353 16, 610	9, 889
	Total	20	39, 963	23, 891
Fiscal year ended June 30, 1940	DebtorCreditorTrustee	258 27 6	949, 252 30, 192 5, 344	504, 384 19, 540 4, 008
	Total	- 291	984, 788	527, 932

APPENDIX X

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Civ. 8-46

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION OF THE SECURITIES AND EX-CHANGE COMMISSION TO ENFORCE AND CARRY OUT A PLAN OF CORPORATE SIMPLIFICATION OF COMMUNITY POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY

OPINION 1

HULBERT, D. J.

Chester T. Lane, General Counsel, Lawrence S. Lesser, Esq., Frank J. Gillis, Esq., F. Arnold Daum, Esq., Attorneys for Securities and Exchange Commission, 120 Broadway, New York, N. Y.

Albridge C. Smith, Esq., Prescott R. Andrews, Esq., Attorneys for Community Power and Light Co., 50 Broadway, New York, N. Y.

This is an application by the Securities and Exchange Commission made at the request of Community Power and Light Company (hereinafter called "The Company") for an order pursuant to Section 11 (e) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, 49 Stat. 822, U. S. C. T. 15, Sec. 79k (e).

The Company is a Delaware corporation and a holding company as defined by Section 2 (a) (7) (A) of the Act, 15 U. S. C. A. Sec. 79b (a) (7) (A), and has its principal executive offices in the Borough of Manhattan, City of New York.

The Company owns, controls and holds with power to vote all of the outstanding voting securities of the following public utility companies: Arkansas Utilities Company; The Kansas Utilities Company, Missouri Utilities Company and Texas-New Mexico Utilities Company. The Company also owns, controls, and holds with power to vote more than 60 percent of the outstanding voting securities of General Public Utilities, Inc., a Florida corporation with its principal executive offices in Jersey City, N. J. The latter is not only a public utility company but is also a holding company since it owns, controls, and holds with power to vote all of the voting securities of the following public utility companies: Dakota Power Company, Gothenberg Light and Power Company, Gulf Public Service Company, Nebraska Light and Power Company, Southwestern Public Service Company, Arizona Electric Power Company, Flagstaff Electric Light Company and Holbrook Light and Power Company.

¹ As reported in 33 Fed. Supp. 901.

The public utility companies in the Company's holding company system operate in the states of Kansas, Missouri, Arkansas, Texas, New Mexico, South Dakota, Nebraska, Louisiana and Arizona.

On December 1, 1935, the Company registered with the Commission under Section 5 of the Act, 15 U.S. C.A. Sec. 79e, and thereby became a "registered holding company" as that term is used in Section 11 (e) thereof.

On or about January 13, 1938, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission an application under the Act for a report on a Plan of Recapitalization to modify its capital structure, adjust arrearages in preferred stock dividends, and reduce preferred dividend requirements. Hearings were had on said Plan before an officer of the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 23 and 24, 1938. Subsequent to said hearings, but prior to any determination by the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to said Plan of Recapitalization, the Company filed certain amendments thereto and hearings were again held on said Plan, as so amended, on March 13, 14, 15 and 16, 1939. Subsequent to said hearings but prior to any determination by the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to said Plan as so amended, the Company filed an application pursuant to Section 11 (e) of the Act asking the Commission to approve a Plan of Corporate Simplification (hereinafter called the "Plan") as fair and equitable and necessary to effectuate the provisions of Section 11 (b) of the Act.

The Commission on August 7, 1939, issued a Notice of and Order for Hearing with regard to such Plan, which notice was published in the Federal Register on August 9, 1939, and the Company sent by mail, to each of its security holders a copy of a notice, which set forth details of the Plan and the date and place of the hearing to be held with regard to such Plan.

On September 6, 1939, a hearing on the Plan was held pursuant to such notice before a duly appointed officer of the Commission. At such hearing the Company appeared and presented evidence in support of the fairness of the Plan. No security holder or other person appeared at such hearing in opposition to the Plan.

On November 18, 1939, the Commission approved the Plan and entered its Findings and Opinion and Order. At the same time, the Commission issued its report on the Plan as requested by the Company. This report was sent to the Preferred and Common stockholders in connection with the solicitation of assents to the Plan. Thereafter, the Company gave notice to and solicited proxies of the Common and Preferred stockholders for a stockholders' meeting which was held in Wilmington, Delaware, on January 12, 1940. At this meeting the Plan was approved by more than two-thirds of the Preferred stockholders and by more than a majority of the Common

stockholders. Certain of the minority stockholders, both Preferred and Common, objected to the Plan and voted against its approval.

On or about March 18, 1940, the Commission, at the request of the Company, made an application to this Court, pursuant to the provisions of Section 11 (e) of the Act, to enforce and carry out the terms and provisions of the Plan.

On March 18, 1940, this Court made its order which brought on the hearing of this application on April 25, 1940. Notice of this proceeding, in the manner directed in said order, was given to those security holders of the Company whom the Plan affects. H. Vincent Smart, Esq., representing 112 shares of Common stock of the Company, appeared on the return day and an adjournment was taken to May 11, 1940, to enable him to file a memorandum regarding the constitutionality of the Public Utility Holding Company Act, and to cross examine such officers of the Company as he might give notice to the Company, on or before May 5, 1940, to produce on the adjourned date. Mr. Smart notified the Court on May 1, 1940, that his client desired him to withdraw from the proceeding, but he submitted, nevertheless, a memorandum upon the law, together with a communication prepared by a person connected with his client, containing his comments upon the alleged unfairness of the Plan and the enforcement thereof.

There was also informally presented to the Court, prior to May 1, 1940, a request from the Attorney General of the State of Delaware for an adjournment to enable him to determine whether he would seek permission to intervene. Before said adjourned date the Court was advised informally that he did not intend to do so. A letter was also presented, at the adjourned hearing on May 11, 1940, from Howard Duane, Esq., of Wilmington, Delaware, advising that he had been retained by a holder, since 1930, of 340 shares of First Preferred Stock, \$6 Dividend Series of the Company, and that an action had been brought by him, subsequent to the institution of this proceeding, in a Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware in and for Newcastle County upon a bill for an injunction, which apparently is still pending, a motion to restrain and for a temporary injunction pendente lite, however, having heretofore been denied.

While, as has been stated, no one appeared in opposition to this application, the Court cannot, and will not, ignore its responsibility to pass upon the objections which have been suggested by counsel who appeared and then withdrew from this proceeding.

Section 11 (b) of the Act, so far as pertinent, provides:

It shall be the duty of the Commission, as soon as practicable after January 1, 1938:

⁽²⁾ To require by order, after notice and opportunity for hearing, that each registered holding company, and each subsidiary company thereof, shall take such

steps as the Commission shall find necessary to ensure that the corporate structure or continued existence of any company in the holding-company system does not unduly or unnecessarily complicate the structure, or unfairly or inequitably distribute voting power among security holders, of such holding-company system. * * *

Section 11 (e) of the Act, provides in part:

If, after notice and opportunity for hearing, the Commission shall find such plan, as submitted or as modified, necessary to effectuate the provisions of subsection (b) and fair and equitable to the persons affected by such plan, the Commission shall make an order approving such plan; and the Commission, at the request of the company, may apply to a court, in accordance with the provisions of subsection (f) of section 18 [79r of this chapter], to enforce and carry out the terms and provisions of such plan.

Section 24 of the Act, Title 15 U. S. C. A. Sec. 79x, provides that any person or party aggrieved by an order issued by the Commission may obtain a review upon petition to the Court of Appeals of the United States within any circuit wherein such person resides or has his principal place of business, or in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia. Such appeal must be taken within 60 days after the entry of such order. No such appeal has been taken and the time so to do has long since expired.

Subsection (f) of Section 18, Title 15 U.S.C. A. Sec. 79r (f), reads as follows:

Whenever it shall appear to the Commission that any person is engaged or about to engage in any acts or practices, which constitute or will constitute a violation of the provisions of this title [chapter], or of any rule, regulation, or order thereunder, it may in its discretion bring an action in the proper district court of the United States, the Supreme Court of the District of Columbia, or the United States courts of any Territory or other place subject to the jurisdiction of the United States, to enjoin such acts or practices and to enforce compliance with this title [chapter] or any rule, regulation, or order thereunder, and upon a proper showing a permanent or temporary injunction or decree or restaining order shall be granted without bond. The Commission may transmit such evidence as may be available concerning such acts or practices to the Attorney General, who, in his discretion, may institute the appropriate criminal proceedings under this title [chapter].

The authority of the Court under this section to approve the Plan in accordance with subsection (f) is challenged but it would certainly defeat the intent of the Congress and the purpose of the Act if the Court lacks such power in view of the express language of Section 11 (e) which reads:

If, upon any such application, the court, after notice and opportunity for hearing, shall approve such plan as fair and equitable and as appropriate to effectuate the provisions of Section 11 [this section] the court as a court of equity may, to such extent as it deems necessary for the purpose of carrying out the terms and provisions of such plan, take exclusive jurisdiction and possession of the company or companies and the assets thereof, wherever located; and the court shall have jurisdiction to appoint a trustee, and the court may constitute and appoint the Commission as sole trustee, to hold or administer, under the direction of the court

and in accordance with the plan theretofore approved by the court and the Commission, the assets so possessed.

The officers of the Company, because of the pending suit in the Chancery Court of Delaware, might refrain from carrying out the Plan without such a protective order as here applied for and of course the purpose of the Plan approved by the Commission would thereby be defeated and the assets of the Company possibly depreciated, if not, wasted.

But Section 25 of the Act, Title 15 U.S.C.A. Sec. 79y, providing for jurisdiction of offenses and suits, provides in part:

Any suit or action to enforce any liability or duty created by, or to enjoin any violation of, this title [chapter] or rules, regulations, or orders thereunder, may be brought in any such district or in the district wherein the defendant is an inhabitant or transacts business * * *. Judgments and decrees so rendered shall be subject to review as provided in sections 128 and 240 of the Judicial Code, as amended, [U. S. C. A. Title 28, Sections 225 and 347].

By the term of the Plan itself its effectiveness is dependent upon approval by a Federal Court as well as the Commission.

Consequently I hold that this Court has jurisdiction of the Company and the subject matter.

I am further persuaded to this determination by an examination of the Report of the Senate Committee on Interstate Commerce, No. 621,74th Congress, First Session.

THE PLAN

The Plan contemplates the exchange of all of the Preferred and Common Stock of the Company now outstanding for New Common Stock. Each share of present Preferred Stock, together with all accumulated unpaid dividends, will receive five shares of New Common Stock. Each share of present Common Stock will receive one and four-fifths shares of New Common Stock. The new shares of Common Stock are to have a par value of \$10 each and will be entitled to one vote per share.

Upon carrying out the proposed Plan, the resulting distribution of New Common Stock will be as follows:

	Shares	Percent
To present Preferred stockholders (5 new shares for each of 68,962 present shares) To present Common stockholders (1½ new shares for each of 10,000 present shares)	344, 810 18, 000	95. 04 4. 96
Total	362, 810	100.00

The Plan also provides that the "Assignments and Agreements" now outstanding in the face amount of \$370,523.84, may be redeemed by the Company at any time upon thirty days notice and upon payment at the rate of \$100 for each \$95 face amount outstanding.

In connection with the consummation of the Plan, the Company proposes to make various accounting entries which will have the effect of adjusting or eliminating certain accounts in the Company's balance sheet. These accounting entries are in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission's Uniform System of Accounts for Public Utility Holding Companies; certain of the entries are required by the Uniform System, and the others are within the Company's discretion.

The Plan, by its terms, is to become effective if it secures not only the approval of the Securities and Exchange Commission, but also that of the holders of two-thirds of the Preferred and a majority of the Common Stock, and of a Federal Court upon application by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 11 (e) of the Act.

The contemplated procedure is as follows: If the approval of the Securities and Exchange Commission is secured, the Plan will be submitted for the consideration of the stockholders. If approval is given by the specified majorities, the Commission is requested to apply to a Federal Court to enforce and carry out the terms and provisions of the Plan. If the Plan is then approved by the Court, it is to be consummated either (a) by amending the charter of the existing corporation, or (b) by organization of a new corporation which will take over all of the assets and assume all of the liabilities and obligations of the existing corporation.

In the event that the existing corporation is to be used in the consummation of the proposed Plan, the present certificate of incorporation will be so amended as to eliminate all provisions relating to the presently authorized and outstanding First Preferred and Common Stock and so as to authorize the issuance of 500,000 shares of New Common Stock, each share having one vote and having a par value of \$10.

In the event that the proposed Plan is consummated by the formation of a new corporation, such new corporation will be organized under the laws of Delaware or such other state as may be determined by the board of directors. It will have powers and purposes substantially similar to those possessed by the present corporation. The new corporation will have an authorized capital consisting of 500,000 shares of Common Stock, each share having one vote and having a par value of \$10. Following the formation of such new corporation, all of the property now owned by Community Power and Light Company will be sold, transferred and assigned to the new corporation, which will at the same time assume all of the liabilities and obligations of the present company in return for such an amount of common stock of the new company as will be necessary to consummate the

proposed Plan. This Common stock will then be distributed in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED BY THE PLAN

In order to approve the Plan the Act requires the Commission to find that the Plan is necessary to effectuate the provisions of subsection (b) of Section 11, which in turn requires it to find that the present corporate structure of the Company is such that the Commission must take steps to insure that the Company's corporate structure will not unduly or unnecessarily complicate the structure of the holding-company system and to insure that the voting power is not unfairly or inequitably distributed among security holders, and that the Plan is fair and equitable to the persons affected by it.

All of the proceedings before the Commission were introduced upon the hearing before, and received in evidence by me.

In the Findings and Opinion of the Commission it found:

- 1. That the corporate structure of the Company was unduly and unnecessarily complicated and that the complications in the corporate structure of the Company rendered the corporate structure of the holding company system, of which the Company is a part, unduly and unnecessarily complicated, contrary to the standards of Section 11 (b) of the Act;
 - 2. That the voting power was unfairly and inequitably distributed;
- 3. That the Plan was necessary to effectuate the provisions of subsection (b) (2) of Section 11 of the Act;
- 4. That the modification in the terms of the Assignments and Agreements was necessary to eliminate complications in the Company's corporate structure;
- 5. That the Plan was fair and equitable to both classes of stock-holders:
- 6. That the modification in the terms of the Assignments and Agreements was fair to the holders thereof, and
- 7. That there was nothing in the proposed accounting transactions tending to make the Plan unfair or not in compliance with the Act.

PRESENT FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE COMPANY

Since 1931, the Company and its subsidiaries, including General Public Utilities, Inc., have been short of working capital. Such cash as the system had was used to pay principal and interest on certain bank loans, interest on the Assignments and Agreements, and for construction purposes and hence could not be used for dividends on the Preferred Stock. As the dividends on the Preferred Stock accumulated it became more difficult for the Company or its sub-

sidiaries to sell securities to obtain the much needed additional capital.

From 1927 to 1931, the Company paid regular dividends on its Preferred and Common Stocks.

In every year from 1927 to 1930, the dividends paid exceeded the amounts earned.

In the period from 1932 to 1938, inclusive, the total net cash in the system, not including General Public Utilities, Inc., amounted to approximately \$5,054,608, and in the same period the following disbursements were made: (1) Payments of principal on bank debt, \$1,775,000; (2) interest on bank debt, \$337,782; (3) interest on Assignments and Agreements, \$294,704; (4) Construction, \$2,928,341; or a total of \$5,335,627, leaving a cash deficit for the period of \$281,219.

The bank loan, which cost the Company more than \$2,100,000 from 1931 to 1938 in principal and interest, was originally incurred by the Company at the instance of its then parent company, American Community Power Company (hereinafter called "American").

On September 8, 1931, the American, which then controlled the Company, caused it to issue a six percent Demand Note in the amount of \$1,500,000 in consideration of the payment of \$500,000 in cash by American to the Company and the assignment to the Company of a note in the face amount of \$1,000,000, payable to American by General Public Utilities, Inc.'s predecessor.

As of the same date, American borrowed \$1,500,000 from The Chase National Bank of The City of New York (hereinafter called "Chase") and executed and delivered a six percent collateral note for six months in that amount. As security, American turned over to Chase, the Company's note to it for \$1,500,000 and, as additional collateral, American Commonwealths Power Corporation (Del.), the parent of American (hereinafter called "Commonwealths"), deposited 50,000 shares of the common stock of American, which was all of that Company's outstanding stock.

As a part of the transaction, it was agreed by American that its note to Chase would mature upon (1) the nonpayment of an \$1,800,000 issue of notes of American, which were due November 1, 1931, or (2) upon the nonpayment of the \$4,000,000 issue of Secured Notes of General Public Utilities, Inc.'s predecessor, due December 1, 1931.

Neither of these obligations was paid at maturity.

To obtain a waiver from Chase of default on American's note it caused the Company to pledge additional collateral as security for its note. The additional collateral so pledged was all of the common

stock of the predecessor of Texas-New Mexico Utilities Company and \$1,800,000 of notes of General Public Utilities, Inc.'s predecessor.

Receivers were appointed for American by the Chancery Court of Delaware on Dec. 31, 1931, and on Feb. 15, 1932, the Company executed a Collateral Agreement with Chase under the terms of which the note of the Company was extended to May 1, 1932, and the Company recognized Chase as the holder of its note in due course and agreed to pay interest and principal of such note when due.

The note to Chase was finally liquidated, after periodic extensions, on March 27, 1936, as a result of funds borrowed from the Empire Trust Company and from the Continental Bank & Trust Company, both of New York City. The principal of the notes to these two banks was reduced until as of June 30, 1939 only \$150,000 was due to the Continental Bank & Trust Company. This has now been paid from the proceeds of a loan secured from the Reconstruction Finance Corporation.

Because of the conduct of its former parent companies, the Company was also required to issue certain "Assignments and Agreements" although it received no cash return therefrom.

During 1931, Commonwealths caused employees and officers of the operating subsidiaries of the Company to sell shares of its \$6.24 Preferred Stock and shares of the Prior Preferred Stock of American Commonwealths Power Corporation, New Jersey, in the territory served by such operating subsidiaries. None of the proceeds of these sales went to the Company or to any of its subsidiaries.

In order to avoid litigation and retain the good will of the customers of their subsidiaries, the Company offered to take up the Preferred Stock that had been so sold at the instance of Commonwealths (Del.). This transaction was evidenced by an assignment to the Company of any claim which such Preferred stockholders of Commonwealths (N. J.) may have had in the premises. In turn, the Company agreed to pay to the holder of such Preferred stock \$6.24 per annum for each \$100 face amount of Prior Preferred Stock (which had been sold for \$95). These obligations have no due date, but are exchangeable at the option of the Company for its junior Preferred stock, provided there are no arrears of dividends on the First Preferred Stock. The Company has never, because of said dividend arrears, been in a position to exercise its right to issue Preferred stock in settlement of these Agreements.

During the period from 1931 to 1938, the interest on the Assignments and Agreements amounted to \$294,704. This amount was paid by the Company with no cash return to it and to that extent utilized cash which would otherwise have been available for dividends on the First Preferred Stock.

It appears that the cash entering the system through normal business operations was not sufficient to meet the cash requirements of the system, including construction. During the same period it has been impossible for the subsidiary companies to take care of their own construction for additions and extensions through the sale of new securities.

The Trust Indenture, under which the \$14,000,000 principal amount of the Company's First Mortgage Collateral Trust Gold Bonds are issued, provides that all securities of the direct operating subsidiaries owned by the Company are to be pledged with the Trustees. The Company covenanted that it would not permit the subsidiaries to issue any additional securities unless such securities were also pledged with the Trustees. This provision prevented sale of securities to anyone except the Company and that company was not in a cash position to put any additional money in the operating properties.

General Public Utilities, Inc., has a similar provision in the Trust Indenture securing its First Mortgage and Collateral Trust 6½% Bonds. Its subsidiaries are thus unable to sell securities to finance their own extensions and additions. General Public Utilities, Inc. is not in a cash position to put additional funds into its subsidiaries, and, as has been stated, the Company cannot advance money to General Public Utilities, Inc., so that company may aid its subsidiaries.

Temporary respite from this situation was secured by the Company in May 1939, through the medium of a Reconstruction Finance Corporation loan of \$1,350,000. Of this amount, \$1,250,000 is to be used by the Missouri Utilities Company, The Kansas Utilities Company, and the Texas-New Mexico Utilities Company for construction of additions and extensions in the territory served by such companies. The remaining \$100,000 to be used by the Company, together with funds of its own, to pay off the bank loans previously mentioned.

Under the terms of the loan agreement the Company is presently restricted while the loan is outstanding to a maximum annual dividend of 50 cents per share on the New Common Stock, or a total annual dividend payment of not over \$181,405.

FAIRNESS OF THE PLAN

The Commission found that:

The most obvious question of fairness is the allocation of securities between the present Preferred and Common stockholders. Unless their present interests in the Company correspond to the proposed 95 to 5 distribution, the plan may be said to be unfair in the absence of offsetting considerations. On the other hand, it is to be recognized that such relationships cannot be measured with precision.

The usual methods for determining the fairness of a reallocation of securities require consideration of the values presently available for each class. On the

basis of book values, as determined by the latest balance sheet, there would appear to be an excess of value available for the Common Stock, which might be used as a basis for some recognition. However, as pointed out above, values on the balance sheet include items which ought not to be there and which it is now proposed to eliminate. When these eliminations are made, the margin apparently available for the Common Stock disappears.

This, however, is not conclusive as to the right of the Common Stock to participation. At the present time the corporate earnings exceed the Preferred dividend requirement and the forecasts of future earnings point to a still further improvement. It may be assumed, therefore, that although it will take many vears before the present Common Stock can hope for a return, especially in view of the crippling effect of the present capital structure, nevertheless there is an eventual prospect which must be regarded as having a present value. If the company were in a position to pay out all of its corporate net income in the form of dividends, the Common stockholders might, on the basis of the present level of earnings, expect some return after approximately 10 years. However, according to the Company's management the system must conserve its cash for improvements, replacements, and betterments, and as pointed out above, the loan agreement with the Reconstruction Finance Corporation limits dividend payments so long as that loan is outstanding unless that corporation's consent is obtained to any proposed increase in dividend payments. Nevertheless, the possibility that there may eventually be dividends available for the Common Stock is such that we cannot say that the Common Stock has no value, and we therefore believe that it is entitled to some participation in the Company.

We have frequently said that for reorganization purposes earning power rather than the book value of assets is the best test of value. Genesee Valley Gas Co., Inc., 3 S. E. C. 104 (1938); In re Utilities Power & Light Corp., 1939, D. C. 29 F. Supp. 763, 5 S. E. C. 483. In the present case it is unnecessary to attempt to appraise the exact value of the Common Stock of Community. It is evident from the income figures, as previously set forth above, that there is some excess of earnings over present Preferred dividend requirements. We therefore believe that some value remains for the Common Stock. Under circumstances where a larger participation was being given to Common Stock, we might be required to evaluate more precisely the equity for such common stock. On the other hand, the fact that there appears to be no prospect of dividends being paid on the Common Stock for many years indicates that any participation being given to that class of stock must necessarily be slight. Under all the circumstances of the present case and upon consideration of the entire record, we are of the opinion that the proposed allocation is reasonable.

It may be argued that whatever value exists for the Common Stock is presently subordinated to the claims of the Preferred stockholders, whereas the plan proposes to place both on a parity so far as the future is concerned. In the present case such a contention seems unreal. Any attempt to give the Preferred stockholders for their overwhelming interest securities senior in rank to those issued to the holders of Common Stock would produce a useless complexity without substantially affecting the result. The interest of the present Common stockholders is so small as in no event to warrant the issuance of more than one class of securities.

It follows from the foregoing that the vesting of the Preferred stockholders with 95% of the voting power is consistent with the respective interests of the two classes of stock and we find the plan fair and equitable to both classes of stockholders.

As we have pointed out, the modification in the terms of the Assignments and Agreements is in substance merely incidental to the simplification of the Company's corporate structure. Since no real change is made in the rights of the

holders of Assignments and Agreements, and since they will continue to receive interest at the same rate unless and until the Company is able to redeem their securities at the full price, we find that the proposed alteration in the terms of these documents is fair to the holders thereof.

NECESSITY FOR PLAN

The Commission found:

With huge Preferred Stock arrearages which, because of the terms of the Reconstruction Finance Corporation's loan heretofore mentioned, will increase for the present rather than diminish, and in view of the fact that the Assignments and Agreements now outstanding cannot be called unless converted into junior preferred stock, which cannot be issued so long as Preferred dividends are in arrears, we are of the opinion that the Company's corporate structure is unduly and unnecessarily complicated. Under these circumstances, we are of the opinion that the complications in Community's corporate structure render the corporate structure of the holding company system of which Community is a part unduly and unnecessarily complicated, contrary to the standards of Section 11 (b).

We reach the same conclusion with respect to the distribution of voting power. As already stated, under the terms of the charter the holders of Common Stock are in a position to control the Company at all times and, in the absence of defaults, have the sole voting power for the election of directors. The fact is that the interest of the Common Stock in the Company's assets and earnings is at best slight. In substance the Company belongs to the Preferred stockholders, assuming that its creditors are secure in their claims. We therefore conclude, and so find, that the voting power is presently unfairly and inequitably distributed.

The proposed modification in the terms of the Assignments and Agreements is merely an incident to the transformation of the Company's corporate structure from three authorized classes to one class of stock. Under the present terms of the Assignments and Agreements, they may be converted into a junior preferred stock "if and when defaults in preferred dividends have been remedied and regular preferred dividends have been resumed." Since the consummation of the simplification plan will terminate all rights to accrued dividends, it is evident that the Company, upon the exchange of stock required by the plan, would, so far as the terms of the Assignments and Agreements are concerned, be in a position to convert the Assignments and Agreements into preferred stock and then immediately to call such preferred stock at its call price of \$100 per unit. The effect of the proposed modification, therefore, appears merely to make unnecessary the actual issuance and calling of the junior preferred stock. In that way the additional complication in the corporate structure resulting from such issuance is avoided. No real change is made in the rights of the holders of Assignments and So far as any alteration is made requiring our approval, therefore, we find that such modification in the terms of the Assignments and Agreements is necessary to eliminate complications in the Company's corporate structure and to carry out the original purposes of the Assignments and Agreements in the light of the elimination of the Company's Preferred Stock and its transformation into a one stock company.

Under all of the circumstances of this case, in the light of the Company's present financial condition and future prospects, and in view of the present inequitable distribution of voting power, we conclude and so find that the plan of corporate simplification is necessary to effectuate the provisions of subsection (b) (2) of Section 11.

It has been suggested to the Court, as previously stated, that Section 11 of the Act is not an exercise of the Congressional power over Interstate Commerce in that "the test of application * * * is not whether the holding company is engaged in or affects interstate commerce but rests solely on the test of whether it is a holding company."

This suggestion is without merit. Section 11 does not apply to all holding companies. It is expressly limited in its application to "registered" holding companies under Section 5 of the Act. Nor is registration required indiscriminately of all holding companies as such. On the contrary, registration is obligatory only for those holding companies which engage in certain specified types of transactions.

Section 4 (a) of the Act 15 U.S. C. A. Sec. 79d (a), reads:

After December 1, 1935, unless a holding company is registered under section 5 [79e of this title], it shall be unlawful for such holding company, directly or indirectly—

- (1) to sell, transport, transmit, or distribute, or own or operate any utility assets for the transportation, transmission, or distribution of, natural or manufactured gas or electric energy in interstate commerce;
- (2) by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce to negotiate, enter into, or take any step in the performance of, any service, sales, or construction contract undertaking to perform services or construction work for, or sell goods to, any public-utility company or holding company;
- (3) to distribute or make any public offering for sale or exchange of any security of such holding company, any subsidiary company or affiliate of such holding company, any public-utility company, or any holding company, by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or to sell any such security having reason to believe that such security, by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, will be distributed or made the subject of a public offering;

(4) by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, to acquire or negotiate for the acquisition of any security or utility assets of any subsidiary company or affiliate of such holding company, any public-utility company, or any holding company;

- (5) to engage in any business in interstate commerce; or
- (6) to own, control, or hold with power to vote, any security of any subsidiary company thereof that does any of the acts enumerated in paragraphs (1) to (5), inclusive, of this subsection.

In Electric Bond and Share Co. v. Securities and Exchange Commission, 1938, 303 U. S. 419, 58 S. Ct. 678, 82 L. Ed. 936, 115 A. L. R. 105, the Court sustained Sections 4 (a) and 5 of the Act as constitutional and held that the doing of any of the things specified in clauses (1) to (6) of Section 4 (a) above quoted constituted an engagement in interstate commerce subject to the regulation of Congress. Therefore, the only holding companies required to register are those which engage in interstate commerce. Since Section 11 by its terms applies only to registered holding companies, it is evident that "the test of application" does not "rest solely on * * * whether the

Company is a holding company" without regard to whether it is "engaged in or affects interstate commerce."

The further suggestion has been made to the Court that, despite its registration under Section 5 of the Act, the Company is not subject to regulation by Congress under the commerce clause because it "is simply a holding company collecting dividends and interest from its investments, in no reasonable sense, engaged in interstate commerce." But in view of the regulatory provisions of the Act which take effect only after registration it would seem unlikely that the officers and directors of the Company would have caused it to register under Section 5 of the Act unless the Company engaged in interstate commerce as defined in clauses (1) to (6) of Section 4 (a).

However that may be, the record is clear that at least three subsidiaries of the Company transmit, and own and operate utility assets for the transmission of electric energy in interstate commerce, within the meaning of clause (1) of Section 4 (a) of the Act. These are Texas-New Mexico Utilities Company, Kansas Utilities Company and Missouri Utilities Company, all of whose outstanding voting securities are owned, or controlled and held by the Company with power to vote. That the interstate commerce is conducted through the subsidiary companies rather than by the Company itself is of no moment. In Electric Bond & Share Co. v. Securities and Exchange Commission, supra, Mr. Chief Justice Hughes said (303 U. S. at page 440, 58 S. Ct. at page 686, 82 L. Ed. 936, 115 A. L. R. 105):

* * That they conduct such transactions through the instrumentality of subsidiaries cannot avail to remove them from the reach of the federal power. It is the substance of what they do, and not the form in which they clothe their transactions, which must afford the test. The constitutional authority confided to Congress could not be maintained if it were deemed to depend upon * * * mere modal arrangements * * *.

I deem the second suggestion to be without merit.

The suggestion was further made that Section 11 of the Act is not within "the power of Congress to pass uniform laws on bankruptcy

* * * (or) * * * to establish post offices and post roads."

Reliance is placed by both suggestors on Burco, Inc. v. Whitworth, 4 Cir., 1936, 81 F. 2d 721. That case arose upon an application for instructions by a trustee appointed under Section 77B of the Bankruptcy Act, 11 U. S. C. A. § 207. The debtor was a holding company as defined by the Act and the question was whether the trustee should comply with the registration provisions of Sections 4 (a) and 5. The Court held that those sections were unconstitutional and directed the trustee to disregard them. That decision has been clearly overruled by the later determination of the Supreme Court in the Electric Bond & Share Co. Case, 1938, 303 U. S. 419, 58 S. Ct. 678, 82 L. Ed. 936,

115 A. L. R. 105, that Sections 4 (a) and 5 are constitutional. The Court in the Burco case, however, unlike the Supreme Court in the Electric Bond & Share Co. case, gave expression to opinions concerning sections of the Act other than those in issue. This, of course, is sheer obiter. In view of the fact that the Burco case has been overruled as to the matter decided, little weight can be given to its dicta.

The Company is engaged in interstate commerce through the instrumentality of its subsidiaries and the application of subsection (b) (2) and (e) of Section 11 are clearly within the power of Congress under the commerce clause.

The power of Congress over interstate commerce is, subject to the limitations of the Bill of Rights, plenary and sovereign (Kentucky Whip & Collar Co. v. Illinois Central Railroad Co., 1937, 299 U. S. 334, 345, 57 S. Ct. 277, 81 L. Ed. 270; Champion v. Ames, 1903, 188 U. S. 321, 347, 352, 23 S. Ct. 321, 47 L. Ed. 492; Gilman v. Philadelphia, 1865, 3 Wall. 713, 725, 18 L. Ed. 96; Gibbons v. Ogden, 1824, 9 Wheat. 1, 196, 6 L. Ed. 23; Cohens v. Virginia, 1821, 6 Wheat. 264, 412, 5 L. Ed. 257) and is not limited to such commerce itself but extends "to every instrumentality or agency by which it is carried on" (Minnesota Rate Cases, 1913, 230 U. S. 352, 399, 33 S. Ct. 729, 739, 57 L. Ed. 1511, 48 L. R. A., N. S., 1151, Ann. Cas. 1916A, 18) and to the "persons engaged in it." Sherlock v. Alling, 1876, 93 U. S. 99, 103, 23 L. Ed. 819.

Within the field of interstate commerce Congress possesses a police power to promote the general welfare akin to that of the states in the realm of their domestic affairs. Nebbia v. New York, 1934, 291 U. S. 502, 524, 54 S. Ct. 505, 78 L. Ed. 940, 89 A. L. R. 1469; Brooks v. United States, 1925, 267 U. S. 432, 436, 45 S. Ct. 345, 69 L. Ed. 699, 37 A. L. R. 1407; Board of Trade of City of Chicago v. Olsen, 1923, 262 U. S. 1, 41, 43 S. Ct. 470, 67 L. Ed. 839.

Congress may, therefore, under the commerce clause, enact legislation "to foster, protect and control [interstate] commerce with appropriate regard to the welfare of those who are immediately concerned, as well as the public at large, and to promote its growth and insure its safety." Dayton-Goose Creek R. Co. v. United States, 1924, 263 U. S. 456, 478, 44 S. Ct. 169, 172, 68 L. Ed. 388, 33 A. L. R. 472. It is within the province of Congress, moreover, in the regulation of interstate commerce to privide for the security of the people in their relationships to corporations engaged in such commerce. Thus in Crutcher v. Kentucky, 1891, 141 U. S. 47, 58, 11 S. Ct. 851, 854, 35 L. Ed. 649, the Court said:

* * The prerogative, the responsibility, and the duty of providing for the security of the citizens and the people of the United States in relation to foreign corporate bodies, or foreign individuals with whom they may have relations of foreign commerce, belong to the government of the United States * * *.

And the same thing is exactly as true with regard to interstate commerce as it is with regard to foreign commerce. No difference is perceivable between the two. * * *

The powers of Congress in this regard were succinctly stated by the late Frank B. Kellogg some thirty years ago:

* * * Within its power of regulation it may prescribe what corporations may so engage in such commerce. It may prohibit corporations organized under foreign governments from engaging therein, or prescribe the regulations under which they may so engage. It may equally prohibit state corporations from so engaging, or as a condition prescribe the regulations under which they may engage. Such conditions may include the terms under which the capital stock shall be issued and paid for, and proper guaranties to insure the solvency of such corporations, to the end that their securities may be safe investments for the people, and that they may be able to perform their obligations as instrumentalities of commerce.

Federal Incorporation and Control, 20 Yale L. J. 177, 188 (1910).

Similarly Victor Morawetz, an eminent authority on constitutional and corporate law, wrote over a quarter of a century ago:

* * * The organization, powers, and financial conditions of a * * * corporation may have a direct and important relation to the transaction of interstate and international commerce, and may be of such a character as to render the * * * operations of the corporation a menace to the security and welfare of the people of all the states. A statute prohibiting the transaction of interstate commerce by means of a corporate organization which is a menace to the security of the public would seem justifiable as an exercise of the police power over interstate commerce and as a regulation of such commerce within the meaning of the Constitution.

The Power of Congress to Enact Incorporation Laws and to Regulate Corporations, 26 Harv. L. Rev. 667, 680 (1913).

Subsections (b) (2) and (e) of Section 11 of the Act are clearly within the power of Congress above described. A corporation engaged in interstate commerce whose corporate structure is unduly or unnecessarily complicated or unfairly and inequitably distributes voting power among its security holders is manifestly inimical both to that commerce and its own security holders. That is especially so of public utility holding companies one of whose main functions is to finance the operations of their subsidiaries through funds raised by the sale of their own securities.

The suggestion that, in providing a means of corporate simplification for registered holding companies, the Act is arbitrary and capricious is demonstrably unwarranted.

The suggestion that the plan is not within Section 11 (b) (2) in that the corporate structure of the Company is not complicated and does not unfairly and inequitably distribute voting rights is equally untenable. It appears clearly from the opinion of the Commission approving the plan that, although there have been earnings, dividends have not been declared since November 1931 because the funds were

found necessary to meet debt obligations and to pay for necessary improvements to the properties of the operating subsidiaries. With huge arrearages of unpaid and undeclared dividends on the Preferred Stock, the Company finds itself without credit to raise the funds necessary to enable it to fulfill its duties to its subsidiaries. The "Assignments and Agreements" being without maturity, constitute perpetual debentures, which, unless the Plan is consummated or the arrearages on the Preferred Stock are somehow paid, cannot but contribute to the inability of the Company to function normally.

Complexity is not a matter to be determined merely by counting the classes of securities outstanding. A corporate structure is unduly and unnecessarily complicated when it prevents the corporation involved from performing its functions. By such a test there can be no doubt that the Company's corporate structure falls within the meaning of Section 11 (b) (2) of the Act.

That the voting rights are unfairly distributed is apparent. The Commission found the 10,000 shares of outstanding Common Stock to be valueless on the basis of adjusted book-value, and on an earning basis to have but a 5 percent interest in the Company. Yet this class of stock presently controls the Company through a preponderance of voting strength.

It has been further suggested that in their application in the instant case subsections (b) (2) and (e) of Section 11 are unconstitutional in that they would abrogate "vested contractual rights given by state law." I do not agree. In the exercise of its powers under the Constitution, Congress may properly enact legislation which has the effect of impairing or even abrogating existing contract rights. This has been recognized on numerous occasions by the Supreme Court in sustaining statutes enacted under the power to coin money and regulate its value. Legal Tender Cases, 1870, 12 Wall. 457, 549, 550, 20 L. Ed. 287; Norman v. Baltimore & Ohio R. Co. (Gold Clause Case), 1935, 294 U.S. 240, 55 S. Ct. 407, 79 L. Ed. 885, 95 A. L. R. 1352, as well as under the commerce clause, United States v. Southern Pac. Co., 1922, 259 U. S. 214, 234, 42 S. Ct. 496, 66 L. Ed. 907; New York v. United States, 1922, 257 U.S. 591, 600, 601, 42 S. Ct. 239, 66 L. Ed. 385; Philadelphia, etc., R. Co. v. Schubert, 1912, 224 U. S. 603, 613, 32 S. Ct. 589, 56 L. Ed. 911; Louisville & N. R. Co. v. Mottlev, 1911, 219 U. S. 467, 480-482, 31 S. Ct. 265, 55 L. Ed. 297, 34 L. R. A., N. S., 671; Addyston Pipe & Steel Co. v. United States, 1899, 175 U. S. 211, 226-235, 20 S. Ct. 96, 44 L. Ed. 136. Thus in the Schubert case, supra, Mr. Justice Hughes, as he then was, said (224 U.S. at page 613, 614, 32 S. Ct. at page 592, 56 L. Ed. 911):

* * * The power of Congress, in its regulation of interstate commerce * * * [is] not fettered by the necessity of maintaining existing arrangements and stipulations which * * * conflict with the execution of its policy. To subordinate the exercise of the Federal authority to the continuing operation of previous contracts would be to place, to this extent, the regulation of interstate commerce in the hands of private individuals, and to withdraw from the control of Congress so much of the field as they might choose by prophetic discernment to bring within the range of their agreements. The Constitution recognizes no such limitation. It is of the essence of the delegated power of regulation that, within its sphere, Congress should be able to establish uniform rules, immediately obligatory, which as to future action should transcend all inconsistent provisions. Prior arrangements were necessarily subject to this paramount authority.

Nor is the suggestion that Sections 11 (b) (2) and 11 (e) of the Act in their present application violate the Tenth Amendment of any merit. Assuming that Delaware law prohibits its corporations from amending their charters so as to substitute some other right for that of Preferred shareholders to accrued unpaid and undeclared dividends: Congress is not fettered in the regulation of the instrumentalities of interstate commerce by state law. United States v. Delaware & Hudson Co., 1909, 213 U. S. 366, 405, 29 S. Ct. 527, 53 L. Ed. 836; Northern Securities Co. v. United States, 1904, 193 U. S. 197, 345, 24 S. Ct. 436, 48 L. Ed. 679; Pittsburgh & W. V. R. Co. v. Interstate Commerce Commission, 1923, 54 App. D. C. 34, 293 F. 1001, 1003, appeal denied, 1924, 266 U. S. 640, 45 S. Ct. 124, 69 L. Ed. 483. Thus in the Delaware & Hudson case, supra, the Court said (213 U. S. at page 405, 29 S. Ct. at page 535, 53 L. Ed. 836):

* * The power to regulate commerce possessed by Congress is, in the nature of things, everenduring, and therefore the right to exert it today, tomorrow, and at all times in its plenitude must remain free from restrictions and limitations arising or asserted to arise by state laws, whether enacted before or after Congress has chosen to exert and apply its lawful power to regulate.

In the Pittsburgh & W. V. R. Co. case, supra, the Court sustained Section 20 (a) of the Interstate Commerce Act, 49 U. S. C. A. § 20 (a), which placed the issuance of securities by transportation companies engaged in interstate commerce under the regulation of the Interstate Commerce Commission. In overruling a contention similar to that here raised, the Court said (54 App. D. C. 34, 293 F. at page 1003):

The validity of section 20a, supra, is questioned on the ground that it is not a regulation of Interstate Commerce, nor within the power of Congress, but is instead a usurpation of states' rights contrary to the Tenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States. It is authoritatively asserted that with one or two exceptions all the railroad corporations of the country are organized under state laws, and it is contended are subject exclusively to the constitution and laws of the states in which they were created. We are not impressed by this contention. Unquestionably every state has plenary power over its corporations, but when that power comes in conflict with the exercise by Congress of a power expressly conferred by the Constitution, the authority of the state must yield. We are here considering the power of Congress to regulate interstate commerce; in that field the authority of Congress is supreme. A law of Congress enacted pursuant to express constitutional sanction, is the supreme law of the land, "anything in the Constitution or laws of any state to the contrary notwithstanding."

The Court said in Champion v. Ames, 1903, 188 U. S. 321, 357, 23 S. Ct. 321, 327, 47 L. ED. 492:

If it be said that the act * * * is inconsistent with the Tenth Amendment, reserving to the States respectively or to the people the powers not delegated to the United States, the answer is that the power to regulate commerce among the States has been expressly delegated to Congress.

But the Delaware law is not as has been suggested. All that Keller v. Wilson & Co., Del. Sup., 1936, 190 A. 115, and the cases that follow it (relied upon by Mr. Duane) hold is that accumulated unpaid and undeclared dividends are not subject to elimination by action of the stockholders under Section 26 of Delaware's General Corporation Law. This is apparent from the later decision of the same court in Federal United Corporation v. Havender, Del. Sup., 1940, 11 A. 2d 331, holding that such dividends can properly be eliminated by corporate action under Sections 59 and 59A of the General Corporation Law.

The Keller case, supra, turns upon the point that Section 26 of the General Corporation Law was not in effect when the corporation in question was organized and that consequently rights of preferred shareholders contracted before its enactment were not subject to impairment by it. Consolidated Film Industries v. Johnson, Del. Sup., 1937, 197 A. 489, goes a step further. It was there held that even as to corporations organized after its enactment, Section 26, while effectively creating means to bar the cumulation of future dividends, could not be used to affect dividends already accrued without impairing the obligation of contract. These cases, of course, are based on the provision of Section 10 of Article I of the federal Constitution which prohibits the states from impairing obligations of contract. But Congress is not subject to any such restriction, and the plan before this Court is promulgated not by virtue of any state law, but under the paramount and exclusive power of the federal government to regulate interstate commerce and its instrumentalities.

In the Havender case, supra, the Supreme Court of Delaware made it clear that the public policy of that state did not prohibit the elimination of accrued unpaid and undeclared dividends. There the court found in Sections 59 and 59A of the General Corporation Law a caveat to preferred shareholders (apparently missing in Section 26) that their right to accumulated unpaid and undeclared dividends might be eliminated. The court therefore held that those sections afford means to accomplish that end without conflicting with the prohibition of Section 10 of Article I of the federal Constitution.

The policy of Delaware law and the concern of the courts of that state with this subject was well phrased in the Havender case, supra, where the court said, 11 A. 2d, at page 342:

There is no invasion of legal or equitable rights, nor is there moral wrong, in disposing of dividends on preference stock accumulated through time other than

by their payment in money, if the right to such dividends has not the status of a fixed contractual right * * *, and if the terms of disposal are fair and equitable in the circumstances of the case; * * *.

Thus the public policy of Delaware is not against the compounding of accumulated dividends. It is only when state action in that regard would invade contract rights that the law of Delaware hesitates. But, as already noted, the plan before this Court is not based on Delaware law, but on paramount federal law which is not subject to Section 10 of Article I of the federal Constitution.

It has been further suggested that in their application to the case at bar Sections 11 (b) (2) and 11 (e) of the Act are "spoliative and confiscatory and in violation of the Fifth Amendment." But as the Supreme Court has on numerous occasions pointed out the proscription by the Fifth Amendment of the deprivation of property without due process of law applies only to direct appropriations. Norman v. Baltimore & Ohio R. Co., 1935, 294 U. S. 240, 55 S. Ct. 407, 79 L. Ed. 885, 95 A. L. R. 1352; Union Bridge Co. v. United States, 1907, 204 U. S. 364, 27 S. Ct. 367, 51 L. Ed. 523; Scranton v. Wheeler, 1900, 179 U. S. 141, 21 S. Ct. 48, 45 L. Ed. 126; Legal Tender Cases, 1870, 12 Wall. 457, 20 L. Ed. 287.

Thus in answer to a similar contention it was said in the Legal Tender cases, supra, 12 Wall. at 551, 20 L. Ed. 287:

* * * That provision has always been understood as referring only to a direct appropriation, and not to consequential injuries resulting from the exercise of lawful power. It has never been supposed to have any bearing upon, or to inhibit laws that indirectly work harm and loss to individuals. A new tariff, an embargo, a draft, or a war may inevitably bring upon individuals great losses; may, indeed, render valuable property almost valueless. They may destroy the worth of contracts. But whoever supposed that, because of this, a tariff could not be changed, or a non-intercourse act, or an embargo be enacted, or a war be declared? * *

That no taking within the meaning of the Fifth Amendment is here involved is apparent.

There is a further suggestion that Sections 11 (b) (2) and 11 (e) of the Act do not authorize a plan altering the rights of stockholders inter sese. This is coupled with the additional suggestion that this Court cannot enforce such a plan because Section 11 (e) of the Act gives the Court jurisdiction only over the Company and its assets but not over the stockholders.

Section 11 (b) (2) expressly provides for the elimination of undue and unnecessary complications in the corporate structure of a company. But the corporate structure of a company consists of the classes of its securities outstanding and the respective rights of their holders. Certainly if undue and unnecessary complications in a company's corporate structure are to be eliminated the statute must envision a readjustment of those rights. Any other interpretation

of the statute would render it ineffectual to accomplish one of its stated purposes.

Section 11 (e) of the Act gives the Court jurisdiction over the corporation and its assets to the extent necessary to enforce and carry out the plan. Such jurisdiction is manifestly sufficient to work a readjustment of the rights of security holders. This is so, at least insofar as stockholders are concerned, because jurisdiction over the corporation carries with it jurisdiction over the corporate charter which is the source and mainspring of shareholders' rights. Having jurisdiction over the corporation and its charter the court has ample power. On numerous occasions stockholders' rights have been altered by courts acting under former Section 77B of the National Bankruptcy Act and Chapter X of that Act as amended, 11 U. S. C. A. Sec. 207, 501 et seq. In both such classes of cases the courts had jurisdiction not over the stockholders but merely over the corporation and its assets.

It would seem that stockholders of a corporation involved in proceedings under Section 11 (e) of the Act are in no different position from stockholders of corporations in reorganization under Section 77B or Chapter X. In each case the stockholders are afforded opportunity for hearing. They may take advantage of that opportunity or they may not. But in any event the Court's jurisdiction over the corporation, deemed adequate to effect a readjustment of stockholders' rights under Section 77B and Chapter X, is clearly sufficient to accomplish that purpose under Section 11 (e).

Finally, as Mr. Justice Pitney said in Blair v. United States, 1919, 250 U. S. 273, 279, 39 S. Ct. 468, 470, 63 L. Ed. 979:

Considerations of propriety, as well as long established practice, demand that we refrain from passing upon the constitutionality of an act of Congress unless obliged to do so in the proper performance of our judicial function, when the question is raised by a party whose interests entitle him to raise it.

The constitutionality of the Act, moreover, is buttressed by a presumption to be overcome only "when the unconstitutionality exists beyond a rational doubt." International Mercantile Marine Co. v. Stranahan, C. C., S. D. N. Y., 1907, 155 F. 428, 430.

Similarly in Sarony v. Burrow-Giles Lithographic Co., C. C., S. D. N. Y., 1883, 17 F. 591, 592, the late distinguished father of my colleague Judge Coxe said:

The court should hesitate long and be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt before pronouncing the invalidity of an act of congress. The argument should amount almost to a demonstration. If doubt exists the Act should be sustained. The presumption is in favor of its validity. This has long been the rule—a rule applicable to all tribunals, and particularly to courts sitting at nisi prius. Were it otherwise, endless complications would result, and a law which, in one circuit, was declared unconstitutional and void, might, in another, be enforced as valid.

For the foregoing reasons the application will be granted. Submit findings of fact and conclusions of law and decree providing that this Court approves the Plan as fair and equitable to the persons affected and necessary to effectuate the provisions of subsection (2) of Section 11 (b) and that this Court as a Court of Equity for the purpose of carrying out the terms and provisions of such Plan takes exclusive jurisdiction and possession of the Company and the assets thereof wherever located and appoints the Company as sole Trustee in possession to hold and administer under the direction of the Court and in accordance with the Plan thus approved, the assets so possessed.

HULBERT, U. S. D. J.

Dated: N. Y., June 15, 1940.

APPENDIX XI

REPORT OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON COÖPERATION WITH SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 1

(Adopted May 14, 1940)

TO THE COUNCIL OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ACCOUNTANTS:

Gentlemen: This report summarizes the activities of the special committee on cooperation with Securities and Exchange Commission during the past eight months. We shall also make reference in this report to certain releases of the S. E. C.

INDEPENDENT STATUS OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

When the present chairman of the S. E. C. took office he said that the independence of the accountant must be preserved and strengthened and standards of thoroughness and accuracy protected. The interest of the S. E. C. in this matter and the influence they can exert will undoubtedly fortify the independent status of the public accountant.

Last fall, for example, the chief accountant of the Commission was directed by the Commission to discuss with committees of the Institute whether it would not be possible for the S. E. C. to help in strengthening the position of the public accountant. The Commission expressed the desire to be of assistance in cases where an accountant who insists on making an audit of adequate scope or on following an accepted accounting principle may be faced with the loss of a client. No practicable solution to this problem has yet been found, but the initiative taken by the S. E. C. in the matter is significant of their interest in our behalf.

A few months ago we were asked by one of the commissioners whether appointment of auditors by stockholders rather than by the management would make for greater independence on the part of the auditor. We expressed our belief that the auditor's independence did not depend upon the channel of his appointment. One of the provisions in the Wagner-Lea bill for regulation of investment companies would require that accountants be selected by vote of the shareholders. The purpose of that provision, Judge Healy of the S. E. C. said in recent hearings before the Senate committee on banking and currency, was to impress upon accountants that their responsibility is to the security holders rather than to the management.

¹ This is a Committee of the American Institute of Accountants.

The latest amendment to the proxy regulation requires that when the election of an auditor is one of the matters to be acted upon pursuant to the proxy solicited, the proxy statement shall describe briefly any material relationship of the auditors to the company and any of its affiliates and similar information with respect to any relative or spouse of the auditor having the same home as the auditor. If such a relative holds investments in securities of the company or of any of its affiliates, there may exist a material relationship which would have to be described in the proxy statement. Here regulation is carried to an extreme, but we can have no dissent from its aim which is support of the independence of the auditor.

In accounting-series release No. 2, the Commission took the position that an accountant cannot be deemed to be independent if he holds an interest in the registrant that is significant with respect to its total capital or his own personal fortune, and that in one case a firm of accountants could not be considered independent because one of the partners owned stock in a client corporation which was substantial in value and constituted more than one percent of the partner's personal fortune. That pronouncement by the S. E. C. was a salutary one, in our opinion. We believe that accountants would be well advised to refrain from investing in any securities of their client companies.

AUDITING METHODS

The S. E. C. has stressed the importance of examination of books and records at the place where they are kept and the practice of inspecting the company's plant and its products during an audit. Accountants should aim to familiarize themselves with the plant layout, the operating methods, the nature of the products, the personnel of the accounting department, and the methods of internal check and control, and to substantiate oral explanations received by contact with employees having first-hand knowledge of the facts or by observation of the physical aspects of the business.²

In another case 3 that came before the S. E. C., the Commission found that an audit was inadequate because it did not comprise an investigation of the accounting methods followed at a branch office. The Commission based its finding on its rule of several years standing that in giving due weight to an internal system of audit the accountants shall review the accounting procedures followed and satisfy themselves that the procedures are in fact being followed.

There are some indications that the S. E. C. expects that examinations by auditors should be more detailed. Here is one of the most difficult problems confronting the auditor. He cannot make a com-

Securities Act release No. 2180, Feb. 20, 1940.

^{*} Securities Act release No. 1744, May 25, 1938.

plete audit of all the transactions or all the accounts, and his observations of the physical plant, operations, and products must be quite restricted. He is obliged, for the most part, to draw his conclusions about the integrity of the accounts as a whole from examination of a portion of the transactions and book entries. He has to render his report promptly or the report will be of little use to the public. He has to undertake the audit at a reasonable fee to the company. If he should fail to discern that a minor discrepancy is not a bit of carelessness, but is part of a manipulation of larger proportions, the risk to him is that his oversight, in the light of after events, may be made to appear to be gross negligence.

All business concerns should not be saddled with the expense of a yearly audit as detailed as that designed for the occasional concern whose management comes under suspicion.

An auditor must expect to incur the ill will of some clients for insistence on a principle of accounting or disclosure; he will be indeed fortunate if throughout his career no ingenious fraud in bookkeeping escapes him, if he is never severely blamed for an oversight; he will seldom receive commendation for his most conscientious investigations that are conducted in accordance with the best technique and result in no spectacular discovery.

A question of audit procedure which has attracted some attention from the S. E. C. is whether the auditor, instead of depending upon his own interpretation of contracts or other legal documents or upon the explanations of them by counsel of the client company, should himself engage counsel to construe the documents. With few exceptions we think the auditor is justified in accepting the opinion of counsel of the client company on the meaning of legal documents.

When we read the releases of the S. E. C. we cannot fail to be impressed with the relative importance ascribed by the Commission to corporate earnings. We may ask ourselves whether the usual procedure for audit of operating accounts of a business concern is adequate in the interest of investors or whether it would not be practicable to make more use of statistical data which the auditor could ascertain at intervals during the year from the operating departments.

CERTIFICATION

In promulgating the new Regulation S-X, which we shall discuss presently, the S. E. C. announced that the rules governing certification by accountants would be reconsidered upon the completion of pending proceedings with a view to revisions deemed necessary as a result of these cases. Before issuing any new rule on certification, the Commission, following its usual practice, will undoubtedly discuss any proposed changes with a committee of the Institute.

We understand that the S. E. C. has taken cognizance of the Institute bulletin, "Extensions of Auditing Procedure," and that their usual policy is not to accept any auditor's certificate which indicates that in his examination of accounts receivable or inventories he has not followed the procedure outlined in the bulletin.

REGULATION S-X

During the past two years the Institute committee has had a number of conferences with the S. E. C. staff and one of the commissioners with regard to successive drafts of new accounting requirements. Finally issued in February of this year, these requirements are now known as Regulation S-X. The amendments to former requirements effected by this new regulation were described in the March 1940, issue of *The Journal of Accountancy*. These amendments, most persons will probably agree, do not add materially to the bulk of information required to be included in financial statements and schedules in registration statements.

Regulation S-X should not be regarded as the last word. We may expect it to be revised from time to time. The staff of the S. E. C. do not feel bound to accept all financial statements that are prepared exactly in conformity with the requirements of Regulation S-X, and they may at times call for additional information or insist that information shall be presented in somewhat different form than that indicated in Regulation S-X. Accountants should bear in mind that Regulation S-X, like previous instruction books, is only a minimum requirement.

FOOTNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial statements in registration statements have been replete with explanatory footnotes. A substantial number of prospectuses contain, on the average, a full page of footnotes to every balance-sheet or income statement. The S. E. C. in some of the cases decided have considered that quite small items, omitted or erroneously described, were material. Accountants have to recommend, in the best interests of their clients, the disclosure of much explanatory information appended to the financial statements.

The Commission has had experience with a few cases where footnotes were manifestly used improperly. In one release the Commission held that the face of a balance-sheet containing an untrue statement through overvaluation of an asset is not curable by a footnote admitting the overvaluation. Two years ago, in accounting-series release No. 4, the Commission formally defined its administrative policy on financial statements by declaring in substance that a financial statement founded on accounting principles for which there is no

substantial authoritative support presumably is misleading despite disclosures in footnotes or in the accountants' certificate.

It may not always be possible, even with the attention that is being given to the development of accounting principles, to find a substantial authoritative precedent for every kind of transaction met with in special cases. We believe that the S. E. C. is disposed to administer accounting-series release No. 4 in the spirit rather than in the letter.

REPORTS TO STOCKHOLDERS

Uniformity or standardization of accounting and reporting is one of the avowed objectives of the S. E. C. The fact that some corporations now publish quite condensed financial statements, in the judgment of the S. E. C., points to the need of a regulation prescribing what financial information corporations shall furnish to investors in their annual reports.

The S. E. C. has tentatively considered requiring corporations subject to the securities-exchange act which solicit proxies from their stockholders to furnish annually to their stockholders a balance-sheet, income statement, surplus statement, and schedule of supplementary profit-and-loss information conforming in general with the requirements of form 10-K. In meetings with the S. E. C. legal staff and with the chief accountant of the Commission, members of our committee offered several suggestions respecting such a requirement. There are a number of difficulties to be overcome. One is the time factor. We have pointed out to the S. E.C. that if corporations should be required to furnish to their shareholders balance-sheets, income statements, surplus statements, and supplementary profit-and-loss statements conforming with the standard accounting requirements of the S. E. C. and including, in the case of companies that have subsidiaries, consolidated statements and statements of any significant unconsolidated subsidiaries, the effect probably would be that annual meetings of corporations would be set forward and financial reports would reach the stockholders later in the year than at present.

There appears to be no disposition on the part of the S. E. C. to prescribe requirements for quarterly reports.

NATURAL BUSINESS YEAR

The congestion of work which besets many accounting firms during the winter months, owing to the preponderance of the calendar-year companies, has been the subject of discussions between our committee and commissioners and the chief accountant of the S. E. C. The S. E. C. has no power under the securities act or the securities-exchange act to require corporations to change their fiscal years, but recognize the advantages to a corporation in having a fiscal year that coincides

with its natural business year. The chief accountant of the S. E. C. has already issued a release 4 on this subject and the S. E. C. has offered to bring the subject to the public attention from time to time.

LIMITATIONS OF FORMAL ACCOUNTING REQUIREMENTS

Releases of the S. E. C. dealing with matters of accounting have contained many citations from accounting literature and several have included references to opinions expressed by accountants in round-table discussions at meetings of the Institute. It is apparent that the S. E. C. has given considerable weight to principles that have received substantial recognition on the part of practising accountants and the teaching profession.

But rules and principles of accounting, however carefully defined, will not fit all cases. Developments in business and finance continually give rise to new problems in the application of accounting principles. Public accountants have the responsibility of discerning the cases that are out of the ordinary and cannot be adequately dealt with merely by conformance with a prescribed rule.

There is the danger that public accountants concentrating their attention on rigid rules, standardized forms, and theoretical principles of accounting may at times lose sight of what is more important—the economic implications and consequences of accounting reports and policies.

The S. E. C. and the accountancy profession have common objectives. Differences of opinion are bound to arise as to ways and means for accomplishing the objectives, but our experience has shown that representatives of the S. E. C. and committees of the American Institute of Accountants can discuss opposing views frankly to their mutual advantage.

Respectfully submitted,

Special Committee on Cooperation With Securities and Exchange Commission.

HOMER N. SWEET, Chairman.
WILLIAM H. BELL.
CHARLES B. COUCHMAN.
PAUL K. KNIGHT.
DAVID L. MILNE.
WARREN W. NISSLEY.
RODNEY F. STARKEY.

⁴ Accounting-series release No. 17, Mar. 18, 1940.